

Apple° IIe Technical Reference Manual



Includes ROM Listings.

Copyright

This manual is copyrighted by Apple or by Apple's suppliers, with all rights reserved. Under the copyright laws, this manual may not be copied, in whole or in part, without the written consent of Apple. This exception does not allow copies to be made for others, whether or not sold, but all of the material purchased may be sold, given, or lent to another person. Under the law, copying includes translating into another language.

©Apple Computer, Inc., 1985 20525 Mariani Avenue Cupertino, California 95014

Apple, the Apple logo, ProDOS, ProFile, and Disk II are trademarks of Apple Computer, Inc.

CP/M is a registered trademark of Digital Research, Inc.

SOFTCARD is a registered trademark of Microsoft Corporation.

Z-80 is a registered trademark of Zilog, Inc.

Z-Engine is a trademark of Advanced Logic Systems, Inc.

Simultaneously published in the United States and Canada.

Limited Warranty on Media and Replacement

If you discover physical defects in the manuals distributed with an Apple product or in the media on which a software product is distributed, Apple will replace the media or manuals at no charge to you, provided you return the item to be replaced with proof of purchase to Apple or an authorized Apple dealer during the 90-day period after you purchased the software. In addition, Apple will replace damaged software media and manuals for as long as the software product is included in Apple's Media Exchange Program. While not an upgrade or update method, this program offers additional protection for up to two years or more from the date of your original purchase. See your' authorized Apple dealer for Program coverage and details. In some countries the replacement period may be different; check with your authorized Apple dealer.

ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES ON THE MEDIA AND MANUALS, INCLUDING IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, ARE LIMITED IN DURATION TO NINETY (90) DAYS FROM THE DATE OF THE ORIGINAL RETAIL PURCHASE OF THIS PRODUCT. Even though Apple has tested the software and reviewed the documentation, APPLE MAKES NO WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION, EITHER EXPRESS OB IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO SOFTWARE, ITS QUALITY, PERFORMANCE, MERCHANTABILITY, OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. AS A RESULT, THIS SOFTWARE IS SOLD "AS IS," AND YOU THE PURCHASER ARE ASSUMING THE ENTIRE RISK AS TO ITS QUALITY AND PERFORMANCE.

IN NO EVENT WILL APPLE BE LIABLE FOR DIRECT, INDIRECT, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES RESULTING FROM ANY DEFECT IN THE SOFTWARE OR ITS DOCUMENTATION, even if advised of the possibility of such damages. In particular, Apple shall have no liability for any programs or data stored in or used with Apple products, including the costs of recovering such programs or data.

THE WARRANTY AND REMEDIES SET FORTH ABOVE ARE EXCLUSIVE AND IN LIEU OF ALL OTHERS, ORAL OR WRITTEN, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED. No Apple dealer, agent, or employee is authorized to make any modification, extension, or addition to this warranty.

Some states do not allow the exclusion or limitation of implied warranties or liability for incidental or consequential damages, so the above limitation or exclusion may not apply to you. This warranty gives you specific legal rights, and you may also have other rights which vary from state to state.

Warning

This equipment has been certified to comply with the limits for a Class B computing device pursuant to Subpart J of Part 15 of FCC rules. Only peripherals (computer input/output devices, terminals, printers, etc.)) certified to comply with Class B limits may be attached to this computer. Operation with non-certified peripherals is likely to result in interference to radio and television reception.

Apple[®] IIe Technical Reference Manual





Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, Inc. Reading, Massachusetts Menlo Park, California Don Mills, Ontario Wokingham, England Amsterdam Sydney Singapore Tokyo Mexico City Bogotá Santiago San Juan

Copyright © 1985 by Apple Computer, Inc.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the publisher. Printed in the United States of America. Published simultaneously in Canada.

ISBN 0-201-17720-X

ABCDEFGHIJ-DO-898765 First printing, July 1985



Contents

List of Figures and Tables
Radio and Television Interference

About This Manual

Contents of This Manual xxvii The Enhanced Apple IIe xxix Physical Changes xxix Startup Drives xxix Video Firmware xxx Video Enchancements xxx Applesoft 80-Column Support xxx Applesoft Lowercase Support xxxi Apple II Pascal xxxi System Monitor Enhancements xxxi Interrupt Handling xxxi Symbols Used in This Manual xxxii

PREFACE

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Removing the Cover 2 The Keyboard 3 The Speaker 3 The Power Supply 4 The Circuit Board 4 Connectors on the Circuit Board 6 Connectors on the Back Panel 8 xviii xxv

xxvii

CHAPTER 2

¢

Built-in I/O Devices

The Keyboard 10 Reading the Keyboard 12 The Video Display Generator 16 Text Modes 18 Text Character Sets 19 40-Column Versus 80-Column Text 20 Graphics Modes 22 Low-Resolution Graphics 22 High-Resolution Graphics 23 Double-High-Resolution Graphics 25 Video Display Pages 26 Display Mode Switching 28 Addressing Display Pages Directly 30 Secondary Inputs and Outputs 37 The Speaker 37 Cassette Input and Output 38 The Hand Control Connector Signals 39 Annunciator Outputs 40 Strobe Output 40 Switch Inputs 41 Analog Inputs 42 Summary of Secondary I/O Locations 42

Contents

V

CHAPTER 3

Built-in I/O Firmware

Using the I/O Subroutines 47 Apple II Compatibility 48 The 80-Column Firmware 49 The Old Monitor 50 The Standard I/O Links 50 Standard Output Features 51 COUT Output Subroutine 51 Control Characters With COUT1 and BASICOUT 52 The Stop-List Feature 54 The Text Window 54 Inverse and Flashing Text 56 Standard Input Features 57 RDKEY Input Subroutine 57 KEYIN Input Subroutine 58 Escape Codes 58 Cursor Motion in Escape Mode 58 GETLN Input Subroutine 60 Editing With GETLN 61 Cancel Line 61 Backspace 61 Retype 62 Monitor Firmware Support 62 BASICOUT 63 CLREOL 63 CLEOLZ 64 CLREOP 64 CLRSCR 64

45

Contents

CLRTOP 64 COUT 64 COUT1 64 CROUT 64 CROUT1 65 HLINE 65 HOME 65 PLOT 65 PRBL2 65 PRBYTE 65. PRERR 65 PRHEX 66 PRNTAX 66 SCRN 66 SETCOL 66 VTABZ 66 VLINE 66 I/O Firmware Support 67 PINIT 67 PREAD 67 PWRITE 68 PSTATUS 69

1

1

The second second

CHAPTER 4

Memory Organization

Main Memory Map 72 RAM Memory Allocation 74 Reserved Memory Pages 75 Page Zero 75 The 65C02 Stack 75 The Input Buffer 76 Link-Address Storage 76 The Display Buffers 76 Bank-Switched Memory 79 Setting Bank Switches 80 Reading Bank Switches 83 Auxiliary Memory and Firmware 84 Memory Mode Switching 86 Auxiliary-Memory Subroutines 88 Moving Data to Auxiliary Memory 89 Transferring Control to Auxiliary Memory 90 The Reset Routine 91 The Cold-Start Procedure 92 The Warm-Start Procedure 92 Forced Cold Start 93 The Reset Vector 93 Automatic Self-Test 95

71

CHAPTER 5

Using the Monitor

Invoking the Monitor 98 Syntax of Monitor Commands 99 Monitor Memory Commands 100 Examining Memory Contents 100 Memory Dump 100 Changing Memory Contents 103 Changing One Byte 103 Changing Consecutive Locations 104 ASCII Input Mode 104 Moving Data in Memory 105 Comparing Data in Memory 107 Searching for Bytes in Memory 108 Examining and Changing Registers 108 Monitor Cassette Tape Commands 109 Saving Data on Tape 109 Reading Data From Tape 110 Miscellaneous Monitor Commands 112 Inverse and Normal Display 112 Back to BASIC 112 Redirecting Input and Output 113 Hexadecimal Arithmetic 114 Special Tricks With the Monitor 114 Multiple Commands 114 Filling Memory 115 Repeating Commands 116 Creating Your Own Commands 117

CHAPTER 6

Programming for Peripheral Cards

The Mini-Assembler 128

Machine-Language Programs 118

Starting the Mini-Assembler 121

Using the Mini-Assembler 122

Summary of Monitor Commands 125

Examining Memory 125

Moving and Comparing 126 The Examine Command 126 The Search Command 126 Cassette Tape Commands 126

Mini-Assembler Instruction Formats 124

Changing the Contents of Memory 126

Miscellaneous Monitor Commands 127 Running and Listing Programs 127

Running a Program 118 Disassembled Programs 119

The Mini-Assembler 121

Restrictions 121

Peripheral-Card Memory Spaces 130 Peripheral-Card I/O Space 130 Peripheral-Card ROM Space 131 Expansion ROM Space 132 Peripheral-Card RAM Space 134

X

I/O Programming Suggestions 135 Finding the Slot Number With ROM Switched In 136 I/O Addressing 136 RAM Addressing 138 Changing the Standard I/O Links 139 Other Uses of I/O Memory Space 140 Switching I/O Memory 141 Developing Cards for Slot 3 143 Pascal 1.1 Firmware Protocol 144 Device Identification 144 I/O Routine Entry Points 145 Interrupts on the Enhanced Apple IIe 146 What Is an Interrupt? 147 Interrupts on Apple IIe Series Computers 148 Rules of the Interrupt Handler 149 Interrupt Handling on the 65C02 and 6502 150 The Interrupt Vector at \$FFFE 150 The Built-in Interrupt Handler 151 Saving the Apple IIe's Memory Configuration 152 Managing Main and Auxiliary Stacks 152 The User's Interrupt Handler at \$3FE 154 Handling Break Instructions 155 Interrupt Differences: Apple IIe Versus Apple IIc 156

CHAPTER 7

Hardware Implementation

Environmental Specifications 158 The Power Supply 159 The Power Connector 161 The 65C02 Microprocessor 161 65C02 Timing 162 The Custom Integrated Circuits 164 The Memory Management Unit 164 The Input/Output Unit 166 The PAL Device 168 Memory Addressing 168 ROM Addressing 169 RAM Addressing 170 Dynamic-RAM Refreshment 170 Dynamic-RAM Timing 171 The Video Display 173 The Video Counters 174 Display Memory Addressing 175 Display Address Mapping 176 Video Display Modes 179 Text Displays 179 Low-Resolution Display 182 High-Resolution Display 183 Double-High-Resolution Display 185 Video Output Signals 186

157

Built-in I/O Circuits 187 The Keyboard 187 Connecting a Keypad 188 Cassette I/O 189 The Speaker 189 Game I/O Signals 190 Expanding the Apple IIe 192 The Expansion Slots 192 The Peripheral Address Bus 192 The Peripheral Data Bus 193 Loading and Driving Rules 193 Interrupt and DMA Daisy Chains 193 Auxiliary Slot 197 80-Column Display Signals 197

APPENDIX A

The 65C02 Microprocessor

Differences Between 6502 and 65C02 206 Different Cycle Times 206 Different Instruction Results 207 Data Sheet 207

APPENDIX B

Directory of Built-in Subroutines

217

APPENDIX C

Ŧ

APPENDIX D

Apple II Family Differences

Keyboard 226 Apple Keys 226 Character Sets 226 80-Column Display 227 Escape Codes and Control Characters 227 Built-in Language Card 227 Auxiliary Memory 228 Auxiliary Slot 228 Back Panel and Connectors 228 Soft Switches 228 Built-in Self-Test 229 Forced Reset 229 Interrupt Handling 229 Vertical Sync for Animators 229 Signature Byte 230 Hardware Implementation 230

Operating Systems and Languages

Operating Systems 232 ProDOS 232 DOS 3.3 232 Pascal Operatiing System 232 CP/M 233 225

Contents

Languages 233 Assembly Language 233 Applesoft BASIC 233 Interger BASIC 233 Pascal Language 234 FORTRAN 234

APPENDIX E

Conversion Tables Bits and Bytes 236 Hexadecimal and Decimal 238 Hexadecimal and Negative Decimal 240 Graphics Bits and Pieces 242 Eight-Bit Code Conversions 244

APPENDIX F

APPENDIX G

Frequently Used Tables

253

267

235

Using an 80-Column Text Card

Starting Up With Pascal or CP/M 268 Starting Up With ProDOS or DOS 3.3 269 Using the GET Command 269 When to Switch Modes Versus When to Deactivate 270 Display Features With the Text Card 270 INVERSE, FLASH, NORMAL, HOME 270 Tabbing With the Original Apple IIe 271
Comma Tabbing With the Original Apple IIe 271
HTAB and POKE 1403 272
Using Control-Characters With the Card 272
Control Characters and Their Functions 273
How to Use Control-Character Codes in Programs 274
A Word of Caution to Pascal Programmers 275

APPENDIX H

Programming With the Super Serial Card

Locating the Card 278 **Operating Modes** 278 Operating Commands 279 The Command Character 280 Baud Rate, nB 280 Data Format, nD 281 Parity, nP 281 Set Time Delay, nC, nL, and nF 282 Echo Characters to the Screen, E_E/D 283 Automatic Carriage Return, C 283 Automatic Line Feed, LE/D 284 Mask Line Feed In, M_E/D 284 Reset Card, R 284 Specify Screen Slot, S 284 Translate Lowercase Characters, nT 284 Suppress Control Characters, Z 285 Find Keyboard, F_E/D 285 XOFF Recognition, X_E/D 286 Tab in BASIC, T_E/D 286

277

Terminal Mode 286 Entering Terminal Mode, T 286 Transmitting a Break, B 287 Special Characters, S_E/D 287 Quitting Terminal Mode, Q 287 SSC Error Codes 287 The ACIA 289 SSC Firmware Memory Use 289 Zero-Page Location 290 Peripheral Card I/O Space 290 Scratchpad RAM Location 292

APPENDIX I

Monitor ROM Listing

Glossary	377
Bibliography	399
Index	401
Tell Apple Card	

Figures and Tables

CHAPTER 1

CHAPTER 2

Introduction

Figure 1-1	Removing the Cover 2
Figure 1-2	The Apple IIe With the Cover Off 2
Figure 1-3	The Apple IIe Keyboard 3
Figure 1-4	The Circuit Board 5
Figure 1-5	The Expansion Slots 7
Figure 1-6	The Auxiliary Slot 7
Figure 1-7	The Back Panel Connectors 8
Figure 1-7	The Back Panel Connectors 8

Built-in I/O Devices

Figure 2-1	The Keyboard 11
Table 2-1	Apple IIe Keyboard Specifications 11
Table 2-2	Keyboard Memory Locations 12
Table 2-3	Keys and ASCII Codes 14
Table 2-4	Video Display Specifications 17
Table 2-5	Display Character Sets 20
Figure 2-2	40-Column Text Display 21
Figure 2-3	80-Column Text Display 21
Table 2-6	Low-Resolution Graphics Colors 23
Figure 2-4	High-Resolution Display Bits 24
Table 2-7	High-Resolution Graphics Colors 25
Table 2-8	Double-High-Resolution Grahics Colors 26
Table 2-9	Video Display Page Locations 28
Table 2-10	Display Soft Switches 29
Figure 2-5	Map of 40-Column Text Display 32
Figure 2-6	Map of 80-Column Text Display 33
Figure 2-7	Map of Low-Resolution Graphics Display 34

Figure 2-8Map of High-Resolution Graphics Display 35Figure 2-9Map of Double-High-Resolution Graphics Display 36Table 2-11Annunciator Memory Locations 40Table 2-12Secondary I/O Memory Location 43

Built-in I/O Firmware

and the second of the second o	
Table 3-1	Monitor Firmware Routines 46
Table 3-2	Apple II Mode 48
Table 3-3a	Control Characters With 80-Column Firmware Off 52
Table 3-3b	Control Characters With 80-Column Firmware On 52
Table 3-4	Text Window Memory Locations 55
Table 3-5	Text Format Control Values 56
Table 3-6	Escape Codes 59
Table 3-7	Prompt Characters 60
Table 3-8	Video Firmware Routines 62
Table 3-9	Port 3 Firmware Protocol Table 67
Table 3-10	Pascal Video Control Functions 68

CHAPTER 4

CHAPTER 3

Memory Organization

Figure 4-1	System Memory Map 73
Figure 4-2	RAM Allocation Map 74
Table 4-1	Monitor Zero-Page Use 77
Table 4-2	Applesoft Zero-Page Use 77
Table 4-3	Integer BASIC Zero-Page Use 78
Table 4-4	DOS 3.3 Zero-Page Use 78
Table 4-5	ProDOS MLI and Disk-Driver Zero-Page Use 79

xix

71

Figure 4-3	Bank-Switched Memory Map 80
Table 4-6	Bank Select Switches 82
Figure 4-4	Memory Map With Auxiliary Memory 85
Table 4-7	Auxiliary-Memory Select Switches 87
Table 4-8	48K RAM Transfer Routines 88
Table 4-9	Parameters for AUXMOVE Routine 89
Table 4-10	Parameters for XFER Routine 90
Table 4-11	Page 3 Vectors 94

97

129

CHAPTER 5

CHAPTER 6

Using the Monitor

Table 5-1

Mini-Assembler Address Formats 124

Programming for Peripheral Cards

Table 6-1	Peripheral-Card I/O Memory Locations Enabled by DEVICE SELECT' 131
Table 6-2	Peripheral-Card ROM Memory Locations Enabled by I/O SELECT' 132
Figure 6-1	Expansion ROM Enable Circuit 133
Figure 6-2	ROM Disable Address Decoding 133
Table 6-3	Peripheral-Card RAM Memory Locations 134
Table 6-4	Peripheral-Card I/O Base Addresses 137
Figure 6-3	I/O Memory Map 141
Table 6-5	I/O Memory Switches 142
Table 6-6	Perpheral-Card Device-Class Assignments 144
Table 6-7	I/O Routine Offsets and Registers Under Pascal 1 1 Protocol 146

Figure 6-4
Table 6-8
Table 6-9

Interrupt Handling Sequence 151 BRK Handler Information 155 Memory Configuration Information 155

CHAPTER 7

Hardware Implementation

Table 7-1 Summary of Environmental Specifications 158 Table 7-2 Power Supply Specifications 159 Table 7-3 Power Connector Signal Specifications 161 Table 7-4 65C02 Microprocessor Specifications 162 Table 7-5 65C02 Timing Signal Descriptions 163 Figure 7-1 65C02 Timing Signals 163 The MMU Pinouts 165 Figure 7-2 The MMU Signal Descriptions 165 Table 7-6 Figure 7-3 The IOU Pinouts 167 Table 7-7 The IOU Signal Descriptions 167 The PAL Pinouts 168 Figure 7-4 Table 7-8 The PAL Signal Descriptions 168 Figure 7-5 The 2364 ROM Pinouts 169 The 2316 ROM Pinouts 169 Figure 7-6 Figure 7-7 The 2333 ROM Pinouts 169 Figure 7-8 The 64K RAM Pinouts 170 Table 7-9 RAM Address Multiplexing 171 RAM Timing Signals 172 Figure 7-9 Table 7-10 RAM Timing Signal Descriptions 173 Display Address Transformation 176 Table 7-11 40-Column Text Display Memory 177 Figure 7-10 **Display Memory Addressing** 178 **Table 7-12**

Memory Address Bits for Display Modes 178
7 MHz Video Timing Signals 180
14 MHz Video Timing Signals 181
Character-Generator Control Signals 182
Internal Video Connector Signals 186
Keyboard Connector Signals 188
Keypad Connector Signals 188
Speaker Connector Signals 189
Game I/O Connector Signals 191
Peripheral-Signal Timing 194
Expansion Slot Signals 195
Auxiliary Slot Signals 198
Schematic Diagram 200

Cycle Time Differences 206

No.

205

APPENDIX A

APPENDIX E

Table A-1

The 65C02 Microprocessor

Conversion Ta	ables 235
Table E-1	What a Bit Can Represent 236
Figure E-1	Bits, Nibbles, and Bytes 237
Table E-2	Hexadecimal/Decimal Conversion 238
Table E-3	Hexadecimal to Negative Decimal Conversion 240
Table E-4	Hexadecimal Values for High-Resolution Dot Patterns 242
Table E-5	Control Characters, High Bit Off 245
Table E-6	Special Characters, High Bit Off 246

Table E-7	Uppercase Characters, High Bit Off 247
Table E-8	Lowercase Characters, High Bit Off 248
Table E-9	Control Characters, High Bit On 249
Table E-10	Special Characters, High Bit On 250
Table E-11	Uppercase Characters, High Bit On 251
Table E-12	Lowercase Characters, High Bit On 252

Frequently Used Tables

APPENDIX F

Frequently Used	Tables	253
Table 2-3	Keys and ASCII Codes 254	
Table 2-2	Keyboard Memory Location 255	
Table 2-4	Video Display Specifications 256	
Table 2-8	Double-High-Resolution Graphics Colors 257	
Table 2-9	Video Display Page Locations 257	
Table 2-10	Display Soft Switches 258	
Table 3-1	Monitor Firmware Routines 259	
Table 3-3a	Control Characters With 80-Column Firmware Off	260
Table 3-3b	Control Characters With 80-Column Firmware On	260
Table 3-5	Text Format Control Values 261	
Table 3-6	Escape Codes 262	
Table 3-10	Pascal Video Control Functions 263	
Table 4-6	Bank Select Switches 264	
Table 4-7	Auxiliary-Memory Select Switches 265	
Table 4-8	48K RAM Transfer Routines 265	
Table 6-5	I/O Memory Switches 266	
Table 6-6	I/O Routine Offsets and Registers Under Pascal 1.1 Protocol 266	

APPENDIX G

Using an 80-Column Text Card267Table G-1Control Characters With 80-Column Firmware On273

277

APPENDIX H

Programming With the Super Serial Card

Table H-1	Baud Rate Selections 280
Table H-2	Data Format Selections 281
Table H-3	Parity Selections 281
Table H-4	Time Delay Selections 282
Table H-5	Lowercase Character Display Options 285
Table H-6	STSBYTE Bit Definitions 287
Table H-7	Error Codes and Bits 288
Table H-8	Memory Use Map 289
Table H-9	Zero-Page Locations Used by the SSC 290
Table H-10	Address Register Bits Interpretation 291
Table H-11	Scratchpad RAM Locations Used by the SSC 292

Radio and Television Interference

The equipment described in this manual generates and uses radio-frequency energy. If it is not installed and used properly—that is, in strict accordance with our instructions—it may cause interference with radio and television reception.

This equipment has been tested and complies with the limits for a Class B computing device in accordance with the specifications in Subpart J, Part 15, of FCC rules. These rules are designed to provide reasonable protection against such interference in a residential installation. However, there is no guarantee that the interference will not occur in a particular installation, especially if a "rabbit ear" television antenna is used. (A "rabbit ear" antenna is the telescoping-rod type usually contained on television receivers.)

You can determine whether your computer is causing interference by turning it off. If the interference stops, it was probably caused by the computer or its peripherals. To further isolate the problem, disconnect the peripheral devices and their input/output cables one at a time. If the interference stops, it was caused by either the peripheral device or the I/O cable. These devices usually require shielded I/O cables. For Apple peripherals, you can obtain the proper **shielded cable** from your dealer. For non-Apple peripheral devices, contact the manufacturer or dealer for assistance.

If your computer does cause interference to radio or television reception, you can try to correct the interference by using one or more of the following measures:

- Turn the television or radio antenna until the interference stops.
- □ Move the computer to one side or the other of the television or radio.
- Move the computer farther away from the television or radio.

A **shielded cable** is a cable that uses a metallic wrap around the wires to reduce the potential effects of radio frequency interference.

- Plug the computer into an outlet that is on a different circuit than the television or radio. (That is, make certain the computer and the radio or television set are on circuits controlled by different circuit breakers or fuses.)
- Consider installing a rooftop television antenna with coaxial cable lead-in between the antenna and television.

If necessary, you should consult your Apple-authorized dealer or an experienced radio/television technician for additional suggestions.

About This Manual

Preface

This is the reference manual for the Apple IIe personal computer. It contains detailed descriptions of all of the hardware and firmware that make up the Apple IIe and provides the technical information that peripheral-card designers and programmers need.

This manual contains a lot of information about the way the Apple IIe works, but it doesn't tell you how to use the Apple IIe. For this, you should read the other Apple IIe manuals, especially the following:

- Apple IIe Owner's Manual
- □ The Apples oft Tutorial

Contents of This Manual

The material in this manual is presented roughly in order of increasing intimacy with the hardware; the farther you go in the manual, the more technical the material becomes. The main subject areas are

- □ introduction: Preface and Chapter 1
- □ use of built-in features: Chapters 2 and 3
- □ how the memory is organized: Chapter 4
- □ information for programmers: Chapters 5 and 6
- □ hardware implementation: Chapter 7
- □ additional information: appendixes, glossary, and bibliography.

Chapter 1 identifies the main parts of the Apple IIe and tells where in the manual each part is described.

The next two chapters describe the built-in input and output features of the Apple IIe. This part of the manual includes information you need for low-level programming on the Apple IIe. Chapter 2 describes the built-in I/O features and Chapter 3 tells you how to use the firmware that supports them.

Chapter 4 describes the way the Apple IIe's memory space is organized, including the allocation of programmable memory for the video display buffers.

Chapter 5 is a user manual for the Monitor that is included in the built-in firmware. The Monitor is a system program that you can use for program debugging at the machine level.

Chapter 6 describes the programmable features of the peripheral-card connectors and gives guidelines for their use. It also describes interrupt programming on the Apple IIe.

Chapter 7 is a description of the hardware that implements the features described in the earlier chapters. This information is included primarily for programmers and peripheral-card designers, but it will also help you if you just want to understand more about the way the Apple IIe works.

Additional reference information appears in the appendixes. Appendix A is the manufacturer's description of the Apple IIe's microprocessor.

Appendix B is a directory of the built-in I/O subroutines, including their functions and starting addresses.

Appendix C describes differences among Apple II family members.

Appendix D describes some of the operating systems and languages supported by Apple Computer for the Apple IIe.

Appendix E contains conversion tables of interest to programmers.

Appendix F contains additional copies of some of the tables that appear in the body of the manual. The ones you will need to refer to often are duplicated here for easy reference.

Appendix G contains information about using Apple IIe 80-column text cards with the Apple IIe and high level languages.

Appendix H discusses programming on the Apple IIe with the Apple Super Serial Card.

Appendix I contains the source listing of the Monitor firmware. You can refer to it to find out more about the operation of the Monitor subroutines listed in Appendix B.

Following Appendix I is a glossary defining many of the technical terms used in this manual. Some terms that describe the use of the Apple IIe are defined in the glossaries of the other manuals listed earlier.

Following the glossary, there is a selected bibliography of sources of additional information.

The Enhanced Apple lle

Changes have been made in the Apple IIe since the original version was introduced. The new version is called the enhanced Apple IIe and is described in this manual. Where there are differences in the original Apple IIe compared with the enhanced Apple IIe, they will be called out in the manual. Otherwise, the two machines operate identically.

You can tell whether you have an original or enhanced Apple IIe when you start up the system. An original Apple IIe will display Apple II at the top of the monitor screen, while an enhanced Apple IIe will display Apple //e.

The changes embodied in the enhanced Apple IIe are described in the following sections of this preface.

Physical Changes

The enhanced Apple IIe includes the following changes from the original Apple IIe:

- □ The 65C02 microprocessor, which is a new version of the 6502 microprocessor found in the original Apple IIe. The 65C02 uses less power, has 27 new **opcodes**, and runs at the same speed as the 6502. (See Chapter 7 and Appendix A.)
- □ A new video ROM containing the same MouseText characters found in the Apple IIc. (See Chapter 2.)
- □ New Monitor ROMs (the CD and EF ROMs) containing the enhanced Apple IIe firmware. (See Chapter 5.)
- □ The identification byte at \$FBC0 has been changed. In the original Apple IIe it was \$EA (decimal 234), in the enhanced Apple IIe it is \$E0 (decimal 224).

Startup Drives

You can use startup (boot) devices other than a Disk II to start up ProDOS on the enhanced Apple IIe.

Apple II Pascal versions 1.3 and later may start up from slots 4, 5, or 6 on a Disk II, ProFile, or other Apple II disk drive. Apple II Pascal versions 1.0 through 1.2 must start up from a Disk II in slot 6.

DOS 3.3 may be started from a Disk II in any slot.

Opcode is short for *operation code* and is used to describe the basic instructions performed by the central processing unit of a computer.

When you turn on your Apple IIe, it searches for a disk drive controller to start up from, beginning with slot 7 and working down toward slot 1. As soon as a disk controller card is found, the Apple IIe will try to load and execute the operating system found on the disk. If the drive is not a Disk II, then the operating system of the startup volume must be either ProDOS or Apple II Pascal (version 1.3 or later). If it is a Disk II, then the startup volume may be any Apple II operating system.

Video Firmware

The enhanced Apple IIe has improved 80-column firmware:

- □ The enhanced Apple IIe now supports lowercase input.
- ESC CONTROL E passes most control characters to the screen.
- ESC CONTROL D traps most control characters before they get to the screen.
- ESC R was removed because uppercase characters are no longer required by Applesoft.

Video Enhancements

Both 80-column Pascal and 80-column mode Applesoft output are faster than before and scrolling is smoother. 40-column Pascal performance is unchanged.

In the original Apple IIe, characters echoed to COUT1 during 80-column operation were printed in every other column; the enhanced Apple IIe firmware now prints the characters in each column.

Applesoft 80-Column Support

The following Applesoft routines now work in 80-column mode:

- □ HTAB
- D TAB
- □ SPC
- □ Comma tabbing in PRINT statements

Applesoft Lowercase Support

Applesoft now lets you do all your programming in lowercase. When you list your programs, all Applesoft keywords and variable names automatically are in uppercase characters; literal strings and the contents of DATA and REM statements are unchanged.

Apple II Pascal

Apple II Pascal (version 1.2 and later) can now use a ProFile hard disk through the Pascal ProFile Manager.

The Pascal 1.1 firmware no longer supports the control character that switches from 80-column to 40-column operation. This control character is no longer supported because it can put Pascal in a condition where the exact memory configuration is not known.

System Monitor Enhancements

Enhancements to the Apple IIe's built-in Monitor (described in Chapter 5 in this manual) include the following:

- □ lowercase input
- □ ASCII input mode
- Monitor Search command
- □ the Mini-Assembler

Interrupt Handling

Interrupt handler support in the enhanced Apple IIe firmware now handles any Apple IIe memory configuration.

To find out more, see the *Pascal ProFile* Manager Manual.

Symbols Used in This Manual

the Apple IIe, its software, or you.

Special text in this manual is set off in several different ways, as shown in these examples.

The information here is important, but non-threatening. The ways in

which the original Apple IIe differs from the enhanced Apple IIe are called out this way with the tag **Original IIe** in the margin.

Important warnings appear in red like this. These flag potential danger to

By the Way: Information that is useful but is incidental to the text is set

off like this. You may want to skip over such information and return to it

No.

▲ Warning

Important!

later.

Definitions, cross-references, and other short items appear in marginal glosses like this.

Terms that are defined in a marginal gloss or in the glossary appear in **boldface**.

Preface: About This Manual



Introduction



This first chapter introduces you to the Apple IIe itself. It shows you what the inside looks like, identifies the major components that make up the machine, and tells you where to find information about each one.

Removing the Cover

Remove the cover of the Apple IIe by pulling up on the back edge until the fasteners on either side pop loose, then move the cover an inch or so toward the rear of the machine to free the front of the cover, as shown in Figure 1-1. What you will see is shown in Figure 1-2.

Figure 1-2. The Apple IIe With the Cover Off






▲ Warning

There is a red LED (light-emitting diode) inside the Apple IIe, in the left rear corner of the circuit board. If the LED is on, it means that the power is on and you must turn it off before you insert or remove anything. To avoid damaging the Apple IIe, don't even *think* of changing anything inside it without first turning off the power.

The Keyboard

ASCII stands for *American Code for Information Interchange.*

The keyboard is the Apple IIe's primary input device. As shown in Figure 1-3, it has a normal typewriter layout, uppercase and lowercase, with all of the special characters in the **ASCII** character set. The keyboard is fully integrated into the machine; its operation is described in the first part of Chapter 2. Firmware subroutines for reading the keyboard are described in Chapter 3.

Figure 1-3. The Apple IIe Keyboard



The Speaker

The Apple IIe has a small loudspeaker in the bottom of the case. The speaker enables Apple IIe programs to produce a variety of sounds that make the programs more useful and interesting. The way programs control the speaker is described in Chapter 2.

The Power Supply

The power supply is inside the flat metal box along the left side of the interior of the Apple IIe. It provides power for the main board and for any peripheral cards installed in the Apple IIe.

The power supply produces four different voltages: +5V, -5V, +12V, and -12V. It is a high-efficiency switching supply; it includes special circuits that protect it and the rest of the Apple IIe against short circuits and other mishaps. Complete specifications of the Apple IIe power supply appear in Chapter 7.

▲Warning

The power switch and the socket for the power cord are mounted directly on the back of the power supply's metal case. This mounting ensures that all the circuits that carry dangerous voltages are inside the power supply. Do not defeat this design feature by attempting to open the power supply.

The Circuit Board

All of the electronic parts of the Apple IIe are attached to the circuit board, which is mounted flat in the bottom of the case.

Figure 1-4 shows the main integrated circuits (ICs) in the Apple IIe. They are the central processing unit (CPU), the keyboard encoder, the keyboard read-only memory (ROM), the two interpreter ROMs, the video ROM, and the custom integrated circuits: the Input/Output Unit (IOU), the Memory Management Unit (MMU), and the Programmed Array Logic (PAL) device.





The CPU is a 65C02 microprocessor. The 65C02 is an enhanced version of the 6502, which is an eight-bit microprocessor with a sixteen-bit address bus. It uses instruction pipelining for faster processing than comparable microprocessors. In the Apple IIe, the 65C02 runs at 1.02 MHz and performs up to 500,000 eight-bit operations per second. The specifications of the 65C02 and its instruction set are given in Appendix A.

The original version of the Apple IIe uses the 6502 microprocessor. You can tell which version of Apple IIe that you have by starting up your machine. An original Apple IIe displays Apple lt at the top of the screen during startup, while an enhanced Apple IIe displays Apple //e. This manual will call out specific areas where the two versions of the Apple IIe are different.

Original lle

The 6502 is very similar to the 65C02, but lacks 10 instructions and 2 addressing modes found on the 65C02. The 6502 is an NMOS device and so uses more power than the CMOS 65C02. Except for the differences listed above, and some minor differences in the number of clock cycles used by some instructions, the two microprocessors are identical.

The keyboard is decoded by an AY-3600-type integrated circuit and a read-only memory (ROM). These devices are described in Chapter 7.

The interpreter ROMs are integrated circuits that contain the Applesoft BASIC interpreter. The ROMs are described in Chapter 7. The Applesoft language is described in the *Applesoft Tutorial* and the *Applesoft BASIC Programmer's Reference Manual*.

Two of the large ICs are custom-made for the Apple IIe: the MMU and the IOU. The MMU IC contains most of the logic that controls memory addressing in the Apple IIe. The organization of the memory is described in Chapter 4; the circuitry in the MMU itself is described in Chapter 7.

The IOU IC contains most of the logic that controls the built-in input/output features of the Apple IIe. These features are described in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3; the IOU circuits are described in Chapter 7.

Connectors on the Circuit Board

The seven slots lined up along the back of the Apple IIe circuit board are the expansion slots, sometimes called peripheral slots. (See Figure 1-5.) These slots make it possible to attach additional hardware to the Apple IIe. Chapter 6 tells you how your programs deal with the devices that plug into these slots; Chapter 7 describes the circuitry for the slots themselves.

Figure 1-5. The Expansion Slots



The large slot next to the left-hand side of the circuit board is the auxiliary slot (Figure 1-6). If your Apple IIe has an Apple IIe 80-column text card, it will be installed in this slot. The 80-column display option is fully integrated into the Apple IIe; it is described along with the other display features in Chapter 2. The hardware and firmware interfaces to this card are described in Chapter 7.

Figure 1-6. The Auxiliary Slot

8



There are also smaller connectors for game I/O and for an internal RF (radio frequency) modulator. These connectors are described in Chapter 7.

Connectors on the Back Panel

The back of the Apple IIe has two miniature phone jacks for connecting a cassette recorder, an RCA-type jack for a video monitor, and a 9-pin D-type miniature connector for the hand controls, as shown in Figure 1-7. In addition to these, there are spaces for additional connectors used with the peripheral cards installed in the Apple IIe. The installation manuals for the peripheral cards contain instructions for installing the peripheral connectors.

Figure 1-7. The Back Panel Connectors





Built-in I/O Devices



This chapter describes the input and output (I/O) devices built into the Apple IIe in terms of their functions and the way they are used by programs. The built-in I/O devices are

- \Box the keyboard
- □ the video-display generator
- □ the speaker
- □ the cassette input and output
- \Box the game input and output.

At the lowest level, programs use the built-in I/O devices by reading and writing to dedicated memory locations. This chapter lists these locations for each I/O device. It also gives the locations of the internal soft-switches that select the different display modes of the Apple IIe.

Built-in I/O Routines: This method of input and output—loading and storing directly to specific locations in memory—is not the only method you can use. For many of your programs, it may be more convenient to call the built-in I/O routines stored in the Apple IIe's firmware.

The Keyboard

The primary input device of the Apple IIe is its built-in keyboard. The keyboard has 63 keys and is similar to a typewriter keyboard. The Apple IIe keyboard has automatic repeat on all keys: hold the key down to repeat. It also has N-key rollover, which means that you can hold down any number of keys while typing another. Of course, if you hold the keys down much longer than the length of time you would hold them down during normal typing, the automatic-repeat function will start repeating the last key you pressed.

The keyboard arrangement shown in Figure 2-1 is the standard one used in the United States. The specifications for the keyboard are given in Table 2-1. Apple IIe's manufactured for sale outside the United States have a slightly different standard keyboard arrangement and include provisions for switching between two different arrangements.

For descriptions of the built-in I/O hardware refer to Chapter 7.

Built-in I/O firmware routines are described in Chapter 3.

Figure 2-1. The Keyboard

ESC 1	1		* 3		5		8	*	9)	5]-	= [=		ELETE
TAB	Q	w	E	R	т	Y	U	1)	Ρ	ť)	
ONTROL	A	s	D	F	G	Н	J	1	$\langle $	L	;	;	RE	TURN
SHIFT		z	x	c	v	в	N	м	< ,	I	?	?	SHI	т
APS ?	·T	T	3						1	6	-	-+	ł	t

Table 2-1. Apple IIe Keyboard Specifications

Number of keys:	63
Character encoding:	ASCII
Number of codes:	128
Fratures:	Automatic repeat, two-key rollover
Special function keys:	RESET, G,
Cursor movement keys:	←, →, ∔, ↑, RETURN, DELETE, TAB
Modifier keys:	CONTROL, SHIFT, CAPS LOCK, ESC
Electrical Interface:	AY-5-3600 keyboard encoder

In addition to the keys normally used for typing characters, there are four cursor-control keys with arrows: left, right, down, and up. The cursor-control keys can be read the same as other keys; their codes are \$08, \$15, \$0A, and \$0B. (See Table 2-3.)

Three special keys, CONTROL, SHIFT, and CAPS LOCK, change the codes generated by the other keys. The CONTROL key is similar to the ASCII CTRL key.

Three other keys have special functions: the **RESET** key, and two keys marked with apples, one outlined, or open (**C**), and one solid, or closed (**C**). Pressing the **RESET** key with the **CONTROL** key depressed resets the Apple IIe, as described in Chapter 4. The Apple keys are connected to the one-bit game inputs, described later in this chapter.

See Chapter 7 for a complete description of the electrical interface to the keyboard.

The electrical interface between the Apple IIe and the keyboard is a ribbon cable with a 26-pin connector. This cable carries the keyboard signals to the encoding circuitry on the main board.

Reading the Keyboard

The keyboard encoder and ROM generate all 128 ASCII codes, so all of the special character codes in the ASCII character set are available from the keyboard. Machine-language programs obtain character codes from the keyboard by reading a byte from the keyboard-data location shown in Table 2-2.

Table 2-2. Keyboard Memory Locations

Hex	Location	ecimal	Description
\$C000	49152	-102884	Keyboard data and strobe
\$C010	49168	-16368	Amy-key-down flag and clear-strobe switch

Your programs can get the code for the last they pressed by reading the keyboard-data location. Table 2-2 gives this location in three different forms: the **hexadecimal** value used in assembly language, indicated by a preceding dollar sign (\$); the decimal value used in Apple Soft BASIC, and the complementary decimal value used in Apple Integer bASIC. (Integer BASIC requires that values greater than 32767 be written as the number obtained by subtracting 65536 from the value. These are the decimal numbers shown as negative in tables in this manual; refer to the Apple II BASIC Programming Manual.) The low-order seven bits of the byte at the keyboard location contain the character code; the high-order bit of this byte is the strobe bit, described later in this section.

Your program can find out whether any key is down, except the **RESET**, **CONTROL**, **SHIFT**, **CAPS LOCK**, **G**, and **keys by reading from** location 49168 (hexadecimal \$CO10 or complementary decimal -16368). The high-order bit (bit 7) of the byte you read at this location is called any-key-down; it is 1 if a key is down, and 0 if no key is down. The value of this bit is 128; if a BASIC program gets this information with a PEEK, the value is 128 or greater if any key is down, and less than 128 if no key is down.

Hexadecimal refers to the base-16 number system, which uses the digits 0 through 9 and the six letters A through F to represent values from 0 to 15.

The 🔄 and 🛋 keys are connected to switches 0 and 1 of the game I/O connector inputs. If 🔄 is pressed, switch 0 is "pressed," and if 🛋 is pressed, switch 1 is "pressed."

The strobe bit is the high-order bit of the keyboard-data byte. After any key has been pressed, the strobe bit is high. It remains high until you reset it by reading or writing at the clear-strobe location. This location is a combination flag and switch; the flag tells whether any key is down, and the switch clears the strobe bit. The switch function of this memory location is called a soft switch because it is controlled by software. In this case, it doesn't matter whether the program reads or writes, and it doesn't matter what data the program writes: the only action that occurs is the resetting of the keyboard strobe. Similar soft switches, described later, are used for controlling other functions in the Apple IIe.

Important!

The reset routine is described in Chapter 4.

Any time you read the any-key-down flag, you also clear the keyboard strobe. If your program needs to read both the flag and the strobe, it must read the strobe bit first.

After the keyboard strobe has been cleared, it remains low until another key is pressed. Even after you have cleared the strobe, you can still read the character code at the keyboard location. The data byte has a different value, because the high-order bit is no longer set, but the ASCII code in the seven low-order bits is the same until another key is pressed. Table 2-3 shows the ASCII codes for most of the keys on the keyboard of the Apple IIe.

There are several special-function keys that do not generate ASCII codes. For example, you cannot read the <u>CONTROL</u>, <u>SHIFT</u>, and <u>CAPS LOCK</u> keys directly, but pressing one of these keys alters the character codes produced by the other keys.

Another key that doesn't generate a code is **RESET**, located at the upper-right corner of the keyboard; it is connected directly to the Apple IIe's circuits. Pressing **RESET** with **CONTROL** depressed normally causes the system to stop whatever program it's running and restart itself. This restarting process is called the reset routine.

Two more special keys are the Apple keys, (a) and (a), located on either side of the SPACE bar. These keys are connected to the one-bit game inputs, which are described later in this chapter in the section "Switch Inputs." Pressing them in combination with the CONTROL and RESET keys causes the built-in firmware to perform special reset and self-test cycles, described with the reset routine in Chapter 4.

Table 2-3. Keys and ASCII Codes

Note: Codes are shown here in hexadecimal; to find the decimal equivalents, refer to Table E-2.

52

	Nor	mal	Con	trol	S	hift	F	Both
Key	Code	Char	Code	Char	Code	Char	Code	Char
DELETE	7F	DEL	$7\mathbf{F}$	DEL	7F	DEL	7F	DEL
+	08	BS	08	BS	08	BS	08	BS
TAB	09	HT	09	HT	09	HT	09	HT
Ŧ	0A	LF	0A	LF	0A	LF	0A	LF
t	0B	VT	0B	VT	0B	VT	0B	VT
RETURN	0D	CR	0D	CR	0D	CR	0D	CR
-	15	NAK	15	NAK	15	NAK	15	NAK
ESC	1B	ESC	1B	ESC	1B	ESC	1B	ESC
SPACE	20	SP	20	SP	20	SP	20	SP
1 21	27	,	27	,	22	n	22	"
, <	2C	,	2C	2	3C	<	3C	<
	2D	-	1F	US	5F	_	1F	US
. >	2E	•	2E		3E	>	3E	>
/?	2F	1	2F	/	3F	?	3F	?
0)	30	0	30	0	29)	29)
1!	31	1	31	1	21	!	21	!
2@	32	2	00	NUL	40	@	00	NUL
3 #	33	3	33	3	23	#	23	#
4\$	34	4	34	4	24	\$	24	\$
5 %	35	5	35	5	25	%	25	%
6 ^	36	6	1E	RS	5E	^	$1\mathbf{E}$	RS
7 &	37	7	37	7	26	&	26	&
8*	38	8	38	8	2A	*	2A	*
9(39	9	39	9	28	(28	(
;:	3B	;	3B	;	3A	:	3A	:
= +	3D	=	3D	=	2B	+	2B	+
[{	5B	[1B	ESC	7B	{	1B	ESC
$\setminus 1$	5C	Υ.	1C	FS	7C	1	1C	FS
]}	5D]	1D	GS	7D	}	1D	GS
	60		60		7E	~	7E	~

Table 2-3-Continued, Key	is and ASCII	Codes
--------------------------	--------------	-------

Note: Codes are shown here in hexadecimal; to find the decimal equivalents, refer to Table E-2.

	Nor	mal	Con	trol	S	hift	I	Both
Key	Code	Char	Code	Char	Code	Char	Code	Char
A	61	a	01	SOH	41	А	01	SOH
В	62	b	02	STX	42	В	02	STX
C	63	с	03	ETX	43	С	03	ETX
D	64	d	04	EOT	44	D	04	EOT
Е	65	е	05	ENQ	45	Е	05	ENQ
F	66	f	06	ACK	46	F	06	ACK
G	67	g	07	BEL	47	G	07	BEL
H	68	h	08	BS	48	H	08	BS
Ι	69	i	09	HT	49	I	09	HT
J	6A	j	0A	LF	4A	J	0A	LF
K	6B	k	0B	VT	4B	K	0B	VT
L	6C	1	0C	FF	4C	L	0C	FF
М	6D	m	0D	CR	4D	М	0D	CR
N	6E	n	0E	SO	4E	N	0E	SO
0	6F	0	0F	SI	4F	0	0F	SI
Р	70	р	10	DLE	50	Р	10	DLE
Q	71	q	11	DC1	51	Q	11	DC1
R	72	r	12	DC2	52	R	12	DC2
S	73	S	13	DC3	53	S	13	DC3
Т	74	t	14	DC4	54	Т	14	DC4
U	75	u	15	NAK	55	U	15	NAK
V	76	v	16	SYN	56	V	16	SYN
W	77	w	17	ETB	57	W	17	ETB
Х	78	х	18	CAN	58	Х	18	CAN
Y	79	У	19	EM	59	Y	19	EM
Z	7A	Z	1A	SUB	5A	Z	1A	SUB

The Video Display Generator

The primary output device of the Apple IIe is the video display. You can use any ordinary video monitor, either color or black-and-white, to display video information from the Apple IIe. An ordinary monitor is one that accepts composite video compatible with the standard set by the NTSC (National Television Standards Committee). If you use Apple IIe color graphics with a black-and-white monitor, the display will appear as black and white (or green or amber or...) and various patterns of these two shades mixed together. If you are using only 40-column text and graphics modes, you can use a television set for your video display. If the TV set has an input connector for composite video, you can connect it directly to your Apple IIe; if it does not, you'll need to attach a radio frequency (RF) video modulator between the Apple IIe and the television set. Important! With the 80-column text card installed, the Apple IIe can produce an 80-column text display. However, if you use an ordinary color or black-and-white television set, 80-column text will be too blurry to read. For a clear 80-column display, you must use a high-resolution video monitor with a bandwidth of 14 MHz or greater. The specifications for the video display are summarized in Table 2-4. Note that MouseText characters are not included in the original version **Original Ile** of the Apple IIe. The video signal produced by the Apple IIe is NTSC-compatible composite color video. It is available at three places: the RCA-type phono jack on the back of the Apple IIe, the single Molex-type pin on the main circuit board near the back on the right side, and one of the group of four Molex-type pins

in the same area on the main board. Use the RCA-type phono jack to

connect a video monitor or an external video modulator; use the Molex pins to connect the type of video modulator that fits inside the Apple IIe case.

For a full description of the video signal and the connections to the Molex-type pins, refer to the section "Video Output Signals" in Chapter 7.

Table 2-4. Video Display Specifications

Display modes:	40-column text; map: Figure 2-5 80-column text; map: Figure 2-6				
	Low-resolution color graphics; map: Figure 2-7				
	High-resolution color graphics; map: Figure 2-8				
	Double-high-res. color graphics; map: Figure 2-9				
Text capacity:	24 lines by 80 columns (character positions)				
Character set:	96 ASCII characters (uppercase and lowercase)				
Display formats:	Normal, inverse, flashing, MouseText (Table 2-5)				
Low-resolution graphics:	16 colors (Table 2-6) 40 horizontal by 48 vertical; map: Figure 2-7				
High-resolution graphics:	6 colors (Table 2-7) 140 horizontal by 192 vertical (restricted)				
	Black-and-white: 280 horizontal by 192 vertical; map: Figure 2-8				
Double-high-resolution graphics:	16 colors (Table 2-8) 140 horizontal by 192 vertical (no restrictions)				
	Black-and-white: 560 horizontal by 192 vertical; map: Figure 2-9				

The Apple IIe can produce seven different kinds of video display:

- □ text, 24 lines of 40 characters
- □ text, 24 lines of 80 characters (with optional text card)
- □ low-resolution graphics, 40 by 48, in 16 colors
- □ high-resolution graphics, 140 by 192, in 6 colors
- □ high-resolution graphics, 280 by 192, in black and white
- double high-resolution graphics, 140 by 192, in 16 colors (with optional 64K text card)
- □ double high-resolution graphics, 560 by 192, in black and white (with optional 64K text card)

The two text modes can display all 96 ASCII characters: the uppercase and lowercase letters, numbers, and symbols. The enchanced Apple IIe can also display MouseText characters.

Any of the graphics displays can have 4 lines of text at the bottom of the screen. The text may be either 40-column or 80-column, except that double-high-resolution graphics may only have 80-column text at the bottom of the screen. Graphics displays with text at the bottom are called mixed-mode displays.

The low-resolution graphics display is an array of colored blocks, 40 wide by 48 high, in any of 16 colors. In mixed mode, the 4 lines of text replace the bottom 8 rows of blocks, leaving 40 rows of 40 blocks each.

The high-resolution graphics display is an array of dots, 280 wide by 192 high. There are 6 colors available in high-resolution displays, but a given dot can use only 4 of the 6 colors. In mixed mode, the 4 lines of text replace the bottom 32 rows of dots, leaving 160 rows of 280 dots each.

The double-high-resolution graphics display uses main and auxiliary memory to display an array of dots, 560 wide by 192 high. All the dots are visible in black and white. If color is used, the display is 140 dots wide by 192 high with 16 colors available. In mixed mode, the 4 lines of text replace the bottom 32 rows of dots, leaving 160 rows of 560 (or 140) dots each. In mixed mode, the text lines can be 80 columns wide only.

Text Modes

The text characters displayed include the uppercase and lowercase letters, the ten digits, punctuation marks, and special characters. Each character is displayed in an area of the screen that is seven dots wide by eight dots high. The characters are formed by a dot matrix five dots wide, leaving two blank columns of dots between characters in a row, except for MouseText characters, some of which are seven dot wide. Except for lowercase letters with descenders and some MouseText characters, the characters are only seven dots high, leaving one blank line of dots between rows of characters.

The normal display has white (or other single color) dots on a black background. Characters can also be displayed as black dots on a white background; this is called inverse format.

Text Character Sets

The Apple IIe can display either of two text character sets: the primary set or an alternate set. The forms of the characters in the two sets are actually the same, but the available display formats are different. The display formats are

- □ normal, with white dots on a black screen
- □ inverse, with black dots on a white screen
- □ flashing, alternating between normal and inverse.

With the primary character set, the Apple IIe can display uppercase characters in all three formats: normal, inverse, and flashing. Lowercase letters can only be displayed in normal format. The primary character set is compatible with most software written for the Apple II and Apple II Plus models, which can display text in flashing format but don't have lowercase characters.

The alternate character set displays characters in either normal or inverse format. In normal format, you can get

- □ uppercase letters
- □ lowercase letters
- □ numbers
- □ special characters.

In inverse format, you can get

- □ MouseText characters (on the enhanced Apple IIe)
- □ uppercase letters
- □ lowercase letters
- □ numbers
- □ special characters.

The MouseText characters that replace the alternate uppercase inverse characters in the range of \$40-\$5F in the original Apple IIe are inverse characters, but they don't look like it because of the way that they have been constructed.

You select the character set by means of the alternate-text soft switch, ALTCHAR, described later in the section "Display Mode Switching." Table 2-5 shows the character codes in hexadecimal for the Apple IIe primary and alternate character sets in normal, inverse, and flashing formats.

Each character on the screen is stored as one byte of display data. The low-order six bits make up the ASCII code of the character being displayed. The remaining two (high-order) bits select inverse or flashing format and uppercase or lowercase characters. In the primary character set, bit 7 selects inverse or normal format and bit 6 controls character flashing. In the alternate character set, bit 6 selects between uppercase and lowercase, according to the ASCII character codes, and flashing format is not available.

Table 2-5. Display Character Sets

Note: To identify particular characters and values, refer to Table 2-3.

Hex	Primary Charac	ter Set	Alternate Character Set			
Values	Character Type	Format	Character Type	Format		
\$00-\$1F	Uppercase letters	Inverse	Uppercase letters	Inverse		
\$20-\$3F	Special characters	Inverse	Special characters	Inverse		
\$40-\$5F	Uppercase letters	Flashing	MouseText			
\$60-\$7F	Special characters	Flashing	Lowercase letters	Inverse		
\$80-\$9F	Uppercase letters	Normal	Uppercase letters	Normal		
\$A0-\$BF	Special characters	Normal	Special characters	Normal		
\$C0-\$DF	Uppercase letters	Normal	Uppercase letters	Normal		
\$E0-\$FF	Lowercase letters	Normal	Lowercase letters	Normal		

Original lle

In the alternate character set of the original Apple IIe, characters in the range \$40-\$5F are uppercase inverse.

40-Column Versus 80-Column Text

The Apple IIe has two modes of text display: 40-column and 80-column. (The 80-column display mode described in this manual is the one you get with the Apple IIe 80-Column Text Card or other auxiliary-memory card installed in the auxiliary slot.) The number of dots in each character does not change, but the characters in 80-column mode are only half as wide as the characters in 40-column mode. Compare Figure 2-2 and Figure 2-3. On an ordinary color or black-and-white television set, the narrow characters in the 80-column display blur together; you must use the 40-column mode to display text on a television set.

Figure 2-2. 40-Column Text Display JLIST 0,100 10 REM APPLESOFT CHARACTER DEMO 20 TEXT : HOME 30 PRINT : PRINT "Applesoft char acter Demo" PRINT : PRINT "Which characte 40 r set--" PRINT : INPUT "Primary (P) or 50 Alternate (A) ?";A\$ 60 IF LEN (A\$) < 1 THEN 50 65 LET A\$ = LEFT\$ (A\$,1) 70 IF AS = "P" THEN POKE 49166, Ø IF A\$ = "A" THEN POKE 49167, 80 Ø PRINT : PRINT "...printing th 90 e same line, first" 100 PRINT " in NORMAL, then INVE RSE , then FLASH:": PRINT 1 Figure 2-3. 80-Column Text Display JLIST 10 REM APPLESOFT CHARACTER DEMO 20 TEXT : HOME 30 PRINT : PRINT "Applesoft Character Demo" 40 PRINT : PRINT "Which character set -- " 50 PRINT : INPUT "Primary (P) or Alternate (A) ?";A\$ 60 IF LEN (A\$) < 1 THEN 50 65 LET A\$ = LEFT\$ (A\$,1) 70 IF A\$ = "P" THEN POKE 49166,0 80 IF A\$ = "A" THEN POKE 49167,0 90 PRINT : PRINT "...printing the same line, first" 100 PRINT " in NORMAL, then INVERSE , then FLASH:": PRINT

180 NORMAL : PRINT : PRINT : PRINT "Press any key to repeat."

1000 PRINT : PRINT "SAMPLE TEXT: Now is the time--12:00"

150 NORMAL : GOSUB 1000 160 INVERSE : GOSUB 1000 170 FLASH : GOSUB 1000

190 GET A\$ 200 GOTO 10

1100 RETURN

Graphics Modes

The Apple IIe can produce video graphics in three different modes. All the graphics modes treat the screen as a rectangular array of spots. Normally, your programs will use the features of some high-level language to draw graphics dots, lines, and shapes in these arrays; this section describes the way the resulting graphics data are stored in the Apple IIe's memory.

Low-Resolution Graphics

In the low-resolution graphics mode, the Apple IIe displays an array of 48 rows by 40 columns of colored blocks. Each block can be any one of sixteen colors, including black and white. On a black-and-white monitor or television set, these colors appear as black, white, and three shades of gray. There are no blank dots between blocks; adjacent blocks of the same color merge to make a larger shape.

Data for the low-resolution graphics display is stored in the same part of memory as the data for the 40-column text display. Each byte contains data for two low-resolution graphics blocks. The two blocks are displayed one atop the other in a display space the same size as a 40-column text character, seven dots wide by eight dots high.

Half a byte—four bits, or one nibble—is assigned to each graphics block. Each nibble can have a value from 0 to 15, and this value determines which one of sixteen colors appears on the screen. The colors and their corresponding nibble values are shown in Table 2-6. In each byte, the low-order nibble sets the color for the top block of the pair, and the high-order nibble sets the color for the bottom block. Thus, a byte containing the hexadecimal value \$D8 produces a brown block atop a yellow block on the screen. Table 2-6. Low-Resolution Graphics Colors

Note: Colors may vary	, depending upon	the controls	on the	monitor	or TV	set.
-----------------------	------------------	--------------	--------	---------	-------	------

Nibble Value		Nibble	Value			
Dec	Hex	Color	Dec	Hex	Color	
0	\$00	Black	8	\$08	Brown	
1	\$01	Magenta	9	\$09	Orange	
2	\$02	Dark Blue	10	\$0A	Gray 2	
3	\$03	Purple	11	\$0B	Pink	
4	\$04	Dark Green	12	\$0C	Light Green	
5	\$05	Gray 1	13	\$0D	Yellow	
6	\$06	Medium Blue	14	\$0E	Aquamarine	
7	\$07	Light Blue	15	\$0F	White	

As explained later in the section "Display Pages," the text display and the low-resolution graphics display use the same area in memory. Most programs that generate text and graphics clear this part of memory when they change display modes, but it is possible to store data as text and display it as graphics, or vice-versa. All you have to do is change the mode switch, described later in this chapter in the section "Display Mode Switching," without changing the display data. This usually produces meaningless jumbles on the display, but some programs have used this technique to good advantage for producing complex low-resolution graphics displays quickly.

High-Resolution Graphics

In the high-resolution graphics mode, the Apple IIe displays an array of colored dots in 192 rows and 280 columns. The colors available are black, white, purple, green, orange, and blue, although the colors of the individual dots are limited, as described later in this section. Adjacent dots of the same color merge to form a larger colored area.

Data for the high-resolution graphics displays are stored in either of two 8192-byte areas in memory. These areas are called high-resolution Page 1 and Page 2; think of them as buffers where you can put data to be displayed. Normally, your programs will use the features of some high-level language to draw graphics dots, lines, and shapes to display; this section describes the way the resulting graphics data are stored in the Apple IIe's memory.

The Video Display Generator

Figure 2-4. High-Resolution Display Bits



For more details about the way the Apple IIe produces color on a TV set, see the section "Video Display Modes" in Chapter 7. The Apple IIe high-resolution graphics display is bit-mapped: each dot on the screen corresponds to a bit in the Apple IIe's memory . The seven low-order bits of each display byte control a row of seven adjacent dots on the screen, and forty adjacent bytes in memory control a row of 280 (7 times 40) dots. The least significant bit of each byte is displayed as the leftmost dot in a row of seven, followed by the second-least significant bit, and so on, as shown in Figure 2-4. The eighth bit (the most significant) of each byte is not displayed; it selects one of two color sets, as described later.

On a black-and-white monitor, there is a simple correspondence between bits in memory and dots on the screen. A dot is white if the bit controlling it is on (1), and the dot is black if the bit is off (0). On a black-and-white television set, pairs of dots blur together; alternating black and white dots merge to a continuous grey.

On an NTSC color monitor or a color television set, a dot whose controlling bit is off (0) is black. If the bit is on, the dot will be white or a color, depending on its position, the dots on either side, and the setting of the high-order bit of the byte.

Call the left-most column of dots column zero, and assume (for the moment) that the high-order bits of all the data bytes are off (0). If the bits that control dots in even-numbered columns (0, 2, 4, and so forth) are on, the dots are purple; if the bits that control odd-numbered columns are on, the dots are green—but only if the dots on both sides of a given dot are black. If two adjacent dots are both on, they are both white.

You select the other two colors, blue and orange, by turning the high-order bit (bit 7) of a data byte on (1). The colored dots controlled by a byte with the high-order bit on are either blue or orange: the dots in even-numbered columns are blue, and the dots in odd-numbered columns are orange again, only if the dots on both sides are black. Within each horizontal line of seven dots controlled by a single byte, you can have black, white, and one pair of colors. To change the color of any dot to one of the other pair of colors, you must change the high-order bit of its byte, which affects the colors of all seven dots controlled by the byte.

In other words, high-resolution graphics displayed on a color monitor or television set are made up of colored dots, according to the following rules:

- □ Dots in even columns can be black, purple, or blue.
- Dots in odd columns can be black, green, or orange.
- □ If adjacent dots in a row are both on, they are both white.
- □ The colors in each row of seven dots controlled by a single byte are either purple and green, or blue and orange, depending on whether the high-order bit is off (0) or on (1).

These rules are summarized in Table 2-7. The blacks and whites are numbered to remind you that the high-order bit is different.

Table 2-7. High-Resolution Graphics Colors

Note: Colors may vary depending upon the controls on the monitor or television set.

Bits 0-6	Bit 7 Off	Bit 7 On
Adjacent columns off	Black 1	Black 2
Even columns on	Purple	Blue
Odd columns on	Green	Orange
Adjacent columns on	White 1	White 2

For information about the way NTSC color television works, see the magazine articles listed in the bibliography. The peculiar behavior of the high-resolution colors reflects the way NTSC color television works. The dots that make up the Apple IIe video signal are spaced to coincide with the frequency of the color subcarrier used in the NTSC system. Alternating black and white dots at this spacing cause a color monitor or TV set to produce color, but two or more white dots together do not.

Double-High-Resolution Graphics

Double-high-resolution graphics is a bit-mapping of the low-order seven bits of the bytes in the main-memory and auxiliary-memory pages at \$2000-\$3FFF. The bytes in the main-memory and auxiliary-memory pages are interleaved in exactly the same manner as the characters in 80-column text: of each pair of identical addresses, the auxiliary-memory byte is displayed first, and the main-memory byte is displayed second. Horizontal resolution is 560 dots when displayed on a monochrome monitor.

Unlike high-resolution color, double-high-resolution color has no restrictions on which colors can be adjacent. Color is determined by any four adjacent dots along a line. Think of a 4-dot-wide window moving across the screen: at any given time, the color displayed will correspond to the 4-bit value from Table 2-8 that corresponds to the window's position (Figure 2-9). Effective horizontal resolution with color is 140 (560 divided by four) dots per line.

To use Table 2-8, divide the display column number by 4, and use the remainder to find the correct column in the table: ab0 is a byte residing in auxiliary memory corresponding to a remainder of 0 (byte 0, 4, 8, and so on); mb1 is a byte residing in main memory corresponding to a remainder of 1 (byte 1, 5, 9 and so on), and similarly for ab3 and mb4.

The Video Display Generator

Table 2-8. Dou						
Color	ab0	mb1	ab2	mb3	Repeated Bit Pattern	
Black	\$00	\$00	\$00	\$00	0000	
Magenta	\$08	\$11	\$22	\$44	0001	
Brown	\$44	\$08	\$11	\$22	0010	100
Orange	\$4C	\$19	\$33	\$66	0011	
Dark Green	\$22	\$44	\$08	\$11	0100	_
Gray 1	\$2A	\$55	\$2A	\$55	0101	
Green	\$66	\$4C	\$19	\$33	0110	
Yellow	\$6E	\$5D	\$3B	\$77	0111	
Dark Blue	\$11	\$22	\$44	\$08	1000	_
Purple	\$19	\$33	\$66	\$4C	1001	
Gray 2	\$55	\$2A	\$55	\$2A	1010	
Pink	\$5D	\$3B	\$77	\$6E	1011	
Medium Blue	\$33	\$66	\$4C	\$19	1100	
Light Blue	\$3B	\$77	\$6E	\$5D	1101	
Aqua	\$77	\$6E	\$5D	\$3B	1110	
White	\$7F	\$7F	\$7F	\$7F	1111	

Table 2-8. Double-High-Resolution Graphics Colors

Video Display Pages

The Apple IIe generates its video displays using data stored in specific areas in memory. These areas, called display pages, serve as buffers where your programs can put data to be displayed. Each byte in a display buffer controls an object at a certain location on the display. In text mode, the object is a single character; in low-resolution graphics, the object is two stacked colored blocks; and in high-resolution and double-high-resolution modes, it is a line of seven adjacent dots.

The 40-column-text and low-resolution-graphics modes use two display pages of 1024 bytes each. These are called text Page 1 and text Page 2, and they are located at 1024-2047 (hexadecimal \$0400-\$07FF) and 2048-3071 (\$0800-\$0BFF) in main memory. Normally, only Page 1 is used, but you can put text or graphics data into Page 2 and switch displays instantly. Either page can be displayed as 40-column text, low-resolution graphics, or mixed-mode (four rows of text at the bottom of a graphics display).

The 80-column text mode displays twice as much data as the 40-column mode—1920 bytes—but it cannot switch pages. The 80-column text display uses a combination page made up of text Page 1 in main memory plus another page in auxiliary memory located on the 80-column text card. This additional memory is *not* the same as text Page 2—in fact, it occupies the same address space as text Page 1, and there is a special soft switch that enables you to store data into it. (See the next section "Display Mode Switching.") The built-in firmware I/O routines described in Chapter 3 take care of this extra addressing automatically; that is one reason to use those routines for all your normal text output.

The high-resolution graphics mode also has two display pages, but each page is 8192 bytes long. In the 40-column text and low-resolution graphics modes each byte controls a display area seven dots wide by eight dots high. In high-resolution graphics mode each byte controls an area seven dots wide by one dot high. Thus, a high-resolution display requires eight times as much data storage, as shown in Table 2-9.

The double-high-resolution graphics mode uses high-resolution Page 1 in both main and auxiliary memory. Each byte in those pages of memory controls a display area seven dots wide by one dot high. This gives you 560 dots per line in black and white, and 140 dots per line in color. A double-high-resolution display requires twice the total memory as high-resolution graphics, and 16 times as much as a low-resolution display.

<i>Table 2-9.</i>	Video	Display Page	Locations
-------------------	-------	--------------	-----------

	Display	Lowest Address		Highest Address			
Display Mode	Page	Hex	Dec	Hex	Dec		
40-column text,	1	\$0400	1024	\$07FF	2047		
low-resolution graphics	2*	\$0800	2048	\$0BFF	3071		
80-column text	1	\$0400	1024	\$07FF	2047		
	2*	\$0800	2048	\$0BFF	3071		
High-resolution	1	\$2000	8192	\$3FFF	16383		
graphics	2	\$4000	16384	\$5FFF	24575		
Double-high-	1†	\$2000	8192	\$3FFF	16383		
resolution graphics	2 +	\$4000	16384	\$5FFF	24575		

Contractory of

* This is not supported by firmware; for instructions on how to switch pages, refer to the next section "Display Mode Switching."

+ See the section "Double-High-Resolution Graphics," earlier in this chapter.

Display Mode Switching

You select the display mode that is appropriate for your application by reading or writing to a reserved memory location called a soft switch. In the Apple IIe, most soft switches have three memory locations reserved for them: one for turning the switch on, one for turning it off, and one for reading the current state of the switch.

Table 2-10 shows the reserved locations for the soft switches that control the display modes. For example, to switch from mixed-mode to full-screen graphics in an assembly-language program, you could use the instruction

STA \$C052

To do this in a BASIC program, you could use the instruction

POKE 49234,0

Some of the soft switches in Table 2-10 must be read, some must be written to, and for some you can use either action. When writing to a soft switch, it doesn't matter what value you write; the action occurs when you address the location, and the value is ignored.

Table 2-10. Display Soft Switches

Note: W means write anything to the location, R means read the location, R/W means read or write, and R7 means read the location and then check bit 7.

Name	Action	Hex	Function	
ALTCHAR	W	\$C00E	Off: display text using primary character set	
ALTCHAR	W	\$C00F	On: display text using alternate character set	
RDALTCHAR	R7	\$C01E	Read ALTCHAR switch $(1 = on)$	
80COL	W	\$C00C	Off: display 40 columns	
80COL	W	\$C00D	On: display 80 columns	
RD80COL	R7	\$C01F	Read 80COL switch (1 = on)	
80STORE	W	\$C000	Off: cause PAGE2 on to select auxiliary RAM	
80STORE	W	\$C001	On: allow PAGE2 to switch main RAM areas	
RD80STORE	R7	\$C018	Read 80STORE switch $(1 = on)$	
PAGE2 PAGE2 RDPAGE2	R/W R/W R7	\$C054 \$C055 \$C01C	Off: select Page 1 On: select Page 2 or, if 80STORE on, Page 1 in auxiliary memory Read PAGE2 switch (1 = on)	
TEXT	R/W	\$C050	Off: display graphics or, if MIXED on, mixed	
TEXT	R/W	\$C051	On: display text	
RDTEXT	R7	\$C01A	Read TEXT switch (1 = on)	
MIXED	R/W	\$C052	Off: display only text or only graphics	
MIXED	R/W	\$C053	On: if TEXT off, display text and graphics	
RDMIXED	R7	\$C01B	Read MIXED switch $(1 = on)$	
HIRES HIRES RDHIRES	R/W R/W	\$C056 \$C057 \$C01D	Off: if TEXT off, display low-resolution graphi On: if TEXT off, display high-resolution or, if DHIRES on, double-high-resolution graphics Read HIRES switch $(1 = on)$	
IOUDIS	W	\$C07E	On: disable IOU access for addresses \$C058 to	
IOUDIS	W	\$C07F	\$C05F; enable access to DHIRES switch * Off: enable IOU access for addresses \$C058 to \$C05F; disable access to DHIRES switch *	
RDIOUDIS	R7	\$C07E	Read IOUDIS switch $(1 = off)$ †	
DHIRES	R/W	\$C05E	On: if IOUDIS on, turn on double-high-res.	
DHIRES	R/W	\$C05F	Off: if IOUDIS on, turn off double-high-res.	
RDDHIRES	R7	\$C07F	Read DHIRES switch $(1 = on)$ †	

* The firmware normally leaves IOUDIS on. See also †.

⁺ Reading or writing any address in the range \$C070-\$C07F also triggers the paddle timer and resets VBLINT (Chapter 7).

The Video Display Generator

By the Way: You may not need to deal with these functions by reading and writing directly to the memory locations in Table 2-10. Many of the functions shown here are selected automatically if you use the display routines in the various high-level languages on the Apple IIe.

Any time you read a soft switch, you get a byte of data. However, the only information the byte contains is the state of the switch, and this occupies only one bit—bit 7, the high-order bit. The other bits in the byte are unpredictable. If you are programming in machine language, the switch setting is the sign bit; as soon as you read the byte, you can do a Branch Plus if the switch is off, or Branch Minus if the switch if on.

If you read a soft switch from a BASIC program, you get a value between 0 and 255. Bit 7 has a value of 128, so if the switch is on, the value will be equal to or greater than 128; if the switch is off, the value will be less than 128.

Addressing Display Pages Directly

Before you decide to use the display pages directly, consider the alternatives. Most high-level languages enable you to write statements that control the text and graphics displays. Similarly, if you are programming in assembly language, you may be able to use the display features of the built-in I/O firmware. You should store directly into display memory only if the existing programs can't meet your requirements.

The display memory maps are shown in Figures 2-5, 2-6, 2-7, 2-8, and 2-9. All of the different display modes use the same basic addressing scheme: characters or graphics bytes are stored as rows of 40 contiguous bytes, but the rows themselves are not stored at locations corresponding to their locations on the display. Instead, the display address is transformed so that three rows that are eight rows apart on the display are grouped together and stored in the first 120 locations of each block of 128 bytes (\$80 hexadecimal). By folding the display data into memory this way, the Apple IIe, like the Apple II, stores all 960 characters of displayed text within 1K bytes of memory.

For a full description of the way the Apple IIe handles its display memory, refer to the section "Display Memory Addressing" in Chapter 7. The high-resolution graphics display is stored in much the same way as text, but there are eight times as many bytes to store, because eight rows of dots occupy the same space on the display as one row of characters. The subset consisting of all the first rows from the groups of eight is stored in the first 1024 bytes of the high-resolution display page. The subset consisting of all the second rows from the groups of eight is stored in the second 1024 bytes, and so on for a total of 8 times 1024, or 8192 bytes. In other words, each block of 1024 bytes in the high-resolution display page contains one row of dots out of every group of eight rows. The individual rows are stored in sets of three 40-byte rows, the same way as the text display.

All of the display modes except 80-column mode and double-high-resolution graphics mode can use either of two display pages. The display maps show addresses for each mode's Page 1 only. To obtain addresses for text or low-resolution graphics Page 2, add 1024 (\$400); to obtain addresses for high-resolution Page 2, add 8192 (\$2000).

The 80-column display and double-high-resolution graphics mode work a little differently. Half of the data is stored in the normal text Page-1 memory, and the other half is stored in memory on the 80-column text card using the same addresses. The display circuitry fetches bytes from these two memory areas simultaneously and displays them sequentially: first the byte from the 80-column text card memory, then the byte from the main memory. The main memory stores the characters in the odd columns of the display, and the 80-column text card memory stores the characters in the even columns.

To store display data on the 80-column text card, first turn on the 80STORE soft switch by writing to location 49153 (hexadecimal \$C001 or complementary -16383). With 80STORE on, the page-select switch, PAGE2, selects between the portion of the 80-column display stored in Page 1 of main memory and the portion stored in the 80-column text card memory. To select the 80-column text card, turn the PAGE2 soft switch on by reading or writing at location 49237.

For more details about the way the displays are generated, see Chapter 7.



Figure 2-5. Map of 40-Column Text Display

Figure 2-6. Map of 80-Column Text Display





Figure 2-7. Map of Low-Resolution Graphics Display



The Video Display Generator



Figure 2-9. Map of Double-High-Resolution Graphics Display

Secondary Inputs and Outputs

In addition to the primary I/O devices—the keyboard and display—there are several secondary input and output devices in the Apple IIe. These devices are

- \Box the speaker (output)
- □ cassette input and output
- □ annunciator outputs
- □ strobe output
- □ switch inputs
- \Box analog (hand control) inputs.

These devices are similar in operation to the soft switches described in the previous section: you control them by reading or writing to dedicated memory locations. Action takes place any time your program reads or writes to one of these locations; information written is ignored.

Important!

Some of these devices toggle—change state—each time they are accessed. If you write using an indexed store operation, the Apple IIe's microprocessor activates the address bus twice during successive clock cycles, causing a device that toggles each time it is addressed to end up back in its original state. For this reason, you should read, rather than write, to such devices.

The Speaker

The Apple IIe has a small speaker mounted toward the front of the bottom plate. The speaker is connected to a soft switch that toggles; it has two states, off and on, and it changes from one to the other each time it is accessed. (At low frequencies, less than 400 Hz or so, the speaker clicks only on every other access.)

If you switch the speaker once, it emits a click; to make longer sounds, you access the speaker repeatedly. You should always use a read operation to toggle the speaker. If you write to this soft switch, it switches twice in rapid succession. The resulting pulse is so short that the speaker doesn't have time to respond; it doesn't make a sound.

Electrical specifications of the speaker circuit appear in Chapter 7.

The soft switch for the speaker uses memory location 49200 (hexadecimal \$C030). From Integer BASIC, use the complementary address -16336. You can make various tones and buzzes with the speaker by using combinations of timing loops in your program. There is also a routine in the built-in firmware to make a beep through the speaker. This routine is called BELL1.

BELL1 is described in Appendix B.

Detailed electrical specifications for the cassette input and output are given in Chapter 7.

WRITE is described in Appendix B.

Cassette Input and Output

There are two miniature phone jacks on the back panel of the Apple IIe. You can use a pair of standard cables with miniature phone plugs to connect an ordinary cassette tape recorder to the Apple IIe and save programs and data on audio cassettes.

The phone jack marked with a picture of an arrow pointing towards a cassette is the output jack. It is connected to a toggled soft switch, like the speaker switch described above. The signal at the phone jack switches from zero to 25 millivolts or from 25 millivolts to zero each time you access the soft switch.

If you connect a cable from this jack to the microphone input of a cassette tape recorder and switch the recorder to record mode, the signal changes you produce by accessing this soft switch will be recorded on the tape. The cassette output switch uses memory location 49184 (hexadecimal \$C020; complementary value -16352). Like the speaker, this output will toggle twice if you write to it, so you should only use read operations to control the cassette output.

The standard method for writing computer data on audio tapes uses tones with two different pitches to represent the binary states zero and one. To store data, you convert the data into a stream of bits and convert the bits into the appropriate tones. To save you the trouble of actually programming the tones, and to ensure consistency among all Apple II cassette tapes, there is a built-in routine called WRITE for producing cassette data output.
The phone jack marked with a picture of an arrow coming from a cassette is the input jack. It accepts a cable from the cassette recorder's earphone jack. The signal from the cassette is 1 volt (peak-to-peak) audio. Each time the instantaneous value of this audio signal changes from positive to negative, or vice-versa, the state of the cassette input circuit changes from zero to one or vice-versa. You can read the state of this circuit at memory location 49248 (hexadecimal \$C060, or complementary decimal -16288).

When you read this location, you get a byte, but only the high-order bit (bit 7) is valid. If you are programming in machine language, this is the sign bit, so you can perform a Branch Plus or Branch Minus immediately after reading this byte. BASIC is too slow to keep up with the audio tones used for data recording on tape, but you don't need to write the program: there is a built-in routine called READ for reading data from a cassette.

The Hand Control Connector Signals

Several inputs and outputs are available on a 9-pin D-type miniature connector on the back of the Apple IIe: three one-bit inputs, or switches, and four analog inputs. These signals are also available on the 16-pin IC connector on the main circuit board, along with four one-bit outputs and a data strobe. You can access all of these signals from your programs.

Ordinarily, you connect a pair of hand controls to the 9-pin connector. The rotary controls use two analog inputs, and the push-buttons use two one-bit inputs. However, you can also use these inputs and outputs for many other jobs. For example, two analog inputs can be used with a two-axis joystick. Table 7-19 shows the connector pin numbers.

READ is described in Appendix B.

Complete electrical specifications of these inputs and outputs are given in Chapter 7.

Annunciator Outputs

The four one-bit outputs are called annunciators. Each annunciator can be used to turn a lamp, a relay, or some similar electronic device on and off.

Each annunciator is controlled by a soft switch, and each switch uses a pair of memory locations. These memory locations are shown in Table 2-11. Any reference to the first location of a pair turns the corresponding annunciator off; a reference to the second location turns the annunciator on. There is no way to read the state of an annunciator.

Table 2-11. Annunciator Memory Locations

Annunciator				Address	
No.	Pin*	State	Dec	imal	Hex
0	15	off on	49240 49241	-16296 -16295	\$C058 \$C059
1	14	off on	49242 49243	-16294 -16293	\$C05A \$C05B
2	13	off on	49244 49245	-16292 -16291	\$C05C \$C05D
3	12	off on	49246 49247	-16290 -16289	\$C05E \$C05F

* Pin numbers given are for the 16-pin IC connector on the circuit board.

Strobe Output

The strobe output is normally at +5 volts, but it drops to zero for about half a microsecond any time its dedicated memory location is accessed. You can use this signal to control functions such as data latching in external devices. If you use this signal, remember that memory is addressed twice by a write; if you need only a single pulse, use a read operation to activate the strobe. The memory location for the strobe signal is 49216 (hexadecimal \$C040 or complementary -16320).

For electrical specifications of the annunciator outputs, refer to Chapter 7.

Switch Inputs

The three one-bit inputs can be connected to the output of another electronic device or to a pushbutton. When you read a byte from one of these locations, only the high-order bit—bit 7—is valid information; the rest of the byte is undefined. From machine language, you can do a Branch Plus or Branch Minus on the state of bit 7. From BASIC, you read the switch with a PEEK and compare the value with 128. If the value is 128 or greater, the switch is on.

The memory locations for these switches are 49249 through 49251 (hexadecimal \$C061 through \$C063, or complementary -16287 through -16285), as shown in Table 2-12. Switch 0 and switch 1 are permanently connected to the 🔄 and 🔹 keys on the keyboard; these are the ones normally connected to the buttons on the hand controls. Some software for the older models of the Apple II uses the third switch, switch 2, as a way of detecting the shift key. This technique requires a hardware modification known as the single-wire shift-key mod.

You should be sure that you really need the shift-key mod before you go ahead and do it. It probably is not worth it unless you have a program that requires the shift-key mod that you cannot either replace or modify to work without it.

▲Warning

If you make the shift-key modification and connect a joystick or other hand control that uses switch 2, you must be careful never to close the switch and press **SHIFT** at the same time: doing so produces a short circuit that causes the power supply to turn off. When this happens, any programs or data in the computer's internal memory are lost.

Shift-Key Mod: To perform this modification on your Apple IIe, all you have to do is solder across the broken diamond labelled X6 on the main circuit board. Remember to turn off the power before changing anything inside the Apple IIe. Also remember that changes such as this are at your own risk and may void your warranty.

Analog Inputs

The four analog inputs are designed for use with 150K ohm variable resistors or potentiometers. The variable resistance is connected between the +5V supply and each input, so that it makes up part of a timing circuit. The circuit changes state when its time constant has elapsed, and the time constant varies as the resistance varies. Your program can measure this time by counting in a loop until the circuit changes state, or times out.

Before a program can read the analog inputs, it must first reset the timing circuits. Accessing memory location 49264 (hexadecimal \$C070 or complementary -16272) does this. As soon as you reset the timing circuits, the high bits of the bytes at locations 49252 through 49255 (hexadecimal \$C064 through \$C067 or complementary -16284 through -16281) are set to 1. If you PEEK at them from BASIC, the values will be 128 or greater. Within about 3 milliseconds, these bits will change back to 0—byte values less than 128—and remain there until you reset the timing circuits again. The exact time each of the four bits remains high is directly proportional to the resistance connected to the corresponding input. If these inputs are open—no resistances are connected—the corresponding bits may remain high indefinitely.

To read the analog inputs from machine language, you can use a program loop that resets the timers and then increments a counter until the bit at the appropriate memory location changes to 0, or you can use the built-in routine called PREAD. High-level languages, such as BASIC, also include convenient means of reading the analog inputs: refer to your language manuals.

Summary of Secondary I/O Locations

Table 2-12 shows the memory locations for all of the built-in I/O devices except the keyboard and display. As explained earlier, some soft switches should only be accessed by means of read operations; those switches are marked.

Refer to the section "Game I/O Signals" in Chapter 7 for details.

PREAD is described in Appendix B.

Table 2-12. Secondary I/O Memory Locations

No. of

1

For connector identification and pin numbers, refer to Tables 7-18 and 7-19.

		Address			
Function	Dec	imal	Hex	Access	
Speaker	49200	-16336	\$C030	Read only	
Cassette out	49184	-16352	\$C020	Read only	
Cassette in	49248	-16288	\$C060	Read only	
Annunciator 0 on	49241	-16295	\$C059		
Annunciator 0 off	49240	-16296	\$C058		
Annunciator 1 on	49243	-16293	\$C05B		
Annunciator 1 off	49242	-16294	\$C05A		
Annunciator 2 on	49245	-16291	\$C05D		
Annunciator 2 off	49244	-16292	\$C05C		
Annunciator 3 on	49247	-16289	\$C05F		
Annunciator 3 off	49246	-16290	\$C05E		
Strobe output	49216	-16320	\$C040	Read only	
Switch input 0 ((3))	49249	-16287	\$C061	Read only	
Switch input 1 (49250	-16286	\$C062	Read only	
Switch input 2	49251	-16285	\$C063	Read only	
Analog input reset	49264	-16272	\$C070		
Analog input 0	49252	-16284	\$C064	Read only	
Analog input 1	49253	-16283	\$C065	Read only	
Analog input 2	49254	-16282	\$C066	Read only	
Analog input 3	49255	-16281	\$C067	Read only	





The **Monitor**, or System Monitor, is a computer program that is used to operate the computer at the machine language level.

Almost every program on the Apple IIe takes input from the keyboard and sends output to the display. The **Monitor** and the Applesoft and Integer BASICs do this by means of standard I/O subroutines that are built into the Apple IIe's firmware. Many application programs also use the standard I/O subroutines, but Pascal programs do not; Pascal has its own I/O subroutines.

.

This chapter describes the features of these subroutines as they are used by the Monitor and by the BASIC interpreters, and tells you how to use the standard subroutines in your assembly-language programs.

Important!

High-level languages already include convenient methods for handling most of the functions described in this chapter. You should not need to use the standard I/O subroutines in your programs unless you are programming in assembly language.

Table 3-1. Monitor Firmware Routines

Location	Name	Description
\$C305	BASICIN	With 80-column dirmware active, displays solid, blinking cursor. Accepts character from keyboard.
\$C307	BASICOUT	Displays a character on the screen; used when the 80-column firmware is active (Chapter 3).
\$FC9C	CLREOL	Clears to end of line from current cursor position.
\$FC9E	CLEOLZ	Clears to end of line using contents of Y register as cursor position.
\$FC42	CLREOP	Clears to bottom of window.
\$F832	CLRSCR	Clears the low-resolution screen.
\$F836	CLRTOP	Clears top 40 lines of low-resolution screen.
\$FDED	COUT	Calls output routine whose address is stored in CSW (normally COUT1, Chapter 3).
\$FDF0	COUT1	Displays a character on the screen (Chapter 3).
\$FD8E	CROUT	Generates a carriage return character.
\$FD8B	CROUT1	Clears to end of line, then generates a carriage return character.
\$FD6A	GETLN	Displays the prompt character; accepts a string of characters by means of RDKEY.
\$F819	HLINE	Draws a horizontal line of blocks.
\$FC58	HOME	Clears the window and puts cursor in upper-left corner of window.

Table 3-1-Continued. Monitor Firmware Routines

Location	Name	Description
\$FD1B	KEYIN	With 80-column firmware inactive, displays checkerboard cursor. Accepts character from keyboard.
\$F800	PLOT	Plots a single low-resolution block on the screen.
\$F94A	PRBL2	Sends 1 to 256 blank spaces to the output device.
\$FDDA	PRBYTE	Prints a hexadecimal byte.
\$FF2D	PRERR	Sends ERR and Control-G to the output device.
\$FDE3	PRHEX	Prints 4 bits as a hexadecimal number.
\$F941	PRNTAX	Prints contents of A and X in hexadecimal.
\$FD0C	RDKEY	Displays blinking cursor; goes to standard input routine, normally KEYIN or BASICIN.
\$F871	SCRN	Reads color value of a low-resolution block.
\$F864	SETCOL	Sets the color for plotting in low-resolution.
\$FC24	VTABZ	Sets cursor vertical position.
\$F828	VLINE	Draws a vertical line of low-resolution blocks.

The standard I/O subroutines listed in Table 3-1 are fully described in this chapter. The Apple IIe firmware also contains many other subroutines that you might find useful. Those subroutines are described in Appendix B. Two of the built-in subroutines, AUXMOVE and XFER, can help you use the optional auxiliary memory.

Using the I/O Subroutines

Before you use the standard I/O subroutines, you should understand a little about the way they are used. The Apple IIe firmware operates differently when an option such as an 80-column text card is used. This section describes general situations that affect the operation of the standard I/O subroutines. Specific instances are described in the sections devoted to the individual subroutines.

AUXMOVE and XFER are described in the section "Auxiliary-Memory Subroutines" in Chapter 4.

Apple II Compatibility

Compared to older Apple II models, the Apple IIe has some additional keyboard and display features. To run programs that were written for the older models, you can make the Apple IIe resemble an Apple II Plus by turning those features off. The features that you can turn off and on to put the Apple IIe into and out of Apple II mode are listed in Table 3-2.

Table 3-2. Apple II Mode

	Apple IIe	Apple II Mode
Keyboard	Uppercase and lowercase	Uppercase only
Display characters	Inverse and normal only	Flashing, inverse, and normal
Display size	40-column; also 80-column with optional card	40-column only

If the Apple IIe does not have an 80-column text card installed in the auxiliary slot, it is almost in Apple II mode as soon as you turn it on or reset it. One exception is the keyboard, which is both uppercase and lowercase.

Original Ile

On an original Apple IIe, DOS 3.3 commands and statements in Integer BASIC and Applesoft must be typed in uppercase letters. To be compatible with older software, you should switch the Apple IIe keyboard to uppercase by pressing **CAPS LOCK**.

Another feature that is different on the Apple IIe as compared to the Apple II is the displayed character set. An Apple II displays only uppercase characters, but it displays them three ways: normal, inverse, and flashing. The Apple IIe can display uppercase characters all three ways, and it can display lowercase characters in the normal way. This combination is called the *primary character set*. When the Apple IIe is first turned on or reset, it displays the primary character set.

The Apple IIe has another character set, called the *alternate character set*, that displays a full set of normal and inverse characters, with the inverse uppercase characters between \$40 and \$5F replaced on enhanced Apple IIe's with MouseText characters.

Original Ile

The ALTCHAR soft switch is described in Chapter 2.

The primary and alternate character sets are described in Chapter 2 in the section

"Text Character Sets."

In the original Apple IIe, uppercase inverse characters appear in place of the MouseText characters of the enhanced Apple IIe and the Apple IIc.

You can switch character sets at any time by means of the ALTCHAR soft switch.

The 80-Column Firmware

There are a few features that are normally available only with the optional 80-column display. These features are identified in Table 3-3b and Table 3-6. The firmware that supports these features is built into the Apple IIe, but it is normally active only if an 80-column text card is installed in the auxiliary slot.

When you turn on power or reset the Apple IIe, the 80-column firmware is inactive and the Apple IIe displays the primary character set, even if an 80-column text card is installed. When you activate the 80-column firmware, it switches to the alternate character set.

The built-in 80-column firmware is implemented as if it were installed in expansion slot 3. Programs written for an Apple II or Apple II Plus with an 80-column text card installed in slot 3 usually will run properly on a Apple IIe with an 80-column text card in the auxiliary slot.

If the Apple IIe has an 80-column text card and you want to use the 80-column display, you can activate the built-in firmware from BASIC by typing

PR#3

Important!

To activate the 80-column firmware from the Monitor, press 3, then <u>CONTROL</u>-[P]. Notice that this is the same procedure you use to activate a card in expansion slot 3. Any card installed in the auxiliary slot takes precedence over a card installed in expansion slot 3:

Even though you activated the 80-column firmware by typing PR#3, you should never deactivate it by typing PR#0, because that just disconnects the firmware, leaving several soft switches still set for 80-column operation. Instead, type the sequence **ESC** CONTROL **(**See Table 3-6.)

If there is no 80-column text card or other auxiliary memory card in your Apple IIe, you can still activate the 80-column firmware and use it with a 40-column display. First, set the SLOTC3ROM soft switch located at \$C00A (49162). Then type PR#3 to transfer control to the firmware.

When the 80-column firmware is active without a card in the auxiliary slot, it does not work quite the same as it does with a card. The functions that clear the display (CLREOL, CLEOLZ, CLREOP, and HOME) work as if the firmware were inactive: they always clear to the current color. Also, interrupts are supported only with a card installed in the auxiliary slot.

See the section "Switching I/O Memory" in Chapter $\,6$ for details.

SLOTC3ROM is described in Chapter 6 in the section "Switching I/O Memory."

For more information about interrupts, see Chapter 6.

▲ Warning

If you do not have an interface card in either the auxiliary slot or slot 3, don't try to activate the firmware with PR#3. Typing PR#3 with no card installed transfers control to the empty connector, with unpredictable results.

Programs activate the 80-column firmware by transferring control to address \$C300. If there is no card in the auxiliary slot, you must set the SLOTC3ROM soft switch first. To deactivate the 80-column firmware from a program, write a Control-U character via subroutine COUT.

The Old Monitor

Apple II's and Apple II Pluses used a version of the System Monitor different from the one the Apple IIe uses. It had the same standard I/O subroutines, but a few of the features were different; for example, there were no arrow keys for cursor motion. If you start the Apple IIe with a DOS or BASIC disk that loads Integer BASIC into the bank-switched area in RAM, the old Monitor (sometimes called the Autostart Monitor) is also loaded with it. When you type INT from Applesoft to activate Integer BASIC, you also activate this copy of the old Monitor, which remains active until you either type FP to switch back to Applesoft, which uses the new Monitor in ROM, or type

•

PR#3

to activate the 80-column firmware. Part of the firmware's initialization procedure checks to see which version of the Monitor is in RAM. If it finds the old Monitor, it replaces it with a copy of the new Monitor from ROM. After the firmware has copied the new Monitor into RAM, it remains there until the next time you start up the system.

The Standard I/O Links

When you call one of the character I/O subroutines (COUT and RDKEY), the first thing that happens is an indirect jump to an address stored in programmable memory. Memory locations used for transferring control to other subroutines are sometimes called vectors; in this manual, the locations used for transferring control to the I/O subroutines are called **I/O links**. In a Apple IIe running without a disk operating system, each I/O link is normally the address of the body of the subroutine (COUT1 or KEYIN). If a disk operating system is running, one or both of these links hold the addresses of the corresponding DOS or ProDOS I/O routines instead. (DOS and ProDOS maintain their own links to the standard I/O subroutines.)

For more information about the I/O links, see the section "Changing the Standard I/O Links" in Chapter 6.

By calling the I/O subroutines that jump to the link addresses instead of calling the standard subroutines directly, you ensure that your program will work properly in conjunction with other software, such as DOS or a printer driver, that changes one or both of the I/O links.

For the purposes of this chapter, we shall assume that the I/O links contain the addresses of the standard I/O subroutines—COUT1 and KEYIN if the 80-column firmware is off, and BASICOUT and BASICIN if it is on.

Standard Output Features

The standard output routine is named COUT, pronounced C-out, which stands for *character out*. COUT normally calls COUT1, which sends one character to the display, advances the cursor position, and scrolls the display when necessary. COUT1 restricts its use of the display to an active area called the text window, described below.

COUT Output Subroutine

Your program makes a subroutine call to COUT at memory location \$FDED with a character in the accumulator. COUT then passes control via the output link CSW to the current output subroutine, normally COUT1 (or BASICOUT), which takes the character in the accumulator and writes it out. If the accumulator contains an uppercase or lowercase letter, a number, or a special character, COUT1 displays it; if the accumulator contains a control character, COUT1 either performs one of the special functions described below or ignores the character.

Each time you send a character to COUT1, it displays the character at the current cursor position, replacing whatever was there, and then advances the cursor position one space to the right. If the cursor position is already at the right-hand edge of the window, COUT1 moves it to the left-most position on the next line down. If this would move the cursor position past the end of the last line in the window, COUT1 scrolls the display up one line and sets the cursor position at the left end of the new bottom line.

The cursor position is controlled by the values in memory locations 36 and 37 (hexadecimal \$24 and \$25). These locations are named CH, for cursor horizontal, and CV, for cursor vertical. COUT1 does not display a cursor, but the input routines described below do, and they use this cursor position. If some other routine displays a cursor, it will not necessarily put it in the cursor position used by COUT1.

Standard Output Features

Control Characters With COUT1 and BASICOUT

COUT1 and BASICOUT do not display control characters. Instead, the control characters listed in Tables 3-3a and 3-3b are used to initiate some action by the firmware. Other control characters are ignored. Most of the functions listed here can also be invoked from the keyboard, either by typing the control character listed or by using the appropriate escape code, as described in the section "Escape Codes With KEYIN" later in this chapter. The stop-list function, described separately, can only be invoked from the keyboard.

Table 3-3a. Control Characters With 80-Column Firmware Off

Control Character	ASCII Name	Apple IIe Name	Action Taken by COUT1
Control-G	BEL	bell	Produces a 1000 Hz tone for 0.1 second.
Control-H	BS	backspace	Moves cursor position one space to the left; from left edge of window, moves to right end of line above.
Control-J	LF	line feed	Moves cursor position down to next line in window; scrolls if needed.
Control-M	CR	return	Moves cursor position to left end of next line in window scrolls if needed

Table 3-3b. Control Characters With 80-Column Firmware On

Control Character	ASCII Name	Apple IIe Name	Action Taken by BASICOUT
Control-G	BEL	bell	Produces a 1000 Hz tone for 0.1 second.
Control-H	BS	backspace	Moves cursor position one space to the left; from left edge of window, moves to right end of line above.
Control-J	LF	line feed	Moves cursor position down to next line in window; scrolls if needed.
Control-K†	VT	clear EOS	Clears from cursor position to the end of the screen.
Control-L†	FF	home and clear	Moves cursor position to upper-left corner of window and clears window.



Control Character	ASCII Name	Apple IIe Name	Action Taken by BASICOUT
Control-M	CR	return	Moves cursor position to left end of next line in window; scrolls if needed.
Control-N†	SO	normal	Sets display format normal.
Control-0†	SI	inverse	Sets display format inverse.
Control-Q†	DC1	40-column	Sets display to 40-column.
Control-R†	DC2	80-column	Sets display to 80-column.
Control-S*	DC3	stop-list	Stops listing characters on the display until another key is pressed.
Control-U †	NAK	quit	Deactivates 80-column video firmware.
Control-V †	SYN	scroll	Scrolls the display down one line, leaving the cursor in the current position.
Control-W †	ETB	scroll-up	Scrolls the display up one line, leaving the cursor in the current position.
Control-X	CAN	disable MouseText	Disable MouseText character display; use inverse uppercase.
Control-Y †	EM	home	Moves cursor position to upper-left corner of window (but doesn't clear).
Control-Z †	SUB	clear line	Clears the line the cursor position is on.
Control-[ESC	enable MouseText	Map inverse uppercase characters to MouseText characters.
Control-\†	FS	forward space	Moves cursor position one space to the right; from right edge of window, moves it to left end of line below.
Control-]†	GS	clear EOL	Clears from the current cursor position to the end of the line (that is, to the right edge of the window).
Control	US	up	Moves cursor up a line, no scroll.

* Only works from the keyboard.

ALC: NO

Stan C

.

† Doesn't work from the keyboard.

Standard Output Features

The Stop-List Feature

When you are using any program that displays text via COUT1 (or BASICOUT), you can make it stop updating the display by holding down <u>CONTROL</u> and pressing <u>S</u>. Whenever COUT1 gets a carriage return from the program, it checks to see if you have pressed <u>CONTROL</u><u>S</u>. If you have, COUT1 stops and waits for you to press another key. When you want COUT1 to resume, press another key; COUT1 will send the carriage return it got earlier to the display, then continue normally. The character code of the key you pressed to resume displaying is ignored unless you pressed <u>CONTROL</u><u>C</u>. COUT1 passes Control-C back to the program; if it is a BASIC program, this enables you to terminate the program while in stop-list mode.

The Text Window

After starting up the computer or after a reset, the firmware uses the entire display. However, you can restrict video activity to any rectangular portion of the display you wish. The active portion of the display is called the text window. COUT1 or BASICOUT puts characters into the window only; when it reaches the end of the last line in the window, it scrolls only the contents of the window.

You can set the top, bottom, left side, and width of the text window by storing the appropriate values into four locations in memory. This enables your programs to control the placement of text in the display and to protect other portions of the screen from being written over by new text.

Memory location 32 (hexadecimal \$20) contains the number of the leftmost column in the text window. This number is normally 0, the number of the leftmost column in the display. In a 40-column display, the maximum value for this number is 39 (hexadecimal \$27); in an 80-column display, the maximum value is 79 (hexadecimal \$4F).

Memory location 33 (hexadecimal \$21) holds the width of the text window. For a 40-column display, it is normally 40 (hexadecimal \$28); for an 80-column display, it is normally 80 (hexadecimal \$50).

Original lle

COUT1 truncates the column width to an even value on the original Apple IIe.

▲Warning	On an original Apple IIe, be careful not to let the sum of the window width and the leftmost position in the window exceed the width of the display you are using (40 or 80). If this happens, it is possible for COUT1 to put characters into memory locations outside the display page, possibly into your current program or data space.
	Memory location 34 (hexadecimal \$22) contains the number of the top line of the text window. This is normally 0, the topmost line in the display. Its maximum value is 23 (hexadecimal \$17).
	Memory location 35 (hexadecimal \$23) contains the number of the bottom line of the screen, plus 1. It is normally 24 (hexadecimal \$18) for the bottom line of the display. Its minimum value is 1.
	After you have changed the text window boundaries, nothing is affected until you send a character to the screen.
▲Warning	Any time you change the boundaries of the text window, you should make sure that the current cursor position (stored at CH and CV) is inside the new window. If it is outside, it is possible for COUT1 to put characters into memory locations outside the display page, possibly destroying programs or data.

Table 3-4 summarizes the memory locations and the possible values for the window parameters.

Table 3-4. Text Window Memory Locations

and the second

6

Window	Loca	ation	Mini	mum		Normal	Values				Maximun	values	
Parameter			Val	ue	40 c	ol.	80 0	col.		40 c	ol.	80 c	col.
	Dec	Hex	Dec	Hex	Dec	Hex	Dec	Hex		Dec	Hex	Dec	Hex
Left Edge	32	\$20	00	\$00	00	\$00	00	\$00		39	\$27	79	\$4F
Width	33	\$21	00	\$00	40	\$28	80	\$50		40	\$28	80	\$50
Top Edge	34	\$22	00	\$00	00	\$00	00	\$00		23	\$17	23	\$17
Bottom Edge	35	\$23	01	\$01	24	\$18	24	\$18		24	\$18	24	\$18
	Window Parameter Left Edge Width Top Edge Bottom Edge	Window ParameterLocal DecLeft Edge32Width33Top Edge34Bottom Edge35	Window ParameterLocDecHexLeft Edge32\$20Width33\$21Top Edge34\$22Bottom Edge35\$23	Window ParameterLocationMinitive ValueDecHexDecLeft Edge32\$2000Width33\$2100Top Edge34\$2200Bottom Edge35\$2301	Window ParameterLocationMinitrue ValueDecHexDecHexLeft Edge32\$2000\$00Width33\$2100\$00Top Edge34\$2200\$00Bottom Edge35\$2301\$01	Window ParameterLocationMinimum Value40 c 40 cDecHexDecHexDecLeft Edge32\$2000\$0000Width33\$2100\$0040Top Edge34\$2200\$0000Bottom Edge35\$2301\$0124	Window ParameterLocationMinimum ValueNormal 40 col.DecHexDecHexDecHexLeft Edge32\$2000\$0000\$00Width33\$2100\$0040\$28Top Edge34\$2200\$0000\$00Bottom Edge35\$2301\$0124\$18	Window ParameterLocationMinimum ValueNormal Values 40 col80 colDecHexDecHexDecHexDecLeft Edge32\$2000\$0000\$0000Width33\$2100\$0040\$2880Top Edge34\$2200\$0000\$0000Bottom Edge35\$2301\$0124\$1824	Window Parameter Loc±in Minimu Value Normal Values 40 col. Norma Values 40 col. <td>Window Parameter Loc$\pm i$ Miniψ Value Normal Values 40 col. Normal Values 80 col. Dec Hex Hex Dec Hex Dec Hex Hex Dec Hex<td>Window Parameter Location Minimum Value Normal Values 40 col Normal Values 80 col Add cole Dec Hex Hex Dec Hex Dec Hex Hex</td><td>Window Parameter Lozi Minimum Value Normal Jussiman 40 col Normal Jussiman 80 col Nore Normal Jussiman 80 col</td><td>Window ParameterLo<Minimu ValueNormal Values 40 col.Normal Values 80 col.Maximum Values 80 col.DecHexHex</td></td>	Window Parameter Loc $\pm i$ Mini ψ Value Normal Values 40 col. Normal Values 80 col. Dec Hex Hex Dec Hex Dec Hex Hex Dec Hex <td>Window Parameter Location Minimum Value Normal Values 40 col Normal Values 80 col Add cole Dec Hex Hex Dec Hex Dec Hex Hex</td> <td>Window Parameter Lozi Minimum Value Normal Jussiman 40 col Normal Jussiman 80 col Nore Normal Jussiman 80 col</td> <td>Window ParameterLo<Minimu ValueNormal Values 40 col.Normal Values 80 col.Maximum Values 80 col.DecHexHex</td>	Window Parameter Location Minimum Value Normal Values 40 col Normal Values 80 col Add cole Dec Hex Hex Dec Hex Dec Hex	Window Parameter Loz i Minimum Value Normal Jussiman 40 col Normal Jussiman 80 col Nore Normal Jussiman 80 col	Window ParameterLo<Minimu ValueNormal Values 40 col.Normal Values 80 col.Maximum Values 80 col.DecHexHex

Inverse and Flashing Text

Subroutine COUT1 can display text in normal format, inverse format, or, with some restrictions, flashing format. The display format for any character in the display depends on two things: the character set being used at the moment, and the setting of the two high-order bits of the character's byte in the display memory.

As it sends your text characters to the display, COUT1 sets the high-order bits according to the value stored at memory location 50 (hexadecimal \$32). If that value is 255 (hexadecimal \$FF), COUT1 sets the characters to display in normal format; if the value is 63 (hexadecimal \$3F), COUT1 sets the characters to inverse format. If the value is 127 (hexadecimal \$7F) and if you have selected the primary character set, the characters will be displayed in flashing format. Note that flashing format is not available in the alternate character set.

Table 3-5. Text Format Control Values

Note: These mask values apply only to the primary character set (see text).

Mask	Value					
Dec	Hex	Display Format				
255	\$FF	Normal, uppercase, and lowercase				
127	\$7F	Flashing, uppercase, and symbols				
63	\$3F	Inverse, uppercase, and lowercase				

To control the display format of the characters, routine COUT1 uses the value at location 50 as a logical mask to force the setting of the two high-order bits of each character byte it puts into the display page. It does this by performing the logical AND function on the data byte and the mask byte. The result byte contains a 0 in any bit that was 0 in the mask. BASICOUT, used when the 80-column firmware is active, changes only the high-order bit of the data.

Important!

If the 80-column firmware is inactive and you store a mask value at location 50 with zeros in its low-order bits, COUT1 will mask out those bits in your text. As a result, some characters will be transformed into other characters. You should set the mask to the values given in Table 3-5 only.

Switching between character sets is described in the section "Display Mode Switching" in Chapter 2.

If you set the mask value at location 50 to 127 (hexadecimal \$7F), the high-order bit of each result byte will be 0, and the characters will be displayed either as lowercase or as flashing, depending on which character set you have selected. Refer to the tables of display character sets in Chapter 2. In the primary character set, the next-highest bit, bit 6, selects flashing format with uppercase characters. With the primary character set you can display lowercase characters in normal format and uppercase character set, bit 6 selects lowercase or special characters. With the alternate character set, bit 6 selects lowercase or special characters. With the alternate character set you can display uppercase and lowercase characters in normal and inverse formats.

Original Ile

On the original Apple IIe, the MouseText characters are replaced by uppercase inverse characters.

Standard Input Features

The Apple IIe's firmware includes two different subroutines for reading from the keyboard. One subroutine is named RDKEY, which stands for *read key*. It calls the standard character input subroutine KEYIN (or BASICIN when the 80-column firmware is active) which accepts one character at a time from the keyboard.

The other subroutine is named GETLN, which stands for *get line*. By making repeated calls to RDKEY, GETLN accepts a sequence of characters terminated with a carriage return. GETLN also provides on-screen editing features.

RDKEY Input Subroutine

A program gets a character from the keyboard by making a subroutine call to RDKEY at memory location \$FD0C. RDKEY sets the character at the cursor position to flash, then passes control via the input link KSW to the current input subroutine, which is normally KEYIN or BASICIN.

RDKEY displays a cursor at the current cursor position, which is immediately to the right of whatever character you last sent to the display (normally by using the COUT routine, described earlier). The cursor displayed by RDKEY is a flashing version of whatever character happens to be at that position on the screen. It is usually a space, so the cursor appears as a blinking rectangle.

For more information on GETLN, see the section "Editing With GETLN," later in this chapter.

KEYIN Input Subroutine

KEYIN is the standard input subroutine when the 80-column firmware is inactive; BASICIN is used when the 80-column firmware is active. When called, the subroutine waits until the user presses a key, then returns with the key code in the accumulator.

If the 80-column firmware is inactive, KEYIN displays a cursor by alternately storing a checkerboard block in the cursor location, then storing the original character, then the checkerboard again. If the firmware is active, BASICIN displays a steady inverse space (rectangle), unless you are in escape mode, when it displays a plus sign (+) in inverse format.

KEYIN also generates a random number. While it is waiting for the user to press a key, KEYIN repeatedly increments the 16-bit number in memory locations 78 and 79 (hexadecimal \$4E and \$4F). This number keeps increasing from 0 to 65535, then starts over again at 0. The value of this number changes so rapidly that there is no way to predict what it will be after a key is pressed. A program that reads from the keyboard can use this value as a random number or as a seed for a random number routine.

When the user presses a key, KEYIN accepts the character, stops displaying the cursor, and returns to the calling program with the character in the accumulator.

Escape Codes

KEYIN has special functions that you invoke by typing escape codes on the keyboard. An escape code is obtained by pressing $\boxed{\texttt{ESC}}$, releasing it, and then pressing some other key. See Table 3-6; the notation in the table means press $\boxed{\texttt{ESC}}$, release it, then press the key that follows.

Table 3-6 includes three sets of cursor-control keys. The first set consists of **ESC** followed by A, B, C, or D. The letter keys can be either uppercase or lowercase. These keys are the standard cursor-motion keys on older Apple II models; they are present on the Apple IIe primarily for compatibility with programs written for old machines.

Cursor Motion in Escape Mode

The second and third set of cursor-control keys are listed together because they activate escape mode. In escape mode, you can keep using the cursor-motion keys without pressing **ESC** again. This enables you to perform repeated cursor moves by holding down the appropriate key.

Escape mode is described in the next section, "Escape Codes."

When the 80-column firmware is active, you can tell when BASICIN is in escape mode: it displays a plus sign in inverse format as the cursor. You leave escape mode by typing any key other than a cursor-motion key.

The escape codes with the directional arrow keys are the standard cursor-motion keys on the Apple IIe. The escape codes with the I, J, K, and M keys are the standard cursor-motion keys on the Apple II Plus, and are present on the Apple IIe for compatibility with the Apple II Plus. On the Apple IIe, the escape codes with the I, J, K, and M keys function with either uppercase or lowercase letters.

Table 3-6. Escape Codes

P

Escape Code	Function
ESC	Clears window and homes cursor (places it in upper-left corner of screen), then exits from escape mode. $% \left(\mathcal{A}_{1}^{2}\right) =\left(\mathcal{A}_{1}^{2}\right) \left(\mathcal{A}_{1}$
ESC A Or a	Moves cursor right one line; exits from escape mode.
ESC B or b	Moves cursor left one line; exits from escape mode.
ESC C Or c	Moves cursor down one line; exits from escape mode.
ESC D or d	Moves cursor up one line; exits from escape mode.
ESC E Or e	Clears to end of line; exits from escape mode.
ESCFOrf	Clears to bottom of window; exits from escape mode.
ESC Or Or ESC	Moves the cursor up one line; remains in escape mode. See text.
ESC J Or j Or ESC +	Moves the cursor left one space; remains in escape mode. See text.
ESC K or k or ESC -	Moves the cursor right one space; remains in escape mode. See text.
ESC M OI m OI ESC +	Moves the cursor down one line; remains in escape mode. See text.
ESC 4	If 80-column firmware is active, switches to 40-column mode; sets links to BASICIN and BASICOUT; restores normal window size; exits from escape mode.
ESC 8	If 80-column firmware is active, switches to 80-column mode; sets links to BASICIN and BASICOUT; restores normal window size; exits from escape mode.
ESC CONTROL D	Disables control characters; only carriage return, line feed, BELL, and backspace have an effect when printed.
ESC CONTROL-E	Reactivates control characters.
ESC CONTROL -Q	If 80-column firmware is active, deactivates 80-column firmware; sets links to KEYIN and COUT1; restores normal window size; exits from escape mode.

GETLN Input Subroutine

Programs often need strings of characters as input. While it is possible to call RDKEY repeatedly to get several characters from the keyboard, there is a more powerful subroutine you can use. This routine is named GETLN, which stands for *get line*, and starts at location \$FD6A. Using repeated calls to RDKEY, GETLN accepts characters from the standard input subroutine—usually KEYIN—and puts them into the input buffer located in the memory page from \$200 to \$2FF. GETLN also provides the user with on-screen editing and control features, described in the next section "Editing With GETLN."

The first thing GETLN does when you call it is display a prompting character, called simply a **prompt**. The prompt indicates to the user that the program is waiting for input. Different programs use different prompt characters, helping to remind the user which program is requesting the input. For example, an INPUT statement in a BASIC program displays a question mark (?) as a prompt. The prompt characters used by the different programs on the Apple IIe are shown in Table 3-7.

GETLN uses the character stored at memory location 51 (hexadecimal \$33) as the prompt character. In an assembly-language program, you can change the prompt to any character you wish. In BASIC, changing the prompt character has no effect, because both BASIC interpreters and the Monitor restore it each time they request input from the user.

Table 3-7.	Prompt	Characters
------------	--------	------------

Prompt Character	Program Requesting Input
?	User's BASIC program (INPUT statement)
1	Applesoft BASIC (Appendix D)
>	Integer BASIC (Appendix D)
*	Firmware Monitor (Chapter 5)

As you type the character string, GETLN sends each character to the standard output routine—normally COUT1—which displays it at the previous cursor position and puts the cursor at the next available position on the display, usually immediately to the right. As the cursor travels across the display, it indicates the position where the next character will be displayed.

GETLN stores the characters in its buffer, starting at memory location \$200 and using the X register to index the buffer. GETLN continues to accept and display characters until you press **[RETURN]**; then it clears the remainder of the line the cursor is on, stores the carriage-return code in the buffer, sends the carriage-return code to the display, and returns to the calling program.

The maximum line-length that GETLN can handle is 255 characters. If the user types more than this, GETLN sends a backslash ($\$) and a carriage return to the display, cancels the line it has accepted so far, and starts over. To warn the user that the line is getting full, GETLN sounds a bell (tone) at every keypress after the 248th.

Important!

In the Apple II and the Apple II Plus, the GETLN routine converts all input to uppercase. GETLN in the Apple IIe does not do this, even in Apple II mode. To get uppercase input for BASIC, use CAPS LOCK.

Editing With GETLN

Subroutine GETLN provides the standard on-screen editing features used by the BASIC interpreters and the Monitor. For an introduction to editing with these features, refer to the *Applesoft Tutorial*. Any program that uses GETLN for reading the keyboard has these features.

Cancel Line

Any time you are typing a line, pressing **CONTROL** X causes GETLN to cancel the line. GETLN displays a backslash ($\$) and issues a carriage return, then displays the prompt and waits for you to type a new line. GETLN takes the same action when you type more than 255 characters, as described earlier.

Backspace

When you press —, GETLN moves its buffer pointer back one space, effectively deleting the last character in its buffer. It also sends a backspace character to routine COUT, which moves the display position and the cursor back one space. If you type another character now, it will replace the character you backspaced over, both on the display and in the line buffer. Each time you press —, it moves the cursor left and deletes another character, until you reach the beginning of the line. If you then press one more time, you have cancelled the line, and GETLN issues a carriage return and displays the prompt.

Retype

→ has a function complementary to the backspace function. When you press →, GETLN picks up the character at the display position just as if it had been typed on the keyboard. You can use this procedure to pick up characters that you have just deleted by backspacing across them. You can use the backspace and retype functions with the cursor-motion functions to edit data on the display. (See the earlier section "Cursor Motion in Escape Mode.")

Monitor Firmware Support

Table 3-8 summarizes the addresses and functions of the video display support routines the Monitor provides. These routines are described in the subsections that follow.

Table 3-8. Video Firmware Routines

Location	Name	Description
\$C307	BASICOUT	Displays a character on the screen when 80-column firmware is active.
\$FC9C	CLREOL	Clears to end of line from current cursor position.
\$FC9E	CLEOLZ	Clears to end of line using contents of Y register as cursor position.
\$FC42	CLREOP	Clears to bottom of window.
\$F832	CLRSCR	Clears the low-resolution screen.
\$F836	CLRTOP	Clears top 40 lines of low-resolution screen.
\$FDED	COUT	Calls output routine whose address is stored in CSW (normally COUT1, Chapter 3).
\$FDF0	COUT1	Displays a character on the screen (Chapter 3).
\$FD8E	CROUT	Generates a carriage return character.
\$FD8B	CROUT1	Clears to end of line, then generates a carriage return character.
\$F819	HLINE	Draws a horizontal line of blocks.

Chapter 3: Built-in I/O Firmware

Table 3-8—Continued. Video Firmware Routines

Location	Name	Description
\$FC58	HOME	Clears the window and puts cursor in upper-left corner of window.
\$F800	PLOT	Plots a single low-resolution block on the screen.
\$F94A	PRBL2	Sends 1 to 256 blank spaces to the output device whose address is in CSW.
\$FDDA	PRBYTE	Prints a hexadecimal byte.
\$FF2D	PRERR	Sends ERR and Control-G to the output device whose output routine address is in CSW.
\$FDE3	PRHEX	Prints 4 bits as a hexadecimal number.
\$F941	PRNTAX	Prints contents of A and X in hexadecimal.
\$F871	SCRN	Reads color value of a low-resolution block on the screen.
\$F864	SETCOL	Sets the color for plotting in low-resolution.
\$FC24	VTABZ	Sets cursor vertical position. (Setting CV at location \$25 does not change vertical positon until a carriage return.)
\$F828	VLINE	Draws a vertical line of low-resolution blocks

BASICOUT, \$C307

State of the second

BASICOUT is essentially the same as COUT1—BASICOUT is used instead of COUT1 when the 80-column firmware is active. BASICOUT displays the character in the accumulator on the display screen at the current cursor position and advances the cursor. It places the character using the setting of the inverse mask (location \$32). BASICOUT handles control characters; see Table 3-3b. When it returns control to the calling program, all registers are intact.

CLREOL, \$FC9C

CLREOL clears a text line from the cursor position to the right edge of the window. This routine destroys the contents of A and Y.

Monitor Firmware Support

CLEOLZ, \$FC9E

CLEOLZ clears a text line to the right edge of the window, starting at the location given by base address BASL, which is indexed by the contents of the Y register. This routine destroys the contents of A and Y.

CLREOP, \$FC42

CLREOP clears the text window from the cursor position to the bottom of the window. This routine destroys the contents of A and Y.

B

CLRSCR, \$F832

CLRSCR clears the low-resolution graphics display to black. If you call this routine while the video display is in text mode, it fills the screen with inverse-mode at-sign (@) characters. This routine destroys the contents of A and Y.

CLRTOP, \$F836

CLRTOP is the same as CLRSCR, except that it clears only the top 40 rows of the low-resolution display.

COUT, \$FDED

COUT calls the current character output subroutine. (See the section "COUT Output Subroutine" earlier in this chapter.) The character to be sent to the output device should be in the accumulator. COUT calls the subroutine whose address is stored in CSW (locations \$36 and \$37), which is usually the standard character output subroutine COUT1 (or BASICOUT).

COUT1, \$FDF0

COUT1 displays the character in the accumulator on the display screen at the current cursor position and advances the cursor. It places the character using the setting of the inverse mask (location \$32). It handles these control characters: carriage return, line feed, backspace, and bell. When it returns control to the calling program, all registers are intact.

CROUT, \$FD8E

CROUT sends a carriage return to the current output device.

See the section "Control Characters With COUT1 and BASICOUT," earlier in this chapter for more information on COUT1.

CROUT1, \$FD8B

CROUT1 clears the screen from the current cursor position to the edge of the text window, then calls CROUT.

HLINE, \$F819

HLINE draws a horizontal line of blocks of the color set by SETCOL on the low-resolution graphics display. Call HLINE with the vertical coordinate of the line in the accumulator, the leftmost horizontal coordinate in the Y register, and the rightmost horizontal coordinate in location \$2C. HLINE returns with A and Y scrambled and X intact.

HOME, \$FC58

HOME clears the display and puts the cursor in the upper-left corner of the screen.

PLOT, \$F800

PLOT puts a single block of the color value set by SETCOL on the low-resolution display screen. Call PLOT with the vertical coordinate of the line in the accumulator, and its horizontal position in the Y register. PLOT returns with the accumulator scrambled, but X and Y intact.

PRBL2, \$F94A

PRBL2 sends from 1 to 256 blanks to the standard output device. Upon entry, the X register should contain the number of blanks to send. If X =\$00, then PRBLANK will send 256 blanks.

PRBYTE, \$FDDA

PRBYTE sends the contents of the accumulator in hexadecimal to the current output device. The contents of the accumulator are scrambled.

PRERR, \$FF2D

PRERR sends the word ERR, followed by a bell character, to the standard output device. On return, the accumulator is scrambled.

PRHEX, \$FDE3

PRHEX prints the lower nibble of the byte in the accumulator as a single hexadecimal digit. On return, the contents of the accumulator are scrambled.

PRNTAX, \$F941

PRTAX prints the contents of the A and X registers as a four-digit hexadecimal value. The accumulator contains the first byte printed, and the X register contains the second. On return, the contents of the accumulator are scrambled.

SCRN, \$F871

SCRN returns the color value of a single block on the low-resolution display. Call it with the vertical position of the block in the accumulator and the horizontal position in the Y register. The block's color is returned in the accumulator. No other registers are changed. No.

SETCOL, \$F864

SETCOL sets the color used for plotting in low-resolution graphics to the value passed in the acumulator. The colors and their values are listed in Table 2-6.

VTABZ, \$FC24

VTABZ sets the cursor vertical position. Unlike setting the position at location \$25, change of cursor position doesn't wait until a carriage return character has been sent.

VLINE, \$F828

VLINE draws a vertical line of blocks of the color set by SETCOL on the low-resolution display. Call VLINE with the horizontal coordinate of the line in the Y register, the top vertical coordinate in the accumulator, and the bottom vertical coordinate in location \$2D. VLINE returns with the accumulator scrambled.

I/O Firmware Support

Apple IIe video firmware conforms to the I/O firmware protocol of Apple II Pascal 1.1. However, it does not support windows other than the full 80-by-24 window in 80-column mode, and the full 40-by-24 window in 40-column mode. The video protocol table is shown in Table 3-9.

Table 3-9. Slot 3 Firmware Protocol Table

Address	Value	Description	
\$C30B	\$01	Generic signature byte of firmware cards	
\$C30C	\$88	80-column card device signature	
\$C30D	\$ii	\$C3ii is entry point of initialization routine (PINIT).	
\$C30E	\$rr	\$C3rr is entry point of read routine (PREAD).	
\$C30F	\$ww	\$C3ww is entry point of write routine (PWRITE).	
\$C310	\$ss	\$C3ss is entry point of the status routine (PSTATUS).	

PINIT, \$C30D

PINIT does the following:

- □ Sets a full 80-column window.
- □ Sets 80STORE (\$C001).
- □ Sets 80COL (\$C00D).
- □ Switches on ALTCHAR (\$C00F).
- □ Clears the screen; places cursor in upper-left corner.
- □ Displays the cursor.

PREAD, \$C30E

PREAD reads a character from the keyboard and places it in the accumulator with the high bit cleared. It also puts a zero in the X register to indicate IORESULT = GOOD.

PWRITE, \$C30F

PWRITE should be called after placing a character in the accumulator with its high bit cleared. PWRITE does the following:

- \Box Turns the cursor off.
- □ If the character in the accumulator is not a control character, turns the high bit on for normal display or off for inverse display, displays it at the current cursor position, and advances the cursor; if at the end of a line, does carriage return but not line feed. (See Table 3-10 for control character functions.)

When PWRITE has completed this, it

- □ turns the cursor back on (if it was not intentionally turned off)
- puts a zero in the X register (IORESULT = GOOD) and returns to the calling program.

Table 3-10. Pascal Video Control Functions

Control-	Hex	Function Performed		
E or e	\$05	Turns cursor on (enables cursor display).		
F or f	\$06	Turns cursor off (disables cursor display).		
Gorg	\$07	Sounds bell (beeps).		
H or h	\$08	Moves cursor left one column. If cursor was at beginning of line, moves it to end of previous line.		
Jorj	\$0A	Moves cursor down one row; scrolls if needed.		
K or k	\$0B	Clears to end of screen.		
L or l	\$0C	Clears screen; moves cursor to upper-left of screen.		
M or m	\$0D	Moves cursor to column 0.		
N or n	\$0E	Displays subsequent characters in normal video. (Characters already on display are unaffected.)		

Table 3-10-Continued. Pascal Video Control Functions

Control-	Hex	Function Performed	
0 or o	\$0F	Displays subsequent characters in inverse video. (Characters already on display are unaffected.)	
V or v	\$16	Scrolls screen up one line; clears bottom line.	
W or w	\$17	Scrolls screen down one line; clears top line.	
Y or y	\$19	Moves cursor to upper-left (home) position on screen.	
Z or z	\$1A	Clears entire line that cursor is on.	
or \	\$1C	Moves cursor right one column; if at end of line, does Control-M.	
} or]	\$1D	Clears to end of the line the cursor is on, including current cursor position; does not move cursor.	
or 6 🕯	\$1E	GOTOxy: initiates a GOTOxy sequence; interprets the next two characters as $x+32$ and $y+32$, respectively.	
_	\$1F	If not at top of screen, moves cursor up one line.	

PSTATUS, \$C310

.

A program that calls PSTATUS must first put a request code in the accumulator: either a 0, meaning "Ready for output?" or a 1, meaning "Is there any input?" PSTATUS returns with the reply in the carry bit: 0 (No) or 1 (Yes).

PSTATUS returns with a 0 in the X register (IORESULT = GOOD), unless the request was not 0 or 1; then PSTATUS returns with a 3 in the X register (IORESULT = ILLEGAL OPERATION).



The Apple IIe's microprocessor can address 65,536 (64K) memory locations. All of the programmable storage (RAM and ROM) and input and output devices are allocated locations in this 64K address space. Some functions share the same addresses—but not at the same time.

For information about these shared address spaces, see the section "Bank-Switched Memory" in this chapter and the sections "Other Uses of I/O Memory Space" and "Expansion ROM Space" in Chapter 6.

The original version of the Apple IIe, as well as the Apple II Plus and Apple II, use the 6502 microprocessor. The 6502 lacks ten instructions and two addressing modes found on the 65C02 of the enhanced Apple IIe, but is otherwise functionally similar. For more information about the differences between the two processors, see Appendix A. In this manual, unless otherwise stated, the two processors are effectively the same.

Original lle

For details of the built-in I/O features, refer to the descriptions in Chapters 2 and 3.

For information about I/O operations with peripheral cards, refer to Chapter 6.

All input and output in the Apple IIe is memory mapped. This means that all devices connected to the Apple IIe appear to be memory locations to the computer. In this chapter, the I/O memory spaces are described simply as blocks of memory.

Programmers often refer to the Apple IIe's memory in 256-byte blocks called pages. One reason for this is that a one-byte address counter or index register can specify one of 256 different locations. Thus, page 0 consists of memory locations from 0 to 255 (hexadecimal \$00 to \$FF), inclusive. Page 1 consists of locations 256 to 511 (hexadecimal \$0100 to \$01FF); note that the page number is the high-order part of the hexadecimal address. Don't confuse this kind of page with the display buffers in the Apple IIe, which are sometimes referred to as Page 1 and Page 2.

Main Memory Map

The map of the main memory address space in Figure 4-1 shows the functions of the major areas of memory. For more details on the I/O space from 48K to 52K (\$C000 through \$CFFF), refer to Chapter 2 and Chapter 6; the bank-switched memory in the memory space from 52K to 64K (\$D000 through \$FFFF) is described in the section "Bank-Switched Memory" later in this chapter.

FFFF	ROM		Bank- Switched RAM
CFFF		1/0	
C000		1/0	
8000			
7FFF			Main RAM
4000			
3FFF			
0000			



RAM Memory Allocation

As Figure 4-1 shows, the major portion of the Apple IIe's memory space is allocated to programmable storage (RAM). Figure 4-2 shows the areas allocated to RAM. The main RAM memory extends from location 0 to location 49151 (hex \$BFFF), and occupies pages 0 through 191 (hexadecimal \$BF). There is also RAM storage in the bank-switched space from 53248 to 65535 (hexadecimal \$D000 to \$FFFF), described in the section "Bank-Switched Memory" later in this chapter, and auxiliary RAM, described in the section "Auxiliary Memory and Firmware" later in this chapter.

150




Reserved Memory Pages

Most of the Apple IIe's RAM is available for storing your programs and data. However, a few RAM pages are reserved for the use of the Monitor firmware and the BASIC interpreters. The reserved pages are described in the following sections.

Important!

The system does not prevent your using these pages, but if you do use them, you must be careful not to disturb the system data they contain, or you will cause the system to malfunction.

Page Zero

Several of the 65C02 microprocessor's addressing modes require the use of addresses in page zero, also called zero page. The Monitor, the BASIC interpreters, DOS 3.3, and ProDOS all make extensive use of page zero.

To use indirect addressing in your assembly-language programs, you must store base addresses in page zero. At the same time, you must avoid interfering with the other programs that use page zero—the Monitor, the BASIC interpreters, and the disk operating systems. One way to avoid conflicts is to use only those page-zero locations not already used by other programs. Tables 4-1 through 4-5 show the locations in page zero used by the Monitor, Applesoft BASIC, Integer BASIC, DOS 3.3, and ProDOS.

As you can see from the tables, page zero is pretty well used up, except for a few bytes here and there. It's hard to find more than one or two bytes that aren't used by either BASIC, ProDOS, the Monitor, or DOS. Rather than trying to squeeze your data into an unused corner, you may prefer a safer alternative: save the contents of part of page zero, use that part, then restore the previous contents before you pass control to another program.

The 65C02 Stack

The 65C02 microprocessor uses page 1 as the stack—the place where subroutine return addresses are stored, in last-in, first-out sequence. Many programs also use the stack for temporary storage of the registers (via push and pull operations). You can do the same, but you should use it sparingly. The stack pointer is eight bits long, so the stack can hold only 256 bytes of information at a time. When you store the 257th byte in the stack, the stack pointer repeats itself, or wraps around, so that the new byte replaces the first byte stored, which is now lost. This writing over old data is called stack overflow, and when it happens, the program continues to run normally until the lost information is needed, whereupon the program terminates catastrophically.

The Input Buffer

The GETLN input routine, which is used by the Monitor and the BASIC interpreters, uses page 2 as its keyboard-input buffer. The size of this buffer sets the maximum size of input strings. (Note: Applesoft uses only the first 237 bytes, although it permits you to type in 256 characters.) If you know that you won't be typing any long input strings, you can store temporary data at the upper end of page 2.

Link-Address Storage

The Monitor, ProDOS, and DOS 3.3 all use the upper part of page 3 for link addresses or vectors.

BASIC programs sometimes need short machine-language routines. These routines are usually stored in the lower part of page 3.

The Display Buffers

The primary text and low-resolution-graphics display buffer occupies memory pages 4 through 7 (locations 1024 through 2047, hexadecimal \$0400 through \$07FF). This entire 1024-byte area is called text Page 1, and it is not usable for program and data storage. There are 64 locations in this area that are not displayed on the screen; these locations are reserved for use by the peripheral cards. 1

Text Page 2, the alternate text and low-resolution-graphics display buffer, occupies memory pages 8 through 11 (locations 2048 through 3071, hexadecimal \$0800 through \$0BFF). Most programs do not use Page 2 for displays, so they can use this area for program or data storage.

The primary high-resolution-graphics display buffer, called high-resolution Page 1, occupies memory pages 32 through 63 (locations 8192 through 16383, hexadecimal \$2000 through \$3FFF). If your program doesn't use high-resolution graphics, this area is usable for programs or data.

High-resolution Page 2 occupies memory pages 64 through 95 (locations 16384 through 24575, hexadecimal \$4000 through \$5FFF). Most programs use this area for program or data storage.

The primary double-high-resolution-graphics display buffer, called double-high-resolution Page 1, occupies memory pages 32 through 63 (locations 8192 through 16383, hexadecimal \$2000 through \$3FFF) in both main and auxiliary memory. If your program doesn't use high-resolution or double-high-resolution graphics, this area of main memory is usable for programs or data.

For more information about links, see the section "Changing the Standard I/O Links" in Chapter 6.

See Chapter 6 for information on the memory locations that are reserved for peripheral cards.

For more information about the display buffers, see the section "Video Display Pages" in Chapter 2.

Table 4-1. Monitor Zero-Page Use

High Nibble						Low	v Ni	bble	of	Add	ress					
of Address	\$0	\$1	\$2	\$3	\$4	\$5	\$6	\$7	\$8	\$9	\$A	\$B	\$C	\$D	\$E	\$F
\$00																
\$10																.*
\$20																
\$30									•							
\$40	•								•						•	•
\$50																
\$60																
\$70																
\$80																
\$90																
\$A0																
\$B0																
\$C0																
\$D0																
\$E0																
\$F0																

* Byte used in original Apple IIe ROMs, now free.

Table 4-2. Applesoft Zero-Page Use

High Nibble						Lov	v Ni	bble	of	Add	ress					
of Address	\$0	\$1	\$2	\$3	\$4	\$5	\$6	\$7	\$8	\$9	\$A	\$B	\$C	\$D	\$E	\$F
\$00				•												•
\$10																
\$20																
\$30																
\$40													-			
\$50																
\$60																
\$70																
\$80						-										
\$90																
\$A0																
\$B0			2													
\$C0																•
\$D0																12
\$EO																
\$F0	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•					
φr U		٠		٠			۰		٠	۲						٠

Table 4-3. Integer BASIC Zero-Page Use

High Nibble						Lov	v Nil	bble	of	Add	ress					
of Address	\$0	\$1	\$2	\$3	\$4	\$5	\$6	\$7	\$8	\$9	\$A	\$B	\$C	\$D	\$E	\$F
\$00																
\$10																
\$20																
\$30																
\$40																
\$50									•			•		•		•
\$60																
\$70												•				
\$80																
\$90																
\$A0												•		•		
\$B0																
\$C0									•			•	•			
\$D0												•				
\$E0																
\$F0																

Table 4-4. DOS 3.3 Zero-Page Use

High Nibble						Lov	v Ni	bble	of	Add	ress					
of Address	\$0	\$1	\$2	\$3	\$4	\$5	\$6	\$7	\$8	\$9	\$A	\$B	\$C	\$D	\$E	\$F
\$00																
\$10																
\$20												٠				
\$30															•	
\$40												•				
\$50																
\$60									•							•
\$70																
\$80																
\$90																
\$A0																
\$B0																
\$C0																
\$D0																
\$E0																
\$F0																

Table 4-5. ProDOS MLI and Disk-Driver Zero-Page Use

High Nibble						Lov	v Ni	bble	of	Add	ress						
of Address	\$0	\$1	\$2	\$3	\$4	\$5	\$6	\$7	\$8	\$9	\$A	\$B	\$C	\$D	\$E	\$F	
\$00																	
\$10																	
\$20																	
\$30																	
\$40																	
\$50																	
\$60																	
\$70																	
\$80																	
\$90																	
\$A0																	
\$B0																	
\$C0																	
\$D0																	
\$E0																	
\$FO																	

Bank-Switched Memory

The memory address space from 52K to 64K (hexadecimal \$D000 through \$FFFF) is doubly allocated: it is used for both ROM and RAM. The 12K bytes of ROM (read-only memory) in this address space contain the Monitor and the Applesoft BASIC interpreter. Alternatively, there are 16K bytes of RAM in this space. The RAM is normally used for storing either the Integer BASIC interpreter or part of the Pascal Operating System (purchased separately).

You may be wondering why this part of memory has such a split personality. Some of the reasons are historical: the Apple IIe is able to run software written for the Apple II and Apple II Plus because it uses this part of memory in the same way they do. It is convenient to have the Applesoft interpreter in ROM, but the Apple IIe, like an Apple II with a language card, is also able to use that address space for other things when Applesoft is not needed.

You may also be wondering how 16K bytes of RAM is mapped into only 12K bytes of address space. The usual answer is that it's done with mirrors, and that isn't a bad analogy: the 4K-byte address space from 52K to 56K (hexadecimal \$D000 through \$DFFF) is used twice.

Switching different blocks of memory into the same address space is called bank switching. There are actually two examples of bank switching going on here: first, the entire address space from 52K to 64K (\$D000 through \$FFFF) is switched between ROM and RAM, and second, the address space from 52K to 56K (\$D000 to \$DFFF) is switched between two different blocks of RAM.



FFFF			
E000	ROM		RAM
DFFF		DAM	DAM
D000		nam	n.A.M

Setting Bank Switches

You switch banks of memory in the same way you switch other functions in the Apple IIe: by using soft switches. Read operations to these soft switches do three things: select either RAM or ROM in this memory space; enable or inhibit writing to the RAM (write-protect); and select the first or second 4K-byte bank of RAM in the address space \$D000 to \$DFFF.

▲Warning

Do not use these switches without careful planning. Careless switching between RAM and ROM is almost certain to have catastrophic effects on your program.

Table 4-6 shows the addresses of the soft switches for enabling all combinations of reading and writing in this memory space. All of the hexadecimal values of the addresses are of the form \$C08x. Notice that several addresses perform the same function: this is because the functions are activated by single address bits. For example, any address of the form \$C08x with a 1 in the low-order bit enables the RAM for writing. Similarly, bit 3 of the address selects which 4K block of RAM to use for the address space \$D000-\$DFFF; if bit 3 is 0, the first bank of RAM is used, and if bit 3 is 1, the second bank is used.

When RAM is not enabled for reading, the ROM in this address space is enabled. Even when RAM is not enabled for reading, it can still be written to if it is write-enabled.

When you turn power on or reset the Apple IIe, it initializes the bank switches for reading the ROM and writing the RAM, using the second bank of RAM. Note that this is different from the reset on the Apple II Plus, which didn't affect the bank-switched memory (the language card). On the Apple IIe, you can't use the reset vector to return control to a program in bank-switched memory, as you could on the Apple II Plus.

Reset With Integer BASIC: When you are using Integer BASIC on the Apple IIe, reset works correctly, restarting BASIC with your program intact. This happens because the reset vector transfers control to DOS, and DOS resets the switches for the current version of BASIC.

Table 4-6. Bank Select Switches

Note: R means read the location, W means write anything to the location, R/W means read or write, and R7 means read the location and then check bit 7.

Name	Action	Hex	Function
	R	\$C080	Read RAM; no write; use \$D000 bank 2.
	RR	\$C081	Read ROM; write RAM; use \$D000 bank 2.
	R	\$C082	Read ROM; no write; use \$D000 bank 2.
	RR	\$C083	Read and write RAM; use \$D000 bank 2.
	R	\$C088	Read RAM; no write; use \$D000 bank 1.
	RR	\$C089	Read ROM; write RAM; use \$D000 bank 1.
	R	\$C08A	Read ROM; no write; use \$D000 bank 1.
	RR	\$C08B	Read and write RAM; use \$D000 bank 1.
RDBNK2	R7	\$C011	Read whether $D000 \text{ bank } 2(1) \text{ or bank } 1(0).$
RDLCRAM	R7	\$C012	Reading RAM (1) or ROM (0).
ALTZP	W	\$C008	Off: use main bank, page 0 and page 1.
ALTZP	W	\$C009	On: use auxiliary bank, page 0 and page 1.
RDALTZP	R7	\$C016	Read whether auxiliary (1) or main (0) bank.

Reading and Writing to RAM Banks: Note that you can't read one RAM bank and write to the other; if you select either RAM bank for reading, you get that one for writing as well.

Reading RAM and ROM: You can't read from ROM in part of the bank-switched memory and read from RAM in the rest: specifically, you can't read the Monitor in ROM while reading bank-switched RAM. If you want to use the Monitor firmware with a program in bank-switched RAM, copy the Monitor from ROM (locations \$F800 through \$FFCB) into bank-switched RAM. You can't do this from Pascal or ProDOS.

To see how to use these switches, look at the following section of an assembly-language program:

	AD	83	CØ	LDA	\$CØ83	*SELECT 2ND 4K BANK & READ/WRITE
	AD	83	CØ	LDA	\$CØ83	*BY TWO CONSECUTIVE READS
	A9	DØ		LDA	#\$DØ	*SET UP
	85	01		STA	BEGIN	*NEW
	A9	FF		LDA	#\$FF	*MAIN-MEMORY
	85	02		STA	END	*POINTERS
-	20	97	C9	JSR	RAMTST	*FOR 12K BANK
	AD	8B	CØ	LDA	\$CØ8B	*SELECT 1ST 4K BANK
	20	97	C9	JSR	RAMTST	*USE ABOVE POINTERS
_	AD	83	CØ	LDA	\$CØ88	*SELECT 1ST BANK & WRITE PROTECT
	A9	80		LDA	#\$80	
	E6	10		INC	TSTNUM	
-	20	58	C9	JSR	WPTSINIT	
	AD	80	CØ	LDA	\$C080	*SELECT 2ND BANK & WRITE PROTECT
	E6	10		INC	TSTNUM	
<u></u>	A9	Ø 1		LDA	#PAT12K	
	20	58	69	JSR	WPTSINIT	
-	MARKING 1	No. Company	and and a second se		www.com.com.com	
	AD	88	CØ	LDA	\$C08B	*SELECT 1ST BANK & READ/WRITE
	AD	8B	CØ	LDA	\$CØ8B	*BY TWO CONSECUTIVE READS
_	E6	ØE		INC	RWMODE	*FLAG RAM IN READ/WRITE
	E6	10		INC	TSTNUM	
	A9	08		LDA	#PAT4K	
	20	58	09	JSR	WPTSINIT	

The LDA instruction, which performs a read operation to the specified memory location, is used for setting the soft switches. The unusual sequence of two consecutive LDA instructions performs the two consecutive reads that write-enable this area of RAM; in this case, the data that are read are not used.

Reading Bank Switches

You can read which language card bank is currently switched in by reading the soft switch at \$C011. You can find out whether the language card or ROM is switched in by reading \$C012. The only way that you can find out whether the language card RAM is write-enabled or not is by trying to write some data to the card's RAM space.

Auxiliary Memory and Firmware

By installing an optional card in the auxiliary slot, you can add more memory to the Apple IIe. One such card is the Apple IIe 80-Column Text Card, which has 1K bytes of additional RAM for expanding the text display from 40 columns to 80 columns.

Another optional card, the Apple IIe Extended 80-Column Text Card, has 64K of additional RAM. A 1K-byte area of this memory serves the same purpose as the memory on the 80-Column Text Card: expanding the text display to 80 columns. The other 63K bytes can be used as auxiliary program and data storage. If you use only 40-column displays, the entire 64K bytes is available for programs and data.

▲Warning

Do not attempt to use the auxiliary memory from a BASIC program. The BASIC interpreter uses several areas in main RAM, including the stack and the zero page. If you switch to auxiliary memory in these areas, the BASIC interpreter fails and you must reset the system and start over.

As you can see by studying the memory map in Figure 4-4, the auxiliary memory is broken into two large sections and one small one. The largest section is switched into the memory address space from 512 to 49151 (\$0200 through \$BFFF). This space includes the display buffer pages: as described in the section "Text Modes" in Chapter 2, space in auxiliary memory is used for one half of the 80-column text display. You can switch to the auxiliary memory for this entire memory space, or you can switch just the display pages: see the next section, "Memory Mode Switching."

Soft Switches: If the only reason you are using auxiliary memory is for the 80-column display, note that you can store into the display page in auxiliary memory by using the 80STORE and PAGE2 soft switches described in the section "Display Mode Switching" in Chapter 2.

The other large section of auxiliary memory is switched into the memory address space from 52K to 64K (\$D000 through \$FFFF). This memory space and the switches that control it are described earlier in this chapter in the section "Bank-Switched Memory." If you use the auxiliary RAM in this space, the soft switches have the same effect on the auxiliary RAM that they do on the main RAM: the bank switching is independent of the auxiliary-RAM switching.





Bank Switches: Note that the soft switches for the bank-switched memory, described in the previous section, do not change when you switch to auxiliary RAM. In particular, if ROM is enabled in the bank-switched memory space before you switch to auxiliary memory, the ROM will still be enabled after you switch. Any time you switch the bank-switched section of auxiliary memory in and out, you must also make sure that the bank switches are set properly.

When you switch in the auxiliary RAM in the bank-switched space, you also switch the first two pages, from 0 to 511 (\$0000 through \$01FF). This part of memory contains page zero, which is used for important data and base addresses, and page one, which is the 65C02 stack. The stack and zero page are switched this way so that system software running in the

bank-switched memory space can maintain its own stack and zero page while it manipulates the 48K address space (from \$0200 to \$BFFF) in either main memory or auxiliary memory.

Memory Mode Switching

Switching the 48K section of memory is performed by two soft switches: the switch named RAMRD selects main or auxiliary memory for reading, and the one named RAMWRT selects main or auxiliary memory for writing. As shown in Table 4-7, each switch has a pair of memory locations dedicated to it, one to select main memory, and the other to select auxiliary memory. Enabling the read and write functions independently makes it possible for a program whose instructions are being fetched from one memory space to store data into the other memory space.

▲Warning

Do not use these switches without careful planning. Careless switching between main and auxiliary memories is almost certain to have catastrophic effects on the operation of the Apple IIe. For example, if you switch to auxiliary memory with no card in the slot, the program that is running will stop and you will have to reset the Apple IIe and start over.

Writing to the soft switch at location \$C003 turns RAMRD on and enables auxiliary memory for reading; writing to location \$C002 turns RAMRD off and enables main memory for reading. Writing to the soft switch at location \$C005 turns RAMWRT on and enables the auxiliary memory for writing; writing to location \$C004 turns RAMWRT off and enables main memory for writing. By setting these switches independently, you can use any of the four combinations of reading and writing in main or auxiliary memory.

Auxiliary memory corresponding to text Page 1 and high-resolution graphics Page 1 can be used as part of the address space from \$0200 to \$BFFF by using RAMRD and RAMWRT as described above. These areas in auxiliary RAM can also be controlled separately by using the switches described in the section "Display Mode Switching" in Chapter 2. Those switches are named 80STORE, PAGE2, and HIRES.

As shown in Table 4-7, the 80STORE switch functions as an enabling switch: with it on, the PAGE2 switch selects main memory or auxiliary memory. With the HIRES switch off, the memory space switched by PAGE2 is the text Page 1, from \$0400 to \$07FF; with HIRES on, PAGE2 switches both text Page 1 and high-resolution graphics Page 1, from \$2000 to \$3FFF.

If you are using both the auxiliary-RAM control switches and the auxiliary-display-page control switches, the display-page control switches take priority: if 80STORE is off, RAMRD and RAMWRT work for the entire

memory space from \$0200 to \$BFFF, but if 80STORE is on, RAMRD and RAMWRT have no effect on the display page. Specifically, if 80STORE is on and HIRES is off, PAGE2 controls text Page 1 regardless of the settings of RAMRD and RAMWRT. Likewise, if 80STORE and HIRES are both on, PAGE2 controls both text Page 1 and high-resolution graphics Page 1, again regardless of RAMRD and RAMWRT.

A single soft switch named ALTZP (for alternate zero page) switches the bank-switched memory and the associated stack and zero page area between main and auxiliary memory. As shown in Table 4-7, writing to location \$C009 turns ALTZP on and selects auxiliary-memory stack and zero page; writing to the soft switch at location \$C008 turns ALTZP off and selects main-memory stack and zero page for both reading and writing.

Table 4-7. Auxiliary-Memory Select Switches.

Name	Function	1	Location		Notes
		Hex	De	cimal	
RAMRD	Read auxiliary memory	\$C003	49155	-16381	Write
	Read main memory	\$C002	49154	-16382	Write
	Read RAMRD switch	\$C013	49171	-16365	Read
RAMWRT	Write auxiliary memory	\$C005	49157	-16379	Write
	Write main memory	\$C004	49156	-16380	Write
	Read RAMWRT switch	\$C014	49172	-16354	Read
80STORE	On: access display page	\$C001	49153	-16383	Write
	Off: use RAMRD, RAMWRT	\$C000	49152	-16384	Write
	Read 80STORE switch	\$C018	49176	-16360	Read
PAGE2	Page 2 on (aux. memory)	\$C055	49237	-16299	*
	Page 2 off (main memory)	\$C054	49236	-16300	*
	Read PAGE2 switch	\$C01C	49180	-16356	Read
HIRES	On: access high-res. pages	\$C057	49239	-16297	+
	Off: use RAMRD, RAMWRT	\$C056	49238	-16298	+
	Read HIRES switch	\$C01D	49181	-16355	Read
ALTZP	Auxiliary stack & z.p.	\$C009	49161	-16373	Write
	Main stack & zero page	\$C008	49160	-16374	Write
	Read ALTZP switch	\$C016	49174	-16352	Read

* When 80STORE is on, the PAGE2 switch selects main or auxiliary display memory.

+ When 80STORE is on, the HIRES switch enables you to use the PAGE2 switch to switch between the high-resolution Page-1 area in main memory or auxiliary memory.

The next section, "Auxiliary-Memory Subroutines," describes firmware that you can call to help you switch between main and auxiliary memory. When these switches are on, auxiliary memory is being used; when they are off, main memory is being used. There are three more locations associated with the auxiliary-memory switches. The high-order bits of the bytes you read at these locations tell you the settings of the three soft switches described above. The byte you read at location \$C013 has its high bit set to 1 if RAMRD is on (auxiliary memory is read-enabled), or 0 if RAMRD is off (the 48K block of main memory is read-enabled). The byte at location \$C014 has its high bit set to 1 if RAMWRT is on (auxiliary memory is write-enabled), or 0 if RAMWRT is off (the 48K block of main memory is write-enabled). The byte at location \$C016 has its high bit set to 1 if ALTZP is on (the bank-switched area, stack, and zero page in the auxiliary memory are selected), or 0 if ALTZP is off (these areas in main memory are selected).

Sharing Memory: In order to have enough memory locations for all of the soft switches and remain compatible with the Apple II and Apple II Plus, the soft switches listed in Table 4-7 share their memory locations with the keyboard functions listed in Table 2-2. The operations—read or write—shown in Table 4-7 for controlling the auxiliary memory are just the ones that are not used for reading the keyboard and clearing the strobe.

Auxiliary-Memory Subroutines

If you want to write assembly-language programs that use auxiliary memory but you don't want to manage the auxiliary memory yourself, you can use the built-in auxiliary-memory subroutines. These subroutines make it possible to use the auxiliary memory without having to manipulate the soft switches described in the previous section.

Important!

The subroutines described below make it easier to use auxiliary memory, but they do not protect you from errors. You still have to plan your use of auxiliary memory to avoid catastrophic effects on your program.

You use these built-in subroutines the same way you use the I/O subroutines described in Chapter 3: by making subroutine calls to their starting locations. Those locations are shown in Table 4-8.

Table 4-8. 48K RAM Transfer Routines

Name	Action	Hex	Function
AUXMOVE	JSR	\$C312	Moves data blocks between main and auxiliary 48K memory.
XFER	JMP	\$C314	Transfers program control between main and auxiliary 48K memory.

Chapter 4: Memory Organization

Moving Data to Auxiliary Memory

In your assembly-language programs, you can use the built-in subroutine named AUXMOVE to copy blocks of data from main memory to auxiliary memory or from auxiliary memory to main memory. Before calling this routine, you must put the data addresses into byte pairs in page zero and set the carry bit to select the direction of the move—main to auxiliary or auxiliary to main.

▲Warning

Don't try to use AUXMOVE to copy data in page zero or page one (the 65C02 stack) or in the bank-switched memory (\$D000-\$FFFF). AUXMOVE uses page zero all during the copy, so it can't handle moves in the memory space switched by ALTZP.

The pairs of bytes you use for passing addresses to this subroutine are called A1, A2, and A4, and they are used for parameter passing by several of the Apple IIe's built-in routines. The addresses of these byte pairs are shown in Table 4-9.

Table 4-9. Parameters for AUXMOVE Routine

Note: The X, Y, and A registers are preserved by AUXMOVE.

Name	Location	Parameter Passed
Carry		1 = Move from main to auxiliary memory 0 = Move from auxiliary to main memory
A1L A1H	\$3C \$3D	Source starting address, low-order byte Source starting address, high-order byte
A2L A2H	\$3E \$3F	Source ending address, low-order byte Source ending address, high-order byte
A4L A4H	\$42 \$43	Destination starting address, low-order byte Destination starting address, high-order byte

Put the addresses of the first and last bytes of the block of memory you want to copy into A1 and A2. Put the starting address of the block of memory you want to copy the data to into A4.

The AUXMOVE routine uses the carry bit to select the direction to copy the data. To copy data from main memory to auxiliary memory, set the carry bit; to copy data from auxiliary memory to main memory, clear the carry bit. When you make the subroutine call to AUXMOVE, the subroutine copies the block of data as specified by the A byte pairs and the carry bit. When it is finished, the accumulator and the X and Y registers are just as they were when you called AUXMOVE.

Transferring Control to Auxiliary Memory

You can use the built-in routine named XFER to transfer control to and from program segments in auxiliary memory. You must set up three parameters before using XFER: the address of the routine you are transferring to, the direction of the transfer (main to auxiliary or auxiliary to main), and which page zero and stack you want to use.

Table 4-10.	Parameters	for	XFEF	Routine
-------------	------------	-----	------	---------

Note: The X, Y, and A parameters are preserved by XFER.

Name or Location	Parameter Passed	
Carry	1 = Transfer from main to auxiliary memory 0 = Transfer from auxiliary to main memory	
Overflow	1 = Use page zero and stack in auxiliary memory 0 = Use page zero and stack in main memory	
\$03ED	Program starting address, low-order byte	
\$03EE	Program starting address, high-order byte	

Put the transfer address into the two bytes at locations \$03ED and \$03EE, with the low-order byte first, as usual. The direction of the transfer is controlled by the carry bit: set the carry bit to transfer to a program in auxiliary memory; clear the carry bit to transfer to a program in main memory. Use the overflow bit to select which page zero and stack you want to use: clear the overflow bit to use the main memory; set the overflow bit to use the auxiliary memory.

After you have set up the parameters, pass control to the XFER routine by a jump instruction, rather than a subroutine call. XFER saves the accumulator and the transfer address on the current stack, then sets up the soft switches for the parameters you have selected and jumps to the new program.

▲ Warning

It is the programmer's responsibility to save the current stack pointer at \$0100 in main memory and the alternate stack pointer at \$0101 in auxiliary memory before calling XFER and to restore them after regaining control. Failure to do so will cause program errors.

The Reset Routine

To put the Apple IIe into a known state when it has just been turned on or after a program has malfunctioned, there is a procedure called the reset routine. The reset routine is built into the Apple IIe's firmware, and it is initiated any time you turn power on or press **RESET** while holding down **CONTROL**. The reset routine puts the Apple IIe into its normal operating mode and restarts the resident program.

When you initiate a reset, hardware in the Apple IIe sets the memory-controlling soft switches to normal: main board RAM and ROM are enabled, and, if there is an 80-column text card in the auxiliary slot, expansion slot 3 is allocated to the built-in 80-column firmware. Auxiliary RAM is disabled and the bank-switched memory space is set up to read from ROM and write to RAM, using the second bank at \$D000.

The reset routine sets the display-controlling soft switches to display 40-column text Page 1 using the primary character set, then sets the window equal to the full 40-column display, puts the cursor at the bottom of the screen, and sets the display format to normal.

The reset routine sets the keyboard and display as the standard input and output devices by loading the standard I/O links. It turns annunciators 0 and 1 off and annunciators 2 and 3 on, clears the keyboard strobe, turns off any active peripheral-card ROM and outputs a bell (tone).

The Apple IIe has three types of reset: power-on reset, also called cold-start reset; warm-start reset; and forced cold-start reset. The procedure described above is the same for any type of reset. What happens next depends on the reset vector. The reset routine checks the reset vector to determine whether it is valid or not, as described later in this chapter in the section "The Reset Vector." If the reset was caused by turning the power on, the vector will not be valid, and the reset routine will perform the cold-start procedure. If the vector is valid, the routine will perform the warm-start procedure.

For information about the I/O links, see the section "Changing the Standard I/O Links" in Chapter 6.

For more information about peripheral-card ROM, see the section "Peripheral-Card ROM Space" in Chapter 6.

The Cold-Start Procedure

If the reset vector is not valid, either the Apple IIe has just been turned on or something has caused memory contents to be changed. The reset routine clears the display and puts the string Apple //e (Apple II on an original IIe) at the top of the display. It loads the reset vector and the validity-check byte as described below, then starts checking the expansion slots to see if there is a disk drive controller card in one of them, starting with slot 7 and working down.

If it finds a controller card, it initiates the startup (bootstrap) routine that resides in the controller card's firmware. The startup routine then loads DOS or ProDOS from the disk in drive 1. When the operating system has been loaded, it displays other messages on the screen. If there is no disk in the disk drive, the drive motor just keeps spinning until you press [CONTROL] [RESET].

If the reset routine doesn't find a controller card, or if you press <u>CONTROL</u>-<u>RESET</u> again before the startup procedure has been completed, the reset routine will continue without using the disk, and pass control to the built-in Applesoft interpreter.

The Warm-Start Procedure

Whenever you press <u>CONTROL</u> (<u>RESET</u>) when the Apple IIe has already completed a cold-start reset, the reset vector is still valid and it is not necessary to reinitialize the entire system. The reset routine simply uses the vector to transfer control to the resident program, which is normally the built-in Applesoft interpreter. If the resident program is indeed Applesoft, your Applesoft program and variables are still intact. If you are using DOS, it is the resident program and it restarts either Applesoft or Integer BASIC, whichever you were using when you pressed <u>CONTROL</u> (<u>RESET</u>).

Important!

A program in bank-switched RAM cannot use the reset vector to regain control after a reset, because the Apple IIe hardware enables ROM in the bank-switched memory space. If you are using Integer BASIC, which is in the bank-switched RAM, you are also using DOS, and it is DOS that controls the reset vector and restarts BASIC.

For more information about ProDOS and the startup procedure, see the *ProDOS Technical Reference Manual*.

Forced Cold Start

If a program has loaded the reset vector to point to the beginning of the program, as described in the next section, pressing **CONTROL RESET** causes a warm-start reset that uses the vector to transfer control to that program. If you want to stop such a program without turning the power off and on, you can force a cold-start reset by holding down **(CONTROL**), then pressing and releasing **RESET**.

Unconditional Restart: When you want to stop a program unconditionally—for example, to start up the Apple IIe with some other program—you should use the forced cold-start reset, [d][CONTROL][RESET], instead of turning the power off and on.

Whenever you press <u>CONTROL</u> (RESET), firmware in the Apple IIe always checks to see whether either Apple key is down. If the **i** key is down, with or without the **i** key, the firmware performs the self-test described later in this chapter. If only the **i** key is down, the firmware starts a forced cold-start reset. First, it destroys the program or data in memory by writing two bytes of arbitrary data into each page of main RAM. The two bytes that get written over in page 3 are the ones that contain the reset vector. The reset routine then performs a normal cold-start reset.

The Reset Vector

When you reset the Apple IIe, the reset routine transfers control to the resident program by means of an address stored in page 3 of main RAM. This address is called a vector because it directs program control to a specified destination. There are several other vector addresses stored in page 3, as shown in Table 4-11, including the interrupt vectors described in the section "Interrupts on the Enhanced Apple IIe" in Chapter 6, and the ProDOS and DOS vectors described in the *ProDOS Technical Reference Manual* and the *Apple II DOS Programmer's Manual*.

The cold-start reset routine stores the starting address of the built-in Applesoft interpreter, low-order byte first, in the reset vector address at locations 1010 and 1011 (hexadecimal \$03F2 and \$03F3). It then stores a validity-check byte, also called the power-up byte, at location 1012 (hexadecimal \$03F4). The validity-check byte is computed by performing an exclusive-OR of the second byte of the vector with the constant 165 (hexadecimal \$A5). Each time you reset the Apple IIe, the reset routine uses this byte to determine whether the reset vector is still valid. You can change the reset vector so that the reset routine will transfer control to your program instead of to the Applesoft interpreter. For this to work, you must also change the validity-check byte to the exclusive-OR of the high-order byte of your new reset vector with the constant 165 (\$A5). If you fail to do this, then the next time you reset the Apple IIe, the reset routine will determine that the reset vector is invalid and perform a cold-start reset, eventually transferring control to the disk startup routine or to Applesoft.

The reset routine has a subroutine that generates the validity-check byte for the current reset vector. You can use this subroutine by doing a subroutine call to location -1169 (hexadecimal \$FB6F). When your program finishes, it can return the Apple IIe to normal operation by restoring the original reset vector and again calling the subroutine to fix up the validity-check byte.

	Vector Address	Vector Function
	\$3F0 \$3F1	Address of the subroutine that handles BRK requests (normally \$59, \$FA).
	\$3F2 \$3F3	Reset vector (see text).
	\$3F4	Power-up byte (see text).
	\$3F5 \$3F6 \$3F7	Jump instruction to the subroutine that handles Applesoft & commands (normally \$4C, \$58, \$FF).
	\$3F8 \$3F9 \$3FA	Jump instruction to the subroutine that handles user CONTROL (Y) commands.
	\$3FB \$3FC \$3FD	Jump instruction to the subroutine that handles non-maskable interrupts.
See "The User's Interrupt Handler at \$3FE" in Chapter 6.	\$3FE \$3FF	Interrupt vector (address of the subroutine that handles interrupt requests).

Table 4-11. Page 3 Vectors

Chapter 4: Memory Organization

Automatic Self-Test

If you reset the Apple IIe by holding down and CONTROL while pressing and releasing <u>RESET</u>, the reset routine will start running the built-in self-test. Successfully running this test assures you that the Apple IIe is operational.

▲Warning

The self-test routine tests the Apple IIe's programmable memory by writing and then reading it. All programs and data in programmable memory when you run the self-test are destroyed.

The self-test takes several seconds to run. The screen will display some patterns in low resolution mode which will change rapidly just before the self-test finishes. If the test finishes normally, the Apple IIe displays System OK and waits for you to restart the system.

If you have been running a program, some soft switches might be on when you run the self-test. If this happens, the self-test will display a message such as

IOU FLAG ES:1

Turn the power off for several seconds, then turn it back on and run the self-test again. If it still fails, there is really something wrong; to get it corrected, contact your authorized Apple dealer for service.





Using the Monitor



The System Monitor is a set of subroutines in the Apple IIe firmware. The Monitor provides a standard interface to the built-in I/O devices described in Chapter 2. The I/O subroutines described in Chapter 3 are part of the System Monitor.

ProDOS, DOS 3.3, and the BASIC interpreters use these subroutines by direct calls to their starting locations, as described for the I/O subroutines in Chapter 3.

If you wish, you can call the standard subroutines from your programs in the same fashion.

You can perform most of the Monitor functions directly from the keyboard. This chapter tells you how to use the Monitor to

- □ look at one or more memory locations
- □ change the contents of any location
- □ write programs in machine language to be executed directly by the Apple IIe's microprocessor
- save blocks of data and programs onto cassette tape and read them back in again

State of State

- move and compare blocks of memory
- □ search for data bytes and ASCII characters in memory
- □ invoke other programs from the Monitor
- □ invoke the Mini-Assembler.

Invoking the Monitor

The System Monitor starts at memory location \$FF69 (decimal 65385 or -151). To invoke the Monitor, you make a CALL statement to this location from the keyboard or from a BASIC program. When the Monitor is running, its prompting character, an asterisk (*), appears on the left side of the display screen, followed by a blinking cursor.

To use the Monitor, you type commands at the keyboard. When you have finished using the Monitor, you return to the BASIC language you were previously using by pressing <u>CONTROL</u> (RESET, by pressing <u>CONTROL</u>) C then <u>RETURN</u>, or by typing **3D**ØG, which executes the resident program—usually Applesoft—whose address is stored in a jump instruction at location \$3D0.

The starting addresses for all of the standard subroutines are listed in Appendix B.

Syntax of Monitor Commands

To give a command to the Monitor, you type a line on the keyboard, then press <u>RETURN</u>. The Monitor accepts the line using the standard I/O subroutine GETLN, described in Chapter 3. A Monitor command can be up to 255 characters in length, ending with a carriage return.

A Monitor command can include three kinds of information: addresses, data values, and command characters. You type addresses and data values in hexadecimal notation. Hexadecimal notation uses the ten decimal digits (0-9) and the first six letters (A-F) to represent the sixteen values from 0 to 15. A pair of hexadecimal digits represent values from 0 to 255, corresponding to a byte, and a group of four hexadecimal digits can represent values from 0 to 65,536, corresponding to a word. Any address in the Apple IIe can be represented by four hexadecimal digits.

When the command you type calls for an address, the Monitor accepts any group of hexadecimal digits. If there are fewer than four digits in the group, it adds leading zeros; if there are more than four hexadecimal digits, the Monitor uses only the last four digits. It follows a similar procedure when the command syntax calls for two-digit data values.

Each command you type consists of one command character, usually the first letter of the command name. When the command is a letter, it can be either uppercase or lowercase. The Monitor recognizes 23 different command characters. Some of them are punctuation marks, some are letters, and some are control characters.

Note: Although the Monitor recognizes and interprets control characters typed on an input line, they do not appear on the screen.

This chapter contains many examples of the use of Monitor commands. In the examples, the commands and values you type are shown in a normal typeface and the responses of the Monitor are in a computer typeface. Of course, when you perform the examples, all of the characters that appear on the display screen will be in the same typeface. Some of the data values displayed by your Apple IIe may differ from the values printed in these examples, because they are variables stored in programmable memory.

See "Summary of Monitor Commands" at the end of this chapter.

Monitor Memory Commands

When you use the Monitor to examine and change the contents of memory, it keeps track of the address of the last location whose value you inquired about and the address of the location that is next to have its value changed. These are called the last opened location and the next changeable location.

Examining Memory Contents

When you type the address of a memory location and press **RETURN**, the Monitor responds with the address you typed, a dash, a space, and the value stored at that location, like this:

N.

*E000 E000- 20 *33 0033- AA *

Each time the Monitor displays the value stored at a location, it saves the address of that location as the last opened location and as the next changeable location.

Memory Dump

When you type a period (.) followed by an address, and then press **RETURN**, the Monitor displays a memory dump: the data values stored at all the memory locations from the one following the last opened location to the location whose address you typed following the period. The Monitor saves the last location displayed as both the last opened location and the next changeable location. In these examples, the amount of data displayed by the Monitor depends on how much larger than the last opened location the address after the period is.

ØØ20 ØØ

*.2B
ØØ
18
ØF
ØC
ØØ
ØØ

ØØ21 28
ØØ
18
ØF
ØC
ØØ
ØØ

ØØ28 A8
Ø6
DØ
Ø7

*300
9300 99

*.315
93
99
 -</

*20

When the Monitor performs a memory dump, it starts at the location immediately following the last opened location and displays that address and the data value stored there. It then displays the values of successive locations up to and including the location whose address you typed, but only up to eight values on a line. When it reaches a location whose address is a multiple of eight—that is, one that ends with an 8 or a 0—it displays that address as the beginning of a new line, then continues displaying more values.

After the Monitor has displayed the value at the location whose address you specified in the command, it stops the memory dump and sets that location as both the last opened location and the next changeable location. If the address specified on the input line is less than the address of the last opened location, the Monitor displays only the address and value of the location following the last opened location.

You can combine the two commands, opening a location and dumping memory, by simply concatenating them: type the first address, a period, and the second address. This combination of two addresses separated by a period is called a memory range.

*300.32F Ø3ØØ- 99 B9 ØØ Ø8 ØA ØA ØA 99 Ø3ØØ- ØØ Ø8 C8 DØ F4 A6 2B A9 Ø31Ø- Ø9 85 27 AD CC Ø3 85 41 Ø310- Ø9 85 27 AD CC Ø3 85 41 Ø318- 84 4Ø 8A 4A 4A 4A 4A Ø9 Ø320- CØ 85 3F A9 5D 85 3E 2Ø Ø328- 43 Ø3 2Ø 46 Ø3 A5 3D 4D *30.40 #30.40 #30.40 #40 ØFF AA Ø5 C2 Ø5 C2 Ø38- 1B FD DØ Ø3 3C ØØ 4Ø ØØ Ø440- 30 *E015.E025 EØ16- 4C ED FD EØ18- A9 2Ø C5 24 BØ ØC A9 8D EØ20- AØ Ø7 2Ø ED FD A9

Pressing **RETURN** by itself causes the Monitor to display one line of a memory dump; that is, a memory dump from the location following the last opened location to the next multiple-of-eight boundary. The Monitor saves the address of the last location displayed as the last opened location and the next changeable location.

*5 0005-00 *RETURN 0000 *RETURN 0008-00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 *32 0032-FF *RETURN AA 00 C2 05 C2 *RETURN 00038-1B FD D0 03 3C 00 3F 00

Chapter 5: Using the Monitor

Changing Memory Contents

The previous section showed you how to display the values stored in the Apple IIe's memory; this section shows you how to change those values. You can change any location in RAM—programmable memory—and you can also change the soft switches and output devices by changing the locations assigned to them.

▲Warning

Use these commands carefully. If you change the zero-page locations used by Applesoft, ProDOS, or DOS, you may lose programs or data stored in memory.

Changing One Byte

The previous commands keep track of the next changeable location; these commands make use of it. In the next example, you open location 0, then type a colon (:) followed by a value.

*0

0000- 00 *:5F

- .01

The contents of the next changeable location have just been changed to the value you typed, as you can see by examining that location:

*0

0000- 5F

You can also combine opening and changing into one operation by typing an address followed by a colon and a value. In the example, you type the address again to verify the change.

*302:42

*302

0302- 42

When you change the contents of a location, the value that was contained in that location disappears, never to be seen again. The new value will remain until you replace it with another value.

Changing Memory Contents

Changing Consecutive Locations

You don't have to type a separate command with an address, a colon, a value, and **RETURN** for each location you want to change. You can change the values of up to 85 consecutive locations at a time (or even more, if you omit leading zeros from the values) by typing only the initial address and colon followed by all the values separated by spaces, and ending with **RETURN**. The Monitor will duly store the consecutive values in consecutive locations, starting at the location whose address you typed. After it has processed the string of values, it takes the location following the last changed location as the next changeable location. Thus, you can continue changing consecutive locations without typing an address on the next input line by typing another colon and more values. In these examples, you first change some locations, then examine them to verify the changes.

*300:69 01 20 ED FD 4C 0 3

*300 Ø300- 69 * RETURN Ø1 20 ED FD 4C 00 Ø3 *10:0123 *:4567 *10.17 Ø010- 00 Ø1 02 03 04 05 06 07 *

ASCII Input Mode

The enhanced Apple IIe has an ASCII input mode that lets you enter ASCII characters just as you can their hexadecimal ASCII equivalents by preceding the literal character with an apostrophe ('). This means that 'A is the same as \$C1 and 'B is the same as \$C2 to the Monitor. The ASCII value for *any* character following an apostrophe is used by the Monitor.

Each character to be placed in memory should be delimited by a leading apostrophe (') and a trailing space. The only exception to this rule is that the last character in the line is followed with a return character instead of a space. The following example would enter the string "Hooray for sushi!" at \$0300 in memory.

ASCII input mode sets the high bit of the code for a character that you

*300:'H 'o 'o 'r 'a 'y ' 'f 'o 'r ' 's 'u 's 'h 'i '!

enter. So 'A will equal \$C1, not \$41.

Important!

Original Ile | The original Apple IIe does not have an ASCII input mode.

Moving Data in Memory

You can copy a block of data stored in a range of memory locations from one area in memory to another by using the Monitor's MOVE command. To move a range of memory, you must tell the Monitor both where the data is now situated in memory (the source locations) and where you want the copy to go (the destination locations). You give this information to the Monitor by means of three addresses: the address of the first location in the destination and the addresses of the first and last locations in the source. You specify the starting and ending addresses of the source range by separating them with a period. You separate the destination address from the range addresses with a less-than character (<), which you may think of as an arrow pointing in the direction of the move. Finally, you tell the Monitor that this is a MOVE command by typing the letter M (in either lowercase or uppercase). The format of the complete MOVE command looks like this:

destination < start . end M

When you type the actual command, the words in braces should be replaced by hexadecimal addresses, and the braces and spaces should be omitted.

Here are some examples of Monitor commands, including some memory moves. First, you examine the values stored in one range of memory, then store several values in another range of memory; the actual MOVE commands end with the letter M.

*0.F 0000- 5F 00 05 07 00 00 00 00 0008-00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 *300:A9 8D 20 ED FD A9 45 20 DA FD 4C 00 03 *300.30C 0300- A9 8D 20 ED FD A9 45 20 0308- DA FD 4C 00 03 *0<300.30CM *0.C 0000- A9 8D 20 ED FD A9 45 20 0008- DA FD 4C 00 03 *310<8.AM *310.312 0310- DA FD 4C *2<7.9M *0.C 0000- A9 8D 20 DA FD A9 45 20 0008- DA FD 4C 00 03

The Monitor moves a copy of the data stored in the source range of locations to the destination locations. The values in the source range are left undisturbed. The Monitor remembers the last location in the source range as the last opened location, and the first location in the source range as the next changeable location. If the second address in the source range specification is less than the first, then only one value (that of the first location in the range) will be moved. If the destination address of the MOVE command is inside the source range of addresses, then strange (and sometimes wonderful) things happen: the locations between the beginning of the source range and the destination address are treated as a sub-range and the values in this sub-range are replicated throughout the source range.

See the section "Special Tricks With the Monitor" later in this chapter for an interesting application of this feature.

Comparing Data in Memory

You can use the VERIFY command to compare two ranges of memory using the same format you use to move a range of memory from one place to another. In fact, the VERIFY command can be used immediately after a MOVE command to make sure that the move was successful.

The VERIFY command, like the MOVE command, needs a range and a destination. The syntax of the VERIFY command is

 $\{\text{destination}\} < \{\text{start}\}, \{\text{end}\} V$

The Monitor compares the values in the source locations with the values in the locations beginning at the destination address. If any values don't match, the Monitor displays the address at which the discrepancy was found and the two values that differ. In the example, you store data values in the range of locations from 0 to \$D, copy them to locations starting at \$300 with the MOVE command, and then compare them using the VERIFY command. When you use the VERIFY command after you change the value at location 6 to \$E4, it detects the change.

*0:D7 F2 E9 F4 F4 E5 EE A0 E2 F9 A0 C3 C4 C5

- *300<0.DM
- *300<0.DV

*6:E4

*300<0.DV

0006-E4 (EE)

If the VERIFY command finds a discrepancy, it displays the address of the location in the source range whose value differs from its counterpart in the destination range. If there is no discrepancy, VERIFY displays nothing. The VERIFY command leaves the values in both ranges unchanged. The last opened location is the last location in the source range, and the next changeable location is the first location in the source range, just as in the MOVE command. If the ending address of the range is less than the starting address, the values of only the first locations in the ranges will be compared. Like the MOVE command, the VERIFY command also does unusual things if the destination address is within the source range.

See the section "Special Tricks With the Monitor" later in this chapter.

Searching for Bytes in Memory

The SEARCH command lets you search for one or two bytes (either hexadecimal values or ASCII characters) in a range of memory. You must type in the ASCII string (or hexadecimal number or numbers) in reverse of the order that they appear in memory. Think of the SEARCH command as looking for items in a last-in, first-out queue.

The syntax of the SEARCH command is

value or ASCII < start lend S

If the byte (or two byte sequence) that you specify is in the specified memory range, the Monitor will return with a list of the addresses where that byte (or byte sequence) occurs. If the byte (or byte sequence) is not in the range, the Monitor just displays the prompt. All and a

The following example looks for the character string *LO* in memory between \$0300 and \$03FF.

*'0'L<300.3FFS

High Bit Set: Remember that ASCII input mode sets the high-order bit of each character that you enter.

The next example searches for the two-byte sequence \$FF11.

*11FF<300.3FFS

You can't search for a two-byte sequence with a high byte of 0. The Monitor ignores the high byte and searches for the low byte only. The sequence 00FF is seen by the Monitor SEARCH command as FF.

Original Ile

The Monitor in the original Apple IIe does not recognize the SEARCH command.

Examining and Changing Registers

The microprocessor's register contents change continuously whenever the Apple IIe is running any sort of program, such as the Monitor. The Monitor lets you see what the register contents were when you invoked the Monitor or a program that you were debugging stopped at a break (BRK). The Monitor also lets you set 65C02 register values before you execute a program with the GO command.

When you call the Monitor, it stores the contents of the microprocessor's registers in memory. The registers are stored in the order A, X, Y, P (processor status register), and S (stack pointer), starting at location \$45 (decimal 69). When you give the Monitor a GO command, the Monitor loads the registers from these five locations before it executes the first instruction in your program.

Pressing <u>CONTROL</u> E and then <u>RETURN</u> invokes the Monitor's EXAMINE command, which displays the stored register values and sets the location containing the contents of the A register as the next changeable location. After using the EXAMINE command, you can change the values in these locations by typing a colon and then typing the new values separated by spaces. In the following example, you display the registers, change the first two, and then display them again to verify the change.

* CONTROL -E

A=0A X=FF Y=D8 P=B0 S=F8 *:B0 02 *CONTROL-E A=B0 X=02 Y=D8 P=B0 S=F8

Monitor Cassette Tape Commands

The Apple IIe has two jacks for connecting an audio cassette tape recorder. With a recorder connected, you can use the Monitor commands described later in this section to save the contents of a range of memory onto a standard cassette and recall it for later use.

Saving Data on Tape

The Monitor's WRITE command saves the contents of up to 65,536 memory locations on cassette tape. To save a range of memory on tape, give the Monitor the starting and ending addresses of the range, followed by the letter W (for WRITE), like this:

{start} . {end} W

Don't press **RETURN** yet: first, put the tape recorder in record mode and let the tape run for a second, then press **RETURN**. The Monitor will write a ten-second tone onto the tape and then write the data. The tone acts as a leader: later, when the Monitor reads the tape, the leader enables the Monitor to get in step with the signal from the tape. When the Monitor is finished writing the range you specified, it will sound a bell (beep) and display a prompt. You should rewind the tape and label it with the memory range that's on the tape and what it's supposed to be.

Here's a small example you can save and use later to try out the READ command. Remember that you must start the cassette recorder in record mode before you press [RETURN] after typing the WRITE command.

*0:FF FF AD 30 C0 88 D0 04 C6 01 F0 08 CA D0 F6 A6 00 4C 02 00 60

*0.14

0000- FF FF AD 30 C0 88 D0 04 0008- C6 01 F0 08 CA D0 F6 A6 0010- 00 4C 02 00 60 *0.14W

*

It takes about 35 seconds total to save the values of 4,096 memory locations preceded by the ten-second leader onto tape. This works out to an average data transfer rate of about 1,350 bits per second.

の日本

The WRITE command writes one extra value on the tape after it has written the values in the memory range. This extra value is the checksum, which is the eight-bit partial sum of all values in the range. When the Monitor reads the tape, it uses this value to determine if the data has been written and read correctly. (See the next section.)

Reading Data From Tape

Once you've saved a memory range onto tape with the Monitor's WRITE command, you can read that memory range back into the computer by using the Monitor's READ command. The data values you've stored on the tape need not be read back into the same memory range from whence they came; you can tell the Monitor to put those values into any memory range in the computer's memory, provided that it's the same size as the range you saved.
The format of the READ command is the same as that of the WRITE command, except that the command letter is R:

{start}. {end} R

Once again, after typing the command, don't press **RETURN**. Instead, start the tape recorder in play mode and wait a few seconds. Although the WRITE command puts a ten-second leader tone on the beginning of the tape, the READ command needs only three seconds of this leader to lock on to the signal from the tape. You should let a few seconds of tape go by before you press **RETURN** to allow the tape recorder's output to settle down to a steady tone.

This example has two parts. First, you set a range of memory to zero, verify the contents of memory, and then type the READ command, but don't press [RETURN].

*0.14

0000- 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 0008- 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 0010- 00 00 00 00 00

*0.14R

Now start the cassette running in play mode, wait a few seconds, and press **<u>RETURN</u>**. After the Monitor sounds the bell (beep) and displays the prompt, examine the range of memory to see that the values from the tape were read correctly:

*0.14

0000- FF FF AD 30 C0 88 D0 04 0008- C6 01 F0 08 CA D0 F6 A6 0010- 00 4C 02 00 60

After the Monitor has read all the data values on the tape, it reads the checksum value. It computes the checksum on the data it read and compares it to the checksum from the tape. If the two checksums differ, the Monitor sends a beep to the speaker and displays **ERR**. This warns you that there was a problem reading the tape and that the values stored in memory aren't the values that were recorded on the tape. If the two checksums match, the Monitor will just send out a beep and display a prompt.

Miscellaneous Monitor Commands

These Monitor commands enable you to change the video display format from normal to inverse and back, and to assign input and output to accessories in expansion slots.

Inverse and Normal Display

You can control the setting of the inverse-normal mask location used by the COUT subroutine (described in Chapter 3) from the Monitor so that all of the Monitor's output will be in inverse format. The INVERSE command, I, sets the mask such that all subsequent inputs and outputs are displayed in inverse format. To switch the Monitor's output back to normal format, use the NORMAL command, N.

and the second

0000- 0A 0B 0C 0D 0E 0F D0 04 0008- C6 01 F0 08 CA D0 F6 A6 *I *0.F 0000- 0A 0B 0C 0D 0E 0F D0 04 0008- C6 01 F0 08 CA D0 F6 A6 *N *0.F 0000- 0A 0B 0C 0D 0E 0F D0 04 0008- C6 01 F0 08 CA D0 F6 A6

Back to BASIC

*0.F

Use the BASIC command, **CONTROL B**, to leave the Monitor and enter the BASIC that was active when you entered the Monitor. Normally, this is Applesoft BASIC, unless you deliberately switched to Integer BASIC. Any program or variables that you had previously in BASIC will be lost. If you want to reenter BASIC with your previous program and variables intact, use the CONTINUE BASIC command, **CONTROL C**.

If you are using DOS 3.3 or ProDOS, press CONTROL RESET or type

3DØG

to return to the language you were using, with your program and variables intact.

That's a Number Not a Letter: If you use 3D0G, make sure that the third character you type is a zero, not a letter O. The letter G is the Monitor's GO command, described in the section "Machine-Language Programs" later in this chapter.

Redirecting Input and Output

The PRINTER command, activated by a **CONTROL** P, diverts all output normally destined for the screen to an interface card in a specified expansion slot, from 1 to 7. There must be an interface card in the specified slot, or you will lose control of the computer and your program and variables may be lost. The format of the command is

slot number CONTROL P

A PRINTER command to slot number 0 will switch the stream of output characters back to the Apple IIe's video display.

▲Warning

Don't give the PRINTER command with slot number 0 to deactivate the 80-column firmware, even though you used this command to activate it in slot 3. The command works, but it just disconnects the firmware, leaving some of the soft switches set for 80-column display.

In much the same way that the PRINTER command switches the output stream, the KEYBOARD command substitutes the interface card in a specified expansion slot for the Apple IIe's normal input device, the keyboard. The format for the KEYBOARD command is

slot number CONTROL K

A slot number of 0 for the KEYBOARD command directs the Monitor to accept input from the Apple IIe's built-in keyboard.

The PRINTER and KEYBOARD commands are the exact equivalents of the BASIC commands PR# and IN#.

Hexadecimal Arithmetic

The Monitor will also perform one-byte hexadecimal addition and subtraction. Just type a line in one of these formats:

value + value value - value

The Apple IIe performs the arithmetic and displays the result, as shown in these examples:

*20+13 =33 *4A-C =3E *FF+4 =Ø3 *3-4 =FF

Special Tricks With the Monitor

This section describes some more complex ways of using the Monitor commands.

Multiple Commands

You can put as many Monitor commands on a single line as you like, as long as you separate them with spaces and the total number of characters in the line is less than 254. Adjacent single-letter commands such as L, S, I, and N need not be separated by spaces.

You can freely intermix all of the commands except the STORE (:) command. Since the Monitor takes all values following a colon and places them in consecutive memory locations, the last value in a STORE must be followed by a letter command before another address is encountered. You can use the NORMAL command as the required letter command in such cases; it usually has no effect and can be used anywhere.

In the following example, you display a range of memory, change it, and display it again, all with one line of commands.

*300.307 300:18 69 1 N 300.302

0300- 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 0300- 18 69 01

If the Monitor encounters a character in the input line that it does not recognize as either a hexadecimal digit or a valid command character, it executes all the commands on the input line up to that character, then grinds to a halt with a noisy beep and ignores the remainder of the input line.

Filling Memory

The MOVE command can be used to replicate a pattern of values throughout a range of memory. To do this, first store the pattern in the first locations in the range:

*300:11 22 33

*

Remember the number of values in the pattern: in this case, it is 3. Use the number to compute addresses for the MOVE command, like this:

|start+number| < |start| . |end-number| M

This MOVE command will first replicate the pattern at the locations immediately following the original pattern, then replicate that pattern following itself, and so on until it fills the entire range.

*303<300.32DM

*300.32F

 Ø3ØØ 11
 22
 33
 11
 22
 33
 11
 22

 Ø3Ø8 33
 11
 22
 33
 11
 22
 33
 11

 Ø3Ø8 33
 11
 22
 33
 11
 22
 33
 11

 Ø3Ø8 22
 33
 11
 22
 33
 11
 22
 33
 11

 Ø31Ø 22
 33
 11
 22
 33
 11
 22
 33

 Ø318 11
 22
 33
 11
 22
 33
 11
 22

 Ø32Ø 33
 11
 22
 33
 11
 22
 33
 11
 22

 Ø32Ø 33
 11
 22
 33
 11
 22
 33
 11

 Ø32Ø 22
 33
 11
 22
 33
 11
 22
 33

You can do a similar trick with the VERIFY command to check whether a pattern repeats itself through memory. This is especially useful to verify that a given range of memory locations all contain the same value. In this example, you first fill the memory range from \$0300 to \$0320 with zeros and verify it, then change one location and verify again, to see the VERIFY command detect the discrepancy:

- *300:0
- *301<300.31FM
- *301<300.31FV
- *304:02

*301<300.31FV 0303-00 (02) 0304-02 (00)

*

Repeating Commands

You can create a command line that repeats one or more commands over and over. You do this by beginning the part of the command line that you want to repeat with a letter command, such as N, and ending it with the sequence 34:n, where n is a hexadecimal number that specifies the position in the line of the command where you want to start repeating; for the first character in the line, n=0. The value for n must be followed with a space in order for the loop to work properly. This trick takes advantage of the fact that the Monitor uses an index register to step through the input buffer, starting at location \$0200. Each time the Monitor executes a command, it stores the value of the index at location \$34; when that command is finished, the Monitor reloads the index register with the value at location \$34. By making the last command change the value at location \$34, you change this index so that the Monitor picks up the next command character from an earlier point in the buffer.

The only way to stop a loop like this is to press **CONTROL (RESET**); that is how this example ends.

*N 300 302 34:0

0300- 11 0302- 33 0300- 11 0302- 33 0300- 11 0302- 33 0300- 11 0302- 33 0300- 11 0302- 33 0300- 11 0302- 33 0300- 11

Creating Your Own Commands

The USER command, **CONTROL Y**, forces the Monitor to jump to memory location \$03F8. You can put a JMP instruction there that jumps to your own machine-language program. Your program can then examine the Monitor's registers and pointers or the input buffer itself to obtain its data. For example, here is a program that displays everything on the input line after the <u>CONTROL</u> **Y**. The program starts at location \$0300; the command line that starts with \$03F8 stores a jump to \$0300 at location \$03F8.

*300:A4 34 B9 00 02 20 ED FD C8 C9 8D D0 F5 4C 69 FF

*3F8:4C 00 03

* CONTROL Y THIS IS A TEST THIS IS A TEST

*

Machine-Language Programs

The main reason to program in machine language is to get more speed. A program in machine language can run much faster than the same program written in high-level languages such as BASIC or Pascal, but the machine-language version usually takes a lot longer to write. There are other reasons to use machine language: you might want your program to do something that isn't included in your high-level language, or you might just enjoy the challenge of using machine language to work directly on the bits and bytes.

Boning Up on Machine Language: If you have never used machine language before, you'll need to learn the 65C02 instructions listed in Appendix A. To become proficient at programming in machine language, you'll have to spend some time at it and study at least one of the books on 6502 programming listed in the bibliography. With the books and Appendix A, you'll have the needed information to program the 65C02.

You can get a hexadecimal dump of your program, move it around in memory, or save it on tape and recall it using the commands described in the previous sections. The Monitor commands in this section are intended specifically for you to use in creating, writing, and debugging machine-language programs.

Running a Program

The Monitor command you use to start execution of your machine-language program is the GO command. When you type an address and the letter G, the Apple IIe starts executing machine language instructions starting at the specified location. If you just type the G, execution starts at the last opened location. The Monitor treats this program as a subroutine: it should end with an RTS (return from subroutine) instruction to transfer control back to the Monitor.

The Monitor has some special features that make it easier for you to write and debug machine-language programs, but before you get into that, here is a small machine-language program that you can run using only the simple Monitor commands already described. The program in the example merely displays the letters A through Z: you store it starting at location \$0300, examine it to be sure you typed it correctly, then type 300G to start it running.

*300:A9 C1 20 ED FD 18 69 1 C9 DB D0 F6 60

*300.30C

0300- A9 C1 20 ED FD 18 69 01 0308- C9 DB D0 F6 60 *300G ABCDEFGHIJKLMNDPQRSTUVWXYZ *

Disassembled Programs

Machine-language code in hexadecimal isn't the easiest thing in the world to read and understand. To make this job a little easier, machine-language programs are usually written in assembly language and converted into machine-language code by programs called **assemblers**.

Since programs that translate assembly language into machine language are called assemblers, a program like the Monitor's LIST command that translates machine language into assembly language is called a **disassembler**.

The Monitor's LIST command displays machine-language code in assembly-language form. Instead of unformatted hexadecimal gibberish, the LIST command displays each instruction on a separate line, with a three-letter instruction name, or **mnemonic**, and a formatted hexadecimal operand. The LIST command also converts the relative addresses used in branch instructions to absolute addresses.

The Monitor LIST command has the format

location L

The word **mnemonic** comes from the same root as *memory* and refers to abbreviations that are easier to remember than the hexadecimal operation codes themselves: for example, for *clear carry* you write CLC instead of \$18. The LIST command starts at the specified location and displays as much memory as it takes to make up a screenfull (20 lines) of instructions, as shown in the following example:

	0	n	UT.	
"	0	U	UL	1

A244-	49	C 1		I DA	#C1
0300-	пэ	01		LDH	
0302-	20	ED	FD	JSR	\$FDED
0306-	18			CLC	
0306-	69	01		ADC	#\$01
8388-	60	DB		CMP	#\$DB
030A-	DØ	F6		BNE	\$0302
838C-	60			RTS	
838D-				BRK	
838E-				BRK	
838F-				BRK	
8318-	00			BRK	
8311-	88			BRK	
0312-				BRK	
8313-				BRK	
0314-	00			BRK	
0316-	00			BRK	
8316-	00			BRK	
0317-	00			BRK	
0318-	00			BRK	
8319-	00			BRK	

The first seven lines of this example are the assembly-language form of the program you typed in the previous example. The rest of the lines are BRK instructions only if this part of memory has zeros in it: other values will be disassembled as other instructions.

The Monitor saves the address that you specify in the LIST command, but not as the last opened location used by the other commands. Instead, the Monitor saves this address as the program counter, which it uses only to point to locations within programs. Whenever the Monitor performs a LIST command, it sets the program counter to point to the location immediately following the last location displayed on the screen, so that if you type another LIST command it will display another screenful of instructions, starting where the previous display left off.

The Mini-Assembler

Without an assembler, you have to write your machine language program, take the hexadecimal values for the opcodes and operands, and store them in memory using the commands covered in the previous sections. That is exactly what you did when you ran the previous examples.

The Monitor includes an assembler called the Mini-Assembler that lets you enter machine-language programs directly from the keyboard of your Apple. ASCII characters can be entered in Mini-Assembler programs, exactly as you enter them in the Monitor. Note that the Mini-Assembler doesn't accept labels; you must use actual values and addresses.

Starting the Mini-Assembler

To start the Mini-Assembler first invoke the Monitor by typing CALL-151 [RETURN], and then from the Monitor, type ! followed by [RETURN]. The Monitor prompt character then changes from * to !.

When you finish using the Mini-Assembler, press **RETURN** from a blank line to return to the Monitor.

Restrictions

The Mini-Assembler supports only the subset of 65C02 instructions that are found on the 6502.

Original lle

Before you can use the Mini-Assembler on the original Apple IIe, you have to be running Integer BASIC. When you start up the computer using DOS or either BASIC, the Apple IIe loads the Integer BASIC interpreter from the file named INTBASIC into the bank-switched RAM. Here's how to start the Mini-Assembler on an original Apple IIe:

- 1. Start Integer BASIC from DOS 3.3 by typing INT [RETURN].
- 2. After the Integer prompt character (>) and a cursor appear, enter the Monitor by typing CALL -151 [RETURN].
- 3. Now start the Mini-Assembler by typing F666G [RETURN].

Using the Mini-Assembler

The Mini-Assembler saves one address, that of the program counter. Before you start to type a program, you must set the program counter to point to the location where you want the Mini-Assembler to store your program. Do this by typing the address followed by a colon.

After the colon, type the mnemonic for the first instruction in your program, followed by a space and the operand of the instruction. Now press <u>RETURN</u>. The Mini-Assembler converts the line you typed into hexadecimal, stores it in memory beginning at the location of the program counter, and then disassembles it again and displays the disassembled line. It then displays a prompt on the next line.

Now the Mini-Assembler is ready to accept the second instruction in your program. To tell it that you want the next instruction to follow the first, don't type an address or a colon: just type a space and the next instruction's mnemonic and operand, then press **RETURN**. The Mini-Assembler assembles that line and waits for another.

:300:LDX #02

øзøø- ! LDA \$(А2),Х	Ø2	LDX	#\$02
øзø2- ! STA \$1	в5 .0,Х	00	LDA	\$00,X
0304 ! DEX	95	10	STA	\$10,X
øзø6- ! STA \$(CA 2030		DEX	
0307- ! BPL \$3	вD 02	30 CØ	STA	\$CØ3Ø
030A- ! BRK	10	F6	BPL	\$0302
030C-	00		BRK	

If the line you type has an error in it, the Mini-Assembler beeps loudly and displays a caret (^) under or near the offending character in the input line. Most common errors are the result of typographical mistakes: misspelled mnemonics, missing parentheses, and so forth. The Mini-Assembler also rejects the input line if you forget the space before or after a mnemonic or

Formats for operands are listed in Table 5-1.

include an extraneous character in a hexadecimal value or address. If the destination address of a branch instruction is out of the range of the branch (more than 127 locations distant from the address of the instruction), the Mini-Assembler flags this as an error.

There are several different ways to leave the Mini-Assembler and reenter the Monitor. On an enhanced Apple IIe only, simply press **RETURN** at a blank line.

Original lle

| On an original Apple IIe, type the Monitor command \$FF69G.

On any Apple IIe, you can press **CONTROL** RESET, which warm starts BASIC, then type

CALL -151

Your assembly-language program is now stored in memory. You can display it with the LIST command:

*3001

0300-	A2	02		LDX	#\$02
0302-	B 5	00		LDA	\$00,X
0304-	95	10		STA	\$10,X
0306-	CA			DEX	
0307-	8D	30	CØ	STA	\$CØ3Ø
030A-	10	F6		BPL	\$0302
030C-	00			BRK	
030D-	00			BRK	
030E-	00			BRK	
Ø30F-	00			BRK	
0310-	00			BRK	
0311-	00			BRK	
0312-	00			BRK	
0313-	00			BRK	
0314-	00			BRK	
0316-	00			BRK	
0316-	00			BRK	
0317-	00			BRK	
0318-	00			BRK	
0319-	00			BRK	
-					

1

Mini-Assembler Instruction Formats

See Appendix A for more information about 65C02 (and 6502) instructions.

The Apple Mini-Assembler recognizes 56 mnemonics and 13 addressing formats. These constitute the 6502 subset of the 65C02 instruction set. The mnemonics are standard, as used in the *Synertek Programming Manual* (Apple part number A2L0003), but the addressing formats are somewhat different. Table 5-1 shows the Apple standard address-mode formats for 6502 assembly language.

Table 5-1. Mini-Assembler Address Formats

Addressing Mode	Format
Accumulator	•
Implied	•
Immediate	#\${value}
Absolute	${\rm address}$
Zero page	${\rm address}$
Indexed zero page	\${address},X \${address},Y
Indexed absolute	\${address},X \${address},Y
Relative	${\rm address}$
Indexed indirect	(\${address},X)
Indirect indexed	(\${address}),Y
Absolute indirect	(\${address})

* These instructions have no operands.

An address consists of one or more hexadecimal digits. The Mini-Assembler interprets addresses the same way the Monitor does: if an address has fewer than four digits, the Mini-Assembler adds leading zeros; if the address has more than four digits, then it uses only the last four.

Dollar Signs: In this manual, dollar signs (\$) in addresses signify that the addresses are in hexadecimal notation. They are ignored by the Mini-Assembler and may be omitted when typing programs.

There is no syntactical distinction between the absolute and zero-page addressing modes. If you give an instruction to the Mini-Assembler that can be used in both absolute and zero-page mode, the Mini-Assembler assembles that instruction in absolute mode if the operand for that instruction is greater than \$FF, and it assembles it in zero-page mode if the operand is less than \$0100.

Instructions in accumulator mode and implied addressing mode need no operands.

Branch instructions, which use the relative addressing mode, require the target address of the branch. The Mini-Assembler calculates the relative distance to use in the instruction automatically. If the target address is more than 127 locations distant from the instruction, the Mini-Assembler sounds a bell (beep), displays a caret ($^$) under the target address, and does not assemble the line.

If you give the Mini-Assembler the mnemonic for an instruction and an operand, and the addressing mode of the operand cannot be used with the instruction you entered, the Mini-Assembler will not accept the line.

Summary of Monitor Commands

Here is a summary of the Monitor commands, showing the syntax for each one.

Examining Memory

{adrs}	Examines the value contained in one location.
$\{adrs1\}.\{adrs2\}$	Displays the values contained in all locations between {adrs1} and {adrs2}.
RETURN	Displays the values in up to eight locations following the last opened location.

Changing the Contents of Memory

adrs : val val	Stores the values in consecutive memory locations starting at adrs .
: val val	Stores values in memory starting at the next changeable location.

Moving and Comparing

dest < start . end M	Copies the values in the range start . end into the range beginning at {dest}.	
dest < start . end V	Compares the values in the range start . end to those in the range beginning at dest .	

The Examine Command

CONTROL -E

Displays the locations where the contents of the 65C02's registers are stored and opens them for changing.

The Search Command

|val| < |start|. |end|S

Displays the address of the first occurrence of {val} in the specified range beginning at {start}.

and stopping at |end|. Prints ERR if

an error occurs.

Cassette Tape Commands

{start}.{end}W	Writes the values in the memory range start . end onto tape,	
start . end R	Reads values from tape, storing them in memory beginning at start	

Chapter 5: Using the Monitor

Miscellaneous Monitor Commands

I	Sets inverse display mode.
N	Sets normal display mode.
CONTROL B	Enters the language currently active (usually Applesoft).
[CONTROL][C]	Returns to the language currently active (usually Applesoft).
val + val	Adds the two values and prints the hexadecimal result.
val - val	Subtracts the second value from the first and prints the result.
slot CONTROL P	Diverts output to the device whose interface card is in slot number slot . If slot =0, accepts input from the keyboard.
CONTROL Y	Jumps to the machine-language subroutine at location \$3F8.

Running and Listing Programs

adrs G	Transfers control to the machine
	language program beginning at
	adrs).
adrs L	Disassembles and displays 20
Tarana I.	instructions, starting at adrs.
	Subsequent LIST commands
	display 20 more instructions.

The Mini-Assembler

Original lle The Mini-Assembler is available on an original Apple IIe only when Integer BASIC is active. See the earlier section "The Mini-Assembler." F666G Invokes the Mini-Assembler on the original Apple IIe. Invokes the Mini-Assembler on the ! enhanced Apple IIe. Executes a Monitor command from \$|command| the Mini-Assembler on the original Apple IIe. \$FF69G Leaves the Mini-Assembler on the original Apple IIe. Leaves the Mini-Assembler on the RETURN enhanced Apple IIe.



Programming for Peripheral Cards



The seven expansion slots on the Apple IIe's main circuit board are used for installing circuit cards containing the hardware and firmware needed to interface peripheral devices to the Apple IIe. These slots are not simple I/O ports; peripheral cards can access the Apple IIe's data, address, and control lines via these slots. The expansion slots are numbered from 1 to 7, and certain signals, described below, are used to select a specific slot.
 II Plus, II The Apple II and Apple II Plus have an eighth expansion slot: slot number 0. On those models, slot 0 is normally used for a language card or a ROM card; the functions of the Apple II Language Card are built into the

Interrupt support on the enhanced Apple IIe requires that special attention be paid to cards designed to be in slot 3. A description of what you need to watch for is given at the end of this chapter.

Original lle The interrupt support built into the enhanced Apple IIe is an enhanced and expanded version of the interrupt support in the original Apple IIe.

Peripheral-Card Memory Spaces

main circuit board of the Apple IIe.

Because the Apple IIe's microprocessor does all of its I/O through memory locations, portions of the Apple IIe's memory space have been allocated for the exclusive use of the cards in the expansion slots. In addition to the memory locations used for actual I/O, there are memory spaces available for programmable memory (RAM) in the main memory and for read-only memory (ROM or PROM) on the peripheral cards themselves.

The memory spaces allocated for the peripheral cards are described below. Those memory spaces are used for small dedicated programs such as I/O drivers. Peripheral cards that contain their own driver routines in firmware like this are called intelligent peripherals. They make it possible for you to add peripheral hardware to your Apple IIe without having to change your programs, provided that your programs follow normal practice for data input and output.

Peripheral-Card I/O Space

Each expansion slot has the exclusive use of sixteen memory locations for data input and output in the memory space beginning at location \$C090. Slot 1 uses locations \$C090 through \$C09F, slot 2 uses locations \$C0A0 through \$C0AF, and so on through location \$C0FF, as shown in Table 6-1.

Signals for which the active state is low are marked with a prime (').

These memory locations are used for different I/O functions, depending on the design of each peripheral card. Whenever the Apple IIe addresses one of the sixteen I/O locations allocated to a particular slot, the signal on pin 41 of that slot, called DEVICE SELECT', switches to the active (low) state. This signal can be used to enable logic on the peripheral card that uses the four low-order address lines to determine which of its sixteen I/O locations is being accessed.

Table 6-1. Peripheral-Card I/O Memory Locations Enabled by DEVICE SELECT'

Slot	Locations	Slot	Locations
1	\$C090-\$C09F	5	\$C0D0-\$C0DF
2	\$COAO-\$COAF	6	\$C0E0-\$C0EF
3	\$C0B0-\$C0BF	7	\$C0F0-\$C0FF
4	\$C0C0-\$C0CF		

Peripheral-Card ROM Space

One 256-byte page of memory space is allocated to each accessory card. This space is normally used for read-only memory (ROM or PROM) on the card with driver programs that control the operation of the peripheral device connected to the card.

The page of memory allocated to each expansion slot begins at location \$Cn00, where n is the slot number, as shown in Table 6-2 and Figure 6-3. Whenever the Apple IIe addresses one of the 256 ROM memory locations allocated to a particular slot, the signal on pin 1 of that slot, called I/O SELECT', switches to the active (low) state. This signal enables the ROM or PROM devices on the card, and the eight low-order address lines determine which of the 256 memory locations is being accessed.

131

Slot	Locations	Slot	Location
1	\$C100-\$C1FF	5	\$C500-\$C5FF
2	\$C200-\$C2FF	6	\$C600-\$C6FF
3	\$C300-\$C3FF	7	\$C700-\$C7FF
4	\$C400-\$C4FF		

Table 6-2. Peripheral-Card ROM Memory Locations Enabled by I/O SELECT'

Expansion ROM Space

In addition to the small areas of ROM memory allocated to each expansion slot, peripheral cards can use the 2K-byte memory space from \$C800 to \$CFFF for larger programs in ROM or PROM. This memory space is called expansion ROM space. (See the memory map in Figure 6-3). Besides being larger, the expansion ROM memory space is always at the same locations regardless of which slot is occupied by the card, making programs that occupy this memory space easier to write.

This memory space is available to any peripheral card that needs it. More than one peripheral card can have expansion ROM on it, but only one of them can be active at a time.

Each peripheral card that uses expansion ROM must have a circuit on it to enable the ROM. The circuit does this by a two-stage process: first, it sets a flip-flop when the I/O SELECT' signal, pin 1 on the slot, becomes active (low); second, it enables the expansion ROM devices when the I/O STROBE' signal, pin 20 on the slot, becomes active (low). Figure 6-1 shows a typical ROM-enable circuit.

The I/O SELECT' signal on a particular slot becomes active whenever the Apple IIe's microprocessor addresses a location in the 256-byte ROM address space allocated to that slot. The I/O STROBE' signal on all of the expansion slots becomes active (low) when the microprocessor addresses a location in the expansion-ROM memory space, \$C800-\$CFFF. The I/O STROBE' signal is used to enable the expansion-ROM devices on a peripheral card. (See Figure 6-1.)

Important!

If there is an 80-column text card installed in the auxiliary slot, some of the functions normally associated with slot 3 are performed by the 80-column text card and the built-in 80-column firmware. With the 80-column text card installed, the I/O STROBE' signal is not available on slot 3, so firmware in expansion ROM on a card in slot 3 will not run.

See the section "I/O Programming Suggestions" later in this chapter.

Figure 6-1. Expansion ROM Enable Circuit



A program on a peripheral card can get exclusive use of the expansion ROM memory space by referring to location \$CFFF in its initialization phase. This location is special: all peripheral cards that use expansion ROM must recognize a reference to \$CFFF as a signal to reset their ROM-enable flip-flops and disable their expansion ROMs. Of course, doing so also disables the expansion ROM on the card that is about to use it, but the next instruction in the initialization code sets the flip-flop in the expansion-ROM enable circuit on the card.

A card that needs to use the expansion ROM space must first insert its slot address (\$Cn) in \$07F8 before it refers to \$CFFF. This allows interrupting devices to reenable the card's expansion ROM after interrupt handling is finished. Once its slot address has been inserted in \$07F8, the peripheral card has exclusive use of the expansion memory space and its program can jump directly into the expansion ROM.

Figure 6-2. ROM Disable Address Decoding



As described earlier, the expansion-ROM disable circuit resets the enable flip-flop whenever the 65C02 addresses location \$CFFF. To do this, the peripheral card must detect the presence of \$CFFF on the address bus. You can use the I/O STROBE' signal for part of the address decoding, since it is active for addresses from \$C800 through \$CFFF. If you can afford to sacrifice some ROM space, you can simplify the address decoding even further and save circuitry on the card. For example, if you give up the last 256 bytes of expansion ROM space, you can use the minimal disable-decoding circuitry shown in Figure 6-2.

Important!

Applesoft addresses two locations in the \$CFxx space, thereby resetting the enable flip-flop. If your peripheral device is going to be used with Applesoft programs, you must either use the full address decoding or else enable the expansion ROM each time it is needed.

Peripheral-Card RAM Space

There are 56 bytes of main memory allocated to the peripheral cards, eight bytes per card, as shown in Table 6-3. These 56 locations are actually in the RAM memory reserved for the text and low-resolution graphics displays, but these particular locations are not displayed on the screen and their contents are not changed by the built-in output routine COUT1. Programs in ROM on peripheral cards use these locations for temporary data storage.

Table 6-3. Peripheral-Card RAM Memory Locations

Base			SI	r			
Address	1	2	3*	4	5	6	7
\$0478	\$0479	\$047A	\$047B*	\$047C	\$047D	\$047E	\$047F
\$04F8	\$04F9	\$04FA	\$04FB*	\$04FC	\$04FD	\$04FE	\$04FF
\$0578	\$0579	\$057A	\$057B*	\$057C	\$057D	\$057E	\$057F
\$05F8	\$05F9	\$05FA	\$05FB*	\$05FC	\$05FD	\$05FE	\$05FF
\$0678	\$0679	\$067A	\$067B*	\$067C	\$067D	\$067E	\$067F
\$06F8	\$06F9	\$06FA	\$06FB*	\$06FC	\$06FD	\$06FE	\$06FF
\$0778	\$0779	\$077A	\$077B*	\$077C	\$077D	\$077E	\$077F
\$07F8	\$07F9	\$07FA	\$07FB*	\$07FC	\$07FD	\$07FE	\$07FF

* If there is a card in the auxiliary slot, it takes over these locations.

A program on a peripheral card can use the eight base addresses shown in the table to access the eight RAM locations allocated for its use, as shown in the next section, "I/O Programming Suggestions."

▲ Warning

The Apple IIe firmware sets the value of \$04FB to \$FF on a reset, even if there is no 80-column card installed.

I/O Programming Suggestions

A program in ROM on a peripheral card should work no matter which slot the card occupies. If the program includes a jump to an absolute location in one of the 256-byte memory spaces, then the card will work only when it is plugged into the slot that uses that memory space. If you are writing the program for a peripheral card that will be used by many people, you should avoid placing such a restriction on the use of the card.

Important!

To function properly no matter which slot a peripheral card is installed in, the program in the card's 256-byte memory space must not make any absolute references to itself. Instead of using jump instructions, you should force conditions on branch instructions, which use relative addressing.

The first thing a peripheral-card used as an I/O device must do when called is to save the contents of the Apple IIe's microprocessor's registers. (Peripheral cards not being used as I/O devices do not need to save the registers.) The device should save the register's contents on the stack, and restore them just before returning control to the calling program. If there is RAM on the peripheral card, the information may be stored there.

Most single-character I/O is done via the microprocessor's accumulator. A character being output through your subroutine will be in the accumulator with its high bit set when your subroutine is called. Likewise, if your subroutine is performing character input, it must leave the character in the accumulator with its high bit set when it returns to the calling program.

Finding the Slot Number With ROM Switched In

The memory addresses used by a program on a peripheral card differ depending on which expansion slot the card is installed in. Before it can refer to any of those addresses, the program must somehow determine the correct slot number. One way to do this is to execute a JSR (jump to subroutine) to a location with an RTS (return from subroutine) instruction in it, and then derive the slot number from the return address saved on the stack, as shown in the following example.

PHP		; save status
SEI		; inhibit interrupts
JSR	KNOWNRTS	; -> a known RTS instruction
		;that you set up
TSX		; get high byte of the
LDA	\$0100,X	; return address from stack
AND	#\$ØF	; low-order digit is slot no.
PLP		; restore status

The slot number can now be used in addressing the memory allocated to the peripheral card, as shown in the next section.

I/O Addressing

Once your peripheral-card program has the slot number, the card can use the number to address the I/O locations allocated to the slot. Table 6-4 shows how these locations are related to sixteen base addresses starting with \$C080. Notice that the difference between the base address and the desired I/O location has the form \$n0, where n is the slot number. Starting with the slot number in the accumulator, the following example computes this difference by four left shifts, then loads it into an index register and uses the base address to specify one of sixteen I/O locations.

ASL		7	get n into
ASL		;	
ASL		;	
ASL		;	high-order nybble
TAX		5	of index register.
LDA	\$CØ80,X	;	load from first I/O location

See the section "Setting Bank Switches" in Chapter 4 for more information.

Selecting Your Target: You must make sure that you get an appropriate value into the index register when you address I/O locations this way. For example, starting with 1 in the accumulator, the instructions in the above example perform an LDA from location \$C090, the first I/O location allocated to slot 1. If the value in the accumulator had been 0, the LDA would have accessed location \$C080, thereby setting the soft switch that selects the second bank of RAM at location \$D000 and enables it for reading.

Table 6-4. Peripheral-Card I/O Base Addresses

Base	Connector Number						
Address	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
\$C080	\$C090	\$COAO	\$C0B0	\$C0C0	\$C0D0	\$C0E0	\$C0F0
\$C081	\$C091	\$COA1	\$C0B1	\$C0C1	\$C0D1	\$C0E1	\$C0F1
\$C082	\$C092	\$C0A2	\$C0B2	\$C0C2	\$C0D2	\$C0E2	\$C0F2
\$C083	\$C093	\$C0A3	\$C0B3	\$C0C3	\$C0D3	\$C0E3	\$C0F3
\$C084	\$C094	\$C0A4	\$C0B4	\$C0C4	\$C0D4	\$C0E4	\$C0F4
\$C085	\$C095	\$C0A5	\$C0B5	\$C0C5	\$C0D5	\$C0E5	\$C0F5
\$C086	\$C096	\$C0A6	\$COB6	\$C0C6	\$C0D6	\$C0E6	\$C0F6
\$C087	\$C097	\$C0A7	\$C0B7	\$C0C7	\$C0D7	\$C0E7	\$C0F7
\$C088	\$C098	\$C0A8	\$C0B8	\$C0C8	\$C0D8	\$C0E8	\$C0F8
\$C089	\$C099	\$C0A9	\$C0B9	\$C0C9	\$C0D9	\$C0E9	\$C0F9
\$C08A	\$C09A	\$COAA	\$C0BA	\$COCA	\$CODA	\$COEA	\$C0FA
\$C08B	\$C09B	\$COAB	\$COBB	\$COCB	\$CODB	\$C0EB	\$C0FB
\$C08C	\$C09C	\$COAC	\$COBC	\$COCC	\$CODC	\$COEC	\$C0FC
\$C08D	\$C09D	\$COAD	\$COBD	\$COCD	\$CODD	\$COED	\$C0FD
\$C08E	\$C09E	\$COAE	\$COBE	\$COCE	\$CODE	\$COEE	\$COFE
\$C08F	\$C09F	\$COAF	\$COBF	\$C0CF	\$C0DF	\$COEF	\$COFF

RAM Addressing

A program on a peripheral card can use the eight base addresses shown in Table 6-3 to access the eight RAM locations allocated for its use. The program does this by putting its slot number into the Y index register and using indexed addressing mode with the base addresses. The base addresses can be defined as constants because they are the same no matter which slot the peripheral card occupies.

1

If you start with the correct slot number in the accumulator (by using the example shown earlier), then the following example uses all eight RAM locations allocated to the slot.

TAY	
LDA	\$0478,Y
STA	\$04F8,Y
LDA	\$0578,Y
STA	\$05F8,Y
LDA	\$0678,Y
STA	\$06F8,Y
LDA	\$0778,Y
STA	\$Ø7F8,Y

▲Warning

You must be very careful when you have your peripheral-card program store data at the base-address locations themselves since they are temporary storage locations; the RAM at those locations is used by the disk operating system. Always store the first byte of the ROM location of the expansion slot that is currently active (\$Cn) in location \$7F8, and the first byte of the ROM location of the slot holding the controller card for the startup disk drive in location \$5F8.

Changing the Standard I/O Links

There are two pairs of locations in the Apple IIe that are used for controlling character input and output. They are called the I/O links. In a Apple IIe running without a disk operating system, the I/O links normally contain the starting addresses of the standard input and output routines—KEYIN and COUT1 if the 80-column firmware is not active, BASICIN and BASICOUT if the 80-column is active. If a disk operating system is running, one or both of the links will hold the addresses of the operating system input and output routines.

The link at locations \$36 and \$37 (decimal 54 and 55) is called CSW, for *character output switch*. Individually, location \$36 is called CSWL (CSW Low) and location \$37 is called CSWH (CSW High). CSW holds the starting address of the subroutine the Apple IIe is currently using for single-character output. This address is normally \$FDF0, the address of routine COUT1, or \$C307, the address of BASICOUT.

When you issue a PR#n from BASIC or an n CONTROL P from the Monitor, the Apple IIe changes this link address to the first address in the ROM memory space allocated to slot number n. That address has the form \$Cn00. Subsequent calls for character output are thus transferred to the program on the peripheral card. That program can use the instruction sequences given above to find its slot number and use the I/O and RAM locations allocated to it. When it is finished, the program can execute an RTS (return from subroutine) instruction to return control to the calling program, or jump to the output routine COUT1 at location \$FDF0 to display the output character (which must be in the accumulator) on the screen, then let COUT1 return to the calling program.

A similar link at locations \$38 and \$39 (decimal 56 and 57) is called KSW, for *keyboard input switch*. Individually, location \$38 is called KSWL (for KSW low) and location \$39 is called KSWH (KSW high). KSW holds the starting address of the routine currently being used for single-character input. This address is normally \$FD1B, the starting address of KEYIN, or \$C305, the address of BASICIN.

See "The Standard I/O Links" in Chapter 3.

COUT1 and BASICOUT are described in Chapter 3.

KEYIN and BASICIN are described in Chapter 3.

When you issue an IN#n command from BASIC or an n CONTROL K from the Monitor, the Apple IIe changes this link address to \$Cn00, the beginning of the ROM memory space that is allocated to slot number n. Subsequent calls for character input are thus transferred to the program on the accessory card. That program can use the instruction sequences given above to find its slot number and use the I/O and RAM locations allocated to it. The program should put the input character, with its high bit set, into the accumulator and execute an RTS instruction to return control to the program that requested input.

When a disk operating system (ProDOS or DOS 3.3) is running, one or both of the standard I/O links hold addresses of the operating system's input and output routines. The operating system has internal locations that hold the addresses of the character input and output routines that are currently active.

If a program that is running with ProDOS or DOS 3.3 changes the standard link addresses, either directly or via IN# and PR# commands, the operating system is disconnected.

To avoid disconnecting the operating system each time a BASIC program initiates I/O to a slot, it should use either an IN# or a PR# command from inside a PRINT statement that starts with a Control-D character. For assembly-language programs, there is a DOS 3.3 subroutine call to use when changing the link addresses. After changing CSW or KSW, the program calls this subroutine at location \$03EA (decimal 1002). The subroutine transfers the link address to a location inside the operating system and then restores the operating system address in the standard link location.

Other Uses of I/O Memory Space

The portion of memory space from location \$C000 through \$CFFF (decimal 49152 through 53247) is normally allocated to I/O and program memory on the peripheral cards, but there are two other functions that also use this memory space: the built-in self-test firmware and the 80-column display firmware. The soft switches that control the allocation of this memory space are described in the next section.

Important!

See the *ProDOS Technical Reference Manual* for more about using link addresses.

Refer to the section on input and output link registers in the DOS Programmer's Manual and the ProDOS Technical Reference Manual for further details.





Switching I/O Memory

The built-in firmware uses two soft switches to control the allocation of the I/O memory space from \$C000 to \$CFFF. The locations of these soft switches, SLOTCXROM and SLOTC3ROM, are given in Table 6-5.

Note: Like the display switches described in Chapter 2, these soft switches share their locations with the keyboard data and strobe functions. The switches are activated only by writing, and the states can be determined only by reading, as indicated in Table 6-5.

Table 6-5. I/O Memory Switches

		Location				
Name	Function	Hex	De	Notes		
SLOTC3ROM	Slot ROM at \$C300	\$C00B	49163	-16373	Write	
	Internal ROM at \$C300	\$C00A	49162	-16374	Write	
	Read SLOTC3ROM switch	\$C017	49175	-16361	Read	
SLOTCXROM	Slot ROM at \$Cx00	\$C006	49159	-16377	Write	
	Internal ROM at \$Cx00	\$C007	49158	-16378	Write	
	Read SLOTCXROM switch	\$C015	49173	-16363	Read	

When SLOTC3ROM is on, the 256-byte ROM area at \$C300 is available to a peripheral card in slot 3, which is the slot normally used for a terminal interface. If a card is installed in the auxiliary slot when you turn on the power or reset the Apple IIe, the SLOT3ROM switch is turned off. Turning SLOTC3ROM off disables peripheral-card ROM in slot 3 and enables the built-in 80-column firmware, as shown in Figure 6-3. The 80-column firmware is assigned to slot-3 address space because slot 3 is normally used with a terminal interface, so the built-in firmware will work with programs that use slot 3 this way.

The bus and I/O signals are always available to a peripheral card in slot 3, even when the 80-column hardware and firmware are operating. Thus it is always possible to use this slot for any I/O peripheral that does *not* have built-in firmware.

When SLOTCXROM is active (high), the I/O memory space from \$C100 to \$C7FF is allocated to the expansion slots, as described previously. Setting SLOTCXROM inactive (low) disables the peripheral-card ROM and selects built-in ROM in all of the I/O memory space except the part from \$C000 to \$C0FF (used for soft switches and data I/O), as shown in Figure 6-3. In addition to the 80-column firmware at \$C300 and \$C800, the built-in ROM includes firmware that performs the self-test of the Apple IIe's hardware.

Note: Setting SLOTCXROM low enables built-in ROM in all of the I/O memory space (except the soft-switch area), including the \$C300 space, which contains the 80-column firmware.

	Develo	ping Carc	ls for	Slot 3			
Original IIe	In the original Apple IIe firmware, the internal slot 3 firmware was always switched in if there was an 80-column card (either 1K or 64K) in the auxiliary slot. This means that peripheral cards with their own ROM were effectively switched out of slot 3 when the system was turned on.						
	With the enhanced Apple IIe Monitor ROM, the rules are different. A peripheral card in slot 3 is now switched in when the system is started up of when RESET is pressed <i>if</i> the card's ROM has the following ID bytes: \$C305 = \$38 \$C307 = \$18					ip or	
	The enhanced Apple IIe firmware requires that interrupt code be present i the \$C3 page (either external or internal). A peripheral card in slot 3 must have the following code to support interrupts. After this segment, the code continues execution in the internal ROM at \$C400.				t in st de		
	\$C3F4:	IRQDONE	STA JMP	\$C081 \$FC7A	;Read ;Jump	ROM, write RAM to \$F8 ROM	М
			IRQ BIT STA	\$C015 \$C007	;slot ;forc	or internal R(e in internal R	DM Rom
	When pro	gramming for	cards in	n slot 3:			
	□ You mi \$C314.	ust support th	e AUXN	IOVE and X	KFER routi	nes at \$C312 and	
For more information about the \$C300 firmware, see the Monitor ROM listing in	Don't use unpublished entry points into the internal \$Cn()						
Appendix I of this manual. Especially note the portion from \$C300 through \$C420.	□ If your Pascal	peripheral ca 1.1 firmware	rd is a c protocol	haracter I/ , described	O device, y in the nex	you must follow the at section.	

Pascal 1.1 Firmware Protocol

The Pascal 1.1 firmware protocol was originally developed to be used with Apple Pascal 1.1 programs. The protocol is followed by all succeeding versions of Apple II Pascal, and can be used by programmers using other languages as well.

The Pascal 1.1 firmware protocol provides Apple IIe programmers with

- □ a standard way to uniquely identify new peripheral cards
- \Box a standard way to address the firmware routines in peripheral cards.

Device Identification

The Pascal 1.1 firmware protocol uses four bytes near the beginning of the peripheral card's firmware to identify the peripheral card.

Address	Value
\$Cs05	\$38 (like the old Apple II Serial Interface Card)
\$Cs07	\$18 (like the old Apple II Serial Interface Card)
\$Cs0B	\$01 (the generic signature of new cards)

\$Cs0C \$ci (the device signature)

The first hexadecimal digit, c, of the device signature byte identifies the device class and the second hexadecimal digit, i, of the device signature byte is a unique identifier for the card, used by some manufacturers for their cards. Table 6-6 shows the device class assignments.

Table 6-6. Peripheral-Card Device-Class Assignment

Digit Device Class

- \$0 Reserved
- \$1 Printer
- \$2 Joystick or other X-Y input device
- \$3 Serial or parallel I/O card
- \$4 Modem
- \$5 Sound or speech device
- \$6 Clock
- \$7 Mass storage device
- \$8 80-column card
- \$9 Network or bus interface
- \$A Special purpose (none of the above)
- \$B-F Reserved for future expansion

For example, the Apple II Super Serial Card has a device signature of \$31: the 3 signifies that it is a serial or parallel I/O card, and the 1 is the low-order digit supplied by Apple Technical Support.

Although version 1.1 of Pascal ignores the device signature, applications programs can use them to identify specific devices.

I/O Routine Entry Points

Indirect calls to the firmware in a peripheral card are done through a branch table in the card's firmware. The branch table of I/O routine entry points is located near the beginning of the Cs00 address space (s being the slot number where the peripheral card is installed).

The branch table locations that Pascal 1.1 firmware protocol uses are as follows:

Address	Contains
Audress	Containts

- \$Cs0D Initialization routine offset (required)
- \$Cs0E Read routine offset (required)
- \$Cs0F Write routine offset (required)
- \$Cs10 Status routine offset (required)
- \$Cs11 \$00 if optional offsets follow; non-zero if not
- \$Cs12 Control routine offset (optional)
- \$Cs13 Interrupt handling routine offset (optional)

Notice that \$Cs11 contains \$00 only if the control and interrupt handling routines are supported by the firmware. (For example, the SSC does not support these two routines, and so location \$Cs11 contains a non-zero firmware instruction.) Apple II Pascal 1.0 and 1.1 do not support control and interrupt requests, but such requests are implemented in Pascal 1.2 and later versions and in ProDOS.

Table 6-7 gives the entry point addresses and the contents of the 65C02 registers on entry to and on exit from Pascal 1.1 I/O routines.

Addr.	Offset for	X Register	Y Register	A Register
\$Cs0D	Initialization On entry On exit	\$Cs Error code	\$s0 (unchanged)	(unchanged)
\$Cs0E	Read On entry On exit	\$Cs Error code	\$s0 (unchanged)	Character read
\$Cs0F	Write On entry On exit	\$Cs Error code	\$s0 (unchanged)	Char. to write (unchanged)
\$Cs10	Status On entry On exit	\$Cs Error code	\$s0 (changed)	Request (0 or 1) (unchanged)

Table 6-7. I/O Routine Offsets and Registers Under Pascal 1.1 Protocol

Interrupts on the Enhanced Apple lie

The original Apple IIe offered little firmware support for interrupts. The enhanced Apple IIe's firmware provides improved interrupt support, very much like the Apple IIc's interrupt support. Neither machine disables interrupts for extended periods.

For more about interrupt support in ProDOS, see the *ProDOS Technical Reference Manual*.

For information about interrupt handling with Apple Pascal 1.2, see the *Device and Interrupt Support Tools Manual* which is part of the Apple II Device Support Tools package (A2W0014). Interrupts work on enhanced Apple IIe systems with an installed 80-column text card (either 1K or 64K) or a peripheral card with interrupt-handling ROM in slot 3. Interrupts are easiest to use with ProDOS and Pascal 1.2 because they have interrupt support built in. DOS 3.3 has no built-in interrupt support.

The new interrupt handler operates like the Apple IIc interrupt handler, using the same memory locations and operating protocols. The main purpose of the interrupt handler is to support interrupts in *any* memory configuration. This is done by saving the machine's state at the time of the interrupt, placing the Apple in a standard memory configuration before calling your program's interrupt handler, then restoring the original state when your program's interrupt handler is finished.
What is an Interrupt?

An interrupt is a hardware signal that tells the computer to stop what it is currently doing and devote its attention to a more important task. Print spooling and mouse handling are examples of interrupt use, things that don't take up all the time available to the system, but that should be taken care of promptly to be most useful.

For example, the Apple IIe mouse can send an interrupt to the computer every time it moves. If you handle that interrupt promptly, the mouse pointer's movement on the screen will be smooth instead of jerky and uneven.

Interrupt priority is handled by a daisy-chain arrangement using two pins, INT IN and INT OUT, on each peripheral-card slot. As described in Chapter 7, each peripheral card breaks the chain when it makes an interrupt request. On peripheral cards that don't use interrupts, these pins should be connected together.

The daisy chain gives priority to the peripheral card in slot 7: if this card opens the connection between INT IN and INT OUT, or if there is no card in this slot, interrupt requests from cards in slots 1 through 6 can't get through. Similarly, slot 6 controls interrupt requests (IRQ) from slots 1 through 5, and so on down the line.

When the IRQ' line on the Apple IIe's microprocessor is activated (pulled low), the microprocessor transfers control through the vector in locations \$FFFE-\$FFFF. This vector is the address of the Monitor's interrupt handler, which determines whether the request is due to an external IRQ or a BRK instruction and transfers control to the appropriate routine via the vectors stored in memory page 3. The BRK vector is in locations \$03F0-\$03F1 and ProDOS uses the IRQ vector in locations \$03FE-\$03FF. (See Table 4-11.) The Monitor normally stores the address of its reset routine in the IRQ vector; you should substitute the address of your program's interrupt-handling routine.

Apple Pascal doesn't use the BRK vector at \$03F0-\$03F1, but it does use the IRQ vector at \$03FE-\$03FF.

Interrupts on Apple II Series Computers

The interrupt handler built in to the enhanced Apple IIe's firmware saves the contents of the accumulator on the stack. (The original Apple IIe saves the contents of the accumulator at location \$45.) DOS 3.3, as well as the Monitor, rely on the integrity of location \$45, so this change lets both DOS 3.3 and the Monitor continue to work with active interrupts on the enhanced Apple IIe.

Original lle

Since the built-in interrupt handler on the original Apple IIe uses location \$45 to save the contents of the accumulator, the operating system fails when an interrupt occurs under DOS 3.3 on the original Apple IIe.

If you want to write programs that use interrupts while running on the original Apple IIe, Apple II Plus, or Apple II, you must use either ProDOS or Apple II Pascal 1.2 (or later versions). Both these operating systems give you full interrupt support, even though these versions of the Apple II don't include interrupt support in their firmware. (Versions of Pascal before 1.2 do not work with interrupts enabled on an original Apple IIe.)

Some other manufacturer's hardware, such as co-processor cards, don't work properly in an interrupting environment. If you are trying to develop an application and encounter this problem, check with the manufacturer of the card to see if a later version of the hardware or its software will operate properly with interrupts active. You may not be able to use interrupts if an interrupt-tolerant version isn't available.

Interrupts are effective only if they are enabled most of the time. Interrupts that occur while interrupts are disabled will not be serviced.

Pascal, DOS 3.3, and ProDOS turn off interrupts while performing disk operations because of the critical timing of disk read and write operations. Some peripheral cards used in the Apple IIe disable interrupts while reading and writing.

Original lle

Although the enhanced Apple IIe firmware never disables interrupts during screen handling, the original Apple IIe periodically turns interrupts off while doing 80-column screen operations. The effect is most noticeable while the screen is scrolling.

Important!

Don't use PR#6 to restart your Apple IIe while running ProDOS with interrupts enabled since PR#6 doesn't disable interrupts. If you try it, ProDOS will fail as it starts up since its interrupt handlers aren't yet set up. If you have to restart, use <u>CONTROL</u> RESET, or make sure that your program disables interrupts before it ends.

Rules of the Interrupt Handler

Unlike the Apple IIc, the enhanced Apple IIe's interrupt handling firmware is not always switched in. Here are the reasons why this is so and the implications that necessarily follow.

There is *no* part of memory in the Apple IIe that is always switched in. Thus, there is no location for an interrupt handler that works for all memory configurations. However, the \$C3 page of firmware is present on all systems that have 80-column text cards in their auxiliary slots, so it was selected as the starting location of the built-in interrupt handling routine.

There are two factors that determine if the \$C3 firmware is switched in and therefore whether or not interrupts will be usable:

- □ Is there an 80-column text card in the auxiliary slot?
- □ If not, is there a peripheral card in slot 3 with built-in ROM with bytes \$C305 = \$38 and \$C307 = \$18?

The Apple IIe's memory is switched according to the following rules at both powerup and reset:

- □ If there is a ROM card in slot 3, but no text card in the auxiliary slot, the firmware on the ROM card is switched in. This is necessary for Pascal to work.
- □ If there is a text card in the auxiliary slot, but no ROM card in slot 3, the internal \$C3 firmware is switched in.
- □ If there is both a text card in the auxiliary slot and a ROM card in slot 3, the firmware on the ROM card is switched in.

These rules mean that systems without 80-column text cards in the auxiliary slot do not have their internal \$C3 firmware switched in. Such systems cannot handle interrupts or breaks (the software equivalent of interrupts). An application program must swap in the \$C3 firmware both on initialization and after reset to make interrupts function properly on such a machine configuration. (ProDOS versions 1.1 and later do this for you during startup.)

Important!

See the section "Developing Cards for Slot 3" earlier in this chapter.

Another implication of the decision to have interrupt code in the \$C3 page affects the shared \$C800 space in the Apple IIe. When the \$C3 page is referenced, the IIe hardware automatically switches in its own \$C800 space. When the interrupt handler finishes, it restores the \$C800 space to the original owner using MSLOT (\$07F8). This means that it is very important for a peripheral card to place its slot address in MSLOT to support interrupts while code is being executed in its \$C800 space.

Interrupt Handling on the 65C02 and 6502

There are three possible conditions that will allow interrupts on the 65C02 and 6502:

- The IRQ line on the microprocessor is pulled low after a CLI instruction has been used (interrupts are not masked). This is the standard technique that devices use when they need immediate attention.
- \Box The microprocessor executes a break instruction (BRK = opcode \$00).
- A non-maskable interrupt (NMI) occurs. The microprocessor services this interrupt whether or not the CLI instruction has been used. An NMI is completely independent of the interrupts discussed in this manual.

The microprocessor saves the current program counter and status byte on the stack when an interrupt occurs and then jumps to the routine whose address is stored in \$FFFE and \$FFFF. The sequence of operations performed by the microprocessor is as follows:

- It finishes executing the current instruction if an IRQ is encountered. (If a BRK instruction is encountered, the current instruction is already finished.)
- 2. It pushes the high byte of the program counter onto the stack.
- 3. It pushes the low byte of the program counter onto the stack.
- 4. It pushes the processor status byte onto the stack.
- 5. It executes a JMP (\$FFFE) instruction.

The Interrupt Vector at \$FFFE

Three separate regions of memory contain address \$FFFE in an Apple IIe with an Extended 80-Column Text Card: the built-in ROM, the bank-switched memory in main RAM, and the bank-switched memory in auxiliary RAM. The vector at \$FFFE in the ROM points to the built-in interrupt handling routine. You must copy the ROM's interrupt vector to the other banks yourself if you plan to use interrupts with the bank-switched memory switched in.

The Built-in Interrupt Handler

The enhanced Apple IIe's built-in interrupt handler records the computer's current memory configuration, then sets the computer's memory configuration to a standard state so that your program's interrupt handler always begins running in the same memory configuration.

Next the built-in interrupt handler checks to see if the interrupt was caused by a break instruction, and handles it as just described under "Interrupt Handling on the 65C02 and 6502." If it was not a break, it passes control to the interrupt handling routine whose address is stored at \$3FE and \$3FF of main memory. Normally, that would be the operating system's interrupt handler, unless you have installed one of your own.

After your program's interrupt handler returns (with an RTI), the built-in interrupt handler restores the memory configuration, and then does another RTI to return to where it was when the interrupt occurred. Figure 6-4 illustrates this entire process. Each of these steps is explained later in this chapter.

Figure 6-4. Interrupt-Handling Sequence



Interrupt handler installation is described in the *ProDOS Technical Reference Manual* and the *Device and Interrupt Support Tools Manual*, which is part of the Apple IIe Device Support Tools package (A2W0014).

Saving the Apple Ile's Memory Configuration

The built-in interrupt handler saves the Apple IIe's memory configuration and then sets it to a known state according to these rules:

- Text Page 1 is switched in (PAGE2 off) so that main screen holes are accessible if 80STORE and PAGE2 are on.
- □ Main memory is switched in for reading (RAMRD off).
- □ Main memory is switched in for writing (RAMWRT off).
- □ \$D000-\$FFFF ROM is switched in for reading (RDLCRAM off).
- □ Main stack and zero page are switched in (ALTZP off).
- □ The auxiliary stack pointer is preserved, and the main stack pointer is restored. (See the next section, "Managing Main and Auxiliary Stacks.")

Important!

Because main memory is switched in, all memory addresses used later in this chapter are in main memory unless otherwise specified.

Managing Main and Auxiliary Stacks

Apple has adopted a convention that allows the Apple IIe to be run with two separate stack pointers since the Apple IIe with an Extended 80-Column Text Card has two stack pages. Two bytes in the auxiliary stack page are used as storage for inactive stack pointers: \$0100 for the main stack pointer when the auxiliary stack is active, and \$0101 for the auxiliary stack pointer when the main stack is active.

When a program using interrupts switches in the auxiliary stack for the first time, it must place the value of the main stack pointer at \$0100 (in the auxiliary stack) and initialize the auxiliary stack pointer to \$FF (the top of the stack). When it subsequently switches from one stack to the other, it must save the current stack pointer before loading the pointer for the other stack.

The current stack pointer is stored at \$0101, and the main stack pointer is retrieved from \$0100 when an interrupt occurs while the auxiliary stack is switched in. *Then* the main stack is switched in for use. The stack pointer is restored to its original value after the interrupt has been handled.

* * This example * using the ma *	important!	The built-in XFER routine does not support this procedure. If you are using XFER to swap stacks, you must use code like the following to set up the stack pointers and stack.
1 XFERALT 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 9	PHP PLA SEI TSX STA SETALTZP STX \$100 LDX \$101 TXS PHA PLP	;preserve interrupt status in A ;disable interrupts ;save main stack pointer at \$100 ;and swap zero pages ;now restore aux stack pointer ;and interrupt status
11 12 13 14 15 16 17	LDA #DESTL STA \$3ED LDA #DESTH STA \$3EE SEC/CLC BIT RTS JMP XFER	;set destination address ;set direction of transfer ;V=1 for alt zero page (RTS=\$60) ;do transfer
5 6 7	T0 STX \$101 LDX \$100 STA SETSTDZP	transfer control the other direction, change the following mes
16	CLV	;v=ø for main Zp

The User's Interrupt Handler at \$3FE

If your program has an interrupt handler, it must place the entry address of that handler at \$03FE. After it sets the machine to a standard state, the IIe's internal interrupt handler transfers control to the routine whose address is in the vector at \$03FE.

It is very important for a peripheral card to place its slot address in MSLOT to support interrupts whenever it is executing code in its \$C800 space. Whenever the \$C3 page is referenced, the IIe automatically switches in its own \$C800 ROM space. When the interrupt handler finishes, it restores the \$C800 space to the original owner using MSLOT (\$07F8).

▲ Warning

Be careful to install interrupt handlers according to the rules of the operating system that you are using. Placing the address of your program's interrupt handler at \$03FE disconnects the operating system's interrupt handler.

The \$03FE interrupt handler must do these things:

- 1. Verify that the interrupt came from the expected source.
- 2. Handle the interrupt as desired.
- 3. Clear the appropriate interrupt soft switch.
- 4. Return with an RTI.

Here are some things to remember if you are dealing with programs that must run in an interrupt environment:

- There is no guaranteed maximum response time for interrupts because the system may be doing a disk operation that lasts for several seconds.
- □ Once the built-in interrupt handler is called, it takes *at least* 150 to 200 microseconds for it to call your interrupt handling routine. After your routine returns, it takes 40 to 140 microseconds to restore memory and return to the interrupted program.
- □ If memory is in the standard state when the interrupt occurs, the total overhead for interrupt processing is about 150 microseconds less than if memory is in the worst state. (The worst state is one that requires the most work to set up for: 80STORE and PAGE2 on; auxiliary memory switched in for reading and writing; bank-switched memory page 2 in the auxiliary bank switched in for reading and writing; and internal \$Cn00 ROM switched in).
- □ Interrupt overhead will be greater if your interrupt handler is installed through an operating system's interrupt dispatcher. The length of delay depends on the operating system, and on whether the operating system dispatches the interrupt to other routines before calling yours.

Handling Break Instructions

The 65C02 treats a break instruction (BRK, opcode \$00) just like a hardware interrupt. After the interrupt handler sets the memory configuration, it checks to see if the interrupt was caused by a break (bit 4 of the status byte is set), and if it was, jumps to a break handling routine. This routine saves the state of the computer at the time of the break as shown in Table 6-8.

Table 6-8. BRK Handler Information

Information	Location	
Program counter (low byte)	\$3A	
Program counter (high byte)	\$3B	
Encoded memory state	\$44	
Accumulator	\$45	
X register	\$46	
Y register	\$47	
Status register	\$48	

Finally the break routine jumps to the routine whose address is stored at 33F0 and 33F1.

The encoded memory state in location \$44 is interpreted as shown in Table 6-9.

Table 6-9. Memory Configuration Information

Bit $7 = 1$	if auxiliary zero page and auxiliary stack are switched in
Bit $6 = 1$	if 80STORE and PAGE2 both on
Bit $5 = 1$	if auxiliary RAM switched in for reading
Bit $4 = 1$	if auxiliary RAM switched in for writing
Bit $3 = 1$	if bank-switched RAM being read
Bit $2 = 1$	if bank-switched \$D000 Page 1 switched in and RAMREAD set
Bit $1 = 1$	if bank-switched \$D000 Page 2 switched in and RAMREAD set
Bit $0 = 1$	if internal Cs ROM was switched in (IIe only)

Interrupt Differences: Apple Ile Versus Apple Ilc

If you are writing software for both the Apple IIe and the Apple IIc, you should know that there are several important differences between the interrupts on the enhanced Apple IIe and those on the Apple IIc. They are

□ In the IIc ROM, \$FFFE points to \$C803; in the IIe ROM, to \$C3FA. To ensure that the proper interrupt vectors are placed into the Language Card RAM space, always copy them to the RAM from the ROM. (When you initialize built-in devices on the IIc, these vectors are automatically updated).

- □ There is no shared \$C800 ROM in the IIc. Peripheral cards share this space in the IIe. Thus it is crucial that the slot address of the peripheral card using the \$C800 space is stored in MSLOT (\$07F8). When the interrupt handler goes to the internal \$C3 space, the IIe hardware switches in its own \$C800 space. When the interrupt handler finishes, it restores the \$C800 space to the slot whose address is in MSLOT.
- The IIC \$C800 space is always switched in. The enhanced IIe's interrupt handler preserves the state of the \$C800-space switch and then switches in the slot I/O space. This means that when restoring the state of the system using the value placed in location \$44, break handling routines must restore one more value on the Apple IIe than on the Apple IIc.



Most of this manual describes functions—what the Apple IIe does. This chapter, on the other hand, describes objects: the pieces of hardware the Apple IIe uses to carry out its functions. If you are designing a piece of peripheral hardware to attach to the Apple IIe, or if you just want to know more about how the Apple IIe is built, you should study this chapter.

Environmental Specifications

The Apple IIe is quite sturdy when used in the way it was intended. Table 7-1 defines the conditions under which the Apple IIe is designed to function properly.

Table 7-1. Summary of Environmental Specifications

Operating Temperature:	0° to 45° C (30° to 115° F)
Relative Humidity:	5% to 85%
Line Voltage:	107 to 132 VAC

You should treat the Apple IIe with the same kind of care as any other electrical appliance. You should protect it from physical violence, such as hammer blows or defenestration. You should protect the mechanical keyboard and the electrical connectors inside the case from spilled liquids, especially those with dissolved contaminants, such as coffee and cola drinks.

In normal operation, enough air flows through the slots in the case to keep the insides from getting too hot, although some of the parts inside the Apple IIe normally get rather warm to the touch. If you manage to overheat your Apple IIe, by blocking the ventilation slots in the top and bottom for example, the first symptom will be erratic operation. The memory devices in the Apple IIe are sensitive to heat: when they get too hot, they occasionally change a bit of data. The exact result depends on what kind of program you are running and on just which bit of memory is affected.

The Power Supply

The power supply in the Apple IIe operates on normal household AC power and provides enough low-voltage electrical power for the built-in electronics plus a full complement of peripheral cards, including disk controller cards and communications interfaces. The basic specifications of the power supply are listed in Table 7-2.

The Apple IIe's power cord should be plugged into a three-wire 110- to 120-volt outlet. You must connect the Apple IIe to a grounded outlet or to a good earth ground. Also, the line voltage must be in the range given in Table 7-2. If you try to operate the Apple IIe from a power source with more than 140 volts, you will damage the power supply.

Table 7-2. Power Supply Specifications

Line voltage:	107V to 132V AC
Maximum power consumption:	60W continuous 80W intermittent*
Supply voltages:	$+5V \pm 3\%$ +11.8V $\pm 6\%$ -5.2V $\pm 10\%$ -12V $\pm 10\%$
Maximum supply currents:	+5V: 2.5A +12V: 1.5A continuous, 2.5A intermittent* -5V: 250mA -12V: 250mA
Maximum case temperature:	55° C (130° F)

* Intermittent operation: The Apple IIe can safely operate for up to twenty minutes at the higher load if followed by at least ten minutes at normal load.

The Apple IIe uses a custom-designed switching-type power supply. It is small and lightweight, and it generates less heat than other types of power supplies do.

The Apple IIe's power supply works by converting the AC line voltage to DC and using this DC voltage to power a variable-frequency oscillator. The oscillator drives a small transformer with many separate windings to produce the different voltages required. A circuit compares the voltage of the +5-volt supply with a reference voltage and feeds an error signal back to the oscillator circuit. The oscillator circuit uses the error signal to control the frequency of its oscillation and keep the output voltages in their normal ranges.

The power supply includes circuitry to protect itself and the other electronic parts of the Apple IIe by turning off all four supply voltages whenever it detects one of the following malfunctions:

- □ any supply voltage short-circuited to ground
- □ the power-supply cable disconnected
- □ any supply voltage outside the normal range

Any time one of these malfunctions occurs, the protection circuit stops the oscillator, and all the output voltages drop to zero. After about half a second, the oscillator starts up again. If the malfunction is still occurring, the protection circuit stops the oscillator again. The power supply will continue to start and stop this way until the malfunction is corrected or the power is turned off.

▲ Warning

If you think the power supply is broken, do not attempt to repair it yourself. The power supply is in a sealed enclosure because some of its circuits are connected directly to the power line. Special equipment is needed to repair the power supply safely, so see your authorized Apple dealer for service.

The Power Connector

The cable from the power supply is connected to the main circuit board by a six-pin connector with a strain-relief catch. The connector pins are identified in Table 7-3 and Figure 7-13d.

Table 7-3. Power Connector Signal Specifications

Name	Description	
Ground	Common electrical ground	
+5V	+5V from power supply	
+12V	+12V from power supply	
-12V	-12V from power supply	
-5V	-5V from power supply	
	Name Ground +5V +12V -12V -5V	NameDescriptionGroundCommon electrical ground+5V+5V from power supply+12V+12V from power supply-12V-12V from power supply-5V-5V from power supply

The 65C02 Microprocessor

The enhanced Apple IIe uses a 65C02 microprocessor as its central processing unit (CPU). The 65C02 in the Apple IIe runs at a clock rate of 1.023 MHz and performs up to 500,000 eight-bit operations per second. You should not use the clock rate as a criterion for comparing different types of microprocessors. The 65C02 has a simpler instruction cycle than most other microprocessors and it uses instruction pipelining for faster processing. The speed of the 65C02 with a 1MHz clock is equivalent to other types of microprocessors with clock rates up to 2.5MHz.

See Appendix A for a description of the 65C02's instruction set and electrical characteristics.

The 65C02 has a sixteen-bit address bus, giving it an address space of 64K (2 to the sixteenth power or 65536) bytes. The Apple IIe uses special techniques to address a total of more than 64K: see the sections "Bank-Switched Memory" and "Auxiliary Memory and Firmware" in Chapter 4 and the section "Switching I/O Memory" in Chapter 6.

Table 7-4. 65C02 Microprocessor Specifications

Type:	65C02
Register Complement:	8-bit Accumulator (A) 8-bit Index Registers (X,Y) 8-bit Stack Pointer (S) 8-bit Processor Status (P) 16-bit Program Counter (PC)
Data Bus:	Eight bits wide
Address Bus:	Sixteen bits wide
Address Range:	65,536 (64K)
Interrupts:	IRQ (maskable) NMI (non-maskable) BRK (programmed)
Operating Voltage:	$+5V(\pm 5\%)$
Power Dissipation:	5 mW (at 1 MHz)

65C02 Timing

The operation of the Apple IIe is controlled by a set of synchronous timing signals, sometimes called clock signals. In electronics, the word *clock* is used to identify signals that control the timing of circuit operations. The Apple IIe doesn't contain the kind of clock you tell time by, although its internal timing is accurate enough that a program running on the Apple IIe can simulate such a clock.

1 Aller

The frequency of the oscillator that generates the master timing signal is 14.31818 MHz. Circuitry in the Apple IIe uses this clock signal, called 14M, to produce all the other timing signals. These timing signals perform two major tasks: controlling the computing functions, and generating the video display. The timing signals directly involved with the operation of the 65C02 (and 6502 on the original version of the Apple IIe) are described in this section. Other timing signals are described in this chapter in the sections "RAM Addressing," "Video Display Modes," and "The Expansion Slots."

The main 65C02 timing signals are listed in Table 7-5, and their relationships are diagrammed in Figure 7-1. The 65C02 clock signals are $\phi 1$ and $\phi 0$, complementary signals at a frequency of 1.02273 MHz. The Apple IIe signal named $\phi 0$ is equivalent to the signal called $\phi 2$ in the hardware manual. (It isn't identical: it's a few nanoseconds early.)

Table 7-5. 65C02 Timing Signal Descriptions

Signal Name	Description
14M	Master oscillator, 14.318 MHz; also 80-column dot clock
VID7M	Intermediate timing signal and 40-column dot clock
Q3	Intermediate timing signal, $2.045~\mathrm{MHz}$ with asymmetrical duty cycle
$\phi 0$	Phase 0 of 65C02 clock, 1.0227 MHz; complement of $\phi 1$
$\phi 1$	Phase 1 of 65C02 clock, 1.0227 MHz; complement of $\phi 0$

Figure 7-1. 65C02 Timing Signals



The operations of the 65C02 are related to the clock signals in a simple way: address during $\phi 1$, data during $\phi 0$. The 65C02 puts an address on the address bus during $\phi 1$. This address is valid not later than 140 nanoseconds after $\phi 1$ goes high and remains valid through all of $\phi 0$. The 65C02 reads or writes data during $\phi 0$. If the 65C02 is writing, the read/write signal is low during $\phi 0$ and the 65C02 puts data on the data bus. The data is valid not later than 75 nanoseconds after $\phi 0$ goes high. If the 65C02 is reading, the read/write signal remains high. Data on the data bus must be valid no later than 50 nanoseconds before the end of $\phi 0$.

The Custom Integrated Circuits

Most of the circuitry that controls memory and I/O addressing in the Apple IIe is in three custom integrated circuits called the Memory Management Unit (MMU), the Input/Output Unit (IOU), and the Programmed Array Logic device (PAL). The soft switches used for controlling the various I/O and addressing modes of the Apple IIe are addressable flags inside the MMU and the IOU. The functions of these two devices are not as independent as their names suggest; working together, they generate all of the addressing signals. For example, the MMU generates the address signals for the CPU, while the IOU generates similar address signals for the video display.

The Memory Management Unit

The circuitry inside the MMU implements these soft switches, which are described in the indicated chapters in this manual:

- □ Page 2 display (PAGE2): Chapter 2
- □ High resolution mode (HIRES): Chapter 2
- □ Store to 80-column card (80STORE): Chapter 2
- □ Select bank 2: Chapter 4
- □ Enable bank-switched RAM: Chapter 4
- □ Read auxiliary memory (RAMRD): Chapter 4
- □ Write auxiliary memory (RAMWRT): Chapter 4
- □ Auxiliary stack and zero page (ALTZP): Chapter 4
- □ Slot ROM for connector #3 (SLOTC3ROM): Chapter 6
- □ Slot ROM in I/O space (SLOTCXROM): Chapter 6

The 64K dynamic RAMs used in the Apple IIe use a multiplexed address, as described later in this chapter in the section "Dynamic-RAM Timing." The MMU generates this multiplexed address for memory reading and writing by the 65C02 CPU. The pinouts and signal descriptions of the MMU are shown in Figure 7-2 and Table 7-6.

Figure 7-2. The MMU Pinouts

			1
GND	1	40	A1
AO	2	39	A2
$\phi 0$	3	38	A3
Q3	4	37	A4
PRAS'	5	36	A5
RAO	6	35	A6
RA1	7	34	A7
RA2	8	33	A8
RA3	9	32	A9
RA4	10	31	A10
RA5	11	30	A11
RA6	12	29	A12
RA7	13	28	A13
R/W'	14	27	A14
INH'	15	26	A15
DMA'	16	25	+5V
EN80'	17	24	Cxxx
KBD'	18	23	RAMEN'
ROMEN2'	19	22	R/W' 245
ROMEN1'	20	21	MD7
			100

Table 7-6. The MMU Signal Descriptions

Pin		
Number	Name	Description
1	GND	Power and signal common
2	AO	65C02 address input
3	\$ 0	Clock phase 0 input
4	Q3	Timing signal input
5	PRAS'	Memory row-address strobe
6-13	RA0-RA7	Multiplexed address output
14	R/W'	65C02 read-write control signal
15	INH'	Inhibits main memory (tied to +5 V)
16	DMA'	Controls data bus for DMA transfers
17	EN80'	Enables auxiliary RAM
18	KBD'	Enables keyboard data bits 0-6
19	ROMEN2'	Enables ROM (tied to ROMEN1')
20	ROMEN1'	Enables ROM (tied to ROMEN2')
21	MD7	State of MMU flags on data bus bit 7
22	RW'245	Controls 74LS245 data-bus buffer
23	RAMEN'	Enables main RAM
24	Cxxx	Enables peripheral-card memory
25	+5V	Power
26-40	A15-A1	65C02 address input

The Input/Output Unit

The circuitry inside the Input/Output Unit (IOU) implements the following soft switches, all described in Chapter 2 in this manual:

- □ Page 2 display (PAGE2)
- □ High resolution mode (HIRES)
- \square Text mode (TEXT)
- \square Mixed mode (MIXED)
- □ 80-column display (80COL)
- □ Text display mode select (ALTCHAR)
- □ Any-key-down
- □ Annunciators
- □ Vertical blanking (VBL)

The 64K dynamic RAMs used in the Apple IIe require a multiplexed address, as described later in this chapter in the section "Dynamic-RAM Timing." The IOU generates this multiplexed address for the data transfers required for display and memory refresh during clock phase 1. The way this address is generated is described later in this chapter in the section "Display Address Mapping." The pinouts and signal descriptions for the IOU are shown in Figure 7-3 and Table 7-7.

T

Ser.

Figure 7-3. The IOU Pinouts

1234567

8 9 10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

HO

SYNC' WNDW'

CLRGAT' RA10'

RA9'

VID6

VID7

AKD

C0xx

+5V Q3

 ϕ_0^{0} PRAS'

RA7

RA6

RA5

RA4

A6

KSTRB

40

39 38

37 36

35

30 29

28 27

26

25 24

23 22

21

GND

SEGA

SEGB

80VID' CASSO SPKR

MD7

AN0

AN1

AN2

AN3 R/W'

(n.c.) RA0

RA1

RA2

RA3

- 00

RESET'

GR

VC

Table 7-7. The IOU Signal Descriptions

Pin Number	Name	Description
1	GND	Power and signal common
2	GR	Graphics mode enable
3	SEGA	In text mode, works with VC (see pin 5) and SEGB to determine character row address
4	SEGB	In text mode, works with VC (see pin 5) and SEGA; in graphics mode, selects high-resolution when low, low-resolution when high
5	VC	Display vertical counter bit: in text mode, SEGA, SEGB and VC determine which of the eight rows of a character's dot pattern to display; in low-resolution, selects upper or lower block defined by a byte.
6	80VID'	80-column video enable
7	CASSO	Cassette output signal
8	SPKR	Speaker output signal
9	MD7	Internal IOU flags for data bus (bit 7)3
10-13	AN0-AN3	Annunciator outputs
14	R/W'	65C02 read-write control signal
15	RESET'	Power on and reset output
16		Nothing is connected to this pin.
17-24	RA0-RA7	Video refresh multiplexed RAM address (phase 1)
25	PRAS'	Row-address strobe (phase 0)
26	$\phi 0$	Master clock phase 0
27	Q3	Intermediate timing signal
28	+5V	Power
29	A6	Address bit 6 from 65C02
30	C0xx	I/O address enable
31	AKD	Any-key-down signal
32	KSTRB	Keyboard strobe signal
33,34	VIDD7,VIDD6	Video display data bits
35,36	RA9', RA10'	Video display control bits
37	CLRGAT'	Color-burst gate (enable)
38	WNDW'	Display blanking signal
39	SYNC'	Display synchronization signal
40	HO	Display horizontal timing signal (low bit of character counter)



The PAL Device

A Programmed Array Logic device, type PAL 16R8, generates several timing and control signals in the Apple IIe. These signals are listed in Table 7-8. The PAL pinouts are given in Figure 7-4.

Table 7-8. The PAL Signal Descriptions

Figure 7-4. The PAL Pinouts

14M	1	20	+5V
7M	2	19	PRAS'
3.58M	3	18	(n.c.)
HO	4	17	PCAS'
VID7	5	16	Q3
SEGB	6	15	$\phi 0$
GR	7	14	$\phi 1$
RAMEN'	8	13	VID7M
80VID'	9	12	LDPS'
GND	10	11	ENTMG
	the second second second	No. of Concession, Name	

Pin Number	Name	Description
1	14M	14 31818 MHz master timing signal
2	7M	7.15909 MHz timing signal
3	3.58M	3.579545 MHz timing signal
4	HO	Horizontal video timing signal
5	VID7	Video data bit 7
6	SEGB	Video timing signal
7	GR	Video display graphics-mode enable
8	RAMEN'	RAM enable (CAS enable)
9	80VID'	Enable 80-column display mode
10	GND	Power and signal common
11	ENTMG	Enable master timing
12	LDPS'	Video shift-register load enable
13	VID7M	Video dot clock, 7 or 14 MHz
14	$\phi 1$	Phase 1 system clock
15	\$ 0	Phase 0 system clock
16	Q3	Intermediate timing and strobe signal
17	PCAS'	RAM column-address strobe
18	N.C.	(This pin is not used.)
19	PRAS'	RAM row-address strobe
20	+5V	Power

Memory Addressing

The Apple IIe's microprocessor can address 65,536 locations. The Apple IIe uses this entire address space, and then some: some areas in memory are used for more than one function. The following sections describe the memory devices used in the Apple IIe and the way they are addressed. Input and output also use portions of the memory address space; refer to the section "Peripheral-Card Memory Spaces" in Chapter 6 for information.

riguri	e 7-0. 1	ne 2004 i	tow Finours
+5V	1	28	+5V
A12	2	27	+5V
A7	3	26	+5V
A6	4	25	A8
A5	5	24	A9
A4	6	23	A11
A3	7	22	ROMENx'
A2	8	21	A10
A1	9	20	CE'
A0	10	19	MD7
MD0	11	18	MD6
MD1	12	17	MD5
MD2	13	16	MD4
GND	14	15	MD3
Figur	e 7-6. 1	The 2316	ROM Pinouts
A7	1	24	+5V
A6	2	23	A8
A5	3	22	A9
A4	4	21	+5V
A3	5	20	KBD'
A2	6	19	GND
A1	7	18	ENKBD'
A0	8	17	(n.c.)
MD0	9	16	MD6
MD1	10	15	MD5
MD2	11	14	MD4
GND	12	13	MD3
Figur	e 7-7. 7	The 2333 1	ROM Pinouts
VID4	1	24	+5V
VID3	2	23	VID5
VID2	3	22	RA9
VID1	4	21	GR
VID0	5	20	WNDW'
VC	6	19	RA10
SEGB	7	18	ENVID'
SEGA	8	17	D7
D0	9	16	D6
D1	10	15	D5
D2	11	14	D4
GND	12	13	D3

ROM Addressing

In the Apple IIe, the following programs are permanently stored in two type 2364 8K by 7-bit ROMs (read-only memory):

□ Applesoft editor and interpreter

D System Monitor

□ 80-column display firmware

□ self-test routines

These two ROMs are enabled by two signals called ROMEN1 and ROMEN2. The ROM enabled by ROMEN1, sometimes called the Diagnostics ROM, occupies the memory address space from \$C100 to \$DFFF. The address space from \$C300 to \$C3FF and from \$C800 to \$CFFF contains the 80-column display firmware. Those address spaces are normally assigned to ROM on a peripheral card in slot 3; for a discussion of the way the 80-column firmware overrides the peripheral card, see the section "Other Uses of I/O Memory Space" in Chapter 6. The pinouts of the 2364 ROMs are given in Figure 7-5.

Two other portions of the Diagnostics ROM, addressed from \$C100 to \$C2FF and from \$C400 to \$C7FF, contain the built-in self-test routines. These address spaces are normally assigned to the peripheral cards; when the self-test programs are running, the peripheral cards are disabled.

The remainder of the Diagnostics ROM, addressed from \$D000 to \$DFFF, contains part of the Applesoft BASIC interpreter.

The ROM enabled by ROMEN2, sometimes called the Monitor ROM, occupies the memory address space from \$E000 to \$FFFF. This ROM contains the rest of the Applesoft interpreter, in the address space from \$E000 to \$EFFF, and the Monitor subroutines, from \$F000 to \$FFFF.

The other ROMs in the Apple IIe are a type 2316 ROM used for the keyboard character decoder and a type 2333 ROM used for character sets for the video display. This 2333 ROM is rather large because it includes a section of straight-through bit-mapping for the graphics modes. This way, graphics display video can pass through the same circuits as text without additional switching circuitry. The 2316's pinout is given in Figure 7-6, and the 2333's pinout is given in Figure 7-7.

Figure 7-8. The 64K RAM Pinouts

1			1
+5V	1	16	GND
MDx	2	15	CAS'
R/W'	3	14	MDx
RAS'	4	13	RA1
RA7	5	12	RA4
RA5	6	11	RA3
RA6	7	10	RA2
+5V	8	9	RA0

RAM Addressing

The RAM (programmable) memory in the Apple IIe is used both for program and data storage and for the video display. The areas in RAM that are used for the display are accessed both by the 65C02 microprocessor and by the video display circuits. In some computers, this dual access results in addressing conflicts (cycle stealing) that can cause temporary dropouts in the video display. This problem does not occur in the Apple IIe, thanks to the way the microprocessor and the video circuits share the memory.

The memory circuits in the Apple IIe take advantage of the two-phase system clock described earlier in this chapter in the section "65C02 Timing" to interleave the microprocessor memory accesses and the display memory accesses so that they never interfere with each other. The microprocessor reads or writes to RAM only during $\phi 0$, and the display circuits read data only during $\phi 1$.

Dynamic-RAM Refreshment

The image on a video display is not permanent; it fades rapidly and must be refreshed periodically. To refresh the video display, the Apple IIe reads the data in the active display page and sends it to the display. To prevent visible flicker in the display, and to conform to standard practice for broadcast video, the Apple IIe refreshes the display sixty times per second.

The dynamic RAM devices used in the Apple IIe also need a kind of refresh, because the data is stored in the form of electric charges which diminish with time and must be replenished every so often. The Apple IIe is designed so that refreshing the display also refreshes the dynamic RAMs. The next few paragraphs explain how this is done.

The job of refreshing the dynamic RAM devices is minimized by the structure of the devices themselves. The individual data cells in each RAM device are arranged in a rectangular array of rows and columns. When the device is addressed, the part of the address that specifies a row is presented first, followed by the address of the column. Splitting information into parts that follow each other in time is called multiplexing. Since only half of the address is needed at one time, multiplexing the address reduces the number of pins needed for connecting the RAMs.

Different manufacturers' 64K RAMs have cell arrays of either 128 rows by 512 columns or 256 rows by 256 columns. Only the row portion of the address is used in refreshing the RAMs.

Chapter 7: Hardware Implementation

Now consider how the display is refreshed. As described later in this chapter in the section "The Video Counters," the display circuitry generates a sequence of 8,192 memory addresses in high-resolution mode; in text and low-resolution modes, this sequence is the 1,024 display-page addresses repeated eight times. The display address cycles through this sequence 60 times a second, or once every 17 milliseconds. The way the low-order address lines are assigned to the RAMs, the row address cycles through all 256 possible values once every two milliseconds. (See Figure 7-9.) This more than satisfies the refresh requirements of the dynamic RAMs.

Table 7-9. RAM Address Multiplexing

Mux'd Address	Row Address	Column Address
RA0	A0	A9
RA1	A1	A6
RA2	A2	A10
RA3	A3	A11
RA4	A4	A12
RA5	A5	A13
RA6	A7	A14
RA7	A8	A15

Dynamic-RAM Timing

The Apple IIe's microprocessor clock runs at a moderate speed, about 1.023 MHz, but the interleaving of CPU and display cycles means that the RAM is being accessed at a 2 MHz rate, or a cycle time of just under 500 nanoseconds. Data for the CPU is strobed by the falling edge of ϕ 0, and display data is strobed by the falling edge of ϕ 1, as shown in Figure 7-9.



The RAM timing looks complicated because the RAM address is multiplexed, as described in the previous section. The MMU takes care of multiplexing the address for the CPU cycle, and the IOU performs the same function for the display cycle. The multiplexed address is sent to the RAM ICs over the lines labelled RA0-RA7. Along with the other timing signals, the PAL device generates two signals that control the RAM addressing: row-address strobe (RAS) and column-address strobe (CAS).

Table 7-10. RAM Timing Signal Descriptions

Signal Name	Description	
$\phi 0$	Clock phase 0 (CPU phase)	
$\phi 1$	Clock phase 1 (display phase)	
RAS	Row-address strobe	
CAS	Column-address strobe	
Q3	Alternate RAM/column-address strobe	
RA0-RA7	Multiplexed address bus	
MD0-MD7	Internal data bus	

The Video Display

The Apple IIe produces a video signal that creates a display on a standard video monitor or, if you add an RF modulator, on a black-and-white or color television set. The video signal is a composite made up of the data that is being displayed plus the horizontal and vertical synchronization signals that the video monitor uses to arrange the lines of display data on the screen.

Video Standards: Apple IIe's manufactured for sale in the U.S. generate a video signal that is compatible with the standards set by the NTSC (National Television Standards Committee). Apple IIe's manufactured for sale in European countries generate video that is compatible with the standard used there, which is called P.A.L. (for phase alternating lines). This manual describes only the NTSC version of the video circuits.

The display portion of the video signal is a time-varying voltage generated from a stream of data bits, where a 1 corresponds to a voltage that generates a bright dot, and a 0 to a dark dot. The display bit stream is generated in bursts that correspond to the horizontal lines of dots on the video screen. The signal named WNDW' is low during these bursts.

During the time intervals between bursts of data, nothing is displayed on the screen. During these intervals, called the blanking intervals, the display is blank and the WNDW' signal is high. The synchronization signals, called *sync* for short, are produced by making the signal named SYNC' low during portions of the blanking intervals. The sync pulses are at a voltage equivalent to blacker-than-black video and don't show on the screen.

The Video Counters

The address and timing signals that control the generation of the video display are all derived from a chain of counters inside the IOU. Only a few of these counter signals are accessible from outside the IOU, but they are all important in understanding the operation of the display generation process, particularly the display memory addressing described in the next section.

The horizontal counter is made up of seven stages: H0, H1, H2, H3, H4, H5, and HPE'. The input to the horizontal counter is the 1 MHz signal that controls the reading of data being displayed. The complete cycle of the horizontal counter consists of 65 states. The six bits H0 through H5 count normally from 0 to 63, then start over at 0. Whenever this happens, HPE' forces another count with H0 through H5 held at zero, thus extending the total count to 65.

The IOU uses the forty horizontal count values from 25 through 64 in generating the low-order part of the display data address, as described later in this chapter in the section "Display Address Mapping." The IOU uses the count values from 0 to 24 to generate the horizontal blanking, the horizontal sync pulse, and the color-burst gate.

When the horizontal count gets to 65, it signals the end of a line by triggering the vertical counter. The vertical counter has nine stages: VA, VB, VC, V0, V1, V2, V3, V4, and V5. When the vertical count reaches 262, the IOU resets it and starts counting again from zero. Only the first 192 scanning lines are actually displayed; the IOU uses the vertical counts from 192 to 261 to generate the vertical blanking and sync pulse. Nothing is displayed during the vertical blanking interval. (The vertical line count is 262 rather than the standard 262.5 because, unlike normal television, the Apple IIe's video display is not interlaced.)

Smooth Animation: Animation displays sometimes have an erratic flicker caused by changing the display data at the same time it is being displayed. You can avoid this on the Apple IIe by reading the vertical-blanking signal (VBL) at location \$C019 and changing display data while VBL is low only (data value less than 128).

Display Memory Addressing

As described in Chapter 2 in the section "Addressing Display Pages Directly," data bytes are not stored in memory in the same sequence in which they appear on the display. You can get an idea of the way the display data is stored by using the Monitor to set the display to graphics mode, then storing data starting at the beginning of the display page at hexadecimal \$400 and watching the effect on the display. If you do this, you should use the graphics display instead of text to avoid confusion: the text display is also used for Monitor input and output.

If you want your program to display data by storing it directly into the display memory, you must first transform the display coordinates into the appropriate memory addresses, as shown in the section "Video Display Pages" in Chapter 2. The descriptions that follow will help you understand how this address transformation is done and why it is necessary. They will not (alas!) eliminate that necessity.

The address transformation that folds three rows of forty display bytes into 128 contiguous memory locations is the same for all display modes, so it is described first. The differences among the different display modes are then described in the section "Video Display Modes."

Display Address Mapping

Consider the simplest display on the Apple IIe, the 40-column text mode. To address forty columns requires six bits, and to address twenty-four rows requires another five bits, for a total of eleven address bits. Addressing the display this way would involve 2048 (2 to the eleventh power) bytes of memory to display a mere 960 characters. The 80-column text mode would require 4096 bytes to display 1920 characters. The leftover chunks of memory that were not displayed could be used for storing other data, but not easily, because they would not be contiguous.

Instead of using the horizontal and vertical counts to address memory directly, the circuitry inside the IOU transforms them into the new address signals described below. The transformed display address must meet the following criteria:

- □ Map the 960 bytes of 40-column text into only 1024 bytes.
- □ Scan the low-order address to refresh the dynamic RAMs.
- Continue to refresh the RAMs during video blanking.

The transformation involves only horizontal counts H3, H4, and H5, and vertical counts V3 and V4. Vertical count bits VA, VB, and VC address the lines making up the characters, and are not involved in the address transformation. The remaining low-order count bits, H0, H1, H2, V0, V1, and V2 are used directly, and are not involved in the transformation.

- de Roman

The IOU performs an addition that reduces the five significant count bits to four new signals called S0, S1, S2, and S3, where S stands for sum. Figure 7-10 is a diagram showing the addition in binary form, with V3 appearing as the carry in and H5 appearing as its complement H5'. A constant value of 1 appears as the low-order bit of the addend. The carry bit generated with the sum is not used.

			V3 Carry in
H5'	V3	H4	H3 Augend
V4	H5′	V4	1 Addend
S3	S2	S1	S0 Sum

The requirements of the RAM refreshing are discussed earlier in this chapter in the section "Dynamic-RAM Refreshment." If this transformation seems terribly obscure, try it with actual values. For example, for the upper-left corner of the display, the vertical count is 0 and the horizontal count is 24: H0, H1, H2, and H5 are 0's and H3, and H4 are 1's. The value of the sum is 0, so the memory location for the first character on the display is the first location in the display page, as you might expect.

Horizontal bits H0, H1, and H2 and sum bits S0, S1, and S2 make up the transformed horizontal address (A0 through A6 in Table 7-12). As the horizontal count increases from 24 to 63, the value of the sum (S3 S2 S1 S0) increases from 0 to 4 and the transformed address goes from 0 to 39, relative to the beginning of the display page.

The low-order three bits of the vertical row counter are V0, V1, and V2. These bits control address bits A7, A8, and A9, as shown in Table 7-12, so that rows 0 through 7 start on 127-byte boundaries. When the vertical row counter reaches 8, then V0, V1, and V2 are 0 again, and V3 changes to 1. If you do the addition in Table 7-11 with H equal to 24 (the horizontal count for the first column displayed) and V equal to 8, the sum is 5 and the horizontal address is 40: the first character in row 8 is stored in the memory location 40 bytes from the beginning of the display page.

Figure 7-10. 40-Column Text Display Memory

Memory locations marked with an asterisk (*) are reserved for use by peripheral I/O firmware: refer to the section "Peripheral-Card RAM Space" in Chapter 6.

-	128 Bytes			
-		40 Bytes	40 Bytes	Bytes
\$400	row 0	row 8	row 16	
\$480	row 1	row 9	row 17	
\$500	row 2	row 10	row 18	•
\$580	row 3	row 11	row 19	
600	row 4	row 12	row 20	
\$680	row 5	row 13	row 21	
3700	row 6	row 14	row 22	*
\$780	row 7	row 15	row 23	*

Figure 7-10 shows how groups of three forty-character rows are stored in blocks of 120 contiguous bytes starting on 127-byte address boundaries. This diagram is another way of describing the display mapping shown in Figure 2-5. Notice that the three rows in each block of 120 bytes are not adjacent on the display.

Table 7-12 shows how the signals from the video counters are assigned to the address lines. H0, H1, and H2 are horizontal-count bits, and V0, V1, and V2 are vertical-count bits. S0, S1, S2 and S3 are the folded address bits described above. Address bits marked with asterisks (*) are different for different modes: see Table 7-13 and the four subsections under the section "Video Display Modes."

Memory Address Bit	Display Address Bit	Memory Address Bit	Display Address Bit
40	HO	48	V1
A1	H1	A9	V2
A2	H2	A10	**
A3	SO	A11	**
A4	S1	A12	**
A5	S2	A13	**
A6	S3	A14	**
A7	VO	A15	GND

Table 7-12. Display Memory Addressing

** For these address bits, see text and Table 7-13.

Table 7-13. Memory Address Bits for Display Modes

. means logical AND; 'means logical NOT.

	Displ	ay Modes
Address Bit	Text and Low-Resolution	High-Resolution and Double-High-Resolution
A10	80STORE+PAGE2'	VA
A11	80STORE'.PAGE2	VB
A12	0	VC
A13	0	80STORE+PAGE2'
A14	0	80STORE'.PAGE2

Video Display Modes

The different display modes all use the address-mapping scheme described in the previous section, but they use different-sized memory areas in different locations. The next four sections describe the addressing schemes and the methods of generating the actual video signals for the different display modes.

Text Displays

The text and low-resolution graphics pages begin at memory locations \$0400 and \$0800. Table 7-13 shows how the display-mode signals control the address bits to produce these addresses. Address bits A10 and A11 are controlled by the settings of PG2 and 80STORE, which are set by the display-page and 80-column-video soft switches. Address bits A12, A13, and A14 are set to 0. Notice that 80STORE active inhibits PG2: there is only one display page in 80-column mode.

The bit patterns used for generating the different characters are stored in a 32K ROM. The low-order six bits of each data byte reach the character generator ROM directly, via the video data bus VID0-VID5. The two high-order bits are modified by the IOU to select between the primary and alternate character sets and are sent to the character generator ROM on lines RA9 and RA10.

The data for each row of characters are read eight times, once for each of the eight lines of dots making up the row of characters. The data bits are sent to the character generator ROM along with VA, VB, and VC, the low-order bits from the vertical counter. For each character being displayed, the character generator ROM puts out one of eight stored bit patterns selected by the three-bit number made up of VA, VB, and VC.

The bit patterns from the character generator ROM are loaded into the 74166 parallel-to-serial shift register and output as a serial bit stream that goes to the video output circuit. The shift register is controlled by signals named LDPS' (for load parallel-to-serial shifter) and VID7M (for video 7 MHz). In 40-column mode, LDPS' strobes the output of the character generator ROM into the shift register once each microsecond, and bits are sent to the screen at a 7 MHz rate.

The addressing for the 80-column display is exactly the same as for the 40-column display: the 40 columns of display memory on the 80-column card are addressed in parallel with the 40 columns in main memory. The data from these two memories reach the video data bus (lines VID0-VID7) via separate 74LS374 three-state buffers. These buffers are loaded simultaneously, but their outputs are sent to the character generator ROM alternately by $\phi 0$ and $\phi 1$. In 80-column mode, LDPS' loads data from the character generator ROM into the shift register twice during each microsecond, once during $\phi 0$ and once during $\phi 1$, and bits are sent to the screen at a 14 MHz rate. Figures 7-11a and 7-11b show the video timing signals.







Low-Resolution Display

In the graphics modes, VA and VB are not used by the character generator, so the IOU uses lines SEGA and SEGB to transmit H0 and HIRES', as shown in Table 7-14.

Table 7-14. Character-Generator Control Signals

Display Mode	SEGA	SEGB	SEGC
Text	VA	VB	VC
Graphics	HO	HIRES'	VC

The low-resolution graphics display uses VC to divide the eight display lines corresponding to a row of characters into two groups of four lines each. Each row of data bytes is addressed eight times, the same as in text mode, but each byte is interpreted as two nibbles. Each nibble selects one of 16 colors. During the upper four of the eight display lines, VC is low and the low-order nibble determines the color. During the lower four display lines, VC is high and the high-order nibble determines the color.

The bit patterns that produce the low-resolution colors are read from the character-generator ROM in the same way the bit patterns for characters are produced in text mode. The 74166 parallel-to-serial shift register converts the bit patterns to a serial bit stream for the video circuits.

The video signal generated by the Apple IIe includes a short burst of 3.58 MHz signal that is used by an NTSC color monitor or color TV set to generate a reference 3.58 MHz color signal. The Apple IIe's video signal produces color by interacting with this 3.58 MHz signal inside the monitor or TV set. Different bit patterns produce different colors by changing the duty cycles and delays of the bit stream relative to the 3.58 MHz color signal. To produce the small delays required for so many different colors, the shift register runs at 14 MHz and shifts out 14 bits during each cycle of the 1-MHz data clock. To generate a stream of fourteen bits from each eight-bit pattern read from the ROM, the output of the shift register is connected back to the register's serial input to repeat the same eight bits; the last two bits are ignored the second time around.
Each bit pattern is output for the same amount of time as a character: .98 microseconds. Because that is exactly enough time for three and a half cycles of the 3.58 MHz color signal, the phase relationship between the bit patterns and the signal changes by a half cycle for each successive pattern. To compensate for this, the character generator ROM puts out one of two different bit patterns for each nibble, depending on the state of H0, the low-order bit of the horizontal counter.

High-Resolution Display

The high-resolution graphics pages begin at memory locations \$2000 and \$4000 (decimal 8192 and 16384). These page addresses are selected by address bits A13 and A14. In high-resolution mode, these address bits are controlled by PG2 and 80STORE, the signals controlled by the display-page (PAGE2) and 80-column-video (80COL) soft switches. As in text mode, 80STORE inhibits addressing of the second page because there is only one page of 80-column text available for mixed mode.

In high-resolution graphics mode, the display data are still stored in blocks like the one shown in Figure 7-10, but there are eight of these blocks. As Table 7-12 and Table 7-13 show, vertical counts VA, VB, and VC are used for address bits A10, A11, and A12, which address eight blocks of 1024 bytes each. Remember that in the display, VA, VB, and VC count adjacent horizontal lines in groups of eight. This addressing scheme maps each of those lines into a different 1024-byte block. It might help to think of it as a kind of eight-way multiplexer: it's as if eight text displays were combined to produce a single high-resolution display, with each text display providing one line of dots in turn, instead of a row of characters.

The high-resolution bit patterns are produced by the character-generator ROM. In this mode, the bit patterns simply reproduce the eight bits of display data. The low-order six bits of data reach the ROM via the video data bus VID0-VID5. The IOU sends the other two data bits to the ROM via RA9 and RA10.

The high-resolution colors described in Chapter 2 are produced by the interaction between the video signal the bit patterns generate and the 3.58 MHz color signal generated inside the monitor or TV set. The high-resolution bit patterns are always shifted out at 7 MHz, so each dot corresponds to a half-cycle of the 3.58 MHz color signal. Any part of the video signal that produces a single white dot between two black dots, or vice versa, is effectively a short burst of 3.58 MHz and is therefore displayed as color. In other words, a bit pattern consisting of alternating 1's and 0's

gets displayed as a line of color. The high-resolution graphics subroutines produce the appropriate bit patterns by masking the data bits with alternating 1's and 0's.

To produce different colors, the bit patterns must have different phase relationships to the 3.58 MHz color signal. If alternating 1's and 0's produce a certain color, say green, then reversing the pattern to 0's and 1's will produce the complementary color, purple. As in the low-resolution mode, each bit pattern corresponds to three and a half cycles of the color signal, so the phase relationship between the data bits and the color signal changes by a half cycle for each successive byte of data. Here, however, the bit patterns produced by the hardware are the same for adjacent bytes; the color compensation is performed by the high-resolution software, which uses different color masks for data being displayed in even and odd columns.

To produce other colors, bit patterns must have other timing relationships to the 3.58 MHz color signal. In high-resolution mode, the Apple IIe produces two more colors by delaying the output of the shift register by half a dot (70 ns), depending on the high-order bit of the data byte being displayed. (The high-order bit doesn't actually get displayed as a dot, because at 7 MHz there is only time to shift out seven of the eight bits.)

As each byte of data is sent from the character generator to the shift register, high-order data bit D7 is also sent to the PAL device. If D7 is off, the PAL device transmits shift-register timing signals LDPS' and VID7M normally. If D7 is on, the PAL device delays LDPS' and VID7M by 70 nanoseconds, the time corresponding to half a dot. The bit pattern that formerly produced green now produces orange; the pattern for purple now produces blue.

A Note About Timing: For 80-column text, the shift register is clocked at twice normal speed. When 80-column text is used with graphics in mixed mode, the PAL device controls shift-register timing signals LDPS' and VID7M so that the graphics portion of the display works correctly even when the text window is in 80-column mode.

Double-High-Resolution Display

Double-high-resolution graphics mode displays two bytes in the time normally required for one, but uses high-resolution graphics Page 1 in both main and auxiliary memory instead of text or low-resolution Page 1.

Note: There is a second pair of pages, high-resolution Page 2, which can be used to display a second double-high-resolution page.

Double-high-resolution graphics mode displays each pair of data bytes as 14 adjacent dots, seven from each byte. The high-order bit (color-select bit) of each byte is ignored. The auxiliary-memory byte is displayed first, so data from auxiliary memory appears in columns 0-6, 14-20, and so on, up to columns 547-552. Data from main memory appears in columns 7-13, 21-27, and so on, up to 553-559.

As in 80-column text, there are twice as many dots across the display screen, so the dots are only half as wide. On a TV set or low-bandwidth monitor (less than 14 MHz), single dots will be dimmer than normal.

Note: Except for some expensive RGB-type monitors, any video monitor with a bandwidth as high as 14 MHz will be a monochrome monitor. Monochrome means one color: a monochrome video monitor can have a screen color of white, green, orange, or any other single color.

The main memory and auxiliary memory are connected to the address bus in parallel, so both are activated during the display cycle. The rising edge of $\phi 0$ clocks a byte of main memory data into the video latch, and a byte of auxiliary memory data into the 80 latch.

Phi 1 (ϕ 1) enables output from the (auxiliary) 80 latch, and ϕ 0 enables output from the (main) video latch. Output from both latches goes to CHARGEN, where GR and SEGB' select high-resolution graphics. LDPS operates at 2 MHz in this mode, alternately gating the auxiliary byte and main byte into the parallel-to-serial shift register. VID7M is active (kept true) for double-high-resolution display mode, so when it is ANDed with 14M, the result is still 14M. The 14M serial clock signal gate shift register then outputs to VID, the video display hybrid circuit, for output to the display device.

Video Output Signals

The stream of video data generated by the display circuits described above goes to a linear summing circuit built around transistor Q1 where it is mixed with the sync signals and the color burst. Resistors R3, R5, R7, R10, R13, and R15 adjust the signals to the proper amplitudes, and a tank circuit (L3 and C32) resonant at 3.58 MHz conditions the color burst.

The resulting video signal is an NTSC-compatible composite-video signal that can be displayed on a standard video monitor. The signal is similar to the EIA (Electronic Industries Association) standard positive composite video (see Table 7-15). This signal is available in two places in the Apple IIe:

- □ At the phono jack on the back of the Apple IIe. The sleeve of this jack is connected to ground and the tip is connected to the video output through a resistor network that attenuates it to about 1 volt and matches its impedance to 75 ohms.
- At the internal video connector on the Apple IIe circuit board near the RCA jack, J13 in Figure 7-13c. It is made up of four Molex-type pins, 0.25 inches tall, on 0.10 inch centers. This connector carries the video signal, ground, and two power supplies, as shown in Table 7-15.

"able 7-15. Internal	Video	Connector	Signals	
----------------------	-------	-----------	---------	--

Note: Pin 1 is the pin closest to the keyboard; pin 4 is at the back.

Pin	Name	Description
1	GROUND	System common ground
2	VIDEO	NTSC-compatible positive composite video. White level is about 2.0 volts, black level is about 0.75 volts, and sync level is 0.0 volts. This output is not protected against short-circuits.
3	-5V	-5 volt power supply
4	+12V	+12 volt power supply

Built-in I/O Circuits

The use of the Apple IIe's built-in I/O features is described in Chapter 2. This section describes the hardware implementation of all of those features except the video display described in the previous sections.

The IOU (Input/Output Unit) directly generates the output signals for the speaker, the cassette interface, and the annunciators. The other I/O features are handled by smaller ICs, as described later in this section.

The addresses of the built-in I/O features are described in Chapter 2 and listed in Table 2-2, Table 2-11, and Table 2-12. All of the built-in I/O features except the displays use memory locations between \$C000 and \$C070 (decimal 49152 and 49264). The I/O address decoding is performed by three ICs: a 74LS138, a 74LS154, and a 74LS251.

The 74LS138 decodes address lines A8, A9, A10, and A11 to select address pages on 256-byte boundaries starting at \$C000 (decimal 49152). When it detects addresses between \$C000 and \$C0FF, it enables the IOU and the 74LS154. The 74LS154 in turn decodes address lines A4, A5, A6, and A7 to select 16-byte address areas between \$C000 and \$C0FF. Addresses between \$C060 and \$C06F enable the 74LS251 that multiplexes the hand control switches and paddles; addresses between \$C070 and \$C07F reset the NE558 quadruple timer that interfaces to the hand controls, as described later in the section "Game I/O Signals."

The Keyboard

The Apple IIe's keyboard is a matrix of keyswitches connected to an AY-3600-type keyboard decoder via a ribbon cable and a 26-pin connector. The AY-3600 scans the array of keys over and over to detect any keys pressed. The scanning rate is set by the external resistor-capacitor network made up of C70 and R32. The debounce time is also set externally, by C71.

The AY-3600's outputs include five bits of key code plus separate lines for <u>CONTROL</u>, <u>SHIFT</u>, any-key-down, and keyboard strobe. The any-key-down and keyboard-strobe lines are connected to the IOU, which addresses them as soft switches. The key-code lines, along with <u>CONTROL</u> and <u>SHIFT</u>, are inputs to a separate 2316 ROM. The ROM translates them to the character codes that are enabled onto the data bus by signals named KBD' and ENKBD'. The KBD' signal is enabled by the MMU whenever a program reads location \$C000, as described in the section "Reading the Keyboard" in Chapter 2.

Table 7-16. Keyboard Connector Signals

Pin Number	Name	Description	-
1,2,4,6,8,10, 23,25,12,22	Y0-Y9	Y-direction key-matrix connections	
3	+5	+5 volt supply	
5,7,9,15	n.c.		
1	LCNTL'	Line from [CONTROL] key	
13	GND	System common ground	
14,16,20,21, 19,26,17	X0-X7	X-direction key-matrix connections	
24	LSHFT'	Line from (SHIFT) key	

19

Connecting a Keypad

There is a smaller connector wired in parallel with the keyboard connector. You can connect a ten-key numeric pad to the Apple IIe via this connector.

Table 7-17. Keypad Connector Signals

Pin Number	Name	Description
1,2,5,3,4,6	Y0-Y5	Y-direction key-matrix connections
7	n.c.	
9,11,10,8	X4-X7	X-direction key-matrix connections

Cassette I/O

The two miniature phone jacks on the back of the Apple IIe are used to connect an audio cassette recorder for saving programs. The output signal to the cassette recorder comes from a pin on the IOU via resistor network R6 and R9, which attenuates the signal to a level appropriate for the recorder's microphone input. Input from the recorder is amplified and conditioned by a type 741 operational amplifier and sent to one of the inputs of the 74LS251 input multiplexer.

The signal specifications for cassette I/O are

- □ Input: 1 volt (nominal) from recorder earphone or monitor output. Input impedance is 12K ohms.
- Output: 25 millivolts to recorder microphone input. Output impedance is 100 ohms.

The Speaker

The Apple IIe's built-in loudspeaker is controlled by a single bit of output from the IOU (Input Output Unit). The signal from the IOU is AC coupled to Q5, an MPSA13 Darlington transistor amplifier. The speaker connector is a Molex KK100 connector, J18 in Figure 7-13b, with two square pins 0.25 inches tall and on 0.10-inch centers.

A light-emitting diode is connected in parallel across the speaker pins such that, when the speaker is not connected, the diode glows whenever the speaker signal is on. This diode is used as a diagnostic indicator during assembly and testing of the Apple IIe.

Table 7-18. Speaker Connector Signals

Pin Number	Name	Description
1	SPKR	Speaker signal. This line will deliver about 0.5 watts into an 8-ohm speaker.
2	+5	+5V power supply. Note that the speaker is not connected to system ground.

Game I/O Signals

Several I/O signals that are individually controlled via soft switches are collectively referred to as the game signals. Even though they are normally used for hand controls, these signals can be used for other simple I/O applications. There are five output signals: the four annunciators, numbered A0 through A3, and one strobe output. There are three one-bit inputs, called *switches* and numbered SW0 through SW2, and four analog inputs, called *paddles* and numbered PDL0 through PDL3.

The annunciator outputs are driven directly by the IOU (Input Output Unit). These outputs can drive one TTL (transitor-transitor logic) load each; for heavier loads, you must use a transistor or a TTL buffer on these outputs. These signals are only available on the 16-pin internal connector. (See Table 7-19.)

The strobe output is a pulse transmitted any time a program reads or writes to location \$C040. The strobe pin is connected to one output of the 74LS154 address decoder. This TTL signal is normally high; it goes low during $\phi 0$ of the instruction cycle that addresses location \$C040. This signal is only available on the 16-pin internal connector. (See Table 7-19.)

The game inputs are multiplexed along with the cassette input signal by a 74LS251 eight-input multiplexer enabled by the C06X' signal from the 74LS154 I/O address decoder. Depending on the low-order address, the appropriate game input is connected to bit 7 of the data bus.

The switch inputs are standard low-power Schottky TTL inputs. To use them, connect each one to 560-ohm pull-down resistors connected to the ground and through single-pole, momentary-contact pushbutton switches to the +5 volt supply.

The hand-control inputs are connected to the timing inputs of an NE558 quadruple 555-type analog timer. Addressing C07X sends a signal from the 74LS154 that resets all four timers and causes their outputs to go to 1 (high). A variable resistance of up to 150K ohms connected between one of these inputs and the +5V supply controls the charging time of one of four 0.022-microfarad capacitors. When the voltage on the capacitor passes a certain threshold, the output of the NE558 changes back to 0 (low). Programs can determine the setting of a variable resistor by resetting the timers and then counting time until the selected timer input changes from high to low. The resulting count is proportional to the resistance.

The game I/O signals are all available on a 16-pin DIP socket labelled GAME I/O on the main circuit board inside the case. The switches and the paddles are also available on a D-type miniature connector on the back of the Apple IIe; see J8 and J15 in Figure 7-13d.

Table 7-19. Game I/O Connector Signals

Internal- Connector Pin Number	Back-Panel- Connector Pin Number	Signal Name	Description
1	2	+5V	+5V power supply. Total current drain from this pin must not exceed 100mA.
2,3,4	7,1,6	PB0-PB2	Switch inputs. These are standard 74LS inputs.
5		STROBE'	Strobe output. This line goes low during ϕ o of a read or write instruction to location \$C040.
6,10,7,11	5,8,4,9	PDL0-PDL3	Hand control inputs. Each of these should be connected to a 150K-ohm variable resistor connected to +5V.
8	3	GND	System ground.
15,14,13,12		AN0-AN3	Annunciators. These are standard 74LS TTL outputs and must be buffered to drive other than TTL inputs.
9,16	×.	n.c.	Nothing is connected to these pins.

Expanding the Apple Ile

Chapter 6 describes the standards for programming peripheral cards for the Apple IIe.

The main circuit board of the Apple IIe has eight empty card connectors or slots on it. These slots make it possible to add features to the Apple IIe by plugging in peripheral cards with additional hardware. This section describes the hardware that supports them, including all of the signals available on the expansion slots.

The Expansion Slots

The seven connectors lined up across the back part of the Apple IIe's main circuit card are the expansion slots, also called peripheral slots or simply slots, numbered from 1 to 7. They are 50-pin PC-card edge connectors with pins on 0.10-inch centers. A PC card plugged into one of these connectors has access to all of the signals necessary to perform input and output and to execute programs in RAM or ROM on the card. These signals are described briefly in Table 7-20. The following paragraphs describe the signals in general and mention a few points that are often overlooked. For further details, refer to the schematic diagram in Figures 7-13a, 7-13b, 7-13c, and 7-13d.

The Peripheral Address Bus

The microprocessor's address bus is buffered by two 74LS244 octal three-state buffers. These buffers, along with a buffer in the microprocessor's R/W' line, are enabled by a signal derived from the DMA' daisy-chain on the expansion slots. Pulling the peripheral line DMA' low disables the address and R/W' buffers so that peripheral DMA circuitry can control the address bus. The DMA address and R/W' signals supplied by a peripheral card must be stable all during $\phi 0$ of the instruction cycle, as shown in Figure 7-12.

Another signal that can be used to disable normal operation of the Apple IIe is INH'. Pulling INH' low disables all of the memory in the Apple IIe except the part in the I/O space from \$C000 to \$CFFF. A peripheral card that uses either INH' or DMA' must observe proper timing; in order to disable RAM and ROM cleanly, the disabling signal must be stable all during ϕ 0 of the instruction cycle (refer to the timing diagram in Figure 7-12).

The peripheral devices should use I/O SELECT' and DEVICE SELECT' as enables. Most peripheral ICs require their enable signals to be present for a certain length of time before data is strobed into or out of the device. Remember that I/O SELECT' and DEVICE SELECT' are only asserted during $\phi 0$ high.

The Peripheral Data Bus

The Apple IIe has two versions of the microprocessor data bus: an internal bus, MD0-MD7, connected directly to the microprocessor; and an external bus, D0-D7, driven by a 74LS245 octal bidirectional bus buffer. The 65C02 is fabricated with MOS circuitry, so it can drive capacitive loads of up to about 130 pF. If peripheral cards are installed in all seven slots, the loading on the data bus can be as high as 500 pF, so the 74LS245 drives the data bus for the peripheral cards. The same argument applies if you use MOS devices on peripheral cards: they don't have enough drive for the fully-loaded bus, so you should add buffers.

Loading and Driving Rules

Table 7-20 shows the drive requirements and loading limits for each pin on the expansion slots. The address bus, the data bus, and the R/W' line should be driven by three-state buffers. Remember that there is considerable distributed capacitance on these busses and that you should plan on tolerating the added load of up to six additional peripheral cards. MOS devices such as PIAs and ACIAs cannot switch such heavy capacitive loads. Connecting such devices directly to the bus will lead to possible timing and level errors.

Interrupt and DMA Daisy Chains

The interrupt requests (IRQ' and NMI') and the direct-memory access (DMA') signal are available at all seven expansion slots. A peripheral card requests an interrupt or a DMA transfer by pulling the appropriate output line low (active). If two peripheral cards request an interrupt or a DMA transfer at the same time, they will contend for the data and address busses. To prevent this, two pairs of pins on each connector are wired as a priority daisy chain. The daisy-chain pins for interrupts are INT IN and INT OUT, and the pins for DMA are DMA IN and DMA OUT, as shown for J1-J7 in Figure 7-13d.

Each daisy chain works like this: the output from each connector goes to the input of the next higher numbered one. For these signals to be useful for cards in lower numbered connectors, all of the higher numbered connectors must have cards in them, and all of those cards must connect DMA IN to DMA OUT and INT IN to INT OUT. Whenever a peripheral card uses pin DMA', it must do so only if its DMA IN line is active, and it must disable its DMA OUT line while it is using DMA'. The INT IN and INT OUT lines must be used the same way: enable the card's interrupt circuits with INT IN, and disable INT OUT whenever IRQ' or NMI' is being used.





Pin	Name	Description
1	I/O SELECT	Normally high; goes low during $\phi 0$ when the 65C02 addresses location \$CnXX, where n is the connector number. This line can drive 10 LS TTL loads *
2-17	A0-A15	Three-state address bus. The address becomes valid during $\phi 1$ and remains valid during $\phi 0$. Each address line can drive 5 LS TTL loads *
18	R/W'	Three-state read/write line. Valid at the same time as the address bus; high during a read cycle, low during a write cycle. It can drive 2 LS TTL loads *
19	SYNC'	Composite horizontal and vertical sync, on expansion slot 7 <i>only</i> . This line can drive 2 LS TTL loads *
20	I/O STROBE'	Normally high; goes low during $\phi 0$ when the 65C02 addresses a location between \$C800 and \$CFFF.
21	RDY	Input to the 65C02. Pulling this line low during $\phi 1$ halts the 65C02 with the address bus holding the address of the location currently being fetched.
22	DMA'	This line has a 3300 ohm pullup resistor to +5V. Input to the address bus buffers. Pulling this line low during $\phi 1$ disconnects the 65C02 from the address bus. This line has a 3300 ohm pullup resistor to +5V
23	INT OUT	Interrupt priority daisy-chain output. Usually connected to pin 28 (INT IN).†
24	DMA OUT	DMA priority daisy-chain output. Usually connected to pin 22 (DMA IN).
25	+5V	+5-volt power supply. A total of 500mA is available for all peripheral cards.
26	GND	System common ground.
27	DMA IN	DMA priority daisy-chain input. Usually connected to pin 24 (DMA OUT).
28	INT IN	Interrupt priority daisy-chain input. Usually connected to pin 23 (INT OUT).
29	NMI'	Non-maskable interrupt to 65C02. Pulling this line low starts an interrupt cycle with the interrupt-handling routine at location \$03FB. This line has a 3300 ohm pullup resistor to +5V.

Table 7-20. Expansion Slot Signals

The second se

Pin	Name	Description
30	IRQ′	Interrupt request to 65C02. Pulling this line low starts an interrupt cycle only if the interrupt-disable (I) flag in the 65C02 is not set. Uses the interrupt-handling routine at location \$03FE. This line has a 3300 ohm pullup resistor to +5V.
31	RES'	Pulling this line low initiates a reset routine, as described in Chapter 4
32	INH'	Pulling this line low during $\phi 1$ inhibits (disables) the memory on the main circuit board. This line has a 3300 obm pullup resistor to $\pm 5V$
33	-12V	-12 volt power supply. A total of 200mA is available for all peripheral cards.
34	-5V	-5 volt power supply. A total of 200mA is available for all peripheral cards.
35	3.58M	3.58 MHz color reference signal, on slot 7 <i>only</i> . This line can drive 2 LS TTL loads.*
36	7M	System 7 MHz clock. This line can drive 2 LS TTL loads.*
37	Q3	System 2 MHz asymmetrical clock. This line can drive 2 LS TTL loads.*
38	$\phi 1$	65C02 phase 1 clock. This line can drive 2 LS TTL loads.*
39	µPSYNC	The 65C02 signals an operand fetch by driving this line high during the first read cycle of each instruction.
40	$\phi 0$	65C02 phase 0 clock. This line can drive 2 LS TTL loads.*
41	DEVICE SELECT'	Normally high; goes low during $\phi 0$ when the 65C02 addresses location \$C0nX, where n is the connector number plus 8. This line can drive 10 LS TTL loads.*
42-49	D0-D7	Three-state buffered bi-directional data bus. Data becomes valid during $\phi 0$ high and remains valid until $\phi 0$ goes low. Each data line can drive one LS TTL load.*
50	+12V	+12 volt power supply. A total of 250mA is available for all peripheral cards.

.....

Table 7-20-Continued. Expansion Slot Signals

* Loading limits are for each card.

 \dagger On slot 7 only, this pin can be connected to the graphics-mode signal GR: see text for details.

Auxiliary Slot

The large connector at the left side of the Apple IIe's main circuit card is the auxiliary slot. It is a 60-pin PC-card edge connector with pins on 0.10-inch centers. A PC card plugged into this connector has access to all of the signals used in producing the video display. These signals are described briefly in Table 7-21. For further details, refer to the schematic diagram in Figures 7-13a, 7-13b, 7-13c, and 7-13d.

Many of the internal signals that are not available on the expansion slots are on the auxiliary slot. By using both kinds of connectors, manufacturing and repair personnel can gain access to most of the signals needed for diagnosing problems in the Apple IIe.

80-Column Display Signals

The additional memory needed for producing an 80-column text display is on the 80-column text card, along with the buffers that transfer the data to the video data bus, as described earlier in this chapter in the section "Text Displays." The signals that control the 80-column text data include the system clocks $\phi 0$ and $\phi 1$, the multiplexed RAM address RA0-RA7, the RAM address-strobe signals PRAS' and PCAS', and the auxiliary-RAM enable signals, EN80' and R/W80. The EN80' enable signal is controlled by the 80STORE soft switch described in Chapter 4. Data is sent to the auxiliary memory via the internal data bus MD0-MD7; the data is transferred to the video generator via the video data bus VID0-VID7.

Pin	Name	Description
1	3.58M	3.58 MHz video color reference signal. This line can drive two LS TTL loads
2	VID7M	Clocks the video dots out of the 74166 parallel-to-serial shift register. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
3	SYNC'	Video horizontal and vertical sync signal. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
4	PRAS'	Multiplexed RAM row-address strobe. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
5	VC	Third low-order vertical-counter bit. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
6	C07X'	Hand-control reset signal. This line can drive two LS
7	WNDW'	Video non-blank window. This line can drive two LS
8	SEGA	First low-order vertical counter bit. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
51,10,49,48, 13 14 46 9	RA0-RA7	Multiplexed RAM-address bus. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
11,12	ROMEN1, ROMEN2	Enable signals for the ROMs on main circuit board.
44,43,40,39,	MD0-MD7	Internal (unbuffered) data bus. This line can drive two LS TTL loads
45,42,41,38, 22,19,18,15	VID0-VID7	Video data bus. This three-state bus carries video
23	$\phi 0$	65C02 clock phase 0. This line can drive two LS TTL loads
24	CLRGAT'	Color-burst gating signal. This line can drive two LS
25	80VID'	Enables 80-column display timing. This line can drive two LS TTL loads
26	EN80'	Enable for auxiliary RAM. This line can drive two LS
27	ALTVID'	Alternative video output to the video summing
28	SEROUT'	Video serial output from 74166 parallel-to-serial shift
29	ENVID'	Normally low; driving this line high disables the character generator such that the video dots from the shift register are all high (white), and alternative video can be sent out via ALTVID'. This line has a 1000 ohm pulldown resistor to ground.

Table 7-21. Auxiliary Slot Signals

Pin	Name	Description
30	+5	+5 volt power supply.
31	GND	System common ground.
32	14M	14.3 MHz master clock signal. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
33	PCAS'	Multiplexed column-address strobe. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
34	LDPS'	Strobe to video parallel-to-serial shift register. This signal goes low to load the contents of the video data bus into the shift register. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
35	R/W80	Read/write signal for RAM on the card in this slot. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
36	$\phi 1$	65C02 clock phase 1. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
37	CASEN'	Column-address enable. This signal is disabled (held high) during accesses to memory on the card in this slot. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
47	HO	Low-order horizontal byte counter. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
50	AN3	Output of annunciator number 3. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
52	R/W'	65C02 read/write signal. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
53	Q 3	2 MHz asymmetrical clock. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
54	SEGB	Second low-order vertical-counter bit. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
55	FRCTXT'	Normally high; pulling this line low enables 14MHz video output even when GR is active.
56,57	RA9',RA10'	Character-generator control signals from the IOU. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
58	GR	Graphics-mode enable signal. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
59	7M	7 MHz timing signal. This line can drive two LS TTL loads.
60	ENTMG'	Normally low; pulling this line high disables the master timing from the PAL device. This line has a 1000 ohm pulldown resistor to ground.

Table 7-21-Continued. Auxiliary Slot Signals

Sec.

N.



Chapter 7: Hardware Implementation

Figure 7-13b. Schematic Diagram, Part 2







and the second		ait .	一種	~ 유지역						
		Constant of the local division of the local						Management and	and the second s	-

Figure 7-14d. Schematic Diagram, Part 4







This appendix contains a description of the differences between the 6502 and the 65C02 microprocessors. It also contains the data sheet for the 65C02 microprocessor.

The 6502 microprocessor was used in the original Apple IIe, Apple II Plus, and Apple II. The 65C02 is a 6502 that uses less power and has ten new instructions and two new addressing modes. The 65C02 is used in both the enhanced Apple IIe and the Apple IIc.

In the data sheet tables, execution times are specified in number of cycles. One cycle time for the Apple IIe equals 0.978 microseconds, giving a system clock rate of about 1.02 MHz.

Note: If you want to write programs that execute on all computers in the Apple II series, use only those 65C02 instructions that are also present on the 6502.

Differences Between 6502 and 65C02

The data sheet lists the instructions and addressing modes of the 65C02. This section supplements that information by listing those instructions whose execution times or results differ in the 6502 and the 65C02.

Different Cycle Times

A few instructions on the 65C02 operate in different numbers of cycles than their 65C02 equivalents. These instructions are listed in Table A-1.

Table A-1. Cycle Time Differences

Instruction/Mode	Opcode	6502 Cycles	65C02 Cycles
ASL Absolute, X	1E	7	6
DEC Absolute, X	DE	7	6
INC Absolute, X	FE	7	6
JMP (Absolute)	6C	5	6
LSR Absolute, X	5E	7	6
ROL Absolute, X	3E	7	6
ROR Absolute, X	7E	7	6

Different Instruction Results

It is important to note that the BIT instruction when used in immediate mode (opcode \$89) leaves processor status register bits 7 (N) and 6 (V) unchanged on the 65C02. On the 6502, all modes of the BIT instruction have the same effect on the status register: the value of memory bit 7 is placed in status bit 7, and memory bit 6 is placed in status bit 6.

Also note that if the JMP indirect instruction (code \$6C) references an indirect address location that spans a page boundary, the 65C02 fetches the high-order byte of the effective address from the first byte of the next page, while the 6502 fetches it from the first byte of the current page. For example, JMP (\$02FF) gets ADL from location \$02FF on both processors. But on the 65C02, ADH comes from \$0300; on the 6502, ADH comes from \$0200.

Data Sheet

The remaining pages of this appendix are copyright 1982, NCR Corporation, Dayton, Ohio, and are reprinted with their permission.



GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The NCR CMOS 6502 is an 8-bit microprocessor which is software compatible with the NMOS 6502. The NCR65C02 hardware interfaces with all 6500 peripherals. The enhancements include ten additional instructions, expanded operational codes and two new addressing modes. This microprocessor has all of the advantages of CMOS technology: low power consumption, increased noise immunity and higher reliability. The CMOS 6502 is a low power high performance microprocessor with applications in the consumer, business, automotive and communications market.

FEATURES

- . Enhanced software performance including 27 additional OP codes encompassing ten new instructions and two additional addressing modes.
- 66 microprocessor instructions.
- 15 addressing modes.
- 178 operational codes.
- 1MHz, 2MHz operation.
- · Operates at frequencies as low
- as 200 Hz for even lower power consumption (pseudo-static: stop during O_2 high).
- Compatible with NMOS 6500 series microprocessors.
- 64 K-byte addressable memory. .
- . Interrupt capability.
- Lower power consumption. . 4mA@1MHz.
- +5 volt power supply.
- 8-bit bidirectional data bus.
- Bus Compatible with M6800. .
- Non-maskable interrupt.
- 40 pin dual-in-line packaging.
- · 8-bit parallel processing
- · Decimal and binary arithmetic.
- · Pipeline architecture.
- · Programmable stack pointer.
- · Variable length stack.
- Optional internal pullups for (RDY, IRQ, SO, NMI and RES)
- Specifications are subject to change without notice.

Copyright ©1982 by NCR Corporation, Dayton, Ohio, USA

@1 (OUT) C 3

40 AES

NCR65C02

IRO	4	37 00 IIN
ML	5	36 NC
NMI	6	35 NC
SYNC C	7	34 R/W
VDD	8	33 🗖 D0
A0 [9	32 D1
A1	10	31 D2
A2	11	30 D3
A3 🔼	12	29 D4
A4 🗖	13	28 D5
A5	14	27 D6
A6	15	26 07
A7	16	25 A15
A8	17	24 A14
A9 🔼	18	23 A13
A10	19	22 A12
A11	20	21 VSS

PIN CONFIGURATION

VSS 1

RDY

NCR65C02 BLOCK DIAGRAM



N	CHOSCUZ	
	ABSOLUTE MAXIMUM RATINGS:	$(V_{DD} = 5.0 \text{ V} \pm 5\%, V_{SS} = 0 \text{ V}, T_A = 0^{\circ} \text{ to} + 70^{\circ}\text{C})$

RATING	SYMBOL	VALUE	UNIT
SUPPLY VOLTAGE	V _{DD}	-0.3 to +7.0	V
INPUT VOLTAGE	VIN	-0.3 to +7.0	V
OPERATING TEMP.	TA	0 to + 70	°C
STORAGE TEMP.	TSTG	-55 to + 150	°C

PIN FUNCTION

PIN	FUNCTION	
A0 - A15	Address Bus	
D0 - D7	Data Bus	
IRQ *	Interrupt Request	
RDY *	Ready	_
ML	Memory Lock	
NMI*	Non-Maskable Interrupt	
SYNC	Synchronize	
RES *	Reset	
SO *	Set Overflow	
NC	No Connection	
R/W	Read/Write	
VDD	Power Supply (+5V)	
VSS	Internal Logic Ground	
Ø0	Clock Input	
01,02	Clock Output	

*This pin has an optional internal pullup for a No Connect condition.

DC CHARACTERISTICS

	SYMBOL	MIN.	TYP.	MAX	UNIT
Input High Voltage					
Ø0 (IN)	VIH	V _{SS} + 2.4	-	VDD	V
Input High Voltage					
RES, NMI, RDY, IRQ, Data, S.O.		V _{SS} + 2.0	-	-	V
Input Low Voltage					
Ø0 (IN)	VIL	V _{SS} -0.3	-	V _{SS} + 0.4	V
RES, NMI, RDY, IRQ, Data, S.O.		-	-	V _{SS} + 0.8	V
Input Leakage Current					
$(V_{IN} = 0 \text{ to } 5.25 \text{V}, V_{DD} = 5.25 \text{V})$	IIN				
With pullups		-30	-	+30	μA
Without pullups		-	-	+1.0	μA
Three State (Off State) Input Current					
(VIN = 0.4 to 2.4V, V _{CC} = 5.25V)					
Data Lines	ITSI	-	-	10	μΑ
Output High Voltage					
$(I_{OH} = -100 \ \mu Adc, V_{DD} = 4.75V$					
SYNC, Data, A0-A15, R/W)	VoH	Vss + 2.4	-	-	v
Out Low Voltage					1
$(I_{OL} = 1.6 \text{mAdc}, V_{DD} = 4.75 \text{V}$					
SYNC, Data, A0-A15, R/W)	Vol	-	-	Vss + 0.4	v
Supply Current f = 1MHz	IDD	-	-	4	mA
Supply Current f = 2MHz	IDD	-	-	8	mA
Capacitance	C				pF
$(V_{IN} = 0, I_A = 25^{-}C, f = 1MHz)$	Con	-	_	5	
Data	MN	-	-	10	
A0-A15, R/W, SYNC	Cout	-	-	10	
Ø0 (IN)	CØ0 (IN)	-	-	10	



Note: All timing is referenced from a high voltage of 2.0 volts and a low voltage of 0.8 volts.

NEW INSTRUCTION MNEMONICS

HEX	MNEMONIC	DESCRIPTION
80	BRA	Branch relative always [Relative]
3A	DEA	Decrement accumulator [Accum]
1A	INA	Increment accumulator [Accum]
DA	PHX	Push X on stack [Implied]
5A	PHY	Push Y on stack [Implied]
FA	PLX	Pull X from stack [Implied]
7A	PLY	Pull Y from stack [Implied]
90	STZ	Store zero [Absolute]
9E	STZ	Store zero [ABS, X]
64	STZ	Store zero [Zero page]
74	STZ	Store zero [ZPG,X]
10	TRB	Test and reset memory bits with accumulator [Absolute]
14	TRB	Test and reset memory bits with accumulator [Zero page
OC	TSB	Test and set memory bits with accumulator [Absolute]
04	TSB	Test and set memory bits with accumulator [Zero page]

ADDITIONAL INSTRUCTION ADDRESSING MODES

HEX	MNEMONIC	DESCRIPTION
72	ADC	Add memory to accumulator with carry [(ZPG)]
32	AND	"AND" memory with accumulator [(ZPG)]
3C	BIT	Test memory bits with accumulator [ABS, X]
34	BIT	Test memory bits with accumulator [ZPG, X]
D2	CMP	Compare memory and accumulator [(ZPG)]
52	EOR	"Exclusive Or" memory with accumulator [(ZPG)]
7C	JMP	Jump (New addressing mode) [ABS(IND,X)]
B2	LDA	Load accumulator with memory [(ZPG)]
12	ORA	"OR" memory with accumulator [(ZPG)]
F2	SBC	Subtract memory from accumulator with borrow [(ZPG)]
92	STA	Store accumulator in memory [(ZPG)]

Appendix A: The 65C02 Microprocessor

MICROPROCESSOR PROGRAMMING MODEL



FUNCTIONAL DESCRIPTION

Timing Control

The timing control unit keeps track of the instruction cycle being monitored. The unit is set to zero each time an instruction fetch is executed and is advanced at the beginning of each phase one clock pulse for as many cycles as is required to complete the instruction. Each data transfer which takes place between the registers depends upon decoding the contents of both the instruction register and the timing control unit.

Program Counter

The 16-bit program counter provides the addresses which step the microprocessor through sequential instructions in a program.

Each time the microprocessor fetches an instruction from program memory, the lower byte of the program counter (PCL) is placed on the low-order bits of the address bus and the higher byte of the program counter (PCH) is placed on the high-order 8 bits. The counter is incremented each time an instruction or data is fetched from program memory.

Instruction Register and Decode

Instructions fetched from memory are gated onto the internal data bus. These instructions are latched into the instruction register, then decoded, along with timing and interrupt signals, to generate control signals for the various registers.

Arithmetic and Logic Unit (ALU)

All arithmetic and logic operations take place in the ALU including incrementing and decrementing internal registers (except the program counter). The ALU has no internal memory and is used only to perform logical and transient numerical operations.



Accumulator

The accumulator is a general purpose 8-bit register that stores the results of most arithmetic and logic operations, and in addition, the accumulator usually contains one of the two data words used in these operations.

Index Registers

There are two 8-bit index registers (X and Y), which may be used to count program steps or to provide an index value to be used in generating an effective address. When executing an instruction which specifies indexed addressing, the CPU fetches the op code and the base address, and modifies the address by adding the index register to it prior to performing the desired operation. Pre- or post-indexing of indirect addresses is possible (see addressing modes).

Stack Pointer

The stack pointer is an 8-bit register used to control the addressing of the variable-length stack on page one. The stack pointer is automatically incremented and decremented under control of the microprocessor to perform stack manipulations under direction of either the program or interrupts (NMI and IRQ). The stack allows simple implementation of nested subroutines and multiple level interrupts. The stack pointer should be initialized before any interrupts or stack operations occur.

Processor Status Register

The 8-bit processor status register contains seven status flags. Some of the flags are controlled by the program, others may be controlled both by the program and the CPU. The 6500 instruction set contains a number of conditional branch instructions which are designed to allow testing of these flags (see microprocessor programming model).

1

-

AC CHARACTERISTICS V_{DD} = 5.0V ± 5%, T_A = 0°C to 70°C, Load = 1 TTL + 130 pF

		1N	1HZ	21	Лнz	31	HZ	
Parameter	Symbol	Min	Max	Min	Max	Min	Max	Unit
Delay Time, Øg (IN) to Ø2 (OUT)	tDLY	-	60	-	60	20	60	nS
Delay Time, Ø1 (OUT) to Ø2 (OUT)	t _{DLY1}	-20	20	-20	20	-20	20	nS
Cycle Time	tere	1.0	5000*	0.50	5000*	0.33	5000*	μs
Clock Pulse Width Low	tPL	460	-	220	-	160	_	nS
Clock Pulse Width High	t _{PH}	460	-	220	-	160	-	nS
Fall Time, Rise Time	t _F , t _R	-	25	-	25	-	25	nS
Address Hold Time	t _{AH}	20	-	20	-	0	-	nS
Address Setup Time	tADS	-	225	-	140		110	nS
Access Time	tACC	650	-	310	-	170	-	nS
Read Data Hold Time	tohr	10	-	10	-	10	-	nS
Read Data Setup Time	tosu	100	-	60	-	60	-	nS
Write Data Delay Time	t _{MDS}	-	30	-	30	-	30	nS
Write Data Hold Time	tohw	20	-	20	-	15	-	nS
SO Setup Time	tso	100	-	100	-	100	-	nS
Processor Control Setup Time**	tPCS	200	-	150	-	150	-	nS
SYNC Setup Time	tSYNC	-	225	-	140	-	100	nS
ML Setup Time	tML	-	225	-	140	-	100	nS
Input Clock Rise/Fall Time	troo, troo	-	25	-	25	-	25	nS

*NCR65C02 can be held static with Ø 2 high.

**This parameter must only be met to guarantee that the signal will be recognized at the current clock cycle.

MICROPROCESSOR OPERATIONAL ENHANCEMENTS

Function	NMOS 6502 Microprocessor	NCR65C02 Microprocessor										
Indexed addressing across page boundary.	Extra read of invalid address.	Extra read of last	instruction	n byte.								
Execution of invalid op codes.	Some terminate only by reset. Results	All are NOPs (reserved for future use).										
	are undefined.	Op Code	Bytes	Cycles								
		X2	2	2								
		X3, X7, XB, XF	1	1								
		44	2	3								
		54, D4, F4	2	4								
		5C	3	8								
		DC, FC	3	4								
Jump indirect, operand = XXFF.	Page address does not increment.	Page address incr additional cycle.	ements an	d adds one								
Read/modify/write instructions at effective address.	One read and two write cycles.	Two read and one	write cyc	le.								
Decimal flag.	Indeterminate after reset.	Initialized to bina reset and interrup	ry mode (I ts.	D=0) after								
Flags after decimal operation.	Invalid N, V and Z flags.	Valid flag adds	one additio	onal cycle.								
Interrupt after fetch of BRK instruc- tion.	Interrupt vector is loaded, BRK vector is ignored.	BRK is executed, then interrupt is executed.										

MICROPROCESSOR HARDWARE ENHANCEMENTS

Function	NMOS 6502	NCR65C02
Assertion of Ready RDY during write operations.	Ignored.	Stops processor during Ø2.
Unused input-only pins (IRQ, NMI, RDY, RES, SO).	Must be connected to low impedance signal to avoid noise problems.	Connected internally by a high- resistance to V _{DD} (approximately 250 K ohm.)



NCR65C02 ADDRESSING MODES

Fifteen addressing modes are available to the user of the NCR65C02 microprocessor. The addressing modes are described in the following paragraphs:

Implied Addressing [Implied]

In the implied addressing mode, the address containing the operand is implicitly stated in the operation code of the instruction

Accumulator Addressing [Accum]

This form of addressing is represented with a one byte instruction and implies an operation on the accumulator.

Immediate Addressing [Immediate]

With immediate addressing, the operand is contained in the second byte of the instruction; no further memory addressing is required.

Absolute Addressing [Absolute]

For absolute addressing, the second byte of the instruction specifies the eight low-order bits of the effective address, while the third byte specifies the eight high-order bits. Therefore, this addressing mode allows access to the total 64K bytes of addressable memory.

Zero Page Addressing [Zero Page]

Zero page addressing allows shorter code and execution times by only fetching the second byte of the instruction and assuming a zero high address byte. The careful use of zero page addressing can result in significant increase in code efficiency.

Absolute Indexed Addressing [ABS, X or ABS, Y] Absolute indexed addressing is used in conjunction with X or Y index register and is referred to as "Absolute, X," and "Absolute, Y." The effective address is formed by adding the contents of X or Y to the address contained in the second and third bytes of the instruction. This mode allows the index register to contain the index or count value and the instruction to contain the base address. This type of indexing allows any location referencing and the index to modify multiple fields, resulting in reduced coding and execution time.

Zero Page Indexed Addressing [ZPG, X or ZPG, Y] Zero page absolute addressing is used in conjunction with the index register and is referred to as "Zero Page, X" or "Zero Page, Y." The effective address is calculated by adding the second byte to the contents of the index register. Since this is a form of "Zero Page" addressing, the content of the second byte references a location in page zero. Additionally, due to the "Zero Page" addressing nature of this mode, no carry is added to the highorder eight bits of memory, and crossing of page boundaries does not occur.

Relative Addressing [Relative]

Relative addressing is used only with branch instructions;

it establishes a destination for the conditional branch. The second byte of the instruction becomes the operand which is an "Offset" added to the contents of the program counter when the counter is set at the next instruction. The range of the offset is -128 to +127 bytes from the next instruction.

Zero Page Indexed Indirect Addressing [(IND, X)]

With zero page indexed indirect addressing (usually referred to as indirect X) the second byte of the instruction is added to the contents of the X index register; the carry is discarded. The result of this addition points to a memory location on page zero whose contents is the low-order eight bits of the effective address. The next memory location in page zero contains the high-order eight bits of the effective address. Both memory locations specifying the high- and low-order bytes of the effective address must be in page zero

Absolute Indexed Indirect Addressing [ABS(IND, X)] (Jump Instruction Only)

With absolute indexed indirect addressing the contents of the second and third instruction bytes are added to the X register. The result of this addition, points to a memory location containing the lower-order eight bits of the effective address. The next memory location contains the higher-order eight bits of the effective address.

Indirect Indexed Addressing [(IND), Y]

This form of addressing is usually referred to as Indirect, Y. The second byte of the instruction points to a mem-ory location in page zero. The contents of this memory location are added to the contents of the Y index regis ter, the result being the low-order eight bits of the effec-tive address. The carry from this addition is added to the contents of the next page zero memory location, the result being the high-order eight bits of the effective address.

*Zero Page Indirect Addressing [(ZPG)]

In the zero page indirect addressing mode, the second byte of the instruction points to a memory location on page zero containing the low-order byte of the effective address. The next location on page zero contains the high-order byte of the effective address.

Absolute Indirect Addressing [(ABS)]

(Jump Instruction Only)

The second byte of the instruction contains the low-order eight bits of a memory location. The high-order eight bits of that memory location is contained in the third byte of the instruction. The contents of the fully specified memory location is the low-order byte of the effective address. The next memory location contains the high-order byte of the effective address which is loaded into the 16 bit program counter.

NOTE: * = New Address Modes

SIGNAL DESCRIPTION

Address Bus (A0-A15)

A0-A15 forms a 16-bit address bus for memory and I/O exchanges on the data bus. The output of each address line is TTL compatible, capable of driving one standard TTL load and 130pF

Clocks (\emptyset_0 , \emptyset_1 , and \emptyset_2) \emptyset_0 is a TTL level input that is used to generate the internal clocks in the 6502. Two full level output clocks are generated by the 6502. The \mathcal{Q}_2 clock output is in phase with Ø0. The Ø1 output pin is 180° out of phase with Ø0. (See timing diagram.)

Data Bus (D0-D7)

The data lines (D0-D7) constitute an 8-bit bidirectional data bus used for data exchanges to and from the device and peripherals. The outputs are three-state buffers capable of driving one TTL load and 130 pF.

Interrupt Request (IRQ)

This TTL compatible input requests that an interrupt sequence begin within the microprocessor. The \overline{IRQ} is sampled during Q_2 operation; if the interrupt flag in the processor status register is zero, the current instruction is completed and the interrupt sequence begins during Ø 1. The program counter and processor status register In program counter and processor status register are stored in the stack. The microprocessor will then set the interrupt mask flag high so that no further IRQs may occur. At the end of this cycle, the program counter low will be loaded from address FFFE, and program counter high from location FFFF, transferring program control to the memory vector located at these addresses. The RDY signal must be in the high state for any interrupt to be recognized. A 3K ohm external resistor should be used for proper wire OR operation.

Memory Lock (ML)

In a multiprocessor system, the ML output indicates the need to defer the rearbitration of the next bus cycle to ensure the integrity of read-modify-write instructions. ML goes low during ASL, DEC, INC, LSR, ROL, ROR, TRB, TSB memory referencing instructions. This signal is low for the modify and write cycles.

Non-Maskable Interrupt (NMI)

A negative-going edge on this input requests that a non-maskable interrupt sequence be generated within the microprocessor. The $\overline{NM1}$ is sampled during \emptyset_2 ; the current instruction is completed and the interrupt sequence begins during 01. The program counter is loaded with the interrupt vector from locations FFFA (low byte) and FFFB (high byte), thereby transferring program control to the non-maskable interrupt routine.

Note: Since this interrupt is non-maskable, another NMI can occur before the first is finished. Care should be taken when using $\overline{\rm NMI}$ to avoid this.

Ready (RDY)

This input allows the user to single-cycle the microprocessor on all cycles including write cycles. A negative transition to the low state, during or coincident with phase one (01), will halt the microprocessor with the output address lines reflecting the current address being fetched. This condition will remain through a subsequent phase two (02) in which the ready signal is low. This feature allows microprocessor interfacing with low-speed memory as well as direct memory access (DMA).

Reset (RES)

This input is used to reset the microprocessor. Reset must be held low for at least two clock cycles after VDD reaches operating voltage from a power down. A positive transistion on this pin will then cause an initiali-zation sequence to begin. Likewise, after the system has been operating, a low on this line of at least two cycles will cease microprocessing activity, followed by initial-ization after the positive edge on RES.

When a positive edge is detected, there is an initialization sequence lasting six clock cycles. Then the interrupt mask flag is set, the decimal mode is cleared, and the program counter is loaded with the restart vector from loca-tions FFFC (low byte) and FFFD (high byte). This is the start location for program control. This input should be high in normal operation.

Read/Write (R/W)

This signal is normally in the high state indicating that the microprocessor is reading data from memory or I/O bus. In the low state the data bus has valid data from the microprocessor to be stored at the addressed memory location.

Set Overflow (SO)

A negative transition on this line sets the overflow bit in the status code register. The signal is sampled on the trailing edge of Ø1.

Synchronize (SYNC)

This output line is provided to identify those cycles during which the microprocessor is doing an OP CODE fetch. The SYNC line goes high during \emptyset_1 of an OP CODE fetch and stays high for the remainder of that cycle. If the RDY line is pulled low during the Ø1 clock pulse in which SYNC went high, the processor will stop in its current state and will remain in the state until the RDY line goes high. In this manner, the SYNC signal can be used to control RDY to cause single instruction execution.

NCR65C02 INSTRUCTION SET — ALPHABETICAL SEQUENCE ADC Add Memory to Accumulator with Cerry AND "AND" Memory with Accumulator ASL Shift One Bit Left BCC Branch on Carry Clear BCS Branch on Carry Clear BCS Branch on Carry Ste BEG Branch on Result Zero BIT Test Memory Bits with Accumulator BMI Branch on Result Tot Zero BPL Branch on Result Nus BRA Force Break BYS Branch Anways BRA Force Break BYS Branch on Overflow Clear CLC Clear Cerry Flag CLD Clear Decimal Mode CLI Clear Interrupt Disable Bit CLV Clear Overflow Flag CMP Compare Memory and Index X CPY Compare Memory with Accumulator INC Increment Index X by One INX Increment Index X by One INX Increment Index X by One INY Increment Index Y by One INY Increment Index Y by One INY Increment Me Location Saving Return Address LDA Load Accumulator with Memory Note: * = New Instruction SEQUENCE LDX Load Index X with Memory LDY Load Index Y with Memory LR Shift One Bit Right NOP No Operation ORA "OR" Memory with Accumulator PHA Push Processor Status on Stack PHP Push Index X on Stack PHP Push Index Y on Stack PHY Push Index Y on Stack PLA Pull Processor Status from Stack PLA Pull Processor Status from Stack PLA Pull Processor Status from Stack PLY Pull Index X from Stack PLX Pull Index X from Stack ROL Rotate One Bit Left ROR Rotate One Bit Right RTT Return from Interrupt RTS Return from Subroutine SEC Subtract Memory from Accumulator with Borrow SEC Set Derive Index X in Memory STX Store Index X in Memory STX Store Index X in Memory TAX Transfer Accumulator to Index X TAY Transfer Accumulator to Index X TAS Transfer Accumulator to Index X TAS Transfer Index X to Accumulator TSB Test and Best Memory Bits with Accumulator TST Transfer Index X to Accumulator TXA Transfer Index X to Accumulator

- Note: * = New Instruction

MICROPROCESSOR OP CODE TABLE

SD	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	A	в	c	D	E	F	
0	BRK	ORA ind, X			TSB* zpg	ORA zpg	ASL zpg		РНР	ORA	ASL		TSB* abs	ORA abs	ASL abs		0
1	BPL rel	ORA ind, Y	ORA*† (zpg)		TRB* zpg	ORA zpg, X	ASL zpg, X		CLC	ORA abs, Y	INA* A		TRB* abs	ORA abs, X	ASL abs, X		1
2	JSR abs	AND ind, X			BIT zpg	AND zpg	ROL		PLP	AND imm	ROL		BIT abs	AND abs	ROL abs		2
3	BMI rel	AND ind, Y	AND*† (zpg)		BIT* zpg, X	AND zpg, X	ROL zpg, X		SEC	AND abs, Y	DEA*		BIT*† abs, X	AND abs, X	ROL abs, X		3
4	RTI	EOR ind, X				EOR zpg	LSR zpg		РНА	EOR	LSR A		JMP abs	EOR abs	LSR abs		4
5	BVC	EOR ind, Y	EOR + 1 (zpg)			EOR zpg, X	LSR zpg, X		CLI	EOR abs, Y	PHY.			EOR abs, X	LSR abs, X		5
6	RTS	ADC ind, X			STZ* zpg	ADC zpg	ROR zpg		PLA	ADC imm	ROR		JMP (abs)	ADC abs	ROR abs		6
7	BVS rel	ADC ind, Y	ADC*† (zpg)		STZ* zpg, X	ADC zpg, X	ROR zpg, X		SEI	ADC abs, Y	PLY.		JMP*† abs (ind, X)	ADC abs, X	ROR abs, X		7
8	BRA* rel	STA ind, X			STY zpg	STA zpg	STX zpg		DEY	BIT*	TXA		STY abs	STA abs	STX abs		8
9	BCC	STA ind, Y	STA • † (zpg)		STY zpg, X	STA zpg, X	STX zpg, Y		TYA	STA abs, Y	TXS		STZ* abs	STA abs, X	STZ* abs, X		9
A	LDY	LDA ind, X	LDX		LDY zpg	LDA zpg	LDX zpg		TAY	LDA	TAX		LDY abs	LDA abs	LDX abs		A
В	BCS rel	LDA ind, Y	LDA*† (zpg)		LDY zpg, X	LDA zpg, X	LDX zpg, Y		CLV	LDA abs, Y	TSX		LDY abs, X	LDA abs, X	LDX abs, Y		B
С	CPY	CMP ind, X			CPY zpg	CMP zpg	DEC zpg		INY	CMP	DEX		CPY abs	CMP abs	DEC		С
D	BNE	CMP ind, Y	CMP+† (zpg)			CMP zpg, X	DEC zpg, X		CLD	CMP abs, Y	PHX.			CMP abs, X	DEC abs, X		D
E	CPX	SBC ind, X			CPX zpg	SBC			INX	SBC	NOP		CPX abs	SBC abs	INC abs		E
F	BEQ rel	SBC ind, Y	SBC*† (zpg)			SBC zpg, X	INC zpg, X		SED	SBC abs, Y	PLX*			SBC abs, X	INC abs, X		F
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	A	в	с	D	E	F	

Note: * = New OP Codes

Note: † = New Address Modes

OPERATIONAL CODES, EXECUTION TIME, AND MEMORY REQUIREMENTS

			DI	ME	1	485	SO-	Z	ER	O	AC	CCUM		IM-		(IN X		D. (INI		ND	1,	ZPI	G. S	x	ZPG	Y	A	BS	×	A	s	Y	RE		1	485		A	BS		79	G		PF	ROF	CES	so	R	-	
MALE	OREDATION	1	-	T	İ.	-	T	1	T			Π	t	T	T		T	T		T			Π		T	T		T	T		T I			Ť	ť	T	Í		Î	1	T	Ť	7	6	5	4 3	3 2	10		
ADC AND ASL BCC BCS	A + M + C + A (1, A ∧ M + A (1) C + ℓ _ S + o (1) Branch if C=0 (2) Branch if C=1 (2)	,3))))	69 29	n 2 2	2 6 2 2 0		4	3 65 3 25 3 06	5 3 5 3 5 5	2222	0A	2	1	38 4		6	1 6	2	71	55	222	OP 75 35 16	446	2222			OF 70 30 18		333	OP 79 39	n 4 4	33	90 90	2 2 2		'n		OP	n	72	2 5	5 2 2	2 2 2 2 .	v v v v v		<u>B</u> C	<u>)</u>	Z		ANE ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND
BEQ BIT BMI BNE BPL) ,5)))	89	2	2 2	c	4	3 24	4 3	2												34	4	2			30		3				F0 30 D0	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2									- M7	• Me				z	8888	IEQ IIT IMI INE
BRA BRK BVC BVS CLC	Branch Always (2) Break Branch if V=0 (2) Branch if V=1 (2) 0 * C)											1	8	7 1																		80 50 70	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2												1 .	1		88800	IRK IVC IVS CLC
CLD CLI CLV CMP CPX	0 • D 0 • I 0 • V A • M X • M (1)	,	C9 E0	2 2	2 0	D	44	3 CI	5 3	22			0.5 8	08 18 18	2 1 2 1 2 1	c	1 6	5 2	D	1 5	2	D5	4	2			D		3	Dg	4	3								D	2 5	5 2		0			0	zcz	00000	LD
CPY DEA DEC DEX DEY	Y · M A · 1 * A M · 1 * M X · 1 * X Y · 1 * Y		CO	2	2 0	E	4	3 C4	4 3	2 2	3A	2	1 0 8	A :	2 1							D6	6	2			DI	EE	3														22222					2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	00000	PY DEA DEC DEX DEY
EOR INA INC INX INY	A ¥ M + A A + 1 + A M + 1 + M X + 1 + X Y + 1 + Y (1)		49	2	2 4	E	6	3 45 3 E	5 3	2	1A	2	E	8	2 1	4	1 6	2	51	5	2	55 F6	4	2			5C	EE	3	59	4	3								52	2 5	2	22222					Z Z Z Z Z Z Z	EIIIII	NA NC NX NY
JMP JSR LDA LDX LDY	Jump to new loc Jump Subroutine M * A (1) M * X (1) M * Y (1)		A9 A2 A0	2 2 2	4 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	IC D E C	3 6 4 4 4	3 A1	53	222						A	1 6	2	B	5	2	85 84	4 4	2 8	36	4 2	BC		13	89 8E	44	33			60	6	3	70	6 3	BZ	2 5	5 2	222					Z	リントレ	MP SR DA DX DY
LSR NOP ORA PHA PHP	$0 \rightarrow (7 - 0) \rightarrow (C - (1))$ $PC + 1 \rightarrow PC$ $A \lor M + A - (1)$ $A \ast M_{5} S \cdot 1 \Rightarrow S$ $P \ast M_{5} S \cdot 1 \Rightarrow S$		9	2	4	IE ID	4	3 46	5 3	2	4A	2	1 4 0	A :	2 1 3 1 3 1	0	1 6	2	11	5	2	56 15	6	2			58		3	19	4	3								1:	2 5	5 2	0.0					z	LZOPP	SR IOP RA HA
PHX PHY PLA PLP PLX	x • M ₅ S - 1 + S Y • M ₅ S - 1 + S S + 1 • S M ₅ • A S + 1 • S M ₅ • P S + 1 • S M ₅ • X												CSENE	A	3 1 3 1 4 1 4 1																												222	v		1 0		z	P P P P	HYLALLX
PLY ROL ROR RTI RTS	S + 1 + S M, + Y (1) + C+ (1) + C+ (1) + C+ Return from Inter. Return from Subr.	(1)			26	E	6	8 26	55	22	2A 6A	2 1	7 4 6		1 1 5 1 5 1							36 76	6	22			3E 7E		33														2222	• • • • •		1 0		Z	PRRRR	OL OR TI
SBC SEC SED SEI STA	A M C+A (1,3 1+C 1+D 1+I A+M	3)	E9	2 1	8	D	4 3	8 E5	3	2 2			3 4 7	8 8 8	2 1 2 1	8	6	2	F1	5	2 2	F5	4	2			F(0 4	3	F9	4 5	3								F:	2 5	5 2	2	>		1		ZC	SISIS	BC EC ED EI
STX STY STZ TAX TAY	X • M Y • M OO • M A • X A • Y				889	IE IC IC	444	86 84 64	333	222			AA	AB	2 1							94 74	4	2 2	96	4 2	96	5	3													T					* 7.954	2.2	S'S'T	TY
TRB TSB TSX TXA TXS	A ∧ M + M (4) A ∨ M + M (4) S + X X + A X + S				10	CC	66	8 14	5	22			889	AZAZ	1																																	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2		AB SB SX XA
TYA	Y*A	1		1	T		1	T	1	1		1	9	8 2	1	1	t	1	-	1	Ħ	-	tt	+	+	t	1	+	+	-	H	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	H	+	+	+	NI.	* *		11	0	7	-	

 Notes:
 1. Add 1 to "n" if page boundary is crossed.
 X. Index X

 2. Add 1 to "n" if branch occurs to same page.
 Y. Index Y

 Add 2 to "n" if branch occurs to different page.
 Y. Index Y

 Add 1 to "n" if branch occurs to different page.
 A. Accumulator

 3. Add 1 to "n" if decimal mode.
 M. Memory per etal.

 4. V bit equals memory bit 6 prior to execution.
 Ms. Memory per s

 N bit equals memory bit 7 prior to execution.
 Ms. Memory per s

 *5. The immediate addressing mode of the BIT instruction leaves bits 6 & 7 (V & N) in the Processor Status Code Register unchanged.
 V

X Index X Y Index Y A Accumulator M Memory per effective address Ms Memory per stack pointer

+ Add - Subtract ∧ And V Or + Exclusive or

n No. Cycles # No. Bytes M6 Memory bit 6 M7 Memory bit 7

216



Here is a list of useful subroutines in the Apple IIe's Monitor. To use these subroutines from machine-language programs, store data into the specified memory locations or microprocessor registers as required by the subroutine and execute a JSR to the subroutine's starting address. After the subroutine performs its function, it returns with the 65C02's registers changed as described.

▲ Warning

For the sake of compatibility between the Apple II Plus, Apple IIc, and the Apple IIe, do not jump into the middle of Monitor subroutines. The starting addresses are the same for all models of the Apple II, but the actual code is different.

BASICIN Read the keyboard

\$C305

When the 80-column firmware is active, BASICIN is used instead of KEYIN. BASICIN operates like KEYIN except that it displays a solid, non-blinking cursor instead of a blinking checkerboard cursor.

BASICOUT Output to screen

\$C307

When the 80-column firmware is active, BASICOUT is used instead of COUT1. BASICOUT displays the character in the accumulator on the Apple IIe's screen at the current output cursor position and advances the output cursor. It places the character using the setting of the Normal/Inverse location. It handles control codes; see Table 3-3b. BASICOUT returns with all registers intact.

BELL Output a bell character \$FF3A

BELL writes a bell (Control-G) character to the current output device. It leaves the accumulator holding \$87.

BELL1 Sends a beep to the speaker \$FBDD

BELL1 generates a 1 kHz tone in the Apple IIe's speaker for 0.1 second. It scrambles the A and X registers.

CLREOL Clear to end of line \$FC9C

CLREOL clears a text line from the cursor position to the right edge of the window. CLREOL destroys the contents of A and Y.
CLEOLZ Clear to end of line

\$FC9E

\$FC42

CLEOLZ clears a text line to the right edge of the window, starting at the location given by base address BASL, which is indexed by the contents of the Y register. CLEOLZ destroys the contents of A and Y.

CLREOP Clear to end of window

CLREOP clears the text window from the cursor position to the bottom of the window. CLREOP destroys the contents of A and Y.

CLRSCR Clear the low-resolution screen \$F832

CLRSCR clears the low-resolution graphics display to black. If you call CLRSCR while the video display is in text mode, it fills the screen with inverse-mode at-sign (@) characters. CLRSCR destroys the contents of A and Y.

CLRTOP Clear the low-resolution screen \$F836

CLRTOP is the same as CLRSCR (above), except that it clears only the top 40 rows of the low-resolution display.

COUT Output a character

COUT calls the current character output subroutine. The character to be output should be in the accumulator. COUT calls the subroutine whose address is stored in CSW (locations \$36 and \$37), which is usually one of the standard character output subroutines, COUT1 or BASICOUT.

COUT1 Output to screen

\$FDF0

\$FDED

COUT1 displays the character in the accumulator on the Apple IIe's screen at the current output cursor position and advances the output cursor. It places the character using the setting of the Normal/Inverse location. It handles the codes for carriage return, linefeed, backspace, and bell. It returns with all registers intact.

CROUT Generate a carriage return character \$FD8E

CROUT sends a carriage return character to the current output device.

CROUT1 Generate carriage return, clear rest of line \$FD8B

CROUT1 clears the screen from the current cursor position to the edge of the text window, then calls CROUT.

GETLN Get an input line with prompt \$FD6A GETLN is the standard input subroutine for entire lines of characters, as described in Chapter 3. Your program calls GETLN with the prompt character in location \$33; GETLN returns with the input line in the input buffer (beginning at location \$0200) and the X register holding the length of the input line. **GETLNZ** \$FD67 Get an input line GETLNZ is an alternate entry point for GETLN that sends a carriage return to the standard output, then continues into GETLN. GETLN1 Get an input line, no prompt \$FD6F GETLN1 is an alternate entry point for GETLN that does not issue a prompt before it accepts the input line. If, however, the user cancels the input line, either with too many backspaces or with a CONTROL X, then GETLN1 will issue the contents of location \$33 as a prompt when it gets another line. HLINE Draw a horizontal line of blocks \$F819 HLINE draws a horizontal line of blocks of the color set by SETCOL on the low-resolution graphics display. Call HLINE with the vertical coordinate of the line in the accumulator, the leftmost horizontal coordinate in the Y register, and the rightmost horizontal coordinate in location \$2C. HLINE returns with A and Y scrambled, X intact. HOME Home cursor and clear \$FC58 HOME clears the display and puts the cursor in the home position: the upper-left corner of the screen. \$FF3F IOREST Restore all registers IOREST loads the 65C02's internal registers with the contents of memory locations \$45 through \$49. IOSAVE Save all registers \$FF4A IOSAVE stores the contents of the 65C02's internal registers in locations \$45 through \$49 in the order A, X, Y, P, S. The contents of A and X are changed and the decimal mode is cleared.

KEYIN Read the keyboard

\$FD1B

\$FE2C

KEYIN is the keyboard input subroutine. It reads the Apple IIe's keyboard, waits for a keypress, and randomizes the random number seed at \$4E-\$4F. When a key is pressed, KEYIN removes the blinking cursor from the display and returns with the keycode in the accumulator. KEYIN is described in Chapter 3.

MOVE Move a block of memory

MOVE copies the contents of memory from one range of locations to another. This subroutine is the same as the MOVE command in the Monitor, except that it takes its arguments from pairs of locations in memory, low-byte first. The destination address must be in A4 (\$42-\$43), the starting source address in A1 (\$3C-\$3D), and the ending source address in A2 (\$3E-\$3F) when your program calls MOVE. Register Y must contain \$00 when your program calls MOVE.

NEXTCOL Increment color by 3

\$F85F

NEXTCOL adds 3 to the current color (set by SETCOL) used for low-resolution graphics.

PLOT Plot on the low-resolution screen \$F800

PLOT puts a single block of the color value set by SETCOL on the low-resolution display screen. The block's vertical position is passed in the accumulator, its horizontal position in the Y register. PLOT returns with the accumulator scrambled, but X and Y intact.

PRBLNK Print three spaces

\$F948

\$F94A

PRBLNK outputs three blank spaces to the standard output device. On return, the accumulator usually contains \$A0, the X register contains 0.

PRBL2 Print many blank spaces

PRBL2 outputs from 1 to 256 blanks to the standard output device. Upon entry, the X register should contain the number of blanks to be output. If X=\$00, then PRBL2 will output 256 blanks.

PRBYTE Print a hexadecimal byte \$FDDA

PRBYTE outputs the contents of the accumulator in hexadecimal on the current output device. The contents of the accumulator are scrambled.

PREAD Read a hand control \$FB1E PREAD returns a number that represents the position of a hand control. You pass the number of the hand control in the X register. If this number is not valid (not equal to 0, 1, 2, or 3), strange things may happen. PREAD returns with a number from \$00 to \$FF in the Y register. The accumulator is scrambled. PRERR Print ERR \$FF2D PRERR sends the word ERR, followed by a bell character, to the standard output device. On return, the accumulator is scrambled. \$FDE3 PRHEX Print a hexadecimal digit digit. On return, the contents of the accumulator are scrambled. Print A and X in hexadecimal \$F941 PRNTAX PRNTAX prints the contents of the A and X registers as a four-digit hexadecimal value. The accumulator contains the first byte output, the X register contains the second. On return, the contents of the accumulator are scrambled. \$FD35 RDCHAR Get an input character or escape code RDCHAR is an alternate input subroutine that gets characters from the standard input subroutine, and also interprets the escape codes listed in Chapter 3. RDKEY Get an input character stored in KSW (locations \$38 and \$39), usually the standard input subroutine KEYIN, which returns with a character in the accumulator. Read a record from a cassette \$FEFD READ READ reads a series of tones at the cassette input port, converts them to data bytes, and stores the data in a specified range of memory locations. and the address of the last byte must be in A2 (\$3E-\$3F).

PRHEX prints the lower nibble of the accumulator as a single hexadecimal

\$FD0C

RDKEY is the character input subroutine. It places a blinking cursor on the display at the cursor position and jumps to the subroutine whose address is

Before calling READ, the address of the first byte must be in A1 (\$3C-\$3D)

READ keeps a running exclusive-OR of the data bytes in CHKSUM (\$2E). When the last memory location has been filled, READ reads one more byte and compares it with CHKSUM. If they are equal, READ sends out a beep and returns; if not, it sends the string *ERR* through COUT, sends the beep, and returns.

SCRN Read the low-resolution graphics screen \$F871

SCRN returns the color value of a single block on the low-resolution graphics display. Call it with the vertical position of the block in the accumulator and the horizontal position in the Y register. Call it as you would call PLOT (above). The color of the block will be returned in the accumulator. No other registers are changed.

SETCOL Set low-resolution graphics color \$F864

SETCOL sets the color used for plotting in low-resolution graphics to the value passed in the accumulator. The colors and their values are listed in Table 2-6.

SETINV Set inverse mode

SETINV sets the dislay format to inverse. COUT1 will then display all output characters as black dots on a white background. The Y register is set to \$3F, all others are unchanged.

SETNORM Set normal mode

SETNORM sets the display format to normal. COUT1 will then display all output characters as white dots on a black background. On return, the Y register is set to \$FF, all others are unchanged.

VERIFY Compare two blocks of memory

VERIFY compares the contents of one range of memory to another. This subroutine is the same as the VERIFY command in the Monitor, except it takes its arguments from pairs of locations in memory, low-byte first. The destination address must be in A4 (\$42-\$43), the starting source address in A1 (\$3C-\$3D), and the ending source address in A2 (\$3E-\$3F) when your program calls VERIFY.

\$FE80 all

\$FE84

\$FE36

VLINE Draw a vertical line of blocks

VLINE draws a vertical line of blocks of the color set by SETCOL on the low-resolution display. You should call VLINE with the horizontal coordinate of the line in the Y register, the top vertical coordinate in the accumulator, and the bottom vertical coordinate in location \$2D. VLINE will return with the accumulator scrambled.

WAIT Delay

\$FCA8

\$F828

WAIT delays for a specific amount of time, then returns to the program that called it. The amount of delay is specified by the contents of the accumulator. The delay is $1/2(26+27A+5A^2)$ microseconds, where A is the contents of the accumulator. WAIT returns with the accumulator zeroed and the X and Y registers undisturbed.

WRITE Write a record on a cassette

\$FECD

WRITE converts the data in a range of memory to a series of tones at the cassette output port. Before calling WRITE, the address of the first data byte must be in A1 (\$3C-\$3D) and the address of the last byte must be in A2 (\$3E-\$3F). The subroutine writes a ten-second continuous tone as a header, then writes the data followed by a one-byte checksum.



This appendix lists the differences among the Apple II Plus, the original and the enhanced Apple IIe, and the Apple IIc.

If you're trying to write software to run on more than one version of the Apple II, this appendix will help you avoid unexpected problems of incompatibility.

The differences are listed here in approximately the order you are likely to encounter them: obvious differences first, technical details later. Each entry in the list includes references to the chapters in this manual where the item is described.

Keyboard

The Apple IIe and Apple IIc have a full 62-key uppercase and lowercase keyboard. The keyboard includes fully-operational <u>SHIFT</u> and <u>CAPS LOCK</u> keys. It also includes four directional arrow keys for moving the cursor. Chapter 2 includes a description of the keyboard. The cursor-motion keys are described in Chapter 3.

Apple Keys

The keyboard of the Apple IIe and Apple IIc have two keys marked with the Apple logo. These keys, called the Open-Apple key (() and Solid-Apple key (), are used with the **RESET** key to select special reset functions. They are connected to the buttons on the hand controls, so they can be used for special functions in programs.

The Apple II and the Apple II Plus do not have Apple keys.

Character Sets

The Apple IIe and Apple IIc can display the full ASCII character set, uppercase and lowercase. For compatibility with older Apple II's, the standard display character set includes flashing uppercase instead of inverse-format lowercase; you can also switch to an alternate character set with inverse lowercase and uppercase, but no flashing. Chapter 2 includes a description of the display character sets. Chapter 3 tells you how to switch display formats. The Apple IIc and the enhanced Apple IIe include a set of "graphic" text characters, called MouseText characters, that replace some of the inverse uppercase characters in the alternate character set of the original Apple IIe. MouseText characters are described in Chapter 2.

80-Column Display

With the addition of an 80-column text card, the Apple IIe can display 80 columns of text. The 80-column display is completely compatible with both graphics modes—you can even use it in mixed mode. (If you prefer, you can use an old-style 80-column card in an expansion slot instead.) Chapter 2 includes a description of the 80-column display.

The Apple IIc has a built-in extended 80-column card.

Escape Codes and Control Characters

On the Apple IIe and Apple IIc, the display features mentioned above (and many others not mentioned) can be controlled from the keyboard by escape sequences and from programs by control characters. Chapter 3 includes descriptions of those escape codes and control characters.

Built-in Language Card

The 16K bytes of RAM you add to the Apple II Plus by installing the Language Card is built into the Apple IIe and Apple IIc, giving the Apple IIe a standard memory size of 64K bytes. (The Apple IIc has a built-in extended 80-column text card as well, giving it a standard memory size of 128K bytes.) In the Apple IIe, this 16K-byte block of memory is called the bank-switched memory. It is described in Chapter 4.

Auxiliary Memory

By installing the Apple IIe Extended 80-Column Text Card, you can add an alternate 64K bytes of RAM to the Apple IIe. Chapter 4 tells you how to use the additional memory. (The Extended 80-Column Text Card also provides the 80-column display option.)

The Apple IIc has a built-in extended 80-column text card.

Auxiliary Slot

In addition to the expansion slots on the Apple II Plus, the Apple IIe has a special slot that is used either for the 80-Column Text Card or for the Extended 80-Column Text Card. This slot is identified in Chapter 1 and described in Chapter 7.

a disease of the

Ta

The Apple IIc has the functions of the auxiliary slot built in.

Back Panel and Connectors

The Apple IIe has a metal back panel with space for several D-type connectors. Each peripheral card you add comes with a connector that you install in the back panel. Chapter 1 includes a description of the back panel; for details, see the installation instructions supplied with the peripheral cards.

The Apple IIc back panel has seven built-in connectors.

Soft Switches

The display and memory features of the Apple IIe and the Apple IIc are controlled by soft switches like the ones on the Apple II Plus. On the Apple IIe and the Apple IIc, programs can also read the settings of the soft switches. Chapter 2 describes the soft switches that control the display features, and Chapter 4 describes the soft switches that control the memory features.

Appendix C: Apple II Family Differences

Built-in Self-Test

The Apple IIe has built-in firmware that includes a self-test routine. The self-test is intended primarily for testing during manufacturing, but you can run it to be sure the Apple IIe is working correctly. The self-test is described in Chapter 4.

The Apple IIc also has built-in diagnostics.

Forced Reset

Some programs on the Apple II Plus take control of the reset function to keep users from stopping the machine and copying the program. The Apple IIe and Apple IIc have a forced reset that writes over the program in memory. By using the forced reset, you can restart the Apple IIe (or Apple IIc) without turning power off and on and causing unnecessary stress on the circuits. The forced reset is described in Chapter 4.

Interrupt Handling

Even though most application programs don't use interrupts, the Apple IIe (and Apple IIc) provide for interrupt-driven programs. For example, the 80-column firmware periodically enables interrupts while it is clearing the display (normally a long time to have interrupts locked out). Interrupts are discussed in Chapter 6.

Vertical Sync for Animators

Programs with animation on the Apple IIe and Apple IIc can stay in step with the display and avoid flickering objects in their displays. Chapter 7 includes a description of the video generation and the vertical sync.

Signature Byte

A program can find out whether it's running on an Apple IIe, Apple IIc, Apple III (in emulation mode), or on an older model Apple II by reading the byte at location \$FBB3 in the System Monitor. In the Apple IIe Monitor, this byte's value is \$06; in the Autostart Monitor (the standard Monitor on the Apple II Plus), its value is \$EA. (Note: if you start up with DOS and switch to Integer BASIC, the Autostart Monitor is active and the value at location \$FBB3 is \$EA, even on an Apple IIe.) Obviously, there are lots of other locations that have different values in the different versions of the Monitor; location \$FBB3 was chosen because it will have the value \$06 even in future revisions of the Apple IIe Monitor.

Hardware Implementation

The hardware implementation of the Apple IIe is radically different from the Apple II and Apple II Plus. Three of the more important differences are

- □ the custom ICs: the IOU and MMU
 - \Box the video hardware, which uses ROM to generate both text and graphics
- $\hfill\square$ the peripheral data bus, which is fully buffered.

The Apple IIc

- $\hfill\square$ shares some of the custom ICs of the Apple IIe
- □ has some new ones all its own
- □ lacks the slots of the Apple IIe, replacing some of them with built-in I/O ports.

All of these features are described in Chapter 7.

For more information about the Apple IIc, see the *Apple IIc Reference Manual*.



This appendix is an overview of the characteristics of operating systems and languages when run on the Apple IIe. It is not intended to be a full account. For more information, refer to the manuals that are provided with each product.

Operating Systems

This section discusses the operating systems that can be used with the Apple IIe.

ProDOS

ProDOS is the preferred disk operating system for the Apple IIe. It supports interrupts, startup from drives other than a Disk II, and all other hardware and firmware features of the Apple IIe.

DOS 3.3

The Apple IIe works with DOS 3.3. The Apple IIe can also access DOS 3.2 disks by using the *BASICS* disk. However, neither version of DOS takes full advantage of the features of the Apple IIe. DOS support is provided only for the sake of Apple II series compatibility.

Pascal Operating System

The Apple II Pascal operating system was developed from the UCSD Pascal system from the University of California at San Diego. While it shares many characteristics of that system, it has been extended by Apple in several areas.

Pascal versions 1.2 and later support interrupts and all the hardware and firmware features of the Apple IIe.

The Apple II Pascal system uses a disk format different than either ProDOS or DOS 3.3.

CP/M

CP/M[®] is an operating system developed by Digital Research that runs on either the Intel 8080 or Zilog Z80[®] microprocessors. This means that a co-processor peripheral card, available from several manufacturers for the Apple IIe, is required to run CP/M. Several versions of CP/M from 1.4 through 3.0 and later can be run on an Apple IIe with an appropriate co-processor card.

Languages

This section discusses special techniques to use, and characteristics to be aware of, when using Apple programming languages with the Apple IIe.

Assembly Language

An aid for assembly-language programming is *ProDOS Assembler Tools* (A2W0013).

Programs written in assembly language have the potential of extracting the most speed and efficiency from your Apple IIe, but they also require the most effort on your part.

Applesoft BASIC

The focus of the chapters in this manual is assembly language, and so most addresses and values are given in hexadecimal notation. Appendix E in this manual includes tables to help you convert from hexidecimal to the decimal notation you will need for BASIC.

In BASIC, use a PEEK to read a location (instead of the LDA used in assembly language), and a POKE (instead of STA) to write to a location. If you read a hardware address from a BASIC program, you get a value between 0 and 255. Bit 7 holds a place value of 128, so if a soft switch is on, its value will be equal to or greater than 128; if the switch is off, the value will be less than 128.

Integer BASIC

Integer BASIC is not included in the Apple IIe firmware. If you want to run it on your Apple IIe, you must use DOS 3.3 to load it in to the system. ProDOS does not support Integer BASIC.

Pascal Language

The Pascal language works on the Apple IIe under versions 1.1 and later of the Pascal Operating System. However, for best performance, use Pascal 1.2 or a later version.

FORTRAN

FORTRAN works under version 1.1 of the Pascal Operating System which does not detect or use certain Apple IIe features, such as auxiliary memory. Therefore, FORTRAN does not take advantage of these features.



This appendix briefly discusses bits and bytes and what they can represent. It also contains conversion tables for hexadecimal to decimal and negative decimal, for low-resolution display dot patterns, display color values, and a number of 8-bit codes.

These tables are intended for convenient reference. This appendix is not intended as a tutorial for the materials discussed. The brief section introductions are for orientation only.

Bits and Bytes

This section discusses the relationships between bit values and their position within a byte. The following are some rules of thumb regarding the 65C02 and 6502.

- \Box A bit is a binary digit; it can be either a 0 or a 1.
- □ A bit can be used to represent any two-way choice. Some choices that a bit can represent in the Apple IIe are listed in Table E-1.

Table E-1. What a Bit Can Represent

Context	Representing	0 =	1 =
Binary number Logic	Place value Condition	0 False	1 x that power of 2 True
Any switch Any switch	Position Position	Off Clear *	On Set
Serial transfer Serial transfer Serial transfer Serial transfer Serial transfer	Beginning Data Parity End Communication state	Start 0 value SPACE BREAK	Carrier (no information yet) 1 value MARK Stop bit(s) Carrier
P reg. bit N P reg. bit V P reg. bit B P reg. bit D P reg. bit I P reg. bit Z P reg. bit C	Neg. result? Overflow? BRK command? Decimal mode? IRQ interrupts Zero result? Carry required?	No No No Enabled No No	Yes Yes Yes Disabled (masked out) Yes Yes

* Sometimes ambiguously termed reset.

- □ Bits can also be combined in groups of any size to represent numbers. Most of the commonly used sizes are multiples of four bits.
- \square Four bits comprise a nibble (sometimes spelled *nybble*).
- One nibble can represent any of 16 values. Each of these values is assigned a number from 0 through 9 and (because our decimal system has only ten of the sixteen digits we need) A through F.
- □ Eight bits (two nibbles) make a byte (Figure E-1).

Figure E-1. Bits, Nibbles, and Bytes

	High Nibble			Low Nibble				
MSB 7	6	5	4	3	2	1	LSB 0	1
\$80 128	\$40 64	\$20 32	\$10 16	\$08 8	\$04 4	\$02 2	\$01 1	Hexadecimal Decimal
Binary		Hex	Dec					
0000		\$00	0					
0001		\$01	1					
0010		\$02	2					
0011		\$03	3					
0100		\$04	4					
0101		\$05	5					
0110		\$06	6					
0111		\$07	7					
1000		\$08	8					
1001		\$09	9					
1010		\$0A	10					
1011		\$0B	11					
1100		\$0C	12					
1101		\$0D	13					
1110		\$0E	14					
1111		\$0F	15					

- □ One byte can represent any of 16 x 16 or 256 values. The value can be specified by exactly two hexadecimal digits.
- □ Bits within a byte are numbered from bit 0 on the right to bit 7 on the left.
- □ The bit number is the same as the power of 2 that it represents, in a manner completely analogous to the digits in a decimal number.

- □ One memory position in the Apple IIe contains one eight-bit byte of data.
- How byte values are interpreted depends on whether the byte is an instruction in a language, part or all of an address, an ASCII code, or some other form of data.
- □ Two bytes make a word. The sixteen bits of a word can represent any one of 256 x 256 or 65536 different values.

- □ The 65C02 uses a 16-bit word to represent memory locations. It can therefore distinguish among 65536 (64K) locations at any given time.
- □ A memory location is one byte of a 256-byte page. The low-order byte of an address specifies this byte. The high-order byte specifies the memory page the byte is on.

Hexadecimal and Decimal

Use Table E-2 for conversion of hexadecimal and decimal numbers.

Digit	\$x000	\$0x00	\$00x0	\$000x
F	61440	3840	240	15
E	57344	3584	224	14
D	53248	3328	208	13
С	49152	3072	192	12
В	45056	2816	176	11
A	40960	2560	160	10
9	36864	2304	144	9
8	32768	2048	128	8
7	28672	1792	112	7
6	24576	1536	96	6
5	20480	1280	80	5
4	16384	1024	64	4
3	12288	768	48	3
2	8192	512	32	2
1	4096	256	16	1

Table E-2. Hexadecimal/Decimal Conversion

To convert a hexadecimal number to a decimal number, find the decimal numbers corresponding to the positions of each hexadecimal digit. Write them down and add them up.

Examples:

\$30	=	?	\$FD47	=	?
\$30	=	48	\$F000	=	61440
\$ØC	=	12	\$ DØØ	=	3328
			\$ 40	=	64
			\$ 7	=	7
\$30	=	60			
			\$FD47	=	64839

To convert a decimal number to hexadecimal, subtract from the decimal number the largest decimal entry in the table that is less than the number. Write down the hexadecimal digit (noting its place value) also. Now subtract the largest decimal number in the table that is less than the decimal remainder, and write down the next hexadecimal digit. Continue until you have zero left. Add up the hexadecimal numbers.

Example:

16215	=	\$?							
16215	-	12288	=	3927	12288	=	\$7	001	8
3927	-	3840	=	87	3840	=	\$	FØ	ð
87	-	80	=	7	80	=	\$	5	ð
		7			7	=	\$	1	7
									-
					16215	=	\$7	F57	7

Hexadecimal and Negative Decimal

If a number is larger than decimal 32767, Applesoft BASIC allows and Integer BASIC requires that you use the negative-decimal equivalent of the number. Table E-3 is set up to make it easy for you to convert a hexadecimal number directly to a negative decimal number. Table E-3. Hexadecimal to Negative Decimal Conversion

Digit	\$x000	\$\$0x00	\$\$00x0	\$\$000x
F	0	0	0	-1
Е	-4096	-256	-16	-2
D	-8192	-512	-32	-3
C	-12288	-768	-48	-4
В	-16384	-1024	-64	-5
A	-20480	-1280	-80	-6
9	-24576	-1536	-96	-7
8	-28672	-1792	-112	-8
7		-2048	-128	-9
6		-2304	-144	-10
5		-2560	-160	-11
4		-2816	-176	-12
3		-3072	-192	-13
2		-3328	-208	-14
1		-3584	-224	-15
0		-3840	-240	-16

To perform this conversion, write down the four decimal numbers corresponding to the four hexadecimal digits (zeros included). Then add their values. The resulting number is the desired negative decimal number.

Example:

\$	C	Ø	1	Ø		=	-		?			
\$	С	Ø	Ø	Ø	:		-	1	2	2	8	8
\$		Ø	Ø	Ø	:		-		3	8	4	Ø
\$			1	Ø	:		-			2	2	4
\$				Ø	:		-				1	6
-	-	-	Ē	-				-	-	-	1	-
\$	C	Ø	1	ø			-	1	6	3	6	8

Appendix E: Conversion Tables

To convert a negative-decimal number to a positive decimal number, add it to 65536. (This addition ends up looking like subtraction.)

Example:

-

130

28

1

- The

王

100

- B

T

- 1	51	=	+	?

65536 + (-151) = 65536 - 151 = 65385

To convert a negative-decimal number to a hexadecimal number, first convert it to a positive decimal number, then use Table E-2.

Graphics Bits and Pieces

Table E-4 is a quick guide to the hexadecimal values corresponding to 7-bit high-resolution patterns on the display screen. Since the bits are displayed in reverse order, it takes some calculation to determine these values. Table E-4 should make it easy.

in la

Table E-4. Hexadecimal Values for High-Resolution Dot Patterns



Bit Pattern	x=0	x=1	Bit Pattern	x=0	x=1	
x0000000	\$00	\$80	x0100000	\$02	\$82	
x0000001	\$40	\$C0	x0100001	\$42	\$C2	
x0000010	\$20	\$A0	x0100010	\$22	\$A2	
x0000011	\$60	\$E0	x0100011	\$62	\$E2	
x0000100	\$10	\$90	x0100100	\$12	\$92	
x0000101	\$50	\$D0	x0100101	\$52	\$D2	
x0000110	\$30	\$B0	x0100110	\$32	\$B2	
x0000111	\$70	\$F0	x0100111	\$72	\$F2	
x0001000	\$08	\$88	x0101000	\$0A	\$8A	
x0001001	\$48	\$C8	x0101001	\$4A	\$CA	
x0001010	\$28	\$A8	x0101010	\$2A	\$AA	
x0001011	\$68	\$E8	x0101011	\$6A	\$EA	
x0001100	\$18	\$98	x0101100	\$1A	\$9A	
x0001101	\$58	\$D8	x0101101	\$5A	\$DA	
x0001110	\$38	\$B8	x0101110	\$3A	\$BA	
x0001111	\$78	\$F8	x0101111	\$7A	\$FA	
x0010000	\$04	\$84	x0110000	\$06	\$86	
x0010001	\$44	\$C4	x0110001	\$46	\$C6	
x0010010	\$24	\$A4	x0110010	\$26	\$A6	
x0010011	\$64	\$E4	x0110011	\$66	\$E6	
x0010100	\$14	\$94	x0110100	\$16	\$96	
x0010101	\$54	\$D4	x0110101	\$56	\$D6	
x0010110	\$34	\$B4	x0110110	\$36	\$B6	
x0010111	\$74	\$F4	x0110111	\$76	\$F6	
x0011000	\$0C	\$8C	x0111000	\$0E	\$8E	
x0011001	\$4C	\$CC	x0111001	\$4E	\$CE	
x0011010	\$2C	\$AC	x0111010	\$2E	\$AE	
x0011011	\$6C	\$EC	x0111011	\$6E	\$EE	
x0011100	\$1C	\$9C	x0111100	\$1E	\$9E	
x0011101	\$5C	\$DC	x0111101	\$5E	\$DE	
x0011110	\$3C	\$BC	x0111110	\$3E	\$BE	
x0011111	\$7C	\$FC	x0111111	\$7E	\$FE	

The x represents bit 7. Zeros represent bits that are off; ones bits that are on. Use the first hexadecimal value if bit 7 is to be off, and the second if it is to be on.

-

A REAL

(C. La

and a second

- En

1

影

加

and the second

For example, to get bit pattern 00101110, use \$3A; for 10101110, use \$BA.

Bit Pattern	x=0	x=1	Bit Pattern	x=0	x=1	
x1000000	\$01	\$81	x1100000	\$03	\$83	
x1000001	\$41	\$C1	x1100001	\$43	\$C3	
x1000010	\$21	\$A1	x1100010	\$23	\$A3	
x1000011	\$61	\$E1	x1100011	\$63	\$E3	
x1000100	\$11	\$91	x1100100	\$13	\$93	
x1000101	\$51	\$D1	x1100101	\$53	\$D3	
x1000110	\$31	\$B1	x1100110	\$33	\$B3	
x1000111	\$71	\$F1	x1100111	\$73	\$F3	
x1001000	\$09	\$89	x1101000	\$0B	\$8B	
x1001001	\$49	\$C9	x1101001	\$4B	\$CB	
x1001010	\$29	\$A9	x1101010	\$2B	\$AB	
x1001011	\$69	\$E9	x1101011	\$6B	\$EB	
x1001100	\$19	\$99	x1101100	\$1B	\$9B	
x1001101	\$59	\$D9	x1101101	\$5B	\$DB	
x1001110	\$39	\$B9	x1101110	\$3B	\$BB	
x1001111	\$79	\$F9	x1101111	\$7B	\$FB	
x1010000	\$05	\$85	x1110000	\$07	\$87	
x1010001	\$45	\$C5	x1110001	\$47	\$C7	
x1010010	\$25	\$A5	x1110010	\$27	\$A7	
x1010011	\$65	\$E5	x1110011	\$67	\$E7	
x1010100	\$15	\$95	x1110100	\$17	\$97	
x1010101	\$55	\$D5	x1110101	\$57	\$D7	
x1010110	\$35	\$B5	x1110110	\$37	\$B7	
x1010111	\$75	\$F5	x1110111	\$77	\$F7	
x1011000	\$0D	\$8D	x1111000	\$0F	\$8F	
x1011001	\$4D	\$CD	x1111001	\$4F	\$CF	
x1011010	\$2D	\$AD	x1111010	\$2F	\$AF	
x1011011	\$6D	\$ED	x1111011	\$6F	\$EF	
x1011100	\$1D	\$9D	x1111100	\$1F	\$9F	
x1011101	\$5D	\$DD	x1111101	\$5F	\$DF	
x1011110	\$3D	\$BD	x1111110	\$3F	\$BF	
x1011111	\$7D	\$FD	x1111111	\$7F	\$FF	

Table E-4-Continued. Hexadecimal Values for High-Resolution Dot Patterns

Eight-Bit Code Conversions

Tables E-5 through E-12 show the entire ASCII character set twice: once with the high bit off, and once with it on. Here is how to interpret these tables.

- □ The *Binary* column has the 8-bit code for each ASCII character.
- □ The first 128 ASCII entries represent 7-bit ASCII codes plus a high-order bit of 0 (SPACE parity or Pascal)—for example, 010010000 for the letter *H*.

- □ The last 128 ASCII entries (from 128 through 255) represent 7-bit ASCII codes plus a high-order bit of 1 (MARK parity or BASIC)—for example, 11001000 for the letter H.
- □ A transmitted or received ASCII character will take whichever form is appropriate if odd or even parity is selected—for example, 11001000 for an odd-parity H, 01001000 for an even-parity H.
- □ The ASCII Char column gives the ASCII character name.
- □ The *Interpretation* column spells out the meaning of special symbols and abbreviations, where necessary.
- □ The *What to Type* column indicates what keystrokes generate the ASCII character (where it is not obvious).
- □ The columns marked *Pri* and *Alt* indicate what displayed character results from each code when using the primary or alternate display character set, respectively. Boldface is used for inverse characters; italic is used for flashing characters.

Note that the values \$40 through \$5F (and \$C0 through \$DF) in the alternate character set are displayed as MouseText characters if MouseText is turned on.

The MouseText characters are shown in Table E-7.

Note: The primary and alternate displayed character sets in Tables E-5 through E-12 are the result of firmware mapping. The character generator ROM actually contains only one character set. The firmware mapping procedure is described in the section "Inverse and Flashing Text," in Chapter 3.

Table E-5. Control Characters, High Bit Off

	Binary	Dec	Hex	ASCII Char	Interpretation	What to Type	Pri	Alt
	0000000	0	\$00	NUL	Blank (null)	CONTROL	a	a
-	0000001	1	\$01	SOH	Start of Header		Ă	A
	0000010	2	\$02	STX	Start of Text	CONTROL - B	B	B
	0000011	3	\$03	ETX	End of Text	CONTROL - C	C	C
2	0000100	4	\$04	EOT	End of Transm.	CONTROL D	D	D
	0000101	5	\$05	ENQ	Enquiry	CONTROL - E	E	E
	0000110	6	\$06	ACK	Acknowledge	CONTROL - F	F	F
- 7	0000111	7	\$07	BEL	Bell	[CONTROL] [G]	G	G
	0001000	8	\$08	BS	Backspace	CONTROL H Or +	H	H
	0001001	9	\$09	HT	Horizontal Tab	CONTROL -[] OF TAB	I	I
1	0001010	10	\$0A	LF	Line Feed	CONTROL J OF +	J	J
	0001011	11	\$0B	VT	Vertical Tab	CONTROL K OT +	K	K
	0001100	12	\$0C	FF	Form Feed	CONTROL L	L	L
	0001101	13	\$0D	CR	Carriage Return	CONTROL - M OT RETURN	M	M
1.1	0001110	14	\$0E	SO	Shift Out	CONTROL - N	N	N
	0001111	15	\$0F	SI	Shift In	CONTROL -O	0	0
	0010000	16	\$10	DLE	Data Link Escape	CONTROL P	P	P
1 de	0010001	17	\$11	DC1	Device Control 1	CONTROL Q	Q	Q
	0010010	18	\$12	DC2	Device Control 2	CONTROL - R	R	R
	0010011	19	\$13	DC3	Device Control 3	CONTROL S	S	S
2.00	0010100	20	\$14	DC4	Device Control 4	CONTROL -T	Т	Т
19	0010101	21	\$15	NAK	Neg. Acknowledge	CONTROL-U Or -	U	U
	0010110	22	\$16	SYN	Synchronization	CONTROL-V	V	V
No.	0010111	23	\$17	ETB	End of Text Blk.	CONTROL W	W	W
-	0011000	24	\$18	CAN	Cancel	CONTROL-[X]	X	X
	0011001	25	\$19	EM	End of Medium	CONTROL Y	Y	Y
	0011010	26	\$1A	SUB	Substitute	CONTROL Z	Z	Z
-	0011011	27	\$1B	ESC	Escape	CONTROL -[] OF ESC	[[
14	0011100	28	\$1C	FS	File Separator	CONTROL -	1	1
	0011101	29	\$1D	GS	Group Separator	[CONTROL]-[]]]
11140	0011110	30	\$1E	RS	Record Separator	CONTROL ^	^	^
	0011111	31	\$1F	US	Unit Separator	CONTROL -	-	-

			ASCII					
Binary	Dec	Hex	Char	Interpretation	What to Type	Pr	ri	Alt
0100000	32	\$20	SP	Space	SPACE bar			
0100001	33	\$21	!			1		!
0100010	34	\$22	33			57		99
0100011	35	\$23	#			#		#
0100100	36	\$24	\$			\$		\$
0100101	37	\$25	%			%		%
0100110	38	\$26	&			&		&
0100111	39	\$27	,	Closing Quote		9		,
0101000	40	\$28	(((
0101001	41	\$29)))
0101010	42	\$2A	*			*		*
0101011	43	\$2B	+			+		+
0101100	44	\$2C	,	Comma		,		,
0101101	45	\$2D	2	Hyphen				•
0101110	46	\$2E		Period				
0101111	47	\$2F	/			/		1
0110000	48	\$30	0			0		0
0110001	49	\$31	1			1		1
0110010	50	\$32	2			2		2
0110011	51	\$33	3			3		3
0110100	52	\$34	4			4		4
0110101	53	\$35	5			5		5
0110110	54	\$36	6			6		6
0110111	55	\$37	7			7		7
0111000	56	\$38	8			8		8
0111001	57	\$39	9			9		9
0111010	58	\$3A	:			:		:
0111011	59	\$3B	;			;		;
0111100	60	\$3C	<			<	() () () () () () () () () ()	<
0111101	61	\$3D	=			=		=
0111110	62	\$3E	>			>	2	>
0111111	63	\$3F	?			?		?

Table E-6. Special Characters, High Bit Off

	Binary	Dec	Hex	ASCII Char	Interpretation	What to Type	Pri	Alt	
	1000000	64	\$40	(a)			<i>(a)</i>	é	
	1000001	65	\$41	Ă			A	ć	
-	1000010	66	\$42	B			В		
	1000011	67	\$43	C			C	X	
-	1000100	68	\$44	D			D	~	
	1000101	69	\$45	E			E	\checkmark	
	1000110	70	\$46	F			F	d l	
	1000111	71	\$47	G			G	×.	
	1001000	72	\$48	H			H	+	
	1001001	73	\$49	I			Ι		
_	1001010	74	\$4A	J			J	\downarrow	
	1001011	75	\$4B	K			K	1	
	1001100	76	\$4C	L			L	-	
	1001101	77	\$4D	М			M	له	
11	1001110	78	\$4E	Ν			N		
- aite	1001111	79	\$4F	0			0		
	1010000	80	\$50	P			Р	*	
1	1010001	81	\$51	Q			Q	+	
	1010010	82	\$52	R			R	*	
	1010011	83	\$53	S			S	<u> </u>	
	1010100	84	\$54	Т			T		
a.	1010101	85	\$55	U			U	>	
10.00	1010110	86	\$56	V			V	*	
	1010111	87	\$57	W			W	***	
X	1011000	88	\$58	Х			X		
	1011001	89	\$59	Y			Y		
	1011010	90	\$5A	Z			Z	1	
1	1011011	91	\$5B	[Opening Bracket		[٠	
-	1011100	92	\$5C	\	Reverse Slant		1	=	
	1011101	93	\$5D]	Closing Bracket]	#	
	1011110	94	\$5E	^	Caret		~	•	
ST. H	1011111	95	\$5F	-	Underline		—	1	

Table E-7. Uppercase Characters, High Bit Off

A STORE

- Re

D!	Des		ASCII	•	1171 - 4 4 - M		
Binary	Dec	Hex	Char	Interpretation	what to Type	Pri	Alt
1100000	96	\$60		Opening Quote			•
1100001	97	\$61	a			!	a
1100010	98	\$62	b			77	b
1100011	99	\$63	С			#	с
1100100	100	\$64	d			\$	d
1100101	101	\$65	е			%	e
1100110	102	\$66	f			æ	f
1100111	103	\$67	g			,	g
1101000	104	\$68	h			(h
1101001	105	\$69	i)	i
1101010	106	\$6A	j			*	j
1101011	107	\$6B	k			+	k
1101100	108	\$6C	1			,	1
1101101	109	\$6D	m				m
1101110	110	\$6E	n				n
1101111	111	\$6F	0			/	0
1110000	112	\$70	р			0	P
1110001	113	\$71	q			1	q
1110010	114	\$72	r			2	r
1110011	115	\$73	S			3	S
1110100	116	\$74	t			4	t
1110101	117	\$75	u			5	u
1110110	118	\$76	V			6	v
1110111	119	\$77	w			7	W
1111000	120	\$78	Х			8	x
1111001	121	\$79	У			9	у
1111010	122	\$7A	Z			2	Z
1111011	123	\$7B	{	Opening Brace		;	{
1111100	124	\$7C	1	Vertical Line		<	Į.
1111101	125	\$7D	}	Closing Brace		=	}
1111110	126	\$7E	~	Overline (Tilde)		>	~
1111111	127	\$7F	DEL	Delete/Rubout		?	DEL

Table E-8. Lowercase Characters, High Bit Off

	Binary	Dec	Hex	ASCII Char	Interpretation	What to Type	Pri	Alt	
	10000000	128	\$80	NUL	Blank (null)	CONTROL - @	(a)	0	
1	10000001	129	\$81	SOH	Start of Header	CONTROL - A	Ă	A	
-	10000010	130	\$82	STX	Start of Text	CONTROL - B	В	В	
	10000011	131	\$83	ETX	End of Text	CONTROL - C	C	C	
	10000100	132	\$84	EOT	End of Transm.	CONTROL D	D	D	
	10000101	133	\$85	ENQ	Enquiry	CONTROL - E	E	E	
	10000110	134	\$86	ACK	Acknowledge	CONTROL - F	F	F	
-	10000111	135	\$87	BEL	Bell	CONTROL - G	G	G	
	10001000	136	\$88	BS	Backspace	CONTROL H Or +	Н	Н	
and the second sec	10001001	137	\$89	HT	Horizontal Tab	CONTROL - 1 OF TAB	I	I	
	10001010	138	\$8A	LF	Line Feed	CONTROL - J OF +	J	J	
	10001011	139	\$8B	VT	Vertical Tab	CONTROL - K Or +	K	K	
	10001100	140	\$8C	FF	Form Feed	CONTROL - L	L	L	
	10001101	141	\$8D	CR	Carriage Return	CONTROL - M OF RETURN	M	M	
	10001110	142	\$8E	SO	Shift Out	CONTROL N	N	N	
	10001111	143	\$8F	SI	Shift In	CONTROL - 0	0	0	
	10010000	144	\$90	DLE	Data Link Escape	CONTROL - P	Р	P	
	10010001	145	\$91	DC1	Device Control 1	CONTROL -Q	Q	Q	
	10010010	146	\$92	DC2	Device Control 2	CONTROL-R	R	R	
	10010011	147	\$93	DC3	Device Control 3	CONTROL S	S	S	
	10010100	148	\$94	DC4	Device Control 4	CONTROL T	Т	Т	
	10010101	149	\$95	NAK	Neg. Acknowledge	CONTROL U Or -	U	U	
	10010110	150	\$96	SYN	Synchronization	CONTROL V	V	V	
	10010111	151	\$97	ETB	End of Text Blk.	CONTROL W	W	W	
	10011000	152	\$98	CAN	Cancel	CONTROL-X	Х	Х	
	10011001	153	\$99	EM	End of Medium	CONTROL Y	Y	Y	
	10011010	154	\$9A	SUB	Substitute	CONTROL - Z	Z	Z	
	10011011	155	\$9B	ESC	Escape	CONTROL -[] OF ESC	[[
	10011100	156	\$9C	FS	File Separator	CONTROL	1	\	
	10011101	157	\$9D	GS	Group Separator	CONTROL -1]]	
	10011110	158	\$9E	RS	Record Separator	CONTROL -	^	^	
	10011111	159	\$9F	US	Unit Separator	CONTROL -	_	_	

Table E-9. Control Characters, High Bit On

.

			ASCII				
Binary	Dec	Hex	Char	Interpretation	What to Type	Pri	Alt
10100000	160	\$A0	SP	Space	SPACE bar		
10100001	161	\$A1	!			!	!
10100010	162	\$A2	**			72	"
10100011	163	\$A3	#			#	#
10100100	164	\$A4	\$			\$	\$
10100101	165	\$A5	%			%	%
10100110	166	\$A6	&			&	&
10100111	167	\$A7	1	Closed Quote		,	1
				(acute accent)			
10101000	168	\$A8	(((
10101001	169	\$A9)))
10101010	170	\$AA	*			*	*
10101011	171	\$AB	+			+	+
10101100	172	\$AC	,	Comma		,	5
10101101	173	\$AD		Hyphen		-	-
10101110	174	\$AE	×.,	Period			÷
10101111	175	\$AF	1			/	/
10110000	176	\$B0	0			0	0
10110001	177	\$B1	1			1	1
10110010	178	\$B2	2			2	2
10110011	179	\$B3	3			3	3
10110100	180	\$B4	4			4	4
10110101	181	\$B5	5			5	5
10110110	182	\$B6	6			6	6
10110111	183	\$B7	7			7	7
10111000	184	\$B8	8			8	8
10111001	185	\$B9	9			9	9
10111010	186	\$BA	:			:	:
10111011	187	\$BB	;			;	;
10111100	188	\$BC	<			<	<
10111101	189	\$BD	=			=	=
10111110	190	SBE	>			>	>
10111111	191	\$BF	?			?	?

Table E-10. Special Characters, High Bit On

Binary	Dec	Hex	ASCII Char	Interpretation	What to Type	Pri	Alt
11000000	192	\$C0	a			a	(a)
11000001	193	\$C1	Ă			A	A
11000010	194	\$C2	В			В	В
11000011	195	\$C3	С			C	C
11000100	196	\$C4	D			D	D
11000101	197	\$C5	E			E	E
11000110	198	\$C6	F			F	F
11000111	199	\$C7	G			G	G
11001000	200	\$C8	Н			Н	Н
11001001	201	\$C9	Ι			I	Ι
11001010	202	\$CA	J			J	J
11001011	203	\$CB	K			K	K
11001100	204	\$CC	L			L	L
11001101	205	\$CD	M			М	Μ
11001110	206	\$CE	N			N	N
11001111	207	\$CF	0			0	0
11010000	208	\$D0	P			Р	Р
11010001	209	\$D1	Q			Q	Q
11010010	210	\$D2	R			R	R
11010011	211	\$D3	S			S	S
11010100	212	\$D4	Т			Т	Т
11010101	213	\$D5	U			U	U
11010110	214	\$D6	V			V	V
11010111	215	\$D7	W			W	W
11011000	216	\$D8	Х			Х	Х
11011001	217	\$D9	Y			Y	Y
11011010	218	\$DA	Z			Z	Ζ
11011011	219	\$DB	[Opening Bracket		[[
11011100	220	\$DC	1	Reverse Slant		1	/
11011101	221	\$DD]	Closing Bracket]]
11011110	222	\$DE	^	Caret		•	^
11011111	223	\$DF	-	Underline		_	—

Table E-11. Uppercase Characters, High Bit On

			ASCII				
Binary	Dec	Hex	Char	Interpretation	What to Type	Pri	Alt
11100000	224	\$E0		Open Quote		•	•
11100001	225	\$E1	a			a	a
11100010	226	\$E2	b			b	b
11100011	227	\$E3	c			c	C
11100100	228	\$E4	d			d	d
11100101	229	\$E5	e			e	e
11100110	230	\$E6	f			f	f
11100111	231	\$E7	g			g	g
11101000	232	\$E8	h			h	h
11101001	233	\$E9	i			i	i
11101010	234	\$EA	j			j	i
11101011	235	\$EB	k			k	k
11101100	236	\$EC	1			1	1
11101101	237	\$ED	m			m	m
11101110	238	\$EE	n			n	n
11101111	239	\$EF	0			0	0
11110000	240	\$FO	р			р	р
11110001	241	\$F1	q			q	q
11110010	242	\$F2	r			r	r
11110011	243	\$F3	S			S	S
11110100	244	\$F4	t			t	t
11110101	245	\$F5	u			u	u
11110110	246	\$F6	V			v	v
11110111	247	\$F7	w			W	W
11111000	248	\$F8	Х			x	X
11111001	249	\$F9	У			У	У
11111010	250	\$FA	Z			Z	Z
11111011	251	\$FB	{	Opening Brace		{	{
11111100	252	\$FC	1	Vertical Line		ſ	
11111101	253	\$FD	}	Closing Brace		}	}
11111110	254	\$FE	~	Overline (Tilde)		3 ~	~
11111111	255	\$FF	DEL	Delete (Rubout)	DELETE	DEL	DEL

ļ

138

Table E-12. Lowercase Characters, High Bit On



Frequently Used Tables



This appendix contains copies of the tables you will need to refer to frequently, for example, ASCII codes and soft-switch location. The figures all have their original figure numbers.

Tuble 2-9. Revs and Abon Coue

Note: Codes are shown here in hexadecimal; to find the decimal equivalents, refer to Table E-2.

15

	Normal		Control		Shift		Both		
Key	Code	Char	Code	Char	Code	Char	Code	Char	
DELETE	7F	DEL	7F	DEL	7F	DEL	7F	DEL	
-	08	BS	08	BS	08	BS	08	BS	
TAB	09	HT	09	HT	09	HT	09	HT	
•	0A	LF	0A	LF	0A	LF	0A	LF	
•	0B	VT	0B	VT	0B	VT	0B	VT	
RETURN	0D	CR	0D	CR	0D	CR	0D	CR	
-	15	NAK	15	NAK	15	NAK	15	NAK	
ESC	1B	ESC	1B	ESC	1B	ESC	1B	ESC	
SPACE	20	SP	20	SP	20	SP	20	SP	
1 11	27	,	27	,	22	73	22	17	
, <	2C	,	2C	,	3C	<	3C	<	
	2D		1F	US	5F	—	1F	US	
. >	2E	540	2E		3E	>	3E	>	
/?	2F	1	2F	1	3F	?	3F	?	
0)	30	0	30	0	29)	29)	
1!	31	1	31	1	21	1	21	!	
2@	32	2	00	NUL	40	a	00	NUL	
3 #	33	3	33	3	23	#	23	#	
4\$	34	4	34	4	24	\$	24	\$	
5 %	35	5	35	. 5	25	%	25	%	
6	36	6	1E	RS	5E	â	1E	RS	
7 &	37	7	37	7	26	&	26	&	
8*	38	8	38	8	2A	*	2A	*	
9 (39	9	39	9	28	(28	(
ç a	3B	;	3B	;	3A	:	3A	:	
= +	3D	=	3D	=	2B	+	2B	+	
[{	5B	[1B	ESC	7B	{	1B	ESC	
NI.	5C	1	1C	FS	7C	1	1C	FS	
1}	5D]	1D	GS	7D	}	1D	GS	
	60		60	•	7E	~	7E	~	
Table 2-3-Continued. Keys and ASCII Codes

Note: Codes are shown here in hexadecimal; to find the decimal equivalents, refer to Table E-2.

	Nor	mal	Con	trol	S	hift	1	Both
Key	Code	Char	Code	Char	Code	Char	Code	Char
A	61	a	01	SOH	41	A	01	SOH
В	62	b	02	STX	42	В	02	STX
С	63	с	03	ETX	43	С	03	ETX
D	64	d	04	EOT	44	D	04	EOT
E	65	е	05	ENQ	45	E	05	ENQ
F	66	f	06	ACK	46	F	06	ACK
G	67	g	07	BEL	47	G	07	BEL
Η	68	h	08	BS	48	H	08	BS
I	69	i	09	HT	49	Ι	09	HT
J	6A	j	0A	LF	4A	J	0A	LF
K	6B	k	0B	VT	4B	K	0B	VT
L	6C	1	0C	FF	4C	L	0C	FF
M	6D	m	0D	CR	4D	M	0D	CR
N	6E	n	0E	SO	4E	Ν	0E	SO
0	6F	0	0F	SI	4F	0	OF	SI
Р	70	р	10	DLE	50	Р	10	DLE
Q	71	q	11	DC1	51	Q	11	DC1
R	72	r	12	DC2	52	R	12	DC2
S	73	S	13	DC3	53	S	13	DC3
Т	74	t	14	DC4	54	Т	14	DC4
U	75	u	15	NAK	55	U	15	NAK
V	76	v	16	SYN	56	V	16	SYN
W	77	W	17	ETB	57	W	17	ETB
Х	78	Х	18	CAN	58	Х	18	CAN
Y	79	У	19	EM	59	Y	19	EM
Z	7A	Z	1A	SUB	5A	Z	1A	SUB

Table 2-2. Keyboard Memory Locations

L	ocation		
Hex	De	cimal	Description
\$C000	49152	-16384	Keyboard data and strobe
\$C010	49168	-16368	Any-key-down flag and clear-strobe switch

Table 2-4. Video Display Specifications

Display modes:	40-column text; map: Figure 2-2 80-column text; map: Figure 2-3
	Low-resolution color graphics; map: Figure 2-7
	High-resolution color graphics; map: Figure 2-8
	Double-high-resolution color graphics; map: Figure 2-9
Text capacity:	24 lines by 80 columns (character positions)
Character set:	96 ASCII characters (uppercase and lowercase)
Display formats:	Normal, inverse, flashing, MouseText (Table 2-5)
Low-resolution graphics:	16 colors (Table 2-6) 40 horizontal by 48 vertical; map: Figure 2-7
High-resolution graphics:	6 colors (Table 2-7) 140 horizontal by 192 vertical (restricted)
	Black-and-white: 280 horizontal by 192 vertical; map: Figure 2-8
Double-high-resolution graphics:	16 colors (Table 2-8) 140 horizontal by 192 vertical (no restrictions)
	Black-and-white: 560 horizontal by 192 vertical; map: Figure 2-9

Table 2-8. Double-High-Resolution Graphics Colors

*

Color	ab0	mb1	ab2	mb3	Repeated Bit Pattern
Black	\$00	\$00	\$00	\$00	0000
Magenta	\$08	\$11	\$22	\$44	0001
Brown	\$44	\$08	\$11	\$22	0010
Orange	\$4C	\$19	\$33	\$66	0011
Dark Green	\$22	\$44	\$08	\$11	0100
Gray 1	\$2A	\$55	\$2A	\$55	0101
Green	\$66	\$4C	\$19	\$33	0110
Yellow	\$6E	\$5D	\$3B	\$77	0111
Dark Blue	\$11	\$22	\$44	\$08	1000
Purple	\$19	\$33	\$66	\$4C	1001
Gray 2	\$55	\$2A	\$55	\$2A	1010
Pink	\$5D	\$3B	\$77	\$6E	1011
Medium Blue	\$33	\$66	\$4C	\$19	1100
Light Blue	\$3B	\$77	\$6E	\$5D	1101
Aqua	\$77	\$6E	\$5D	\$3B	1110
White	\$7F	\$7F	\$7F	\$7F	1111

Table 2-9. Video Display Page Locations

	Display	Lowest	Address	Highest	Address
Display Mode	Page	Hex	Dec	Hex	Dec
40-column text, low-resolution graphics	$\frac{1}{2}*$	\$0400 \$0800	1024 2048	\$07FF \$0BFF	2047 3071
80-column text	$\frac{1}{2}*$	\$0400 \$0800	1024 2048	\$07FF \$0BFF	2047 3071
High-resolution graphics	$\frac{1}{2}$	\$2000 \$4000	8192 16384	\$3FFF \$5FFF	16383 24575
Double-high- resloution graphics	1 † 2 †	\$2000 \$4000	8192 16384	\$3FFF \$5FFF	$16383 \\ 24575$

* This is not supported by firmware; for instructions on how to switch pages, refer to the section "Display Mode Switching" in Chapter 2.

[†] See the section "Double-High-Resolution Graphics," in Chapter 2.

Table 2-10. Display Soft Switches

Note: W means write anything to the location, R means read the location, R/W means read or write, and R7 means read the location and then check bit 7.

R

Name	Action	Hex	Function
ALTCHAR	W	\$C00E	Off: display text using primary character set
ALTCHAR	W	\$C00F	On: display text using alternate character set
RDALTCHAR	R7	\$C01E	Read ALTCHAR switch $(1 = on)$
80COL	W	\$C00C	Off: display 40 columns
80COL	W	\$C00D	On: display 80 columns
RD80COL	R7	\$C01F	Read 80COL switch (1 = on)
80STORE	W	\$C000	Off: cause PAGE2 on to select auxiliary RAM
80STORE	W	\$C001	On: allow PAGE2 to switch main RAM areas
RD80STORE	R7	\$C018	Read 80STORE switch $(1 = on)$
PAGE2 PAGE2 RDPAGE2	R/W R/W R7	\$C054 \$C055 \$C01C	Off: select Page 1 On: select Page 2 or, if 80STORE on, Page 1 in auxiliary memory Read PAGE2 switch (1 = on)
TEXT	R/W	\$C050	Off: display graphics or, if MIXED on, mixed
TEXT	R/W	\$C051	On: display text
RDTEXT	R7	\$C01A	Read TEXT switch (1 = on)
MIXED	R/W	\$C052	Off: display only text or only graphics
MIXED	R/W	\$C053	On: if TEXT off, display text and graphics
RDMIXED	R7	\$C01B	Read MIXED switch $(1 = on)$
HIRES HIRES RDHIRES	R/W R/W R7	\$C056 \$C059 \$C01D	Off: if TEXT off, display low-resolution graphics On: if TEXT off, display high-resolution or, if DHIRES on, double-high-resolution graphics Read HIRES switch $(1 = on)$
IOUDIS	W	\$C07E	On: disable IOU access for addresses \$C058 to
IOUDIS	W	\$C07F	\$C05F; enable access to DHIRES switch * Off: enable IOU access for addresses \$C058 to \$C05F; disable access to DHIRES switch *
RDIOUDIS	R7	\$C07E	Read IOUDIS switch $(1 = off)$ †
DHIRES	R/W	\$C05E	On: (if IOUDIS on) turn on double-high-res.
DHIRES	R/W	\$C05F	Off: (if IOUDIS on) turn off double-high-res.
RDDHIRES	R7	\$C07F	Read DHIRES switch (1 = on) †

* The firmware normally leaves IOUDIS on. See also †.

[†] Reading or writing any address in the range \$C070-\$C07F also triggers the paddle timer and resets VBLINT (Chapter 7).

Appendix F: Frequently Used Tables

Table 3-1. Monitor Firmware Routines

Location	Name	Description
\$C305	BASICIN	With 80-column dirmware active, displays solid, blinking cursor. Accepts character from keyboard.
\$C307	BASICOUT	Displays a character on the screen; used when the 80-column firmware is active (Chapter 3).
\$FC9C	CLREOL	Clears to end of line from current cursor position.
\$FC9E	CLEOLZ	Clears to end of line using contents of Y register as cursor position.
\$FC42	CLREOP	Clears to bottom of window.
\$F832	CLRSCR	Clears the low-resolution screen.
\$F836	CLRTOP	Clears top 40 lines of low-resolution screen.
\$FDED	COUT	Calls output routine whose address is stored in CSW (normally COUT1, Chapter 3).
\$FDF0	COUT1	Displays a character on the screen (Chapter 3).
\$FD8E	CROUT	Generates a carriage return character.
\$FD8B	CROUT1	Clears to end of line, then generates a carriage return character.
\$FD6A	GETLN	Displays the prompt character; accepts a string of characters by means of RDKEY.
\$F819	HLINE	Draws a horizontal line of blocks.
\$FC58	HOME	Clears window; puts cursor in upper-left corner of window.
\$FD1B	KEYIN	With 80-column firmware inactive, displays checkerboard cursor. Accepts character from keyboard.
\$F800	PLOT	Plots a single low-resolution block on the screen.
\$F94A	PRBL2	Sends 1 to 256 blank spaces to the output device.
\$FDDA	PRBYTE	Prints a hexadecimal byte.
\$FF2D	PRERR	Sends ERR and Control-G to the output device.
\$FDE3	PRHEX	Prints 4 bits as a hexadecimal number.
\$F941	PRNTAX	Prints contents of A and X in hexadecimal.
\$FD0C	RDKEY	Displays blinking cursor; goes to standard input routine, normally KEYIN or BASICIN.
\$F871	SCRN	Reads color value of a low-resolution block.
\$F864	SETCOL	Sets the color for plotting in low-resolution.
\$FC24	VTABZ	Sets cursor vertical position.
\$F828	VLINE	Draws a vertical line of low-resolution blocks.

Table 3-3a. Control Characters With 80-Column Firmware Off

Control Character	ASCII Name	Apple IIe Name	Action Taken by COUT1
Control-G	BEL	bell	Produces a 1000 Hz tone for 0.1 second.
Control-H	BS	backspace	Moves cursor position one space to the left; from left edge of window, moves to right end of line above.
Control-J	LF	line feed	Moves cursor position down to next line in window; scrolls if needed.
Control-M	CR	return	Moves cursor position to left end of next line in window: scrolls if needed.

Table 3-3b. Control Characters With 80-Column Firmware On

Control Character	ASCII Name	Apple IIe Name	Action Taken by BASICOUT
Control-G	BEL	bell	Produces a 1000 Hz tone for 0.1 second.
Control-H	BS	backspace	Moves cursor position one space to the left; from left edge of window, moves to right end of line above.
Control-J	LF	line feed	Moves cursor position down to next line in window; scrolls if needed.
Control-K †	VT	clear EOS	Clears from cursor position to the end of the screen.
Control-L †	FF	home and clear	Moves cursor position to upper-left corner of window and clears window.
Control-M	CR	return	Moves cursor position to left end of next line in window; scrolls if needed.
Control-N †	SO	normal	Sets display format normal.
Control-O †	SI	inverse	Sets display format inverse.
Control-Q [†]	DC1	40-column	Sets display to 40-column.
Control-R †	DC2	80-column	Sets display to 80-column.
Control-S *	DC3	stop-list	Stops listing characters on the display until another key is pressed.

Control Character	ASCII Name	Apple IIe Name	Action Taken by BASICOUT		
Control-U †	NAK	quit	Deactivates 80-column video firmware.		
Control-V †	SYN	scroll	Scrolls the display down one line, leaving the cursor in the current position.		
Control-W †	ETB	scroll-up	Scrolls the display up one line, leaving the cursor in the current position.		
Control-X	CAN	disable MouseText	Disable MouseText character display; use inverse uppercase.		
Control-Y †	EM	home	Moves cursor position to upper-left corner of window (but doesn't clear).		
Control-Z †	SUB	clear line	Clears the line the cursor position is on.		
Control-[ESC	enable MouseText	Map inverse uppercase characters to MouseText characters.		
Control-\†	FS	forward space	Moves cursor position one space to the right; from right edge of window, moves it to left end of line below.		
Control-]†	GS	clear EOL	Clears from the current cursor position to the end of the line (that is, to the right edge of the window).		
Control	US	up	Moves cursor up a line, no scroll.		
* Only works from	the keyl	board.			
† Doesn't work from the keyboard.					

Table 3-3b-Continued. Control Characters With 80-Column Firmware On

anna an

Num.

THE R

ALC: NO

15

THE R.

-

Table 3-5. Text Format Control Values

Note: These mask values apply only to the primary character set (see text).

Mask Value		
Dec	Hex	Display Format
255	\$FF	Normal, uppercase, and lowercase
127	\$7F	Flashing, uppercase, and symbols
63	\$3F	Inverse, uppercase, and lowercase

Table 3-6. Escape Codes

Escape Code	Function
[ESC] @	Clears window and homes cursor (places it in upper-left corner of screen), then exits from escape mode.
ESC A or a	Moves cursor right one line; exits from escape mode.
ESC B or b	Moves cursor left one line; exits from escape mode.
ESC C or c	Moves cursor down one line; exits from escape mode.
ESCDOrd	Moves cursor up one line; exits from escape mode.
ESC E Or e	Clears to end of line; exits from escape mode.
ESCFOrf	Clears to bottom of window; exits from escape mode.
ESC Or Or ESC	Moves the cursor up one line; remains in escape mode. See text.
ESC J OT [] OT ESC +	Moves the cursor left one space; remains in escape mode. See text.
ESC K Or K Or ESC -	Moves the cursor right one space; remains in escape mode. See text.
ESC M OF m OF ESC +	Moves the cursor down one line; remains in escape mode. See text.
ESC 4	If 80-column firmware is active, switches to 40-column mode; sets links to BASICIN and BASICOUT; restores normal window size; exits from escape mode.
ESC 8	If 80-column firmware is active, switches to 80-column mode; sets links to BASICIN and BASICOUT; restores normal window size; exits from escape mode.
ESC CONTROL D	Disables control characters; only carriage return, line feed, BELL, and backspace have an effect when printed.
ESC CONTROL E	Reactivates control characters.
ESC CONTROL Q	If 80-column firmware is active, deactivates 80-column firmware; sets links to KEYIN and COUT1; restores normal window size; exits from escape mode.

Table 3-10. Pascal Video Control Functions

100

1

Control-	Hex	Function performed
E or e	\$05	Turns cursor on (enables cursor display).
F or f	\$06	Turns cursor off (disables cursor display).
G or g	\$07	Sounds bell (beeps).
H or h	\$08	Moves cursor left one column. If cursor was at beginning of line, moves it to end of previous line.
J or j	\$0A	Moves cursor down one row; scrolls if needed.
K or k	\$0B	Clears to end of screen.
L or l	\$0C	Clears screen; moves cursor to upper-left of screen.
M or m	\$0D	Moves cursor to column 0.
N or n	\$0E	Displays subsequent characters in normal video. (Characters already on display are unaffected.)
O or o	\$0F	Displays subsequent characters in inverse video. (Characters already on display are unaffected.)
V or v	\$16	Scrolls screen up one line; clears bottom line.
W or w	\$17	Scrolls screen down one line; clears top line.
Y or y	\$19	Moves cursor to upper-left (home) position on screen.
Z or z	\$1A	Clears entire line that cursor is on.
$ $ or \setminus	\$1C	Moves cursor right one column; if at end of line, does Control-M.
\mathbf{c} or]	\$1D	Clears to end of the line the cursor is on, including current cursor position; does not move cursor.
^ or 6	\$1E	GOTOxy: initiates a GOTOxy sequence; interprets the next two characters as $x+32$ and $y+32$, respectively.
_	\$1F	If not at top of screen, moves cursor up one line.

Table 4-6. Bank Select Switches

Note: R means read the location, W means write anything to the location, R/W means read or write, and R7 means read the location and then check bit 7.

Name	Action	Hex	Function
	R	\$C080	Read RAM; no write; use \$D000 bank 2.
	RR	\$C081	Read ROM; write RAM; use \$D000 bank 2.
	R	\$C082	Read ROM; no write; use \$D000 bank 2.
	RR	\$C083	Read and write RAM; use \$D000 bank 2.
	R	\$C088	Read RAM; no write; use \$D000 bank 1.
	RR	\$C089	Read ROM; write RAM; use \$D000 bank 1.
	R	\$C08A	Read ROM; no write; use \$D000 bank 1.
	RR	\$C08B	Read and write RAM; use \$D000 bank 1.
RDBNK2	R7	\$C011	Read whether \$D000 bank 2(1) or bank 1(0)
RDLCRAM	R7	\$C012	Reading RAM (1) or ROM (0).
ALTZP	W	\$C008	Off: use main bank, page 0 and page 1.
ALTZP	W	\$C009	On: use auxiliary bank, page 0 and page 1.
RDALTZP	R7	\$C016	Read whether auxiliary (1) or main (0) bank

Table 4-7. Auxiliary-Memory Select Switches

-

1

and the second s

-

3

1

U.W.

Party of

Name	Function	Hex	De	cimal	Notes
RAMRD	Read auxiliary memory	\$C003	49155	-16381	Write
	Read main memory	\$C002	49154	-16382	Write
	Read RAMRD switch	\$C013	49171	-16365	Read
RAMWRT	Write auxiliary memory	\$C005	49157	-16379	Write
	Write main memory	\$C004	49156	-16380	Write
	Read RAMWRT switch	\$C014	49172	-16354	Read
80STORE	On: access display page	\$C001	49153	-16383	Write
	Off: use RAMRD, RAMWRT	\$C000	49152	-16384	Write
	Read 80STORE switch	\$C018	49176	-16360	Read
PAGE2	Page 2 on (aux. memory)	\$C055	49237	-16299	*
	Page 2 off (main memory)	\$C054	49236	-16300	*
	Read PAGE2 switch	\$C01C	49180	-16356	Read
HIRES	On: access high-res. pages	\$C057	49239	-16297	†
	Off: use RAMRD, RAMWRT	\$C056	49238	-16298	†
	Read HIRES switch	\$C01D	49181	-16355	Read
ALTZP	Auxiliary stack & z.p.	\$C009	49161	-16373	Write
	Main stack & zero page	\$C008	49160	-16374	Write
	Read ALTZP switch	\$C016	49174	-16352	Read

* When 80STORE is on, the PAGE2 switch selects main or auxiliary display memory.

⁺ When 80STORE is on, the HIRES switch enables you to use the PAGE2 switch to switch between the high-resolution Page-1 area in main memory or auxiliary memory.

Table 4-8. 48K RAM Transfer Routines

Name	Action	Hex	Function
AUXMOVE	JSR	\$C312	Moves data blocks between main and auxiliary 48K memory.
XFER	JMP	\$C314	Transfers program control between main and auxiliary 48K memory.

Table 6-5. I/O Memory Switches

		Location			
Name	Function	Hex	De	cimal	Notes
SLOTC3ROM	Slot ROM at \$C300	\$C00B	49163	-16373	Write
	Internal ROM at \$C300	\$C00A	49162	-16374	Write
	Read SLOTC3ROM switch	\$C017	49175	-16361	Read
SLOTCXROM	Slot ROM at \$Cx00	\$C006	49159	-16377	Write
	Internal ROM at \$Cx00	\$C007	49158	-16378	Write
	Read SLOTCXROM switch	\$C015	49173	-16363	Read

-

Table 6-7. I/O Routine Offsets and Registers Under Pascal 1.1 Protocol

Addr.	Offset for	X Register	Y Register	A Register
\$Cs0D	Initialization On entry On exit	\$Cs Error code	\$s0 (unchanged)	(unchanged)
\$Cs0E	Read On entry On exit	\$Cs Error code	\$s0 (unchanged)	Character read
\$Cs0F	Write On entry On exit	\$Cs Error code	\$s0 (unchanged)	Char. to write (unchanged)
\$Cs10	Status On entry On exit	\$Cs Error code	\$s0 (changed)	Request (0 or 1) (unchanged)



This appendix explains how to use 80-column text cards with high-level languages. Information about using 80-column text cards with assembly language programs through the Apple IIe Monitor firmware is found in Chapter 3 of this manual. The information in this appendix applies to the Apple IIe 80-Column Text Card and the Apple IIe Extended 80-Column Text Card.

If you are using Applesoft, ProDOS, or DOS you can choose to leave the 80-column text card inactive after installing it. You will want to do this when running software that does not take advantage of the 80-column display capability.

The startup procedure for displaying 80 columns of text on your Apple IIe depends on which operating system you plan to use. Starting up the system with Apple II Pascal or CP/M^{\circledast} is very easy; the operating system does it for you; the procedures for starting up with ProDOS or DOS 3.3 are slightly more complicated, but not difficult.

Starting Up With Pascal or CP/M

Pascal programmers don't have to activate the text card because Pascal does it for them. If you use the Pascal language or the CP/M operating system, displaying 80 columns of text is automatic once you've installed the card. Simply start up your system with any Pascal or CP/M startup disk.

CP/M: CP/M (Control Program for Microprocessors) is a trademark of Digital Research. To use the CP/M operating system with your Apple IIe, make sure the SOFTCARD[®] by Microsoft or the Z-Engine^m by Advanced Logic Systems is correctly installed before you start up the computer.

Co-Processor Cards and Interrupts: Some co-processor cards that were designed for use in the Apple II Plus may not work with an Apple IIe without some modification. There could be problems if you want to use interrupts on the Apple IIe. If you are having problems with a coprocessor card, check with the card's manufacturer for their recommendations.

When using Apple II Pascal 1.1, you'll probably want to run the program SETUP to make the \uparrow and \downarrow keys functional. SETUP is a self-documenting program on the Pascal disk APPLE3. Pascal versions 1.2 and later are already configured to use the \uparrow and \downarrow keys.

Refer to the operating system reference manual for your version of Apple Pascal for more information.

Starting Up With ProDOS or DOS 3.3

ProDOS and DOS 3.3 both look for a startup program on the startup (boot) disk as soon as the operating system has been loaded and begins executing. If the operating system finds the program, called STARTUP on a ProDOS disk and usually called HELLO on a DOS 3.3 disk, it will execute the program.

You can write a customized startup program that will set up the 80-column text card in any state you need. Just be sure it is on your startup disk and has the startup filename.

Here is a sample Applesoft startup program that works with both ProDOS and DOS 3.3:

```
10 HOME:D$=CHR$(4)
20 PRINT D$;"PR#3"
30 END
```

You can do whatever you wish with the program from line 20 on. Note that the screen will have switched to 80-column text mode after line 20.

By the Way: If you arrange to have the card active automatically, you will still, of course, be able to switch into 40-column mode.

Using the GET Command

The presence of an active 80-column text card in the IIe requires that BASIC programmers use some alternate to Applesoft's INPUT command if their programs are to be userproof. Applesoft programmers should use either the GET command or the RDKEY or GETLN subroutines.

This is because the escape sequences used to switch back and forth between modes or to deactivate the card sometimes make it necessary to accept escape sequences in INPUT mode when using an 80-column card. Because the program accepts escape sequences typed from the keyboard, your program will not be userproof against accidental sequences typed in response to an INPUT command.

To get around this problem, you can use the GET command instead. The program does not read escape sequences typed from the keyboard in response to a GET command. This means that your users can err in their responses without endangering the display.

When to Switch Modes Versus When to Deactivate

When using BASIC, deactivate the text card whenever a previous (BASIC) program has left the card active (leaving a solid cursor on the screen) or whenever you want to send output to a peripheral device.

Switch back and forth between 40-column and 80-column displays for visual appeal. For full use of the control characters described later, your card must be active, although it can display in either 40-column or 80-column mode.

Original lle | Tabbing

Tabbing in Applesoft: You must switch to a 40-column display to use Applesoft comma tabbing or the HTAB command.

Display Features With the Text Card

With an active 80-column card you can issue BASIC and PRODOS commands in lowercase characters. You can also issue commands in lowercase from the keyboard, that is, in immediate mode. This is particularly convenient because REM statements and data within quotes remain in lowercase as they were typed.

If you are using DOS 3.3, you must issue commands in uppercase whether or not your card is active.

INVERSE, FLASH, NORMAL, HOME

There are several commands you can give your computer from Applesoft BASIC to affect the appearance of text on the screen. All of these features are described in the *Applesoft BASIC Programmer's Reference Manual*.

- INVERSE tells the computer to display black characters on a white background instead of the normal display of white characters on a black background. This command is normally only available for uppercase characters, but with an active 80-column text card it is available for uppercase and lowercase characters.
- FLASH causes subsequently printed characters to blink quickly between inverse and normal characters. You can turn off the FLASH command by typing the NORMAL command. The FLASH command is normally available only with uppercase characters; it is not available at all while the card is active.

□ NORMAL tells the computer to turn off the INVERSE or FLASH command and to display subsequently printed characters normally. It works the same way with the card active or inactive.

□ HOME clears the screen and returns the cursor to the upper-left corner of the screen. Both the NORMAL HOME and INVERSE HOME commands are available while the card is active, but INVERSE HOME works a little differently when the card is active.

By the Way: The FLASH and INVERSE commands can be used to highlight important screen messages within a BASIC program.

Important!

If you are using the FLASH command (which means the 80-column text card is inactive) and then type PR#3 to activate the card, the screen turns white as the cursor goes to the HOME position. Whatever you type appears in black characters on the white screen. If you list or run an Applesoft BASIC program, some of the characters will appear as MouseText characters. To avoid this, remember to use either the NORMAL or INVERSE command before you exit the program.

Tabbing With the Original Apple Ile

You cannot use conventional 40-column tabbing in BASIC with the original model Apple IIe with an 80-column display. You do not have to turn off your card, but you must switch out of 80-column mode to use the HTAB command or to use comma tabbing.

When an original Apple IIe is displaying 80-column text, you should use the POKE 1403 command for horizontal tabbing in the right half of the screen instead of the HTAB command.

Comma Tabbing With the Original Apple Ile

In BASIC you can use commas in PRINT statements to instruct the computer to display all or part of your output in columns. This is known as comma tabbing. You can use this method of tabbing as long as the screen is displaying 40 columns (that is with the card inactive or after issuing an **ESCAPE**] (4) command to switch to 40-column mode). You cannot use this method of tabbing with an 80-column display. If you try to do so, characters will be placed in memory outside the screen area and may change programs or data in memory.

HTAB and POKE 1403

The VTAB (vertical tab) and HTAB (horizontal tab) statements can be used to place the cursor at a specific location on the screen before printing characters. The largest value you can use with the VTAB statement is 24; the largest for HTAB is 255. The VTAB command works just the same in an 80-column display as it does in a 40-column display.

On the original Apple IIe, the HTAB command causes the cursor to wrap around to the next line after it reaches the 40th column, so you cannot use this command to position the cursor in the last 40 columns while the screen is displaying 80 columns.

POKE 1403 is specifically designed to solve this problem. Using the POKE 1403 command allows you to tab horizontally across the extra 40 columns provided by the 80-column text card.

If you want to tab past column 40 while the card is active and the screen is displaying 80 columns, use the following, where n is a number from 0 to 79:

POKE 1403, n

When you use the HTAB command, HTAB 1 places the cursor at the leftmost position on the screen. When you use the POKE 1403 command, POKE 1403,0 places the cursor at the leftmost position on the screen.

Using Control Characters With the Card

Using BASIC with an active 80-column text card increases the number of functions you can perform with control characters. Originally control-character commands were so named because they were given from the keyboard by pressing the <u>CONTROL</u> key in conjunction with another key. You can perform the same functions from your programs by using an equivalent control-character code. Commands based on these two-key combinations are called control-character commands even when they must be issued from a program.

Control Characters and Their Functions

Table G-1 lists the control-character commands supported by BASIC with an 80-column card. The table includes the corresponding command code, its function and whether a given command can be executed from the keyboard as well as from a program.

Table G-1. Control Characters With 80-Column Firmware On

Control Character	ASCII Code	Apple IIe Name	Action Taken by BASICOUT
Control-G	BEL	bell	Produces a 1000 Hz tone for 0.1 second.
Control-H	BS	backspace	Moves cursor position one space to the left; from left edge of window, moves to right end of line above.
Control-J	LF	line feed	Moves cursor position down to next line in window; scrolls if needed.
Control-K †	VT	clear EOS	Clears from cursor position to the end of the screen.
Control-L +	FF	home and clear	Moves cursor position to upper-left corner of window and clears window.
Control-M	CR	return	Moves cursor position to left end of next line in window; scrolls if needed.
Control-N †	SO	normal	Sets display format normal.
Control-0 †	SI	inverse	Sets display format inverse.
Control-Q †	DC1	40-column	Sets display to 40-column.
Control-R +	DC2	80-column	Sets display to 80-column.
Control-S*	DC3	stop-list	Stops listing characters on the display until another key is pressed.
Control-U †	NAK	quit	Deactivates 80-column video firmware.
Control-V †	SYN	scroll	Scrolls the display down one line, leaving the cursor in the current position.
Control-W †	ETB	scroll-up	Scrolls the display up one line, leaving the cursor in the current position.
Control-X	CAN	disable MouseText	Disable MouseText character display; use inverse uppercase.

Control Character	ASCII Code	Apple IIe Name	Action Taken by BASICOUT
Control-Y †	EM	home	Moves cursor position to upper-left corner of window (but doesn't clear).
Control-Z †	SUB	clear line	Clears the line the cursor position is on.
Control-[ESC	enable MouseText	Map inverse uppercase characters to MouseText characters.
Control-\†	FS	forward space	Moves cursor position one space to the right; from right edge of window, moves it to left end of line below.
Control-]†	GS	clear EOL	Clears from the current cursor position to the end of the line (that is, to the right edge of the window).
Control	US	up	Moves cursor up a line, no scroll.

Table G-1-Continued. Control Characters With 80-Column Firmware On

* Only works from the keyboard.

† Doesn't work from the keyboard.

How to Use Control-Character Codes in Programs

To issue a control-character command from a program, use the ASCII decimal code that corresponds to the control-character. (See Table G-1.)

- #

The following example shows how to use ASCII decimal codes in an Applesoft BASIC program. Type

HOME [?] NEW 10 PRINT CHR\$(15): PRINT "MAKE HAY" 20 PRINT CHR\$(14): PRINT "WHILE THE SUN SHINES" RUN

(CHR\$ is the Applesoft BASIC command that signifies that a control-character function is to be performed.)

**		
Volu	\$171	dot
100	VV 111	SCL

JNEW		
J10 PRINT	CHR\$(15): PRINT	"MAKE HAY"
J20 PRINT	CHR\$(14): PRINT	"WHILE THE SUN SHINES"
IRUN		
MAKE HAY		
WHILE THE	SUN SHINES	
1		

See Chapter 3 in this manual for a description of control-character functions.

The ASCII decimal codes for inverse video (Control-O) and normal video (Control-N) are 15 and 14. When the PRINT statements in the example are executed, the display switches to inverse and prints MAKE HAY, then switches back to a normal display and prints WHILE THE SUN SHINES.

A Word of Caution to Pascal Programmers

Avoid writing Control-U or Control-Q to the console from a Pascal program. Either one puts the system into a state that will cause Pascal to eventually crash.

You can't send control characters from the keyboard to the 80-column firmware when using Pascal. The only exceptions to this rule are Control-M (CR) and Control-G (BEL).



For more information about the installation and operation of the SSC, see the Super Serial Card manual. This appendix briefly describes how to use the Apple II Super Serial Card (SSC) from programs, how to find the SSC through software, and the commands supported by the SSC.

The SCC is one of the most common serial interface cards used with the Apple IIe, and the Apple IIc's serial ports operate very much like the Super Serial Card. This similarity should make it easier for you to write programs for both the Apple IIe and Apple IIc.

Locating the Card

The Pascal 1.1 firmware protocol is described in Chapter 6.

Locations Cs05, Cs07, Cs08, and Cs0C (where *s* is the number of the slot where the SSC is installed) contain the identification bytes for the Super Serial Card. The identification byte's values are

\$Cs05 \$38 \$Cs07 \$18 \$Cs0B \$01 \$Cs0C \$31

Operating Modes

The Super Serial Card has two main operating modes: printer mode and communications mode. There is nothing you can do from software to change from one mode to the other since they are set by the position of the jumper block.

Note to Software Developers: If you are writing software that depends on the SSC being in a given operating mode, make sure that your documentation tells the user to set up the SSC in the proper way.

In printer mode, the SSC is set to send data to a printer, local terminal, or other serial device. In communications mode, the SSC is set to operate with a modem. From communications mode, the SSC can enter a special mode called terminal mode. In terminal mode the Apple IIe acts like an unintelligent terminal.

Operating Commands

For each of the operating modes, you can control many aspects of data transmission such as baud rate, data format, line feed generation, and so forth.

Your program can change these aspects by sending control codes as commands to the card. All commands are preceded by a command character and followed by a carriage return character (\$0D).

The command character is usually Control-I in printer mode and Control-A in communications mode and terminal mode. In the command examples in the following sections, Control-I is used unless the command being described is available only in communications mode or terminal mode. A carriage return character is represented by its ASCII symbol, CR.

There are three types of command formats:

- □ A number, represented by n, followed by an uppercase letter with no space between the characters (for example, 4D to set data format 4).
- □ An uppercase letter by itself (for example, R to reset the SSC).
- An uppercase letter followed by a space and then either E to enable or D to disable a feature (for example, L D to disable automatic insertion of line feed characters).

The allowable range of n is given in each command description that follows.

The choice of enable or disable is indicated with E/D. The underscore character (__) before the E/D in commands that allow enable/disable is to remind you that a space is required there.

The SSC checks only numbers and the first letters of commands and options. (All such letters must be uppercase.) Further letters, which you can add to assist your memory, have no effect on the SSC. For example, XOFF Enable is the same as X E. The SSC ignores invalid commands.

Important!

The spaces in command examples are there for clarity; generally you will not use spaces in a command string. Where a space is required in a command string, an underscore (___) character will appear in the text as a reminder.

The Command Character

The normal command character is Control-I (ASCII \$09) in printer mode, or Control-A (ASCII \$01) in communications mode. If you want to change the command character from Control-I to Control-something else, send Control-I Control-something else. For example, to change the command character to Control-W, send Control-I Control-W. To change back, send Control-W Control-I. No return character is required after either of these commands.

You can send the command character itself through the SSC by sending it twice in a row: Control-I Control-I; no return character is required after this command. This special command allows you to transmit the command character without affecting the operation of the SSC, and without having to change to another command character and then back again later.

Here is how to generate this character in BASIC and Pascal:

Applesoft BASIC:	PRINT	CHR\$(9);"command"
Pascal:	WRITEL	N (CHR(9), 'command');

Baud Rate, nB

.

You can use this command to override the physical settings of switches SW1-1 through SW1-4 on the SSC. For example, to change the baud rate to 135, send Control-I 4B CR to the SSC.

Table H-1. Baud Rate Selections

n	SSC Baud Rate	n	SSC Baud Rate
0	use SW1-1 to SW1-4	8	1200
1	50	9	1800
2	75	10	2400
3	109.92 (110)	11	3600
4	134.58 (135)	12	4800
5	150	13	7200
6	300	14	9600
7	600	15	19200

Data Format, nD

You can override the settings of switch SW2-1 with this command. The table below shows how many data and stop bits correspond to each value of n. For example, Control-I 2D CR makes the SSC transmit each character in the form one start bit (always transmitted), six data bits, and one stop bit.

Table H-2. Data Format Selections

n	Data Bits	Stop Bits
0	8	1
1	7	1
2	6	1
3	5	1
4	8	2*
5	7	2
6	6	2
7	5	2 †
* 1 with	Parity options 4 thr	ough 7
† 1½ wit	th Parity options 0 t	hrough 3

Parity, nP

You can use this command to set the parity that you want to use for data transmission and reception. There are five parity options available, described in Table H-3.

Table H-3. Parity Selections

n	Parity to Use	
0, 2, 4 or 6	None (default value)	
1	Odd parity (odd total number of ones)	
3	Even parity (even total number of ones)	
5	MARK parity (parity bit always 1)	
7	SPACE parity (parity bit always 0)	

For example, the command string Control-I 1P CR makes the SSC transmit and check for odd parity. Odd parity means that the high bit of every character is 0 if there is an odd number of 1 bits in that character, or 1 if there is an even number of 1 bits in the character, making the total number of 1 bits in the character always odd. This is an easy (but not foolproof) way to check data for transmission errors. Parity errors are recorded in a status byte.

Set Time Delay, nC, nL, and nF

Some printers can't keep up with the Apple IIe when they are doing certain operations. You may need to change default settings on the SSC to give a printer the time it needs.

The nC command overrides the setting of switch SW2-2 on the SSC. That switch provides two choices: either no delay or a 250 millisecond delay after the SSC sends a carriage return character.

The nL command allows time after a line feed character for a printer platen to turn so the paper is vertically positioned to receive the next line.

The nF command allows time after a form feed character for the printer platen to move the paper form to the top of the next page (typically a longer time than a line feed).

Table H-4. Time Delay Selections

-	
n	Time Delay
0	none
1	32 milliseconds
2	250 milliseconds (1/4 second)
3	2 seconds

Consult the user manual for a given printer to find out how much time it takes to move its print head and platen so you can determine an appropriate set of values for these three delays. The idea is to have at least enough time for the printer parts to move the required distance, but not so much time that overall printing speed is slowed down drastically. Many printers require no delays because they have a buffer built in to keep accepting characters even while they are doing form feeds and so on.

A typical setup for a *very* slow printer would be Control-I 2C CR, Control-I 2L CR, Control-I 3F CR; that is, the SSC waits 250 milliseconds after transmitting carriage returns, 250 milliseconds after transmitting line feeds, and 2 seconds after transmitting form feed characters.

Echo Characters to the Screen, E_E/D

For the Apple IIe, as for most computers, displaying (echoing) a character on the video screen during communications is a separate step from receiving it from the keyboard, though we tend to think if these as one step, as on a typewriter. For example, if you send Control-A E_D CR, the SSC does not forward incoming characters to the Apple IIe screen. This can be used to hide someone's password entered at a terminal, or to avoid double display of characters.

This command is used in communications mode only.

Automatic Carriage Return, C

Sending Control-I C CR to the SSC causes it to generate a carriage return character (ASCII CR) whenever the column count exceeds the current printer line width limit. This command is used in printer mode only.

Important!

Once this option is on, only clearing the high-order bit at location 578+s (where *s* is the slot the SSC is in) can turn this option back off. This option is normally off.

Automatic Line Feed, L_E/D

You can use this command to have the SSC automatically generate and transmit a line feed character after each carriage return character. This overides the setting of switch SW2-5. For example, send Control-I L_E CR to your printer to print listings or double-spaced manuscripts for editing.

Mask Line Feed In, M_E/D

If you send Control-I M_E CR to the SSC, it will ignore any incoming line feed character that immediately follows a carriage return character.

Reset Card, R

Sending Control-I R CR to the SSC has the same effect as sending a PR#0 and an IN#0 to a BASIC program and then resetting the SSC. This command cancels all previous commands to the SSC and puts the physical switch settings back into force.

Specify Screen Slot, S

In communications mode, you can specify the slot number of the device where you want text or listings displayed with this command. (Normally this is slot 0, the Apple IIe video screen.) This allows chaining of the SSC to another card slot, such as an 80-column text card. For the firmware in the SSC to pass on information to the firmware in the other card, the other card must have an output entry point within its \$Cs00 space; this is the case for all currently available 80-column cards for the Apple IIe.

For example, let's say you have the SSC in slot 2 with a remote terminal connected to it, and an 80-column card in slot 3. Send Control-A 3S CR to cause the data from the remote terminal to be chained through the card in slot 3, so that it is displayed on the Apple IIe in 80-column format. (Not available in Pascal.)

Translate Lowercase Characters, nT

The Apple IIe Monitor translates all incoming lowercase characters into uppercase ones before sending them to the video screen or to a BASIC program. The nT command has four options, which are shown in Table H-5.

n	Action
0	Change all lowercase characters to uppercase ones before passing them to a BASIC program or to the video screen. This is the way the Apple IIe monitor handles lowercase.
1	Pass along all lowercase characters unchanged. The appearance of the lowercase characters on the Apple II screen is undefined (garbage).
2	Display lowercase characters as uppercase inverse characters (that is, as black characters on a white background).
3	Pass lowercase characters to programs unchanged, but display lowercase as uppercase, and uppercase as inverse uppercase (that is, as black characters on a white background).

Suppress Control Characters, Z

Table H-5. Lowercase Character Display Options

If you issue the Z command described here, all further commands are ignored; this is useful if the data you are transmitting, such as graphics data, contains bit patterns that the SSC can mistake for control characters.

Sending Control-I Z CR to the SSC prevents it from recognizing any further control characters (and hence commands) whether coming from the keyboard or contained in a stream of characters sent to the SSC.

Important!

The only way to reinstate command recognition after the Z command is to either reinitialize the SSC, or clear the high-order bit at location \$5F8+s (where *s* is the number of the slot in which the SSC is installed).

Find Keyboard, F_E/D

You can use this command to make the SSC ignore keyboard input.

For example, you can include Control-I F_D CR in a program, followed by a routine that retrieves data through the SSC, followed by Control-I F_E CR to turn the keyboard back on.

XOFF Recognition, X_E/D

Sending Control-I X_E CR to the SSC causes it to look for any XOFF (\$13) character coming from a device attached to the SSC, and to respond to it by halting transmission of characters until the SSC receives an XON (\$11) from the device, signalling the SCC to continue transmission. In printer mode, this function is normally turned off.

Caution

In printer mode, full duplex communication may not work with XOFF recognition turned on, so be careful.

Tab in BASIC, T E/D

In printer mode only, if you send Control-I T_E CR to the SSC, the BASIC horizontal position counter is left equal to the column count. All tabs work, including back-tabs. Tabs beyond column 40 require a POKE to location 36. Commas only work as far as column 40, and BASIC programs will be listed in 40-column format.

Note that this use of tabbing is specific to the SSC—it doesn't go through the 80-column firmware.

Terminal Mode

From communications mode, the SSC can enter terminal mode and make the Apple IIe act like an unintelligent terminal. This is useful for connecting the Apple IIe to a computer timesharing service, or for conversing with another Apple II.

Entering Terminal Mode, T

Send Control-A T CR to enter terminal mode. This causes the Apple IIe to function as a full-duplex unintelligent terminal. You can use this command together with the Echo command to simulate the half-duplex terminal mode of the old Apple II Communications Card.

By the Way: If you enter terminal mode and don't see what you type echoed on the Apple video screen, probably the modem link has not yet been established, or you need to use the Echo Enable command (Control-A E_E CR).

Transmitting a Break, B

Sending Control-A B CR causes the SSC to transmit a 233-millisecond break signal, recognized by most time-sharing systems as a signoff.

Special Characters, S_E/D

If you send Control-A S_D CR, the SSC will treat the $\verb"ESCAPE"$ key like any other key.

Quitting Terminal Mode, Q

Send Control-A Q CR to the SSC to exit from terminal mode.

SSC Error Codes

The SSC uses I/O scratchpad address 678+s (*s* is the number of the slot that the SSC is in) to record status after a read operation. The firmware calls this byte STSBYTE. Table H-6 lists the bit definitions of this byte.

Table H-6. STSBYTE Bit Definitions

Bit	"1" Means	"0" Means
0	Parity Error occurred.	No Parity Error occurred.
1	Framing Error occurred.	No Framing Error occurred.
2	Overrun occurred.	No Overrun occurred.
3	Carrier lost.	Carrier present.
5	Error occurred.	No error occurred.

The terms **Parity**, **Framing Error**, and **Overrun** are defined in the glossary.

Bits 0, 1, and 2 are the same as the corresponding three bits of the ACIA Status Register of the SSC. Bit 3 indicates whether or not the Data Carrier Detect (DCD) signal went false at any time during the receive operation. Bit 5 is set if any of the other bits are set, as an overall error indicator. If bit 5 is the only bit set, an unrecognized command was detected. If all bits are 0, no error occurred.

These error codes begin with the number 32 to avoid conflicting with previously defined and documented system error codes.

In BASIC, you can check this status byte via a PEEK \$678+s (*s* is the SSC slot), and reset it with a POKE command at the same location.

All and a second

In Pascal, the IORESULT function returns the error code value.

By the Way: Any character—including the carriage return at the end of a WRITELN statement—will cause posting of a new value in IORESULT.

Table H-7 shows the possible combinations of error bits corresponding to these decimal error codes.

Error	Carrier		Framing	Parity
Code*	Lost	Overrun	Error	Error
0		no er	ror	
32		illegal command		
33	no	no	no	yes
34	no	no	yes	no
35	no	no	yes	yes
36	no	yes	no	no
37	no	yes	no	yes
38	no	yes	yes	no
39	no	yes	yes	yes
40	yes	no	no	no
41	yes	no	no	yes
42	yes	no	yes	no
43	yes	no	yes	yes
44	yes	yes	no	no
45	yes	yes	no	yes
46	yes	yes	yes	no
47	yes	yes	yes	yes

Table H-7. Error Codes and Bits

* Result of PEEK \$678+s in BASIC or IORESULT in Pascal.

The ACIA

The Asynchronous Communication Interface Adapter (ACIA) chip is the heart of the Super Serial Card. It takes the 1.8432 MHz signal generated by the crystal oscillator on the SSC and divides it down to one of the fifteen baud rates that it supports. The ACIA also handles all incoming and outgoing signals of the RS232-C serial protocol that the ACIA supports.

The ACIA registers control hardware handshaking and select the baud rate, data format, and parity. The ACIA also performs parallel to serial and serial to parallel data conversion, and buffers data transfers.

SSC Firmware Memory Use

Table H-8 is an overall map of the locations that the SSC uses, both in the Apple IIe and in the SSC's own firmware address space.

Table H-8. Memory Use Map

Address	Name of Area	Contents
\$0000-\$00FF	Page zero	Monitor pointers, I/O hooks, and temporary storage.
\$04xx-\$07xx (selected locations)	Peripheral slot Scratchpad RAM	Locations (8 per slot) in Apple IIe pages \$04 through \$07. SSC uses all 8 of them.
\$C0(8+s)0- \$C0(8+s)F	Peripheral card I/O space	Locations (16 per slot) for general I/O; SSC uses 6 bytes.
\$Cs00-\$CsFF	Peripheral card ROM space	One 256-byte page reserved for card in slot s; first page of SSC firmware.
\$C800-\$CFFF	Expansion ROM	Eight 256-byte pages reserved for 2K ROM or PROM; SSC maps its firmware onto \$C800-\$CEFF.

Zero-Page Locations

The SSC uses the zero-page locations described in Table H-9.

Table H-9. Zero-Page Locations Used by the SSC

Address	Name	Description
\$24 *	СН	Monitor pointer to current position of cursor on screen
\$26	SLOT16	Usually (slot x 16); that is, \$s0
\$27	CHARACTER	Input or output character
\$28 *	BASL	Monitor pointer to current screen line
\$2A	ZPTMP1	Temporary storage (various uses)
\$2B	ZPTMP2	Temporary storage (various uses)
\$35	ZPTEMP	Temporary storage (various uses)
\$36*	CSWL	BASIC output hook (not for Pascal)
\$37 *	CSWH	High byte of CSW
\$38*	KSWL	BASIC input hook (not for Pascal)
\$39*	KSWH	High byte of KSW
\$4E *	RNDL	Random number location, updated when looking for a keypress (not used when initialized by Pascal)

A DECEMBER OF

* Not used when Pascal initializes SSC.

Peripheral Card I/O Space

There are 16 bytes of I/O space allocated to each slot in the Apple IIe. Each set begins at address $C080 + (slot \ge 16)$; for example, if the SSC is in slot 3, its group of bytes extends from C0B0 to C0BF. Table H-10 interprets the 6 bytes the SSC uses.


.

Address	Register	Bits	Interpretation
\$C081+s0	DIPSW1 (SW1-x)	0 1 4-7	SW1-6 is OFF when 1, ON when 0 SW1-5 is OFF when 1, ON when 0 Same as above for SW1-4 through SW1-1
\$C082+s0	DIPSW2 (SW2-x)	0 1-3 5, 7	Clear To Send (CTS) is true when 0 Same as above for SW2-5 through SW2-3 Same as above for SW2-2 and SW2-1
\$C088+s0	TDREG RDREG	0-7 0-7	ACIA transmit register (write) ACIA receive register (read)
\$C089+s0	STATUS	0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	ACIA status/reset register Parity error detected when 1 Framing error detected when 1 Overrun detected when 1 ACIA receive register full when 1 ACIA transmit register empty when 1 Data Carrier Detect (DCD) true when 0 Data Set Ready (DSR) true when 0 Interrupt (IRQ) has occurred when 1
\$C08A+s(COMMAND	0 1 2-3 4 5-7	ACIA command register (read/write) Data Terminal Ready (DTR): enable (1) or disable (0) receiver and all interrupts When 1, allow STATUS bit 3 to cause interrupt Control transmit interrupt, Request To Send (RTS) level, and transmitter When 0, normal mode for receiver; when 1, echo mode (but bits 2 and 3 must be 0) Control parity
\$C08B+s0	CONTROL	0-3 4 5-6 7	ACIA control register (read/write) Baud rate: $00 = 16$ times external clock; See Table H-1. When 1, use baud rate generator; when 0, use external clock (not supported) Number of data bits: 8 (bit 5 and 6 = 0) 7 (5 = 1, 6 = 0), 6 (5 = 0, 6 = 1) or 5 (bit 5 and 6 both = 1) Number of stop bits: 1 if bit 7 = 0; if bit 7 = 1, then 1-1/2 (with 5 data bits, no parity), 1 (8 data plus parity), or 2

Scratchpad RAM Locations

The SSC uses the scratchpad RAM locations listed in Table H-11.

Table H-11. Scratchpad RAM Locations Used by the SSC

Address	Field name	Bit	Interpretation
\$0478+s	DELAYFLG	0-1 2-3 4-5 6-7	Form feed delay selection Line feed delay selection Carriage return delay selection Translate option
\$04F8+s	PARAMETE	0-7	Accumulator for firmware's command processor
\$0578+s	STATEFLG	0-2 3-5 6 7 7	Command mode when not 0 Slot to chain to (communications mode) Set to 1 after lowercase input character Terminal mode when 1 (communications mode) Enable CR generation when 1 (printer mode)
\$U51'8+S	CMDBITE	0-6 7	mode default is Control-A Set to 1 to Zap control commands
\$0678+s	STSBYTE		Status and IORESULT byte
\$06F8+s	CHNBYTE	0-2	Current screen slot (communication mode); when $slot = 0$, chaining is enabled.
	PWDBYTE	3-7 0-7	\$Cs00 space entry point (communications mode) Current printer width; for listing compensation, auto-CR (printer mode)
\$0778+s	BUFBYTE	0-6 7	One-byte input buffer (communications mode); used in conjunction with XOFF recognition Set to 1 when buffer full (communications mode)
	COLBYTE	0-7	Current-column counter for tabbing and so forth
\$07F8+s	MISCFLG	0 1 2 3 4 5 6	Generate line feed after CR when 1 Printer mode when 0; comminications mode when 1 Keyboard input enabled when 1 Control-S (XOFF), Control-R, and Control-T input checking when 1 Pascal operating system when 1; BASIC when 0 Discard line feed input when 1 Enable lowercase and special character generation
		6	when 1 (communications mode) Tabbing option on when 1 (printer mode)
		7	Echo output to Apple IIe screen when 1



00:	0000	1 TH	EST EQI	U O	;1	REAL VERSION
0000:		2	1	LST	ON	;DO LISTING AND SYMBOL TABLES
0000:		3	1	MSB	ON	;SET THEM HIBITS
0000:	0001	4	IROTEST I	EQU	1	
0000:	0000	5	1	DO	TEST	
S		6	F80RG	EQU	\$1800	
S		7	C1ORG 1	EQU	\$2100	
S		8	C3ORG 1	EQU	\$2300	
S		9	C80RG	EQU	\$2800	
0000:		10	1	ELSE		
0000:	F800	11	F80RG	EQU	\$F800	
0000:	C100	12	CIORG 1	EQU	\$C100	
0000:	C300	13	C3ORG	EQU	\$C300	
0000:	C800	14	C80RG 1	EQU	\$C800	
0000:		15	1	FIN		
0000:		16	1	MSB	ON	
0000:		17		INCLU	UDE EQUATES	S
:0000		1	*******	*****	********	******
0000:		2	*			
0000:		3	* Apple	//e 1	Video Firmy	ware
0000:		4	*			
:0000		5	* RICK A	URICO	CHIO 08/81	
0000:		6	* E. BEEL	RNINK	K, R. WILLI	IAMS 1984
0000:		7	*			
:0000		8	* (C) 198	81,19	984 APPLE	COMPUTER INC.
0000:		9	* ALI	L RIC	GHTS RESERV	VED
0000:		10	*			
0000:		11	******	*****	********	******
0000:		12	*		(ar)	
:0000	0006	13	GOODF8 1	EQU	6	;F8 ROM VERSION
0000:		14	*			
:0000		15	* HARDWAI	RE EC	QUATES:	
0000:		16	*		12101212121	
0000:	C000	17	KBD 1	EQU	\$C000	;Read keyboard
0000:	C000	18	CLR80COL	EQU	\$C000	;Disable 80 column store
0000:	C001	19	SET80COL	EQU	\$C001	;Enable 80 column store
0000:	C002	20	RDMAINRA	M EQI	J \$C002	;Read from main RAM
: 0000	C003	21	RDCARDRAN	1 EQU	U \$C003	;Read from auxiliary RAM
0000:	C004	22	WRMAINRA	M EQI	J \$C004	;Write to main RAM
0000:	C005	23	WRCARDRAN	M EQI	U \$C005	Write to auxiliary RAM
0000:	C006	24	SETSLOTC	KROM	EQU \$C006	;Switch in slot CX00 ROM
0000:	C007	25	SETINTCX	ROM H	EQU \$COO7	;Switch in internal CX00 ROM
0000:	C008	26	SETSTDZP	EQU	\$C008	;Switch in main stack/zp/lang.card
:0000	C009	27	SETALTZP	EQU	\$C009	;Switch in aux stack/zp/lang.card
0000:	COOA	28	SETINTC3	ROM E	EQU SCOOA	;Switch in internal \$C3 ROM
:0000	COOB	29	SETSLOTC	3 ROM	EQU ŞCOOB	;Switch in slot \$C3 space
0000:	COOC	30	CLR80VID	EQU	\$COOC	;Disable 80 column video
0000:	COOD	31	SET80VID	EQU	\$COOD	;Enable 80 column video
0000:	COOE	32	CLRALTCH	AR EC	QU \$COOE	;Normal Apple II char set
0000:	COOF	33	SETALTCH	AR EC	U \$COOF	Norm/inv LC, no flash
0000:	C010	34	KBDSTRB I	EQU	\$C010	;Clear keyboard strobe
0000:	C011	35	RDLCBNK2	EQU	\$C011	;>12/ if LC BANK2 in use
0000:	C012	36	RDLCRAM I	EQU	\$C012	;>12/ if LC is read enabled

	0000:	C013	37	RDRAMRD	EQU	\$C013	;>127 if main RAM read enabled
	0000:	C014	38	RDRAMWRT	r equ	\$C014	;>127 if main RAM write enabled
	0000:	C015	39	RDCXROM	EQU	\$C015	;>127 if ROM CX space enabled
1	0000:	C016	40	RDALTZP	EQU	\$C016	;>127 if alt. zp & lc enabled
质	0000:	C017	41	RDC3ROM	EQU	\$C017	;>127 if slot C3 space enabled
	0000:	C018	42	RD80COL	EQU	\$C018	;>127 if 80 column store enabled
	0000:	C019	43	RDVBLBAN	R EQU	\$C019	;>127 if not vertical blanking
	0000:	CO1A	44	RDTEXT	EQU	\$C01A	;>127 if text mode
	0000:	COIC	45	RDPAGE2	EQU	\$C01C	;>127 if page 2
	0000:	COLE	46	ALTCHARS	SET E	QU \$CO1E	;>127 if alt char set switched in
	0000:	CO1F	47	RD80VID	EQU	\$C01F	;>127 if 80 column video enabled
	0000:	C030	48	SPKR	EQU	\$C030	;toggle speaker
	0000:	C054	49	TXTPAGE	EQU	\$C054	;switches in text page 1
(B)	0000:	C055	50	TXTPAGE2	2 EQU	\$C055	;switches in text page 2
	0000:	C05D	51	CLRAN2	EQU	\$C05D	;annunciator 2
100	0000:	CO5F	52	CLRAN3	EQU	\$C05F	;annunciator 3
	0000:	C061	53	BUTNO	EQU	\$C061	;open-apple key
	0000:	C062	54	BUTN1	EQU	\$C062	;closed-apple key
	0000:	C081	55	ROMIN	EQU	\$C081	;swap in DOOO-FFFF ROM
	0000:	C083	56	LCBANK2	EOU	\$C083	;swap in LC bank 2
	0000:	C08B	57	LCBANK1	EOU	SC08B	;swap in LC bank 1
	0000:		58	*			,
	0000:		59	* MONITO	DR EOI	UATES:	
	0000:		60	*			
	0000:	FBB3	61	F8VERSI	DN EOI	J F8ORG+\$3H	33 :F8 ROM ID
	0000:	FD1B	62	KEYIN	EOU	F80RG+\$51H	3 :normal input
	0000:	FDFO	63	COUTI	EOU	F80RG+S5FC) :normal output
	0000:	FF69	64	MONZ	EOU	F80RG+\$769	; monitor entry point
14	0000:		65	*	-4-		, manufacture and a provide
	0000:		66	* ZEROPA	AGE E	DUATES :	
	0000:		67	*			
	0000:	0000	68	1.000	FOII	0	used for doing PR#
	0000:	0001	69	LOCI	EOU	1	used for doing PR#
	0000:	0001	70	2001	DSEC	r	Inpen set noting sto
	0020:	0020	71		ORG	\$20	
	0020:	0001	72	WNDL.FT	DS	1	scrolling window left
	0021:	0001	73	WNDWDTH	DS	1	scrolling window width
	0022:	0001	74	WNDTOP	DS	I	scrolling window top
	0023:	0001	75	WNDBTM	DS	1	:scrolling window bottom+1
	0024:	0001	76	CH	DS	1	cursor horizontal
	0025:	0001	77	CV	DS	1	cursor vertical
	0026:	0002	78	01	DS	2	:GBASL.GBASH
	0028:	0002	79	BAST	DS	2	points to current line of text
	0024:	0029	80	BASH	FOIL	BASL+1	,points to correat rine of conc
1	0024:	0002	81	BAS2L	DS	2	incinter used for scroll
	0020:	002B	82	BAS2H	FOU	BAS2L+1	,pointer used for servir
	0020:	0020	83	*	140	0,1020.1	
	0020.	0028	84		ORG	\$2F	
	0021.	0001	85	TENCTH	DS	1	length for mnomonics
	0021.	0001	86	DEMOID	DS	2	, rengen for unemonies
	0032.	0001	87	TNUELO	DS	1	()127=normal (127=inverse
	0032.	0001	88	PROMPT	DS	1	used by monitor unchift
	0035.	0001	80	VCAN	DS	1	tinnut buffer index for mind
	0034:	0001	00	CAUVI	DS	1	for restoring V
	0033:	0001	20	SAVII	05	1	, tor restoring r

0036:	0002	91	CSWL	DS	2	;hook for output routine
0038:	0037	92	CSWH	EQU	CSWL+1	
0038:	0002	93	KSWL	DS	2	;hook for input routine
003A:	0039	94	KSWH	EQU	KSWL+1	
003C:	003C	95		ORG	\$3C	
003C:	0002	96	AlL	DS	2	;Monitor temps for MOVE
003E:	003D	97	AlH	EQU	A1L+1	
003E:	0002	98	A2L	DS	2	
0040:	003F	99	A2H	EQU	A2L+1	
0040:	0002	100		DS	2	; A3 NOT USED
0042:	0002	101	A4L	DS	2	
0044:	0043	102	A4H	EOU	A4L+1	
0044:	0001	103	MACSTAT	DS	1	;machine state on breaks
004E:	004E	104		ORG	S4E	
004E :	0002	105	RNDI.	DS	2	:random number seed
0050:	004F	106	RNDH	EOU	RNDL+1	1
0000:		107		DEND		
0000:		108	*	DULID		
0000:	0200	109	BUF	FOU	\$200	input buffer
0000.	0200	110	* Pormar	nent .	data in e	reenholes
0000.		111	*	lienc	data In bi	c c c c n n o z c o
0000:		112	* Note !	thee	e screenh	ales are only used by
0000.		113	* the S	Chest	e screenn	are if an 80 column card
0000.		114	* in dat	taata	d or if th	a user explicitly activates
0000.		115	* the fi	Lecte		a 80 column card is not
0000.		114	+ Lue II	LIWWA	-la MODE	te trached on PESET
0000:		110	* preset	nt, o	nly MODE .	is crashed on RESET.
0000:		110	* The		a of these	routings roly on the
0000:		110	* Ine st	ucces	s of these	e routines rely on the
0000:		119	* Iact I	cnac	11 00 0010	inn store is on (as it
0000:		120	norma.	119 1	s during d	bo column operation), that
0000:		121	* text]	page	I IS SWILL	ched in. Do not call the
0000:		122	* video	rirm	ware 11 V	Ideo page 2 is switched in!!
0000:	07.00	123	NOTOT	ROU	0700	
0000:	0710	124	MSLOI	EQU	\$110	;-sch ;h-slot using scool
0000:	0/70	125	A DOLD	BOU	0/7012	TACK ON be widden fitmener
0000:	0478	120	OLDCH	EQU	\$4/8+3	LASI CH used by video firmware
0000:	U4FB	12/	MODE	EQU	\$418+3	;video firmware operating mode
0000:	0578	128	OURCH	EQU	\$578+3	;80 column CH
0000:	OSFB	129	OURCV	EQU	\$518+3	;80 column CV
0000:	0678	130	CHAR	EQU	\$678+3	;character to be printed/read
0000:	06FB	131	XCOORD	EQU	\$6F8+3	(GOTOXY X-coord (pascal only)
0000:	077B	132	TEMP1	EQU	\$778+3	:temp
0000:	077B	133	OLDBASL	EQU	\$778+3	;last BASL (pascal only)
0000:	07 FB	134	TEMP2	EQU	\$7F8+3	;temp
0000:	07FB	135	OLDBASH	EQU	\$7F8+3	;last BASH (pascal only)
0000:		136	*			
0000:		137	* BASIC	MODE	BITS	
0000:		138	*			
0000:		139	* 0		BASIC act	tive
:0000		140	* 1		Pascal ad	ctive
:0000		141	* .0			
:0000		142	* .1			
:0000		143	*0		Print con	ntrol characters
0000:		144	*1		Don't pri	int ctrl chars.



	0000: 0000:		145 146	*0 *1
TERME	0000:		147	*0 Print control characters
	0000:		149	*
and the second second	0000:		150	*
	0000:		151	*0
Contraction of the	0000:		152	*
	0000:		153	*0 - Mouse text inactive
Construction of the local division of the lo	0000:		154	*1 - Mouse text active
	0000;		155	*
1 State	0000:	0040	156	M.6 EQU \$40
Sec.	0000:	0020	157	M.CTL2 EQU \$20 ;Don't print controls
	0000:	0010	158	M.4 EQU \$10
	0000:	0008	159	M.CTL EQU \$08 ;Temp ctrl disable
- Martin	0000:	0004	160	M.2 EQU \$04
	0000:	0002	161	M.1 EQU \$02
	0000:	0001	162	M.MOUSE EQU \$01
	0000:		163	*
	0000:		164	* Pascal Mode Bits
THE REAL PROPERTY AND INCOMENT	0000:		165	+ 0 PASTC active
	0000:		167	* U BASIC active
	0000:		168	* 0 rascal active
(inclusion)	0000.		169	* .1
Mal	00000:		170	*
	0000:		171	*
No. of	0000:		172	* 0 Cursor always on
The second	0000:		173	*l Cursor always off
	0000:		174	*0 GOTOXY n/a
	0000:		175	*l GOTOXY in progress
CALLS	0000:		176	*0 Normal Video
EL A	0000:		177	*l Inverse Video
A COLUMN TWO IS NOT	0000:		178	*0 PASCAL 1.1 F/W ACTIVE
	0000:		179	*1 PASCAL 1.0 INTERFACE
CERTIFICATION OF	0000:		180	*0 - Mouse text inactive
and I	0000:		181	*l - Mouse text active
In Dept. D	0000:	0000	182	
	0000:	0080	183	M.PASCAL EQU \$80 ;Pascal active
and the second s	0000:	0010	104	M.CORSOR EQU \$10 ; Don't print cursor
	0000:	0008	186	M UMODE FOUL SOA . PASCAL VIDEO MODE
	0000.	0004	187	M. PASL O FOU SO2 PASCAL 1.0 MODE
_	0000:	0002	188	*
1 2	0000:		189	* F8 ROM entries
IN REAL	0000:		190	*
	0000:	FA47	191	NEWBREAK EQU F80RG+\$247
100 million	0000:	FC74	192	IRQUSER EQU F80RG+\$474
	0000:	FC7A	193	IRQDONE2 EQU F80RG+\$47A
Human	0000:	F8B7	194	TSTROM EQU F80RG+\$B7
	0000:		18	INCLUDE BFUNC
No.		NEXT OBJECT	FILE	NAME IS REFLIST.0
	C100:	C100	1	ORG C10RG
Nik-	C100:	C100	2	BRUNCPG EQU *

-

The second

C100:		FEC5	3	FUNCEXIT EQU F80RG+\$6C5 ;RETURN ADDRESS
C100:		FCFO	4	MINI EQU F80RG+\$4F0
C100:			5	*
C100:			6	* BASIC FUNCTION HOOK:
C100:			7	*
C100:			8	* \$C100 is called by the patched \$F8 ROM.
C100:			9	* It provides an extension to SF8 routines
C100:			10	* that do not work in 80 columns.
C100:			11	*
C100:			12	* Before jumping here, the SF8 rom disabled
C100:			13	* slot I/O and enabled ROM I/O. This makes
c100:			14	* the entire space from \$C100 - \$CFFF with the
c100:			15	* exception of the \$C300 page available.
c100:			16	*
C100:			17	* On ovit alot I/O is restared if percessary
C100.			18	* on exit side 1/0 is rescored if necessary.
c100:			10	* INDUT. V=FUNCTION AS FOLLOWS.
C100.			20	*
C100.			21	* 1 - VEVIN
c100.			22	$\frac{1}{2} = \text{Fix} \text{ accord} \text{ abox}$
C100.			22	* 2 - PIX escape chai
C100.			23	* A - UTAD on UTAD7
C100.			25	* 5 - UOME
C100:			25	
C100:			20	* 7 - CIPEOI
c100.			20	* 9 - CLREOL
C100:			20	* 0 - DECET
C100:			29	* 9 KESEI
C100:			21	* A - CLREOF
C100:			22	D = KDKEI
C100:			22	The service Association
0100:			24	$D = \min Assembler$
C100:			34	E = Set 40 columns on PKr0/INr0
C100:			26	r = Fix pick for monitor
C100:			27	* Shark has BUD for shatus of internal CONOO BOW
C100:			20	· Stack has the for status of internal school kum
C100:			30	* Nata: If 80 Wid is an and the MODE buts is walid
C100.			40	* Note: If so vid is on and the MODE byte is valid,
C100:			40	* this call will be dispatched to an oo column routine
C100:			41	* 60 column moutine by R OLDENNC . In all cases noture
C100.			42	* to the Autostant POM is done through F PETUPN
C100.			45	*
C100.4C	12	C2	44	P FILMO IMP DISPATCH figure out what to do
0102.40	13	02	45	*
C103.	2%		40	
C105:A4	24		41	FOLKEOF LDI CH ; ESC F IS CLK IO END OF FAGE
C103:A3	23		40	CLEODI DUA
0107:48	02	CE	49	TCD VTAD7
C108:20	03	CL	50	
CIUD:20	F4	01	51	JOK A.CLKEULG
C110.40	00		52	
0111:08	00		55	
0112:09	22		54	ADU #QUU ;(CAITY SEL)
0115:00	23	0107	22	UMF WNDBIM
0112:30	ru	C10/	20	DCC GLEOPI

	C117:B0	34	C14D	57	*	BCS	GVTZ	;=>always to VTABZ
	C119.45	22		50	F UAME	TDA	UNDTOP	
160	C118:85	25		60	r •nome	STA	CV	
100	C11D:A0	00		61		LDY	#\$00	
	C11F:84	24		62		STY	CH	
	C121:F0	E4	C107	63		BEO	CLEOP1	: (ALWAYS TAKEN)
1	C123:	121.0		64	*			
	C123:A5	22		65	F. SCROL	L LDA	WNDTOP	
	C125:48			66		PHA		
	C126:20	03	CE	67		JSR	VTABZ	
He .	C129:A5	28		68	SCRL1	LDA	BASL	
	C12B:85	2A		69		STA	BAS2L	
	C12D:A5	29		70		LDA	BASH	
	C12F:85	2B		71		STA	BAS2H	
18.0.8	C131:A4	21		72		LDY	WNDWDTH	
- 1 1	C133:88			73		DEY		
	C134:68			74		PLA		
	C135:69	01		75		ADC	#\$01	
SALL	C137:C5	23		76		CMP	WNDBTM	
2	C139:BO	OD	C148	77		BCS	SCRL3	
	C13B:48			78		PHA		
	C13C:20	03	CE	79		JSR	VTABZ	
1	C13F:B1	28		80	SCRL2	LDA	(BASL),Y	
	C141:91	2A		81		STA	(BAS2L),Y	
	C143:88			82		DEY		
	C144:10	F9	C13F	83		BPL	SCRL2	
ANCE.	C146:30	E1	C129	84		BMI	SCRL1	
	C148:A0	00		85	SCRL3	LDY	#\$00	
	C14A:20	F4	C1	86		JSR	X.CLREOLZ	
	C14D:A5	25		87	GVTZ	LDA	CV	
UBERTS.	C14F:4C	03	CE	88	GVTZ2	JMP	VTABZ	;set vertical base
	C152:			89	*			
	C152:		C152	90	F.SETWNI	D EQU	*	
	C152:A9	28		91		LDA	#40	
	C154:85	21		92		STA	WNDWDTH	
Mar -	C156:A9	18		93		LDA	#24	
and the second se	C158:85	23		94		STA	WNDBTM	
	C15A:A9	17		95		LDA	#23	
and the second se	C15C:85	25		96		STA	CV	
D.	C15E:D0	EF	C14F	97		BNE	GVTZ2	;=>go do vtab, exit
	C160:			98	*			
	C160:			99	* Load	fron	n BAS2L and	i clear line
	C160:			100	R CLOUCI	7 1 1		1 470 201
and the	C160:A4	ZA	01	101	F.CLREOI	LZ LD	BASZL	;set up by \$F8 ROM
and the second s	C162:4C	F4	CI	102	4	JMP	X.CLREOLZ	;and clear line
	0165.			103	+ 00 - 1			
	C165.			104	* OU CO.	Lumn 1	coutines be	egin here
	0105:	U D	CB	105	R CODOLI	IMP	SCROT LUD	DO TT FOR CALLER
	0168.	LD	CD	107	*	JMP	SCRULLUP	, OU II FOR CALLER
	0168 -			100	* (1	to e	ad of line	uning V = OURCH
	0168.			100	* Glear	Lo er	id of line	using I = Oukch
	C168 . 40	Q A	CC	110	B CI DEOL	TMD	YCS	inlear to end of line
and the second se	0100.40	AN	00	110	D.CLREUI	Jul	A.00	, creat to end of line

*

C16B: C16B:			111 112	* * Clear	to er	nd of line	using $Y = BAS2L$
C16B:			113	* which	was s	set up by t	the \$F8 ROM
C16B:			114	*			
C16B:A4	2A		115	B.CLREO	LZ LDY	BAS2L	:get Y
C16D:4C	9D	CC	116		JMP	X.GSEOLZ	clear to end of line
C170:			117	*			A second se
C170:4C	74	CC	118	B.CLREO	AWE A	X.VT	:CLEAR TO EOS
C173:4C	AO	C2	119	B.SETWNI	JMP	B. SETWNDX	
C176:4C	BO	C2	120	B.RESET	JMP	B.RESETX	:MUST BE IN BFUNC PAGE
C179:4C	F2	C2	121	B. RDKEY	IMP	B. RDKEYX	
C17C:	0.7		122	*			
C17C:20	90	CC	123	B.HOME	JSR	X.FF	:HOME & CLEAR
C17F:AD	7 B	05	124	10.000	LDA	OURCH	
C182:85	24	0.5	125		STA	СН	COPY CH/CV FOR CALLER
C184:8D	7 B	04	126		STA	OLDCH	REMEMBER WHAT WE SET
C187:4C	FE	CD	127		IMP	VTAB	calc base & return
C18A:			128	*		1. 0.1 FOL	
C18A:			129	* Comple	te PH	A or IN# c	all. Ouit video firmware
C18A:			130	* if PR	10 and	it was ac	tive (B.OUIT). Complete call
C18A:			131	* if in	active	(F.OUIT).	
C18A:			132	*			
C18A:		C18A	133	B.OUTT	EOU	*	
C18A: B4	00	Gron	134	510011	LDY	LOC0 X	:was it PR#0/IN#0?
C18C:F0	OF	C19D	135		BEO	NOTO	:=>no, not slot 0
C18E:CO	18	0110	136		CPY	#KEY IN	was it IN#0?
C190:F0	OF	C1A0	137		BEO	TS0	:=>ves, update high byte
C192:20	80	CD	138		JSR	OUIT	quit the firmware
C195:B4	00	0.0	139	F-OUTT	LDY	LOC0 . X	get low byte into Y
C197:F0	04	C19D	140		BEO	NOTO	:not slot 0. firmware inactive
C199:A9	FD	0170	141	F8HOOK	LDA	# <keyin< td=""><td>set high byte to SFD</td></keyin<>	set high byte to SFD
C198:95	01		142		STA	LOC1 X	,
C19D:B5	01		143	NOTO	LDA	LOCIX	:restore accumulator
C19F:60			144		RTS		
C1 A0 :			145	*			
C1 A0 : A5	37		146	TSO	LDA	CSWH	is \$C3 in output hook?
C1 A2 : C9	C3		147		CMP	# <basicin< td=""><td>, and the second second</td></basicin<>	, and the second second
C1 A4 : DO	F3	C199	148		BNE	FSHOOK	:=>no. set to \$FDOC
C1A6:4C	32	C8	149		JMP	CIN	:else set to \$C305, exit A=\$C3
C1 A9 :			150	*			,
C1A9:A4	24		151	F.RDKEY	LDY	CH	;else do normal 40 cursor
C1AB:B1	28		152		LDA	(BASL),Y	grab the character
C1AD:48			153		PHA	(/)-	18
C1AE:29	3F		154		AND	#\$3F	;set screen to flash
C1B0:09	40		155		ORA	#\$40	1000 Decess 10 Course
C1 B2:91	28		156		STA	(BASL).Y	and display it
C1B4:68			157	F.NOCUR	PLA		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
C1B5:60			158		RTS		:return (A=char)
C1B6:			159	*			 A second control of a state of the second sec
C1B6:A8			160	F.BASCAL	C TAY	2	;restore Y
C1B7:A5	28		161		LDA	BASL	;restore A
C1B9:20	BA	CA	162		JSR	BASCALC	;calculate base address
C1BC:90	4C	C20A	163		BCC	F.RETURN	;BASCALC always returns BCC!
C1BE:		14	164	*			25 E



CIBE:		CIBE	165	B.ESCFIN	K EQU	*	
C1BE:20	14	CE	166		JSR	UPSHFT	;upshift lowercase
C1C1:A0	03		167	B.ESCFIN	KI LDY	1 #4-1	;SCAN FOR A MATCH
C1C3:		C1C3	168	B.ESCFIN	C2 EQU	j *	
C1C3:D9	EE	C2	169		CMP	ESCIN,Y	;IS IT?
C1C6:D0	03	CICB	170		BNE	B.ESCFIX3	;=>NAW
C1C8:B9	A4	C9	171		LDA	ESCOUT,Y	;YES, TRANSLATE IT
CICB:		CICB	172	B.ESCFI	K3 EQU	J *	
C1CB:88			173		DEY		
C1CC:10	F5	C1C3	174		BPL	B.ESCFIX2	concerns to the second second
C1CE:30	3A	C20A	175		BMI	F.RETURN	;RETURN:CHAR IN AC
C1 D0 :			176	*			
C1D0:20	70	C8	177	F.BOUT	JSR	BOUT	;print the character
C1D3:4C	0A	C2	178		JMP	F.RETURN	;AND RETURN
C1 D6 :			179	*			
C1D6:			180	* Do dis	splace	ed mnemonic	stuff
C1D6:			181	*	1280070927		
C1D6:8A	-		182	MNNDX	TXA		;get old acc
C1D7:29	03		183		AND	#\$03	;make it a length
C1D9:85	2F		184		STA	LENGTH	
C1DB:A5	2A		185		LDA	BAS2L	;get old Y into A
C1DD:29	8F		186		AND	#\$8F	
CIDF:4C	71	CA	187	S	JMP	DOMN	;and go to open spaces
C1E2:			188	*			
C1E2:20	FO	FC	189	GOMINI	JSR	MINI	;do mini-assembler
C1E5:8A			190		TXA		;X=0. Set mode to 0, and counter
C1E6:85	34		191		STA	YSAV	;so not CR on new line
C1E8:60			192		RTS		
C1E9:			193	*			
C1E9:			194	* Pick a	an 80	column cha	aracter for the monitor
CIE9:	7.0	0.5	195	TUDIOU	TOW	OUDOU	80
CIE9:AC	18	05	196	FIXPICK	LDY	DICK	get 80 column cursor
CIEC:20	44	CE	197		JSK	PICK	;pick the character
CIEF:09	80		190		DRA	11200	always pick as normal
CIFI:60			199	4	KIS		;and return
CIFZ:			200	+ 7 3 /			any line
CIF2:			201	* LOAG (on int	to I and CI	eat line
CIF2:		01 22	202	ECIDEOI	FOU	*	
CIFZ:	21	CIFZ	203	F.GLREON	LEQU	CH	trat barigantal position
CIPL:A4	24		204	X CIDEOI	Z IDI	LA ACAO	get norral black
C1F4:A9	AU	00	205	A.CLKEUI	BIT	ALTCUADEET	store a normal blank
C1F0.10	06	C201	200		RDI	Y CIPENI?	juniess alternate char set
C1 FR . 24	32	0201	208		BIT	INVELC	and inverse
C1FD:24	02	C201	200		BMT	Y CIPEOLS	,and inverse
CIFE: AQ	20	0201	210		TDA	#\$20	ince inverse blank
C201 · //C	18	CC	211	Y CIRFOI	2 IMI	P CIRAO	clear to end of line
C204 ·	AO	00	212	*	uz om	GBR40	,cieat to end of fine
C204 ·			213	* Call 1	TAR	or VTABZ fo	or 40 or 80 columns. Acc (CV)
C204:			214	* is ear	ved in	BASL.	
C204 ·			215	*			
C204:48			216	F.VTABZ	TAY		:restore Y
C205:45	28		217		LDA	BASL	and A
C207:20	03	CE	218		JSR	VTABZ	:do VTABZ
			-+-				**************************************

墨

125

and the second s

and the second

The second se

No.

3

H

C20A: 219 * 220 * EXIT. EITHER EXIT WITH OR WITHOUT C20A: C20A: 221 * ENABLING I/O SPACE. C20A: 222 * C20A: C2OA 223 F.RETURN EQU * ;GET PRIOR I/O DISABLE C20A:28 224 PLP ;=>LEAVE IT DISABLED 225 F.RET2 BMI C20B:30 03 C210 F.RET1 F.RETI ;=>EXIT & ENABLE I/O C20D:4C C5 FE 226 JMP 227 F.RET1 JMP FUNCEXIT+3 ;EXIT DISABLED C210:4C C8 FE C213: 228 * C213: 229 * Do BOUT, ESCFIX, BASCALC, and KEYIN immediately C213: 230 * to avoid destroying Accumulator. 231 * C213: 232 DISPATCH DEY C213:88 C214:30 BA C1D0 233 BMI F.BOUT ;code 0 = 80 column output C216:88 234 DEY C217:30 A5 CIBE 235 BMI B.ESCFIX ;code 1 = ESCFIX C219:88 236 DEY C1B6 C21A:30 9A BMT F.BASCALC ;code 2 = BASCALC 237 C21C:88 238 DEY C21D:30 3D C25C 239 BMI B.KEYIN ;code 3 = KEYIN C21F:88 240 DEY C204 241 F.VTABZ ;code 4 = VTABZ C220:30 E2 BMI C222: 242 * 243 * First push address of generic return routine C222: 244 * C222: LDA #<F.RETURN ;return to F.RETURN C222:A9 C2 245 C224:48 246 PHA C225:A9 09 247 LDA #>F.RETURN-1 C227:48 248 PHA 249 * C228: 250 * If any of 5 bits in \$4FB (MODE) is on, then the mode is not C228: 251 * valid for video firmware. Use old routines. C228: 252 * C228: C228:AD FB 04 253 LDA MODE ;no, is mode valid? C22B:29 D6 254 AND #M.PASCAL+M.6+M.4+M.2+M.1 C22D:D0 0D 255 ;=>no, use 40 column routines C23C BNE GETFUNC C22F:98 256 TYA ;80 column routines in ;2nd half of table 257 C230:18 CLC C231:69 OC #TABLEN 258 ADC C233:48 259 PHA CSETUP ;set up 80 column cursor C234:20 50 C8 260 **JSR** C237:20 FE CD 261 JSR VTAB ;calc base C23A:68 PLA 262 C23B:A8 263 TAY ;restore Y C23C: 264 * 265 * Now push address of routine C23C: 266 * C23C: C23C:A9 C1 267 GETFUNC LDA #<BFUNCPG ;stuff routine address C23E:48 268 PHA C23F:B9 44 C2 269 LDA F.TABLE,Y C242:48 270 PHA C243: 271 * 272 * RTS goes to routine on stack. When the routine C243:

LATER	00/0			070				
W.	C243:			273	* does a	an RTS	S, it retur	rns to F.RETURN, which restores
	C243:			274	* the Il	TCXR	OM status a	and returns.
-	C243:			275	*			
	C243:60			276		RTS		
	C244:			277	*			
	C244:			278	* Table	of ro	outines to	call. All routines are
	C244:			279	* in the	\$C10	00 page. Th	nese are low bytes only.
	C244:			280	*			
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	C244:		C244	281	F.TABLE	EQU	*	
and the second s	C244:18			282		DFB	#>F.HOME-	1 ;(5) 40 column HOME
	C245:22			283		DFB	#>F.SCROLI	L-1 :(6) 40 column scroll
	C246:F1			284		DFB	#>F.CLREO	L-1 ;(7) 40 column clear line
8	C247:5F			285		DFB	#>F.CLREON	Z-1 :(8) 40 column clear with Y set
- 19	C248.75			200				
	0240115	286		DFB	#>B.RE	SET-1	.(9) 40/80) column reset
and the second second	C2/ 9.02	200		287	P7 De Kus	DFR	#>F.CIRFOI	P-1 :(A) 40 column clear end of page
- II.	C249.02			288		DEB	#>F PDKEV.	-1 :(B) readkey w/flashing checkerboard
_ and	C24A.A0			280		DEB	ANE SETUNI	-1 :(C) Set (Q) column window
	C24D:51			209		DEB	#>COMINI-	(D) Mini-personal ar
-	C24C;EI			290		DED	#>GOMINI-	(F) mini-assembler
	C24D:94			291		DFB	#>F.QUII-	(E) duit before IN#0, PK#0
	CZ4E:E8			292		DFB	#>FIXPICK	-1 ;(F) fix pick for 80 columns
	C24F:D5			293		DFB	#>MNNDX-1	;(10) calc mnemonic index
	C250:			294	*			
	C250:		000C	295	TABLEN	EOU	*-F.TABLE	
	C250:			296	*			
	C250:7B			297		DFB	#>B.HOME-	1 ;(11) 80 column HOME
	C251:64			298		DFB	#>B.SCROLI	L-1 ;(12) 80 column scroll
100	C252:67			299		DFB	#>B.CLREON	L-1 ;(13) 80 column clear line
195	C253:6A			300		DFB	#>B.CLREON	LZ-1 ;(14) 80 column clear with Y set
	C254:75			301		DFB	#>B.RESET	-1 ;(15) 40/80 column reset
	C255:6F			302		DFB	#>B.CLREON	P-1 ;(16) 80 column clear end of page
	C256:78			303		DFB	#>B.RDKEY.	-1 ;(17) readkey w/inverse cursor
1.00	C257:72			304		DFB	#>B.SETWN	D-1 ;(18) 40/80 column VTAB
	C258:E1			305		DFB	#>GOMINI-	1 ;(19) Mini-Assembler
	C259:89			306		DFB	#>B.QUIT-	l ;(1A) quit before IN#0,PR#0
and the second se	C25A:E8			307		DFB	#>FIXPICK	-1 ;(1B) fix pick for 80 columns
1000	C25B:D5			308		DFB	#>MNNDX-1	:(1C) calc mnemonic index
	C25C:			309	*			(a) Second Se Second Second S Second Second S Second Second Se Second Second Se Second Second Sec
	C25C:		C25C	310	B.KEYIN	EOU	*	
	C25C:2C	1F	CO	311		BIT	RD80VID	:80 columps?
PORT.	C25F:10	06	C267	312		BPI.	B-KEYINI	= 2no. flash the cursor
100	C261:20	74	C8	313		ISR	BIN	get a keystroke
	C264:4C	0A	C2	314	COF. RET	IMP	F. RETURN	and return
	0267 :	on	02	315	*	UTIL	I TROLOIRI	jund record
22 5	0267.48			316	P VEVIN	TAV		IDROGOTIO A
3.76	C267.A0			217	D.KEIIN.	TVA		preserve A
The state of the s	C200.0A			210		DUA		, put A ou stack
	0264.00			210		PHA		incations. A
100	G20A:90			319		TIA		;restore A
	0260:48			320		DUA		save char on stack
	0200:48			321	4	PHA		; dummy for cursor/char test
	G26D:			322	MENI OUR	DT A		week laak awaaa
Constant of the local division of the local	C26D:68			323	NEW.CUR	PLA	4000	;get last cursor
	C26E:C9	FF		324		CMP	#ŞFF	;was it checkerboard?
10000	C270:F0	04	C276	325		BEQ	NEW.CUR1	;=>yes, get old char

LDA #\$FF C272:A9 FF ;no, get checkerboard 326 C278 327 C274:D0 02 BNE NEW.CUR2 ;=>always C276:68 328 NEW.CUR1 PLA ;get character C277:48 329 PHA ;into accumulator save for next cursor check C278:48 330 NEW.CUR2 PHA 331 LDY CH ;get cursor horizontal C279:A4 24 STA (BASL),Y ;and save char/cursor C27B:91 28 332 C27D: 333 * C27D: 334 * Now leave char/cursor for awhile or C27D: 335 * until a key is pressed. C27D: 336 * C27D:E6 4E 337 WAITKEY1 INC RNDL ;bump random seed C27F:DO OA C28B 338 BNE WAITKEY4 ;=>and check keypress C281:A5 4F 339 LDA RNDH ; is it time to blink yet? C283:E6 4F 340 INC RNDH C285:45 4F 341 EOR RNDH C287:29 40 342 AND #\$40 BNE NEW.CUR C289:D0 E2 C26D 343 ;=>yes, blink it C28B:AD 00 CO 344 WAITKEY4 LDA KBD ; Ivories been tickled? C28E:10 ED C27D 345 BPL WAITKEY1 ;no, keep blinking 346 * C290: C290:68 347 PLA ;pop char/cursor C291:68 348 PLA ;pop character C292:A4 24 ;and display it 349 LDY CH C294:91 28 350 STA (BASL),Y ;(erase cursor) C296:68 351 PLA ;restore X C297:AA 352 TAX C298:AD 00 CO 353 LDA KBD ;now retrieve the key C29B:8D 10 CO 354 STA KBDSTRB ;clear the strobe C29E:30 C4 C264 355 BMI GOF.RET ;=>exit always 356 * C2 A0: C2A0 357 B.SETWNDX EOU * C2 A0 : JSR F.SETWND ;set 40 column width C2A0:20 52 C1 358 ;80 columns? BTT RD80VTD C2A3:2C 1F CO 359 C2A6:10 02 C2AA 360 BPL SKPSHFT ;=>no, width ok C2A8:06 21 361 ASL WNDWDTH ;make it 80 362 SKPSHFT LDA CV C2AA:A5 25 C2AC:8D FB 05 363 STA OURCV ;update OURCV C2AF:60 364 RTS 365 * C2 BO : 366 * HANDLE RESET FOR MONITOR: C2 BO : 367 * C2B0: C2B0: C2B0 368 B.RESETX EQU * C2BO:A9 FF 369 LDA #\$FF ; DESTROY MODE BYTE C2B2:8D FB 04 370 STA MODE 371 LDA CLRAN2 ;SETUP C2B5:AD 5D CO ; ANNUNCIATORS C2B8:AD 5F CO 372 LDA CLRAN3 373 * C2BB: 374 * IF THE OPEN APPLE KEY C2BB: C2BB: 375 * (ALIAS PADDLE BUTTONS 0) IS 376 * DEPRESSED, COLDSTART THE SYSTEM C2BB: 377 * AFTER DESTROYING MEMORY: C2BB: 378 * C2BB: ;GET BUTTON 1 (SOLID) LDA BUTN1 C2BB:AD 62 CO 379



	C2BE:10	03	C2C3	380		BPL	NODIAGS	;=>Up, no diags
	C2C0:4C	00	C6	381		JMP	DIAGS	;=>else go do diagnostics
	C2C3:AD	61	CO	382	NODIAGS	LDA	BUTNO	;GET BUTTON O (OPEN)
	C2C6:10	1A	C2E2	383		BPL	RESETRET	=>NOT JIVE OR DIAGS
10	C2C8:			384	*			
	C2C8:			385	* BLAST	2 BY	TES OF EACH	H PAGE.
	C2C8:			386	* INCLU	UDING	THE RESET	VECTOR:
100	C2C8:			387	*			
	C2C8:A0	BO		388		LDY	#SBO	:LET IT PRECESS DOWN
	C2CA:A9	00		389		LDA	#0	A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR O
	C2CC:85	30		390		STA	ALL	
	C2CE: A9	BF		391		LDA	#SBF	START FROM BFXX DOWN
	C2D0:38			392		SEC		FOR SUBTRACT
	C2D1:		C2D1	393	BLAST	FOU	*	
	C2D1:85	30	OLDI	394	Durior	STA	ALH	
in the second	C2D3:48	24		395		PHA	min	save acc to store
	C2D4:49	40		396		IDA	#540	thanks
	C2D6 + 91	30		397		STA	(AIT) V	, oranka
	C2D8:88	20		308		DEV	(ALU),I	
	C2D0.00	20		200		CTA	(ALT) V	
5	C2D8:69	50		400		DTA	(ALL),1	tractore and for counter
2.	C2DD:00	01		400		CRC	# 1	PACK DOWN TO NEXT PACE
	C2DC: E9	01		401		CMD	# 1	CTAV AUAY EDON STACK!
_	C2DE:C9	UI	0201	402		DNC	PLACT	, STAL AWAI FROM STACK
	C2E0:D0	D1	6201	403		DIAC	DLADI	
	0202:			404	* TE -1		- DOM	ad alwayed data alat 2
	CZEZ:			405	* II Che	ere 19	a RUM cal	ra plugged into siot 5,
	CZEZ:			400	* don L	SWILC	in in the	if there is a PAM sound
-	CZEZ:			407	* only	SWILC	i them in i	If there is a KAR card
	0262;			400	- In the	e vide	eo siot.	
	CZEZ:			409	+ 10000	771	11	we with determent CO2 DOM and taked
	CZEZ:			410	NOTE:	Ine /	/e powers	up with internal SCS KOM switched
	CZEZ:			411	* 1n.	ISIKO	ACARD SWIE	ches it out, RESEIREI may or may
-	CZEZ:			412	* not si	witch	it back if	n •
	CZEZ:		00.00	415	A DE OEME UI	T ROU	*	
	CZEZ:	0.0	CZEZ	414	RESETRE	I EQU	* 000000000000000000000000000000000000	POV 1 2
1	CZEZ:8D	OB	CO	415		SIA	SETSLUTC3	KOM ;swap in slot 3
-6.7	CZE5:20	89	CA	416		JSR	TSTROMCRD	; ROM or no card plugged in?
	CZE8:DO	03	CZED	417		BNE	GORETNI	;=>ROM or no card, leave \$C3 slot
	CZEA:8D	UA	CO	418	0000000000	STA	SETINTC3R	OM ;card, enable internal ROM
WEBS	C2ED:60			419	GORETNI	RTS		
- and	CZEE:	0.5	0.4 0.0	420	*	2.70		0.4.000
and the second	CZEE:88	95	8A 8B	421	ESCIN	DER	\$88,\$95,\$0	5A, 58B
	C2F2:			422	×	-		
100	C2F2:A4	24		423	B.RDKEY)	X LDY	СН	;get cursor position
20	C2F4:B1	28	1.011-201	424		LDA	(BASL),Y	;and character
-	C2F6:2C	1F	CO	425		BIT	RD80VID	;80 columns?
	C2F9:30	F2	C2ED	426		BMI	GORETN1	;=>don't display cursor
-	C2FB:4C	26	CE	427		JMP	INVERT	;else display cursor, exit
1	C2FE:			428	*			
24	C2FE:		0002	429	ZSPAREC.	2 EQU	C3ORG-*	
	C2FE:		0002	430		DS	C30RG-*,0	
-	0200.		0000	1.31		IFNF.	*-C30RG	
and the second se	0300:		0000	431		*****	000000	
32	s		0000	432		FAIL	2,'C300	overflow'

C300:			19	INCLUDE C3SPACE
C300:			1	*******
C300:			2	*
C300:			3	* THIS IS THE \$C3XX ROM SPACE:
C300:			4	* Note: This page must not be used by any routines
C300:			5	* called by the F8 ROM. When it is referenced, it claims
C300:			6	* the C800 space (kicking out anyone who was using it).
C300:			7	* This also means that peripheral cards cannot use the AUXMOVE
c300:			8	* and XFER routines from their C800 space.
C300:			9	*
C300:			10	*****************
c300:		C300	11	CNOO EOU *
C300:		C300	12	BASICINT EQU *
C300:2C	43	CE	13	BIT SEV :set vflag (init)
C303:70	12	C317	14	BVS BASICENT : (ALWAYS TAKEN)
C305:			15	*
C305:			16	* BASIC input entry point. After a PR#3, this is the
C305:			17	* address that is called to input each character.
C305:			18	*
C305:		C305	19	BASICIN EOU *
C305:38			20	SEC
C306:90			21	DFB \$90 :BCC OPCODE (NEVER TAKEN)
C307:			22	*
C307:			23	* BASIC output entry point. After a PR#3, this is the
C307:			24	* address that is called to output each character.
C307:			25	*
C307:		C307	26	BASICOUT EOU *
C307:18			27	CLC
C308:B8			28	CLV ;CLEAR VFLAG (NOT INIT)
C309:50	0C	C317	29	BVC BASICENT ;(ALWAYS TAKEN)
C30B:			30	*
C30B:			31	* Pascal 1.1 Firmware Protocol table:
C30B:			32	*
C30B:			33	* This tables identifies this as an Apple //e 80 column
C30B:			34	* card. It points to the four routines available to
C30B:			35	* programs doing I/O using the Pascal 1.1 Firmware
C30B:			36	* Protocol.
C30B:			37	*
C30B:01			38	DFB \$01 ;GENERIC SIGNATURE BYTE
C30C:88			39	DFB \$88 ;DEVICE SIGNATURE BYTE
C30D:			40	*
C30D:4A			41	DFB #>JPINIT ;PASCAL INIT
C30E:50			42	DFB #>JPREAD ; PASCAL READ
C30F:56			43	DFB #>JPWRITE ; PASCAL WRITE
C310:5C			44	DFB #>JPSTAT ; PASCAL STATUS
C311:			45	**********************
C311:			46	*
C311:			47	* 128K SUPPORT ROUTINE ENTRIES:
C311:			48	*
C311:4C	76	C3	49	JMP MOVE ; MEMORY MOVE ACROSS BANKS
C314:4C	C3	C3	50	JMP XFER ; TRANSFER ACROSS BANKS
C317:			51	*******************
C317:			52	*
C317:8D	7B	06	53	BASICENT STA CHAR

	C31A:98			54		TYA		; AND Y
_	C31B:48			55		PHA		
	C31C:8A			56		TXA		; AND X
	C31D:48			57		PHA		
	C31E:08			58		PHP		;SAVE CARRY & VFLAG
	C31F:			59	*			
	C31F:			60	* If es	cape r	node is all	lowed, the high bit of MSLOT is
2	C31F:			61	* clear	. Set	t M.CTL to	flag that 1) escapes are allowed, and
100	C31F:			62	* 2) that	at con	ntrol chara	acters should not be echoed.
_	C31F:			63	* M.CTL	is cl	leared by 1	BPRINT.
	C31F:			64	*			
-	C31F:AD	FB	04	65		LDA	MODE	;else esc enable, ctl disable
	C322:2C	F8	07	66		BIT	MSLOT	;get MSLOT
	C325:30	05	C32C	67		BMI	NOGETLN	;=>Esc disable, ctl char enable
	C327:09	08		68		ORA	#M.CTL	
	C329:8D	FB	04	69		STA	MODE	
	C32C:		100000000	70	*		1411	
	C32C:	122080	C32C	71	NOGETLN	EQU	*	
	C32C:20	6D	C3	72		JSR	SETC8	;SETUP C8 INDICATOR
	C32F:28	10 B		73		PLP		;GET VFLAG (INIT)
	C330:70	15	C347	74	(2)	BVS	JBASINIT	;=>DO THE INIT
	C332:			75	*			
	C332:			/6	* lt a	PR#O	has been do	one, input should be transferred
2	C332:			11	* from 1	the vi	ideo firmwa	are to KEYIN. This is detected
	0332:			78	" II Che	e nigi	n bit of th	ie mode byte is set.
	0332:	10	0314	19	×	BGG	109	Investor and another
	0332:90	10	6344	00		BCC	100	;=>output, no problem
	C334:AA	0.0	0244	01		PDI	109	; Lest mode
	0337.20	58	CD	83		ICP	SETVENTN	colse set FDLB as input
	0334.68	JD	CD	84		DTA	SEIKEIIN	restore registers
	C338 . 44			85		TAY		, rescore registers
	0330.68			86		PLA		
-	C33D:48			87		TAY		
	C33E · AD	7 R	06	88		LDA	CHAR	
	C341:6C	38	00	89		IMP	(KSWL)	:go input the character
1	C344:	30		90	*	ULL	(none)	,go input the character
1 2	C344:4C	7C	C8	91	1C8	IMP	C8BASIC	:GET OUT OF CN SPACE
	C347:4C	03	C8	92	JBASINI	JMP	BASICINIT	:=>GOTO C8 SPACE
	C34A:			93	*			,
100	C34A:		C34A	94	JPINIT	EQU	*	
	C34A:20	6D	C3	95		JSR	SETC8	;SETUP C8 INDICATOR
	C34D:4C	B4	C9	96		JMP	PINIT	;XFER TO PASCAL INIT
-	C350:		C350	97	JPREAD	EQU	*	
100	C350:20	6D	C3	98		JSR	SETC8	;SETUP C8 INDICATOR
1	C353:4C	D6	C9	99		JMP	PREAD	;XFER TO PASCAL READ
	C356:		C356	100	JPWRITE	EQU	*	
and the second se	C356:20	6D	C3	101		JSR	SETC8	;SETUP C8 INDICATOR
	C359:4C	FO	C9	102		JMP	PWRITE	;XFER TO PASCAL WRITE
1 320	C35C:			103	*			(4) A1 (2) (2010)
	C35C:AA	200	0.00	104	JPSTAT	TAX		;is request code = 0?
-	C35D:F0	08	C367	105		BEQ	PIORDY	;=>yes, ready for output
14	C35F:CA			106		DEX		;check for any input
and the second	C360:D0	07	C369	107		BNE	PSTERR	;=>bad request, return error

C362:2C C365:10 C367:38	00 04	C0 C36B	108 109 110	PIORDY	BIT BPL SEC	KBD PNOTRDY	;look ;=>no	for a key keystroked	
C368:60			111		RTS				
C369:			112	*		2			
C369:A2	03		113	PSTERR	LDX	#3	;else	flag error	
C36B:18			114	PNOTRDY	CLC				
C36C:60			115		RTS				
C36D:			116	******	****	**********	*****	*********	
C36D:			117	* NAME	:	SETC8			
C36D:			118	* FUNCT	ION:	SETUP IRQ S	\$C800	PROTOCOL	
C36D:			119	* INPUT	:	NONE			
C36D:			120	* OUTPU	г :	NONE			
C36D:			121	* VOLAT	ILE:	NOTHING			
C36D:			122	* CALLS	:	NOTHING			
C36D:			123	******	****	*********	*****	****	
C36D:			124	*					
C36D:		C36D	125	SETC8	EQU	*			
C36D:A2	C3		126		LDX	# <cn00< td=""><td>;SLOT</td><td>NUMBER</td><td></td></cn00<>	;SLOT	NUMBER	
C36F:8E	F8	07	127		STX	MSLOT	;STUF	F IT	
C372:AE	FF	CF	128		LDX	SCFFF	;kick	out other \$C8	ROMs
C375:60			129		RTS				
C376:			130	******	*****	**********	*****	*****	
C376:			131	* NAME	:	MOVE			
C376:			132	* FUNCT	ION:	PERFORM CRO	OSSBAN	K MEMORY MOVE	
C376:			133	* INPUT	:	Al=SOURCE A	ADDRES	S	
C376:			134	*	:	A2=SOURCE E	END		
C376:			135	*	:	A4=DESTINAT	FION S	TART	
C376:			136	*	:	CARRY SET=N	MAIN	>CARD	
C376:			137	*		CLR=C	CARD	>MAIN	
C376:			138	* OUTPU	т :	NONE			
C376:			139	* VOLAT	ILE:	NOTHING			
C376:			140	* CALLS	:	NOTHING			
C376:			141	******	****	**********	*****	******	
C376:			142	*					
C376:		C376	143	MOVE	EQU	*			
C376:48			144		PHA		; SAVE	AC	
C377:98			145		TYA		; AND	Y	
C378:48			146		PHA				
C379:AD	13	CO	147		LDA	RDRAMRD	;SAVE	STATE OF	
C37C:48			148		PHA		; MEM	ORY FLAGS	
C37D:AD	14	CO	149		LDA	RDRAMWRT			
C380:48			150		PHA				
C381:			151	*					
C381:			152	* SET F	LAGS	FOR CROSSBA	ANK MO	VE:	
C381:			153	*					
C381:90	08	C38B	154		BCC	MOVEC2M	;=>CA	RD>MAIN	
C383:8D	02	CO	155		STA	RDMAINRAM	;SET	FOR MAIN	
C386:8D	05	CO	156		STA	WRCARDRAM	; TO	CARD	
C389:BO	06	C391	157		BCS	MOVESTRT	;=>(A	LWAYS TAKEN)	
C38B:			158	*					
C38B:	1.00.24	C38B	159	MOVEC2M	EQU	*			
C38B:8D	04	CO	160		STA	WRMAINRAM	;SET	FOR CARD	
C38E:8D	03	C0	161		STA	RDCARDRAM	; TO]	MAIN	



Appendix	I:	Monitor	ROM	Listings

128555	6292:			102					
	C393:		C393	166	MOVELOOI	P EQU	*		
	C393:B1	3C		167		LDA	(AlL),Y	;GET A BYTE	
	C395:91	42		168		STA	(A4L),Y	:MOVE IT	
39	C397:E6	42		169		INC	A4L	 Second and a second seco	
and a state	C399:D0	02	C39D	170		BNE	NXTA1		
	C39B:E6	43	0070	171		TNC	A4H		
	C39D:A5	30		172	NXTA1	I.DA	All.		
1000	C39E:C5	3E		173	in in	CMP	A21.		
100	C341:45	30		174		TDA	AlH		
and the second	C3A3+E5	35		175		SBC	121		
	COASIES	30		176		TNC	A11		
EM	C3A7:D0	02	COAD	177		DNE	COL		
100	C3A7:DO	202	CJAD	170		TNC	A117		
100	COA9:LO	20	6202	170	001	LINC	MOURICOD		
	C3AB:90	EO	6393	1/9	COL	BCC	MOVELOOP	;=>MORE IO MOVE	
_	C3AD:			180	*		TOTAL DI LO	20.	
The second se	C3AD:			181	* RESTOR	RE OR	IGINAL FLAC	38:	
-	C3AD:			182	*	Via las Vi			
	C3AD:8D	04	CO	183		STA	WRMAINRAM	;CLEAR FLAG2	
	C3B0:68			184		PLA	107.20020	;GET ORIGINAL STATE	
1	C3B1:10	03	C3B6	185		BPL	C03	;=>IT WAS OFF	
2	C3B3:8D	05	CO	186		STA	WRCARDRAM		
	C3B6:		C3B6	187	C03	EQU	*		
	C3B6:8D	02	CO	188		STA	RDMAINRAM	;CLEAR FLAG1	
5.87	C3B9:68			189		PLA		;GET ORIGINAL STATE	
55	C3BA:10	03	C3BF	190		BPL	MOVERET	;=>IT WAS OFF	
and the second s	C3BC:8D	03	CO	191		STA	RDCARDRAM		
	C3BF:		C3BF	192	MOVERET	EQU	*		
10575	C3BF:68			193		PLA		RESTORE Y	
Parties.	C3C0:A8			194		TAY			
(Cold)	C3C1:68			195		PLA		; AND AC	
	C3C2:60			196		RTS			
ALC: NO.	C3C3:			197	*****	****	********	*****	
	C3C3:			198	* NAME	:	XFER		
- Million	C3C3:			199	* FUNCT	ION:	TRANSFER CO	NTROL CROSSBANK	
	C3C3:			200	* INPUT		SO3ED=TRANS	SFER ADDR	
	0303.			201	*		CARRY SET=>	FER TO CARD	
18	C3C3 ·			202	*		CL.R=Y	FER TO MAIN	
192	C3C3:			203	*		VELAG CLR=I	ISE STD ZP/STK	
	C3C3 ·			204	*		SET=1	ISE ALT ZP/STK	
	0303.			204	* OUTPUT	r .	NONE	JOE ALL DIVOIR	
140	0303.			205	+ UOLAT		COSED /OSEE	TH DECT BANK	
1	C3C3.			200	* CALLS		NOTHINC	IN DESI DANK	
	0303.			207	+ NOTE	:	ENTEDED UT	IND NOT ICR	
	6363:			200	* NOIE	:	CNIEKED VIA	A JMF, NOI JSK	
2575	0303:			209	4				
18	0303:		00.00	210	a waaa	TOF			
1000	03031		0303	211	ALER.	EQU		CAUE AO ON ONDER	omtor
	0303:48			212	4	PHA		; SAVE AC ON CURRENT	STACK
TEN C	0304:			213	*		NUMTON INT		
ALC: NO	C3C4:			214	* COPY	DESTI	NATION ADD	KESS TO THE	
and the same	C3C4:			215	* OTHEN	R BAN	K SO THAT W	VE HAVE IT	

C391 163 MOVESTRT EQU * 164 LDY #0 ;DUMMY INDEX 165 *

162 *

C391: C391: C391:

-

蒙

C391:A0 00 C393: C393:

C3C4: 216 * IN CASE WE DO A SWAP: C3C4: 217 * C3C4:AD ED 03 218 LDA \$03ED ;GET XFERADDR LO C3C7:48 219 PHA ;SAVE ON CURRENT STACK C3C8:AD EE 03 \$03EE :GET XFERADDR HT 220 LDA C3CB:48 221 PHA :SAVE IT TOO 222 * C3CC: c3cc: 223 * SWITCH TO APPROPRIATE BANK: 224 * C3CC: ;=>CARD-->MAIN C3CC:90 08 C3D6 225 BCC XFERC2M C3CE:8D 03 CO STA RDCARDRAM ; SET FOR RUNNING 226 C3D1:8D 05 CO 227 STA WRCARDRAM ; IN CARD RAM C3D4:B0 06 C3DC 228 BCS XFERZP ;=> always taken C3D6: C3D6 229 XFERC2M EQU * RDMAINRAM ; SET FOR RUNNING C3D6:8D 02 CO 230 STA C3D9:8D 04 CO 231 STA WRMAINRAM ; IN MAIN RAM 232 * C3DC: C3DC: C3DC 233 XFERZP EOU * ;SWITCH TO ALT ZP/STK C3DC:68 234 PLA ;STUFF XFERADDR C3DD:8D EE 03 235 STA \$03EE ; HI AND C3E0:68 236 PLA C3E1:8D ED 03 ; LO 237 STA \$03ED C3E4:68 238 ; RESTORE AC PLA C3E5:70 05 C3EC 239 XFERAZP BVS ;=>switch in alternate zp C3E7:8D 08 CO SETSTDZP STA 240 ;else force standard zp C3EA:50 03 C3EF 241 BVC JMPDEST ;=>always perform transfer C3EC:8D 09 CO 242 XFERAZP STA SETALTZP ;switch in alternate zp C3EF:6C ED 03 243 JMPDEST JMP (\$03ED) ;=>off we go C3F2: 244 * C3F2: 0002 245 DS C3ORG+\$F4-*,0 ;pad to interrupt stuff 246 * C3F4: 247 * This is where the interrupt routine returns to. C3F4: C3F4: 248 * At this point the ROM is not necessarily switched in so... C3F4: 249 * C3F4:8D 81 CO 250 IRQDONE STA \$C081 ;read ROM, write RAM JMP IRQDONE2 ;and jump to ROM C3F7:4C 7A FC 251 C3FA: 252 * C3FA: 253 * This is the main entry point for the interrupt 254 \star handler. This switches in the internal ROM and C3FA: C3FA: 255 * jumps to the main part of the interrupt handler C3FA: 256 * at \$C400. C3FA: 257 * 258 irq C3FA:2C 15 CO bit rdcxrom ;Test internal or external rom C3FD:8D 07 C0 259 sta setintcxrom ; Force in ROM to get to interrupt handler 260 * C400: 261 * Fall into \$C400 which is now switched in !! C400: C400: 262 * C400: 20 INCLUDE IRQ C400: 1 * C400: 2 * Here is the main interrupt handler 3 * C400: 4 ********************* C400: C400 5 newirq equ * C400: C400:D8 6 cld ;make no assumptions!!

the second second	C401:38			7	s	ec		;C=l if internal slot space
	C402:30	01	C405	8	b	mí	irgintcx	The second of the second of the second
	C404:18			9	c	lc		
	C405:48			10	irgintex	pha		;Save A on stack instead of \$45
1. 1	C406:48			11	p	ha		;Make room for rts if needed
	C407:48			12	P	ha		
	C408:8A			13	t	xa		;Save X
	C409:BA			14	t	sx		;Get stack pointer for BRK bit
	C40A:E8			15	i	nx		;Can't do add cause we need C
	C40B:E8			16	i	nx		
	C40C:E8			17	i	nx		
	C40D:E8			18	i	nx		
	C40E:48			19	p	ha		
	C40F:98			20	t	ya		;and Y
	C410:48			21	p	ha		
	C411:BD	00	01	22	1	da	\$100,x	;Get status for break test
	C414:29	10		23	а	nd	#\$10	;A = \$10 if break
	C416:A8			24	t	ay		;Save it for later
	C417:			25	* Now tes	t &	set the st	ate of the machine. Don't alter Y
	C417:AD	18	CO	26	1	da	rd80col	;Test for 80 store and page 2
	C41A:2D	1C	CO	27	a	nd	rdpage2	
	C41D:29	80		28	а	nd	#\$80	;Make it 0 or \$80
	C41F:F0	05	C426	29	Ъ	eq	irg2	;Branch if no change needed
	C421:A9	20		30	1	da	#\$20	;Set shifted page 2 reset bit
	C423:8D	54	CO	31	s	ta	txtpagel	;Set page 1
	C426:2A			32	irg2 r	01	A	Align bit & shift in slotcx bit
	C427:2C	13	CO	33	b	it	rdramrd	;Are we reading from aux ram?
	C42A:10	05	C431	34	b	pl	irg3	;Branch if main ram read
	C42C:8D	02	CO	35	s	ta	rdmainram	;Else, switch main in
	C42F:09	20		36	C	ra	#\$20	;and record the event
	C431:2C	14	CO	37	irq3 b	it	rdramwrt	;Do the same for ram write
	C434:10	05	C43B	38	b	p1	irg4	
	C436:8D	04	CO	39	S	ta	wrmainram	
	C439:09	10		40	a	ra	#\$10	
	C43B:		C43B	41	irg4 e	qu	*	
	C43B:2C	12	CO	42	irq5 b	it	rdlcram	;Determine if language card active
	C43E:10	OC	C44C	43	b	p1	irg7	A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACT OF A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR
	C440:09	OC		44	c	ra	#SOC	;Sets two bits. Second is redundant
	C442:2C	11	CO	45	b	it	rdlcbnk2	; if INC used to restore.
	C445:10	02	C449	46	b	pl	irq6	Branch if not page 2 of \$D000
	C447:49	06		47	e	or	#\$06	;Set bits for page 2
	C449:8D	81	CO	48	irq6 s	ta	romin	;Enable ROM STA leaves write enable alone
	C44C:2C	16	CO	49	irg7 b	it	rdaltzp	;Lastand very important
	C44F:10	OD	C45E	50	b	pl	irg8	; If alternate stack
	C451:BA			51	t	sx		store current stack pointer at \$101
	C452:8E	01	01	52	s	tx	\$101	*
	C455:AE	00	01	53	1	dx	\$100	Retreve main stack pointer from \$100
	C458:9A			54	t	XS	1.5.5.5	The second second second second second second second
	C459:8D	08	CO	55	S	ta	setstdzp	
	C45C:09	80		56	0	ra	#\$80	:Mark stack switched
	C45E:88	1.00		57	ira8 d	ev	N. N. C. ESSE	:Was it a break?
	C45F:30	0C	C46D	58	h	mi	irg9	Caracterian (1999) (1999) (1999)
	C461:85	44		59	9	ta	macstat	:Save state of machine
	C463:68			60	n	la		Restore registers
6				1.00	P			Protectional State (State 1)
1 - I								

C464:A8			61		tay		
C465:68			62		pla		
C466:AA			63		tax		
C467:68			64		pla		
C468:68			65		pla		;A stored where RTS address would go
C469:68					50.		
66		pla					
C46A:4C	47	FA	67		imp	newbreak	;Go to normal break routine stuff
C46D:48			68	irg9	pha		;Save state of machine on stack
C46E:AD	F8	07	69		lda	mslot	;Save mslot
C471:48			70		pha		A STORE DESCRIPTION
C472:A9	C3		71		lda	# <irgdone< td=""><td>;Save return irg address</td></irgdone<>	;Save return irg address
C474:48			72		pha		• Control • Control control and • Control • Co
C475:A9	F4		73		lda	#>iradone	so when interrupt does RTI
C477:48			74		pha		:It returns to iradone
C478:08			75		php		Status for user's RTI
C479:4C	74	FC	76		imp	irquser	:Off to the user
C47C:	124.00		77	* The	iser's	RTI return	s here
C47C:			78	* BEWAL	RE	New LOCOLI	
C47C:			79	* The	rom m	ust he reet	vabled with a LDA romin
C47C:			80	* This	2 Way	if the LC u	vas write protected it still is
C47C:			81	* if	it was	e write ens	abled it still is
C47C:			82	* 15	it was	e heing wri	te enabled (2 ldge) it still will be
C47C:			83	* The	restor	re loop use	as an INC because some of the switches are read
C47C:			84	* and	Rome	are write.	It must be an INC abe x since both the 6502 and
C47C+			85	* the	65c02	do two rea	de bafare the write
C47C · AD	81	C0	86	irafiy	140	romin	Must be lda!
C475:68	01	00	87	ILUIIN	nla	romin	Recover machine state
C480 · 10	07	C489	88		bol	iradal	Branch if main 7P
C482:8D	09	00	89		opi	cotaltan	, branch if main bi
C485 . AF	01	01	90		Ide	\$101	"Cat alt stack pointer
C488:94	01	01	91		two	VI01	, det alt statk politer
C480.JA	06		02	indal	LAS	#\$06	V = index into table of switch addresses
C488 .10	06	0/03	92	irgdn2	bol	1 rado3	Branch if no change
C480.10	00	C495	0/	rrquitz	ldr	irgthle w	Cot soft avitab address
C400.BE	00	CO	95		ina	scooo v	Wit the switch NO PACE CROSS!
C490.FE	00	00	96	ing da 3	dor	90000,x	, ALC CHE SWITCH. NO TAGE CROSS:
C493.00	0.2	0/00	90	riquis	hed	1 mg lak	
0494.30	05	6499	0.9		Dur 1	A LEGGING	Cat part hit to shack
C490:0A	52	C/ QD	90		asi	A irada?	,Get next bit to check
C497:00	r2	CHOD	100	two dal	one	A	i = 1 if internal alat anala
C499:0A			100	1rqan4	asi	A	;c = 1 II Internal slot space
C/08.68			101		asi	A	Postara the registers
C495.00			102		pra		, Restore the registers
C490:A0			105		Lay		· Cove the steak pointon
C490.BA	40		104		LSX	4010	, save the stack pointer
C496.A9	40		105		Ida	1/340	, KIL OPCODE
C4A0:40	00		100		pna	#	
C4A1:A9	00		107		1da	W \SetSlot(CALOU.
C4A3:48	06		108		pna	#\	
0444:49	00		1109		Ida	#PSetSlott	Add 1 if internal alot areas
C4A0:09	00		110		adc	10	;Add i if internal slot space
C/A0:48	0.0		111		pna	#con	1974 actolatorran
CAAP: A9	on		112		Ida	100	; DIA SEUSIDICATOM
C4AB:48			113		pha		

a lain

C4AC:9A	114 txs ;Restore stack pointer
C4AD:8A	115 txa ;Make return address on stack point to code on stack
C4AE:69 03	<pre>116 adc #3 ;C = 0 from earlier adc</pre>
C4BO:AA	117 tax
C4B1:38	118 sec
C4B2:E9 07	119 sbc #7 ;Point to where code starts
C4B4:9D 00 01	120 sta \$100,x
C4B7:E8	121 inx
C4B8:A9 01	122 1da #\$1
C4BA:9D 00 01	123 sta \$100,x
C4BD:68	124 pla
C4BE:AA	125 tax
C4BF:68	126 pla
C4C0:60	127 rts ;Go to code on stack
C/C1.93 88 88	120 insthis dfb Nishank? Nishank! Nishank!
C4C1:05 0B 0B	127 Indulie dib /icoankz,/icoanki,/icoanki
C4C4:05 05 55	1) The the start and the start and s
U407.	ZI INCLUDE DIRGS
C600 · C600	
C600: C600	2 * These routines test all 64K RAM as well as the 64K on an Auviliary
C600:	3 * memory card (when present). With the exception of the INTCXROM switch
C600:	4 * of the IOU all combinations of the IOU switches are tested and ver-
C600:	5 * ified. All configurations of the MMI switches are also tested.
C600:	6 *
C600 :	7 ± 1 the event of any failure, the diagnostic is halted. A message
C600:	8 * is written to screen memory indicating the source of the failure.
C600:	9 * When RAM fails the message is composed of "RAM ZP" (indicating failure
C600:	10 * detected in the first page of RAM) or "RAM" (meaning the other 63.75K).
C600:	11 * followed by a binary representation of the failing bits set to "1".
C600:	12 * For example, "RAM 01100000" indicates that bits 5 and 6 were
C600:	13 * detected as failing. To represent auxiliary memory, a "*" symbol is
C600:	14 * printed preceeding the message.
C600:	15 *
C600:	16 * When the MMU or IOU fail, the message is simply "MMU" or "IOU".
C600:	17 *
C600:	18 * The test will run continuously for as long as the Open and Closed
C600:	19 * Apple keys remain depressed (or no keyboard is connected) and no
C600:	20 * failures are encountered. The message "System OK" will appear in
C600:	21 * the middle of the screen when a successful cycle has been run and
C600:	22 * either of the Apple keys are no longer depressed. Another cycle
C600:	23 * may be initiated by pressing both Apple keys again while this message
C600:	.24 * is on the screen. To exit diagnostics, Control-Reset must be pressed
C600:	25 * without the Apple keys depressed.
C600:	26 *
C600: C051	27 TEXT equ \$C051
C600: 0009	28 IOUIDX equ \$09
C600: 0001	29 MMUIDX equ \$01
C600: 05B8	30 SCREEN equ \$5B8
C600: C000	31 IOSPACE equ \$COOO
C600:	32 *
C600: C600	33 DIAGS equ *

C600:8D	50	C0	34	* Test	sta Zero-	\$C050	all of memory. Report errors when encountered.
C603 ·			36	* Accum	lato	r can be ar	withing on entry. All registers used but no stack.
C603 ·			37	* Addres	ilaco e	hatween SC(100 and SCEFF are manual to main SD000 hank.
C603.			38	* Auvili	aru	64V is also	tested if present
0003.			20	" AUXIII	Lary	04K IS AISC	Jested II present.
C603:A0	04		40	TSTZPG	ldy	#\$4	
C605:A2	00		41		ldx	#O	
C607:18			42	zpl	clc		;fill zero page with a pattern
C608:79	B4	C7	43		adc	ntbl,y	
C60B:95	00		44		sta	\$00,x	
C60D:E8			45		inx		
C60E:D0	F7	C607	46		bne	zpl	;after all bytes filled,
C610:18			47	zp2	clc		; ACC has original value again.
C611:79	B 4	C7	48		adc	ntbl,y	;so values can be tested
C614:D5	00		49		cmp	\$00,x	
C616:D0	10	C628	50		bne	ZPERROR	;branch if memory failed
C618:E8			51		inx		
C619:D0	F5	C610	52		bne	zp2	;loop until all 256 bytes tested
C61B:6A			53		ror	а	; change ACC so location \$FF will change
C61C:2C	19	CO	54		bit	RDVBLBAR	; use RDVBLBAR for a little randomness
C61F:10	02	C623	55		bpl	zp3	
C621:49	A5		56		eor	#\$A5	
C623:88			57	zp3	dey		;use a different pattern now
C624:10	E1	C607	58		bpl	zpl	; branch to retest with other value
C626:30	06	C62E	59		bmi	TSTMEM	;branch always
C628:55	00		61	ZPERROR	eor	\$00.x	:which bits are bad?
C62A:18	0.75775		62		clc		;indicate zero page failure
C62B:4C	CD	C6	63		imp	BADBITS	
C62E:		C62E	64	TSTMEM	equ	*	
C62E:86	01		65		stx	\$01	
C630:86	02		66		stx	\$02	
C632:86	03		67		stx	\$03	
C634:A2	04		68		ldx	#4	;do RAM \$100-\$FFFF five times
C636:86	04		69		stx	\$04	
C638:E6	01		70	meml	inc	\$01	;point to page 1 first
C63A:A8			71	mem2	tay		;save ACC in Y for now
C63B:8D	83	CO	72		sta	\$C083	;anticipate not \$C000 range
C63E:8D	83	CO	73		sta	\$C083	
C641:A5	01		74		lda	\$01	;get page address
C643:29	FO		75		and	#\$FO	;test for \$CO-\$CF range
C645:C9	CO		76		cmp	#\$C0	
C647:D0	0C	C655	77		bne	mem3	;branch if not
C649:AD	8B	CO	78		lda	\$C08B	
C64C:AD	8B	CO	79		lda	\$C08B	;select primary \$D000 space
C64F:A5	01		80		lda	\$01	
C651:69	OF		81		adc	#SF	;Plus carry =+\$10
C653:D0	02	C657	82		bne	mem4	;branch always taken
C655:A5	01		83	mem3	lda	\$01	
C657:85	03		84	mem4	sta	\$03	
C659:98			85		tya		;restore pattern to ACC
C65A:A0	00		86		ldy	#\$00	;fill this page with the pattern

	C65C:18			87	mem.5	clc		
6	C65D:7D	B4	C7	88		adc	ntbl,x	
	C660:91	02		89		sta	(\$02),y	
	C662:CA			90		dex		; keep x in the range $0-4$
	C663:10	02	C667	91		bp1	mem6	Several States and the second se
1	C665:A2	04		92		ldx	#4	
_	C667:C8			93	mem6	inv		;all 256 filled yet?
	C668:D0	F2	C65C	94		bne	mem5	;branch if not
	C66A:E6	01		95		inc	1	; bump page #
1	C66C:D0	CC	C63A	96		bne	mem2	;loop through \$0100 to \$FF00
	0((0.0)	0.1		0.0			001	under to some 1 spain
	CODE: LO	01		90	-	inc	501	point to page 1 again
	C670:A8	0.2	00	100	mem/	tay	00000	save ACC In I for now
	C6/1:AD	83	00	100		Ida	\$0083	;anticipate not \$0000 range
	C674:AD	83	CO	101		Ida	\$0083	the state of the second states and the second stat
	C6//:A3	01		102		Ida	501	;get page address
	0679:29	FU		105		and	#310	;test for sco-sor range
	C6/B:C9	CU	0(00	104		Cmp	# 200	1
	C6/D:D0	09	0000	105		bne	memð	; branch 11 not
	CO/F:AD	8B	CO	100		Ida	\$CUBB	select primary \$0000 space
	C682:A5	01		107		Ida	501	- B1
	0684:69	OF	0101	108		adc	#71	;rius carry =+\$10
	C686:D0	02	COSA	109	0	bne	memy	; branch always taken
9	C688:A5	01		110	memo	Ida	501	
	C08A:85	03		111	memy	sta	\$03	100
	C68C:98	00		112		tya	4000	restore pattern to ALC
	C68D:A0	00		113		Idy	#\$00	; fill this page with the pattern
	C68F:18	n/	07	114	memA	CIC		
	C090:7D	D4	67	115		adc	ntol,x	
	0093:51	02	0/00	110		eor	(\$02),y	16 Non Non NGG and Alexand
	0695:10	35	COCC	11/		bne	MEMERKOR	; if any bits are different, give up!!!
	C697:BI	02		118		Ida	(\$02),y	restore correct pattern
	C699:CA	0.0	OCOP.	119		dex	n	;keep x in the range 0-4
	C69A:10	02	COAF	120		DDT	memb	
	C090:A2	04		121	D	Tax	# 4	111 256 filled met?
	COPEICO	1111	0(00	122	memb	iny		all 250 filled yet:
	COAL:DO	LE	COSE	123		bne	nemA	joranen ir not
	COAL : EO	UI	0(70	124		inc	1	; bump page #
	C6A3:D0	CB	6670	125		bne	mem/	; loop Enrough Soloo to SFROO
	COADIDA	1.0	00	120		ror	a DDUDI DAD	change ACC for next pass
	CDA0:20	19	CO	127		DIC	RUVBLBAR	; use RDVBLBAR for a fittle randomness
	C6A9:10	02	COAD	120		DDT	memc	
	COAB:49	AD		129		eor	# \$AD	1 5 1 1
	COAD:CO	04	0(20	130	memC	dec	\$04	inave 5 passes been done yet?
	COAF:10	8/	6638	131		bpl	mem1	; branch if not
	C6B1:AA			133		TAX		;save acc
	C6B2:20	8D	C9	134		JSR	STAUX	;set aux memory & write \$EE to \$C00,\$800
	C685:D0	07	C6BE	135		BNE	SWCHTST1	;=>not 128K
	C6B7:0E	00	OC	136		ASL	\$C00	;shift test byte
	C6BA:0A			137		ASL	A	
1	C6BB:CD	00	00	138		CMP	\$C00	:check memory

C6BE:D0	76	C736	139	SWCHTST	BNE	SWCHTST	;=>not 128K
C6C0:CD	00	08	140		CMP	\$800	;look for shadowing
C6C3:F0	71	C736	141		BEQ	SWCHTST	;=>not 128K
C6C5:8A			142		txa		
C6C6:8D	09	CO	143		STA	SETALTZP	;swap in alt zero page
C6C9:4C	03	C6	144		jmp	TSTZPG	; and test it!
C6CC:38			145	MEMERRON	R sec		;indicate main ram failure
C6CD:AA			146	BADBITS	tax		;save bit pattern in x for now
C6CE:AD	13	CO	147		lda	RDRAMRD	;determine if primary or auxillary RAM
C6D1:B8			148		clv		;with V-FLG
C6D2:10	03	C6D7	149		bp1	bbitsl	;branch if primary bank
C6D4:2C	B4	C7	150		bit	setv	
C6D7:A9	AO		151	bbitsl	1da	#\$A0	;try to clear video screen
C6D9:A0	06		152		ldy	#6	
C6DB:99	FE	BF	153	clrsts	sta	IOSPACE-2,	v
C6DE:99	06	CO	154		sta	IOSPACE+6.	v
C6E1:88			155		dev		
C6E2:88			156		dev		
C6E3:D0	F6	C6DB	157		bne	clrsts	
C6E5:8D	51	CO	158		sta	TEXT	
C6E8:8D	54	CO	159		sta	TXTPAGE1	
C6EB:99	00	04	160	clrs	sta	\$400. v	
C6EE:99	00	05	161		sta	\$500.v	
C6F1:99	00	06	162		sta	\$600.v	
C6F4:99	00	07	163		sta	\$700.v	
C6F7:C8			164		inv		
C6F8:D0	Fl	C6EB	165		bne	clrs	
C6FA:8A			166		txa		:test for switch test failure
C6FB:FO	27	C724	167		beg	BADSWTCH	:branch if it was a switch
C6FD:A0	03		168		ldy	#3	
C6FF:BO	02	C703	169		bcs	badmain	;branch if ZP ok
C701:A0	05		170		1dv	#5	
C703:A9	AA		171	badmain	lda	#SAA	mark aux report with an asterisks
c705:50	03	C70A	172		bvc	badprim	Construction in the second structure contraction of the second structure stru structure structure struc
C707:8D	BO	05	173		sta	screen-8	
C70A:B9	EA	C7	174	badprim	lda	rmess,y	
C70D:99	B1	05	175		sta	screen-7,y	
c710:88			176		dey		
C711:10	F7	C70A	177		bpl	badprim	;message is either "RAM" or "RAM ZP"
C713:A0	10		178		ldy	#\$10	print bits
C715:8A			179	bbits2	txa		
C716:4A			180		lsr	a	
C717:AA			181		tax		
C718:A9	58		182		lda	#\$58	;bits are printed as ascii 0 or 1
C71A:2A			183		rol	a	
C71B:99	B6	05	184		sta	screen-2,y	
C71E:88			185		dey		
C71F:88			186		dey		
C720:D0	F3	C715	187		bne	bbits2	
C722:F0	FE	C722	188	hangx	beq	hangx	;hang forever and ever
C724:A0	02		189	BADSWTCH	l ldy	#2	
C726:B9	FO	C7	190	bswtchl	lda	smess,y	
C729:90	03	C72E	191		bcc	bswtch2	;branch if MMU in error
C72B:B9	F3	C7	192		1da	smess+3,y	;else indicate IOU error

22 A			10					
	C72E:99	B8	05	193	bswtch2	sta	screen,y	
	C731:88			194		dey		
	C732:10	F2	C726	195		bpl	bswtchl	;print "MMU" or "IOU"
	C734:30	FE	C734	196	hangy	bmi	hangy	;branch forever
	0726.10	01		100	CHOUTCT	1	#MOUTINY	
_	C730:AU	701		190	SWCHISI	ldy	# METUIDA	
	0724.6A	11		199	SWESEI	Ida	IF Q / E	test sudtabas of the TOU/MULTS match Assumulates
	C/3A:0A	20	07	200	SWESEZ	ror	a	;set switches of the 100/MMU to match Accumulator
	C/35:5E	89	C/	201		Tax	SWIBLU, y	alara la 26 de se se terte se se terte se
	C/3E:FO	OF	C74F	202		beq	swtst4	;branch if done setting switches
	C/40:90	03	C/45	203		bee	swtst3	;branch if setting switch to U-state
	C742:BE	C9	C7	204	2	ldx	SWTBL1,y	;else get index to set switch to l
	C745:9D	FF	BF	205	swtst3	sta	IOSPACE-1,	x ;set switch
	C748:C8			206		iny		
	C749:D0	EF	C73A	207		bne	swtst2	;branch always taken
	C74B:			208	*			
	C74B:AE	30	CO	209	click	ldx	\$C030	
	C74E:2A			210		rol	a	
	C74F:88			211	swtst4	dey		
	C750:BE	D9	C7	212		ldx	RSWTBL, y	;now verify the settings just made
	C753:F0	13	C768	213		beq	swtst6	;branch if done this pass
	C755:30	F4	C74B	214		bmi	click	; branch if this switch no to be verified.
	C757:2A			215		rol	a	
	c758:90	07	C761	216		bcc	swtst5	
	C75A:1E	00	CO	217		as1	IOSPACE, x	
	C75D:90	17	C776	218		bcc	swerr	
and the second second	C75F:B0	EE	C74F	219		bcs	swtst4	;branch always
	C761:1E	00	CO	220	swtst5	asl	IOSPACE, x	
	C764:B0	10	C776	221		bcs	swerr	
	C766:90	E7	C74F	222		bcc	swtst4	;branch always
	C768:			223	*			
	C768:2A			224	swtst6	rol	а	;restore original value
	C769:C8			225		iny		; and IOU/MMU index
	C76A:38			226		sec		
	C76B:E9	01		227		sbc	#1	try next pattern
	C76D:B0	CB	C73A	228		bcs	swtst2	
	C76F:88			229		dev		:was MMU just tested?
	C770:D0	OB	C77D	230		bne	BIGLOOP	:branch if IOU was just tested
	C772:A0	09		231		ldv	#IOUIDX	;else, go test IOU.
	C774:D0	C2	C738	232		bne	swtstl	:branch always taken
	C776:			233	*			,
	C776:A2	00		234	swerr	ldx	#0	:indicate switch error
	C778:C0	OA		235		CDV	#IOUIDX+1	set carry if IOU was cause
	C77A:4C	D7	C6	236		imp	bbitsl	,,,
	C77D:46	80		237	BIGLOOP	lsr	\$80	
and a second sec	C77F:D0	B5	C736	238		bne	SWCHTST	
	C781:A9	AO	0.00	239	b1n2	lda	#SAO	
	C783:A0	00		240	orb-	ldy	#0	
1	C785:99	00	04	241	b1p3	sta	\$400 v	clear screen for success message
and the second s	C788:99	00	0.5	242	2464	sta	\$500 v	, store street for success measure
	C78B:99	00	06	243		sta	\$600 v	
	C78E:99	00	07	244		sta	\$700 v	
	C791:C8			245		inv		
	2171100					*** 1		

C797:2D 62 CO 248 AND \$C062 ; pressed C79A:0A 249 ;put result in carry asl a C79B:E6 FF 250 \$FF INC C79D:A5 FF 251 LDA SFF C79F:90 03 C7A4 252 bcc dquit C7A1:4C 00 C6 253 DIAGS jmp C7A4: 254 * C7A4:AD 51 CO 255 dquit TEXT 1da ;put success message on the screen C7A7:A0 08 256 ldy #8 C7A9:B9 F6 C7 257 suc2 1da success,y C7AC:99 B8 05 258 SCREEN, y sta 259 C7AF:88 dey C7B0:10 F7 C7A9 260 bpl suc2 C7B2:30 EO C794 261 bmi blp4 ;loop forever C7B4: 262 * 263 setv C7B4: C7 B4 * equ C7B4:53 43 2B 29 264 ntb1 83,67,43,41,7 dfb C7B9:00 89 31 03 dfb \$00,\$89,\$31,\$03,\$05,\$09,\$0b,\$01,\$00,\$83,\$51,\$53,\$55,\$57,\$0F, \$0D 265 swtb10 dfb \$00,\$81,\$31,\$04,\$06,\$0A,\$0C,\$02,\$00,\$84,\$52,\$54,\$56,\$58,\$10, \$0E dfb \$00,\$11,\$FF,\$13,\$14,\$16,\$17,\$18,\$00,\$12,\$1A,\$1B,\$1C,\$1D,\$1E, \$1F,\$00 c7c9:00 81 31 04 266 swtb11 C7D9:00 11 FF 13 267 rswtbl C7EA: 268 MSB ON "RAM ZP" C7EA:D2 C1 CD AO 269 rmess asc "MMUIOU" C7F0:CD CD D5 C9 270 smess asc C7F6:D3 F9 F3 F4 272 success asc "System OK" C7FF: C7FF 273 zzzend * equ C7FF: INCLUDE C8SPACE 22 0001 C80RG-*,0 ;pad to C800 C7FF: 1 DS * C800: 2 3 * This entry point is only used by Pascal 1.0 C800: 4 * C800: C800:4C B0 C9 5 JMP PINIT1.0 ; PASCAL 1.0 INIT 6 * C803: 7 * BASIC initialization: C803: C803: 8 * 9 * This is called by the \$C3 space only after a PR#3 or C803: 10 * the equivalent (a JSR \$C300). C803: 11 * C803: 12 * It causes a copy of the \$F8 ROM to be placed in the C803: 13 * language card if the language card is switched in and C803: C803: 14 * the ID byte doesn't match. It sets up all the C803: 15 * screenhole variables to support its operation. If the C803: 16 * 80 column card is detected, it sets things up for 80 column 17 * operation, else 40 column operation. Then it clears the C803: 18 * screen and prints the character that was in the accumulator C803: 19 * upon entry. C803: 20 * C803: 21 BASICINIT EQU * C803: C803 JSR COPYROM C803:20 F4 CE ; If LC in, copy F8 to it 22 ;out=\$C307, in=\$C305 ;set full 40-col window C806:20 2A C8 23 JSR C3HOOKS C809:20 2E CD 24 JSR D040

;test for both Open and Closed Apple

C792:D0 F1 C785

C794:AD 61 CO

246

247 blp4

blp3

\$C061

bne

LDA

C80C:A9 01 LDA #M.MOUSE ;init with mouse text off 25 C80E:8D FB 04 26 STA MODE ;Set BASIC video mode 27 * C811: C811: 28 * IS THERE A CARD? C811: 29 * C811:20 90 CA JSR TESTCARD ;SEE IF CARD PLUGGED IN 30 C814:D0 08 C81E 31 BNE CLEARIT ;=>IT'S 40 C816:06 21 ;SET 80-COL WINDOW 32 ASL WNDWDTH C818:8D 01 CO 33 STA SET80COL ;ENABLE 80 STORE C81B:8D OD CO 34 STA SETSOVID ; AND 80 VIDEO 35 * C81E: 36 * HOME & CLEAR: C81E: 37 * C81E: 38 CLEARIT EQU * C81E: C81E C81E:8D OF CO 39 STA SETALTCHAR ; SET NORM/INV LCASE C821:20 90 CC 40 JSR X.FF ;CLEAR IT C824:AC 7B 05 41 OURCH ;set up cursor for store LDY C827:4C 7E C8 42 JMP BPRINT ;always print a character 43 * C82A: 44 C3HOOKS LDA #>BASICOUT ;set output hook first C82A:A9 07 C82C:85 36 45 STA CSWL C82E:A9 C3 46 LDA #<CN00 C830:85 37 47 STA CSWH 48 * C832: 49 * C3IN is called by IN#0 if CSWH = #\$C3 C832: 50 * C832: C832:A9 05 LDA #>BASICIN ;set input hook 51 C3IN C834:85 38 52 STA KSWL C836:A9 C3 53 LDA #<CN00 C838:85 39 54 STA KSWH 55 ;exit with A=\$C3 for IN#0 stuff C83A:60 RTS C83B: 56 * 57 GETKEY INC ; BUMP RANDOM SEED C83B:E6 4E RNDL C83D:D0 02 C841 58 BNE GETK2 C83F:E6 4F 59 INC RNDH C841:AD 00 CO 60 GETK2 LDA KBD ;KEYPRESS? C844:10 F5 C83B BPL GETKEY ;=>NOPE 61 C846:8D 10 CO 62 STA KBDSTRB CLEAR STROBE C849:60 63 RTS 64 * C84A: 65 ****************************** C84A: 66 * C84A: C84A: 67 * PASCAL 1.0 INPUT HOOK: C84A: 68 * 0003 DS C80RG+\$4D-*,0 ;pad to 1.0 hooks C84A: 69 IFNE *-C80RG-\$4D ;ERR IF WRONG ADDR C84D: 0000 70 71 FAIL 2, 'C84D HOOK ALIGNMENT' S C84D: 72 FTN ;=>GO TO STANDARD READ C84D:4C 50 C3 73 IMP JPREAD 74 ******************************* C850: 75 * C850: 76 * CSETUP compensates for everything that the user C850: 77 * can do to change the cursor status: poke CV, CH, C850: 78 * OURCH, WNDWDTH. It updates the video firmware's C850:

79 * versions of these values for its own use. C850: C850: 80 * COPY USER'S CURSOR IF IT DIFFERS FROM C850: 81 * WHAT WE LAST PUT THERE: 82 * C850: C850:A5 25 83 CSETUP LDA CV ;set up OURCV C852:8D FB 05 84 STA OURCV C855:A4 24 85 ;GET IT LDY CH C857:CC 7B 04 ; IS IT THE SAME? CPY OLDCH 86 ;=>YES, USE OUR OWN C85A:F0 03 C85F 87 BEO CS2 C85C:8C 7B 05 88 STY OURCH ;update our cursor C85F:A5 21 89 CS2 LDA WNDWDTH ; cursor horizontal must not 90 ;be greater than window width C861:18 CLC C862:ED 7B 05 91 SBC OURCH ; if it is, then put cursor CS3 ;at left edge of window C86C 92 BCS C865:B0 05 93 C867:A0 00 LDY #0 C869:8C 7B 05 94 STY OURCH C86C:AC 7B 05 95 CS3 LDY OURCH ;exit with Y = CH 96 C86F:60 RTS C870: 97 * 98 * BIN and BOUT are used when characters are C870: 99 * input and output by the \$F8 ROM while 80VID C870: 100 * is on. They cannot use the \$C3 entry points C870: 101 * because that switches in the \$C8 space, causing C870: C870: 102 * possible conflict with other \$C8 users. 103 * These routines are only called by the \$C100-\$C2FF space. C870: C870: 104 * 105 * These entry points will only work if the card was 106 * first initialized using a PR#3. 80 columns will not C870: C870: 107 * work simply by turning on the 80VID flag. C870: C870: 108 * 109 BOUT LDY SAVY1 ;load Y stuffed by \$F8 ROM C870:A4 35 ;signal an output C872:18 110 CLC ;skip SEC C873:B0 FE C873 BCS * 111 *-1 C874: C874 112 ORG C874:38 113 BIN SEC ;signal an input C875:8D 7B 06 114 STA CHAR ;save the char C878:98 115 ;save Y TYA C879:48 116 PHA ;save X C87A:8A 117 TXA C87B:48 118 PHA C87C ;BASIC IN/OUT C87C: 119 C8BASIC EOU BINPUT C87C:B0 5E C8DC 120 BCS ;=>input a character 0000: 0000 1 TEST EQU 0 ; REAL VERSION C87E: 23 LST ON, A, V INCLUDE BPRINT C87E: 24 1 * C87E: 2 * This is the place where characters printed using the C87E: 3 * CSW hook are actually printed (or executed if they are C87E: 4 * control characters). C87E: C87E: 5 * C87E:20 50 C8 6 BPRINT JSR CSETUP ;setup user cursor ;GET CHARACTER C881:AD 7B 06 LDA 7 CHAR C884:C9 8D 8 CMP #\$8D ; IS IT C/R? ;=>don't wait, OURCH ok C8A0 9 BNE NOWAIT C886:D0 18

	C888:AE	00	CO	10		LDX	KBD	; IS KEY PRESSED?
	C88B:10	13	C8A0	11		BPL	NOWAIT	; NO
	C88D:E0	93		12		CPX	#\$93	; IS IT CTL-S?
	C88F:D0	OF	C8A0	13		BNE	NOWAIT	;NO, IGNORE IT
	C891:2C	10	CO	14		BIT	KBDSTRB	;CLEAR STROBE
	C894:AE	00	CO	15	KBDWAIT	LDX	KBD	;WAIT FOR NEXT KEYPRESS
	C897:10	FB	C894	16		BPL	KBDWAIT	
100	C899:E0	83		17		CPX	#\$83	; IF CTL-C, LEAVE IT
	C89B:F0	03	C8A0	18		BEQ	NOWAIT	; IN THE KBD BUFFER
	C89D:2C	10	CO	19		BIT	KBDSTRB	;CLEAR OTHER CHARACTER
	C8A0:29	7F		20	NOWAIT	AND	#\$7F	;drop possible hi bit
	C8A2:C9	20		21		CMP	#\$20	; IS IT CONTROL CHAR?
	C8A4:B0	06	C8AC	22		BCS	BPNCTL	;=>NOPE
	C8A6:20	D2	CA	23		JSR	CTLCHARO	;execute CTL if M.CTL ok
	C8A9:4C	BD	C8	24		JMP	CTLON	;=>enable ctl chrs
	C8AC:			25	*	and the second se		
	C8AC:			26	* NOT A	CTL	CHAR. PRINT	r IT.
	C8AC:			27	*			
	C8AC:	-	C8AC	28	BPNCTL	EQU	*	
100	C8AC:AD	7 B	06	29		LDA	CHAR	;get char (all 8 bits)
	C8AF:20	38	CE	30	- 1	JSR	STORCHAR	;and display it
	C8B2:			31	*		wagoa woat	ZONTHIN -
	C8B2:			32	* BOWL	THE C	URSOR HORIZ	CONTAL:
	C8B2:			33	×	TANT		A second se
	C8B2:C8	7.0	0.5	34		INY	oupou	; bump it
	C8B3:8C	7 B	05	30		SIL	OURCH	;are we past the
	C880:C4	21	CORD	30		DCC	WNDWDIH	; end of the line:
	COD0:90	51	CODI	20		TOD	VCP	YES DO C/P
and the second second	CODA:20	21	CD	30	*	JOK	A.CR	,115, DO C/R
	CSBD.			40	* M.CTT	ice	at by RDCH	R and cleared here after each
	CSBD.			40	* charac	15 s	is displaye	and created here, arter each
	C8BD.			42	*	Lei	is uispiaye	ed •
	CSBD: AD	FR	04	42	CTION	T.DA	MODE	enable printing of control chars
	C8C0:29	F7	04	44	OTHON	AND	#255-M.CTI	, chable princing of concret chart
-	C8C2:8D	FB	04	45		STA	MODE	
	C8C5:AD	7 B	05	46	BIORET	LDA	OURCH	get newest cursor position
	C8C8:2C	IF	CO	47		BTT	RDSOVID	: IN 80-MODE?
	C8CB:10	02	C8CF	48		BPL	SETALL	:=>no. set other cursors
_	C8CD:A9	00		49		LDA	#0	pin CH to 0 for 80 columns
	C8CF:85	24		50	SETALL	STA	CH	
	C8D1:8D	7B	04	51		STA	OLDCH	REMEMBER THE SETTING
	C8D4:68			52	GETREGS	PLA		RESTORE
-	C8D5:AA			53		TAX		
100	C8D6:68			54		PLA		;X AND Y
	C8D7:A8			55		TAY		
	C8D8:AD	7 B	06	56		LDA	CHAR	
-	C8DB:60			57		RTS		;RETURN TO BASIC
100	C8DC:			25		INCL	UDE BINPUT	
100	CSDC:			1	*			
	C8DC:			2	* BASIC	inpu	it entry poi	int called by entry point in the
No. of Concession, Name	C8DC:			3	* \$C3 st	bace.	This is t	the way things normally happen.
1.22	CSDC:	~ /		4	*			
	CSDC:A4	24		5	BINPUT	LDY	CH	
1								
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1								
							Appendix I: M	Aonitor ROM Listings

C8DE: AD 7B 06 6 LDA CHAR C8E1:91 28 7 STA (BASL),Y C8E3:20 50 C8 8 CSETUP JSR ;get newest cursor C8E6:20 26 CE 9 B.INPUT JSR INVERT ; invert that char C8E9:20 3B C8 GETKEY :GET A KEY 10 ISR ;SAVE IT C8EC:8D 7B 06 11 STA CHAR C8EF:20 26 CE 12 JSR. INVERT ; REMOVE CURSOR C8F2:A8 13 TAY ;preserve acc. C8F3: 14 * C8F3: 15 * On pure input, an uninterpreted character code should 16 * be returned. If M.CTL is set, however, escape functions C8F3: 17 * are enabled, and CTL-U causes the character under the C8F3: C8F3: 18 * cursor to be picked up from the screen. C8F3: 19 * M.CTL is set whenever a character is requested using 20 * RDCHAR in the \$F8 ROM. C8F3: C8F3: 21 * LDA MODE ;is escape mode enabled? C8F3:AD FB 04 22 C8F6:29 08 AND 23 #M.CTL C8F8:F0 CB C8C5 24 BEQ BIORET ;=>no,return C8FA:C0 8D 25 CPY #\$8D ;was it a CR C8FC:D0 08 C906 26 BNE NOTACR ;=>nope, not a CR C8FE:AD FB 04 27 LDA MODE C901:29 F7 28 AND #255-M.CTL ;else end of line... C903:8D FB 04 29 STA MODE ; disable escape C906: C906 30 NOTACR EOU * #\$9B C906:C0 9B 31 CPY ;ESCAPE KEY? C908:F0 11 C91B 32 BEQ ESCAPING ;=>YES IT IS C90A: 33 * 34 * Not an escape sequence. Check for control-u. C90A: C90A: 35 * C90A:C0 95 CPY #\$95 ;is it control-U? 36 C90C:D0 B7 C8C5 37 BNE BIORET ;no, return to caller C90E:AC 7B 05 38 LDY OURCH ;get horizontal position C911:20 44 CE 39 JSR PICK ;and pick up the char C914:09 80 40 ORA #\$80 ;always pick as normal C916:8D 7B 06 41 STA CHAR ;save keystroke BNE BIORET C8C5 C919:DO AA 42 ;=>(always) return to caller 43 * C91B: 44 * Start an escape sequence. If the next character C91B: C91B: 45 * pressed is one of the following, it is executed. C91B: 46 * Otherwise it is ignored. 47 * C91B: 48 * C91B: @ - home & clear C91B: 49 * E - clear to end of line F - clear to end of screen C91B: 50 * 51 * I - move cursor up C91B: C91B: 52 * J - move cursor left K - move cursor right C91B: 53 * 54 * M - move cursor down C91B: C91B: 57 * 4 - enter 40 column mode 58 * 8 - enter 80 column mode C91B: 59 * CTL-D- disable the printing of control characters C918: 60 * CTL-E- enable the printing of control characters C91B: C91B: 61 * CTL-Q- quit (PR#0/IN#0)

	C91B:			62	* The	four	arrow keys	s (as IJKM)
	C91B:			63	*			
	C91B:			64		MSB	OFF	
	C91B:		C91B	65	ESCAPINO	G EQU	*	
	C91B:20	B1	CE	66		JSR	ESCON	;ESCAPE CURSOR ON
	C91E:20	3B	C8	67		JSR	GETKEY	;GET ESCAPE FUNCTION
	C921:20	C4	CE	68		JSR	ESCOFF	;REPLACE ORIGINAL CHARACTER
	C924:20	14	CE	69		JSR	UPSHFT	;upshift the char
and the second	C927:29	7F		70		AND	#\$7F	;DROP HI BIT
	C929:A0	10		71		LDY	#ESCNUM-1	;COUNT/INDEX
-	C92B:D9	7C	C9	72	ESC2	CMP	ESCTAB,Y	; IS IT A VALID ESCAPE?
	C92E:F0	05	C935	73		BEQ	ESC3	;=>YES
	C930:88			74		DEY		
	C931:10	F8	C92B	75		BPL	ESC2	;TRY 'EM ALL
	C933:30	OF	C944	76		BMI	ESCSPEC	;=>MAYBE IT'S A SPECIAL ONE
	C935:			77	*			
	C935:		C935	78	ESC3	EQU	*	
	C935:B9	6B	C9	79		LDA	ESCCHAR,Y	;GET CHAR TO "PRINT"
	C938:29	7 F		80		AND	#\$7F	; DROP HI BIT (FLAG)
	C93A:20	D6	CA	81		JSR	CTLCHAR	;EXECUTE IT
-	C93D: B9	6B	C9	82		LDA	ESCCHAR, Y	;GET FLAG
	C940:30	D9	C91B	83		BMI	ESCAPING	;=>STAY IN ESCAPE MODE
	C942:10	A2	C8E6	84		BPL	B.INPUT	;=>QUIT ESCAPE MODE
	C944:			85	*			
	C944:		C944	86	ESCSPEC	EQU	*	
	C944:A8			87		TAY		;put char here
	C945:AD	FB	04	88		LDA	MODE	;so we can put this here
	C948:CO	11		89		CPY	#\$11	;was it Quit?
	C94A:D0	OB	C957	90		BNE	ESCSP1	;=>no
	C94C:20	4D	CD	91		JSR	X.NAK	;do the quitting stuff
	C94F:A9	98		92		LDA	#\$98	;make it look like
	C951:8D	7 B	06	93		STA	CHAR	;CTL-X was pressed
	C954:4C	C5	C8	94		JMP	BIORET	;=>quit the card forever
and the second	C957:			95	*			
	C957:CO	05		96	ESCSP1	CPY	#\$05	;was it CTL-E for enable
	C959:D0	08	C963	97		BNE	ESCSP4	;=>no
	C95B:29	DF		98		AND	#255-M.CTI	L2 ;yes, enable ctl chars
	C95D:8D	FB	04	99	ESCSP2	STA	MODE	;save new mode
	C960:4C	E6	C8	100	ESCSP3	JMP	B. INPUT	;=> exit escape mode
	C963:			101	*			
	C963:CO	04		102	ESCSP4	CPY	#\$04	;was it CTL-D for disable
	C965:D0	F9	C960	103		BNE	ESCSP3	;=>no, exit escape mode
	C967:09	20		104		ORA	#M.CTL2	;disable ctl chars
	C969:DO	F2	C95D	105		BNE	ESCSP2	;=> exit escape mode
	C96B:			106	*			
	C96B:			107	* This t	able	contains t	the control characters which,
	C96B:			108	* when e	execut	ted, carry	out the escape functions. If
	C96B:			109	* the hi	igh bi	it of the c	character is set, it means that
	C96B:			110	* escape	e mode	should no	ot be exited after execution of
	C96B:			111	* the ch	naract	ter.	
	C96B:			112	*			
-	C96B:		C96B	113	ESCCHAR	EQU	*	
	C96B:0C			114		DFB	\$0C	;@: FORMFEED
10	C96C:1C			115		DFB	\$1C	;A: FS

Appendix	ŀ	Monitor	ROM	Listings
Theorem	4.0	MULTION	TOOTT	PIDOTI (D)

C96D:08			116		DFB	\$08	;B: BS
C96E:0A			117		DFB	\$OA	;C: LF
C96F:1F			118		DFB	\$1F	;D: US
C970:1D			119		DFB	\$1D	;E: GS
C971:0B			120		DFB	\$OB	F: VT
C972:9F			121		DFB	\$1F+\$80	:I: US (STAY ESC)
C973:88			122		DFB	\$08+\$80	:J: BS (STAY ESC)
C974:9C			123		DFB	\$1C+\$80	:K: FS (STAY ESC)
C975:8A			124		DFB	S0A+\$80	:M: LF (STAY ESC)
C976:11			125		DFB	\$11	:4 :DC1
C977:12			126		DFB	\$12	:8 :DC2
0978:88			127		DFB	\$08+\$80	:<-: BS (STAY ESC)
C979:8A			128		DFB	\$0A+\$80	DN:LF (STAY ESC)
C974 .9F			129		DFB	\$1F+\$80	:UP:US (STAY ESC)
C978.9C			130		DFB	\$10+\$80	:->:FS (STAY ESC)
C97C:			131	*	DID	4101400	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
C97C:			132		MSR	OFF	bigh hit already masked
C97C :		C97C	133	ESCTAR	FOU	*	, mgn ore arready masked
C97C:40		0370	134	LOCIAD	ASC	101	
c070.40			135		ASC	1 A I	HANDLE OLD ESCAPES
C97E . 42			136		ASC	181	, HANDER OLD LOOAT LD
C97E-42			137		ASC	101	
0971.45			120		ASC	int	
0900:44			130		ASC	121	
0901:45			1/0		ASC		
6962:40			140		ASC	E 1 T 1	
6983:49			141		ASC	1 11	
C984:4A			142		ASC	1111	
C985:4B			145		ASC	K	
0980:40			144		ASC	M	
0987:34			140		ASC	101	
6988:38			140		ASC	.0.0	ADDE ADDOLL
C989:08			14/		DFB	\$08	; LEFT ARROW
C98A:0A			148		DFB	SUA	; DOWN ARROW
C98B:0B			149		DFB	SOB	; UP ARROW
C98C:15			150		DFB	\$15	;RITE ARROW
C98D:		0011	151	ESCNUM	EQU	*-ESCTAB	
C98D:			152		MSB	ON	
C98D:			153	*		0.04	2
C98D:			154	* Tack	on di	ag 128K tes	st here
C98D:			155	*			
C98D:2C	13	CO	156	STAUX	BIT	RDRAMRD	;aux done yet?
C990:30	11	C9A3	157		BMI	XSTAUX	;=>yes, exit
C992:A9	EE		158		LDA	#\$EE	;get test pattern
C994:8D	05	CO	159		STA	WRCARDRAM	;write AUX RAM
C997:8D	03	CO	160		STA	RDCARDRAM	;read AUX RAM
C99A:8D	00	OC	161		STA	\$C00	;test this byte
C99D:8D	00	08	162		STA	\$800	;and this is 1K off
C9A0:CD	00	OC	163		CMP	\$C00	;has \$COO been updated?
C9A3:60			164	XSTAUX	RTS		;check in main diags.
C9A4:			165	*			
C9A4:			166	* ESCOU	JT use	d by ESCFIN	X in \$Cl page
C9A4:			167	*			
C9A4:			168		MSB	ON	
C9A4:CA	CB	CD C9	169	ESCOUT	ASC	'JKMI'	;The arrows

170 MSB OFF C9A8: C9A8: 26 INCLUDE PASCAL C9A8: 2 * PASCAL 1.0 OUTPUT HOOK: C9A8: C9A8: DS C80RG+\$1AA-*,0 0002 4 C9A8: C9AA: 0000 5 IFNE *-C80RG-\$1AA 6 FAIL 2, 'C9AA HOOK ALIGNMENT' S C9AA: FIN 7 C9AA:AD 7B 06 8 LDA CHAR ;GET OUTPUT CHARACTER ;=>USE STANDARD WRITE C9AD:4C 56 C3 9 JMP JPWRITE C9B0: 11 * C9B0: C9B0: C9B0: 13 * PASCAL INITIALIZATION: 14 * Disable printing of mouse text C9B0: C9B0: C9B0 16 PINIT1.0 EQU * C9B0: LDA #M.PASCAL+M.PAS1.0+M.MOUSE C9B0:A9 83 17 C9B2:D0 02 C9B6 18 BNE PINIT2 ;=>always C9B4: C9B4 19 PINIT EQU * C9B4:A9 81 20 LDA #M.PASCAL+M.MOUSE ;SAY WE'RE 21 * C9B6: C9B6 22 PINIT2 EQU * C9B6: ;save version ID C9B6:48 23 PHA 24 * C987: 25 * SEE IF THE CARD'S PLUGGED IN: C9B7: C9B7: 26 * C9B7:20 90 CA 27 JSR TESTCARD ; IS IT THERE? C9BA:F0 04 ;=>YES C9C0 28 BEQ PIGOOD ;discard ID byte 29 PLA C9BC:68 #9 ; IORESULT= 'NO DEVICE' C9BD:A2 09 30 LDX C9BF:60 31 RTS 32 * C9C0: C9C0: C9C0 33 PIGOOD EQU * C9C0:68 34 PLA ;get version ID 35 STA MODE ; and save it C9C1:8D FB 04 C9C4:8D 01 CO 36 STA SET80COL ;ENABLE 80 STORE ; AND 80 VIDEO STA SET80VID C9C7:8D OD CO 37 STA SETALTCHAR ; NORM+INV LCASE C9CA:8D OF CO 38 C9CD:20 D4 CE 39 JSR PSETUP ;set window and cursor ;HOME & CLEAR IT C9D0:20 90 CC 40 JSR X.FF C9D3:4C 1F CA 41 JMP DOBASL ;fix OLDBASL/H, display cursor, exit C9D6: 43 * PASCAL INPUT: C9D6: 44 * C9D6: 45 * Character always returned with high bit clear. C9D6: C9D6: 46 * 47 ********************************* C9D6: 48 PREAD EQU * C9D6: C9D6 JSR PSETUP 49 ;SETUP ZP STUFF C9D6:20 D4 CE GET A KEYSTROKE C9D9:20 3B C8 50 JSR GETKEY C9DC:29 7F AND #\$7F ;DROP HI BIT 51 ; SAVE THE CHAR C9DE:8D 7B 06 52 STA CHAR

C9E1:A2 00 ; IORESULT='GOOD' LDX #0 53 C9E3:AD FB 04 54 LDA MODE ; ARE WE IN 1.0-MODE? C9E6:29 02 55 AND #M.PAS1.0 C9E8:F0 02 C9EC PREADRET2 ;=>NOPE 56 BEQ ;YES, RETURN CN IN X C9EA:A2 C3 57 #<CN00 LDX 58 * C9EC: 59 PREADRET2 EQU * C9EC: C9EC C9EC:AD 7B 06 60 LDA CHAR ; RESTORE CHAR C9EF:60 61 RTS 62 * C9F0: C9F0: 63 * PASCAL OUTPUT: 64 * Note: to be executed, control characters must have C9FO: 65 * their high bits cleared. All other characters are C9FO: C9FO: 66 * displayed regardless of their high bits. C9FO: 67 * C9FO: C9FO 68 PWRITE EQU * C9F0:29 7F #\$7F 69 AND ;clear high bits 70 TAX ;save character C9F2:AA SETUP ZP STUFF, don't set ROM C9F3:20 D4 CE 71 PSETUP JSR ; ARE WE DOING GOTOXY? C9F6:A9 08 #M.GOXY 72 LDA C9F8:2C FB 04 73 BIT MODE C9FB:D0 32 CA2F 74 BNE GETX ;=>Doing X or Y? C9FD:8A 75 TXA ;now check for control char PRTS C9FE:2C 2E CA 76 BIT ;is it control? CA01:F0 50 CA03:AC 7B 05 **CA53** 77 PCTL BEO ;=>yes, do control OURCH 78 LDY ;get horizontal position CA06:24 32 79 BIT INVFLG ;check for inverse CA08:10 02 CAOC 80 BPL PWR1 ;inverse, go store it CA0A:09 80 81 ORA #\$80 CA0C:20 70 CE 82 PWR1 JSR STORIT ;now store it (erasing cursor) ; INC CH CAOF:C8 83 INY CA10:8C 7B 05 OURCH 84 STY CA13:C4 21 85 WNDWDTH CPY CA15:90 08 DOBASL CAIF 86 BCC CA17:A9 00 87 LDA #0 ;do carriage return CA19:8D 7B 05 88 STA OURCH CA1C:20 D8 CB 89 JSR X.LF ;and linefeed CA1F:A5 28 90 DOBASL BASL ;save BASL for pascal LDA CA21:8D 7B 07 91 STA OLDBASL CA24:A5 29 92 LDA BASH CA26:8D FB 07 93 STA OLDBASH 94 PWRITERET JSR PASINV CA29:20 1F CE ;display new cursor CA2C:A2 00 95 PRET LDX #\$0 return with no error 96 PRTS RTS CA2E:60 CA2F: 97 * 98 * CA2F: HANDLE GOTOXY STUFF: 99 * CA2F: CA2F:20 1F CE 100 GETX JSR PASINV ;turn off cursor CA32:8A 101 TXA ;get character CA33:38 102 SEC CA34:E9 20 103 #32 MAKE BINARY SBC CA36:2C FB 06 XCOORD 104 BIT ;doing X? CA39:30 30 CA6B 105 BMI PSETX ;=>yes, set it 106 * CA3B:
	CA3B:			107	* Set Y	and	do the GOTO	YXC
	CA3B:			108	*			
	CA3B:8D	FB	05	109	GETY	STA	OURCV	
	CA3E:85	25	10.1	110		STA	CV	
	CA40:20	BA	CA	111		JSR	BASCALC	:calc base addr
	CA43:AD	FB	06	112		LDA	XCOORD	
	CA46:8D	7 B	05	113		STA	OURCH	set cursor horizontal
	CA49:A9	F7		114		L.DA	#255-M.GO	Y :turn off gotoxy
	CA48:20	FR	04	115		AND	MODE	, tata ort governy
	CA4E : 8D	FR	04	116		STA	MODE	
	CA51 . DO	CC	CALE	117		RNF	DOBASI	-=>DONE (ALWAYS TAKEN)
	CA53.	00	UNIT	118	*	DIVL	DODADL	,-/DONE (NEWALG TALLA)
	CA53:20	1 F	CF	119	PCTI	ISP	PASTNU	turn off cursor
	CA56.84	11	CL.	120	TUIL	TYA	LUQINA	get char
	CA57:00	117		120		CMP	# SIF	ide it gotoVV?
-	CA59.FO	06	CA61	121		REO	STAPTYY	is it gotoni.
- 1	CA58:20	DE	CAUI	122		ICD	CTICHAP	.EVECUTE IT IE DOSCIBLE
	CASE:40	LE	CA	123		TMD	DOBAGI	- Sundate BASI/W surger ovit
	CASE:40	11	CA	124	+	JHF	DOBASL	,-/update bRSL/h, cuisor, exit
and the second second	CAOI:			123	+ CTADT	THE	COTOWN CROI	IENCE .
	CADI:			120	* START	THE	GOTOXI SEQU	JENCE:
	CAG1:		01(1	127	CT ADDISOL	DOUT	+	
	CA61:	0.0	CADI	128	STARIXY	FUID	AN CONT	
	CA61:A9	08	24	129		LDA	#M.GOXY	
	CA63:0D	FB	04	130		UKA	MODE	;turn on gotoxy
1.0	CA66:8D	FB	04	131		STA	MODE	
	CA69:A9	FF		132	-	LDA	#SFF	;set XCOORD to -1
	CA6B:8D	FB	06	133	PSETX	STA	XCOORD	;set X
	CA6E:4C	29	CA	134		JMP	PWRITERET	;=>display cursor and exit
	CA/1:			27	-	INC	LUDE SUBSI	
	CA/1:		CA/1	1	DOMN	EQU	*	
	CA/1:AA			2		TAX		; SAVE IT
	CA72:A5	2A		3		LDA	BAS2L	;GET OPCODE AGAIN
	CA/4:A0	03		4		LDY	#\$03	
	CA/6:EO	8A		5		СРХ	#\$8A	
	CA/8:F0	OB	CA85	6		BEQ	MNNDX3	
	CA/A:4A			/	MNNDX1	LSR	A	
	CA/B:90	08	CA85	8		BCC	MNNDX3	;FORM INDEX INTO MNEMONIC TABLE
and the second se	CA7D:4A			9		LSR	A	
	CA7E:4A			10	MNNDX2	LSR	A	; 1) $1 \times 1010 => 00101 \times 1000$
	CA/F:09	20		11		ORA	#\$20	; 2) XXXYYY01 => 00111XXX
	CA81:88	-		12		DEY		; 3) XXXYYY10 => 00110XXX
	CA82:D0	FA	CA/E	13		BNE	MNNDX2	; 4) XXXYY100 => 00100XXX
	CA84:C8			14		INY		; 5) $XXXXX000 \Rightarrow 000XXXXX$
	CA85:88			15	MNNDX3	DEY		
	CA86:D0	F2	CA7A	16		BNE	MNNDX1	
	CA88:60			17		RTS		
	CA89:			18	*			
	CA89:			19	* Switch	h in	slot 3, the	en test for a ROM card.
100	CA89:			20	* If not	ne fo	ound, test f	for 80 column card,
	CA89:			21	* else	retu	rn with BNE.	
	CA89:			22	*		100 100	
	CA89:		CA89	23	TSTROMCI	RD E	QU *	
	CA89:20	B7	F8	24		JSR	TSTROM	;test for ROM card
100	CA8C:DO	02	CA90	25		BNE	TESTCARD	;=>no ROM, check for 80 column card

CA8E:C8 26 INY ;make BNE for return CA8F:60 27 RTS CA90: 28 * 29 ****************************** CA90: CA90: 30 * NAME : TESTCARD 31 * FUNCTION: SEE IF 80COL CARD PLUGGED IN CA90: 32 * INPUT : NONE 33 * OUTPUT : 'BEQ' IF CARD AVAILABLE CA90: CA90: : 'BNE' IF NOT CA90: 34 * CA90: 35 * VOLATILE: AC,Y CA90: CA90: 37 * 38 TESTCARD EOU * CA90: CA90 ;REMEMBER CURRENT VIDEO DISPLAY CA90:AD 1C CO 39 LDA RDPAGE2 CA93:0A 40 ASL A ; IN THE CARRY CA94:A9 88 #\$88 USEFUL CHAR FOR TESTING 41 LDA RD80COL ; REMEMBER VIDEO MODE IN 'N' CA96:2C 18 CO 42 BIT CA99:8D 01 CO SET80COL ;ENABLE 80COL STORE 43 STA ; SAVE 'N' AND 'C' FLAGS CA9C:08 44 PHP ;SET PAGE2 TXTPAGE2 CA9D:8D 55 CO 45 STA ;GET FIRST CHAR ;SET TO A '*' CAA0:AC 00 04 46 LDY \$0400 CAA3:8D 00 04 47 STA \$0400 CAA6:AD 00 04 48 \$0400 ;GET IT BACK FROM RAM LDA CAA9:8C 00 04 49 STY \$0400 ; RESTORE ORIG CHAR ;RESTORE 'N' AND 'C' FLAGS CAAC:28 50 PLP STAY IN PAGE2 CAAD: BO 03 CAB2 51 BCS STAY2 CAAF:8D 54 CO 52 STA TXTPAGE1 ; RESTORE PAGE1 CAB2: CAB2 53 STAY2 EQU * CAB2:30 03 CAB7 54 BMI STAY80 ;=>STAY IN 80COL MODE CLR80COL ; TURN OFF 80COL STORE CAB4:8D 00 CO 55 STA CAB7: CAB7 56 STAY80 EQU CAB7:C9 88 ;WAS CHAR VALID? 57 #\$88 CMP CAB9:60 ; RETURN RESULT AS BEQ/BNE 58 RTS 59 * CABA: 60 * Do the CABA: normal monitor ROM BASCALC 61 * CABA: 62 BASCALC EQU CABA: CABA * CABA:48 63 PHA CABB:4A 64 LSR A CABC:29 03 65 AND #\$03 CABE:09 04 ORA #\$04 66 CAC0:85 29 67 STA BASH CAC2:68 68 PLA #\$18 CAC3:29 18 69 AND CAC5:90 02 CAC9 70 BCC BSCLC2 CAC7:69 7F 71 ADC #\$7F CAC9:85 28 72 BSCLC2 STA BASL 73 CACB:OA ASL A CACC:0A 74 ASL A CACD:05 28 75 ORA BASL CACF:85 28 76 STA BASL CAD1:60 77 RTS CAD2: 78 *

79 ******************************** CAD2: 80 * NAME : CTLCHARO CAD2: 81 * FUNCTION: Execute CTL char if M.CTL=0 CAD2: 82 * INPUT : AC=CHAR CAD2: 83 * OUTPUT : 'BCS' if not executed 84 * : 'BCC' if executed CAD2: CAD2: 85 * VOLATILE: NOTHING CAD2: CAD2: CAD2: 88 * CAD2: 89 CTLCHARO BIT SEV1 ;set V (use M.CTL) CAD2:2C 06 CB CAD5:50 FE CAD5 90 BVC * ;skip CLC ORG *-1 CAD6: CAD6 91 92 * CAD6: CAD6: 94 * NAME : CTLCHAR CAD6: 95 * FUNCTION: Always execute CTL char CAD6: 96 * INPUT : AC=CHAR CAD6: 97 * OUTPUT : 'BCS' if not executed 98 * : 'BCC' if ctl executed CAD6: CAD6: 99 * VOLATILE: NOTHING CAD6: 100 * CALLS : MANY THINGS CAD6: CAD6: 102 * CAD6: ;clear V (ignore M.CTL) CAD6:B8 103 CTLCHAR CLV CAD7:8D 7B 07 104 STA TEMP1 ; TEMP SAVE OF CHAR PHA ;SAVE AC CADA:48 105 CADB:98 106 TYA ; SAVE Y 107 PHA CADC:48 108 * CADD: ;GET CHAR IN QUESTION CADD:AC 7B 07 109 LDY TEMPI CAE0:C0 05 110 CPY #\$05 ; IS IT NUL..EOT? BCC CTLCHARX ;=>YES, NOT USED CAE2:90 13 CAF7 111 CAE4:B9 B4 CB 112 LDA CTLADH-5,Y ;Get high byte of address BEQ CTLCHARX ;=>ctl not implemented CAE7:FO OE CAF7 113 BVC CTLGOO :=> CLTCHAR: always execute CAE9:50 12 CAFD 114 115 * CAEB: 0000 CAEB: 116 DO TEST S 117 BPL CTLGOO ;=>CR, BEL, LF, BS always done ELSE CAEB: 118 BMI CTLGOO CAEB:30 10 ;=>CR, BEL, LF, BS always done CAFD 119 120 FIN CAED: CAED: 121 * CAED:8D 7B 07 STA TEMP1 ;save high byte of address 122 LDA MODE ; if control chars CAFO:AD FB 04 123 CAF3:29 28 124 AND #M.CTL+M.CTL2 ;are enabled CAF5:F0 03 125 BEQ CTLGO ;=>then go do them CAFA 126 * CAF7: CAF7: CAF7 127 CTLCHARX EQU * ;SAY 'NOT CTL' CAF7:38 128 SEC ;=>DONE CAF8:B0 09 BCS CTLRET CB03 129 130 * CAFA: CAFA: AD 7B 07 131 CTLGO LDA TEMP1 ;get address back CAFD: CAFD 132 CTLGOO EQU *

CAFD:		0000	133		DO	TEST	
S			134		AND	#\$7F	;for test, hi bit clear
CAFD:			135		ELSE		
CAFD:09	80		136		ORA	#\$80	;hi bit always set
CAFF:			137		FIN		
CAFF:20	07	CB	138		JSR	CTLXFER	;EXECUTE SUBROUTINE
CB02:			139	*			
CB02:18			140		CLC		;SAY 'CTL CHAR EXECUTED'
CB03:		CB03	141	CTLRET	EQU	*	
CB03:68			142		PLA		RESTORE
CB04:A8			143		TAY		; Y
CB05:68			144		PLA		; AND AC
CB06:60			145	SEV1	RTS		- Acceleration - Constant
CB07:			146	*			
CB07:		CB07	147	CTLXFER	EQU	*	
CB07:48			148		PHA		PUSH ONTO STACK FOR
CB08:B9	99	CB	149		LDA	CTLADL-5,Y	: TRANSFER TRICK
CB0B:48			150		PHA		
CBOC:60			151		RTS		XFER TO ROUTINE
CBOD:			152	*			
CBOD:			153	* Turn o	curson	on for Pa	ascal only
CBOD:			154	*			
CBOD: AD	FB	04	155	X.CUR.ON	N LDA	MODE	;get mode byte
CB10:10	05	CB17	156		BPL	CURON.X	;=>not pascal, don't do it
CB12:29	EF		157		AND	#255-M.CUH	RSOR ;clear cursor bit
CB14:8D	FB	04	158	SAVCUR	STA	MODE	;save it
CB17:60			159	CURON.X	RTS		and exit
CB18:			160	*			 Resolution and approximation
CB18:			161	* Turn o	urson	off for H	Pascal only.
CB18:			162	* Curson	is t	not display	ved during call.
CB18:			163	*			Endersetten in einer Alben Dieter an werden einer ein
CB18:AD	FB	04	164	X.CUR.OI	FF LDA	MODE	;get mode byte
CB1B:10	FA	CB17	165		BPL	CURON.X	;=>not pascal, don't do it
CB1D:09	10		166		ORA	#M.CURSOR	turn on cursor bit
CB1F:DO	F3	CB14	167		BNE	SAVCUR	save and exit
CB21:			168	*			
CB21:			169	* EXECU	re bei	LI:	
CB21:			170	*			
CB21:		CB21	171	X.BELL	EOU	*	
CB21:A9	40		172		LDA	#\$40	RIPPED OFF FROM MONITOR
CB23:20	34	CB	173		JSR	WAIT	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
CB26:A0	CO		174		LDY	#\$C0	
CB28:A9	0C		175	BELL2	LDA	#\$0C	
CB2A:20	34	CB	176		JSR	WAIT	
CB2D:AD	30	CO	177		LDA	SPKR	
CB30:88			178		DEY		
CB31:D0	F5	CB28	179		BNE	BELL2	
CB33:60			180		RTS		
CB34:			181	*			
CB34:		CB34	182	WAIT	EOU	*	RIPPED OFF FROM MONITOR ROM
CB34:38			183		SEC		,
CB35:48			184	WAIT2	PHA		
CB36:E9	01		185	WAIT3	SBC	#1	
CB38:DO	FC	CB36	186		BNE	WAIT3	
						1411-141	

CB3A:68			187		PLA		
CB3B:E9	01		188		SBC	#1	
CB3D:DO	F6	CB35	189		BNE	WAIT2	
CB3F:60			190		RTS		
CB40:			191	*			
CB40:			192	* EXECUT	TE BA	CKSPACE:	
CB40:			193	*			
CB40:		CB40	194	X.BS	EOU	*	
CB40 · CF	7 B	05	195	114 00	DEC	OURCH	BACK UP CH
CB43:10	OB	CB50	196		BPL.	BSDONE	·=>DONE
CB45:45	21	0100	107		IDA	UNDUDTH	BACK UP TO PRIOR LINE
CP47.9D	70	0.5	108		STA	OUDCU	SET CU
CB47:0D	70	05	100		DEC	OURCH	, BET OIL
CD4A:CE	70	05	199		LCD	VUC	NOU DO DEU LINEFED
CB4D:20	19	CB	200	D OD ONE	JAK	X.US	NOW DO REV LINEFEED
CB50:		CB20	201	BSDONE	EQU	×	
CB50:60			202		RTS		
CB51:			203	×	and the last		
CB51:			204	* EXECU	FE CA	RRIAGE RET	URN:
CB51:			205	*			
CB51:		CB51	206	X.CR	EQU	*	
CB51:A9	00		207		LDA	#O	; BACK UP CH TO
CB53:8D	7B	05	208		STA	OURCH	; BEGINNING OF LINE
CB56:AD	FB	04	209		LDA	MODE	; ARE WE IN BASIC?
CB59:30	03	CB5E	210		BMI	X.CRRET	;=> Pascal, avoid auto LF
CB5B:20	D8	CB	211		JSR	X.LF	;EXECUTE AUTO LF FOR BASIC
CB5E:		CB5E	212	X.CRRET	EQU	*	
CB5E:60			213		RTS		
CB5F:			214	*			
CB5F:			215	* EXECUT	ГЕ НО	ME:	
CB5F:			216	*			
CB5F:		CB5F	217	X.EM	EQU	*	
CB5F:A5	22		218		LDA	WNDTOP	
CB61:85	25		219		STA	CV	
CB63:A9	00		220		LDA	#0	
CB65:8D	7 B	05	221		STA	OURCH	STUFF CH
CB68:4C	FE	CD	222		IMP	VTAB	set base for OURCV
CB6B:		0.0	223	*			tere and and another
CR6B.			224	* FYFCU	PE FO	RWARD SPAC	F:
CR6B ·			225	*	10 10	ICHINE OF HO	
CR6B.		CRER	226	VES	FOU	*	
CB6B · FF	78	05	220	A.LO	INC	OURCH	BUMP CH
CREEIAD	70	05	220		TDA	OURCH	CET THE POSITION
CBOL: AD	21	05	220		CMP	UNDUDTU	OFF THE PICUT SIDE?
CB/1:CJ	21	0070	229		BOC	V FORT	, OFF THE RIGHT SIDE!
CB/3:90	03	CB/8	230		BCC	X.FSKEI	;=/NU, GUUD
CB/5:20	21	CB	231	14	JSK	A.CK	;=/1L5, WRAP AROUND
CB/8:		0070	232	*	HAT		
CB/8:		CB/8	233	X.FSRET	EQU	*	
CB/8:60			234		RTS		
CB/9:			235	X			
CB79:			236	* EXECU	re re	VERSE LINE	FEED:
CB79:			237	*			
CB79:A5	22		238	X.US	LDA	WNDTOP	;are we at top?
CB7B:C5	25		239		CMP	CA	
CB7D:BO	1E	CB9D	240		BCS	X.USRET	;=>yes, stay there

CB3A:68

de-h

- 4

The second se

1. Sector

Tank .

and and

The second

187

331

.

CB7F:C6	25		241		DEC	CA	;else go up a line
CB81:4C	FE	CD	242		JMP	VTAB	;exit thru VTAB (update OURCV)
CB84:			243	*			
CB84:			244	* EXECUT	E "NO	ORMAL VIDEO) ¹¹
CB84:			245	*			
CB84:		CB84	246	X.SO	EOU	*	
CB84:AD	FB	04	247		LDA	MODE	;SET MODE BIT
CB87:10	02	CB8B	248		BPL	X.S01	:don't set mode for BASIC
CB89:29	FB	0202	249		AND	#255-M.VM	DDE :SET 'NORMAL'
CB8B:AO	FF		250	X.S01	LDY	#255	
CB8D: DO	09	CB98	251		BNE	STUFFINV	:(ALWAYS)
CB8F:	0,	0070	252	*	D I I D		
CB8F:			253	* EXECUT	TE "I	NVERSE VIDE	50''
CB8F.			254	*			
CB8F:		CBSF	255	X.ST	FOU	*	
CBSE:AD	FR	04	256	neo c	LDA	MODE	:SET MODE BIT
CB92:10	02	CB96	257		BPL.	X.ST1	:don't set mode for BASIC
CB94:09	04	0230	258		ORA	#M. VMODE	SET 'INVERSE'
CB96:40	75		259	X.STI	LDY	#127	,
CB98:8D	FR	04	260	STUFFIN	STA	MODE	SET MODE
CB98.84	32	0.1	261	0101111	STY	INVELG	STUFF FLAG TOO
CB9D:60	54		262	X-USRET	RTS	2002 00	
CB9E:			263	*			
CB9E:		CB9E	264	CTLADI	EOU	*	
CB9E:0C		0275	265	Searce a	DFB	#>x.CUR.01	N-1 :ENO
CB9F:17			266		DFB	#>x.CUR.OH	FF-1 : ACK
CBA0:20			267		DFB	#>X.BELL-1	I ;BEL
CBA1:3F			268		DFB	#>X.BS-1	BS
CBA2:00			269		DFB	0	;HT
CBA3:D7			270		DFB	#>X.LF-1	:LF
CBA4:73			271		DFB	#>X.VT-1	;VT
CBA5:8F			272		DFB	#>X.FF-1	FF
CBA6:50			273		DFB	#>X.CR-1	;CR
CBA7:83			274		DFB	#>X.SO-1	;50
CBA8:8E			275		DFB	#>X.SI-1	;SI
CBA9:00			276		DFB	0	;DLE
CBAA:E9			277		DFB	#>X.DC1-1	;DC1
CBAB:FB			278		DFB	#>X.DC2-1	;DC2
CBAC:00			279		DFB	0	;DC3
CBAD:00			280		DFB	0	; DC4
CBAE:4C			281		DFB	#>X.NAK-1	; NAK
CBAF:D3			282		DFB	#>SCROLLD!	N-1 ;SYN
CBBO:EA			283		DFB	#>SCROLLU	P-1 ;ETB
CBB1:3C			284		DFB	#>MOUSEOFI	F-1
CBB2:5E			285		DFB	#>X.EM-1	;EM
CBB3:95			286		DFB	#>X.SUB-1	;SUB
CBB4:43			287		DFB	#>MOUSEON-	-1
CBB5:6A			288		DFB	#>X.FS-1	;FS
CBB6:99			289		DFB	#>X.GS-1	;GS
CBB7:00			290		DFB	0	;RS
CBB8:78			291		DFB	#>X.US-1	;US
CBB9:			292	*			
CBB9:		CBB9	293	CTLADH	EQU	*	
CBB9:4B			294		DFB	# <x.cur.01< td=""><td>N-\$8001 ;ENQ</td></x.cur.01<>	N-\$8001 ;ENQ

ALL ST

333	

	CBBA:4B			295		DFB	# <x.cur.o< td=""><td>FF-\$8001</td><td>: ACK</td><td></td></x.cur.o<>	FF-\$8001	: ACK	
	CBBB:CB			296		DEB	# <x.bell-< td=""><td>BEL</td><td></td><td></td></x.bell-<>	BEL		
	CBBC:CB			297		DFB	# <x.bs-1< td=""><td>BS</td><td></td><td></td></x.bs-1<>	BS		
-	CBBD:00			298		DFB	0	:HT		
	CBBE:CB			299		DFB	# <x.lf-1< td=""><td>:LF</td><td></td><td></td></x.lf-1<>	:LF		
1.11	CBBF:4C			300		DFB	# <x.vt-s80< td=""><td>001 :VT</td><td></td><td></td></x.vt-s80<>	001 :VT		
	CBC0:4C			301		DFB	# <x.ff-580< td=""><td>001 ;FF</td><td></td><td></td></x.ff-580<>	001 ;FF		
-	CBC1 :CB			302		DFB	# <x.cr-1< td=""><td>:CR</td><td></td><td></td></x.cr-1<>	:CR		
	CBC2:4B			303		DFB	# <x.so-\$80< td=""><td>001 :50</td><td></td><td></td></x.so-\$80<>	001 :50		
	CBC3:4B			304		DFB	# <x.si-\$80< td=""><td>001 ;SI</td><td></td><td></td></x.si-\$80<>	001 ;SI		
	CBC4:00			305		DFB	0	DLE		
-	CBC5:4C			306		DFB	# <x.dc1-\$8< td=""><td>8001 ;DC1</td><td>L</td><td></td></x.dc1-\$8<>	8001 ;DC1	L	
	CBC6:4C			307		DFB	# <x.dc2-\$< td=""><td>8001 ;DC2</td><td>2</td><td></td></x.dc2-\$<>	8001 ;DC2	2	
11.18	CBC7:00			308		DFB	0	; DC3		
	CBC8:00			309		DFB	0	:DC4		
_	CBC9:4D			310		DFB	# <x.nak-\$8< td=""><td>8001 : NAM</td><td><</td><td></td></x.nak-\$8<>	8001 : NAM	<	
	CBCA:4B			311		DFB	# <scrolld< td=""><td>N-\$8001 :</td><td>SYN</td><td></td></scrolld<>	N-\$8001 :	SYN	
1.1	CBCB:4B			312		DFB	# <scrollui< td=""><td>P-\$8001</td><td>ETB</td><td></td></scrollui<>	P-\$8001	ETB	
	CBCC:4D			313		DFB	# <mouseof< td=""><td>F-\$8001</td><td></td><td></td></mouseof<>	F-\$8001		
_	CBCD:4B			314		DFB	# <x.em-\$80< td=""><td>001 :EM</td><td></td><td></td></x.em-\$80<>	001 :EM		
-	CBCE:4C			315		DFB	# <x.sub-s< td=""><td>8001 :SUN</td><td>3</td><td></td></x.sub-s<>	8001 :SUN	3	
	CBCF:4D			316		DFB	# <mouseon-< td=""><td>-\$8001</td><td></td><td></td></mouseon-<>	-\$8001		
	CBD0:4B			317		DFB	# <x.fs-580< td=""><td>001 :FS</td><td></td><td></td></x.fs-580<>	001 :FS		
-	CBD1:4C			318		DFB	# <x.gs-\$80< td=""><td>001 ;GS</td><td></td><td></td></x.gs-\$80<>	001 ;GS		
	CBD2:00			319		DFB	0	:RS		
	CBD3:4B			320		DFB	# <x.us-\$80< td=""><td>001 ;US</td><td></td><td></td></x.us-\$80<>	001 ;US		
	CBD4:			28		INCL	UDE SUBS2			
-	CBD4:			1	*					
	CBD4:			2	* SCROLI	LIT s	crolls the	screen e	either up or down, depen	nding
	CBD4:			3	* on the	val	ue of X.	It scroll	s within windows with e	even
	CBD4:			4	* or odd	d edg	es for both	h 40 and	80 columns. It can sci	roll
_	CBD4:			5	* window	is do	wn to 1 cha	aracters	wide.	
	CBD4:			6	*					
	CBD4:A0	00		7	SCROLLDN	N LDY	#O	;directi	lon = down	
	CBD6:F0	15	CBED	8		BEQ	SCROLLIT	;=>go do	scroll	
	CBD8:			9	*					
	CBD8:			10	* EXECUI	TE LI	NEFEED:			
	CBD8:			11	*					
	CBD8:		CBD8	12	X.LF	EQU	*			
	CBD8:E6	25		13		INC	CV			
	CBDA: A5	25		14		LDA	CV	; SEE IF	OFF BOTTOM	
	CBDC:8D	FB	05	15		STA	OURCV			
	CBDF:C5	23		16		CMP	WNDBTM	; OFF THE	E END?	
	CBE1:BO	03	CBE6	17		BCS	X.LF2	;=>yes,	scroll screen	
	CBE3:4C	03	CE	18		JMP	VTABZ	;exit th	ITU VTABZ	
	CBE6:			19	*					
	CBE6:		CBE6	20	X.LF2	EQU	*			
	CBE6:CE	FB	05	21		DEC	OURCV	;back up	to bottom	
03	CBE9:C6	25		22		DEC	CV	;and fal	ll into scroll	
-	CBEB:			23	*					
	CBEB:A0	01		24	SCROLLUE	P LDY	#1	;directi	ion = up	
	CBED:8A			25	SCROLLIT	TXA		;save X		
	CBEE:48			26		PHA				
1. 20	CBEF:8C	7 B	07	27		STY	TEMP1	;save di	irection	

- FRE

CBF2:A5	21		28		LDA	WNDWDTH	;get width of screen window
CBF4:48			29		PHA		;save original width
CBF5:2C	1 F	CO	30		BIT	RD80VID	; in 40 or 80 columns?
CBF8:10	1C	CC16	31		BPL	GETST1	;=>40, determine starting line
CBFA:8D	01	CO	32		STA	SET80COL	;make sure this is enabled
CBFD:4A			33		LSR	A	;divide by 2 for 80 column index
CBFE:AA			34		TAX		;and save
CBFF:A5	20		35		LDA	WNDLFT	;test oddity of right edge
CC01:4A			36		LSR	A	;by rotating low bit into carry
CC02:B8			37		CLV		;V=0 if left edge even
CC03:90	03	CC08	38		BCC	CHKRT	;=>check right edge
CC05:2C	06	CB	39		BIT	SEV1	;V=1 if left edge odd
CC08:2A			40	CHKRT	ROL	A	;restore WNDLFT
CC09:45	21		41		EOR	WNDWDTH	;get oddity of right edge
CCOB:4A			42		LSR	A	;C=1 if right edge even
CCOC:70	03	CC11	43		BVS	GETST	; if odd left, don't DEY
CCOE: BO	01	CC11	44		BCS	GETST	;if even right, don't DEY
CC10:CA			45		DEX		:if right edge odd, need one less
CC11:86	21		46	GETST	STX	WNDWDTH	save window width
CC13:AD	1F	CO	47		LDA	RD80VID	:N=1 if 80 columns
CC16:08		00	48	GETST1	PHP		save N.Z.V
CC17:A6	22		49		LDX	WNDTOP	assume scroll from top
CC19:98	~~		50		TYA		up or down?
CC14:D0	03	CCLE	51		BNE	SETDBAS	
CC1C: A6	23	OUII	52		LDX	WNDBTM	:down, start scrolling at bottom
CCLE:CA	4.5		53		DEX	ANDBIN	really need one less
CCIE:			54	*	Dun		, rearry need one rebu
CC1F:8A			55	SETDBAS	TXA		:get current line
CC20:20	03	CE	56	UNIDDING	ISR	VTABZ	calculate base with window width
CC23:	0.5	01	57	*	0011		,
CC23:45	28		58	SCRLIN	L.D.A	BASL	current line is destination
CC25:85	24		59		STA	BAS2L	
CC27:45	29		60		LDA	BASH	
CC29:85	2 B		61		STA	BAS2H	
CC2B:			62	*			
CC2B:AD	7 B	07	63		L.DA	TEMP1	:test direction
CC2E:FO	32	CC62	64		BEO	SCRLDN	:=>do the downer
CC30 · F8	32	0002	65		TNY	bondbin	do next line
CC31 · F4	23		66		CPX	WNDRTM	:done vet?
CC33:BO	32	CC67	67		BCS	SCRLL3	:=>vun all done
CC35+84	52	0007	68	SETSEC	TYA	DORDES	set new line
CC36:20	03	CE	69	ourono	ISR	VTABZ.	get base for new current line
CC39:44	21	01	70		LDY	WNDWDTH	get width for scroll
CC38+28	~1		71		PLP	HIDHDIII	get status for scroll
CC3C+08			72		PHP		N=1 if 80 columns
CC3D:10	1 F	CC5D	73		RPI	SKDBT	= only do 40 columns
CC3E:AD	55	C0	74		LDA	TYTPACE?	scroll aux page first (even bytes)
CC/2:98	55	00	75		TVA	INTINOLL	stort V
CC42.50	07	cchc	76		BEO	SCRIFT	if V=0 only scroll one byte
CC45.P1	29	0040	77	SCRIEVE	NIDA	(BAST) V	, if i o, only scroll one byte
CC/ 7 . 01	20		79	JURGAD	STA	(BAS2T) V	
CC40.91	ZA		70		DEV	(DAGEL), I	
CC44.00	FO	CC/15	80		BNF	SCRIEVEN	do all but last even bute
CC4A:D0	0/	0040	91	CODIET	BUC	CVDIET	and laft adda skip this but
0040110	04	0032	01	DOUTLI	DYD	OKI DI I	, oud tert cuge, skip this byte

Appendix I: Monitor ROM Listings

Storage Sag	202		12121			A	
CC4E:B1	28		82		LDA	(BASL),Y	
CC50:91	2A		83		STA	(BAS2L),Y	
CC52:AD	54	CO	84	SKPLFT	LDA	TXTPAGE1	;now do main page (odd bytes)
CC55:A4	21		85		LDY	WNDWDTH	;restore width
CC57:B0	04	CC5D	86		BCS	SKPRT	;even right edge, skip this byte
CC59:B1	28		87	SCRLODD	LDA	(BASL),Y	
CC5B:91	2A		88		STA	(BAS2L),Y	
CC5D:88			89	SKPRT	DEY		
CC5E:10	F9	CC59	90		BPL	SCRLODD	
CC60:30	C1	CC23	91		BMI	SCRLIN	;=> always scroll next line
CC62:			92	*			
CC62:CA			93	SCRLDN	DEX		;do next line
CC63:E4	22		94		CPX	WNDTOP	;done yet
CC65:10	CE	CC35	95		BPL	SETSRC	;=>nope, not yet
CC67:			96	*			
CC67:28			97	SCRLL3	PLP		;pull status off stack
CC68:68			98		PLA		restore window width
CC69:85	21		99		STA	WNDWDTH	,
CC68:20	96	CC	100		ISR	X . SUB	clear current line
CC6E+20	FF	CD	101		ISP	VTAB	restore original cursor line
CC71:68	LP	00	102		DIA	11110	and Y
CC72: AA			102		TAY		, and A
CC72.44			104		DTC		idonal III
CC74.			104	*	KIS		,doller i i
0074.			105	* EVECU	PE OI	TO FOC.	
0074:			100	* EAECU.	LE ULI	R 10 E05.	
0074:	0.4	00	107	V UD	TOD	V 00	CLEAR TO FOI
0077:45	9A	CC	100	X.VI	JSK	A.65	CLEAR TO EOL
CC//:A5	25		109		LDA	CV	; SAVE CV
0071-10	01	2200	110		PHA	N. UMMINUM	DO NEWE LINE (LINAUC MAREN)
CC/A:10	06	CC82	111		BPL	X.VINEXT	; DO NEXT LINE (ALWAYS TAKEN)
CC/C:20	03	CE	112	X.VILOOI	PJSR	VIABZ	;set base address
CC/F:20	96	CC	113		JSR	X.SUB	;CLEAR LINE
CC82:E6	25		114	X.VTNEX	r inc	CV	
CC84:A5	25		115		LDA	CV	
CC86:C5	23		116		CMP	WNDBTM	;OFF SCREEN?
CC88:90	F2	CC7C	117		BCC	X.VTLOOP	;=>NO, KEEP GOING
CC8A:68			118		PLA		; RESTORE
CC8B:85	25		119		STA	CV	; CV
CC8D:4C	FE	CD	120		JMP	VTAB	;return via VTAB (blech)
CC90:			121	*			
CC90:			122	* EXECU	TE CLI	EAR:	
CC90:			123	*			
CC90:		CC90	124	X.FF	EQU	*	
CC90:20	5F	CB	125		JSR	X.EM	;HOME THE CURSOR
CC93:4C	74	CC	126		JMP	X.VT	; RETURN VIA CLREOS (UGH!)
CC96:			127	*			
CC96:			128	* EXECU	TE CLI	EAR LINE	
CC96:			129	*			
CC96:A0	00		130	X.SUB	LDY	#0	;start at left
CC98:F0	03	CC9D	131		BEO	X.GSEOLZ	;and clear to end of line
CC9A:			132	*			375
CC9A:			133	* EXECUT	TE CLI	EAR TO EOL:	:
CC9A:			134	*			
CC9A:AC	7 B	05	135	X.GS	LDY	OURCH	;get CH
							The state of the s

10-

-

1

and the second s

Appendix I: Monitor ROM Listings

CC9D:A5 32 136 X.GSEOLZ LDA INVFLG ;mask blank CC9F:29 80 137 AND #\$80 ;with high bit of invflg CCA1:09 20 138 ORA #\$20 ;make it a blank is it 80 columns? CCA3:2C 1F CO 139 BIT RD80VID CCA6:30 15 CCA8:91 28 CLR80 CCBD 140 BMI ;=>yes do quick clear 141 CLR40 STA (BASL),Y CCAA:C8 142 INY CCAB:C4 21 143 CPY WNDWDTH CCAD:90 F9 144 CCA8 BCC CLR40 CCAF:60 145 RTS 146 * CCBO: 147 * Clear right half of screen for 40 to 80 CCBO: 148 * screen conversion CCBO: CCBO: 149 * CCB0:86 2A 150 CLRHALF STX BAS2L ;save X #\$D8 ;set horizontal counter CCB2:A2 D8 151 LDX CCB4:A0 14 LDY #20 152 CCB6:A5 32 INVFLG ;set (inverse) blank 153 LDA 154 #\$A0 CCB8:29 A0 AND CCBA:4C D5 CC 155 JMP CLR2 CCBD: 156 * CCBD: 157 * Clear to end of line for 80 columns 158 * CCBD: CCBD:86 2A 159 CLR80 STX BAS2L :save X PHA CCBF:48 160 ;and blank ;get count for CH CCC0:98 161 TYA CCC1:48 162 PHA ;save for left edge check CCC2:38 163 SEC ;count=WNDWDTH-Y-1 CCC3:E5 21 164 SBC WNDWDTH ;save CH counter CCC5:AA 165 TAX ;div CH by 2 for half pages CCC6:98 166 TYA CCC7:4A 167 LSR A CCC8:A8 168 TAY CCC9:68 169 PLA ;restore original ch CCCA:45 20 170 EOR WNDLFT ;get starting page 171 ROR CCCC:6A A CCCD: BO 03 CCD2 172 BCS CLRO CCCF:10 01 CCD2 BPL CLRO 173 ;iff WNDLFT odd, starting byte odd CCD1:C8 174 INY CCD2:68 175 CLR0 PLA ;get blank CCD3:BO OB CCEO 176 BCS CLR1 ;starting page is 1 (default) CCD5:2C 55 CO 177 CLR2 BIT TXTPAGE2 ;else do page 2 CCD8:91 28 178 (BASL),Y STA 179 CCDA:2C 54 CO BIT TXTPAGE1 ;now do page 1 CCDD:E8 180 TNX CCDE:F0 06 CCE6 181 CLR3 ;all done BEO CCE0:91 28 182 CLR1 STA (BASL),Y CCE2:C8 183 INY ;forward 2 columns CCE3:E8 184 INX ;next ch CCE4:DO EF CCD5 185 BNE CLR2 ;not done yet CCE6:A6 2A 186 CLR3 ;restore X LDX BAS2L 187 SEC ;good exit condition CCE8:38 CCE9:60 ;and return 188 RTS CCEA: 189 *

100								
- AR	CCEA:			190	* EXECU	TE '40	COL MODE'	:
	CCEA:			191	*			
	CCEA:		CCEA	192	X.DC1	EQU	*	
1925	CCEA: AD	FB	04	193		LDA	MODE	;don't convert if Pascal
晋	CCED:30	4D						
and the second second	CD3C	194	4	BM	I X.DCl	RTS	:=>it's Par	scal
	CCEF:20	31	CD	195	X.DC1A	JSR	SETTOP	set top of window (0 or 20)
	CCF2:2C	1 F	C0	196	Tax Martess	BIT	RD80VID	are we in 80 columns?
	CCF5:10	12	CD09	197		BPL.	X.DC1B	:=>no, no convert needed
	CCF7:20	91	CD	198		ISR	SCRN84	else convert 80 to 40
	CCFA:90	OD	CD09	199		BCC	X.DC1B	:=>always set new window
1995	CCFC:	00	0.000	200	*	200		, , all a loss than the second
	CCFC:			201	* Set 8	0 col	umn mode	
1 and	CCFC :			202	*	o corr	anti motte	
	CCEC:		CCEC	203	X DC2	FOII	*	
(C)SIGN	CCEC:20	90	CA	204	A. 002	ISP	TESTCARD	is there an 80 column card?
	CCFF:DO	38	CD3C	205		BNE	Y DCIPTS	:=)no can't do this
	CDO1:20	10	CDSC	205		BIT	PDSOUTD	are we in 40 columns?
	CD01:20	11	cnog	200		DII	V DCIR	are we fit 40 cordinats.
and the second se	0004:30	05	CDUS	207		TOD	CCDN/9	clas convert 40 to 80
	CD06:20	64	CD	200	+	JSK	JUK N40	;else convert 40 to bo
- Alle	CD09:	7 12	0.5	209	N DOLD	TDA	OUDOU	
	CD09:AD	/ B	05	210	X.DCIB	LUA	OURCH	;get cursor
1.0	CDOC:18	2.0		211		CLC	111111 1100	Since new window left = 0
	CDOD:65	20	- 0	212		ADC	WNDLFT	; NEWCH=OLDCH+OLDWNDLF1
1	CDOF:2C	IF	CO	213		BIT	RD80VID	;in 80 columns:
	CD12:30	06	CDIA	214		BMI	X.DCIC	;=>yes, CH is ok
	CD14:C9	28		215		CMP	#40	;else if CH is too big,
	CD16:90	02	CDIA	216		BCC	X.DCIC	;set it to 39
and the second s	CD18:A9	27		217		LDA	#39	
10000	CD1A:8D	7 B	05	218	X.DC1C	STA	OURCH	;save new CH
	CD1D:85	24		219		STA	CH	
要作	CD1F:A5	25		220		LDA	CV	;base
	CD21:20	BA	CA	221		JSR	BASCALC	
	CD24:2C	1 F	CO	222		BIT	RD80VID	;in 80 columns?
	CD27:10	05	CD2E	223		BPL	D040	;=>no, set forty column window
12/102	CD29:			224	*			
	CD29:20	71	CD	225	D080	JSR	FULL80	;set 80 column window
	CD2C:FO	03	CD31	226		BEQ	SETTOP	;=>always branch
	CD2E:			227	*			
200	CD2E:20	6D	CD	228	D040	JSR	FULL40	;set 40 column window
-	CD31:A9	00		229	SETTOP	LDA	#O	;assume normal window
- HER	CD33:2C	1 A	CO	230		BIT	RDTEXT	;text or mixed?
	CD36:30	02	CD3A	231		BMI	D040A	;=>text, all ok
THE OWNER OF	CD38:A9	14		232		LDA	#20	
1	CD3A:85	22		233	D040A	STA	WNDTOP	;set new top
STREE.	CD3C:60			234	X.DC1RT	S RTS		
	CD3D:			235	*			
-	CD3D:			236	* EXECU	TE MOI	USE TEXT O	FF
100	CD3D:			237	*			
	CD3D:AD	FB	04	238	MOUSEOF	F LDA	MODE	
	CD40:09	01		239		ORA	#M.MOUSE	;set mouse bit
	CD42:DO	05	CD49	240		BNE	SMOUSE	to disable mouse chars
	CD44:	22	IEVENIA A	241	*			a Balance - Annalas Cardina (Cardenser State) - Balandari
19	CD44:			242	* EXECU	TE MO	USE TEXT O	N

and the second

「

CD44: 243 * CD44:AD FB 04 244 MOUSEON LDA MODE CD47:29 FE 245 AND #255-M.MOUSE ;clear mouse bit 246 SMOUSE ;to enable mouse chars CD49:8D FB 04 STA MODE CD4C:60 247 RTS CD4D: 248 * 249 * EXECUTE 'QUIT': CD4D: CD4D: 250 * 251 X.NAK EQU CD4D: CD4D * ;ONLY VALID IN BASIC CD4D:AD FB 04 252 LDA MODE 253 BMI SKRTS ;ignore if pascal CD50:30 1A CD6C ;force 40 column window CD52:20 2E CD D040 254 JSR QUIT CD55:20 80 CD 255 JSR ;do stuff used by PR#0 CD58:20 64 CD 256 JSR SETCOUT1 ;set output hook CD5B: 257 * CD5B:A9 FD 258 SETKEYIN LDA #<KEYIN ;set input hook CD5D:85 39 259 STA KSWH CD5F:A9 1B LDA #>KEYIN 260 CD61:85 38 261 STA KSWL CD63:60 262 RTS CD64: 263 * CD64:A9 FD 264 SETCOUT1 LDA #<COUT1 ;set output hook CD66:85 37 265 STA CSWH CD68:A9 FO 266 LDA #>COUT1 CD6A:85 36 267 STA CSWL CD6C:60 268 SKRTS RTS CD6D: 269 * CD6D: 271 * NAME : FULL40 CD6D: 272 * FUNCTION: SET FULL 40COL WINDOW CD6D: 273 * INPUT : NONE CD6D: 274 * OUTPUT : WINDOW PARAMETERS, A=0 CD6D: 275 * VOLATILE: AC CD6D: CD6D: CD6D: 277 * 278 FULL40 EQU * CD6D: CD6D LDA #40 CD6D:A9 28 279 ;set window width to 40 ;=>(always taken) CD6F:D0 02 CD73 280 BNE SAVWDTH 281 * CD71: CD71: CD71: 283 * NAME : FULL80 CD71: 284 * FUNCTION: SET FULL 80COL WINDOW 285 * INPUT : NONE 286 * OUTPUT : WINDOW PARAMETERS, A=0 CD71: CD71: 287 * VOLATILE: AC CD71: CD71: 289 * CD71: CD71:A9 50 290 FULL80 LDA #80 ;set full 80 column window CD73:85 21 291 SAVWDTH STA WNDWDTH CD75:A9 18 292 LDA #24 CD77:85 23 293 STA WNDBTM CD79:A9 00 294 #0 LDA CD7B:85 22 295 STA WNDTOP CD7D:85 20 296 STA WNDLFT

Appendix I: Monitor ROM Listings

CD7F:60			297		RTS		
CD80:			298	*			
CD80:			299	* OUIT	is use	ed by PR#O	to turn off everything
CD80:			300	*			a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a
CD80:		CD80	301	OUIT	EOU	*	
CD80:20	1 F	CO	302		BTT	RD80VID	were we in 80 columns?
CD83:10	03	CD88	303		BPL.	OULT2	(=) not a chance
CD85+20	FF	CC	304		ISP	X DC1A	switch to 40 columns
CD88.8D	OF	00	305	OUTT2	STA	CLRALTCHA	R :don't use lower case
CD88:49	FF	00	306	VOLIE	IDA	#SFF	DESTROY THE
CD8D:8D	FR	04	307		STA	MODE	· MODE BYTE
CD90:60	t u	04	308		DTC	HODL	, NODE DITE
CD90.00			300	*	RI S		
0091.			310	+ CODMO	1	CODW/ 9	avent services between 40 5 90 sels
CD91:			211	* SCRNO	4 and	SCKN40 COL	nvert screens between 40 % 60 cols.
CD91:			212	* WNDIC	r must	t be set up	p to indicate the fast line to
GD91:			312	- De do	ne.	All registe	ers are trasned.
CD91:			313	R CODWO/			- Contractor
CD91:8A			314	SCEN84	TXA		;save X
CD92:48			315		PHA	H-1271	
CD93:A2	17	1003801	316		LDX	#23	;start at bottom of screen
CD95:8D	01	CO	317	amondo.	STA	SET80COL	;allow page 2 access
CD98:8A			318	SCRI	TXA		;calc base for line
CD99:20	BA	CA	319		JSR	BASCALC	
CD9C:A0	27		320		LDY	#39	;start at right of screen
CD9E:84	2A		321	SCR2	STY	BAS2L	;save 40 index
CDA0:98			322		TYA		;div by 2 for 80 column index
CDA1:4A			323		LSR	A	
CDA2:BO	03	CDA7	324		BCS	SCR3	
CDA4:2C	55	CO	325		BIT	TXTPAGE2	;even column, do page 2
CDA7:A8			326	SCR3	TAY		;get 80 index
CDA8: B1	28		327		LDA	(BASL),Y	;get 80 char
CDAA:2C	54	CO	328		BIT	TXTPAGE1	;restore pagel
CDAD: A4	2A		329		LDY	BAS2L	;get 40 index
CDAF:91	28		330		STA	(BASL),Y	A MACANING MICH ADDRESS AND A
CDB1:88			331		DEY		
CDB2:10	EA	CD9E	332		BPL	SCR2	;do next 40 byte
CDB4:CA			333		DEX		:do next line
CDB5:30	04	CDBB	334		BMI	SCR4	:=>done with setup
CDB7:E4	22		335		CPX	WNDTOP	at top yet?
CDB9:BO	DD	CD98	336		BCS	SCR1	,,,,,
CDBB:8D	00	CO	337	SCR4	STA	CLR80COL	clear 80STORE for 40 columns
CDBE:8D	0C	CO	338		STA	CLR80VID	clear 80VID for 40 columns
CDC1:4C	F8	CD	339		TMP	SCRNRET	calc base, restore X, exit
CDC4 :		00	340	*	UTTE .		jeare base, restore a, care
CDC4 + 84			341	SCRN48	TYA		·cave X
CDC5:48			342	0011140	PHA		, save n
CDC6:42	17		343		IDY	#23	estart at bottom of screen
CDC8 · 8A	+ /		344	SCR5	TYA	1.63	set have for current line
CDC9+20	RA	CA	345	JURD	ICP	BASCALC	joce base for current fine
CDCC+40	00	UN	346		IDV	#0	istart at left of garaan
CDCF + 8D	01	0	3/7		STA	SETROCOL	south at tere of screen
CDD1+B1	28	00	3/19	SCRA	IDA	(BAST) V	reat 40 column char
CDD1:D1	24		3/0	SCDQ	STY	BAS2T	get to column index
CDD5:04	2 M		350	JUK0	DUA	DROLL	, save to column index
CDD3:48			320		PHA		, save char

L

1

CEC	10.14							
	111:4A			380		LSR	A	;else divide width by 2
CEC	E:18			381	VTAB40	CLC		prepare to add
CEC)F:65	28		382		ADC	BASL	;add in window left
CE1	1:85	28		383		STA	BASL	;and update base
CE1	3:60			384	VTABX	RTS		;and exit
CE1	4:			29		INCI	LUDE SUBS3	
CE1	4:09	E1		1	UPSHFT	CMP	#\$E1	;is it lowercase?
CE1	6:90	06	CE1E	2		BCC	UPSHFT2	;=>nope
CE1	8:09	FB		3		CMP	#\$FB	;lowercase?
CE1	A: BO	02	CELE	4		BCS	UPSHFT2	;=>nope
CE1	C:29	DF		5		AND	#\$DF	;else upshift
CE1	E:60			6	UPSHFT2	RTS		
CE1	F :			7	*			
CE1	F :			8	******	****	*******	******
CE1	F :			9	* NAME	:	INVERT	
CE1	F :			10	* FUNCT	ION:	INVERT CHAF	R AT CH/CV
CEL	F:			11	*	:	Unless Pasc	al and M.CURSOR=1
CE1	F :			12	* INPUT	:	NOTHING	
CE1	F :			13	* OUTPU	r :	CHAR AT CH/	CV INVERTED
CE1	F :			14	* VOLAT	ILE:	NOTHING	
CE1	F:			15	* CALLS	:	PICK, STORC	CHAR
CE1	F :			16	******	****	******	*****
CE1	F :			17	*			
CE1	F:AD	FB	04	18	PASINV	LDA	MODE	;check pascal cursor flag
CE2	2:29	10		19		AND	#M.CURSOR	; before displaying cursor

AP SP SP I B T KA			1 - 1 m		TT PATA		
CDD8:BO	03	CDDD	353		BCS	SCR7	;save on pagel
CDDA:8D	55	CO	354		STA	TXTPAGE2	
CDDD: A8			355	SCR7	TAY		;get 80 column index
CDDE:68			356		PLA		;now save character
CDDF:91	28		357		STA	(BASL),Y	
CDE1:8D	54	CO	358		STA	TXTPAGE1	;flip pagel
CDE4:A4	2A		359		LDY	BAS2L	;restore 40 column index
CDE6:C8			360		INY		;move to the right
CDE7:CO	28		361		CPY	#40	;at right yet?
CDE9:90	E6	CDD1	362		BCC	SCR6	;=>no, do next column
CDEB:20	BO	CC	363		JSR	CLRHALF	;clear half of screen
CDEE:CA			364		DEX		else do next line of screen
CDEF:30	04	CDF5	365		BMI	SCR9	;=>done with top line
CDF1:E4	22		366		CPX	WNDTOP	at top yet?
CDF3:BO	D3	CDC8	367		BCS	SCR5	Contract Contraction of Contraction
CDF5:8D	OD	CO	368	SCR9	STA	SET80VID	convert to 80 columns
CDF8:20	FE	CD	369	SCRNRET	JSR	VTAB	update base
CDFB:68			370		PLA		restore X
CDFC:AA			371		TAX		
CDFD:60			372		RTS		
CDFE:			373	*			
CDFE:A5	25		374	VTAB	LDA	CV	:get 80 column CV
CE00:8D	FB	05	375		STA	OURCV	COPY to OURCV
CE03:20	BA	CA	376	VTABZ	JSR	BASCALC	calc base address
CE06:A5	20		377		LDA	WNDLFT	and add window left to it
CE08:2C	1F	CO	378		BIT	RDSOVID	is it 80 columns?
CEOB:10	01	CEOE	379		BPL	VTAB40	window width ok
CEOD:4A			380		LSR	A	else divide width by 2
CEOE:18			381	VTAB40	CLC		prepare to add
CEOF:65	28		382		ADC	BASL	add in window left
CE11:85	28		383		STA	BASL	and update base
CE13:60			384	VTABX	RTS		and exit
CE14:			29		INCI	LUDE SUBS3	A constraints - Description - Constraints
CE14:C9	E1		1	UPSHFT	CMP	#SE1	;is it lowercase?
CE16:90	06	CELE	2		BCC	UPSHFT2	:=>nope
CE18:C9	FB		3		CMP	#SFB	:lowercase?
CELA: BO	02	CELE	4		BCS	UPSHFT2	:=>nope
CE1C:29	DF	0.000	5		AND	#SDF	else upshift
CE1E:60			6	UPSHFT2	RTS	at Metal	
CE1F:			7	*			
CE1F:			8	*****	****	******	*****
CELF:			9	* NAME	:	INVERT	
CE1F:			10	* FUNCT	ION:	INVERT CHA	R AT CH/CV
CELF:			11	*	:	Unless Pas	cal and M.CURSOR=1
CE1F:			12	* INPUT	:	NOTHING	enner evenere totttettettettettettettettettettettettet
CE1F:			13	* OUTPUT	r :	CHAR AT CH	/CV INVERTED
CE1F:			14	* VOLAT	ILE:	NOTHING	 Andreas and a second state of the /li>
CEIF:			15	* CALLS	:	PICK. STOR	CHAR
CE1F:			16	******	****	*********	*****
the set of							

;div 2 for 80 column index n

Appendix I: Monitor ROM Listings

CDD6:98 CDD7:4A

351 352

TYA LSR A

Contraction of the local division of the loc								
	CE24:D0	11	CE37	20		BNE	INVX	;=>cursor off, don't invert
	CE26:48	000		21	INVERT	PHA		save AC
	CE27:98			22	THI PHT	TYA		AND Y
	CF28.48			23		PHA		5 SALAR A
	CE20:40	78	0.5	24		IDV	OURCH	CET CH
	CE29.A0	1.1.	CE	25		ICP	PTCK	CET CHARACTER
	CE2C:20	90	C.C.	25		FOR	HERO	ELTD INVEDCE /NODMAL
-	CE2F:49	20	0.5	20		LOR	17 9 0 U	, FEIT INVERSE/ NORMAL
2	CE31:20	10	CE	21		JSK	STORIT	, UNIO SURLEN
	CE34:08			28		PLA		KESTORE I
	CE35:A8			29		TAY		; AND AC
100	CE36:68			30		PLA		
	CE37:60			31	INVX	RTS		
8.7	CE38:			32	******	****	*********	*****
	CE38:			33	* NAME	:	STORCHAR	
	CE38:			34	* FUNCT	ION:	STORE A CHA	AR ON SCREEN
	CE38:			35	* INPUT	:	AC=CHAR	
	CE38:			36	*	:	Y=CH POSIT	FION
	CE38:			37	* OUTPU	т :	CHAR ON SCH	REEN
	CE38:			38	* VOLAT	ILE:	NOTHING	
	CE38:			39	* CALLS	:	SCREENIT	
Sur-	CE38:			40	******	****	*******	*****
	CE38:			41	*			
	CE38:		CE38	42	STORCHA	R EO	U *	
	CE38:48			43		PHA		SAVE AC
	CE39:24	32		44		BTT	INVELC	NORMAL OR INVERSE?
	CE38:30	02	CESE	45		BMT	STOR2	=>NORMAL
	CE3D.20	75	GLOT	45		AND	#S7F	inverse it
-	CESD:25	11	OFSE	40	STOP?	FOU	*	, HIVEISE IC
	CEDE:	70	CE	4/	SIUKZ	TCD	STOPTT	1-)do 1+11
	CESE:20	10	C.E.	40		DIA	SIUKII	
	GE42:00			49	OPU	PLA		, RESTORE AC
	CE43:00			50	DEV	KID	and a star of a star of a star of a star of a star	بله بالد بالد بالد بالد بالد بالد بالد بالد
	CE44:			51	******	****		*****
14	CE44:			52	* NAME	:	PICK	TRACK CONTRACT
	CE44:			53	* FUNCT	ION:	GET A CHAR	FROM SCREEN
	CE44:			54	* INPUT	:	Y=CH POSITI	ION
1.3	CE44:			55	* OUTPU	т :	AC=CHARACTI	ER
	CE44:			56	* VOLAT	ILE:	NOTHING	
	CE44:			57	* CALLS	:	SCREENIT	
	CE44:			58	******	****	********	*****
	CE44:			59	*			
	CE44:B1	28		60	PICK	LDA	(BASL),Y	;get 40 column character
	CE46:2C	$1 \mathrm{F}$	CO	61		BIT	RD80VID	;80 columns?
	CE49:10	19	CE64	62		BPL	PICK3	;=>no, do text shift
	CE4B:8D	01	CO	63		STA	SET80COL	;force 80STORE for 80 columns
	CE4E:84	2A		64		STY	BAS2L	temp store for position
	CE50:98			65		TYA		divide CH by two
	CE51:45	20		66		EOR	WNDLFT	:C=l if char in main RAM
	CE53:6A	4.0		67		ROR	A	get low bit into carry
	CE54 : BO	04	CE5A	68		BCS	PICKI	:=>store in main memory
-	CE56+AD	55	CO	60		LDA	TYTPACE?	else switch in nage ?
	CE50.09	20	00	70		TNV	TUTTUONE	for odd left aux bytee
	CE51.00			71	PTCVI	TVA		divide position by 2
EU.	CESP./A			70	LICKI	TCD	۸	and use carry se
30	CESC: AQ			72		NGL	n	induse carry de
	UEDU: Að			13		IAI		, page indicator

- North Con

CE5D:B1	28		74	PICK2	LDA	(BASL),Y	;get that char
CE5F:2C	54	CO	75		BIT	TXTPAGE1	;flip to page 1
CE62:A4	2A		76		LDY	BAS2L	
CE64:2C	1E	CO	77	PICK3	BIT	ALTCHARSE	I :only allow mouse text
CE67:10	06	CE6F	78		BPL	PICK4	:if alternate character set
CE69:C9	20		79		CMP	#\$20	
CE68:B0	02	CE6F	80		BCS	PTCK4	
CE6D:09	40	U.S.U.L	81		ORA	#\$40	
CE6F:60	10		82	PTCK4	RTS	<i>"</i> 4 10	
CE70:			83	*	1110		
CE70.			84	******	****	*****	****
CE70:			85	* NAME		STORIT	
CE70.			86	* FUNCT	ron.	STOPE CHAP	
0570.			97	* INDUT	LUN.	ACashan far	
CETO:			00	* INFUI		AC-Char Ion	t store
CE70:			00		1	Z=nigh bit	L OI CHAR
GE70:			09	*		I=CH PUSI	TION
CE/U:			90	* 00120.		AC=CHAR (P.	LGK)
CE/0:			91	* VOLAT	LLE:	NOTHING	
CE/0:			92	* CALLS	:	NOTHING	
CE/0:			93	*******	****	**********	******
CE/0:			94	*			
CE/0:48	_		95	STORIT	PHA		;save char
CE71:29	FF		96		AND	#SFF	; if high bit set
CE/3:30	16	CE8B	97		BMI	STORE1	;=>not mouse text
CE75:AD	FB	04	98		LDA	MODE	; is mouse text enabled?
CE78:6A			99		ROR	A	;use carry as flag
CE79:68			100		PLA		;and restore char
CE7A:48			101		PHA		;need to save it too
CE7B:90	OE	CE8B	102		BCC	STORE1	
CE7D:2C	1E	CO	103		BIT	ALTCHARSE	I ;only do mouse text if
CE80:10	09	CE8B	104		BPL	STORE1	;alt char set switched in
CE82:49	40		105		EOR	#\$40	;do mouse shift
CE84:2C	AC	CE	106		BIT	HEX60	; is it in proper range?
CE87:F0	02	CE8B	107		BEQ	STORE1	;=>yes, leave it
CE89:49	40		108		EOR	#\$40	;else shift it back
CE8B:			109	*			
CE8B:2C	1 F	CO	110	STORE1	BIT	RD80VID	;80 columns?
CE8E:10	1 D	CEAD	111		BPL	STOR40	;=>no, 40 columns
CE90:8D	01	CO	112		STA	SET80COL	;force 80STORE for 80 columns
CE93:48			113		PHA		;save shifted character
CE94:84	2A		114		STY	BAS2L	;temp storage
CE96:98			115		TYA		;get position
CE97:45	20		116		EOR	WNDLFT	;C=l if char in main RAM
CE99:4A			117		LSR	A	A CONTRACTOR OF
CE9A:BO	04	CEAO	118		BCS	STORE2	:=>ves. main RAM
CE9C:AD	55	CO	119		LDA	TXTPAGE2	else flip in main RAM
CE9F:C8			120		INY		do this for odd left bytes
CEA0:98			121	STORE2	TYA		:get position
CEAL:4A			122		LSR	A	and divide it by 2
CEA2 : 48			123		TAY	A.D.	,
CEA3:68			124	STORTT?	PT.A		restore acc
CEA4 . 91	28		125	010KI12	STA	(BASL) V	save to screen
CEAG.AD	5%	CO	126		IDA	TYTPACEI	flin to page 1
CEAO . AL	24	00	127		LDY	BACOT	silly to page i
CLA7: A4	LA		121		LUI	DASZL	

Ai	opend	ix I:	Monitor	ROM	Listings
----	-------	-------	---------	-----	----------

ALC: NO								
Recent	CEAB:68			128		PLA		;restore true Acc
	CEAC:60			129	HEX60	RTS		;and exit
	CEAD:			130	*			
11	CEAD:91	28		131	STOR40	STA	(BASL).Y	:quick 40 column store
10	CEAF:68			132		PLA		restore real char
	CEBO:60			133		PTS		jiebeore rear onar
	CEDU.00			135	******	*****	******	*****
_	CED1:			125	+ -		FROOM	
di la	CEBI:			135	* NAME	:	ESCON	CONDEL OUDCOD
	CEBI:			130	* FUNCI	ION:	TURN UN	ESCAPE CURSOR
	CEBI:			137	* INPUT	:	NONE	
	CEB1:			138	* OUTPU	T :	'CHAR'=OR	IGINAL CHAR
1	CEB1:			139	* VOLAT	ELE:	NOTHING	
1	CEB1:			140	* CALLS	:	PICK, STOR	CHAR
To other states and	CEB1:			141	******	****	******	******
	CEB1:			142	*			
	CEB1:		CEB1	143	ESCON	EQU	*	
	CEB1:48			144		PHA		:SAVE AC
-Harris	CEB2:98			145		TYA		: AND Y
	CEB3:48			146		PHA		,
-	CEBJ . 40	70	0.5	147		IDV	OUDCH	·CFT CH
ARE .	CEB4.AC	1.1.	CE	140		ICD	DICK	CET OPICINAL CHARACTER
	CEB/:20	44	CE	140		JOK	FICK	GET ONIGINAL CHARACIER
	CEBA:OD	/ D	00	149		SIA	UNAR HORO	; AND REPEMBER FOR ESCOFF
	CEBD:29	80		150		AND	# \$80	SAVE NORMAL/INVERSE BII
The second	CEBF:49	AB		151		EOR	#ŞAB	;MAKE II AN INVERSE '+'
· Marine	CEC1:4C	CD	CE	152		JMP	ESCRET	;RETURN VIA SIMILAR CODE
Control of the local of the loc	CEC4:			153	******	****	*******	*******
	CEC4:			154	* NAME	:	ESCOFF	
- HE	CEC4:			155	* FUNCI	'ION:	TURN OFF	'ESCAPE' CURSOR
	CEC4:			156	* INPUT	:	'CHAR'=OR	IGINAL CHAR
	CEC4:			157	* OUTPU	T :	NONE	
	CEC4:			158	* VOLAT	ILE:	NOTHING	
Concession of Co	CEC4:			159	* CALLS	: :	STORCHAR	
	CEC4:			160	******	****	********	*****
	CEC4:			161	*			
	CEC4 :		CEC4	162	ESCOFE	FOII	*	
	CEC4 : 48		0101	163	500011	PHA		·SAVE AC
10 - 2	CEC5:98			164		TVA		· AND Y
	000.00			165		DUA		, mb I
COMPANY,	0007.40	70	05	165		TDV	OUDCH	OPT OU
	CEC/ AC	70	05	100		LDI	OURCH	OFT OPICINAL CUADACTED
-	CECA: AD	/D	00	101	ROODER	LDA	CHAR	UCED BY RECON
ANT	CECD:	70	CECD	108	ESCRET	LQU	C TODIT	USED BI ESCON
No. of Concession, Name	CECD:20	10	CE	169		JSR	STORIT	; EXACILY AS II WAS
	CED0:68			170		PLA		; RESTORE Y
CONTRACTOR OF TAXABLE PARTY.	CED1:A8			171		TAY		
AT B	CED2:68			172		PLA		; AND AC
1 8	CED3:60			173		RTS		
	CED4:			174	******	****	******	*****
	CED4:			175	* NAME	:	PSETUP	
	CED4:			176	* FUNCT	ION:	SETUP ZP	FOR PASCAL
	CED4:			177	* INPUT	:	NONE	
	CED4:			178	* OUTPI	T :	NONE	
	CED4:			179	* VOLAT	ILE:	AC	
	CED4 :			180	* CALLS		NOTHING	
1000	CED4 ·			181	******	****	*******	*****
and the second se	012041			101				

182 * CED4: CED4 CED4: 183 PSETUP EQU * CED4:20 71 CD 184 JSR FULL80 ;SET FULL 80COL WINDOW CED7:A9 FF 185 IS80 LDA #255 STA INVFLG CED9:85 32 :ASSUME NORMAL MODE 186 187 * CEDB: CEDB:AD FB 04 188 LDA MODE CEDE:29 04 189 #M. VMODE AND CEEO:FO 02 CEE4 190 BEQ PSETUPRET ;=>IT'S NORMAL LSR INVFLG MAKE IT INVERSE CEE2:46 32 191 192 * CEE4: CEE4: CEE4 193 PSETUPRET EQU * CEE4:AD 7B 07 194 LDA OLDBASL ;SET UP BASE ADDRESS CEE7:85 28 195 STA BASL CEE9: AD FB 07 196 OLDBASH LDA CEEC:85 29 197 BASH STA ;get user's cursor vertical CEEE:AD FB 05 OURCV 198 LDA CEF1:85 25 199 STA CV ; and set it up CEF3:60 200 RTS CEF4: 202 * CEF4: 203 * COPYROM is called when the video firmware is CEF4: 204 * initialized. If the language card is switched CEF4: 205 \star in for reading, it copies the F8 ROM to the CEF4: CEF4: 206 * language card and restores the state of the CEF4: 207 * language card. CEF4: 208 * CEF4:2C 12 CO 209 COPYROM BIT RDLCRAM ; is the LC switched in? CEF7:10 3D CF36 BPL ROMOK ;=>no, do nothing 210 CEF9:A9 06 #GOODE8 211 LDA ;yes, check \$F8 RAM F8VERSION ; does it match? CEFB:CD B3 FB 212 CMP CEFE:FO 36 **CF36** 213 BEQ ROMOK ;=> assum ROM is there CF00:A2 03 214 ;indicate bank 2, RAM write enabled LDX #3 CF02:2C 11 CO 215 BIT RDLCBNK2 ; is it bank 2? CF09 CF05:30 02 216 BANK2 ;=>yes, we were right BMI ;no, bank 1, RAM write enabled CE07:A2 OB 217 LDX #SB F8VERSION ;write to see if LC is CF09:8D B3 FB 218 BANK2 STA CF0C:2C 80 CO 219 BIT \$C080 ;write protected (read RAM) F8VERSION ;did it change? CFOF: AD B3 FB 220 LDA CF12:C9 06 #GOODF8 221 CMP CF14:F0 01 **CF17** 222 BEQ WRTENBL ;=>yes, write enabled CF16:E8 223 ;else indicate write protect INX CF17:2C 81 CO 224 WRTENBL BIT \$C081 ;read ROM, write RAM CF1A:2C 81 CO \$C081 ;twice is nice 225 BIT CF1D:A0 00 226 LDY #\$O ;now copy ROM to RAM CF1F:A9 F8 227 LDA #SF8 CF21:85 37 228 STA CSWH ;hooks set later CF23:84 36 229 STY CSWL 230 COPYROM2 LDA (CSWL),Y CF25:B1 36 ;get a byte (CSWL),Y CF27:91 36 231 STA ; and move it CF29:C8 232 INY COPYROM2 CF2A:DO F9 **CF25** 233 BNE CF2C:E6 37 234 INC CSWH ;next page CF2E:DO F5 CF25 235 BNE COPYROM2 ;finish copy CF30:BD 80 CO 236 LDA \$C080,x ; read RAM 237 CF33:BD 80 CO LDA \$C080,x CF36:60 238 ROMOK RTS ; done with ROM copy

0000:	0000	1	TEST	EQU	0						
0000:		2		LST	On A	V					
0000:	0001	3	TROTEST	EOU	1						
0000:	0001	4	11021001	MSB	ON		SET	THEM HI	BTTS		
0000:	0000	5		DO	TEST		, 0111	LIDIT ILL			
0000.	0000	6	FROPC	FOU	\$1800)					
5		7	TOADR	FOU	\$2000	, ,	For	cotting	DD# 1	hooks	
5		0	TUADR	EQU	\$2000		; 101	setting	FRP 1	HOOKS	
5		0	CIURG	EQU	\$2100	,					
5		10	CSORG	EQU	\$2300	, ,					
5		10	COURG	EQU	\$2000)					
0000:	10000	11	20020	ELSE	0 2000						
0000:	F800	12	FOORG	EQU	\$1000	,					
0000:	C100	13	CIORG	EQU	SCIUC	2					
0000:	C300	14	CBORG	EQU	\$0300)					
0000:	C800	15	CBORG	EQU	\$C800)					
0000:		16		FIN							
0000:		2	******	****	*****	*****	*****	****			
0000:		3	*								
0000:		4	* APPLE	II							
0000:		5	* MONITO	DR II							
0000:		6	*								
0000:		7	* COPYR	IGHT	1978.	1981.	1984	BY			
0000:		8	* APPLE	COMP	UTER.	INC.					
0000:		9	*								
0000:		10	* ALL R	IGHTS	RESER	VED					
0000:		11	*	LUILLU	CO D DI						
0000:		12	* S. WO:	ZNTAK			197	7			
0000:		13	* A. BAI	IM			197	7			
0000:		14	* JOHN	4		NOV	197	8			
0000:		15	* R. AIII	RTCCH	ТО	SEP	198	1			
0000:		16	* F. BEI	FRNIN	ĸ	our	198	4			
0000:		17	*	JICH LIN			190				
0000.	0001	18	APPLE2E	FOII	1		·CON	D ASSM/1	RADO	81	
0000.	0001	19	*	100	-		,001	10 1100117	cidio y		
0000:		20	*****	*****	*****	*****	*****	****			
F800:	F800	21		OPC	FROR						
F800.	2000	21		ORI	\$200C	7					
F800.	2000	22	******	*****	*****	*****	****	***			
F800.		24	*								
F800 ·		25	* 7000 1	2000	Fauste	C					
F800 .		25	* 2010	age	square	5					
F800.	0000	20	TOCO	FOU	600		Interat	ar for	utoat	+ From	diale
F000:	0000	20	LOCI	ROU	\$00		, vect	01 101 2	aucosi	LIIOM	UISK
F000:	0001	20	LUCI	EQU	\$01		.1.65	ada a			
F800:	0020	20	UNDUDTU	FOU	\$20		, Lei L	eage of	L Lexi	c windo	W
F000:	0021	21	WNDWDIH	EQU	\$21 600		;wiat	n or ter	CL WII	wobii	
F800:	0022	20	WNDIOP	EQU	\$22		;cop	or text	winde	w	
F800:	0023	32	WNDBIM	EQU	523		; DOLL	om+1 of	text	window	
F800:	0024	33	CH	EQU	924		;curs	or nori:	conta.	r posit	100
F800:	0023	34	CV	EQU	\$45		curs	or vert	ical I	posició	1
1800:	0026	35	GBASL	EQU	520		;10-r	es graph	ilcs l	base ad	ar.
F800:	0027	36	GBASH	EQU	\$27			¥			
F800:	0028	37	BASL	EQU	\$28		;text	base ad	idress	S	

and the second

and the second

and the second

and the second

No.

States of the second se

Ta

No.

N. Com

T

No.

Appendix I: Monitor ROM Listings

Appendix	I: Monitor	ROM	Listings
----------	------------	-----	----------

F800:	002C	41	H2	EQU	\$2C	;temp for lo-res graphics
F800:	002C	42	LMNEM	EQU	\$2C	;temp for mnemonic decoding
F800:	002D	43	V2	EQU	\$2D	;temp for lo-res graphics
F800:	002D	44	RMNEM	EQU	\$2D	;temp for mnemonic decoding
F800:	002E	45	MASK	EQU	\$2E	;color mask for lo-res gr.
F800:	002E	46	CHKSUM	EOU	\$2E	temp for opcode decode
F800:	002E	47	FORMAT	EOU	\$2E	temp for opcode decode
F800:	002F	48	LASTIN	EOU	S2F	:temp for tape read csum
F800:	002F	49	LENGTH	EOU	\$2F	temp for opcode decode
F800:	0030	50	COLOR	FOU	\$30	color for lo-res graphics
F800 :	0031	51	MODE	FOU	\$31	:Monitor mode
F800 ·	0032	52	INVELC	FOU	\$32	<pre>inormal/inverse(/flash)</pre>
F800:	0033	53	PROMPT	EOU	\$33	prompt character
F800.	0034	54	VSAV	FOU	\$34	prompt character
F800.	0035	55	VSAVI	FOIL	\$35	tomp for V register
F800.	0035	56	CSUI	FOU	\$36	teharacter output book
F000.	0030	57	COWL	FOU	\$30	, character output nook
F000:	0037	50	COWH	EQU	166	takanastan daput kask
F800:	0030	50	K.SWL	EQU	000	;character input nook
F800:	0039	59	KSWH	EQU	939	
F800:	OUSA	00	PCL	EQU	\$JA 000	;temp for program counter
F800:	0038	61	PCH	EQU	\$3B	11 1F
F800:	0030	62	ALL	EQU	\$30	;AI-A5 are Monitor temps
F800:	003D	63	AIH	EQU	\$3D	
F800:	003E	64	A2L	EQU	\$3E	
F800:	003F	65	A2H	EQU	\$3F	
F800:	0040	66	A3L	EQU	\$40	
F800:	0041	67	A3H	EQU	\$41	
F800:	0042	68	A4L	EQU	\$42	
F800:	0043	69	A4H	EQU	\$43	
F800:	0044	70	A5L	EQU	\$44	
F800:	0044	71	MACSTAT	EQU	\$44	;machine state for break
F800:	0045	72	A5H	EQU	\$45	
F800:	0045	73	ACC	EQU	\$45	;Acc after break (destroys A5H)
F800:	0046	74	XREG	EQU	\$46	;X reg after break
F800:	0047	75	YREG	EQU	\$47	;Y reg after break
F800:	0048	76	STATUS	EQU	\$48	;P reg after break
F800:	0049	77	SPNT	EQU	\$49	;SP after break
F800:	004E	78	RNDL	EQU	\$4E	;random counter low
F800:	004F	79	RNDH	EQU	\$4F	;random counter high
F800:		80	*			
F800:	0095	81	PICK	EQU	\$95	;CONTROL-U character
F800:		82	*			
F800:	0200	83	IN	EOU	\$0200	input buffer for GETLN
F800:		84	*	1.0000000000	1. 1991-14-12-19-1	
F800:		85	* Page	3 vec	tors	
F800:		86	*			
F800:	03F0	87	BRKV	EOU	\$03F0	vectors here after break
F800:	03F2	88	SOFTEV	EOU	\$03F2	vector for warm start
F800:	03F4	89	PWREDIIP	EOU	\$03F4	THIS MUST = EOR #\$A5 OF SOFTEV+1
F800.	0355	90	AMPERV	FOU	\$03F5	APPLESOFT & EXIT VECTOR
F800.	0358	91	USPADP	FOU	SOBES	Applacoft USP function vector
1000.	0310	71	USRADK	EQU	40510	, appresent our runceron vector

EQU \$29

EQU \$2B

EQU

\$2A

;temp base for scrolling

F800:

F800:

F800:

0029

002A

002B

38 BASH

39 BAS2L

40 BAS2H

0	.4	17	
- 1	4	1	
	-	- A - I	

F800: 03FE 93 IROLOC EQU \$03FE ;Maskable interrupt x F800: 0400 95 LINE1 EQU \$0400 ;first line of text s F800: 07F8 96 MSLOT EQU \$07F8 ;current user of \$C8 F800: 0000 98 D0 TEST ;surrent user of \$C8 F800: 0000 98 D0 TEST ;surrent user of \$C8 F800: 0000 101 FIN ;surrent user of \$C8 F800: 0000 103 KBD EQU \$C000 F800: 101 FIN ;suap out slots for f F800: C006 104 SLOTCXROM EQU \$C006 ;swap out slots for f F800: C017 105 INTCXROM EQU \$C010 ;swap out slots for f F800: C016 KBDSTRB EQU \$C030 ;swap out slots for f F800: C050 110 TXTCLR EQU \$C051 ;swap out slots for f F800: C051 111 TXTST EQU \$C051 ;swap out slots for f F800: C055 110 TXTST EQU \$C051 ;swap out slots for f F800:	00):		03FB	92	NMI	EQU	\$03FB	;NMI vector
P800: 94 * P800: 0769 95 LINE1 EQU \$0400 ;first line of text s P800: 97 *	00):		O3FE	93	IRQLOC	EQU	\$03FE	;Maskable interrupt vector
F800: 0400 95 LINE1 EQU \$0400 ;first line of text s F800: 07F8 96 MSLOT EQU \$07F8 ;current user of \$C8 F800: 0000 98 D0 TEST ;surrent user of \$C8 F800: 0000 99 ELSE ;surrent user of \$C8 F800: 101 FIN ;swap out slots ;swap out slots for f F800: C006 103 KBD EQU \$C000 ;swap out slots for f F800: C010 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C010 ;swap out slots for f F800: C010 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C010 ;swap out slots for f F800: C010 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C010 ;swap out slots for f F800: C030 109 SPKR EQU \$C020 F800: C051 111 TXTSET EQU \$C050 F800: C055 113 MIXSET EQU \$C055 F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C056 F800: C056 118 ETANO EQU \$C056 <td< td=""><td>00</td><td>):</td><td></td><td></td><td>94</td><td>*</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>	00):			94	*			
F800: 07F8 96 MSLOT EQU \$07F8 ;current user of \$C8 F800: 97 * F800: 99 ELSE F800: 000 98 D0 TEST F800: 000 100 IOAR EQU \$C000 F800: 100 IOAR EQU \$C000 F800: 000 102 * F800: cono io2 F800: C006 104 SLDTCXROM EQU \$C000 ;swap out slots for f F800: C010 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C010 ;swap out slots for f F800: C020 108 TAPECOT EQU \$C020 ;swap out slots for f F800: C051 110 TXTCLR EQU \$C030 F800: C051 111 TXTSET EQU \$C051 F800: C054 114 LOWSCR EQU \$C055 F800: C056 F800: C056 F800: C057 F800: C056 F800: C057 F800: C056 F800: C056 F800: <td< td=""><td>00</td><td>: 0</td><td></td><td>0400</td><td>95</td><td>LINE1</td><td>EOU</td><td>\$0400</td><td>first line of text screen</td></td<>	00	: 0		0400	95	LINE1	EOU	\$0400	first line of text screen
F800: 97 * F800: 90 9 F800: 99 ELSE F800: 101 FIN F800: 102 * F800: C000 103 KBD EQU \$C000 F800: C006 104 SLOTCXROM EQU \$C006 ;enable slots 1-7 F800: C007 105 INTCXROM EQU \$C007 ;swap out slots for f F800: C010 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C010 F800: C010 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C020 F800: C02 108 TAPEOUT EQU \$C020 F800: C030 109 SPKR EQU \$C030 F800: C051 111 TXTSET EQU \$C050 F800: C051 111 TXTSET EQU \$C051 F800: C053 113 MIXSET EQU \$C055 F800: C054 114 LOWSCR EQU \$C054 F800: C055 115 HISCR EQU \$C056 F800: C055 114 HISCR EQU \$C056 F800: C055 113 HISCR EQU \$C056 F800: C055 112 CLRANC EQU \$C056 F800: C055 112 CLRANE EQU \$C056 F800: C055 112 CLRANE EQU \$C056 F800: C055 123 CLRANE EQU \$C056 F800: C055 123 CLRANE EQU \$C056 F800: C056 124 SETANI EQU \$C056 F800: C056 125 CLRANE EQU \$C056 </td <td>00</td> <td>):</td> <td></td> <td>07F8</td> <td>96</td> <td>MSLOT</td> <td>EOU</td> <td>\$07F8</td> <td>current user of \$C8 space</td>	00):		07F8	96	MSLOT	EOU	\$07F8	current user of \$C8 space
F800: 0000 98 D0 TEST F800: C000 IOADR EQU \$COOO F800: IO1 FIN F800: COOO IO2 * F800: COOO IO3 KBD EQU \$COOO F800: COOO IO3 KBD EQU \$COOO F800: COOO IO3 KBD EQU \$COOO F800: COOT IO5 INTCXROM EQU \$COIO ;swap out slots for f F800: COIO IO3 KBD FRU \$COIO ;swap out slots for f F800: COIO IO3 KBD FRU \$CO30 ;swap out slots for f F800: COIO IO7 RD80VID EQU \$COIO ;swap out slots for f F800: COIO IO7 RD80VID EQU \$CO30 F F800: COS1 II1 TXTSET EQU \$CO30 F F800: CO54 II4 LowSCR EQU \$CO55 F800: CO55 II5 HISCR EQU \$CO55 F800: CO54 II6 LORES EQU \$CO55 <	00):		7177	97	*		1.4.5.5.1.5.5.	Jeese and the feature
F800: 99 ELSE F800: 101 FIN F800: 101 FIN F800: 102 * F800: C006 103 KBD EQU \$C000 F800: C006 104 \$LOTCXROM EQU \$C006 ;enable slots 1-7 F800: C007 105 INTCXROM EQU \$C007 ;swap out slots for f F800: C010 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C010 ;swap out slots for f F800: C020 108 TAPEOUT EQU \$C020 ;swap out slots for f F800: C030 109 SPKR EQU \$C030 F800: C051 111 TXTSET EQU \$C051 F800: F800: C052 112 MIXCLR EQU \$C054 F800: F800: C055 115 HISCR EQU \$C054 F800: F800: C055 116 LORES EQU \$C055 F800: C055 F800: C055 116 HIRCR EQU \$C057 F800: C058 118 SETANO EQU \$C057 F800: C055 112 CLRAN EQU \$C057 F800: C056 F800: C055 F800: C055 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C056 F800: C057 <td>00</td> <td>3.</td> <td></td> <td>0000</td> <td>98</td> <td></td> <td>DO</td> <td>TEST</td> <td></td>	00	3.		0000	98		DO	TEST	
F800: C000 IOD IOADR EQU \$C000 F800: IO1 FIN F800: C000 IO3 KBD EQU \$C000 F800: C001 IO6 KBDSTRB EQU \$C010 F800: C010 IO6 KADSTRB EQU \$C010 F800: C010 IO6 KADSTRB EQU \$C010 F800: C050 I10 TXTCLR EQU \$C030 F800: C051 I11 TXTSET EQU \$C051 F800: C053 I13 MIXSET EQU \$C054 F800: C055 I16 LORES EQU \$C055 F800: C057 I17 HIRES EQU \$C057 </td <td>00</td> <td>3.</td> <td></td> <td>0000</td> <td>00</td> <td></td> <td>FISE</td> <td>1001</td> <td></td>	00	3.		0000	00		FISE	1001	
F800: 101 FIN F800: 102 * F800: 104 SLOTCXROM EQU \$C000 F800: C006 104 SLOTCXROM EQU \$C007 F800: C007 105 INTCXROM EQU \$C016 F800: C017 105 INTCXROM EQU \$C017 F800: C017 107 RB80VID EQU \$C017 F800: C017 107 RB80VID EQU \$C017 F800: C020 108 TAPEOUT EQU \$C020 F800: C050 110 TXTCLR EQU \$C050 F800: C051 111 TXTSET EQU \$C051 F800: C052 112 MIXCLR EQU \$C053 F800: C054 114 LOWSCR EQU \$C054 F800: C055 115 HISCR EQU \$C056 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C057 F800: C058 118 SETANO EQU \$C058 F800: C058 118 SETANO EQU \$C058 F800: C055 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C055 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C055 124 SETAN1 EQU \$C050 F800: C055 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C055 124 SETAN1 EQU \$C050 F800: C055 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C050 F800: C056 126 CLAPEIN EQU \$C050 F800: </td <td>00</td> <td>3.</td> <td></td> <td>0000</td> <td>100</td> <td>TOADD</td> <td>FOU</td> <td>\$0000</td> <td></td>	00	3.		0000	100	TOADD	FOU	\$0000	
F800: 101 F1N F800: C000 103 KBD EQU \$C000 F800: C006 104 SLOTCXROM EQU \$C006 ;emable slots 1-7 F800: C007 105 INTCXROM EQU \$C007 ;swap out slots for f F800: C010 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C010 F800: C010 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C010 F800: C010 106 KADSTRB EQU \$C010 F800: C010 106 KADSTRB EQU \$C010 F800: C010 107 KTACLR EQU \$C020 F800: C051 111 TXTSET EQU \$C051 F800: C054 114 LowSCR EQU \$C055 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C054 F800: C056 114 LowSCR EQU \$C055 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 F800: C057 117	00	2.		0000	100	LOADK	ETN	90000	
F800: C000 102 KB EQU \$C000 ;enable slots 1-7 F800: C007 105 INTCXROM EQU \$C007 ;swap out slots for f F800: C010 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C017 ;swap out slots for f F800: C010 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C017 ;swap out slots for f F800: C020 108 TAPEOUT EQU \$C017 ;swap out slots for f F800: C020 108 TAPEOUT EQU \$C020 ;swap out slots for f F800: C050 110 TXTCLR EQU \$C050 ;swap out slots for f F800: C051 111 TXTSET EQU \$C051 ;swap out slots for f F800: C054 114 LOWSCR EQU \$C054 ;swap out slots for f F800: C055 115 HISCR EQU \$C055 ;smap f F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 ;smap f F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C057 ;smap f F800: C058 118 SETAND EQU \$C058 ;smap f F800: C056 120 SETANI EQU \$C058 ;smap f F800: C056 123 CLRANA EQU \$C058 ;smap f F800: C056 124 SETANI EQU \$C058 ;smap f	00				101	*	LTN		
F8001 C000 103 KBD EQU \$C000 ;enable slots 1-7 F8001 C007 105 INTCXROM EQU \$C007 ;swap out slots for f F8001 C011 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C010 ;swap out slots for f F8001 C010 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C010 ;swap out slots for f F8001 C020 108 TAPEOUT EQU \$C020 ;swap out slots for f F8001 C030 109 SFKR EQU \$C030 F8002 C050 110 TXTCLR EQU \$C051 F8003 C053 113 MIXSET EQU \$C054 F8004 C055 115 HISCR EQU \$C055 F8005 C055 115 HISCR EQU \$C056 F8001 C055 115 HISCR EQU \$C057 F8001 C055 117 HIRES EQU \$C058 F8001 C056 116 LORES EQU \$C057 F8001 C056 117 HIRES EQU \$C058 F8001 C056 120 SC058 F8001 C055	00			0000	102	VDD	FOU	0000	
F800: C006 104 SLOTCXROM EQU \$C007 ;swap out slots for f F800: C010 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C010 ;swap out slots for f F800: C020 108 TAPEOUT EQU \$C01F ;swap out slots for f F800: C020 108 TAPEOUT EQU \$C020 ;swap out slots for f F800: C030 109 SPKR EQU \$C030 F800: C051 111 TXTSET EQU \$C050 F800: C052 112 MIXCLR EQU \$C051 F800: C055 113 MIXSET EQU \$C055 F800: C055 115 HISCR EQU \$C056 F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C057 F800: C058 118 SETAN0 EQU \$C056 F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C057 F800: C058 118 SETAN0 EQU \$C058 F800: C057 120 SETAN1 EQU \$C056 F800: C056 120 SETAN1 EQU \$C056 F800: C056	00			0000	105	KDD	EQU	\$0000	11 -1 - 1 7
F800: C010 105 INICKROM EQU \$C017 ;swap out slots for f F800: C011 107 RD80VID EQU \$C017 ;swap out slots for f F800: C020 108 TAPEOUT EQU \$C020 \$C030 F800: C050 100 SPKR EQU \$C030 F800: C050 110 TXTCLR EQU \$C050 F800: C051 111 TXTSET EQU \$C052 F800: C053 113 MIXSET EQU \$C052 F800: C054 114 LOWSCR EQU \$C055 F800: C057 115 HISCR EQU \$C056 F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C056 F800: C057 119 CLRANO EQU \$C056 F800: C058 118 SETAN1 EQU \$C056 F800: C055 120 SETAN1 EQU \$C056 F800: C056 120 SETAN1 EQU \$C056 F800: C056 122 SETAN2 EQU \$C056 F800: C055 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C0	00):		0000	104	SLOICAR	UM EQU	\$0000	;enable slots 1-/
F800: C010 106 KBDSTRB EQU \$C010 F800: C01F 107 RB6VUT EQU \$C01F F800: C020 108 TAPEOUT EQU \$C020 F800: C030 109 SPKR EQU \$C030 F800: C050 110 TXTCLR EQU \$C050 F800: C051 111 TXTSTF EQU \$C051 F800: C054 114 LOWSCR EQU \$C054 F800: C055 115 HISCR EQU \$C056 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C057 F800: C058 118 SETAN0 EQU \$C057 F800: C056 120 SETAN1 EQU \$C058 F800: C056 120 SETAN2 EQU \$C056 F800: C056 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C057 F800: C056 124 SETAN2 EQU <td>00</td> <td>):</td> <td></td> <td>0007</td> <td>105</td> <td>INTCARO</td> <td>MEQU</td> <td>\$6007</td> <td>;swap out slots for firmware</td>	00):		0007	105	INTCARO	MEQU	\$6007	;swap out slots for firmware
F800: C01F 107 RD80VID EQU \$C020 F800: C020 108 TAPEOUT EQU \$C020 F800: C030 109 SPKR EQU \$C030 F800: C050 110 TXTCLR EQU \$C050 F800: C051 111 TXTSET EQU \$C052 F800: C053 113 MIXSET EQU \$C054 F800: C055 115 HISCR EQU \$C056 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C057 F800: C057 119 CLRAND EQU \$C058 F800: C058 112 CLRAND EQU \$C056 F800: C055 123 CLRAN1 EQU \$C056 F800: C055 123 CLRAN1 EQU \$C057 F800: C055 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C056 F800: C056 124 SETAN3	00):		C010	106	KBDSTRB	EQU	\$C010	
F800: CO20 108 TAPEOUT EQU \$CO20 F800: CO30 109 SPKR EQU \$CO30 F800: CO50 110 TXTCLR EQU \$CO50 F800: CO51 111 TXTCLR EQU \$CO50 F800: CO51 111 TXTCLR EQU \$CO51 F800: CO52 112 MIXCLR EQU \$CO52 F800: CO53 113 MIXSET EQU \$CO54 F800: CO55 115 HISCR EQU \$CO55 F800: CO56 116 LORES EQU \$CO57 F800: CO56 116 LORES EQU \$CO57 F800: CO58 118 SETAN0 EQU \$CO58 F800: CO51 120 SETAN1 EQU \$CO55 F800: CO52 123 CLRAN EQU \$CO56 F800: CO55 123 CLRAN EQU \$CO57 F800: CO56 124 SE	00):		COIF	107	RDSOVID	EQU	ŞCUIF	
F800: C030 109 SPRR EQU \$C030 F800: C050 110 TXTCLR EQU \$C050 F800: C051 111 TXTSET EQU \$C051 F800: C053 113 MIXSET EQU \$C053 F800: C054 114 LWSCR EQU \$C054 F800: C054 114 LWSCR EQU \$C055 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C057 F800: C058 118 SETAN0 EQU \$C059 F800: C056 120 SETAN1 EQU \$C059 F800: C056 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C056 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C050 F800: C056 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C050 F800: C0561 126 <td>00</td> <td>):</td> <td></td> <td>C020</td> <td>108</td> <td>TAPEOUT</td> <td>EQU</td> <td>\$C020</td> <td></td>	00):		C020	108	TAPEOUT	EQU	\$C020	
F800: C050 110 TXTCLR EQU \$C050 F800: C051 111 TXTSET EQU \$C051 F800: C052 112 MIXCLR EQU \$C052 F800: C053 113 MIXSET EQU \$C053 F800: C054 114 LOWSCR EQU \$C054 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C055 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 F800: C057 177 HIRES EQU \$C057 F800: C058 118 SETAN0 EQU \$C059 F800: C051 121 CLRAN1 EQU \$C050 F800: C050 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C051 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C050 F800: C050 123 CLRAN3 EQU \$C050 F800: C056 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C050 F800: C056 125	00):		C030	109	SPKR	EQU	\$C030	
F800: C051 111 TXTSET EQU \$C051 F800: C052 112 MIXCLR EQU \$C052 F800: C051 113 MIXSET EQU \$C053 F800: C054 114 LOWSCR EQU \$C054 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C057 F800: C059 119 CLRAN0 EQU \$C058 F800: C051 121 CLRAN1 EQU \$C050 F800: C051 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C050 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C051 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C051 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C056 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C050 F800: C056 125	00):		C050	110	TXTCLR	EQU	\$C050	
F800: C052 112 MIXCLR EQU \$C052 F800: C053 113 MIXSET EQU \$C053 F800: C054 114 LOWSCR EQU \$C054 F800: C055 115 HISCR EQU \$C055 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C057 F800: C058 118 SETANO EQU \$C058 F800: C054 120 SETANI EQU \$C05A F800: C056 122 SETANI EQU \$C05A F800: C055 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C05A F800: C055 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C05C F800: C056 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C05F F800: C056 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C060 F800: C056 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C060 F800: C070 128	00):		C051	111	TXTSET	EQU	\$C051	
F800: C053 113 MIXSET EQU \$C053 F800: C054 114 LOWSCR EQU \$C054 F800: C055 115 HISCR EQU \$C055 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C057 F800: C058 118 SETAN0 EQU \$C057 F800: C054 120 SETAN1 EQU \$C058 F800: C054 120 SETAN1 EQU \$C057 F800: C055 121 CLRAN1 EQU \$C058 F800: C055 122 SETAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C055 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C057 F800: C057 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C055 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C057 F800: C064 127 PADLO EQU \$C064 F800: C070 128<	00):		C052	112	MIXCLR	EQU	\$C052	
F800: C054 114 LOWSCR EQU \$C054 F800: C055 115 HISCR EQU \$C055 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C057 F800: C058 118 SETAN0 EQU \$C057 F800: C054 120 SETAN1 EQU \$C057 F800: C050 121 CLRAN0 EQU \$C058 F800: C050 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C050 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C051 123 CLRAN3 EQU \$C050 F800: C051 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C051 F800: C056 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C064 F800: C070 128 PTRIG EQU \$C070 F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$17C ;Restore state at IF	00):		C053	113	MIXSET	EQU	\$C053	
F800: C055 115 HISCR EQU \$C055 F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C057 F800: C058 118 SETAN0 EQU \$C059 F800: C05A 120 SETAN1 EQU \$C059 F800: C05B 121 CLRAN0 EQU \$C057 F800: C05C 122 SETAN1 EQU \$C057 F800: C05C 122 SETAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C05D 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C05F F800: C05F 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C060 F800: C060 126 TAPEIN EQU \$C060 F800: C070 128 PTRIG EQU C30RG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$17C ; Restore state at IF F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$267 <t< td=""><td>00</td><td>):</td><td></td><td>C054</td><td>114</td><td>LOWSCR</td><td>EQU</td><td>\$C054</td><td></td></t<>	00):		C054	114	LOWSCR	EQU	\$C054	
F800: C056 116 LORES EQU \$C056 F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C057 F800: C058 118 SETANO EQU \$C059 F800: C054 120 SETANI EQU \$C059 F800: C054 120 SETANI EQU \$C054 F800: C05C 122 SETANI EQU \$C050 F800: C05C 122 SETAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C05D 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C050 F800: C05E 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C050 F800: C05F 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C050 F800: C056 126 TAPEIN EQU \$C060 F800: C064 127 PADDLO EQU \$C070 F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$267 F800:	00	: C		C055	115	HISCR	EQU	\$C055	
F800: C057 117 HIRES EQU \$C057 F800: C058 118 SETANO EQU \$C058 F800: C059 119 CLRANO EQU \$C058 F800: C054 120 SETAN1 EQU \$C05A F800: C05B 121 CLRAN1 EQU \$C05B F800: C05C 122 SETAN1 EQU \$C05D F800: C05E 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C05E F800: C05F 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C05F F800: C05F 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C060 F800: C05F 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C060 F800: C060 126 TAPEIN EQU \$C060 F800: C064 127 PADDLO EQU \$C070 F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU \$C30RG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$267 F800:	00):		C056	116	LORES	EQU	\$C056	
F800: C058 118 SETANO EQU \$C058 F800: C059 119 CLRANO EQU \$C059 F800: C05A 120 SETAN1 EQU \$C058 F800: C05B 121 CLRAN1 EQU \$C05B F800: C05D 123 CLRAN1 EQU \$C05C F800: C05D 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C05D F800: C05E 124 SETAN2 EQU \$C05E F800: C05F 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C05F F800: C060 126 TAPEIN EQU \$C060 F800: C064 127 PADDLO EQU \$C060 F800: C070 128 PTRIG EQU \$C070 F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: <td>00</td> <td>: C</td> <td></td> <td>C057</td> <td>117</td> <td>HIRES</td> <td>EQU</td> <td>\$C057</td> <td></td>	00	: C		C057	117	HIRES	EQU	\$C057	
F800: C059 119 CLRANO EQU \$C059 F800: C05A 120 SETAN1 EQU \$C05A F800: C05B 121 CLRAN1 EQU \$C05A F800: C05C 122 SETAN2 EQU \$C05C F800: C05D 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C05D F800: C05F 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C05F F800: C05F 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C05F F800: C060 126 TAPEIN EQU \$C060 F800: C064 127 PADDLO EQU \$C064 F800: C070 128 PTRIG EQU \$C0064 F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$17C ;Restore state at IF F800: C47C 131 IRQFIX EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$2A1 </td <td>00</td> <td>: C</td> <td></td> <td>C058</td> <td>118</td> <td>SETANO</td> <td>EQU</td> <td>\$C058</td> <td></td>	00	: C		C058	118	SETANO	EQU	\$C058	
F800: C05A 120 SETAN1 EQU \$C05A F800: C05B 121 CLRAN1 EQU \$C05B F800: C05C 122 SETAN2 EQU \$C05C F800: C05D 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C05D F800: C05E 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C05E F800: C05F 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C05F F800: C060 126 TAPEIN EQU \$C060 F800: C064 127 PADDLO EQU \$C064 F800: C070 128 PTRIG EQU \$C0064 F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C47C 131 IRQFIX C30RG+\$17C ;Restore state at IF F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C501 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2A F800: C5AA 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2A	00	: C		C059	119	CLRANO	EQU	\$C059	
F800: CO5B 121 CLRAN1 EQU \$C05B F800: CO5C 122 SETAN2 EQU \$C05C F800: CO5D 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C05D F800: CO5E 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C05E F800: CO5E 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C05F F800: CO56 126 TAPEIN EQU \$C060 F800: CO64 127 PADDLO EQU \$C064 F800: CO70 128 PTRIG EQU \$C070 F800: CO70 128 PTRIG EQU \$C30RG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$17C ; Restore state at IF F800: C47C 131 IRQFIX EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C5D1 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2A1 F800: C5AA 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2A1 F800: C5FF 137 CLRROM EQU \$C30RG+\$2A1	00	: C		C05A	120	SETAN1	EQU	\$C05A	
F800: C05C 122 SETAN2 EQU \$C05C F800: C05D 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C05D F800: C05E 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C05E F800: C05F 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C05F F800: C056 126 TAPEIN EQU \$C060 F800: C064 127 PADDLO EQU \$C064 F800: C070 128 PTRIG EQU \$C070 F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU \$C30RG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$17C ; Restore state at IF F800: C47C 131 IRQFIX EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C501 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$201 F800: C511 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2A F800: C501 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2A F800: C54A 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2A	00	: C		CO5B	121	CLRAN1	EQU	\$C05B	
F800: C05D 123 CLRAN2 EQU \$C05D F800: C05E 124 SETAN3 EQU \$C05E F800: C05F 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C05F F800: C060 126 TAPEIN EQU \$C064 F800: C064 127 PADDLO EQU \$C064 F800: C070 128 PTRIG EQU \$C070 F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$FA ;IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$17C ;Restore state at IF F800: C47C 131 IRQFIX EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C557 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C5A 135 WITTE2 EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: CFFF 137 CLRROM EQU \$CFFF <td>00</td> <td>):</td> <td></td> <td>C05C</td> <td>122</td> <td>SETAN2</td> <td>EQU</td> <td>\$C05C</td> <td></td>	00):		C05C	122	SETAN2	EQU	\$C05C	
F800: CO5E 124 SETAN3 EQU \$CO5E F800: CO5F 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$CO5F F800: CO60 126 TAPEIN EQU \$C060 F800: CO64 127 PADDLO EQU \$C060 F800: CO70 128 PTRIG EQU \$C070 F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$17C ; Restore state at IF F800: C47C 131 IRQFIX EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C501 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C5A 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C5A 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: CFFF 137 CLRROM EQU \$CFFF F800: E000 138 BASIC EQU \$E003	00	: C		C05D	123	CLRAN2	EQU	\$C05D	
F800: C05F 125 CLRAN3 EQU \$C05F F800: C060 126 TAPEIN EQU \$C060 F800: C064 127 PADDLO EQU \$C064 F800: C070 128 PTRIG EQU \$C070 F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$17C ; Restore state at IF F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C501 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$201 F800: C501 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C511 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C5AA 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: E003 136 * * * * F800: E003 139 BASIC2 EQU	00):		C05E	124	SETAN3	EQU	\$C05E	
F800: C060 126 TAPEIN EQU \$C060 F800: C064 127 PADDLO EQU \$C064 F800: C070 128 PTRIG EQU \$C070 F800: C070 128 PTRIG EQU \$C070 F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C47C 131 IRQFIX EQU C30RG+\$17C ; Restore state at IF F800: C47C 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C501 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$201 F800: C511 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$201 F800: C501 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C5AA 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: CFFF 137 CLRROM EQU \$CFFF F800: E000 138 BASIC EQU \$E003 F800: E003 139 BASIC2 EQU \$E003 <td>00</td> <td>):</td> <td></td> <td>COSF</td> <td>125</td> <td>CLRAN3</td> <td>EQU</td> <td>\$C05F</td> <td></td>	00):		COSF	125	CLRAN3	EQU	\$C05F	
F800: C064 127 PADDLO EQU \$C064 F800: C070 128 PTRIG EQU \$C070 F800: 129 * * * F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 page \$C30RG+\$17C ; Restore state at IF F800: C47C 131 IRQFIX EQU C30RG+\$17C ; Restore state at IF F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C501 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$201 F800: C511 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C511 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2A7 F800: C501 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C5AA 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: CFFF 137 CLRROM EQU \$CFFF F800: E000 138 BASIC EQU \$E003 F800: E003 139 BASIC EQU \$E	00):		C060	126	TAPEIN	EQU	\$C060	
F800: C070 128 PTRIG EQU \$C070 F800: 129 * F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$FA; IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C47C 131 IRQFIX EQU C30RG+\$I7C; Restore state at IF F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C501 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$201 F800: C511 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C501 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C511 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C501 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C54A 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: L00 136 * * F800: E000 138 BASIC EQU \$2003 F800: E003 139 BASIC EQU \$2003 F800: 140 *	00):		C064	127	PADDLO	EQU	\$C064	
F800: 129 * F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C30RG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 page F800: C47C 131 IRQFIX EQU C30RG+\$17C ; Restore state at IF F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C501 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$201 F800: C511 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2A1 F800: C5AA 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C5AA 136 * F800: 136 * F800: CFFF 137 CLRROM EQU \$C5FFF F800: E000 138 BASIC EQU \$E000 F800: E003 139 BASIC2 EQU \$E003 F800: 140 * * F800:4A 141 PLOT LSR A ;Y-COORD/2	00):		C070	128	PTRIG	EQU	\$C070	
F800: C3FA 130 IRQ EQU C3ORG+\$FA ; IRQ entry in \$C3 pages F800: C47C 131 IRQFIX EQU C3ORG+\$17C ; Restore state at IF F800: 132 * F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C3ORG+\$267 F800: C5D1 134 XREAD EQU C3ORG+\$267 F800: C5D1 134 XREAD EQU C3ORG+\$267 F800: C5AA 135 WRITE2 EQU C3ORG+\$2AA F800: C5AA 136 * F800: I36 * F800: CFFF I37 CLRROM EQU \$C5FFF F800: E000 138 BASIC EQU \$E000 F800: E003 139 BASIC2 EQU \$E003 F800: 140 * * F800:4A 141 PLOT LSR A ;Y-COORD/2	00):			129	*			
F800: C47C 131 IRQFIX EQU C30RG+\$17C ;Restore state at IF F800: 132 * F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C5D1 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C5D1 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C5A1 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C5AA 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C5AA 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C5AA 136 * * F800: CFFF 137 CLRROM EQU \$CFFF F800: E003 139 BASIC2 EQU \$E003 F800: 140 * * * * F800:4A 141 PLOT LSR A ;Y-C00RD/2	00):		C3FA	130	IRQ	EQU	C3ORG+\$FA	;IRQ entry in \$C3 page
F800: 132 * F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C5D1 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2D1 F800: C5A 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: C5A 136 * 136 * F800: CFFF 137 CLRROM EQU \$CFFF F800: E000 138 BASIC EQU \$E000 F800: E003 139 BASIC2 EQU \$E003 F800: 140 * 141 PLOT LSR A ;Y-COORD/2	00):		C47C	131	IRQFIX	EQU	C30RG+\$17	C ;Restore state at IRQ
F800: C567 133 XHEADER EQU C30RG+\$267 F800: C5D1 134 XREAD EQU C30RG+\$2D1 F800: C5AA 135 WRITE2 EQU C30RG+\$2AA F800: 136 * F800: CFFF 137 CLRROM EQU \$CFFF F800: E000 138 BASIC EQU \$E000 F800: E003 139 BASIC2 EQU \$E003 F800: 140 * F800:4A 141 PLOT LSR A ;Y-COORD/2	00):			132	*			
F800: C5D1 134 XREAD EQU C3ORG+\$2D1 F800: C5AA 135 WRITE2 EQU C3ORG+\$2AA F800: 136 * F800: CFFF 137 CLRROM EQU \$CFFF F800: E000 138 BASIC EQU \$E000 F800: E003 139 BASIC EQU \$E003 F800: 140 * F800:4A 141 PLOT LSR A ;Y-COORD/2	00):		C567	133	XHEADER	EQU	C30RG+\$26	7
F800: C5AA 135 WRITE2 EQU C3ORG+\$2AA F800: 136 * F800: CFFF 137 CLRROM EQU \$CFFF F800: E000 138 BASIC EQU \$E000 F800: E003 139 BASIC2 EQU \$E003 F800: 140 * F800:4A 141 PLOT LSR A ;Y-COORD/2	00):		C5D1	134	XREAD	EQU	C3ORG+\$2D	1
F800: 136 * F800: CFFF F800: CFFF F800: E000 138 BASIC E003 139 BASIC2 EQU \$E003 140 * F800:4A 141 PLOT LSR A ;Y-COORD/2	00):		C5AA	135	WRITE2	EQU	C3ORG+\$2A	A
F800: CFFF 137 CLRROM EQU \$CFFF F800: E000 138 BASIC EQU \$E000 F800: E003 139 BASIC2 EQU \$E003 F800: 140 * F800:4A 141 PLOT LSR A ;Y-COORD/2	00):			136	*			
F800: E000 138 BASIC EQU \$E000 F800: E003 139 BASIC2 EQU \$E003 F800: 140 * F800:4A 141 PLOT LSR A ;Y-COORD/2	00):		CFFF	137	CLRROM	EQU	\$CFFF	
F800: E003 139 BASIC2 EQU \$E003 F800: 140 * 141 PLOT LSR A ;Y-COORD/2	00):		E000	138	BASIC	EQU	\$E000	
F800: 140 * F800:4A 141 PLOT LSR A ;Y-COORD/2	00):		E003	139	BASIC2	EOU	\$E003	
F800:4A 141 PLOT LSR A ;Y-COORD/2	00	: 0			140	*		and the second of	
	00):4A			141	PLOT	LSR	A	;Y-COORD/2
F801:08 142 PHP ;SAVE LSB IN CARRY	01	1:08			142		PHP		SAVE LSB IN CARRY
_ F802:20 47 F8 143 JSR GBASCALC ;CALC BASE ADR IN GR	02	2:20	47	F8	143		JSR	GBASCALC	;CALC BASE ADR IN GBASL,H
F805:28 144 PLP ;RESTORE LSB FROM CA	05	5:28			144		PLP		RESTORE LSB FROM CARRY
F806:A9 OF 145 LDA #SOF ;MASK SOF IF EVEN	06	6:A9	OF		145		LDA	#SOF	;MASK \$OF IF EVEN

in the

The second second

Station of the

Station of the local division of the local d

Sulli S

TANKING IN

and the

State of the state

10,000

and the

F808:90	02	F80C	146		BCC	RTMASK	
F80A:69	EO		147		ADC	#\$EO	;MASK \$FO IF ODD
F80C:85	2E		148	RTMASK	STA	MASK	
F80E:B1	26		149	PLOT1	LDA	(GBASL),Y	;DATA
F810:45	30		150		EOR	COLOR	; XOR COLOR
F812:25	2E		151		AND	MASK	; AND MASK
F814:51	26		152		EOR	(GBASL),Y	; XOR DATA
F816:91	26		153		STA	(GBASL),Y	; TO DATA
F818:60			154		RTS		The second
F819:			155	*			
F819:20	00	F8	156	HLINE	JSR	PLOT	;PLOT SQUARE
F81C:C4	2C		157	HLINEI	CPY	H2	;DONE?
F81E:B0	11	F831	158		BCS	RTS1	; YES, RETURN
F820:C8			159		INY		; NO, INCR INDEX (X-COORD)
F821:20	0E	F8	160		JSR	PLOT1	PLOT NEXT SOUARE
F824:90	F6	F81C	161		BCC	HLINE1	ALWAYS TAKEN
F826:69	01		162	VLINEZ	ADC	#\$01	NEXT Y-COORD
F828:48			163	VLINE	PHA	- 1 - 1	: SAVE ON STACK
F829:20	00	F8	164	, a c d d	ISR	PLOT	PLOT SOUARE
F82C .68	00	10	165		PLA	1001	,
F82D+C5	20		166		CMP	V2	DONE?
F82F.90	FS	F826	167		BCC	VLINEZ	NO. LOOP.
E831.60	13	1020	168	DTC1	PTC	TELLE	, 10, 1001.
E031.00			160	*	RI G		
F832 . AO	2 5		170	CIDSCP	I DV	#S2F	MAX Y FULL SCRN CLR
F032 . AU	02	TQ39	170	CLASCA	RNF	CIPSCO	ALWAYS TAKEN
F034.00	27	1010	171	CIPTOD	LOV	#227	MAY Y TOP SOPN CID
F030:AU	20		172	CLRIOF	CTV	11921	STOPE AS BOTTOM COOPD
P030:04	20		175	CLKSCZ	511	V Z	STORE AS BOTTOM COORD
TOJA:	07		174	5	1.017	4007	PICUTMOST V_COOPD (COLUMN)
F83A:AU	21		175	01 0002	LDI	#200	TOP COOPD FOR VIINE CALLS
FOSC:A9	20		170	ULK5C3	LUA	#300 001.0P	SIFAR COLOR (BLACK)
F03E:00	20	70	170		JOD	ULTNE	DEAL VIINE
F840:20	28	ro	170		JSK	VLINE	DRAW VLING
F843:88	-	0000	1/9		DEI	01 0002	NEXI LEFIMOSI A-COORD
F844:10	10	F83C	180		BPL	CLKSC3	;LOOP UNITE DONE.
F846:60			181		RIS		
F847:			182	A	0.001		TOR TURUE CONTROL
F847:48			183	GBASCAL	C PHA		FOR INPUT UUDEFGH
F848:4A	0.0		184		LSR	A	
F849:29	03		185		AND	#\$03	CENEDARE ORAGI-000001 DC
F848:09	04		180		ORA	1504	;GENERALE GBASH=000001FG
F84D:85	27		18/		STA	GBASH	AND ODI OF UNDERSOOD
F84F:68			188		PLA	1.4.4.0	; AND GBASL=HDEDE000
F850:29	18		189		AND	#\$18	
F852:90	02	F856	190		BCC	GBCALC	
F854:69	7 F		191		ADC	#\$/F	
F856:85	26		192	GBCALC	STA	GBASL	
F858:0A			193		ASL	A	
F859:0A			194		ASL	A	
F85A:05	26		195		ORA	GBASL	
F85C:85	26		196		STA	GBASL	
F85E:60			197		RTS		
F85F:	1.00		198	*			
F85F:A5	30		199	NXTCOL	LDA	COLOR	; INCREMENT COLOR BY 3

Appendix I: Monitor ROM Listings

1000								
	F861:18			200		CLC		
S-MARINE	F862:69	03		201		ADC	#\$03	
	F864 . 29	OF		202	SETCOL	AND	#SOF	·SETS COLOR=17*4 MOD 16
and the second	F866.85	30		203	001000	STA	COLOR	, bbib bobbit it it itob ito
14	F868:04	20		205		AST	Å	BOTH HALF BYTES OF COLOR FOULAL
	E869:04			205		ASI	A	, bold half billb of couok house
	F964:04			205		ACT		
1000	POCR.OA			200		ACT	A	
	F00D.0A	30		207		OPA	COLOR	
一些地位	F86F.85	30		200		STA	COLOR	
	F870.60	50		210		DTC	COLOR	
-100	P071.			210	+	R10		
Sec.	P071 . / A			212	CODN	TCD	٨	PEAD SCREEN X-COOPD/2
10	10/1:4A			212	JURN	DUD	A	CAVE I CR (CAPPY)
	1072:00	17	12.0	213		TCD	CRACCALC	CALC BASE ADDRESS
Conception of the local division of the loca	F075:20	4/	ro	214		JOR	(CRACI) V	CET BYTE
	F0/0:DI	20		215		DID	(GDAGL),1	DESTORE ISE FROM CARRY
	F070:20	01	EQ7E	210	CODMO	PCC	DTMCV7	TE EVEN USE LO U
	F079:90	04	1101	217	SCRNZ	TCD	ALPIOK4	, IF EVEN, USE LO R
-	F07D:4A			210		LOR	A	
	F0/C:4A			219		LSR	A	CUTET UTCH HATE BYTE DOLN
-	F8/D:4A			220		LSR	A	SHIFT HIGH HALF BILL DOWN
	F0/E:4A	OF		221	DTMCV7	LOR	HEOF	MACY A-BITC
The second second	F8/F:29	UF		222	RIMSKA	AND	TOF	MASK 4-BIIS
1	F001:0U			223	+	RIS		
	F002:	24		224	TNODOL	TRY	DOL	DETNT DOL U
	F002:A0	JA JA		220	INSUST	LUX	PCL	FRINI FGL, R
	P004:A4	20	FD	220		TCD	PUN 2	
	1000:20	10	ED EO	220		JOR	DD DT NIV	FOLLOUED BY A BLANK
- El	F009:20	240	1.2	220		JOK	(DOL V)	CET OPCODE
	FOOC AI	JA		227	TMODOO	TAV	(ICL, A)	,GET OFCOME
	POOL : AO			230	1105052	LAI	*	FUEN/OID TEST
2	F00F:4A	00	POD	231		BCC	TRUEN	,EVEN/ODD 1831
	F090:90	09	103D	232		DOD	A	BIT I TEST
	F092:0A	10	EQA5	233		RCC	FDD	VYYYYYII INVALID OP
	1093.00	10	FORJ	234		CMD	HCA2	,AAAAAII INVALID OI
1990	F093:09	AL	TRAS	225		REO	FDD	OPCODE S89 INVALID
	1097:10	00	FORJ	230		AND	#007	MACH RITE
	F099.29	01		231	TEVEN	TCD	4.007	ISB INTO CAPPY FOR L/P TEST
	P000.4A			230	TEACH	TAV	A	LOB INTO CARAL FOR LAR TEST
The second	FOOD PD	62	120	240		IDA	EMT1 V	CET FORMAT INDEX BYTE
1. Carl	F840.20	70	F 9	240		LUA	SCRN2	P/I H-BYTE ON CAPPY
	F8A3.D0	04	FRAG	241		BNF	CETEMT	, a li bilb on onadi
	F845+40	80	TORY	2/3	FDD	IDV	#\$80	SUBSTITUTE \$80 FOR INVALLD OPS
	PRAT: AD	00		245	LRR	LDL	#\$00	SET PRINT FORMAT INDEX TO O
	EQAQ:AA	00		244	CETEMT	TAY	1000	, SEI IRINI FORMI INDER TO O
242	TOAT AA	46	FO	245	GEITEII	IDA	PMT2 V	TNDEY INTO PRINT FORMAT TARE
	TRAD.05	AU	1.3	240		CTA	FORMAT	SAVE FOR ADD FIELD FORMATTING
112	FRAF.	2 Er		241	· (0=1	BYTE	1=2 BVTF	2=3 RVTE)
	FOAF :			240	* (0-1	DILE,	1-2 DILD,	e-s utta)
- Lange - Lange	PRAF.			249	* Marro	anda	to 01-02 be	cause the code
	POAT :			250	* that	toote	for ROM in	clot 3 must be in
-	FOAF :			251	* the	R POM	LOI ROM IN	are a muse be fu
19-1	FRAF.			252	* the r	O RUM	N.	
Children and	FOMF 1			233				

and the second

the second

a second

The second

000

Appendix I: Monitor ROM Listings

F8AF:AA			254		TAX		:save ACC in X
F8B0:84	2A		255		STY	BAS2L	and Y in scrolling temp
F8B2:A0	10		256		LDY	#\$10	:call = finish mnemonics
F8B4:4C	B4	FB	257		JMP	GOTOCX	off to Cl00
F8B7:			258	*			,
F887:			259	* Test	alot	for a car	cd containing ROM.
F887 .			260	* If the	are is	one we'l	1 not switch in our internal
F8B7 .			261	* elot	fire	ware (for	80 columns).
F8B7.			262	* 02 ant	TTTT	hac a high	value like SF2 so the
F8B7.			263	* POM/h	in in	road a hur	ach of times
FOB7.			203	*	19 19	reau a bui	ich of clines
P007.00	06	CO	265	TETROM	CTA	CT OTCYPOM	town in cloto
PODA . AO	00	co	203	TETROMO	TDY	#2	, swap in sides
FODA AZ	02	03	200	TSTROMO	LDA	112 60205 V	check 2 ib bytes
FOBC: BD	05	03	20/	ISIKOMI	LDA	SUSUS,A	at CSOS and \$CSOS
FOBF:DD	90	FC	200		CMP	CLREUL,X	;with two bytes that are same
F8C2:D0	07	FSCB	269		BNE	XIST	
F8C4 : CA			270		DEX		;check next ID byte
F8C5:CA		100	271		DEX		
F8C6:10	F4	F8BC	272		BPL	TSTROM1	
F8C8:88			273		DEY		
F8C9:D0	EF	F8BA	274		BNE	TSTROMO	; if ROM ok, exit with BEQ
F8CB:8D	07	CO	275	XTST	STA	INTCXROM	;swap internal ROM
F8CE:60			276		RTS		;and return there
F8CF:			277	*			
F8CF:EA			278		NOP		;line things up
F8D0:			279	*			
F8D0:20	82	F8	280	INSTDSP	JSR	INSDS1	GEN FMT, LEN BYTES
F8D3:48			281		PHA		SAVE MNEMONIC TABLE INDEX
F8D4:B1	3A		282	PRNTOP	LDA	(PCL).Y	Constant of the second prevalence of the second states states tates of the second states of the second states of t
F8D6:20	DA	FD	283		JSR	PRBYTE	
F8D9:A2	01		284		LDX	#\$01	:PRINT 2 BLANKS
F8DB:20	44	F9	285	PRNTBL	ISR	PRBL2	
F8DE .C4	28		286		CPY	LENGTH	·PRINT INST (1-3 BYTES)
F8E0:C8			287		TNY	District Lit	IN A 12 CHR FIELD
F8F1 .90	FI	F8D4	288		BCC	PRNTOP	, IN A IL OUR LIBBO
F8F3 . 42	03	1004	280		IDY	#\$03	CHAR COUNT FOR MNEMONIC INDEX
F8F5.00	04		200		CPV	#\$01	, CHAR COURT TOR INDIONIC THOSE
F8E7.00	122	PODB	201		PCC	DDNTT	
FOET . SU	r 2	CODB	291		DUC	LUNIDE	BECOVER MNEMONIC INDEX
POPA. AO			292		TAV		; RECOVER MNEMONIC INDEX
FOLA: AO	00	120	293		IAI	MIENO V	
FOLD: BY	00	F9	294		LDA	MNEML, I	FETCH 2 CHAR MEMONIC
FOLE:00	20		295		SIA	LMNEM	(DACKED INTO 2 DUTEC)
FSFU:B9	00	FA	290		LDA	MNEMR, I	; (PACKED INTO 2-BITES)
F8F3:85	2D		297		STA	RMNEM	
F8F5:A9	00		298	PRMNI	LDA	#\$00	
F8F7:A0	05		299		LDY	#\$05	
F8F9:06	2D		300	PRMN2	ASL	RMNEM	;SHIFT 5 BITS OF CHARACTER INTO A
F8FB:26	2C		301		ROL	LMNEM	
F8FD:2A			302		ROL	A	; (CLEARS CARRY)
F8FE:88			303		DEY		
F8FF:D0	F8	F8F9	304		BNE	PRMN2	
F901:69	BF		305		ADC	#\$BF	;ADD "?" OFFSET
F903:20	ED	FD	306		JSR	COUT	;OUTPUT A CHAR OF MNEM
F906:CA			307		DEX		

0	-		
- 2	h		
6)		4	

5								
	F907 . D0	FC	F8F5	308		BNF	PRMNI	
	F909:20	48	FQ	309		ISP	PPRINK	OUTPUT 3 BLANKS
	E900 . 44	25	1.7	310		IDV	LENCTH	, OUT OF S DEARS
	F90E: A2	06		311		LDX	#\$06	CNT FOR 6 FORMAT BITS
1.	F910.F0	03		312	PRADRI	CPY	#\$03	, our row o rowall bird
Conception of the local division of the loca	F912 . FO	10	F930	313	I REDEL	BEO	PRADRS	· IF X=3 THEN ADDR.
	F914:06	25	1950	314	PRADR2	ASI	FORMAT	, II A-5 INEN RODR.
	F916:90	OF	F926	315	I KRUAKE	BCC	PPADP3	
	F018.BD	83	FQ	316		I DA	CUAPI-1 V	
	F918.20	FD	FD	317		ICP	COUT	
	FOIF .BD	RQ	FQ	318		IDA	CHAR2-1 Y	
	F916.50	03	F926	310		BEO	PPADP3	
100	F923.20	FD	ED	320		ICP	COUT	
Sec. 2	F925.20	сD	rD	321	DDADD3	DEV	0001	
	F920:CA	17	1010	321	FRADRS	PNE	PPADPI	
-	F927:D0	E/	r910	222		DINE	PRADRI	
See 2	F929.00			323	DDADDA	DEV		
1	F92A:00	57	P016	225	FRADR4	DEI	DRADR2	
	F925:30	E/	F914	222		ICD	PRADKZ	
No. of Concession, Name	F92D:20	DA	rD	207	DDADDE	JSK	FRDIIL	
	F930:A5	LE		321	PRADRO	LDA	FORMAI #CEP	HANDLE DEL ADD NODE
and the second	F932:C9	EO		328		CMP	# SEO	CRECIAL (PRINT TARCET
	E934:BI	JA	F004	329		LDA	(PGL),I	SPECIAL (PRINI TARGET,
-	F936:90	FZ	F9ZA	330	DOTADD	BCC	PRADR4	; NOI OFFSEI)
1	F938:20	20	F9	331	RELADE	JSR	PCADJ3	DOL DOULOPPOET 1 TO A V
1	F93B:AA			332		TAX		;PCL,PCH+OFFSEI+I IO A,I
	F93C:E8	01	70/0	333		INX	10 10 A 1000 / AT	and mo w w
	F93D:D0	01	F940	334		BNE	PRNTYX	;+1 TO Y,X
	F93F:C8			335		INY		
	F940:98		-	330	PRNIYX	TYA		
	F941:20	DA	FD	337	PRNTAX	JSR	PRBYTE	;OUTPUT TARGET ADR
	F944:8A	2.2		338	PRNTX	TXA		; OF BRANCH AND RETURN
	F945:4C	DA	FD	339	4	JMP	PRBALE	
1	F948:	~ ~		340	*		11000	
	F948:A2	03		341	PRBLNK	LDX	#\$03	; BLANK COUNT
	F94A:A9	AO	1212	342	PRBL2	LDA	#\$A0	;LOAD A SPACE
N - 21	F94C:20	ED	FD	343	PRBL3	JSR	COUT	; OUTPUT A BLANK
Va	F94F:CA			344		DEX		
	F950:D0	F8	F94A	345		BNE	PRBL2	;LOOP UNTIL COUNT=0
	F952:60			346		RTS		
1	F953:			347	*			
1. 5	F953:38			348	PCADJ	SEC		; $0=1$ BYTE, $1=2$ BYTE,
	F954:A5	2F		349	PCADJ2	LDA	LENGTH	; 2=3 BYTE
	F956:A4	3B		350	PCADJ3	LDY	PCH	
1000	F958:AA			351		TAX		;TEST DISPLACEMENT SIGN
The second	F959:10	01	F95C	352		BPL	PCADJ4	; (FOR REL BRANCH)
100	F95B:88			353	and and any second second	DEY		;EXTEND NEG BY DECR PCH
	F95C:65	3A		354	PCADJ4	ADC	PCL	
DOM: NO	F95E:90	01	F961	355		BCC	RTS2	;PCL+LENGTH(OR DISPL)+1 TO A
1	F960:C8			356		INY		; CARRY INTO Y (PCH)
	F961:60			357	RTS2	RTS		
	F962:			358	;			
100	F962:			359	; FMT1	BYTES	: XXXXX	XYO INSTRS
1	F962:			360	; IF Y	=0	THEN	LEFT HALF BYTE
1 Ser	F962:			361	; IF Y	=1	THEN	RIGHT HALF BYTE

-

and a state

all a

					1
F962:	362	5			(X
1902: 3	267 1	i EMEL	DEP	204	
F962:04 2	265	rm11	DEB	\$04	
F903:20 3	266		DEB	920	
1964:34	200		DED	020	
F905:50 3	060		DFB	000	
F966:0D	000		DFD	200	
F967:80 3	109		DFB	200	
F968:04	370		DFB	\$04	
F363:30	2/1		DFB	290	
F96A:03	272		DEB	600	
F90B:22 3	3/3		DFB	922	
E960:54 3	3/4		DFB	022	
F96D:33 3	5/2		DFB	533	
F96E:0D 3	3/0		DFB	SUD	
F96F:80 3	3//		DFB	200	
F970:04	3/8		DEB	\$04	
F9/1:90 3	5/9		DFB	\$90	
F972:04	086		DFB	\$04	
F9/3:20 3	188		DFB	\$20	
F974:54	382		DFB	\$54	
F9/5:33 3	383		DFB	\$33	
F9/6:0D	384		DFB	SOD	
F977:80 3	385		DFB	\$80	
F978:04	386		DFB	\$04	
F979:90 3	387		DFB	\$90	
F9/A:04	388		DFB	\$04	
F97B:20 3	389		DFB	\$20	
F97C:54	390		DFB	\$54	
F9/D:3B 3	391		DFB	\$3B	
F97E:0D 3	392		DFB	SOD	
F97F:80 3	393		DFB	\$80	
F980:04	394		DFB	\$04	
F981:90 3	395		DFB	\$90	
F982:00 3	396		DFB	\$00	
F983:22 3	397		DFB	\$22	
F984:44 3	398		DFB	\$44	
F985:33 3	399		DFB	\$33	
F986:0D 4	400		DFB	SOD	
F987:C8 4	401		DFB	\$C8	
F988:44 4	402		DFB	\$44	
F989:00 4	+03		DFB	\$00	
F98A:11 4	404		DFB	\$11	
F98B:22 4	+05		DFB	\$22	
F98C:44 4	406		DFB	\$44	
F98D:33 4	+07		DFB	\$33	
F98E:0D 4	408		DFB	ŞOD	
F98F:C8 4	+09		DFB	\$C8	
F990:44 4	410		DFB	\$44	
F991:A9 4	+11		DFB	\$A9	
F992:01 4	412		DFB	\$01	
F993:22 4	+13		DFB	\$22	
F994:44 4	414		DFB	\$44	
F995:33 4	+15		DFB	\$33	

(X=INDEX)

	F99E:0D
	F99F:80
	F9A0:04
	F9A1:90
	F9A2:26
	F9A3:31
	F9A4:87
	F9A5:9A
2	F9A6:
	F9A6:
	F9A6:
-	F9A6:00
	F9A7:21
-	F948:81
	F949.82
	F944:00
	F948:00
	FOAC:50
	FOAD . AD
	FOAF:01
1	FOAE.02
1.3	F9AF:92
	F9DU:00
	F9D1:4A
	E9B2:00
	F983:9D
	E9B4:AC
	F985:A9
-	F986:AC
1	F987:A3
The second s	F9B8:A8
	F9B9:A4
1	F9BA:D9
	F9BB:00
	EARC:D8
	F9BD:A4
	F9BE:A4
	F9BF:00
and the second	F9CU:1C
	F9C1:8A
100	F9C2:1C
	F9C3:23
1.1	F9C4:5D
	F9C5:8B
-	F9C6:1B
-	F9C7:A1
	F9C8:9D
-	

F996:0D F997:80

F998:04 F999:90 F99A:01 F99B:22 F99C:44 F99D:33

416		DFB	SOD		
417		DFB	\$80		
418		DFB	\$04		
419		DFB	\$90		
420		DFB	\$01		
421		DFB	\$22		
422		DFB	\$44		
423		DFB	\$33		
424		DFB	SOD		
425		DFB	\$80		
426		DFB	\$04		
427		DFB	\$90		
428		DFB	\$26		
429		DFB	\$31		
430		DFB	\$87		
431		DFB	\$9A		
432					
433	: ZZXXX	XY01 I	NSTR'S	5	
434	:				
435	FMT2	DFB	\$00		;ERR
436		DFB	\$21		:IMM
437		DFB	\$81		Z-PAGE
438		DFB	\$82		; ABS
439		DFB	\$00		; IMPLIED
440		DFB	\$00		; ACCUMULATOR
441		DFB	\$59		;(ZPAG,X)
442		DFB	\$4D		;(ZPAG),Y
443		DFB	\$91		; ZPAG, X
444		DFB	\$92		;ABS,X
445		DFB	\$86		;ABS,Y
446		DFB	\$4A		;(ABS)
447		DFB	\$85		; ZPAG, Y
448		DFB	\$9D		; RELATIVE
449	CHAR1	DFB	SAC		; ', '
450		DFB	\$A9		;')'
451		DFB	\$AC		; 1, 1
452		DFB	\$A3		; ' # '
453		DFB	\$A8		; ' ('
454		DFB	\$A4		; '\$'
455	CHAR2	DFB	\$D9		; 'Y'
456		DFB	\$00		
457		DFB	\$D8		;'Y'
458		DFB	\$A4		;'\$'
459		DFB	\$A4		;'\$'
460		DFB	\$00		
461	MNEML	DFB	\$1C		
462		DFB	\$8A		
463		DFB	\$1C		
464		DFB	\$23		
465		DFB	\$5D		
466		DFB	\$8B		
467		DFB	\$1B		
468		DFB	\$A1		
469		DFB	\$9D		

F9C9:8A	470	DFB	\$8A				
F9CA:1D	471	DFB	\$1D				
F9CB:23	472	DFB	\$23				
F9CC:9D	473	DFB	\$9D				
F9CD:8B	474	DFB	\$8B				
F9CE:1D	475	DFB	\$1D				
F9CF:A1	476	DFB	\$A1				
F9D0:00	477	DFB	\$00				
F9D1:29	478	DFB	\$29				
F9D2:19	479	DFB	\$19				
F9D3:AE	480	DFB	\$AE				
F9D4:69	481	DFB	\$69				
F9D5:A8	482	DFB	\$A8				
F9D6:19	483	DFB	\$19				
F9D7:23	484	DFB	\$23				
F9D8:24	485	DFB	\$24				
F9D9:53	486	DFB	\$53				
F9DA:1B	487	DFB	\$1B				
F9DB:23	488	DFB	\$23				
F9DC:24	489	DFB	\$24				
F9DD:53	490	DFB	\$53				
F9DE:19	491	DFB	\$19	:	(A)	FORMAT	ABOVE
F9DF:A1	492	DFB	\$A1				
F9E0:00	493	DFB	\$00				
F9E1:1A	494	DFB	\$1A				
F9E2:5B	495	DFB	\$5B				
F9E3:5B	496	DFB	\$5B				
F9E4:A5	497	DFB	\$A5				
F9E5:69	498	DFB	\$69				
F9E6:24	499	DFB	\$24	:	(B)	FORMAT	
F9E7:24	500	DFB	\$24	0	8 8		
F9E8:AE	501	DFB	SAE				
F9E9:AE	502	DFB	SAE				
F9EA:A8	503	DFB	SA8				
F9EB:AD	504	DFB	SAD				
F9EC:29	505	DFB	\$29				
F9ED:00	506	DFB	\$00				
F9EE:7C	507	DFB	S7C	:	(C)	FORMAT	
F9EF:00	508	DFB	\$00	<u>ੈ</u>			
F9F0:15	509	DFB	\$15				
F9F1:9C	510	DFB	\$9C				
F9F2:6D	511	DFB	\$6D				
F9F3:9C	512	DFB	S9C				
F9F4:A5	513	DFB	SA5				
F9F5:69	514	DFB	\$69				
F9F6:29	515	DFB	\$29	:	(D)	FORMAT	
F9F7:53	516	DFB	\$53	,	3 . 1		
F9F8:84	517	DFB	\$84				
F9F9:13	518	DFB	S13				
F9FA:34	519	DFB	\$34				
F9FB:11	520	DFB	\$11				
F9FC:A5	521	DFB	SA5				
F9FD:69	522	DFB	\$69				
F9FE:23	523	DFB	\$23	:	(E)	FORMAT	
and the second sec			Accession	,			

Appendix i: montual nom uistings	Appendix	I: Monitor	ROM Listings	
----------------------------------	----------	------------	--------------	--

355	
000	

	E9FF: AO	524		DFB	SAO			
	FA00:D8	525	MNEMR	DFB	SD8			
	FA01:62	526	(in the set	DFB	\$62			
0	FA02:5A	527		DFB	S5A			
	FA03:48	528		DFB	\$48			
Provide State	FA04:26	529		DFB	\$26			
	FA05:62	530		DFB	\$62			
8	FA06:94	531		DFB	\$94			
	FA07:88	532		DFB	\$88			
10 mm	FA08:54	533		DFB	\$54			
	FA09:44	534		DFB	\$44			
	FAOA:C8	535		DFB	\$C8			
	FA0B:54	536		DFB	\$54			
	FA0C:68	537		DFB	\$68			
	FAOD:44	538		DFB	\$44			
10	FAOE: E8	539		DFB	\$E8			
	FAOF:94	540		DFB	\$94			
	FA10:00	541		DFB	\$00			
	FA11:B4	542		DFB	\$B4			
1	FA12:08	543		DFB	\$08			
10	FA13:84	544		DFB	\$84			
and the second	FA14:74	545		DFB	\$74			
	FA15:B4	546		DFB	\$B4			
-	FA16:28	547		DFB	\$28			
	FA17:6E	548		DFB	\$6E			
	FA18:74	549		DFB	\$74			
	FA19:F4	550		DFB	SF4			
1	FAIA:CC	551		DFB	ŞCC			
	FA1B:4A	552		DFB	\$4A			
(FA1C:72	553		DFB	\$72			
	FA1D:F2	554		DFB	\$F2			
-	FA1E:A4	555		DFB	ŞA4	;	(A)	FORMAT
	FA1F:8A	556		DFB	\$8A			
	FA20:00	557		DFB	\$00			
	FA21:AA	558		DFB	ŞAA			
	FA22:A2	559		DFB	\$A2			
1	FA23:A2	560		DFB	\$A2			
and a second	FA24:74	561		DFB	\$74			
	FA25:74	562		DFB	\$74		1-2	
1	FA26:74	563		DFB	\$74	;	(B)	FORMAT
	FA27:72	564		DFB	\$72			
1	FA28:44	565		DFB	\$44			
	FA29:68	200		DFB	208			
1000	FAZA: B2	0.00	10					
	790	DEB SI	52	DED	020			
and the second second	FA25:32	500		DEB	\$32 CD2			
	FA20; 52	509		DEB	SOO			
1	FA20:00	570		DEB	\$00		(0)	FORMAT
8	FALL:22	570		DEB	922	,	(0)	FURTIAL
	EA22:00	572		DEB	\$1 A			
	FASULA	574		DEB	SIA			
	TA31+1A	575		DEB	\$76			
	FA33-26	576		DEB	\$26			
	1000.00	010		orb	420			

Assessed	ALL N	A.D. Salting	DONE	T. Der Der statt.
				LISTINKS

FA34:72			577		DFB	\$72	
FA35:72			578		DFB	S72	
FA36:88			579		DFB	\$88	; (D) FORMAT
FA37:C8			580		DFB	\$C8	
FA38:C4			581		DFB	SC4	
FA39:CA			582		DFB	SCA	
FA3A:26			583		DFB	\$26	
FA38+48			584		DFB	\$48	
FA3C +44			585		DFB	\$44	
FA3D-44			586		DFR	\$44	
FA3E · A2			587		DFB	SA2	· (E) FORMAT
FASE C8			588		DEB	SCR	
FAJE.00			580	*	DIN	400	
FA40.		CIEA	500	NELITRO	FOU	SCIEN	inew TPO entry
FA40.		UJEA	501	WEWING	LQU	QUIN	, new ind energy
FA40:	1.5		502	OLDIBO	CTA	C/ 5	(chould never be used)
FA40:0J	45		502	OPDIKÓ	TDA	54J 6/5	, (should never be used)
FA4Z:AD	42	03	504		LDA	NELITRO	, for those who save A to 945
FA44:40	ΓA	0.3	594	-	JMP	NEWIKU	;go to interrupt mandler
FA4/:	26	00	292	*	omt	appear opposit	
FA4/:8D	06	CO	090	NEWBREAK	SIA	SEISLUICAR	KUM ; FORCE IN SLOTS
FA4A:85	45		591		STA	ACC	;save accumulator
FA4C:			598	A	D.7. 13		
FA4C:28			599	BREAK	PLP	A 1 1 1	AND BROLD ON BERLY
FA4D:20	4C	FF	600		JSR	SAV1	SAVE REG'S ON BREAK
FA50:68	1.2417.0		601		PLA	49.00774	; INCLUDING PC
FA51:85	3A		602		STA	PCL	
FA53:68			603		PLA		
FA54:85	3 B		604		STA	PCH	
FA56:6C	FO	03	605		JMP	(BRKV)	BRKV WRITTEN OVER BY DISK BOOT
FA59:			606	*			
FA59:20	82	F8	607	OLDBRK	JSR	INSDS1	;PRINT USER PC
FA5C:20	DA	FA	608		JSR	RGDSP1	; AND REGS
FA5F:4C	6.5	FF	609		JMP	MON	;GO TO MONITOR (NO PASS GO, NO \$200!)
FA62:D8			610	RESET	CLD		; DO THIS FIRST THIS TIME
FA63:20	84	FE	611		JSR	SETNORM	
FA66:20	2F	FB	612		JSR	INIT	
FA69:20	93	FE	613		JSR	SETVID	
FA6C:20	89	FE	614		JSR	SETKBD	
FA6F:AD	58	CO	615	INITAN	LDA	SETANO	; ANO = TTL LO
FA72:AD	5A	CO	616		LDA	SETAN1	; AN1 = TTL LO
FA75:A0	09		617		LDY	#9	;CODE=INIT/RRA0981
FA77:20	B4	FB	618		JSR	GOTOCX	DO APPLEZE INIT/RRA0981
FA7A:EA			619		NOP		:/RRA0981
FA7B: AD	FF	CF	620		LDA	CLRROM	: TURN OFF EXTNSN ROM
FATE:2C	10	CO	621		BTT	KBDSTRB	CLEAR KEYBOARD
FA81 : D8	* *	00	622	NEWMON	CLD	110D C alla	
FA82:20	34	FF	623	11321122011	ISR	BELT.	· CAUSES DELAY IF KEY BOUNCES
F485 . AD	E3	03	624		LDA	SOFTEV+1	TS RESET HI
FA88.40	45	0.1	625		FOP	#\$45	A FUNNY COMPLEMENT OF THE
EASA+CD	E/	03	626		CMP	PUPENIIP	· PWR HP RYTE ???
PAGA: CD	17	FAAS	627		BNF	PUPIP	NO SO PURIP
EXQE: AD	17	C3	620		TDA	SOFTEN	VES SEE IE COID STAPT
FAOT : AD	012	C143	620		DNP	NOFTY	, LAS BEEN DONE VET?
FA92:00	UP	r AA J	620		DINE	HOPIA	, HAS DEEN DUNE LEI!
rA94:A9	EU		030		LUA	1720	; DUES SUFI ENIKI VECTOR PULNI AT BASIC?

	FA96:CD	1.3	03	631		CMP	SOFTEV+1		
	FA99:DO	08	FAA3	632		BNE	NOFIX	;	YES SO REENTER SYSTEM
	FA9B:AO	03		633	FIXSEV	LDY	#3	;	NO SO POINT AT WARM START
-	FA9D:8C	F2	03	634		STY	SOFTEV	;	FOR NEXT RESET
	FAA0:4C	00	EO	635		JMP	BASIC	:	AND DO THE COLD START
	FAA3:6C	F2	03	636	NOFIX	JMP	(SOFTEV)	;	SOFT ENTRY VECTOR
	FAA6:			637	*****	*****	*****	100	
	FAA6:20	60	FB	638	PWRUP	JSR	APPLEII		
	FAA9:		FAA9	639	SETPG3	EOU	*	:	SET PAGE 3 VECTORS
	FAA9:A2	05		640		LDX	#5	,	
	FAAB: BD	FC	FA	641	SETPLP	LDA	PWRCON-1.X	1	WITH CNTRL B ADRS
	FAAE:9D	EF	03	642		STA	BRKV-1.X		OF CURRENT BASIC
2 - 2 4	FAB1 :CA			643		DEX	Marancol and Acad	1	
	FAB2:DO	F7	FAAB	644		BNE	SETPLP		
	FAB4: A9	C8	A. C.	645		L.DA	#SC8		LOAD HI SLOT +1
	FAB6:86	00		646		STX	LOCO	:	SETPG3 MUST RETURN X=0
	FAB8:85	01		647		STA	LOCI		SET PTR H
	FABA:	U.L.		648	*	User	1001	,	
	FABA:			649	* Check	3 TD	hytes inste	a	of 4. Allows devices
-	FABA:			650	* other	than	Diek II's f	-0	he bootable.
	FABA:			651	×	citati	DIGK II O	- 0	be bootable.
17-1	FABA: AO	05		652	SLOOP	LDY	#5	٠v	is byte ofr
	FABC:C6	01		653	00001	DEC	1.001	9 1	is syste per
	FARE: A5	01		654		LDA	LOCI		
	FAC0:C9	co		655		CMP	#\$C0		AT LAST SLOT YET?
	FAC2:F0	D7	FA9B	656		BEO	FIXSEV		YES AND IT CAN'T BE A DISK
	FAC4 - 8D	FS	07	657		STA	MSLOT	3	The fine is only a set of the
	FAC7: B1	00	01	658	NXTBYT	LDA	(1.000). Y		FETCH A SLOT BYTE
	FAC9:D9	01	FB	659	thread t	CMP	DISKID-1.Y	,	TS TT A DISK ??
1000	FACC:DO	EC	FABA	660		BNE	SLOOP	. '	NO SO NEXT SLOT DOWN
	FACE:88	40	Lauber	661		DEY	01001	,	no, so harr basi sonn
	FACE:88			662		DEY			YES SO CHECK NEXT BYTE
. 9	FAD0:10	F5	FAC7	663		BPI.	NXTBYT		UNTIL 3 BYTES CHECKED
	FAD2:60	00	00	664		IMP	(1.000)	;	GO BOOT
	FAD5:			665	*				
	FAD5 : EA			666		NOP			
1.00	FAD6 : FA			667		NOP			
	FAD7:			668	*	102			
	FAD7:20	8E	FD	669	REGDSP	ISR	CROUT	: [DISPLAY USER REG CONTENTS
	FADA: A9	45	* +2	670	RGDSPL	LDA	#\$45	: 6	ITH LABELS
	FADC:85	40		671		STA	A3L	,	
	FADE: A9	00		672		LDA	#\$00		
	FAE0:85	41		673		STA	A3H		
	FAE2:A2	FB		674		LDX	#SFB		
	FAE4:A9	AO		675	RDSP1	LDA	#SAO		
	FAE6:20	ED	FD	676		JSR	COUT		
	FAE9:BD	1E	FA	677		LDA	RTBL-251.X		
	FAEC:20	ED	FD	678		JSR	COUT		
	FAEF:A9	BD		679		LDA	#SBD		
3	FAF1:20	ED	FD	680		JSR	COUT		
	FAF4:85	4A		681		LDA	ACC+5.X		
	FAF6:20	DA	FD	682		JSR	PRBYTE		
1	FAF9:E8			683		INX			
	FAFA:30	E8	FAE4	684		BMI	RDSP1		

Appendi	ł M	onitor	ROM	Listings
---------	-----	--------	-----	----------

FAFC:60			685		RTS		
FAFD:			686	*			
FAFD:59	FA		687	PWRCON	DW	OLDBRK	
FAFF:00	EO	45	688		DFB	\$00,\$E0,\$45	5
FB02:20	FF	00 FF	689	DISKID	DFB	\$20, SFF, SOC),SFF
FB06:03	FF	3C	690		DFB	\$03,\$FF,\$30	
FB09:C1	FO	FO EC	691		ASC	'Apple])['
FB11:		FB11	692	XLTBL	EQU	*	
FB11:C4	C2	C1	693		DFB	\$C4,\$C2,\$C1	
FB14:FF	C3		694		DFB	\$FF,\$C3	
FB16:FF	FF	FF	695		DFB	SFF, SFF, SFF	3
FB19:			696	*			
FB19:C1	D8	D9	697	RTBL	DFB	\$C1,\$D8,\$D9	; REGISTER NAMES FOR REGDSP:
FB1C:DO	D3		698		DFB	\$D0,\$D3	;'AXYPS'
FB1E:AD	70	CO	699	PREAD	LDA	PTRIG	;TRIGGER PADDLES
FB21:A0	00		700		LDY	#\$00	; INIT COUNT
FB23:EA			701		NOP		;COMPENSATE FOR 1ST COUNT
FB24:EA			702		NOP		
FB25:BD	64	CO	703	PREAD2	LDA	PADDLO,X ;	COUNT Y-REG EVERY 12 USEC.
FB28:10	04	FB2E	704		BPL	RTS2D	
FB2A:C8			705		INY		
FB2B:DO	F8	FB25	706		BNE	PREAD2 ;	EXIT AT 255 MAX
FB2D:38			707		DEY		
FB2E:60			708	RTS2D	RTS		
FB2F:			1	*			
FB2F:A9	00		2	INIT	LDA	#\$00	;CLR STATUS FOR DEBUG SOFTWARE
FB31:85	48		3		STA	STATUS	
FB33:AD	56	CO	4		LDA	LORES	
FB36:AD	54	CO	5		LDA	LOWSCR	;INIT VIDEO MODE
FB39:AD	51	CO	6	SETTXT	LDA	TXTSET	;SET FOR TEXT MODE
FB3C:A9	00		7		LDA	#\$00	;FULL SCREEN WINDOW
FB3E:FO	OB	FB4B	8		BEQ	SETWND	
FB40:AD	50	CO	9	SETGR	LDA	TXTCLR	;SET FOR GRAPHICS MODE
FB43:AD	53	CO	10		LDA	MIXSET	;LOWER 4 LINES AS TEXT WINDOW
FB46:20	36	F8	11		JSR	CLRTOP	
FB49:A9	14		12		LDA	#\$14	
FB4B:85	22		13	SETWND	STA	WNDTOP	; SET FOR 40 COL WINDOW
FB4D:A9	00		14		LDA	#\$00	; TOP IN A-REG,
FB4F:85	20		15		STA	WNDLFT	; BOTTOM AT LINE \$24
FB51:A0	OC		16		LDY	#\$C	;CODE=SETWND /RRA0981
FB53:DO	5F	FBB4	17		BNE	GOTOCX	
FB55:A9	18		18		LDA	#\$18	
FB57:85	23		19		STA	WNDBTM	
FB59:A9	17		20		LDA	#\$17	;VTAB TO ROW 23
FB5B:85	25		21	TABV	STA	CV	; VTABS TO ROW IN A-REG
FB5D:4C	22	FC	22		JMP	VTAB	
FB60:			23	*			
FB60:20	58	FC	24	APPLEII	JSR	HOME	;CLEAR THE SCRN
FB63:A0	09		25		LDY	#9	
FB65:B9	09	FF	26	STITLE	LDA	TITLE-1,Y	;GET A CHAR
FB68:99	0E	04	27		STA	LINE1+14,Y	; PUT IT AT TOP CENTER OF SCREEN
FB6B:88	131147		28		DEY		
FB6C:DO	F7	FB65	29		BNE	STITLE	
FB6E:60			30		RTS		

FB6F:			31	*			
FB6F:AD	F3	03	32	SETPWRC	LDA	SOFTEV+1	ROUTINE TO CALCULATE THE 'FUNNY
FB72:49	A5		33		EOR	#\$A5	;COMPLEMENT' FOR THE RESET VECTOR
FB74:8D	F4	03	34		STA	PWREDUP	 Annual constraints: Annual Control and Station Constraints
FB77:60			35		RTS		
FB78:			36	*			
FB78:		FB78	37	VIDWATT	EOU	*	:CHECK FOR A PAUSE (CONTROL-S).
F878 . C9	8D	A. 10 10 4	38		CMP	#\$8D	ONLY WHEN I HAVE A CR
FB7A:DO	18	FB94	39		BNE	NOWATT	NOT SO DO REGULAR
FB7C:AC	00	0	40		LDY	KBD	TS KEY PRESSED?
FB7E.10	13	FRQA	40		BDI	NOWATT	NO
FB/1:10	03	r D) 4	41		CDV	#co3	VEC IS IT CTPI-S?
FB81.00	05	EPO/	44		DATE	NOUATT	NOPE - ICNOPE
E BOJ . DO	10	F 574	42		DIVE	KUWALI	CIEAD CTDORE
FBOJ;2C	10	00	44	UDNILLTO	DII	KDDSIKD	JULEAR BIRUDE
FB88:AC	00	CU	40	KBUWAII	LDY	KBD	WALL LILL NEAL KEY TO RESUME
FB88:10	FB	FB88	40		BPL	KBDWAII	WAIT FOR KEIPRESS
FB8D:CO	83		4/		CPY	#\$83	; IS IT CONTROL-C?
FB8F:FU	03	FB94	48		BEQ	NOWAIT	;YES, SO LEAVE IT
FB91:2C	10	CO	49		BIT	KBDSTRB	;CLR STROBE
FB94:4C	FD	FB	50	NOWAIT	JMP	VIDOUT	;DO AS BEFORE
FB97:			51	*			
FB97:38			52	ESCOLD	SEC		; INSURE CARRY SET
FB98:4C	2C	FC	53		JMP	ESC1	
FB9B:A8			54	ESCNOW	TAY		;USE CHAR AS INDEX
FB9C: B9	48	FA	55		LDA	XLTBL-\$C9,	Y ;TRANSLATE IJKM TO CBAD
FB9F:20	97	FB	56		JSR	ESCOLD	; DO THE CURSOR MOTION
FBA2:20	21	FD	57		JSR	RDESC	;GET IJKM, ijkm, ARROWS/RRA0981
FBA5:C9	CE		58	ESCNEW	CMP	#\$CE	; IS THIS AN 'N'?
FBA7:BO	EE	FB97	59		BCS	ESCOLD	;'N' OR GREATER - DO IT!
FBA9:C9	C9		60		CMP	#\$C9	;LESS THAN 'I'?
FBAB:90	EA	FB97	61		BCC	ESCOLD	;YES, SO DO OLD WAY
FBAD:C9	CC		62		CMP	#\$CC	; IS IT AN 'L'?
FBAF:FO	E6	FB97	63		BEQ	ESCOLD	;DO NORMAL
FBB1:DO	E8	FB9B	64		BNE	ESCNOW	;GO DO IT
FBB3:			65	*			
FBB3:		C006	66	SETSLOT	XROM	EOU \$C006	:/RRA0981
FBB3:		C007	67	SETINTC	KROM I	EOU \$C007	:/RRA0981
FBB3:		C015	68	RDCXROM	EOU	SC015	:/RRA0981
FBB3:			69	*			/RRA0981
FBB3:06			70	VERSION	DFB	S06	FOR IDCHECK/RRA0981
FBB4:			71	*	010	400	1.00 1.0000 0000
FBB4 :		FBB4	72	GOTOCX	FOU	*	:/RRA0981
FBB4 · 2C	15	C0	73	001004	BTT	RDCXROM	CET CURRENT STATE/RRA0981
FBR7:08	10	0.0	74		DUD	Roomiton	SAVE ROMBANK STATE/RRADOR
FBB8.8D	07	CO	75		STA	SETTNICYPO	M .SET DOMS ON/PDA0081
FBBB.AC	00	CI	76		TMD	CLOPC	-= NOFE TO CYSPACE / PPAGE
EDDD.40	00	G1	70	*	Jui	CIURG	,-/011 10 0X51A0E/ RRA0/01
FDDD;			70		DER	0	
FBBE:00			70		DEB	0	
FROC -			19	4	Drb	U	
FBC0:			00	TINDUMP	DCD	0 E O	1/2 DOM TD hut-
I DCU: EU			01	TIDRATE -	DER	\$EU	;//e KUM rev ID byte
r DC1:			02	DAGGATO	DITA		CALC BACE ADDD IN BACK U
r 501:48			83	DASCALC	PHA		CALC BASE ADDK IN BASL,H
rBCZ:4A			84		LSR	A	FOR GIVEN LINE NO.

hard

1.4

- SALES

FBC3:29	03		85		AND	#\$03	; O<=LINE NO.<=\$17
FBC5:09	04		86		ORA	#\$04	;ARG = 000ABCDE, GENERATE
FBC7:85	29		87		STA	BASH	; BASH = $000001CD$
FBC9:68			88		PLA		; AND
FBCA:29	18		89		AND	#\$18	; $BASL = EABAB000$
FBCC:90	02	FBDO	90		BCC	BASCLC2	
FBCE:69	7F		91		ADC	#\$7F	
FBD0:85	28		92	BASCLC2	STA	BASL	
FBD2:0A			93		ASL	A	
FBD3:0A			94		ASL	A	
FBD4:05	28		95		ORA	BASL	
FBD6:85	28		96		STA	BASL	
FBD8:60			97		RTS		
FBD9:			98	*	ETH D		
FBD9:C9	87		99	BELL1	CMP	#\$87	BELL CHAR? (CONTROL-G)
FBDB:DO	12	FBEF	100	D'HADL	BNE	RTS2B	NO. RETURN.
FBDD: A9	40	LULI	101		LDA	#540	YES
FBDE : 20	40	FC	102		ISP	WATT	DELAY OI SECONDS
FBF2:40	00	10	103		IDV	#\$00	, bhill for bhoorbb
FBEL . AQ	00		104	BEITS	TDA	#\$00	TOCCLE SPEAKER AT 1 KH7
FDE4.A)	18	TC	104	101010102	TCD	UATT	FOR 1 SEC
PDE0.20	30	CO	105		JOR	CDVD	, FOR .I SEC.
FDE7 . AD	20	00	100		DEV	JIKK	
FDEC:00	125	PDF/	107		DEI	DETTO	
FBED:DO	C 3	CDC4	100	DTCOD	DIVE	DELLZ	
FBEF:00			109	RISZD	KI S		
FBFU:	01		110	amontou	TINI	au	OURCOD IL INDEX TO V DEC
FBFU:A4	24		110	STORADV	LDY	GH (DAGI) M	CURSUE H INDEX IO I-REG
FBFZ:91	28		112	10111100	STA	(BASL),Y	SIOKE CHAR IN LINE
FBF4:E6	24		113	ADVANCE	INC	CH	(NOUT DIGUT)
FBF6:A5	24		114		LDA	CH	; (MOVE RIGHT)
FBF8:C5	21		115		CMP	WNDWDTH	; BEYOND WINDOW WIDTH?
FBFA:BO	66	FC62	116		BCS	CR	; YES, CR TO NEXT LINE.
FBFC:60			117	RTS3	RTS		; NO, RETURN.
FBFD:			118	×			
FBFD:C9	AO		119	VIDOUT	CMP	#\$A0	;CONTROL CHAR?
FBFF:BO	EF	FBFO	120		BCS	STORADV	; NO, OUTPUT IT.
FC01:A8			121		TAY		; INVERSE VIDEO?
FC02:10	EC	FBFO	122		BPL	STORADV	; YES, OUTPUT IT.
FC04:C9	8D		123		CMP	#\$8D	;CR?
FC06:F0	5A	FC62	124		BEQ	CR	; YES.
FC08:C9	8A		125		CMP	#\$8A	;LINE FEED?
FCOA:FO	5A	FC66	126		BEQ	LF	; IF SO, DO IT.
FCOC:C9	88		127		CMP	#\$88	; BACK SPACE? (CONTROL-H)
FCOE:DO	C9	FBD9	128		BNE	BELLI	; NO, CHECK FOR BELL.
FC10:C6	24		129	BS	DEC	CH	; DECREMENT CURSOR H INDEX
FC12:10	E8	FBFC	130		BPL	RTS3	; IF POSITIVE, OK; ELSE MOVE UP.
FC14:A5	21		131		LDA	WNDWDTH	;SET CH TO WINDOW WIDTH - 1.
FC16:85	24		132		STA	CH	
FC18:C6	24		133		DEC	СН	;(RIGHTMOST SCREEN POS)
FC1A:A5	22		134	UP	LDA	WNDTOP	;CURSOR V INDEX
FC1C:C5	25		135		CMP	CV	
FC1E:BO	DC	FBFC	136		BCS	RTS3	; IF TOP LINE THEN RETURN
FC20:C6	25		137		DEC	CV	; DECR CURSOR V INDEX
FC22:			138	*			

Appendix I: Monitor ROM Listings

1	FC22:A5	25		139	VTAB	LDA	CV	GET CURSOR V INDEX
	FC24:85	28		140	VTABZ	STA	BASL	;temporarily save Acc
	FC26:98			141		TYA		and Y
10	FC27:A0	04		142		LDY	#\$4	this is VTABZ call
4	FC29:D0	89	FBB4	143	GOTOCX1	BNE	GOTOCX	=> always perform call
Children and an	FC2B:			144	*			,
	EC2B:EA			145		NOP		
100	FC2C:			146	*	(22.2.2.2)		
	FC2C:49	00		147	FSC1	FOR	#\$C0	:ESC 101?
	FC2E: FO	28	FC58	148	2001	BEO	HOME	: IF SO DO HOME AND CLEAR
	FC30+69	FD	1030	149		ADC	#SED	FSC-A OR B CHECK
200	FC32:90	CO	FRF4	150		BCC	ADVANCE	· A ADVANCE
	FC34 . FO	DA	FCLO	151		BEO	RS	B BACKSPACE
	FC36+60	ED	1010	152		ADC	#SED	FSC-C OP D CHECK
	FC30:09	20	DOGG	152		PCC	TP	, ESG-C OK D CHECK
10000	FC30:90	ZG	FCOD	154		BEO	LF	D CO UP
1	FCSA:FU	DE	FUIA	154		ADC	UP HOPD	, D, GO OF
	FC3C:09	FD	000	100		ADC	# QED	E OLEAD TO END OF LINE
	FC3E:90	SG	FC9C	150		BCC	CLREOL	; E, CLEAR TO END OF LINE
	FC40:D0	BA	FBFC	15/		BNE	RTS3	; ELSE NOT F, RETURN
	FC42:		1012111	158	*	nesterated.		1
tt	FC42:	20	FC42	159	CLREOP	EQU	*	;/RRA0981
	FC42:A0	OA	10000	160		LDY	#ŞA	;CODE=CLREOP/RRA0981
	FC44:D0	E3	FC29	161		BNE	GOTOCX1	;DO 40/80 /RRA0981
15	FC46:			162	*			
10	FC46:2C	1F	CO	163	NEWVW	BIT	RD80VID	;in 80 columns?
Contraction of the local division of the loc	FC49:10	04	FC4F	164		BPL	NEWVW1	;=>not 80 columns
	FC4B:AO	00		165		LDY	#\$0	;Print a character
	FC4D:FO	OB	FC5A	166		BEQ	GOTOCX3	;through video firmware
	FC4F:98			167	NEWVW1	TYA		;get masked character
The second s	FC50:48			168		PHA		; and set up for vidwait
	FC51:20	78	FB	169		JSR	VIDWAIT	;print the character
-	FC54:68			170		PLA		;restore Acc
2	FC55:A4	35		171		LDY	YSAV1	and Y
	FC57:60			172		RTS		
	FC58:			173	*			
and the second s	FC58:		FC58	174	HOME	EQU	*	;/RRA0981
E.	FC58:A0	05		175		LDY	#5	;CODE=HOME/RRA0981
E.	FC5A:4C	B4	FB	176	GOTOCX3	JMP	GOTOCX	:do 40/80
	FC5D:			177	*			
-	FC5D:EA			178		NOP		
1-	FC5E:EA			179		NOP		
	FC5F:EA			180		NOP		
	FC60:EA			181		NOP		
	FC61:FA			182		NOP		
	FC62 .			183	*	1101		
	FC62 . 49	00		184	CR	LDA	#\$00	CURSOR TO LEFT OF INDEX
	FC64:85	24		185	OIL	STA	CH	(RET CURSOR H=0)
	FC66:F6	25		186	TF	TNC	CV	INCR CURSOR V. (DOWN LINE)
	TCGRIAS	25		187	LIT.	IDA	CV	, LIGH OURON I. (DOWN I DIND)
	FCGLIOS	23		199		CMD	UNDRUM	OFF SCREEN?
	FORCHOD	20	PC24	190		BCC	VTAR7	NO SET BASE ADDD
	1000130	25	r 624	100		DEC	CV	DECE CURSOR V. (RACK TO ROTTON)
1	7070.	2.)		101	*	DEC	0.4	(DECK GORGON V. (DROK TO BOILON)
	PC70:		F070	100	COPOL 1	FOU	*	· / DDA0081
The second s	10/01		1010	122	JUNULL	EQU		1/ NAMO 701

31 (4

Appendix I: Monitor ROM Listings

FC70:A0	06		193		LDY	#6	;CODE=SCROLL/RRA0981
FC72:D0	B5	FC29	194		BNE	GOTOCX1	;DO 40/80 /RRA0981
FC74:			195	*			
FC74:			196	* Jump	here t	to swap ou	t ROMs
FC74:			197	* for in	nterru	upt handle	rs in peripheral cards
FC74:			198	*			
FC74:8D	06	CO	199	IROUSER	STA	SETSLOTCX	ROM ;switch in slots
FC77:6C	FE	03	200		JMP	(S3FE)	and jump to user
FC7A:			201	*			,
FC7A:			202	* IRODO	NE (SO	C3F4) jump	s here after interrupt
FC7A:			203	* becaus	se thi	is cannot	be done from \$Cn00 space
FC7A:			204	*			and a second sec
FC7A:68			205	TRODONE	PLA		:Fix SC800 space
FC7B+8D	F8	07	206	Luquona	STA	MSLOT	restore MSLOT
FC7E+C9	CI	07	207		CMP	#\$C1	;valid Cn?
FC80.90	00	FCSF	208		BCC	TRONOSLT	,valla on.
FC82+8D	FF	CF	200		STA	SCEFE	Deselect all \$C800
FC85.40	00	Gr	210		TDV	#0	, Deselect all voodo
PC97 . 46	01		210		LDI	\$1	
FC00.05	01		211		CTA	Q1	
FC09:00	00		212		IDA	(00) V	ide \$C=00 reference
FCOB:BI	00		213		LDA	(50),1	do schoo reference
FC8D:80	01	00	214	TRONOCT	DIX	\$1 CETTNEOND	; fix zp location
FCOF:0D	70	CU	215	IRQNOSL	I SIA	SETINICAR	UM
FC92:4C	10	C4	210		JMP	IRQFIX	;and restore the machine state
FC95:	0.0	7000	217	8	DOG	DOGOUTO	
FC95:90	02	FC99	218	DOCOUTI	BCC	DOCOUT2	don't mask controls
FC97:25	32		219		AND	INVFLG	;apply inverse mask
FC99:4C	F/	FD	220	DOCOUT2	JMP	COUTZI	;go back to COUTI
FC9C:			221	×			
FC9C:		0000	222		DS	F80RG+\$49	C-*,0 ;pad to clreol
FC9C:			223	*			
FC9C:			224	* Note:	bytes	s CLREOL a	nd CLREOLZ (\$38 and \$18)
FC9C:			225	* are us	sed by	y slot tes	t at \$FBB7.
FC9C:			226	*			
FC9C:38			227	CLREOL	SEC		;say it is EOL
FC9D:90			228		DFB	\$90	;'BCC' opcode
FC9E:18			229	CLREOLZ	CLC		;say it is EOLZ
FC9F:84	2A		230		STY	BAS2L	;save Y in temp
FCA1:AO	07		231		LDY	#7	;code=CLREOL
FCA3:BO	78	FD1D	232		BCS	GOTOCX2	;do it
FCA5:C8			233		INY		;code 8=CLREOLZ
FCA6:DO	75	FD1D	234		BNE	GOTOCX2	
FCA8:			235	*			
FCA8:38			236	WAIT	SEC		;enter with count in A
FCA9:48			237	WAIT2	PHA		;delay is:
FCAA:E9	01		238	WAIT3	SBC	#\$01	
FCAC:DO	FC	FCAA	239		BNE	WAIT3	;13+11*A+5*A*A cycles
FCAE:68			240		PLA		;@ 1.023 usec per cycle
FCAF:E9	01		241		SBC	#\$01	
FCB1:DO	F6	FCA9	242		BNE	WAIT2	
FCB3:60		1000000	243		RTS		
FCB4:			244	*			
FCB4:E6	42		245	NXTA4	INC	A4L	; INCR 2-BYTE A4
FCB6:DO	02	FCBA	246		BNE	NXTA1	; AND Al
FCB8:E6	43		247		INC	A4H	
-----------	-----	-----------	-----	-----------	--------	-------------	--
FCBA: A5	3C		248	NXTA1	LDA	AlL	; INCR 2-BYTE A1.
FCBC:C5	3E		249		CMP	A2L	; AND COMPARE TO A2
FCBE: A5	3D		250		LDA	AlH	; (CARRY SET IF >=)
FCCO:E5	3F		251		SBC	A2H	
FCC2:E6	3C		252		INC	AlL	
FCC4:DO (02	FCC8	253		BNE	RTS4B	
FCC6:E6	3D		254		INC	AlH	
FCC8:60			255	RTS4B	RTS		
FCC9:			256	*			
FCC9:8D	07	CO	257	HEADR	STA	SETINTCXR	OM ;force internal ROM
FCCC:20	67	C5	258		JSR	XHEADER	;write header
FCCF:4C (C5	FE	259		JMP	RETCX1	force slots and return
FCD2:			260	*			· Crimeran Construction - Andrew Andrews
FCD2:			261	* For th	ne dis	sassembler	to be able to do I/O to slots.
FCD2:			262	* it car	not r	nake calls	to the I/O routines with the
FCD2:			263	* interr	nal R	OM switche	d in. This stuff switches the
FCD2:			264	* ROM OI	it for	r such inst	tances.
FCD2:			265	*	10 101	buen inor	- and - of
FCD2:8D	06	C0	266	FRRS	STA	SETSLOTON	ROM force slot ROM
FCD2:00	4.4	FO	267	LINKJ	ICP	DDBI 2	itab to the error
FCD9:20 -	DE	1.9	268		IDA	#SDE	to print a caret ""
FCD0.A9	ED	PD	260		ICD	COUT	, co print a carec
FCDA:20	24	FD	209		JOR	DELI	, print it
FCDD:20	DA	FF	270		JAK	OFTINCTI	and beep
FCEU:4C	FU	FU	271		JMP	GEIINDII	; and go get next instruction
FCE3:	01	00	2/2	A DTOT IN	CITE A	00501 0500	DOM . 5
FCE3:8D	00	00	213	DISLIN	STA	SEISLOICX	KUM ;IOTCE SLOT KUM
FCE6:20 1	DU	18	2/4		JSR	INSTDSP	disassemble the instruction
FCE9:20	53	F9	2/5		JSR	PCADJ	;calculate new PC
FCEC:84	3B		276		STY	PCH	;and update PC
FCEE:85	3A		211		STA	PCL	
FCFO:			278	*			
FCFO:			279	* NOTE:	The e	entry point	t GETINSTI is hard-coded in
FCFO:			280	* BFUNC	of th	ne Video fi	irmware.
FCFO:			281	*			2010-201
FCF0:A9	A1		282	GETINST	1 LDA	#\$Al	;get mini-prompt "!"
FCF2:85	33		283		STA	PROMPT	
FCF4:20	67	FD	284		JSR	GETLNZ	;go get a line of input
FCF7:8D (07	CO	285		STA	SETINTCXR	OM ;force internal ROM
FCFA:4C	90	CF	286		JMP	DOINST	;and return to CX space
FCFD:			287	*			
FCFD:B9	00	02	288	UPMON	LDA	IN,Y	;get character
FD00:C8			289		INY		;point to next char
FD01:C9 1	E1		290		CMP	#\$E1	;is it lowercase?
FD03:90 (06	FDOB	291		BCC	UPMON2	;=>nope
FD05:C9	FB		292		CMP	#\$FB	;lowercase?
FD07:B0 (02	FDOB	293		BCS	UPMON2	;=>nope
FD09:29 1	DF		294		AND	#\$DF	else upshift
FDOB:60			295	UPMON2	RTS		
FDOC:			296	*			
FDOC: AO	OB		297	RDKEY	LDY	#SB	:code=RDKEY
FDOE: DO	03	FD13	298		BNE	RDKEYO	allow SFD10 entry
FD10:4C	18	FD	299	FD10	JMP	RDKEY1	if enter here, do nothing
FD13:20	B4	FB	300	RDKEYO	JSR	GOTOCX	:display cursor
	1	(19) (17)	100				,,,

-

t

			0.01					
FD16:EA			301		NOP			
FD1/:EA	20	00	302	DDUDUI	NOP	(YOUL)	CO TO HEED VEY TN	
FD18:6C	38	00	303	RDKEYI	JMP	(KSWL)	GO TO USER REY-IN	
FDIB:		TINID	304	IZ TO XZ TAT	FOU	1		
FDIB:	02	FUIB	305	KEIIN	LOU	4.2	DIVEN / REACORI	
FDIB:AU	03	17.17	300	COTOCVO	LDI	11 3	(DDA0081	
FDID:46	B4	FB	307	GOTOCX2	JMP	GOTOCX	;/ RRAU981	
FD20:EA			308		NOP		;/RRAU981	
FD21:			309	×		4		
FD21:	~ ~	FD21	310	RDESC	EQU	×		
FD21:20	OC	FD	311		JSR	RDKEY	GET A KEY	
FD24:A0	01		312		LDY	#1	;CODE=FIXIT	
FD26:D0	F5	FDID	313		BNE	GOTOCX2	;=>always	
FD28:			314	*				
FD28:			315	* Flag	to the	e video f	irmware that escapes are allowed.	
FD28:			316	* This :	routin	ne is cal	led by RDCHAR which is called by	
FD28:			317	* GETLN	. The	e high bi	t of MSLOT is set by all cards	
FD28:			318	* that u	ise th	ne C800 s	pace.	
FD28:			319	*				
FD28:4E	F8	07	320	NEWRDKEY	Y LSR	MSLOT	;<128 means escape allowed	
FD2B:4C	0C	FD	321		JMP	RDKEY	;now read the key	
FD2E:EA			322		NOP			
FD2F:			323	*				
FD2F:20	21	FD	324	ESC	JSR	RDESC	;/RRA0981	
FD32:20	A5	FB	325		JSR	ESCNEW	; HANDLE ESC FUNCTION.	
FD35:20	28	FD	326	RDCHAR	JSR	NEWRDKEY	;Flag RDCHAR and read key	
FD38:C9	9B		327		CMP	#\$9B	;'ESC'?	
FD3A:FO	F3	FD2F	328		BEQ	ESC	; YES, DON'T RETURN.	
FD3C:60			329		RTS			
FD3D:			330	*				
FD3D:A0	OF		331	PICKFIX	LDY	#SF	;code = fixpick	
FD3F:20	B4	FB	332		JSR	GOTOCX	;do 80 column pick	
FD42:A4	24		333		LDY	СН	:restore Y	
FD44:9D	00	02	334		STA	IN.X	and save new character	
FD47:			335	*#03 AU	TOST2		Auto-Start Monitor ROM 27-AUG-84	PAGE 20
FD47:20	ED	FD	336	NOTCR	JSR	COUT	;echo typed char	
FD4A:EA			337		NOP			
FD4B:EA			338		NOP			
FD4C:EA			339		NOP			
FD4D:BD	00	02	340		LDA	IN,X		
FD50:C9	88		341		CMP	#\$88	CHECK FOR EDIT KEYS	
FD52:F0	1 D	FD71	342		BEQ	BCKSPC	- BACKSPACE	
FD54:C9	98		343		CMP	#\$98	 Enclose Constant of 	
FD56:F0	0A	FD62	344		BEO	CANCEL	: - CONTROL-X	
FD58:E0	F8	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	345		CPX	#SF8		
FD5A:90	03	FD5F	346		BCC	NOTCR1	:MARGIN?	
FD5C:20	3A	FF	347		JSR	BELL	: YES, SOUND BELL	
FDSF:E8	-14		348	NOTCRI	INX	- entered	ADVANCE INPUT INDEX	
ED60:D0	13	FD75	349	and a write	BNE	NXTCHAR		
FD62:	13	1.41.2	350	*		and a second		
FD62:49	DC		351	CANCEL	LDA	#SDC	BACKSLASH AFTER CANCELLED LINE	
FD64:20	ED	FD	352	STATISTICS IN C	ISR	COUT	,	
FD67:20	8F	FD	353	GETLNZ	JSR	CROUT	:OUTPUT 'CR'	
	~ 44	-		and the state of the	A			

Appendix I: Monitor ROM Listings

	concernence increase in 20124		1000	CONTRACTOR AND	101 AD1 101	1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	
356	FD6A:A5 33		354	GETLN	LDA	PROMPT	;OUTPUT PROMPT CHAR
	FD6C:20 ED	FD	355		JSR	COUT	
Aug. 1	FD6F:A2 01		356		LDX	#\$01	; INIT INPUT INDEX
	FD71:8A		357	BCKSPC	TXA	211712/012122	
	FD72:F0 F3	FD67	358		BEQ	GETLNZ	;WILL BACKSPACE TO 0
	FD74:CA		359		DEX	0.000	
	FD75:20 35	FD	360	NXTCHAR	JSR	RDCHAR	
citilia	FD78:C9 95		361		CMP	非\$95	; USE SCREEN CHAR
NIME-	FD7A:D0 08	FD84	362		BNE	ADDINP	; FOR CONTROL-U
	FD7C:B1 28		363		LDA	(BASL),Y	;do 40 column pick
	FD7E:2C 1F	CO	364		BIT	RD80VID	;80 columns?
	FD81:30 BA	FD3D	365		BMI	PICKFIX	;=>yes, fix it
	FD83:EA		366		NOP		
N. Contraction	FD84:9D 00	02	367	ADDINP	STA	IN,X	; ADD TO INPUT BUFFER
	FD87:C9 8D		368		CMP	#\$8D	
	FD89:D0 BC	FD47	369		BNE	NOTCR	
	FD8B:20 9C	FC	370		JSR	CLREOL	;CLR TO EOL IF CR
	FD8E:A9 8D		371	CROUT	LDA	#\$8D	
	FD90:D0 5B	FDED	372		BNE	COUT	;(ALWAYS)
	FD92:		373	*			
	FD92:A4 3D		374	PRA1	LDY	AlH	;PRINT CR, A1 IN HEX
Conceptual de la concep	FD94:A6 3C		375		LDX	AlL	
	FD96:20 8E	FD	376	PRYX2	JSR	CROUT	
	FD99:20 40	F9	377		JSR	PRNTYX	
	FD9C:A0 00		378		LDY	#\$00	
	FD9E:A9 AD		379		LDA	#\$AD	;PRINT '-'
	FDA0:4C ED	FD	380		JMP	COUT	
	FDA3:		381	*			
	FDA3:A5 3C		382	XAM8	LDA	AlL	
	FDA5:09 07		383		ORA	#\$07	;SET TO FINISH AT
	FDA7:85 3E		384		STA	A2L	; MOD 8=7
	FDA9:A5 3D		385		LDA	AlH	
	FDAB:85 3F		386		STA	A2H	
	FDAD: A5 3C		387	MO			
	D8CHK LDA	AlL					
-	FDAF:29 07		388		AND	#\$07	
	FDB1:D0 03	FDB6	389		BNE	DATAOUT	
	FDB3:20 92	FD	390	XAM	JSR	PRA1	
	FDB6:A9 A0		391	DATAOUT	LDA	#\$A0	
_	FDB8:20 ED	FD	392		JSR	COUT	; OUTPUT BLANK
	FDBB:B1 3C		393		LDA	(AlL),Y	
	FDBD:20 DA	FD	394		JSR	PRBYTE	;OUTPUT BYTE IN HEX
	FDC0:20 BA	FC	395		JSR	NXTA1	
In statements	FDC3:90 E8	FDAD	396		BCC	MOD8CHK	;NOT DONE YET. GO CHECK MOD 8
	FDC5:60		397	RTS4C	RTS		; DONE .
1	FDC6:		398	*			
	FDC6:4A		399	XAMPM	LSR	A	; DETERMINE IF MONITOR MODE IS
	FDC7:90 EA	FDB3	400		BCC	XAM	; EXAMINE, ADD OR SUBTRACT
	FDC9:4A		401		LSR	A	
-	FDCA:4A		402		LSR	А	
	FDCB:A5 3E		403		LDA	A2L	
-	FDCD:90 02	FDD1	404		BCC	ADD	
1	FDCF:49 FF		405		EOR	#\$FF	;FORM 2'S COMPLEMENT FOR SUBTRACT.
	FDD1:65 3C		406	ADD	ADC	AlL	

DDD2.40			107		DITA		
FDD3:48	-		407		PHA	1000	analysis in the management of the second
FDD4:A9	BD	-	408		LDA	# \$ BD	;PRINT '=', THEN RESULT
FDD6:20	ED	FD	409		JSR	COUT	
FDD9:68			410		PLA		
FDDA:48			411	PRBYTE	PHA		; PRINT BYTE AS 2 HEX DIGITS
FDDB:4A			412		LSR	A	; (DESTROYS A-REG)
FDDC:4A			413		LSR	A	
FDDD:4A			414		LSR	A	
FDDE:4A			415		LSR	A	
FDDF:20	E5	FD	416		JSR	PRHEXZ	
FDE2:68			417		PLA		
FDE3:29	OF		418	PRHEX	AND	#\$OF	; PRINT HEX DIGIT IN A-REG
FDE5:09	BO		419	PRHEXZ	ORA	#\$BO	;LSBITS ONLY.
FDE7:C9	BA		420		CMP	#\$BA	
FDE9:90	02	FDED	421		BCC	COUT	
FDEB:69	06		422		ADC	#\$06	
FDED:			423	*			
FDED:6C	36	00	424	COUT	JMP	(CSWL)	VECTOR TO USER OUTPUT ROUTINE
FDFO:			425	*			đ.
FDF0:48			426	COUT1	PHA		save original character
FDF1 : C9	AO		427		CMP	#SAO	is it a control?
FDF3:4C	95	FC	428		IMP	DOCOUT1	:=>mask if not: return to COUTZ1
FDF6:			429	*	on		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
FDF6.48			430	COUTZ	PHA		save original character
FDF7 .84	35		431	COUTZI	STY	VSAVI	save original character
EDED: 49	55		122	000121	TAV	ISAVI	, save i
EDEA . 69			432		DIA		, save masked character
FDFR.4C	1.6	EC	433		TMD	N1131.7571.1	get original char
FUFB:4C	40	FC	434		JMP	NEWVW	;new entry to vidwalt
FDFE:EA			435		NOP		
FDFF:EA			430	1	NOP		
FEUU:	21		431		000		
FEOU:C6	34		438	BLI	DEC	YSAV	
FEO2:FO	9F	FDA3	439		BEQ	XAM8	
FE04:CA			440	BLANK	DEX		BLANK TO MON
FE05:D0	16	FEID	441		BNE	SETMDZ	;AFTER BLANK
FE07:C9	BA		442		CMP	#\$BA	;DATA STORE MODE?
FE09:D0	BB	FDC6	443		BNE	XAMPM	; NO; XAM, ADD, OR SUBTRACT.
FEOB:85	31		444	STOR	STA	MODE	;KEEP IN STORE MODE
FEOD: A5	3E		445		LDA	A2L	
FEOF:91	40		446		STA	(A3L), Y	;STORE AS LOW BYTE AT (A3)
FE11:E6	40		447		INC	A3L	
FE13:D0	02	FE17	448		BNE	RTS5	; INCR A3, RETURN.
FE15:E6	41		449		INC	A3H	
FE17:60			450	RTS5	RTS		
FE18:			451	*			
FE18:A4	34		452	SETMODE	LDY	YSAV	;SAVE CONVERTED ':', '+',
FE1A: B9	FF	01	453		LDA	IN-1,Y	; '-', '.' AS MODE
FE1D:85	31		454	SETMDZ	STA	MODE	
FE1F:60			455		RTS		
FE20:			456	*			
FE20:A2	01		457	LT	LDX	#\$01	
FE22:85	3E		458	LT2	LDA	A2L.X	COPY A2 (2 BYTES) TO
FE24:95	42		459		STA	A4L.X	: A4 AND A5
FE26:95	44		460		STA	AST. X	,
					- er		

Appendix I: Monitor ROM Listings

FE28:CA			461		DEX		
FE29:10	F7	FE22	462		BPL	LT2	
FE2B:60			463		RTS		
FE2C:			464	*			
FE2C:B1	3C		465	MOVE	LDA	(All), Y	; MOVE (A1) THRU (A2) TO (A4)
FE2E:91	42		466		STA	(A4L),Y	
FE30:20	B4	FC	467		JSR	NXTA4	
FE33:90	F7	FE2C	468		BCC	MOVE	
FE35:60			469		RTS		
FE36:			470	*			5.58 S SIL
FE36:B1	3C		471	VFY	LDA	(A1L), Y	; VERIFY (A1) THRU (A2)
FE38:D1	42		472		CMP	(A4L), Y	; WITH (A4)
FE3A:FO	1C	FE58	473		BEQ	VFYOK	
FE3C:20	92	FD	474		JSR	PRA1	
FE3F:B1	30		475		LDA	(AlL),Y	
FE41:20	DA	FD	476		JSR	PRBYTE	
FE44:A9	AO		477		LDA	#\$AO	
FE46:20	ED	FD	478		JSR	COUT	
FE49:A9	A8		479		LDA	#\$A8	
FE4B:20	ED	FD	480		JSR	COUT	
FE4E:B1	42		481		LDA	(A4L), Y	
FE50:20	DA	FD	482		JSR	PRBYTE	
FE53:A9	A9		483		LDA	#\$A9	
FE55:20	ED	FD	484		JSR	COUT	
FE58:20	B4	FC	485	VFYOK	JSR	NXTA4	
FE5B:90	D9	FE36	486		BCC	VFY	
FE5D:60			487		RTS		
FE5E:	-		488	*	10/10/10/10	1000	
FE5E:20	75	FE	489	LIST	JSR	AIPC	MOVE AI (2 BYTES) TO
FE61:A9	14		490		LDA	#\$14	; PC IF SPEC'D AND
FE63:48			491	LIST2	РНА		; DISASSEMBLE 20 INSTRUCTIONS.
FE64:20	DO	F8	492		JSR	INSTDSP	
FE67:20	53	F9	493		JSR	PCADJ	;ADJUST PC AFTER EACH INSTRUCTION.
FE6A:85	3A		494		STA	PCL	
FE6C:84	38		495		STY	PCH	
FE6E:68			496		PLA		
FE6F:38	0.1		497		SEC	11001	NEW OF THE THET ONE
FE/0:E9	01	07(0)	498		SBC	#\$01	;NEXT OF 20 INSTRUCTIONS
FE/2:D0	EF	FE03	499		BNE	LISIZ	
FE/4:00			500	4	RIS		
PE75.04			502	ALDC	TYA		TE USED SDECTETED AN ADDRESS
FE/0:8A	07	12127 E	502	AIPC	REO	ALDODTO	, COPY IT FROM AL TO PC
FE70:FU	20	r E/r	504	ALDOLD	LDA	ALLA	VED SO COPY IT
FE/O:DJ	24		504	AIFGLE	CTTA	ALL,A	,157, 50 0071 11.
FE/A:93	JA		506		DEV	run, A	
FE7C:CA	FO	EE 70	507		BDI	AIDOID	
FE7D:10	19	r E/O	500	ALDODTE	DTC	AITULT	
FE80.			500	WILCUT2	U10		
FE00.10	217		510	CETTMU	I DV	#035	SET FOR INVERSE VID
FE82.00	02	FFRE	511	JEI THV	BNF	SETTRIC	: VIA COUTI
FE84.10	FF	L FOO	512	SETNORM	LDV	#SFF	SET FOR NORMAL VID
FF84.8/	32		512	SETTFIC	STY	INVELC	, our ton nontain the
7688.60	34		514	OUTTL NO	RTS	21111 10	
1.100.00			214		164 W		

Appendix I: Monitor ROM Listings

FE89:			515	*				
FE89:A9	00		516	SETKBD	LDA	#\$00	;DO	'IN#O'
FE8B:85	3E		517	INPORT	STA	A2L	;DO	'IN#AREG'
FE8D:A2	38		518	INPRT	LDX	#KSWL	8	
FESE: AO	18		519	1997 (1997 (1997 (1997)))	LDY	#KEYTN		
FEGI :DO	0.8	FFOR	520		RNF	TOPRT		
FE91.DU	00	TUD	521	*	DIALS	LOINI		
FE93:	00		500	CETUTO	TDA	#000	. DO	100 #01
FE93:A9	00		522	SEIVID	LDA	# \$00	;00	I DD // ADDOL
FE95:85	3E		523	OUTPORT	STA	AZL	; 00	PR#AREG
FE97:A2	36		524	OUTPRT	LDX	#CSWL		
FE99:A0	FO		525		LDY	#COUT1		
FE9B:A5	3E		526	IOPRT	LDA	A2L	;SET	INPUT/OUTPUT VECTORS
FE9D:29	OF		527		AND	#\$OF		
FE9F:FO	04	FEA5	528		BEQ	IOPRT1		
FEA1:09	CO		529		ORA	# <ioadr< td=""><td></td><td></td></ioadr<>		
FEA3:AO	00		530		LDY	#\$00		
FEA5:94	00		531	IOPRT1	STY	LOCO,X	;save	low byte of hook
FEA7:95	01		532		STA	LOC1.X	:save	acc
FEA9:AO	OF.		533		LDY	#SE	:code	= PR # / IN #
FFAB-4C	R4	FB	534	COTOCX4	IMP	COTOCX	nerf	orm call
FEAF.	04	1.0	535	*	SIL	001001	, perr	orn corr
FEAE . FA			536		NOP			
FEAE . DA			527	OVELIMET	NOI	0	./pp	00081
FEAF:00			531	CKSUMP 1	COD	DECT CREIM	,/ KK	TATE TIME
FEBU:	00	50	530	ND LOTO	-/CUR	REGI GROUM	ALCA	RACE COLD START
FEBU:4C	00	EO	2239	ADASIC	JMP	DASIC	,10	DASIC, COLD START
FEB3:4C	03	EU	540	BASCONI	JMP	BASICZ	;10	DASIC, WARP START
FEB6:20	15	FE	541	GO	JSK	AIPC	; ADD	TOPE BALLE DEGISTERS
FEB9:20	SE	F.F.	542		JSK	RESTORE	; KED	STORE FARE REGISTERS
FEBC:6C	3A	00	543		JWF	(PCL)	;AND	GO!
FEBF:4C	D/	FA	544	REGZ	JMP	REGDSP	;GO	DISPLAY REGISTERS
FEC2:60			545	TRACE	RTS		; TRA	CE IS GONE
FEC3:EA			546		NOP			
FEC4:60			547	STEPZ	RTS		; STE	IP IS GONE
FEC5:			548	*				
FEC5:			549	* Return	n here	e from GOT	OCX	
FEC5:			550	*				
FEC5:			551	* NOTE:	This	address i	s hard	l-coded in BFUNC of the
FEC5:			552	* video	firm	ware		
FEC5:			553	*				
FEC5:8D	06	CO	554	RETCX1	STA	SETSLOTCX	ROM ;r	estore bank
FEC8:60			555	RETCX2	RTS		;simp	ly return
FEC9:EA			556		NOP			
FECA:			557	*				
FECA:4C	F8	03	558	USR	JMP	USRADR	; JUM	1P TO CONTROL-Y VECTOR IN RAM
FECD:			559	*				
FECD:A9	40		560	WRITE	LDA	#\$40		
FECF:8D	07	CO	561	WRT2	STA	SETINTCXR	OM :se	t internal ROM
FED2:20	AA	C5	562		JSR	WRITE2	:writ	e to tape
FEDS	20	FF03	563		BEO	RD2	:=>a1	ways set slots, been
FED7.	20	1105	564	*	2000	a sa file	1	and and another and a
FED7 ·			565	* SFARO	Hie	called wit	h a Mo	unitor command of the form
FFD7.			566	* HHII	ADRI	ADR2 in m	hich A	DR1 (ADR2 and LL precedes HH
FED7.			567	* in mar	MORI .	TF UU 40	0 cm	omitted (LICADR1 ADR2) then
FED7:			560	* in mer	hory.	II nn 1S	o, or	whad for You correct acarat for
ELD/:			200	~ the s	ingre	byte LL 1	s sear	cheu for. fou cannot search for

FE89:

515 *

and a	FED7:			569	* a two	byte	e pair wi	th a high byte of O. A list of all
	FED7:			570	* adres	ses o	ontaining	g the specified pattern is displayed.
	FED7:			571	*			
	FED7:AO	01		572	SEARCH	LDY	# 1	;set Y to 1
	FED9:A5	43		573		LDA	A4H	; is high byte 0?
	FEDB:FO	04	FEE1	574		BEQ	SRCH1	;=>yes, only look for low byte
	FEDD:D1	30		575		CMP	(AlL).Y	check high byte first
	FEDF:DO	0A	FEEB	576		BNE	SRCH2	:=>no match, try next byte
	FEE1:88			577	SRCH1	DEY		match, now check low byte
a manager	FEE2:A5	42		578	onom	LDA	A41.	get low byte
	FEE4:DI	30		579		CMP	(A1L).Y	:does it match?
	FFE6:DO	03	FEER	580		BNE	SRCH2	:=>no match, try next byte
	FEE8:20	92	FD	581		ISR	PRAI	:bytes match, print address
	FFFB.20	RA	FC	582	SPCH2	ISR	NXTA1	increment address
	FEED.20	E7	FED7	583	Shonz	BCC	SEADCH	; increment Address
	FELL.SU	E/	FLDI	584		DUC	SEARCH	, SEL I DACK LO I
	FEFU.00			505	4	KI O		
	FEF1:	00		506	MINT	IDV	Hen	dispotab mini-percemblar call to
	FEF1:AU	DD D	200	200	PILNI	LDI	# \$1)	;dispatch mini-assembler call to
_	FEF3:20	B4	FB	287	-	JSK	GUIUCX	;get internal KOM switched in
	FEF6:	0.0		588	A	100	D.T. 1	WANDLE OD AG DI ANK
	FEF6:20	00	FE	589	CRMON	JSR	BLI	HANDLE CK AS BLANK
	FEF9:68			590		PLA		; THEN POP STACK
	FEFA:68			591		PLA		; AND RETURN TO MON
	FEFB:DO	6C	FF69	592	1.200	BNE	MONZ	;(ALWAYS)
	FEFD:	0.000.000		593	*			
	FEFD:8D	07	CO	594	READ	STA	SETINTC:	XROM ;set internal ROM
	FF00:20	Dl	C5	595		JSR	XREAD	;do tape read
15	FF03:8D	06	CO	596	RD2	STA	SETSLOT	CXROM ;restore slot CX
	FF06:F0	32	FF3A	597		BEQ	BELL	;read (write) ok, beep
-	FF08:D0	23	FF2D	598		BNE	PRERR	;error, print message
	FFOA:			599	*			
	FFOA:C1	FO	FO EC	600	TITLE	ASC	"Apple	//e"
	FF13:			601	*			
1	FF13:			602	* NNBL	gets	the next	non-blank for the mini-assembler
	FF13:			603	*			
1000	FF13:20	FD	FC	604	NNBL	JSR	UPMON	;get char, upshift, INY
	FF16:C9	AO		605		CMP	#\$AO	;is it blank?
1	FF18:F0	F9	FF13	606		BEQ	NNBL	;yes, keep looking
	FF1A:60			607		RTS		A Construction of the second sec
	FF1B:			608	*			
	FF1B:BO	6D	FF8A	609	LOOKASC	BCS	DIG	;it was a digit
	FF1D:C9	AO		610		CMP	#SAO	;check for guote (')
	FF1F:DO	28	FF49	611		BNE	RTS6	inope, return char
_	FF21:B9	00	02	612		LDA	\$200.Y	else get next char
4	FF24:42	07		613		LDX	#7	for shifting asc into A2L and A2H
	FF26:09	80		614		CMP	#\$8D	was it CR?
	FF28.F0	70	FFA7	615		BEO	GETNIM	ves go handle CR
	FF24.08	1 1	11111	616		TNY	OBINOII	advance index
	FF28.00	63	FFOO	617		BNF	NYTRIT	=)(alwaye) into A21 and A2H
	FF2D.	05	11.20	619	*	DIGE	MALDIT	, / artajs/ theo hes and hell
	FF2D-10	05		610	DDEDD	TDA	#505	DOTNT 'ROD! THEN EATS THTO
	FF2F-20	ED	FD	620	INDAK	ICP	COUT	· FUFFDED
	22221420	DO	r D	621		TDA	#802	, INDUIDRO
	21321A9	DZ ED	ED	622		LDA	COUT	
	2234:20	ED	FD	022		JSR	COUT	

Appendix I: Monitor ROM Listings

FF37:20 ED FD	623	JS	SR	COUT	
FF3A:	624 *				
FF3A:A9 87	625 BE	ELL LI	DA	#\$87	; MAKE A JOYFUL NOISE, THEN RETURN.
FF3C:4C ED FD	626	JL	MP	COUT	
FF3F:	627 *				
FF3F:A5 48	628 RE	STORE LI	DA	STATUS	;RESTORE 6502 REGISTER CONTENTS
FF41:48	629	Pł	HA		; USED BY DEBUG SOFTWARE
FF42:A5 45	630	LI	DA	A5H	
FF44:A6 46	631 RE	STR1 LI	DX	XREG	
FF46:A4 47	632	LI	DY	YREG	
FF48:28	633	PI	LP		
FF49:60	634 RT	CS6 R1	TS		
FF4A:	635 *				
FF4A:85 45	636 SA	VE ST	TA	A5H	;SAVE 6502 REGISTER CONTENTS
FF4C:86 46	637 SA	VI ST	TX	XREG	; FOR DEBUG SOFTWARE
FF4E:84 47	638	S	TY	YREG	
FF50:08	639	PH	HP		
FF51:68	640	PI	LA		
FF52:85 48	641	SI	TA	STATUS	
FF54:BA	642	TS	SX		
FF55:86 49	643	ST	TX	SPNT	
FF57:D8	644	CI	LD		
FF58:60	645	R	TS		
FF59:	646 *				
FF59:20 84 FE	647 OL	DRST JS	SR	SETNORM	SET SCREEN MODE
FF5C:20 2F FB	648	JS	SR	INIT	: AND INIT KBD/SCREEN
FF5F:20 93 FE	649	JS	SR	SETVID	: AS I/O DEVS.
FF62:20 89 FE	650	JS	SR	SETKBD	
FF65:	651 *				
FF65:D8	652 MO	ON CI	LD		:MUST SET HEX MODE!
FF66:20 3A FF	653	JS	SR	BELL	; FWEEPER.
FF69:A9 AA	654 MO	NZ LI	DA	#SAA	: '*' PROMPT FOR MONITOR
FF6B:85 33	655	ST	TA	PROMPT	
FF6D:20 67 FD	656	JS	SR	GETLNZ	READ A LINE OF INPUT
FF70:20 C7 FF	657	JS	SR	ZMODE	CLEAR MONITOR MODE, SCAN IDX
FF73:20 A7 FF	658 NX	TITM JS	SR	GETNUM	GET ITEM, NON-HEX
FF76:84 34	659	ST	TY	YSAV	; CHAR IN A-REG.
FF78:A0 17	660	LI	DY	#\$17	: X-REG=0 IF NO HEX INPUT
FF7A:88	661 CH	IRSRCH DI	EY		
FF7B:30 E8 FF65	662	B	MI	MON	COMMAND NOT FOUND, BEEP & TRY AGAIN.
FF7D:D9 CC FF	663	CI	MP	CHRTBL,Y	FIND COMMAND CHAR IN TABLE
FF80:D0 F8 FF7A	664	BI	NE	CHRSRCH	NOT THIS TIME
FF82:20 BE FF	665	JS	SR	TOSUB	;GOT IT! CALL CORRESPONDING SUBROUTINE
FF85:A4 34	666	LI	DY	YSAV	PROCESS NEXT ENTRY ON HIS LINE
FF87:4C 73 FF	667	JL	MP	NXTITM	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
FF8A:	668 *				
FF8A: A2 03	669 DI	G LI	DX	#\$03	
FF8C:0A	670	AS	SL	A	
FF8D:0A	671	AS	SL	A	:GOT HEX DIGIT.
FF8E:0A	672	4	SL	A	: SHIFT INTO A2
FF8F:0A	673	AS	SL	A	
FF90:0A	674 NX	TBIT AS	SL	A	
FF91:26 3E	675	R	OL	A2L	
FF93:26 3F	676	R	OL	A2H	
		Tre	10 TT		

Appendix I: Monitor ROM Listings

FE95.CA 677 DE	X	·LEAVE X=SEE IF DIG
FF96:10 F8 FF90 678 BP	T NYTRTT	, HURVO A-OIT II DIG
FF98:45 31 679 NYTBAS ID	MODE	
EEQA-DO OG EEA2 680 BN	E NYTRC)	TE MODE IS ZERO
EF00-P5 3F 681 ID	A ADU V	TUEN CODY A2 TO A1 AND A3
FF90.65 3D 682 87	A ALU V	, THEN COLL AZ TO AT AND AS
PPA0.05 (1) 692 07	A AIR,A	
FFAU:50 41 000 51	A AJR,A	
FFAZ:E0 004 NAIDSZ IN		
FFAS:FU FS FF90 005 DE	U NAIDAS	
FFAD:DU UO FFAD 000 DN	IL NAIGHR	
FFA/: 00/ ~	W #600	CTEAD AD
PPA0.96 2E 690 CEINUM LD	A 1 200	, CLEAR AZ
FFA9:00 JE 007 JI	A AZL	
FFRD:00 SF 070 SI	A ALT	trat abox unabift TNV
PPRO PA 602 NO	D	. INV pay dopo in HPMON
FFDU: LA 072 NO	D #CRO	, THI NOW GONE IN OTHON
FFD1:47 DU 075 EU	D HEOA	
FFD5:09 UA 074 0A	C DIC	BP TE UEV DICIT
TED7.60.90 606 AD	C #299	, DK IT HEA DIGIT
FFD/:09 00 090 AD	D #CTA	
EEDD. (CIPEE 609 IN	I TOOKYCC	school for ASCII input
FFDD:4C ID FF 070 JR	IF LUUKABU	, check for ASCII Input
FFDE: 077 "	the the co	DISPATCH TO SUBPOUTINE BY
FFDE:A9 FE 700 10308 ED	IA IF CGO	. DUSUTNC TUE UI_ODDED SUBD ADDD
PPC1-PD P2 PP 702 ID	A CITETET V	. TUEN THE LO-OPDED SURD ADDR
PECA-68 702 DD	A SUBIDL,I	· ONTO THE STACK
FFC5:45 31 70/ ID	A MODE	· (CLEAPING THE MODE SAVE THE OLD
FEC7:40 00 705 ZMODE LD	v #\$00	· MODE IN A-REC)
FEC9:84 31 706 ST	Y MODE	, NODA IN A ADO,,
FFCB:60 707 BT	S	· AND 'RTS' TO THE SUBROUTINE!
FFCC: 708 *		, has no to the oblocition
FFCC:BC 709 CHRTBL DF	B SBC	· C (BASIC WARM START)
FFCD: R2 710 DF	B SB2	Y (USER VECTOR)
FECE-BE 711 DE	B SBE	TE (OPEN AND DISPLAY REGISTERS)
FFCF:9A 712 DF	B S9A	:! (enter mini-assembler)
FFDO:EF 713 DF	B SEF	:V (MEMORY VERIFY)
FFD1:C4 714 DF	B SC4	:^K (IN#SLOT)
FFD2:EC 715 DF	B SEC	:S (search for 2 bytes)
FFD3:A9 716 DF	B SA9	· P (PR#SLOT)
FFD4:88 717 DF	B SBB	: B (BASIC COLD START)
FFD5:A6 718 DF	B SA6	:'-' (SUBTRACTION)
FFD6:A4 719 DF	B SA4	:'+' (ADDITION)
FFD7:06 720 DF	B \$06	:M (MEMORY MOVE)
FFD8:95 721 DF	B \$95	:'<' (DELIMITER FOR MOVE, VFY)
FFD9:07 722 DF	B \$07	:N (SET NORMAL VIDEO)
FFDA:02 723 DF	B \$02	;I (SET INVERSE VIDEO)
FFDB:05 724 DF	B \$05	L (DISASSEMBLE 20 INSTRS)
FFDC:F0 725 DF	B SFO	W (WRITE TO TAPE)
FFDD:00 726 DF	B \$00	G (EXECUTE PROGRAM)
FFDE:EB 727 DF	B SEB	R (READ FROM TAPE)
FEDF:93 728 DF	B \$93	;':' (MEMORY FILL)
FFE0:A7 729 DF	B SA7	;'.' (ADDRESS DELIMITER)
FFE1:06 730 DF	°B \$C6	;'CR' (END OF INPUT)

. .

			T ()		
A manufacture of	1.4.7	A. G	204 121 13	1 (5-1)	M CLE
A 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		VIC 20111		NO. 1	11.00
The second se	£ (1)	1721/21.64	17.4. D. 1. Mark 1.	7 6 Section 2.1 - 1	

FFE2:99			/31		DFB	\$99	; BLA	NK
FFE3:			732	*				
FFE3:			733	* Table	of 1	ow order mo	onitor	routine dispatch
FFE3:			734	* addres	sses.	High byte	alway	ys SFE
FFE3:			735	*				
FFE3:B2			736	SUBTBL	DFB	>BASCONT-1	;^C	(BASIC warm start)
FFE4:C9			737		DFB	>USR-1	; ~Y	(not used)
FFE5:BE			738		DFB	>REGZ-1	; ^E	(open and display registers)
FFE6:FO			739		DFB	>MINI-1	;mini	assembler
FFE7:35			740		DFB	>VFY-1	;V	(memory verify)
FFE8:8C			741		DFB	>INPRT-1	; ~K	(IN#SLOT)
FFE9:D6			742		DFB	>SEARCH-1	;searc	ch for pattern
FFEA:96			743		DFB	>OUTPRT-1	;^P	(PR#SLOT)
FFEB:AF			744		DFB	>XBASIC-1	: ^B	(BASIC cold start)
FFEC:17			745		DFB	>SETMODE-1	: '-'	(subtraction)
FFED:17			746		DFB	>SETMODE-1	: 1+1	(addition)
FFEE:2B			747		DFB	>MOVE-1	: M	(memory move)
FFFF:1F			748		DEB	>LT-1	. 1 < 1	(delim for move. vfv)
FFF0.83			749		DEB	SETNORM-1	· N	(set normal video)
FFF1.7F			750		DEB	SETINV-1	• T	(set inverse video)
FFF1.7F			751		DEB	NITET-1	, L	(disassamble 20 instre)
FFF3.CC			752		DEB	SUPITE-1	· W	(write to tapa)
FFFJ.00			753		DEB	>CO-1		(write to tape)
FFF5.FC			754		DEB	DEEAD-1	, G	(read from tano)
FFFJ:FC			755		DEB	ACEAD-1	.1.1	(read from tape)
FFF0:17			755		DED	>SEIMODE-I		(memory rill)
FFF/:1/			750		DFB	SEIMODE-I	loni	(address delimiter)
FFF8:F5			151		DFB	>CRMON-1	, CR	(end of input)
FFF9:03			758	1.26	DFB	>BLANK-1	; BLANN	
FFFA:	0.0		159	×	-		MON	WIGHIDIG THEREBUILDE HEARAD
FFFA:FB	03		760		DW	NMI	; NON-	-MASKABLE INTERRUPT VECTOR
FFFC:62	FA		761		DW	RESET	; RESE	ST VECTOR
FFFE:FA	C3		/62		DW	IRQ	; INTI	ERRUPT REQUEST VECTOR
0000:			19	1000	INCL	UDE MINI		
0000:			1	*				
0000:			2	* Apple	//e	Mini Assemt	oler	
0000:			3	*		u 240 /2	78.79	
0000:			4	* Got m	nemon	ic, check a	address	s mode
0000:			5	*				
C4C8:		C4C8	6-		ORG	C30RG+\$1C8	3	
C4C8:			7	*				
C4C8:20	13	FF	8	AMOD1	JSR	NNBL	;get 1	next non-blank
C4CB:84	34		9		STY	YSAV	;save	Y
C4CD:DD	B4	F9	10		CMP	CHAR1, X		
C4D0:D0	13	C4E5	11		BNE	AMOD2		
C4D2:20	13	FF	12		JSR	NNBL	;get r	next non-blank
C4D5:DD	BA	F9	13		CMP	CHAR2, X		
C4D8:F0	OD	C4E7	14		BEQ	AMOD3		
C4DA:BD	BA	F9	15		LDA	CHAR2,X	;done	yet?
C4DD:FO	07	C4E6	16		BEO	AMOD4		
C4DF:C9	A4		17		CMP	#\$A4	;if "S	" then done
C4E1:F0	03	C4E6	18		BEQ	AMOD4		
C4E3:A4	34		19		LDY	YSAV	;resto	ore Y
C4E5:18			20	AMOD2	CLC		and the second second second	
C4E6:88			21	AMOD4	DEY			

C4E7:26	44		22	AMOD3	ROL	A5L	;shift bit into format
C4E9:E0	03		23		CPX	#\$03	
C4EB:DO	OD	C4FA	24		BNE	AMOD6	
C4ED:20	A7	FF	25		JSR	GETNUM	
C4F0:A5	3F		26		LDA	A2H	;get high byte of address
C4F2:F0	01	C4F5	27		BEO	AMOD5	:=>
C4F4:E8			28		INX		
C4F5:86	35		29	AMOD5	STX	YSAV1	
C4F7:A2	03		30		LDX	#\$03	
C4F9:88	0.0		31		DEY		
C4FA:86	30		32	AMOD6	STX	AIH	
C4FC:CA	50		33	IL IODO	DEX	min	
C4FD:10	00	C4C8	34		BPL	AMOD1	
C4FE:60	07	0400	35		PTS	nutobi	
C4FF.00			36	*	KI O		
CDOU:		0004	30		ARC	CRORC+\$7	3.4
GEDA:		CFSA	20	*	URG	COURGEST	JA
CFSA:			20	* 0-1-	1	. ffast he	te fer relative addresses
CF3A:			39	* Calcu	late	oriset by	te for relative addresses
CF3A:	0.1		40	×			1 1 1 1
CF3A:E9	81		41	REL	SBC	#\$81	;calc relative address
CF3C:4A			42		LSR	A	
CF3D:DO	14	CF53	43		BNE	GOERR	;bad branch
CF3F:A4	3F		44		LDY	A2H	
CF41:A6	3E		45		LDX	A2L	
CF43:D0	01	CF46	46		BNE	RELI	
CF45:88			47		DEY		;point to offset
CF46:CA			48	REL1	DEX		;displacement - 1
CF47:8A			49		TXA		
CF48:18			50		CLC		
CF49:E5	3A		51		SBC	PCL	;subtract current PCL
CF4B:85	3E		52		STA	A2L	;and save as displacement
CF4D:10	01	CF50	53		BPL	REL2	;check page
CF4F:C8			54		INY		
CF50:98			55	REL2	TYA		;get page
CF51:E5	3B		56		SBC	PCH	;check page
CF53:D0	40	CF95	57	GOERR	BNE	MINIERR	:display error
CF55:			58	*			1 1 4
CF55:			59	* Move	instr	uction to	memory
CF55:			60	*			
CF55:44	2F		61	MOVINSI	LDY	LENGTH	get instruction length
CF57 : B9	30	00	62	MOVI	LDA	ALH Y	get a byte
CF5A:91	34	0.0	63		STA	(PCL) Y	and move it
CF5C:88	5.4		64		DEY	(102),1	Juliu moro re
CE5D:10	FS	CE57	65		RPI	MOV1	
CESE:	ro	GEST	66	*	ЫЦ	010 1	
CESE:			67	* Diani	ou in	atructica	
CESE:			60	* Disbi	ay II	istruction	
OFFF: 20	1.0	120	60		TOD	DDDTNU	tenint blenks to make ProDOC tenks
CFDF:20	40	F9	70		JSK	PROLINE	print blanks to make riobos work
CF62:20	IA	FC	70		JSR	UP	;move up 2 lines
0105:20	LA	FC	71		JSK	UP	
Cr68:4C	E.3	FC	12	-	JMP	DISLIN	; alsassemble it, =>DUINSI
CFOB:			13	* 0		1.4	C 11 1
CFOB:			14	* Compa	re di	sassembly	or all known opcodes with
CFOB:			15	* the o	ne ty	ped in un	til a match is tound

CF6B:			76	*			
CE6B: A5	30		77	GETOP	I.DA	AlH	get oncode
CF6D:20	8E	F8	78	04101	ISR	INSDS2	determine mnemonic index
CF70:AA	0D	10	79		TAX	1100002	:X = index
CF71:BD	00	FA	80		LDA	MNEMR, X	get right half of index
CF74:C5	42		81		CMP	A41.	:does it match entry?
CE76:D0	13	CF8B	82		BNE	NXTOP	:=>try next oncode
CE78:BD	co	FQ	83		IDA	MNEMI X	get left half of index
CF78:C5	43	1.7	84		CMP	A4H	does it match entry?
CF7D:D0	00	CESB	85		BNE	NXTOP	=>no_try_next_oncode
CE7E:45	44	OLOD	86		TDA	451	found oncode check address mode
CESI:AA	25		87		TDY	FORMAT	get addr. mode format for that oncode
CF83+C0	QD		88		CPV	#son	is it relative?
CE85.EO	20	CERA	90		PFO	PEI	, is it relative.
CF03.F0	25	CLAN	09		CMD	FORMAT	,-/yes, card relative address
CF87:CJ	ZE	OPEE	90		BEO	MOUTNET	, uses mode match:
CF09:FU	CA 2D	6533	91	WYTOD	DEQ	MUVINSI	,-/yes, move instruction to memory
CFOD:CO	DC	andn	92	NATOP	DEC	AIR	;else try next opcode
CF6D:DU	DC	CLOR	93		BNE	GETOP	;=/go try it
CF8F:Eb	44		94		INC	ADL	;else try next format
CF91:C6	35	07(7	95		DEC	YSAVI	
CF93:FU	D6	CFOB	96	22	REQ	GETOP	;=>go try next format
CF95:			91	*			
CF95:			98	* Point	to th	ne error w	ith a caret, beep, and fall
CF95:			99	* into	the mi	Ln1-assemb.	ler.
CF95:			100	*			
CF95:A4	34		101	MINIERR	LDY	YSAV	;get position
CF97:98			102	ERR2	TYA		
CF98:AA		10.0 000	103		TAX		
CF99:4C	D2	FC	104		JMP	ERR3	;display error, =>DOINST
CF9C:			105	*			and server all residences in the server and
CF9C:			106	* Read	a line	e of input	. If prefaced with "", decode
CF9C:			107	* mnemor	nic. 1	[f "\$" do t	nonitor command. Otherwise parse
CF9C:			108	* hex a	ddress	s before de	ecoding mnemonic.
CF9C:	000-22		109	*	10005		TH:
CF9C:20	C7	FF	110	DOINST	JSR	ZMODE	;clear mode
CF9F:AD	00	02	111		LDA	\$200	;get first char in line
CFA2:C9	AO		112		CMP	#\$AO	; if blank,
CFA4:F0	12	CFB8	113		BEQ	DOLIN	;=>go attempt disassembly
CFA6:C9	8D		114		CMP	#\$8D	;is it return?
CFA8:DO	01	CFAB	115		BNE	GETI1	;=>no, continue
CFAA:60			116		RTS		;else return to Monitor
CFAB:			117	*			
CFAB:20	A7	FF	118	GETI1	JSR	GETNUM	;parse hexadecimal input
CFAE:C9	93		119		CMP	#\$93	;look for "ADDR:"
CFBO:DO	E5	CF97	120	GOERR2	BNE	ERR2	;no ":", display error
CFB2:8A			121		TXA		;X nonzero if address entered
CFB3:F0	E2	CF97	122		BEQ	ERR2	;no "ADDR", display error
CFB5:			123	*			
CFB5:20	78	FE	124		JSR	Alpclp	;move address to PC
CFB8:A9	03		125	DOLIN	LDA	#\$03	;get starting opcode
CFBA:85	3D		126		STA	AlH	;and save
CFBC:20	13	FF	127	NXTCH	JSR	NNBL	;get next non-blank
CFBF:OA			128		ASL	A	;validate entry
CFCO:E9	BE		129		SBC	#SBE	

CFC2:C9	C2		130		CMP	#\$C2	
CFC4:90	D1	CF97	131		BCC	ERR2	;=>flag bad mnemonic
CFC6:			132	*			
CFC6:			133	* Form	mnemo	nic for	later comparison
CFC6:			134	*			
CFC6:OA			135		ASL	A	
CFC7:0A			136		ASL	A	
CFC8:A2	04		137		LDX	#\$04	
CFCA:0A			138	NXTMN	ASL	A	
CFCB:26	42		139		ROL	A4L	
CFCD:26	43		140		ROL	A4H	
CFCF:CA			141		DEX		
CFD0:10	F8	CFCA	142		BPL	NXTMN	
CFD2:C6	3D		143		DEC	AlH	;decrement mnemonic count
CFD4:FO	F4	CFCA	144		BEQ	NXTMN	A second se
CFD6:10	E4	CFBC	145		BPL	NXTCH	
CFD8:A2	05		146		LDX	#\$5	; index into address mode tables
CFDA:20	C8	C4	147		JSR	AMOD1	;do this elsewhere
CFDD:A5	44		148		LDA	A5L	;get format
CFDF:OA			149		ASL	A	
CFEO:OA			150		ASL	A	
CFE1:05	35		151		ORA	YSAV1	
CFE3:C9	20		152		CMP	#\$20	
CFE5:BO	06	CFED	153		BCS	AMOD7	
CFE7:A6	35		154		LDX	YSAV1	;get our format
CFE9:FO	02	CFED	155		BEQ	AMOD7	
CFEB:09	80		156		ORA	#\$80	
CFED:85	44		157	AMOD7	STA	A5L	;update format
CFEF:84	34		158		STY	YSAV	;update position
CFF1:B9	00	02	159		LDA	\$0200,Y	;get next character
CFF4:C9	BB		160		CMP	#\$BB	;is it a ";"?
CFF6:F0	04	CFFC	161		BEQ	AMOD8	;=>yes, skip comment
CFF8:C9	8D		162		CMP	#\$8D	; is it carriage return
CFFA:DO	B4	CFBO	163		BNE	GOERR2	187
CFFC:4C	6B	CF	164	AMOD8	JMP	GETOP	;get next opcode
CFFF:			165	*			
			166		DER	002	the fee and the ottop shares all
	CFC2:C9 CFC4:90 CFC6: CFC6: CFC6: CFC6:C CFC7:OA CFC8:A2 CFCA:OA CFC8:A2 CFCA:CA CFC0:C CFD1:C CFD2:C6 CFD2:C6 CFD4:F0 CFD3:A2 CFD3:A2 CFD3:A2 CFD3:A2 CFD4:C CFD5:C CFE3:C9 CFE3:C9 CFE3:C9 CFE5:B0 CFE7:A6 CFE9:F0 CFE5:B0 CFE7:A6 CFE7:A6 CFE7:A6 CFE7:A6 CFE7:A6 CFE7:C CFE3:C9 CFE5:C9 CFE7:C7 CFE3:C9 CFE7:C7 CFE3:C9 CFE7:C7 CFE3:C9 CFE7:C7 CFE3:C9 CFE7:C7 CFE3:C9 CFE7:C7 CFE3:C9 CFE7:C7 CFE3:C9 CFE7:C7 CFE3:C9 CFE7:C7 CFE3:C9 CFE7:C7 CFF3:C9 CFF4:C9 CF	CFC2:C9 C2 CFC4:90 D1 CFC6: CFC6: CFC6: CFC6: CFC6:A CFC7:OA CFC8:A2 04 CFC8:A2 04 CFC8:A2 04 CFC8:C4 CFC0:C4 CFC0:C4 CFC0:C6 CFC7:CA CFD2:C6 3D CFD2:C6 3D CFD4:F0 F4 CFD6:10 E4 CFD6:10 E4 CFD8:A2 05 CFD3:A2 05 CFD3:A2 05 CFD3:C7 CFE3:C9 20 CFE5:B0 06 CFE7:A6 35 CFE9:F0 02 CFE5:B0 980 CFE5:B0 980 CFE5:S0 44 CFFF:S4 34 CFF1:B9 00 CFF5:C9 BB CFF6:F0 42 CFF8:C9 BB CFF6:F0 42 CFF8:C9 BB CFF6:F0 42 CFF7:D0 BC	CFC2:C9 C2 CFC4:90 D1 CF97 CFC6: CFC6: CFC6: CFC6:0A CFC7:0A CFC8:A2 04 CFC8:A2 04 CFC8:A2 04 CFC8:C4 CFC9:C4 CFC0:C4 CFC0:C4 CFC0:C4 CFD0:10 F8 CFCA CFD2:C6 3D CFD2:C6 3D CFD4:F0 F4 CFCA CFD2:C6 3D CFD4:F0 F4 CFCA CFD6:10 E4 CFBC CFD8:A2 05 CFD4:C9 C8 CFD7:CA CFD7:CA CFD7:CA CFD7:CA CFD7:CA CFE0:CA CFE1:05 35 CFE3:C9 20 CFE3:C9 20 CFE3:C9 20 CFE5:B0 06 CFED CFE7:A6 35 CFE9:F0 02 CFED CFE9:F0 02 CFED CFE1:84 34 CFF1:B9 00 02 CFF4:C9 BB CFFA:C9 BB CFFA:C9 CFE CFF8:C9 CF CFFC:C4 CFE CFFC:C4 CFE CFC0:C4 CFE CFFC:C4 CFE CFC7:C4 CFE CFC7:C4 CFE CFC7:C4 CFE CFFC:C4 CFE CFFC:C4 CFE CFFC:C4 CFE CFC7:C4 CFE CFC7:C7C7 CFC7:C4 CFE CFC7:C7C7 CFC7:C4 CFE	CFC2:C9 C2 130 CFC4:90 D1 CF97 131 CFC6: 132 CFC6: 133 CFC6: 133 CFC6: 134 CFC6: 135 CFC7:0A 136 CFC7:0A 136 CFC8:A2 04 137 CFC8:A2 04 137 CFCA:0A 138 CFC8:A2 04 137 CFCA:0A 141 CFD0:26 43 140 CFCF:CA 141 CFD0:10 F8 CFCA 142 CFD2:C6 3D 143 CFD4:F0 F4 CFCA 144 CFD6:10 E4 CFBC 145 CFD6:10 E4 CFBC 145 CFD4:F0 F4 CFCA 144 CFD6:10 E4 CFBC 145 CFD4:F0 F4 CFCA 144 CFD6:10 E4 CFBC 145 CFD6:10 E4 CFBC 145 CFD6:10 E5 146 CFD7:0A 149 CFD7 150 CFE1:05	CFC2:C9 C2 130 CFC4:90 D1 CF97 131 CFC6: 132 * CFC6: 133 * Form CFC6: 134 * CFC6: 134 * CFC6: 135 * CFC6:0A 135 * CFC7:0A 136 * CFC8:A2 04 137 CFC8:A2 04 137 CFC8:A2 04 138 CFC1:0A 141 CFC0:26 43 140 CFC7:CA 141 CFD0:10 F8 CFCA 142 CFD4:F0 F4 CFCA 144 CFD6:10 E4 CFBC 145 CFD4:F0 F4 CFCA 144 CFD5:10 E4 CFD6 145 CFD1:55 S 151 148 CFD1:55 S 151 152 CFE3:09 80 156 154 CFE9:F0 02 CFE0 155	CFC2:C9 C2 130 CMP CFC4:90 D1 CF97 131 BCC CFC6: 132 * CFC66: 132 * CFC6: 133 * Form mnemo CFC6: 133 * CFC6: 134 * CFC6: 134 * CFC6: 134 * CFC6: 135 ASL CFC7:0A 136 ASL CFC7:0A 136 ASL CFC8:26 42 137 LDX CFC6: CFC8:26 42 139 ROL CFC9:26 43 140 ROL CFCF:CA 141 DEX CFD0:10 F8 CFCA 142 BPL CFD2:C6 3D 143 DEC CFD4:F0 F4 CFCA 144 BEQ CFD6:10 E4 CFBC 145 BPL CFD2:C6 3D 143 DEC CFD3:20 C8 C4 147 JSR	CFC2:C9 C2 130 CMP #\$C2 CFC4:90 D1 CF97 131 BCC ERR2 CFC6: 132 * CFC6: 133 * Form mnemonic for CFC6: 134 * CFC6: 134 * CFC7:0A 136 ASL A CFC8:26 42 139 ROL A4L CFCD:26 43 140 ROL A4H CFC7:CA 141 DEX CFD0:10 F8 CFCA 142 BPL NXTMN CFD2:C6 3D 143 DEC A1H CFD2: CFD: S5 CFD4:F0 F4 CFCA 144

v - 1

-16

- 8

New York

T

all and

Glossary

accumulator: The register in the 65C02 microprocessor where most computations are performed.

ACIA: Acronym for Asychronous Communications Interface Adapter. The ACIA is a chip that converts data from parallel to serial form and vice versa. Its internal registers control and keep track of the sending and receiving of data. Firmware and software set and change the status of these internal registers.

acronym: A word formed from the initial letters of a name or phrase, such as *ROM*, from *read-only memory*.

address: A number that specifies a single byte of memory. Addresses can be given as decimal integers or as hexadecimal integers. A 64K system has addresses ranging from 0 to 65535 (in decimal) or from \$0000 to \$FFFF (in hexadecimal).

algorithm: A step-by-step procedure for solving a problem or accomplishing a task.

analog: Represented in terms of a physical quantity that can vary smoothly and continuously over a

range of values. For example, a conventional 12-hour clock face is an analog device that represents the time of day in terms of the angles of the clock's hands. Compare **digital**.

analog data: Data in the form of continuously variable physical quantities. Compare **digital data**.

analog signal: A signal that varies continuously over time.

analog-to-digital converter: A device that converts quantities from analog to digital form. For example, hand controls used on Apple II family computers convert the position of the control dial (an analog quantity) into a discrete number (a digital quantity) that changes abruptly even when the dial is turned smoothly.

AND: A logical operator that produces a true result if both of its operands are true, a false result if either or both of its operands are false; compare **OR**, **exclusive OR**, **NOT**.

ANSI: Acronym for *American National Standards Institute*, which sets standards for many fields and is the most common standard for terminals. **Apple IIc:** A transportable personal computer in the Apple II family, with a disk drive and 80-column capability built in.

Apple IIe: A personal computer in the Apple II family.

Apple IIe 80-Column Text Card: A peripheral card that plugs into the Apple IIe's auxiliary slot and converts the computer's display of text from 40-column width to 80-column width.

Apple IIe Extended 80-Column Text Card: A peripheral card that plugs into the Apple IIe's auxiliary slot and converts the computer's display of text from 40-column width to 80-column width while extending its memory capacity by 64K bytes.

Apple II Pascal: A software system that lets you create and execute programs written in the Pascal programming language, adapted by Apple Computer from the UCSD (University of California, San Diego) Pascal Operating System and sold for use with the Apple II family of computers. Applesoft BASIC: An extended version of the BASIC programming language used with the Apple II family of computers. An interpreter for creating and executing programs in Applesoft is built into the computer's firmware. Compare Integer BASIC.

application program: A program that puts the resources and capabilities of the computer to use for some specific purpose or task, such as word processing, data base management, or graphics. Compare **system program**.

argument: The value on which a function operates.

arithmetic expression: A combination of numbers and arithmetic operators (such as 3 + 5) that indicates some operation to be carried out.

arithmetic operator: An operator, such as +, that combines numeric values to produce a numeric result. Compare relational operator, logical operator.

ASCII: Acronym for *American Standard Code for Information Interchange*, pronounced *ASK ee.* A code in which the numbers from 0 to 127 stand for text characters including the letters of the alphabet, the digits 0 through 9, punctuation marks, special characters, and control characters—used for representing text inside a computer and for transmitting text between computers or between a computer and a peripheral device.

assembler: A language translator that converts a program written in assembly language into an equivalent program in machine language.

assembly language: A low-level programming language in which individual machine-language instructions are written in a symbolic form more easily understood by a human programmer than machine language itself.

asserted: Made true (positive in positive-true logic; negative in negative-true logic).

asynchronous transmission: Not synchronized by or with a clocking signal. Transmission in which each information character is individually synchronized, usually by the use of start and stop bits. The gap between each character isn't necessarily fixed. Compare **synchronous transmission**. **auxiliary slot:** The special expansion slot inside the Apple IIe used for the Apple 80-Column Text Card or Extended 80-Column Text Card.

base address: In indexed addressing, the fixed component of an address.

BASIC: Acronym for *Beginner's All-purpose Symbolic Instruction Code*. A high-level programming language designed to be easy to learn and use. Two versions of BASIC are available from Apple Computer for use with all Apple II family systems: Applesoft (built into firmware) and Integer BASIC (provided on the *ProDOS User's Disk*).

baud: Unit of signaling speed taken from the name Baudot. The speed in bauds is equal to the number of discrete conditions or signal events per second regardless of the information content of those signals. Often equated (though not precisely) with bits per second. Compare **bit rate**. **binary:** The representation of numbers in terms of powers of two, using the two digits 0 and 1. Commonly used in computers because the values 0 and 1 can easily be represented in physical form in a variety of ways, such as the presence or absence of current, positive or negative voltage, or a white or black dot on the display screen. A single binary digit—a 0 or a 1—is called a **bit**.

binary digit: The smallest unit of information in the binary number system. Also called a **bit**.

binary operator: An operator that combines two operands to produce a result; for example, + is a binary arithmetic operator, < is a binary relational operator, and *OR* is a binary logical operator. Compare **unary operator**.

bit: The smallest item of useful information a computer can handle. Usually represented as a 1 or a 0. Eight bits equal one byte.

bit rate: The speed at which bits are transmitted, usually expressed as **bps** or **bits per second**. Compare **baud**.

board: See printed-circuit board.

body: The statements or instructions that make up a part of a program, such as a loop or a subroutine.

boot: To start up a computer by loading a program into memory from an external storage medium such as a disk. Often accomplished by first loading a small program whose purpose is to read the larger program into memory. The program is said to *pull itself up by its own bootstraps*—hence the term *bootstrapping* or *booting*.

boot disk: See startup disk.

bootstrap: See boot.

bps: See bit rate.

branch: To send program execution to a line or statement other than the next in sequence.

BREAK: A SPACE (0) signal, sent over a communication line, of long enough duration to interrupt the sender. This signal is often used to end a session with a time-sharing service.

BRK: An instruction that causes the 65C02 microprocessor to halt.

buffer: A memory area that holds information until it can be processed.

bug: An error in a program that causes it not to work as intended.

bus: A group of wires that transmit related information from one part of a computer system to another.

byte: A sequence of eight bits that represents an instruction, a letter, a number, or a punctuation mark.

cable: A group of wires used to carry information between two devices. How many wires are used varies with the type of connection.

call: To request the execution of a subroutine or function.

card: See peripheral card.

carriage return: An ASCII character (decimal 13) that ordinarily causes a printer or display device to place the subsequent character on the left margin.

carrier: The background signal on a communication channel that is modified to *carry* the information. Under RS232-C rules, the carrier signal is equivalent to a continuous MARK (1) signal; a transition to 0 then represents a start bit. **carry flag:** A status bit in the 65C02 microprocessor, used to hold the high-order bit (the *carry* bit) in addition and subtraction.

central processing unit: See processor.

character: Any symbol that has a widely understood meaning. Some characters—such as letters, numbers, and punctuation—can be displayed on the monitor screen and printed on a printer. Others are used to control various functions of the computer. See **control character**.

character code: A number used to represent a text character for processing by a computer system.

character set: The entire set of characters that can be either shown on a monitor or used to code computer instruction. In a printer, the entire set of characters that the printer is capable of printing.

circuit board: A collection of integrated circuits (chips) on a board.

Clear To Send: An RS232-C signal from a DCE to a DTE that is normally kept false until the DCE makes it true, indicating that all circuits are ready to transfer data out. **code:** (1) A number or symbol used to represent some piece of information in a compact or easily processed form. (2) The statements or instructions making up a program.

cold start: The process of starting up the Apple II when the power is first turned on (or as if the power had just been turned on) by loading the operating system into main memory, then loading and running a program.

column: A vertical arrangement of graphics points or character spaces on the monitor screen.

command: A word or character that causes the computer to do something.

compiler: A language translator that converts a program written in a high-level programming language into an equivalent program in some lower-level language (such as machine language) for later execution. Compare **interpreter**.

composite video: A video signal that includes both display information and the synchronization (and other) signals needed to display it. **computer:** An electronic device that performs predefined (programmed) computations at high speed and with great accuracy. A machine that is used to store, transfer, and transform information.

computer language: See programming language.

computer system: A computer and its associated hardware, firmware, and software.

conditional branch: A branch that depends on the truth of a condition or the value of an expression. Compare **unconditional branch**.

configuration: The hardware and software arrangement of a system.

connector: A physical device such as a plug, socket, or jack, used to connect two devices to one another.

console: The Apple IIe's video display and keyboard together make up the console. This is the part of the Apple IIe you communicate with directly.

constant: A symbol in a program that represents a fixed, unchanging value. Compare **variable**.

CONTROL: A key that when pressed in conjunction with another key makes that other key behave differently.

CONTROL RESET: This combination of keystrokes usually causes an Applesoft program or command to stop immediately. If a program disables the CONTROL RESET feature, you need to turn the computer off to get the program to stop.

control character: A non-printing character that controls or modifies the way information is printed or displayed. Control characters have ASCII values between 0 and 31, and are typed from a keyboard by holding down **CONTROL** while pressing some other key. For example, the character Control-M (ASCII code 13) means "return to the beginning of the line" and is equivalent to pressing **RETURN**.

control code: One or more non-printing characters included in a text file whose function is to change the way a printer prints the text. See **control character**. **controller card:** A peripheral card that connects a device such as a printer or disk drive to an Apple IIe and controls the operation of the device.

copy-protect: To prevent someone from duplicating the contents of a disk. Compare **write-protect**.

CPU: Abbreviation for *central* processing unit. See **processor**.

current input device: The source, such as the keyboard or a modem, from which a program is currently receiving its input.

current output device: The destination, such as the display screen or a printer, to which a program is currently sending its output.

cursor: A symbol displayed on the screen that marks where the user's next action will take effect or where the next character typed from the keyboard will appear.

DAC: See digital-to-analog converter.

data: Information, especially raw or unprocessed information, used or operated on by a program.

data bits: The computer sends and receives information as a string of bits. These are called *data bits*.

Data Carrier Detect: An RS232-C signal from a DCE (such as a modem) to a DTE (such as an Apple IIe) indicating that a communication connection has been established.

Data Communication

Equipment: As defined by the RS232-C standard, any device that transmits or receives information. Usually this is a modem. However, when a modem eliminator is used, the Apple IIe itself looks like a DCE to the other device, and the other device looks like a DCE to the Apple IIe.

data set: A device that performs the modulation/demodulation control functions necessary to provide the compatibility between business machines and communications facilities. See **modem**.

Data Set Ready: An RS232-C signal from a DCE to a DTE indicating that the DCE has established a connection.

Data Terminal Equipment: As defined by the RS232-C standard, any device that generates or absorbs information, thus acting as a terminus of a communication connection.

Data Terminal Ready: An RS232-C signal from a DTE to a DCE indicating a readiness to transmit or receive data.

DCD: See Data Carrier Detect.

DCE: See Data Communication Equipment.

debug: To locate and correct an error or the cause of a problem or malfunction in a computer system. Typically used to refer to software-related problems. Compare **troubleshoot**.

decimal: The common form of number representation used in everyday life, in which numbers are expressed in terms of powers of ten, using the ten digits 0 through 9.

default: A value, action, or setting that is assumed or set in the absence of explicit instructions otherwise.

deferred execution: The saving of an instruction in a program for execution at a later time as part of a complete program; occurs when the statement is typed with a line number. Compare **immediate execution**.

DELETE: A key on the upper-right corner of the Apple IIe and IIc keyboards that, when pressed, usually erases the character immediately preceding the cursor.

delimiter: A character that is used to mark the beginning or end of a sequence of characters, and which therefore is not considered part of the sequence itself. For example, Applesoft uses the double quotation mark (") as a delimiter for string constants: the string *DOG* consists of the three characters *D*, *O*, and *G*, and does not include the quotation marks. In written English, the space character is used as a delimiter between words.

demodulate: To recover the information being transmitted by a modulated signal; for example, a conventional radio receiver demodulates an incoming broadcast signal to convert it into sound emitted by a speaker. **device:** A piece of computer hardware—such as a disk drive, a printer, or a monitor—other than the computer itself. Devices may be built in or peripheral.

device driver: A program that manages the transfer of information between the computer and a peripheral device.

device handler: See device driver.

digit: (1) One of the characters 0 through 9, used to express numbers in decimal form. (2) One of the characters used to express numbers in some other form, such as 0 and 1 in binary or 0 through 9 and A through F in hexadecimal.

digital: Represented in a discrete (noncontinuous) form, such as numerical digits. For example, contemporary digital clocks display the time in numerical form (such as 2:57) instead of using the positions of a pair of hands on a clock face. Compare **analog**.

digital data: Data that can be represented by digits—that is, data that are discrete rather than continuously variable. Compare **analog data**. **digital-to-analog converter:** A device that converts quantities from digital to analog form.

DIP: See dual in-line package.

DIP switch: A bank of tiny switches, each of which can be moved manually one way or the other to represent one of two values (usually on and off).

disassembler: A language translator that converts a machine-language program into an equivalent program in assembly language, more easily understood by a human programmer. The opposite of an **assembler**.

disk: An information-storage medium consisting of a flat, circular, magnetic surface on which information can be recorded in the form of small magnetized spots, in a manner similar to the way sounds are recorded on tape.

disk controller card: A circuit board that provides the connection between one or two disk drives and the Apple IIe.

disk drive: A device that reads information from disks into the memory of the computer and writes information from the memory of the computer onto a disk. **disk envelope:** A removable protective paper sleeve used when handling or storing a disk. It must be removed before inserting the disk in a disk drive. Compare **disk jacket**.

diskette: A term sometimes used for the small (5¼-inch), flexible disks on which information is stored.

disk jacket: A permanent protective covering for a disk, usually made of black paper or plastic. The disk is never removed from the jacket, even when inserted in a disk drive. Compare **disk envelope**.

disk operating system: One of several optional software systems for the Apple II family of computers that enables the computer to control and communicate with one or more disk drives.

Disk II drive: One of a number of types of disk drive made and sold by Apple Computer for use with the Apple II family of computers. It uses 5¹/₄-inch flexible (*floppy*) disks.

disk-resident: Stored or held permanently on a disk.

display: *v*. To exhibit information visually. *n*. (1) Information exhibited visually, especially on the screen of a display device, such as a video monitor. (2) A display device.

display color: The color currently being used to draw high-resolution or low-resolution graphics on the display screen.

display device: A device that exhibits information visually, such as a television set or video monitor.

DOS 3.2: An early Apple II operating system. DOS stands for *Disk Operating System*. 3.2 is the version number.

DOS 3.3: One of the operating systems used by the Apple II family of computers. DOS stands for *Disk Operating System*. 3.3 is the version number.

drive: See disk drive.

DSR: See Data Set Ready.

DTE: See Data Terminal Equipment.

DTR: See Data Terminal Ready.

dual in-line package: An integrated circuit packaged in a narrow rectangular box with a row of metal pins along each side. Often referred to as a **DIP switch**.

Dvorak keyboard: An alternate keyboard layout, also known as the *simplified keyboard*.

effective address: In machine-language programming, the address of the memory location on which a particular instruction actually operates, which may be arrived at by indexed addressing or some other addressing method.

80-column text card: A circuit board that converts the computer's display of text from 40 columns to 80 columns.

80/40 column switch: A switch, either hardware or software, that controls the number of horizontal columns or characters across your screen. A television can display a maximum of 40 characters across, while a video monitor can display 80 characters across the screen.

embedded: Contained within. For example, the string HUMPTY DUMPTY is said to contain an embedded space.

emulate: To behave in an identical way. The Apple II 2780/3780 Protocol Emulator and the Apple II 3270 BSC Protocol Emulator, for example, allow your Apple II, II Plus, or IIe, together with the Apple Communications Protocol Card (ACPC), to emulate the operations of IBM 3278 and 3277 terminals and 3274 and 3271 control units.

end-of-command mark: A punctuation mark used to separate commands sent to a peripheral device such as a printer or plotter. Also called a *command terminator*.

end-of-line character: Any character that tells the printer that the preceding text constitutes a full line and may now be printed.

error code: A number or other symbol representing a type of error.

error message: A message displayed or printed to notify the user of an error or problem in the execution of a program.

Escape character: An ASCII character that allows you to perform special functions when used in combination keypresses.

escape mode: A state of the computer, entered by pressing ESC, in which certain keys on the keyboard take on special meanings for positioning the cursor and controlling the display of text on the screen.

escape sequence: A sequence of keystrokes, beginning with <u>ESC</u>, used for positioning the cursor and controlling the display of text on the screen.

even parity: Use of an extra bit set to 0 or 1 as necessary to make the total number of 1 bits (among the data bits plus the parity bit) an even number.

even/odd parity check: A check that tests whether the number of digits in a group of binary digits is even (even parity check) or odd (odd parity check).

exclusive OR: A logical operator that produces a true result if one of its operands is true and the other false, a false result if its operands are both true or both false. Compare **OR**, **AND**, and **NOT**.

execute: To perform the actions specified by a program command or sequence of commands.

expansion slot: A connector inside the Apple IIe in which a peripheral card can be installed. Sometimes called a *peripheral slot*.

expression: A formula in a program that describes a calculation to be performed.

FIFO: First in, first out.

file: An ordered collection of information stored as a named unit on a peripheral storage medium such as a disk.

firmware: Software stored permanently in hardware: programs in read-only memory (ROM). Such programs (for example, the Applesoft Interpreter and the Monitor program) are built into the computer at the factory. They can be executed at any time but cannot be modified or erased from main memory. Compare **hardware**, **software**.

fixed-point: A method of representing numbers inside the computer in which the decimal point (more correctly, the binary point) is considered to occur at a fixed position within the number. Typically, the point is considered to lie at the right end of the number so that the number is interpreted as an integer. Compare **floating-point**.

flag: A variable whose contents (usually 1 or 0, standing for *true* or *false*) indicate whether some condition holds or whether some event has occurred. Used to control the program's actions at some later time.

flexible disk: A disk made of flexible plastic. Often called a *floppy* disk. Compare **rigid disk**.

floating-point: A method of representing numbers inside the computer in which the decimal point (more correctly, the binary point) is permitted to *float* to different positions within the number. Some of the bits within the number itself are used to keep track of the point's position. Compare **fixed-point**.

floppy disk: See flexible disk.

format: *n*. The form in which information is organized or presented. *v*. (1) To specify or control the format of information. (2) To prepare a blank disk to receive information by dividing its surface into tracks and sectors. Also initialize. **form feed:** An ASCII character (decimal 12) that causes a printer or other paper-handling device to advance to the top of the next page.

FORTRAN: A contraction of the phrase *FORmula TRANslator*. A widely used, high-level programming language especially suitable for applications requiring extensive numerical calculations, such as in mathematics, engineering, and the sciences. A version called Apple II Fortran is sold by Apple Computer for use with the Apple II Pascal Operating System.

framing error: In serial data transfer, absence of the expected stop bit(s) at the end of a received character.

frequency: The number of complete cycles transmitted per second. Usually expressed in hertz (cycles per second), kilohertz (kilocycles per second), or megahertz (megahertz per second).

full duplex: Capable of simultaneous, two-way communication. Compare *half duplex*.

function: A pre-programmed calculation that can be carried out on request from any point in a program. An instruction that converts data from one form to another.

GAME I/O connector: A special 16-pin connector inside the Apple IIe originally designed for connecting hand controls to the computer, but also used for connecting some other peripheral devices. Compare **hand-control connector**.

graphics: (1) Information presented in the form of pictures or images. (2) The display of pictures or images on a computer's video display screen. Compare **text**.

half duplex: Capable of communication in only one direction at a time. Compare **full duplex**.

hand-control connector: A 9-pin connector on the back panel of the Apple IIe, used for connecting hand controls to the computer. Compare **GAME I/O connector**. **hand controls:** Optional peripheral devices, with rotating dial and pushbuttons, that can be connected to the Apple IIe hand control connector. Typically used to control game-playing programs, but can be used in more serious applications as well.

hang: For a program or system to spin its wheels indefinitely, performing no useful work.

hardware: The physical machinery that makes up a computer system. Compare firmware, software.

hertz: The unit of frequency of vibration or oscillation, also called *cycles per second*. Named for the physicist Heinrich Hertz and abbreviated Hz. The 65C02 microprocessor used in the Apple IIe operates at a clock frequency of 1 million hertz, or 1 megahertz (MHz).

hexadecimal: The representation of numbers in terms of powers of sixteen, using the ten digits 0 through 9 and the six letters A through F. Hexadecimal numbers are easier for humans to read and understand than binary numbers, but can be converted easily and directly to binary form. Each hexadecimal digit corresponds to a sequence of four binary digits, or bits. Hexadecimal numbers are preceded by a dollar sign (\$).

high ASCII characters: ASCII characters with decimal values of 128 to 255. Called *high* ASCII because their high bit (first binary digit) is set to 1 (for *on*) rather than 0 (for *off*).

high-level language: A programming language that is relatively easy for humans to understand. A single statement in a high-level language typically corresponds to several instructions of machine language. High-level languages available for the Apple IIe include BASIC, Pascal, Logo, and PILOT.

high-order byte: The more significant half of a memory address or other two-byte quantity. In the 65C02 microprocessor, the low-order byte of an address is usually stored first, and the high-order byte second.

high-resolution graphics: The display of graphics on a display screen as a six-color array of points, 280 columns wide and 192 rows high. When the text window is in use, the visible high-resolution graphics display is 280 by 160 points.

hold time: In computer circuits, the amount of time a signal must remain valid after some related signal has been turned off. Compare **setup time**.

Hz: See hertz.

IC: See integrated circuit.

immediate execution: The execution of an program instruction as soon as it is typed. Occurs when the line is typed without a line number. This means that you can try out nearly every statement immediately to see how it works. Compare **deferred execution**.

implement: To realize or bring about; for example, a language translator implements a particular language.

IN#: This command designates the source of subsequent input characters. It can be used to designate a device in a slot or a machine-language routine as the source of input.

index: (1) A number used to identify a member of a list or table by its sequential position. (2) A list or table whose entries are identified by sequential position. (3) In machine-language programming, the variable component of an indexed address, contained in an index register and added to the base address to form the effective address.

indexed addressing: A method of specifying memory addresses used in machine-language programming.

index register: A register in a computer processor that holds an index for use in indexed addressing. The 65C02 has two index registers, the **X register** and the **Y register**.

index variable: A variable whose value changes on each pass through a loop. Often called *control variable* or *loop variable*.

infinite loop: A section of a program that will repeat the same sequence of actions indefinitely.

initialize: (1) To set to an initial state or value in preparation for some computation. (2) To prepare a blank disk to receive information by dividing its surface into tracks and sectors. Also **format**.

initialized disk: A disk that is organized into tracks and sectors.

input: Information transferred into a computer from some external source, such as the keyboard, a disk drive, or a modem. **input/output:** Abbreviated **I/O**. The means by which information is transferred between the computer and its peripheral devices.

input routine: A

machine-language routine that performs the reading of characters. The standard input routine reads characters from the keyboard. A different input routine might, for example, read them from an external terminal.

instruction: A unit of a machine-language or assembly-language program corresponding to a single action for the computer's processor to perform.

integer: A whole number represented inside the computer in fixed-point form. Compare **real number**.

Integer BASIC: A version of the BASIC programming language used by the Apple II family of computers. Integer BASIC is older than Applesoft and capable of processing numbers in integer (fixed-point) form only. Compare Applesoft BASIC. **integrated circuit:** Networks of microfine wire that conduct electrical impulses. They are etched on silicon wafers and embedded in black plastic.

interface: The devices, rules, or conventions by which one component of a system communicates with another.

interface card: A peripheral card that implements a particular interface (such as a parallel or serial interface) by which the computer can communicate with a peripheral device such as a printer or modem.

interpreter: A language translator that reads a program instruction by instruction and immediately translates each instruction for the computer to carry out. Compare **compiler**.

interrupt: A temporary suspension in the execution of a program by a computer in order to perform some other task, typically in response to a signal from a peripheral device or other source external to the computer. **inverse video:** The display of text on the computer's display screen in the form of dark dots on a light (or other single phosphor color) background, instead of the usual light dots on a dark background.

I/O: Input/output. The transfer of information into and out of a computer. See **input**, **output**.

I/O device: Input/output device. A device that transfers information into or out of a computer. See **input**, **output**, **peripheral device**.

I/O link: A fixed location that contains the address of an input/output subroutine in the computer's Monitor program.

joystick: An accessory that moves creatures and objects in game programs.

K: Two to the tenth power, or 1024 (from the Greek root *kilo*, meaning one thousand); for example, 64K equals 64 times 1024, or 65,536.

keyboard: The set of keys built into the Apple IIe, similar to a typewriter keyboard, used for entering information into the computer. **keyboard input connector:** The special connector inside the Apple IIe by which the keyboard is connected to the computer.

keystroke: The act of pressing a single key or a combination of keys (such as <u>CONTROL</u>-C) on the keyboard.

keyword: A special word or sequence of characters that identifies a particular type of statement or command, such as *RUN* or *PRINT*.

kilobyte: A unit of information consisting of 1K (1024) bytes, or 8K (8192) bits. See **K**.

KSW: The symbolic name of the location in the computer's memory where the standard input link is stored. *KSW* stands for *keyboard switch*. See **I/O link**.

language: See programming language.

leading zero: A zero occurring at the beginning of a number, deleted by most computing programs.

least significant bit: The right-hand bit of a binary number as written down. Its positional value is 0 or 1.

LIFO: Acronym for *last in, first out.*

line feed: An ASCII character (decimal 10) that ordinarily causes a printer or video display to advance to the next line.

line number: A number identifying a program line in an Applesoft program. Line numbers are necessary for deferred execution.

line width: The number of characters that fit on a line on the screen or on a page.

list: A verb in computer jargon, meaning to display on a monitor, or print on a printer, the contents of the computer memory or a file.

load: To transfer information from a peripheral storage medium (such as a disk) into main memory for use; for example, to transfer a program into memory for execution.

location: See memory location.

logic board: See main logic board.

logical operator: An operator, such as AND, that combines logical values to produce a logical result. Compare **arithmetic operator**, **relational operator**.

loop: A section of a program that is executed repeatedly until a limit or condition is met, such as an index variable reaching a specified ending value.

loop variable: See index variable.

low-level language: A programming language that is relatively close to the form that the computer's processor can execute directly. Low-level languages available for the Apple IIe include 6502 machine language and 6502 assembly language.

low-order byte: The less significant half of a memory address or other two-byte quantity. In the 65C02 microprocessor, the low-order byte of an address is usually stored first, and the high-order byte second.

low-power Schottkey: A type of **TTL** integrated circuit having lower power and higher speed than a conventional TTL integrated circuit.

low-resolution graphics: The display of graphics on a display screen as a sixteen-color array of blocks, 40 columns wide and 48 rows high. When the text window is in use, the visible low-resolution graphics display is 40 by 40 blocks.

LS: See low-power Schottkey.

machine language: The form in which instructions to a computer are stored in memory for direct execution by the computer's processor. Each model of computer processor (such as the 65C02 microprocessor used in the Apple IIe) has its own form of machine language.

main logic board: A large circuit board that holds RAM, ROM, the microprocessor, custom-integrated circuits, and other components that make the computer a computer.

main memory: The memory component of a computer system that is built into the computer itself and whose contents are directly accessible to the computer.

MARK parity: A bit of value 1 appended to a binary number for transmission. The receiving device can then check for errors by looking for this value on each character. **mask:** A pattern of bits for use in bit-level logical operations.

memory: A hardware component of a computer system that can store information for later retrieval. See **main memory, random-access memory, read-only memory, read-write memory.**

memory location: A unit of main memory that is identified by an address and can hold a single item of information of a fixed size. In the Apple IIe, a memory location holds one byte, or eight bits, of information.

memory-resident: (1) Stored permanently in main memory as firmware. (2) Held continually in main memory even while not in use. DOS is memory resident.

menu: A list of choices presented by a program, usually on the display screen, from which the user can select.

MHz: Megahertz; one million hertz. See **hertz**.

microcomputer: A computer, such as any of the Apple II family of computers, whose processor is a microprocessor. **microprocessor:** A computer processor contained in a single integrated circuit, such as the 65C02 microprocessor used in the Apple IIe.

microsecond: One millionth of a second. Abbreviated μ s.

millisecond: One thousandth of a second. Abbreviated ms.

mode: A state of a computer or system that determines its behavior. A manner of operating.

modem: Acronym for *MOdulator/DEModulator*; a peripheral device that enables the computer to transmit and receive information over telephone lines by converting digital signals to analog signals, and vice-versa.

modulate: To modify or alter a signal so as to transmit information. For example, conventional broadcast radio transmits sound by modulating the amplitude (amplitude modulation, or *AM*) or the frequency (frequency modulation, or *FM*) of a carrier signal.

monitor: See video monitor.

Monitor program: A system program built into the firmware of the Apple IIe, used for directly inspecting or changing the contents of main memory and for operating the computer at the machine-language level.

most significant bit: The leftmost bit of a binary number as written down. This bit represents 0 or 1 times 2 to the power one less than the total number of bits in the binary number. For example, in the binary number 10000, which contains five digits, the *I* represents 1 times two to the fourth power—or sixteen.

mouse: A small device that you roll around on a flat surface next to your Apple II family system. A small pointer on the screen tracks the movement of the mouse.

nanosecond: One billionth (in British usage, one thousandmillionth) of a second. Abbreviated *ns*.

nested loop: A loop contained within the body of another loop and executed repeatedly during each pass through the containing loop.

nested subroutine call: A call to a subroutine from within the body of another subroutine.

nibble: A unit of information equal to half a byte, or four bits. A nibble can hold any value from 0 to 15. Sometimes spelled *nybble*.

NOT: A unary logical operator that produces a true result if its operand is false, a false result if its operand is true. Compare **AND**, **OR**, **exclusive OR**.

NTSC: (1) Abbreviation for *National Television Standards Committee*. The committee that defined the standard format used for transmitting broadcast video signals in the United States. (2) The standard video format defined by the NTSC.

object code: See object program.

object program: The translated form of a program produced by a language translator such as a compiler or assembler. Also called *object code*. Compare **source program**.

odd parity: Use of an extra bit set to 0 or 1 as necessary to make the total number of 1 bits an odd number.

opcode: See operation code.

operand: A value to which an operator is applied. The value on which an opcode operates.

operating system: The most fundamental program in a computer. It organizes the actions of the various parts of the computer and allows it to use other programs.

operation code: The part of a machine-language instruction that specifies the operation to be performed. Often called *opcode*.

operator: A symbol or sequence of characters, such as + or *AND*, specifying an operation to be performed on one or more values (the operands) to produce a result. See **arithmetic operator**, **relational operator**, **logical operator**, **unary operator**, **binary operator**.

option: An **argument** that is optional.

OR: A logical operator that produces a true result if either or both of its operands are true, a false result if both of its operands are false. Compare **exclusive OR**, **AND**, **NOT**. **output:** Information transferred from a computer to some external destination, such as the display screen, a disk drive, a printer, or a modem.

output routine: A

machine-language routine that performs the sending of characters. The standard output routine writes characters to the screen. A different output routine might, for example, send them to a printer.

overflow: The condition that exists when an attempt is made to put more data into a memory area than it can hold.

override: To modify or cancel a long-standing instruction with a temporary one.

overrun: A condition that occurs when the processor does not retrieve a received character from the receive data register of the **ACIA** before the subsequent character arrives. The ACIA automatically sets bit 2 (OVR) of its status register; subsequent characters are lost. The receive data register contains the last valid data word received. **page:** (1) A segment of main memory 256 bytes long and beginning at an address that is an even multiple of 256 bytes. (2) An area of main memory containing text or graphical information being displayed on the screen. (3) A screenful of information on a video display. With the Apple IIe, a page consists of 24 lines of 40 or 80 characters each.

page zero: See zero page.

parallel interface: An interface in which many bits of information (typically eight bits, or one byte) are transmitted simultaneously over different wires or channels. Compare **serial interface**.

parity: Maintenance of a sameness of level or count, usually the count of 1 bit in each character, for error checking.

Pascal: A high-level programming language with statements that resemble English sentences. Pascal was designed to teach programming as a systematic approach to problem solving. Named after the philosopher and mathematician, Blaise Pascal.

pass: A single execution of a loop.

PC board: See printed-circuit board.

peek: To read information directly from a location in the computer's memory.

peripheral: At or outside the boundaries of the computer itself, either physically (as a peripheral device) or in a logical sense (as a peripheral card).

peripheral bus: The bus used for transmitting information between the computer and peripheral devices connected to the computer's expansion slots.

peripheral card: A removable printed circuit board that plugs into one of the expansion slots in the Apple IIe. It expands or modifies the computer's capabilities by connecting a peripheral device or performing some subsidiary or peripheral function.

peripheral device: An auxiliary piece of equipment—such as a video monitor, disk drive, printer, or modem—used in conjunction with a computer and under the computer's control. Often (but not necessarily) physically separate from the computer and connected to it by wires, cables, or some other form of interface, typically by means of a peripheral card.

peripheral slot: See expansion slot.

phase: (1) A stage in a periodic process. A point in a cycle. For example, the 65C02 microprocessor uses a clock cycle consisting of two phases called $\phi 0$ and $\phi 1$. (2) The relationship between two periodic signals or processes. For example, in NTSC color video, the color of a point on the screen is expressed by the instantaneous phase of the video signal relative to the color reference signal.

PILOT: Acronym for *Programmed Inquiry, Learning, Or Teaching.* A high-level programming language designed to enable teachers to create computer-aided instruction (CAI) lessons that include color graphics, sound effects, lesson text, and answer checking. A version called Apple II PILOT is sold by Apple Computer for use with the Apple II family of computers. **pipelining:** A feature of a processor that enables it to begin fetching the next instruction before it has finished executing the current instruction. All else being equal, processors that have this feature run faster than those without it.

plotting vector: A code representing a single step in drawing a shape on the high-resolution graphics screen, specifying whether to plot a point at the current screen position and in what direction to move (up, down, left, or right) before processing the next vector.

point of call: The point in a program from which a subroutine or function is called.

pointer: An item of information consisting of the memory address of some other item. For example, Applesoft maintains internal pointers to (among other things) the most recently stored variable, the most recently typed program line, and the most recently read data item.

poke: To store information directly into a location in the computer's memory.

pop: To remove the top entry from a stack.

power supply: A box that draws electrical power from a power outlet and converts it to the power the computer can use to do its computing.

power supply case: The metal case inside the Apple IIe that houses the power supply.

PR#: The PR# command sends output to a slot or a machine-language program. It specifies an output routine in the ROM on a peripheral card or in a machine-language routine in RAM by changing the address of the standard output routine used by the computer.

precedence: The order in which operators are applied in evaluating an expression.

printed-circuit board: A hardware component of a computer or other electronic device, consisting of a flat, rectangular piece of rigid material, commonly fiberglass, to which integrated circuits and other electronic components are connected.

procedure: In the Pascal programming language, a set of instructions that work as a unit; equivalent to the subprogram in BASIC.

processor: The hardware component of a computer that performs the actual computation by directly executing instructions represented in machine language and stored in main memory.

ProDOS: An Apple II operating system designed to support mass storage devices like the ProFile as well as flexible disk storage devices. ProDOS stands for *Professional Disk Operating System*.

ProDOS command: Any one of the 28 commands recognized by ProDOS. Each has its own syntax, all can be used within programs, and all but five (text file commands) can be used from immediate mode.

program: *n*. A set of instructions describing actions for a computer to perform in order to accomplish some task, conforming to the rules and conventions of a particular programming language. In Applesoft, a sequence of program lines, each with a different line number. *v*. To write a program.

programmer: The author of a program; one who writes programs.

programming: The activity of writing programs.

programming language: A set of rules or conventions for writing programs.

prompt: *n*. A message on the screen. *v*. To remind or signal the user that some action is expected, typically by displaying a distinctive symbol, a reminder message, or a menu of choices on the display screen.

prompt character: A text character displayed on the screen to prompt the user for some action. Often also identifies the program or component of the system that is doing the prompting; for example, the prompt character] is used by the Applesoft BASIC interpreter, > by Integer BASIC, and * by the system Monitor program. Also called *prompting* character.

prompt line: A message displayed on the screen to prompt the user for some action. Also called *prompting message*.

protocol: A set of rules for sending and receiving data on a communications line.

push: To add an entry to the top of a stack.

queue: A list in which entries are added at one end and removed at the other, causing entries to be removed in FIFO (first-in first-out) order. Compare **stack**.

radio-frequency modulator: A device that transforms your television set into a computer display device.

RAM: See random-access memory.

random-access memory (RAM): Memory in which the contents of individual locations can be referred to in an arbitrary or random order; the readable and writable memory of the Apple IIe. Its contents are usually filled with programs from a disk, and they are lost when the Apple IIe is turned off. This term is often used misleadingly to refer to read-write memory, but, strictly speaking, both read-only and read-write memory can be accessed in random order. Random-access means that each unit of storage has a unique address and a method by which each unit can be immediately read from or written to. Compare read-only memory, read-write memory.

random-access text file: A text

file that is partitioned into an unlimited number of uniform-length compartments called records. When you open a random-access text file for the first time, you must specify its record length. No record is placed in the file until written to. Each record can be individually read from or written to—hence, *random-access*.

raster: The pattern of parallel lines making up the image on a video display screen. The image is produced by controlling the brightness of successive dots on the individual lines of the raster.

read: To transfer information into the computer's memory from a source external to the computer (such as a disk drive or modem) or into the computer's processor from a source external to the processor (such as the keyboard or main memory).

read-only memory (ROM):

Memory whose contents can be read but not written; used for storing firmware. Information is written into read-only memory once, during manufacture; it then remains there permanently, even when the computer's power is turned off, and can never be erased or changed. Compare **random-access memory**, **read-write memory**.

read-write memory: Memory whose contents can be both read and written; often misleadingly called random-access memory, or RAM. The information contained in read-write memory is erased when the computer's power is turned off, and is permanently lost unless it has been saved on a more permanent storage medium, such as a disk. Compare **random-access memory**, **read-only memory**.

real number: A number that may include a fractional part; represented inside the computer in floating-point form. Compare **integer**.

register: A location in a computer processor where an item of information is held and modified under program control.

relational operator: An operator, such as >, that compares numeric values to produce a logical result. Compare **arithmetic operator**, **logical operator**. **reserved word:** A word or sequence of characters reserved by a programming language for some special use, and therefore unavailable as a variable name in a program.

resident: See memory-resident, disk-resident.

return address: The point in a program to which control returns on completion of a subroutine or function.

RF modulator: See radio-frequency modulator.

ROM: See read-only memory.

routine: A part of a program that accomplishes some task subordinate to the overall task of the program.

row: A horizontal arrangement of character spaces or graphics points on the screen.

RS232 cable: Any cable that is wired in accordance with the RS232 standard, which is the common data communications interface standard.

run: (1) To execute a program. (2) To load a program into main memory from a peripheral storage medium, such as a disk, and execute it. **save:** To transfer information from main memory to a peripheral storage medium for later use.

scroll: To change the contents of all or part of the display screen by shifting information out at one end (most often the top) to make room for new information appearing at the other end (most often the bottom), producing an effect like that of moving a scroll of paper past a fixed viewing window. See **window**.

serial interface: An interface in which information is transmitted sequentially, one bit at a time, over a single wire or channel. Compare **parallel interface**.

setup time: The amount of time a signal must be valid in advance of some event. Compare **hold time**.

silicon: A non-metallic, semiconducting chemical element from which integrated circuits are made. Not to be confused with silica—that is, silicon dioxide, such as quartz, opal, or sand—or with silicone, any of a group of organic compounds containing silicon. **simple variable:** A variable that is not an element of an array.

simplified keyboard: The Dvorak keyboard.

6502: The type of microprocessor used in the Apple II, II Plus, and original IIe.

65C02: The type of microprocessor used in the enchanced Apple IIe and the Apple IIc.

slot: A narrow socket inside the computer where you can install peripheral device cards.

soft switch: A means of changing some feature of the computer from within a program; specifically, a location in memory that produces some special effect whenever its contents are read or written.

software: Instructions that tell the computer what to do. They're usually stored on disks. Compare **hardware**, **firmware**.

source program: The original form of a program given to a language translator such as a compiler or assembler for conversion into another form; sometimes called *source code*. Compare **object program**. **space character:** A text character whose printed representation is a blank space, typed by pressing the **SPACE** bar.

stack: A list in which entries are added or removed at one end only (the top of the stack), causing them to be removed in LIFO (last-in first-out) order. Compare **queue**.

standard instruction: An instruction automatically present when no superseding instruction has been received.

start up: To get the system running. For example, In the context of ProDOS, starting up is the process of reading the ProDOS program (in the files PRODOS and BASIC.SYSTEM) from the disk, and running it.

starting value: The value assigned to the index variable on the first pass through a loop.

startup disk: A disk containing an operating system and a self-starting program.

statement: A unit of a program in a high-level language that specifies an action for the computer to perform, typically corresponding to several instructions of machine language. **step value:** The amount by which the index variable changes on each pass through a loop.

string: An item of information consisting of a sequence of text characters.

strobe: A signal whose change is used to trigger some action.

subroutine: A part of a program that can be executed on request from any point in the program, and which returns control to the point of the request on completion.

synchronous transmission: A transmission process that requires an integral number of unit (time) intervals between any two significant instances. In synchronous communications, the transmitter and receiver are in step with each other, and characters being transmitted follow one after the other at regular intervals. Compare asynchronous transmission.

syntax: The rules governing the structure of statements or instructions in a programming language; a representation of a command that specifies all the possible forms the command can take.

system: A coordinated collection of interrelated and interacting parts organized to perform some function or achieve some purpose.

system configuration: See configuration.

system program: A program that makes the resources and capabilities of the computer available for general purposes, such as an operating system or a language translator. Compare **application program**.

system software: The component of a computer system consisting of system programs.

TAB: An ASCII character that commands a device such as a printer to start printing at a preset location (called a tab stop). There are two such characters;: horizontal tab (hex \$09) and vertical tab (hex \$0B).

television set: A display device capable of receiving broadcast video signals (such as commercial television) by means of an antenna. Can be used in combination with a radio-frequency modulator as a display device for the Apple IIe. Compare **video monitor**. **terminal:** A device consisting of a typewriter-like keyboard and a display device, used for communicating between a computer system and a human user. Personal computers such as those in the Apple II family of computers typically have all or part of a terminal built into them.

text: (1) Information presented in the form of characters readable by humans. (2) The display of characters on a display screen. Compare **graphics**.

text window: An area on the video display screen within which text is displayed and scrolled.

traces: Electrical roads that connect the components on a circuit board.

transistor-transistor logic (**TTL):** (1) A type of integrated circuit used in computers and related devices. (2) A standard for interconnecting such circuits that defines the voltages used to represent logical zeros and ones.

troubleshoot: To locate and correct the cause of a problem or malfunction in a computer system. Typically used to refer to hardware-related problems. Compare **debug**.

TTL: See transistor-transistor logic.

turnkey disk: A disk that executes a specific application program when you use that disk to start the computer.

turnkey program: A program, such as a game or application, that runs automatically when the disk that the program is on is used to start up the computer.

unary operator: An operator that applies to a single operand; for example, the minus sign (-) in a negative number such as -6 is a unary arithmetic operator. Compare **binary operator**.

unconditional branch: A branch that does not depend on the truth of any condition. Compare **conditional branch**.

value: An item of information that can be stored in a variable, such as a number or a string.

variable: (1) A location in the computer's memory where a value can be stored. (2) The symbol used in a program to represent such a location. Compare **constant**.

vector: (1) The starting address of a program segment, when used as a common point for transferring control from other programs. (2) A memory location used to hold a vector, or the address of such a location.

video: (1) A medium for transmitting information in the form of images to be displayed on the screen of a cathode-ray tube. (2) Information organized or transmitted in video form.

video monitor: A display device capable of receiving video signals by direct connection only, and which cannot receive broadcast signals such as commercial television. Can be connected directly to the computer as a display device. Compare **television receiver**.

volume: A general term referring to a storage device; a source or destination of information. A volume has a name and a volume directory with the same name. Its information is organized into files.

window: The portion of a collection of information (such as a document, picture, or worksheet) that is visible on the display screen.

word: A group of bits of a fixed size that is treated as a unit; the number of bits in a word is a characteristic of each particular computer.

write: To transfer information from the computer to a destination external to the computer (such as a disk drive, printer, or modem) or from the computer's processor to a destination external to the processor (such as main memory).

write-enable notch: The square cutout on one edge of a disk's jacket that permits information to be written on the disk. If there is no write-enable notch, or if it is covered with a write-protect tab, information can be read from the disk but not written onto it.

write-protect: To protect the information on a disk by covering the write-enable notch with a write-protect tab, preventing any new information from being written onto the disk. Compare **copy protect**.

write-protect tab: A small adhesive sticker used to write-protect a disk by covering the write-enable notch.

X register: One of the index registers in the 65C02 microprocessor.

Y register: One of the index registers in the 65C02 microprocessor.

zero page: The first page (256 bytes) of memory in the Apple IIe, also called page zero. Since the high-order byte of any address in this page is zero, only the low-order byte is needed to specify a zero-page address; this makes zero-page locations more efficient to address, in both time and space, than locations in any other page of memory.
Bibliography

- Addendum to the Design Guidelines. Cupertino, Calif.: Apple Computer, Inc., 1984.
- Apple II Monitors Peeled. Cupertino, Calif.: Apple Computer, Inc., 1978.

Currently not updated for Apple IIe and IIc, but a good introduction to Apple II series input/output procedures; also useful for historical background.

Apple IIe Design Guidelines. Cupertino, Calif.: Apple Computer, Inc., 1982.

Applesoft BASIC Programmer's Reference Manual, Volumes 1 and 2. For the Apple II, IIe, and IIc. Reading, Mass.: Addison-Wesley, 1982, 1985. ISBN 0-201-17722-6.

- Applesoft Tutorial. Reading, Mass.: Addison-Wesley, 1983, 1985. ISBN 0-201-17724-2.
- "Characteristics of Television Systems." C.C.I.R. Report, Rep. 624 (1970-1974), pp. 22-52.
- "Colorimetric Standards in Colour Television." C.C.I.R. Report, Rep. 476-1 (1970-1974), pp. 21-22.
- Leventhal, Lance. 6502 Assembly Language Programming. Berkeley, Calif.: Osborne/McGraw-Hill, 1979.
- Sims, H. V. Principles of PAL Colour Television and Related Systems. London, England: Newnes-Butterworth, 1969. ISBN-0-592-05970-7.
- Synertek Hardware manual. Santa Clara, Calif.: Synertek Incorporated, 1976.

Does not contain instructions new to 65C02, but is the only currently available manufacturer's hardware manual for 6500 series microcomputers.

Synertek Programming manual. Santa Clara, Calif.: Synert Incorporated, 1976.	tek,
The only currently available manufacturer's program for 6500 series microcomputers.	ming manual
"Video-Frequency Characteristics of a Television System to F International Exchange of Programmes Between Cour Have Adopted 625-Line Colour or Monochrome Syster Recommendation 472-1 (1970-1971), pp. 53-54.	Be Used for the ntries That ns." <i>C.C.I.R.</i> ,
Watson, Allen, III. "A Simplified Theory of Video Graphics, P. Vol. 5, No. 11 (November, 1980).	art I." <i>Byte</i>
"A Simplified Theory of Video Graphics, Part II." <i>Byt</i> (December, 1980).	e Vol. 5, No. 12
"More Colors for Your Apple." Byte Vol. 4, No. 6 (June	e, 1979).
	No. 1 (January,
Wozniak, Steve: "System Description: The Apple II." <i>Byte</i> Vo (May, 1977).	l. 2, No. 5
"SWEET16: The 6502 Dream Machine." <i>Byte</i> Vol. 2, 1 (October, 1977).	No. 10

a man

Index

Cast of Characters

* (asterisk) as prompt character 60 ^ (caret) 122, 125 : (colon) as Monitor command 103 > (greater than sign) as prompt character 60 - 61 3 11, 13, 226 . (period) as Monitor command 100 φ0 (phi 0) 162-164, 170, 171, 180-181 φ1 (phi 1) 162-164, 170, 171, 180-181 φ2 (phi 2) 162 ? (question mark) prompt character 60 - 62] (right bracket) as prompt character 60 11, 13, 226 14M signal 163 40-column text 20-21 display pages 27 generation 179 memory map 32, 177 with TV set 16 6502 microprocessor 5, 6 differences from 65C02 206-207 65C02 microprocessor xxix, 5, 6, 206-216 data sheet 208-216 differences from 6502 6, 206-207 specifications 161-164 timing 162-164 65C02 stack 75 80COL soft switch 29 80-column firmware xxx, 49-50 activating 49 control characters with 273-275

80-column text 20-21 differences in Apple II family 227 display pages 27 generation 179 map 33 signals 197 with Applesoft xxx with Pascal xxx with TV set 16 80-Column Text Card 84, 132, 149, 268-275 80STORE soft switch 29, 31, 84, 86, 87, 197

A

A register 146 A1 89 A2 89 A4 89 accumulator 136, 148 ACIA 289 address bus 162 address transformation 176 addressing display pages 30-36, 175-178 I/O locations 136-137 RAM 138, 170-173 **ROM 169** addressing, indirect 75 addressing, relative 119, 125, 135 ALTCHAR soft switch 29 alternate character set 19-20, 226 on original IIe 20 ALTZP soft switch 82, 87, 89 analog inputs 42, 43 animation 229 annunciators 40, 43

any-key-down flag 12 Apple keys 11, 13 differences in Apple II family 226 Applesoft BASIC xxx, 12, 103, 233 and lowercase xxxi and uppercase 48 80-column support xxx tabbing with original Apple IIe 271-272 use of zero page 77 Apple II compatibility with Apple IIe 48-50 Apple II family differences 226-230 Apple IIc interrupt differences 156 Apple IIe, differences between original and enhanced xxix-xxxi ASCII input mode 105 COUT1 subroutine 54 interrupt support 130, 148 microprocessor 6 Mini-Assembler 121 Monitor Search command 108 MouseText 16,20 slot 3 143 tabbing in Applesoft 271-272 USING CAPS LOCK 48 Apple IIe 80-Column Text Card 84, 132, 268-275 Apple IIe Extended 80-Column Text Card 84, 132, 268-275 arithmetic, hexadecimal 114 arrow keys 61, 62 ASCII codes 14-15 ASCII input mode 104-105 assemblers 119 assembly language 233 asterisk (*) as prompt character 60 auxiliary firmware 84-91

auxiliary memory 84-91 differences in Apple II family 228 map 85 moving data to 89 soft switches 87 subroutines 88 auxiliary RAM 84 auxiliary slot 7, 49 differences in Apple II family 228 signals 197-199 AUXMOVE subroutine 88, 89, 143

B

backspacing 61 bank-switched memory 79-83, 85, 227 map 80 bank switches 80-83, 85 reading 83 BASIC, Applesoft xxx, 12, 103, 233 and lowercase xxxi and uppercase 48 80-column support xxx tabbing with original Apple IIe 271-272 use of page 3 76 use of zero page 77 BASIC, Integer 12, 233 and bank-switched memory 79 and reset 81 and uppercase 48 use of page 3 76 use of zero page 78 BASICIN subroutine 57, 218 address in I/O link 51 BASIC Monitor command 112 BASICOUT subroutine 63, 218 address in I/O link 51

baud rate for SSC 280 BEL character 52 BELL subroutine 218 BELL1 subroutine 38, 218 bit definition 236 bit mapping of graphics 24-26 booting 268-269 break intructions 155 BRK handler 155 BRK instruction 155 BRK vector 147 BS character 52 byte definition 237

C

canceling lines 61 CAN character 53 CAPS LOCK 11 for older software compatibility 48 caret (^) 122, 125 carriage returns with SSC 283 cassette I/O 38-39, 189 commands 109-111 soft switches 38 central processing unit (CPU) 6 See also 65C02 microprocessor CH 51 changing memory contents 103-108 character code 12 character generator ROM 179 character sets, text 19-20 differences among Apple II models 226-227 CHARGEN signal 185 circuit board 4-5 connectors 6 clear-strobe switch 12

CLEOLZ subroutine 49, 64, 219 clock rate 161 clock signals 162 CLREOL subroutine 49, 63, 218 CLREOP subroutine 49, 64, 219 CLRSCR subroutine 64, 219 CLRTOP subroutine 64, 219 cold-start reset 92 colon (:) as Monitor command 103 color graphics with black-and-white monitors 16 colors double-high-resolution graphics 26 high-resolution graphics 24-25, 183 low-resolution graphics 23 command characters, Monitor 99 comma tabbing with original Apple IIe 271-272 complementary decimal values 12 connectors back panel 8 cassette I/O 8, 38 D-type 8 game I/O 7, 13 hand control 8, 39-42 9-pin 8,39 phone jacks 8, 38 power 161 RCA-type jack 8 video monitor 8, 186 control characters 245, 249 with BASICOUT 52-53 with COUT1 52 with 80-column firmware 273-275 with Pascal I/O protocol 68-69 Control-U 50 CONTROL 11 CONTROL - B Monitor command 112

CONTROL - E Monitor command 109 CONTROL - [K] Monitor command 113 CONTROL - P Monitor command 113 CONTROL - X 61 [CONTROL]-[Y] Monitor command 117 COUT subroutine 51, 64, 219 deactivating 80-column firmware 50 COUT1 subroutine 51, 64, 134, 219 address in I/O link 50 on original Apple IIe 54 cover 2 CP/M 233 starting up with 268 CPU 6 See also 65C02 microprocessor CR character 53 CROUT subroutine 64, 219 CROUT1 subroutine 65, 219 CSW link 139 current, supply 159 cursor-control keys 11 cursor motion in escape mode 58-59 cursor position 51-57 custom IC's 164-168 CV 51 cycle stealing 170

D

D-type connector 8 daisy chains, interrupt and DMA 193-194, 203 data bus 162 data format for SSC 281 DC1 character 53 DC2 character 53 DC3 character 53 decimal values 12 converting to hexadecimal 238-239 negative 240-241 device assignment, peripheral card 144 device identification 144 DEVICE SELECT' signal 131 DHIRES soft switch 29 **Diagnostics ROM 169** differences among Apple II models 226-230 differences between original and enhanced Apple IIe xxix-xxxi ASCII input mode 105 COUT1 subroutine 54 interrupt support 130, 148 microprocessor 6 Mini-Assembler 121 Monitor Search command 108 MouseText 16,20 slot 3 143 tabbing in Applesoft 271-272 USING CAPS LOCK 48 disassemblers 119 display, video 16-36 address transformation 176-177 double-high-resolution graphics 185 80-column text 179 formats 17,56 40-column text 179 generation 173-185, 230 high-resolution graphics 183-184 low-resolution graphics 182-183 memory addressing 175-178 modes 17, 20-26, 28-30, 179-185 pages 26-28, 30-36, 76 refreshing 170 specifications 17 text 179-181

DMA daisy chain 193-194, 203 DOS 3.3 xxix, 140, 232 and uppercase 48 starting up with 269 use of page 3 76 use of zero-page 78 double-high-resolution graphics 17, 18, 25-26 colors 26 display pages 27 generation 185 map 36 memory pages 25 double-high-resolution Page 1 76

E

editing with GETLN 61 80COL soft switch 29 80-column firmware xxx, 49-50 activating 49 control characters with 273-275 80-column text 20-21 differences in Apple II family 227 display pages 27 generation 179 map 33 signals 197 with Applesoft xxx with Pascal xxx with TV set 16 80-Column Text Card 84, 132, 149, 268-275 80STORE soft switch 29, 31, 84, 86, 87, 197 EM character 53 EN80' signal 197

enhanced Apple IIe See differences between original and enhanced Apple IIe ENKBD' signal 187 entry points for I/O routines 145-146 escape codes 58-59 escape mode 58-59 ESC character 53 ETB character 53 EXAMINE command 108-109 examining memory 100 expansion ROM space 132-134 expansion slot 3 49 expansion slots 6-7, 130-143 signals 192-196 Extended 80-Column Text Card 84, 132, 268-275

F

FF character 52 firmware auxiliary 84-91 80-column xxx, 49-50 I/O 46-69 Monitor subroutines 46-69 Pascal 1.1 protocol 67-69, 144-146 slot 3 67 flag, any-key-down 12 FLASH command 270-271 flashing format 18-19, 56-57 forced cold-start reset 93 FORTRAN 234 40-column text 20-21 display pages 27 generation 179 memory map 32, 177 with TV set 16 FS character 53

G

game I/O connectors 13 signals 190-191 GET command 269 GETLN subroutine 57, 60-62, 220 editing with 61 input buffer 76 line length 61 used by Monitor 99 with 80-column card 269 **GETLN1** subroutine 220 **GETLNZ** subroutine 220 GO command 118 graphics, double-high-resolution 17, 18, 25-26 colors 26 display pages 27 generation 185 map 36 memory pages 25 graphics, high-resolution 17, 18, 23-25, addressing display pages 31, 35 bit patterns 242-243 colors 24-25, 183 display pages 23, 27 generation 183-184 map 35 graphics, low-resolution 17, 18, 22-23, colors 23 display pages 27 generation 182-183 map 34 with TV set 16 graphics modes 22-26 bit-mapping 24-26 greater than sign (>) as prompt character 60 GS character 53

Н

hand control connectors 8, 39-42 hard disk with Pascal xxxi hexadecimal arithmetic 114 hexadecimal values 12 converting to decimal 238-239 converting to negative decimal 240-241 high-resolution graphics 17, 18, 23-25 addressing display pages 31, 35 bit patterns 242-243 colors 24-25, 183 display pages 27 generation 183-184 map 35 high-resolution Page 1 23, 27, 76 high-resolution Page 2 23, 76 HIRES soft switch 29, 86, 87 HLINE subroutine 65, 220 HOME command 270-271 HOME subroutine 49, 65, 220 HTAB command xxx with original Apple IIe 272 humidity, operating 158

I, J

I/O addressing 136-137 circuits 187-191 devices, built-in 10-42 entry points 145-146 firmware, built-in 46-69 links 50-51, 76, 139-140 memory for peripheral cards 130-131 memory map 141 Pascal protocol 67-69, 143, 144-146 switching memory 141-142

I/O SELECT' signal 131-132 identification byte xxix, 230 IN# command 113 index register 136 indirect addressing 75 input buffer 76 INPUT command 269 input devices See I/O devices input/output See I/O Input/Output Unit (IOU) 5, 6, 166-167, 187 inputs analog 37, 42 hand control 37 secondary 37-42, 43 switch 37-41 See also I/O devices INT IN pin 147 INT OUT pin 147 Integer BASIC 12, 233 and bank-switched memory 79 and reset 81 and uppercase 48 use of page 3 70 use of zero page 78 interpreter ROM 5 interrupt handler built-in 146, 149-150 user's 154 interrupts xxx, 146-156 and card in auxiliary slot 49 daisy chain 193-194, 203 definition 147 original Apple IIe differences 148 priority 147 sequence 151 interrupt vector 150 INVERSE command 270-271 inverse display format 18-19, 56-57, 112

IOREST subroutine 220 IOSAVE subroutine 220 IOU (Input/Output Unit) 5, 6, 166-167, 187 IOUDIS soft switch 29 IRQ vector 147 IRQ' signal 147

K

KBD' signal 187 keyboard 3, 10-15 automatic repeat function 10 circuits 187-188 differences in Apple II family 226 memory locations 12 rollover 10 specifications 11 **KEYBOARD** command 113 keyboard encoder 5, 12 keyboard ROM 5 keyboard strobe 13 KEYIN subroutine 57, 58-59, 221 address in I/O link 50 keypad 188 keys and ASCII codes 14-15 KSW link 139

L

language card 83 differences in Apple II family 227 LED 3 • key 61 LF character 52 line feeds with SSC 284 links, I/O 50-51 address storage 70 changing 139-140 LIST command 119 low-resolution graphics 17, 18, 22-23 colors 23 display pages 27 generation 182-183 map 34 with TV set 16

М

machine language 118-120 mapping display addresses 176-177 maps See memory maps memory addressing 168 auxiliary 84-91 bank-switched 79-83, 86-88, 227 changing contents 103-108 display 175-178 examining 100 filling 115-116 for peripheral cards 130-135 I/O space 141-142 organization 72-95 sharing 88 text window locations 55 used by SSC 289 memory dump 100-102 Memory Management Unit (MMU) 5, 6, 164-165 memory maps auxiliary memory 85 bank-switched areas 80 double-high-resolution graphics 36 80-column text 33 40-column text 32, 177 high-resolution graphics 35 I/O 141 low-resolution graphics 34 main memory 73 **RAM 74**

memory pages, reserved 75-79 microprocessor See 65C02 and 6502 microprocessors Mini-Assembler 121-125 errors 122 instruction formats 124-125 starting 121 MIXED soft switch 29 Monitor, System 98-128 command summary 125-128 command syntax 99 creating commands 117 enhancements xxvi firmware subroutines 46-69 returning to BASIC 112 ROM listings 294-375 use of page 3 76 use of zero page 77 Monitor ROM 169 listings 294-375 MouseText characters 17, 19, 247 MOVE command 105, 115 MOVE subroutine 221 MSLOT 150, 154

N

NAK character 53 negative decimal values 12 converting 240 NEXTCOL subroutine 221 9-pin connectors 8, 39 NORMAL command 270-271 normal format 18-19, 112 NTSC standard 16, 24, 173

0

3 11, 13, 226 operating systems 232-233 original Apple IIe ASCII input mode 105 COUT1 subroutine 54 interrupt support 130, 148 microprocessor 6 Mini-Assembler 121 Monitor Search command 108 MouseText 16, 20 slot 3 143 startup display 6 tabbing in Applesoft 271-272 USING CAPS LOCK 48 output See I/O overheating 158

P

Page 1, double-high-resolution 76 Page 1, high-resolution 23, 27, 76 Page 1, text 27 Page 2, high-resolution 23, 76 Page 2, text 27 page 3 vectors 94 page zero See zero page PAGE2 soft switch 29, 31, 84, 86, 87 pages, reserved memory 75-79 PAL device 168 parity for SSC 281-282 Pascal xxix, 234, 275 and bank-switched memory 79 I/O subroutines 46 starting up with 268 Pascal 1.1 firmware protocol 67-69, 143, 144-146 Pascal operating system 232

period (.) as Monitor command 100 peripheral address bus 192-193, 194 peripheral cards device assignment 144 I/O memory space 130-131, 141 programming for 130-156 RAM space 134-135 ROM space 131-132 peripheral data bus 193 differences in Apple II family 230 peripheral slots See expansion slots φ0 (phi 0) 162, 164, 170, 171, 180-181 φ1 (phi 1) 162, 164, 170, 171, 180-181 ϕ^2 (phi 2) 162 phone jacks 8, 38 PINIT subroutine 67 pipelining 161 PLOT subroutine 65, 221 POKE command 272 power connector 161 power supply 4, 159-160 PR# command 113 PRBL2 subroutine 65, 221 PRBLNK subroutine 221 PRBYTE subroutine 65, 221 PREAD subroutine 42, 67, 222 PRERR subroutine 65, 222 PRHEX subroutine 66, 222 primary character set 19-20 PRINTER command 113 PRNTAX subroutine 66, 222 ProDOS 103, 140, 232 interrupt support 148 starting up with 269 use of page 3 76 use of zero-page 79

ProFile hard disk xxxi Programmed Array Logic (PAL) device 5, 168 prompt characters 60 PSTATUS subroutine 69 PWRITE subroutine 68

Q

Q3 signal 163 question mark (?) prompt character 60

R

R/W80 signal 197 radio frequency modulator 7 RAM addressing 138, 170-173 allocation 74-79 auxiliary 84 space for peripheral cards 134-135 timing signals 171-173 RAMRD soft switch 86, 87 RAMWR soft switch 86, 87 random number generator 58 **RDALTCHAR soft switch 29 RDALTZP** soft switch 82 **RDBNK2** soft switch 82 **RDCHAR** subroutine 222 **RDDHIRES** soft switch 29 RD80COL soft switch 29 **RD80STORE** soft switch 29 **RDHIRES** soft switch 29 **RDIOUDIS soft switch 29** RDKEY subroutine 47, 57, 60, 222, 269 RDLCRAM soft switch 82 **RDMIXED** soft switch 29 RDPAGE2 soft switch 29 **RDTEXT** soft switch 29 READ subroutine 39, 222 READ tape command 110-111

refreshing the display 170 registers 146, 162 A register 146 accumulator 136, 148 examining and changing 108-109 index 136 X register 146 Y register 146 relative addressing 119, 125, 135 reserved memory pages 75-79 [RESET] 11, 13, 226 reset routine 91-95 and bank switches 81 differences in Apple II family 229 reset vector 93-94 **RETURN** Monitor command 125 retype function 62 RF modulator 7 RGB-type monitor 185 - 62 right bracket (]) as prompt character 60 rollover, N-key 10 ROM addressing 169 expansion 132-134 interpreter 5 keyboard 5 Monitor listings 294-375 space for peripheral cards 131-132 video 5 **ROMEN1 signal** 169 **ROMEN2 signal** 169

S

schematic diagram 200-203 SCRN subroutine 66, 223 SEARCH command 108

self-test 13,95 differences in Apple II family 229 SETCOL subroutine 66, 223 **SETINV** subroutine 223 SETNORM subroutine 223 SHIFT 11 shift-key mod 41 short circuits 160 SI character 53 signals auxiliary slot 197-199 expansion slot 192-196 game I/O connector 191 IOU 167 keyboard connector 188 keypad connector 188 MMU 165 PAL device 168 RAM timing 172-173 65C02 timing 163 speaker connector 189 video connector 186 video timing 180-181, 184 signature byte 230 6502 microprocessor 6 differences from 65C02 6, 206-207 65C02 microprocessor xxix, 5, 6, 206-216 comparison with 6502 6, 206-207 data sheet 208-216 specifications 161-164 timing 162-164 slot, auxiliary 7, 49 slot number, finding 136 slot 3 49, 149 firmware 67 in original Apple IIe 143 slots, expansion 6-7, 130-143 signals 192-196

SLOTC3ROM soft switch 49, 142 SLOTCXROM soft switch 142 SO character 53 soft switches auxiliary memory 84, 87 bank switches 80-83, 85 differences in Apple II family 228 display 28-30 for bank switching 83,85 I/O memory 141-142 implemented by IOU 166 implemented by MMU 164 speaker 38 11, 13, 226 SPC command xxx speaker 3, 37, 189 connector 189 soft switch 38 specifications, environmental 158 stack pointers 75, 152 stack auxiliary 152-153 main 152-153 65C02 75 standard I/O links 50-51 address storage 76 changing 139-140 starting up 268-269 startup display 6 startup drives xxix-xxx stop-list feature 54 strobe bit 13 strobe output 40, 43 STSBYTE 287 SUB character 53

subroutines directory of 218-224 output 62-66 Pascal I/O protocol 67-69 standard I/O 46-69 See also names of subroutines Super Serial Card 278-293 command character 280 commands 280-287 error codes 287-288 memory use 289-292 scratchpad RAM 292 terminal mode 286-287 switch 0 41.43 switch 1 41, 43 switches See soft switches switch inputs 41, 43 SYN character 53 System Monitor See Monitor, System

T

tabbing TAB command xxx with original Apple IIe 271-272 television set 16 temperature case 159 operating 158 text cards 84, 132, 149, 268-275 text character sets alternate 19-20 primary 19-20, 226, 227 text display 18-21, 179-181 flashing format 56-57 inverse format 18, 56-57 normal format 18 See also 40-column text and 80-column text

text Page 1 27, 76 text Page 2 27, 76 TEXT soft switch 29 text window 54-55 memory locations 55 timing signals expansion slots 194 RAM 172-173 65C02 microprocessor 162-164 video 180-181, 184

U

US character 53 user's interrupt handler 154

V

vectors BRK 147 interrupt 150 IRQ 147 page 3 94 reset 93-94 VERIFY command 107, 116 VERIFY subroutine 223 vertical sync 229 VID7M signal 163 video counters 174-175 video display See display, video video display pages 23, 25, 26-28 video monitor 16 connector 8, 186 video output signals 186 video ROM 5

video standards 173 VLINE subroutine 66, 224 voltage line 158 supply 159 VT character 52 VTABZ subroutine 66

W

WAIT subroutine 224 warm-start reset 92 WRITE subroutine 38, 224 WRITE tape command 109-110

Х

XFER subroutine 88,90,143,153 X register 146

Y

Y register 146

Z

zero page 75, 77-79

Apple[®] IIe Technical Reference Manual

The Official Publication from Apple Computer, Inc.

Written and produced by the people at Apple Computer, this is the definitive, up-to-date reference manual for the Apple IIe computer. It was written for professional programmers, designers of peripheral equipment, and more advanced home users, and it describes—as completely as possible in one volume—the internal operation of the original and enhanced Apple IIe.

This manual provides detailed descriptions of all the IIe's hardware and firmware, including input/output features (such as mousetext), memory organization, and the use of the Monitor firmware. Appendices offer complete reference information to the 6502 and 65C02 instruction sets and built-in I/O subroutines, a complete source listing of the Monitor firmware, and more. Anyone who needs technical information on the internal workings of the original or enhanced Apple IIe will find this book an indispensable guide to one of the world's most popular computers.

The *Apple IIe Technical Reference Manual* was written and produced by the Apple II User Education Group.



Apple Computer, Inc. 20525 Mariani Avenue Cupertino, California 95014 408 996-1010 TLX 171-576

Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, Inc.

> \$24.95 FPT USA

.....

030-1194-A © 1985, 1983 Apple Computer, Inc. Printed in U.S.A.